Daolin Tang Editor

Ferroptosis in Health and Disease

Second Edition



Ferroptosis in Health and Disease

Daolin Tang Editor

Ferroptosis in Health and Disease

Second Edition



Editor Daolin Tang Department of Surgery UT Southwestern Medical Center Dallas, TX, USA

ISBN 978-3-031-39170-5 ISBN 978-3-031-39171-2 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Paper in this product is recyclable.

Preface

The second edition of "Ferroptosis in Health and Disease" represents a comprehensive update to the first edition, which was published several years ago. Since then, there have been numerous exciting developments in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms and physiological implications of ferroptosis, a form of regulated cell death that is dependent on iron and lipid peroxidation.

In this updated edition, I have brought together leading experts in the field to provide a detailed overview of the latest findings in ferroptosis research. The book covers a wide range of topics, including the molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis, its role in various physiological and pathological contexts, and the potential therapeutic approaches to modulate ferroptosis for the treatment of human diseases. The book begins with an introduction to ferroptosis, including its definition, history, and key features. The molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis are then discussed in detail, including the roles of iron, lipid peroxidation, and redox signaling in ferroptotic cell death. The book also covers the regulation of ferroptosis, including the involvement of key signaling pathways, such as the NRF2 and GPX4 pathways.

The role of ferroptosis in various physiological and pathological contexts is also examined, including its involvement in neurodegenerative diseases, cancer, and ischemia-reperfusion injury. The book concludes with a discussion of potential therapeutic approaches to modulate ferroptosis, including the use of antioxidants, iron chelators, and small molecule inhibitors of ferroptosis.

I hope that this book will be a valuable resource for researchers, clinicians, and students who are interested in understanding the complex interplay between iron metabolism, lipid peroxidation, and cell death. I believe that the insights presented in this book will stimulate new ideas and approaches for the development of novel therapeutic strategies targeting ferroptosis in human diseases.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the contributors to this book for their insightful and thought-provoking chapters. Their expertise and dedication have made this updated edition possible. I would also like to thank the editorial and production staff at our publisher for their support and hard work in bringing this edition to fruition.

Dallas, TX, USA

Daolin Tang

Contents

1	Lipid Metabolism and Homeostasis in Ferroptosis Daolin Tang and Rui Kang	1
2	Iron Metabolism and Ferroptosis	23
3	Targeting Epigenetic Regulation of Ferroptosis in CancerTherapy	41
4	The Role of Autophagy in Ferroptosis	57
5	Heat Shock Proteins and HSF1 in Ferroptosis	79
6	The Ongoing Search for a Biomarker of Ferroptosis Benedikt Kolbrink, Friedrich Alexander von Samson-Himmelstjerna, Theresa Riebeling, Kevin Schulte, and Stefan Krautwald	121
7	p53 and Ferroptosis	137
8	Ferroptosis in Cardiovascular Disease Jason K. Higa, Nicholas K. Kawasaki, and Takashi Matsui	149
9	Understanding Ferroptosis from a Free Radical Perspective Junichi Fujii	195
10	The NRF2-anti-ferroptosis Axis in Health and Disease Matthew Dodson, Aryatara Shakya, Jinjing Chen, Wei-Tai Chen, Nicholas W. McKee, and Donna D. Zhang	213
11	Epigenetic Modification in Ferroptosis	241
12	Organelle-specific Mechanisms of Ferroptosis	263

13	Ferroptosis: A Promising Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases			
	Amir Ajoolabady, Domenico Pratico, Nils Henninger, Jaakko Tuomilehto, Daniel J. Klionsky, and Jun Ren			
14	Ferroptosis in Central Nervous System Hypoxia–Ischemia Namood-e Sahar and Eric S. Peeples			
15	Involvement of Ferroptosis in Lupus Nephritis			
16	Ferroptosis and Infectious Diseases			
17	Selenium Metabolic Pathway in Ferroptotic Cell Death Kalimuthu Kalishwaralal, Ajmani Abhishek, Chenicheri K. Keerthana, Tennyson P. Rayginia, Mundanattu Swetha, Sreekumar U. Aiswarya, Jaison Arivalagan, Smitha V. Bava, Michael A. Firer, and Ruby John Anto			
18	Epigenetic and Posttranslational Regulation of Ferroptosis Yilei Zhang, Jingwen Xiong, and Minglin Wang	383		
19	Phospholipid Peroxidation in Health and Disease			
20	PKCβII–ACSL4 Axis Triggers Ferroptosis and Its Potential Implication in Ferroptosis-Related Diseases Yi-Qing Guo, Hai-Liang Zhang, Rong Deng, and Xiao-Feng Zhu			
21	Cancer Treatment with Ferroptosis by a Combination of Iron Nanoparticles and Gene Therapy	445		
22	Inhibitors of Oxytosis/Ferroptosis: A New Class of Therapeutics for Alzheimer's Disease Pamela Maher	461		

viii



Lipid Metabolism and Homeostasis in Ferroptosis

Daolin Tang and Rui Kang

Abstract

Lipids are a diverse group of molecules that are crucial for cell structure, energy storage, and cell signaling. Maintaining lipid homeostasis involves a complex network of processes that regulate the synthesis, uptake, transport, storage, and breakdown of lipids. The disruption of lipid homeostasis can result in cell death, particularly through ferroptosis, which is an oxidative cell death driven by uncontrolled lipid peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids and subsequent membrane rupture. Ferroptosis regulation occurs at multiple levels, involving nuclear transcription factors, protein degradation machinery (such as autophagy), and membrane repair pathways. Impaired ferroptosis is implicated in several diseases, including metabolic disorders like diabetes and obesity, as well as cardiovascular disease, neurodegenerative disorders, and cancer. In this chapter, we will provide an overview of lipid metabolism steps and their underlying molecular pathways, and how they affect ferroptosis sensitivity. Understanding the mechanisms that regulate lipid homeostasis during ferroptosis is crucial to develop new therapies for pathological conditions.

1.1 Introduction

Lipids, essential components of all cells, perform a variety of important functions. They are critical constituents of various cellular compartments, including the plasma membrane and organelle membranes, such as the nuclear, endoplasmic reticulum (ER), Golgi apparatus, and transportation vesicles like endosomes and lysosomes (Natesan and Kim 2021). Mammalian cells express tens of thousands of distinct lipid

D. Tang $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. Kang

Department of Surgery, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: daolin.tang@utsouthwestern.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_1

species and rely on hundreds of proteins to synthesize, metabolize, and transport them, thus maintaining lipid homeostasis. Despite being almost as complex and diverse as proteins, the functions of lipids in cell survival and cell death are context-dependent (Flores-Romero et al. 2020).

Ferroptosis is a regulated form of cell death that occurs when the accumulation of iron-dependent reactive oxygen species (ROS) leads to lipid peroxidation and insufficient capacity to eliminate lipid peroxides (Tang and Kroemer 2020a). Ferroptosis is distinguishable from apoptosis based on its unique morphological, biochemical, and genetic characteristics (Galluzzi et al. 2018). Morphologically, ferroptotic cells display smaller mitochondria, a decrease or disappearance of mitochondrial cristae, and condensed mitochondrial membrane densities, while their nuclear structure remains intact without karyorrhexis or margination of chromatin, as seen in apoptosis (Xie et al. 2016). Ferroptosis can be induced by small molecules, such as erastin, RSL3, and related compounds, while lipid peroxidation inhibitors, such as vitamin E, ferrostatin-1, and liproxstatin-1, as well as iron chelators (e.g., deferoxamine mesylate) can block it (Stockwell et al. 2017). Notably, ferroptosis does not require the caspase family, which are key mediators of apoptosis (Tang et al. 2019). Identifying the molecular mechanisms and signaling pathways of ferroptosis is crucial for developing new diagnostic and therapeutic approaches in human disease (Tang et al. 2021). Growing evidence suggests that lipid metabolism plays a crucial role in determining cellular sensitivity to ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2021; Carbone and Melino 2019). This chapter outlines the types and dynamics of lipid metabolism in regulating ferroptosis (Fig. 1.1).

1.2 Lipid Resource

In recent years, several studies have aimed to identify the lipid species that are oxidized during ferroptosis and are functionally relevant to the process. Lipidomics assays conducted in human fibrosarcoma cells treated with erastin or phosphatidylethanolamines (PE) have revealed that polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are the most susceptible lipids to peroxidation during ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016). Cells supplemented with PUFAs promote ferroptosis, while exchanging PUFAs with deuterated PUFAs that are less susceptible to oxidation, or deleting genes required for the activation and incorporation of PUFAs into phospholipids, inhibit ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017; Kagan et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2016). Thus, supplementing the culture media with PUFAs can induce a ferroptosis-susceptible state in a melanoma cell line that is inherently resistant to ferroptosis, presumably due to increased PUFA incorporation into phospholipid membranes (Zou et al. 2020b).

PUFAs are highly susceptible to lipid peroxidation in the presence of oxygen, and this peroxidation reaction is accelerated by divalent metals, especially Fe (II) (Pratt et al. 2011). Cell types that contain relatively high levels of PUFAs are more sensitive to lethal oxidative stress (Alvarez and Storey 1989; Robison et al. 1982). Unsaturated organic molecules with weak C–H bonds, particularly those with



Fig. 1.1 Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Ferroptosis is primarily caused by the excessive oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) on membrane structures, including the plasma membrane and organelle membrane. Three sources of PUFAs are generated by acyl-CoA synthase 4 (ACSL4)-lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3)-mediated phospholipids (PE), ACSL4-sterol O-acyltransferase 1 (SOAT1)-mediated cholesteryl ester (CE), and peroxisomemediated plasmalogens (PL). Increased lipid uptake by CD36, sterol carrier protein 2 (SCP2), or solute carrier family 27 member 2 (SLC27A2) maintains PUFA levels, whereas lipid droplet formation reduces this process. Conversely, lipophagy and lipolysis can degrade lipid droplets to release fatty acids for ferroptosis. Sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1 (SREBP1)-dependent stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) expression promotes monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) production, thereby inhibiting PUFA oxidation to PUFA-OOH. The generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) for lipid peroxidation mainly occurs from iron-dependent Fenton reaction, mitochondrial respiration, or membrane NADPH oxidase (NOX) family. The POR and LOX families are key mediators of lipid peroxidation. Several antioxidant enzymes, such as glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (AIFM2), dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), and microsomal glutathione S-transferase 1 (MGST1), inhibit lipid peroxidation at different subcellular locations. The master transcription factor, NFE2 like BZIP transcription factor 2 (NEF2L2), increases its protein stability during oxidative stress, leading to the expression of antioxidant genes to suppress ferroptosis. Nuclear protein-1 (NUPR1) is another important stress protein that leads to ferroptosis resistance by upregulating lipocalin-2 (LCN2) to limit iron accumulation or block mitochondrial oxidative damage. The end product of lipid peroxidation, 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE), can activate NOX on the membrane, thereby intensifying lipid peroxidation and cell membrane damage. In contrast, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1B1 (ALDH1B1) can scavenge 4-HNE, and this process is inhibited by the formation of the ALDH1B1-eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (EIF4E) complex. Finally, membrane damage can be repaired through the recruitment and activation of the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport-III (ESCRT-III) machinery

double bonds adjacent to methylene groups in PUFAs, are prone to undergo autoxidation, which weakens the hydrogen bond energy of the bis-allylic methylene groups, making them more susceptible to hydrogen abstraction and consequent oxygenation. Thus, the membrane phospholipids containing high levels of PUFAs are particularly sensitive to damage by ROS (Barrera 2012). Furthermore, PUFAs themselves shift into reactive free radicals after oxidizing with free radicals, which can propagate lipid peroxidation chain reactions. Accordingly, the capability of cells to undergo ferroptosis generally depends on the abundance and localization of PUFA within the context of phospholipid bilayers (Conrad et al. 2018).

Using quantitative redox lipidomics, reverse genetics, bioinformatics, and systems biology, only one class of phospholipids, PE, has been found to be involved in RSL3 or deletion of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4)-induced ferroptosis of mouse fibroblasts. These phospholipids undergo oxidation in the ER-associated compartments with specificity toward two fatty acyls – arachidonoyl (AA) and adrenoyl (AdA) (Kagan et al. 2017). The suppression of AA or AdA esterification into PE by genetic or pharmacological inhibition of acyl-CoA synthase 4 (ACSL4) appears to be a specific anti-ferroptotic rescue pathway (Kagan et al. 2017). Exogenous AA/AdA-PE-OOH, but not free AA-OOH or AdA-OOH, causes ferroptotic cell death. Peroxisome-mediated plasmalogen (PL) synthesis also contributes to ferroptosis by synthesizing polyunsaturated ether phospholipids (PUFA-PLs), which act as substrates for lipid peroxidation that, sequentially, leads to the induction of ferroptosis in neoplastic cells, neurons, and cardiomyocytes (Zou et al. 2020a). These works emphasize that PUFA-PLs are a distinct functional lipid class that is necessary and sufficient to induce sensitivity to ferroptosis.

Our study shows that PUFA-esterified cholesteryl esters (CEs) and lipid droplet degradation also promote ferroptosis in some contexts (Lin et al. 2022; Bai et al. 2019). In contrast, exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs), such as oleic acid and palmitoleic acid, inhibit ferroptosis induced by erastin and RSL3 by preventing plasma membrane lipid peroxidation (Magtanong et al. 2019). MUFAs inhibit the accumulation of lipid ROS at the plasma membrane and displace PUFAs from this location in the cell. Blocking MUFA uptake, activation, or de novo synthesis may help overcome the ferroptosis-resistant state and increase the effectiveness of current pro-ferroptotic agents. Overall, while different types of PUFAs promote ferroptosis, MUFAs inhibit it, although most of these conclusions have been drawn from studies in cancer cells.

1.3 Lipid Synthesis

The diversity of fatty acyl moieties in membrane phospholipids affects the biophysical properties of cell membranes, including their fluidity, curvature, and subdomain architecture, which, in turn, determine cell sensitivity to ferroptosis (Wang and Tontonoz 2019). The abundance and localization of PUFAs play a crucial role in the development of ferroptotic signals, which require the esterification and oxidation of free PUFAs in membrane phospholipids. To produce these signals, coenzyme-Aderivatives of PUFAs must be formed and inserted into phospholipids. The conversion of long-chain fatty acid stoacyl-CoA by acyl-CoA synthetase and reacylation by lysophospholipid acyltransferases are necessary for the incorporation of de novo synthesized fatty acids into phospholipids (Mashima et al. 2009; Hishikawa et al. 2008, 2014). The lipid composition of cells can profoundly affect their sensitivity to ferroptosis-inducing agents due to the central role of lipid peroxidation in the ferroptosis process (Chen et al. 2021b, 2021c).

1.3.1 The ACSL4-LPCAT3-PUFA-PE Pathway

The ACSL family plays a critical role in lipid metabolism by converting long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) to their CoA thioesters, which are used in various metabolic processes (Kuwata and Hara 2019). Among the five isoforms of the ACSL family, ACSL4 is particularly important for ferroptosis and regulating inflammation and has been implicated in diseases, such as cancer (Yuan et al. 2016; Li et al. 2019; Cheng et al. 2020). Other members of the ACSL family, such as ACSL1 and ACSL3, may play a context-dependent role in either promoting or inhibiting ferroptosis (Beatty et al. 2021; Klasson et al. 2022; Magtanong et al. 2019).

Recent studies using genetic screening systems and microarray analysis have identified ACSL4 as an essential component for ferroptosis execution, as it accumulates oxidized cellular membrane phospholipids (Dixon et al. 2015). The inhibition or knockout of ACSL4 suppresses ferroptosis, and the supplementation with certain fatty acids rescues sensitivity to ferroptosis in ACSL4-deficient cells (Doll et al. 2017). ACSL4 has a preference for long PUFAs, such as AA and AdA, which enrich cellular membranes and contribute to the production of lipid peroxide. This lipid peroxide further stimulates ferroptosis and provides mechanistic insights into why metastasis-prone cancer cells are highly sensitive to ferroptosis sensitivity in hepatocellular carcinoma and for predicting sorafenib sensitivity (Feng et al. 2021; Yuan et al. 2016).

ACSL4 activation can activate lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferases (LPCATs), a group of enzymes responsible for phospholipid remodeling. LPCATs catalyze the incorporation of fatty acyl chains into the sn-2 site of phosphatidylcholine (PC), thereby modulating the fatty acyl composition of phospholipids (Wang and Tontonoz 2019; Rong et al. 2013). Once ligated with coenzyme A through ACSL4, long-chain PUFAs are used by LPCAT3 to esterify lysophospholipids. These PUFAs may undergo peroxidation once seeded into membranes (Conrad and Pratt 2019). LPCAT3 plays a crucial role in maintaining systemic lipid homeostasis by regulating lipid absorption, lipoprotein secretion, and de novo lipogenesis (Wang and Tontonoz 2019). In addition, LPCAT3 is tightly involved in ferroptosis, as demonstrated by bulky insertional mutagenesis of RSL3 and ML162-resistant clone cells (Dixon et al. 2015). Mechanistically, LPCAT3 is thought to incorporate arachidonic acid into membranes, and the lack of LPCAT3 leads to extreme reductions in membrane arachidonate levels (Hashidate-Yoshida et al. 2015). Therefore, LPCAT3 is also an essential factor in ferroptosis induction, most likely by modulating arachidonic acid metabolism. LPCAT3 esterifies these derivatives into phosphatidylethanolamines (AA-PE and AdA-PE), which are primarily present in the ER. Although it has been shown to be involved in PC synthesis, the specific role of LPCAT3 in different tissues and cell types is not clear.

1.3.2 The ACSL4-SOAT1-PUFA-CE Pathway

The delicate balance between cell survival and death is heavily influenced by the physical and chemical properties of cell membranes. The susceptibility to ferroptosis is determined by lipid remodeling, which provides substrates for this process. The phospholipids PE and PC are key players in mediating ferroptosis. Solute carrier family 47 member 1 (SLC47A1, also known as MATE-1), a membrane transporter protein primarily expressed in the liver and kidneys, plays a vital role in eliminating various drugs and toxins from the body by transporting organic cations across cell membranes (Freitas-Lima et al. 2020; Estrela et al. 2017; Wittwer et al. 2013). Mutations in the SLC47A1 gene have been linked to altered drug response and toxicity in some individuals. Recent studies indicate that SLC47A1 acts as an endogenous repressor of ferroptosis, likely by influencing the concentrations and metabolism of PUFAs rather than eliminating ferroptosis activators (Lin et al. 2022). Direct or indirect inhibition of the function of lipid flippase of SLC47A1 may sensitize cancer cells to pharmacological ferroptosis induction (Lin et al. 2022).

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha (PPARA) is a transcription factor and nuclear receptor protein that regulates the expression of genes involved in cellular processes such as lipid metabolism, glucose homeostasis, and inflammation (Wagner and Wagner 2022). PPARA-mediated expression of SLC47A1 on cell membranes is a key regulator of lipid remodeling and cell survival during ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2022). In wild type cells, the ACSL4-LPCAT3 pathway-mediated PUFA-PE production favors ferroptosis. However, in SLC47A1 deficient cells, the ACSL4-sterol O-acyltransferase 1 (SOAT1) pathway-mediated PUFA-CE production promotes ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2022). SOAT1 is an enzyme primarily involved in esterifying cholesterol in the liver and intestine. Thus, the ACSL4-SOAT1 pathway is a potential target for treating ferroptosis-related diseases.

1.3.3 The Peroxisomes-PUFA-PL Pathway

Peroxisomes are organelles within eukaryotic cells that play a crucial role in a range of metabolic processes. Their enzymatic content facilitates the breakdown of fatty acids, amino acids, and other metabolites, as well as the generation and removal of hydrogen peroxide. Peroxisomes also contribute to lipid metabolism and biosynthesize PL, a crucial class of membrane lipids. Notably, peroxisomes synthesize PUFA-PL, which has been found to promote ferroptosis in cancer cells (Zou et al. 2020a; Cui et al. 2021). Through whole-genome CRISPR-Cas9 screens with GPX4 inhibitors, several peroxisomal and ether-lipid biosynthesis genes (e.g., peroxisomal biogenesis factor 3 [PEX3], PEX10, alkylglycerone phosphate synthase [AGPS], and fatty acyl-CoA reductase 1 [FAR1]) were identified as promoting resistance to ferroptosis when deleted (Zou et al. 2020a). This suggests that cells may downregulate PUFA-PL biosynthesis as a strategy to evade ferroptosis while upregulating it to promote sensitivity to this process by serving as substrates for lipid ROS propagation. These findings also suggest that PUFA-PL synthesized by peroxisomes could represent a vulnerability that cells manipulate to evade or promote ferroptosis (Tang and Kroemer 2020b). Since peroxisomes have a dual role in oxidative stress, the underlying mechanisms and signals involved in different contexts have yet to be fully characterized.

1.3.4 The SREBP1-SCD Pathway

Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD/SCD1) is an important lipid desaturase enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting step in the synthesis of MUFAs. Its upregulation is observed in various malignancies, including prostate, liver, and breast cancer, and it plays a crucial role in lipid metabolism. Inhibition of SCD can induce changes in cellular lipid content and lead to the depletion of endogenous membrane antioxidant CoQ10, which has been linked to ferroptosis (Tesfay et al. 2019). SCD inhibition can also decrease unsaturated fatty acyl chains in membrane phospholipids and increase long-chain saturated ceramides (Tesfay et al. 2019). Therefore, SCD is involved in the regulation network of various cancer cell lines and is a potential therapeutic target for ferroptosis-based cancer treatment.

Sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1 (SREBP1), a transcription factor, is a key regulator of lipid metabolism in the body, which is primarily responsible for regulating genes involved in fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis and uptake (Chen et al. 2021a). The dysregulation of SREBP1 is associated with metabolic disorders, such as obesity, diabetes, and atherosclerosis. SREBP1 activates the expression of SCD and promotes the production of MUFAs in ferroptosis (Yi et al. 2020; Zhao et al. 2020). The SREBP1-SCD pathway is a potential target for combined therapies in cancer treatment. Examining the effects of dietary factors, such as different types of fats and carbohydrates, on the SREBP1-SCD pathway and lipid metabolism poses a challenge for researchers.

1.4 Lipid Peroxidation

Redox equilibrium is a vital feature of biological systems, which enables them to balance oxidative and reducing reactions to achieve optimal conditions for life. However, in ferroptosis, this equilibrium is disrupted by the accumulation of oxidizing molecules caused by either overproduction or loss of cellular reducing ability. These accumulated oxidizing agents can oxidize various cellular components, including DNA, proteins, and lipids, thereby altering their structure, physical properties, and activity. One key downstream feature of ferroptosis is lipid peroxidation, with its products considered the proximate executioners of ferroptosis (Conrad et al. 2018). As such, compounds and molecules that impede lipid peroxidation may be useful in preventing ferroptosis (Kuang et al. 2020).

Lipid peroxidation is triggered by several steps, including hydrogen abstraction, double bond migration, the addition of triplet oxygen, and subsequent oxidation cascades, eventually leading to the breakage of the oxidized fatty acyl group and production of by-products, such as 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA) (Romero et al. 1998). This process primarily targets long-chain fatty acids with multiple double bonds, such as linoleic, arachidonic, and docosahexaenoic acids. Enzymatic and non-enzymatic processes can catalyze lipid peroxidation, with the substrate extent and typical mechanism being mostly similar in both cases.

Non-enzymatic lipid peroxidation is mediated by carbon- and oxygen-centered radicals known as autoxidation, with iron playing a critical role in initiating this process. While most iron is tightly bound in heme, FeS clusters, or ferritin, a small amount is loosely ligated (labile) and can participate in redox reactions. The labile iron pool can catalyze redox reactions via the "Fenton reaction" (Fe(II) + $H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe$ (III) + HO \cdot + HO⁻), which leads to a free radical chain reaction that inserts a molecule of oxygen into the C–H bond of an organic substrate, ultimately generating a hydroperoxide (Winterbourn 1995). Consequently, non-enzymatic lipid peroxidation can be considered a chain reaction. Moreover, cellular enzymes, such as Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase lipoxygenases (LOXs), (POR), and cyclooxygenases (COXs), can catalyze lipid peroxidation in a controlled manner, with LOXs and POR being involved in promoting ferroptosis.

LOXs are nonheme iron-containing dioxygenases that catalyze the stereospecific insertion of oxygen into PUFAs. In humans, there are six ALOX genes: ALOX5, ALOX12, ALOX12B, ALOX15, ALOX15B, and ALOXE3. LOXs are named and categorized based on the positional numbered carbon where they oxygenate their PUFA substrates. The role of LOXs in ferroptosis is tissue and cell specific (Wenzel et al. 2017; Mashima and Okuyama 2015; Liu et al. 2015; Li et al. 2021; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014; Matsushita et al. 2015; Brutsch et al. 2015; Ou et al. 2016). LOXs catalyze the oxygenation of PUFAs to form lipid hydroperoxides, which can react further with iron to generate highly reactive lipid radicals. These radicals can then propagate lipid peroxidation and lead to the accumulation of lipid peroxides, ultimately triggering ferroptotic cell death. Inhibiting LOXs or their downstream signaling pathways has emerged as a potential therapeutic strategy for preventing ferroptosis in various diseases, including cancer, neurodegeneration, and ischemia–reperfusion injury.

POR is a flavoprotein that facilitates electron transfer to various enzymes, including cytochrome P450 monooxygenases involved in drug and xenobiotic metabolism, as well as in the biosynthesis of steroid hormones, bile acids, and vitamin D (Manikandan and Nagini 2018). In ferroptosis, POR plays a crucial role in promoting lipid peroxidation and cell death. Studies using CRISPR/Cas9-mediated suppressor screens identified POR as a contributor to ferroptotic cell death in clear-cell renal cell carcinoma and melanoma cell lines, demonstrating its ability to up-regulate the peroxidation of membrane polyunsaturated phospholipids (Zou et al. 2020b). Moreover, in HeLa cells, both POR and CYB5R1 promote ferroptosis by transferring electrons from NAD(P)H to oxygen to generate H_2O_2 , which reacts with iron to produce hydroxyl radicals, leading to peroxidation of PUFA-containing membrane phospholipids in an ALOX-independent manner (Yan et al. 2020). Therefore, inhibiting POR may represent a promising therapeutic target for the treatment of ferroptosis-related diseases.

1.5 Lipid Storage and Degradation

Lipid droplets are intracellular organelles found in most eukaryotic cells that are composed of a neutral lipid core (primarily triacylglycerol and cholesterol ester) surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer and associated proteins. They are dynamic structures that can grow or shrink in response to changes in cellular energy and nutrient availability, and they serve as a major storage site for lipids within cells. The formation of lipid droplets is primarily derived from the ER (Henne et al. 2018). These lipid droplets are metabolized to offer lipids for cellular metabolism and have a unique ability to consolidate various fatty acid fluxes and regulate their input into pathways required for membrane homeostasis (Petan 2020). In addition to their primary function, lipid droplets also play a crucial role in protecting the cell from lipotoxicity by regulating the (poly)unsaturated fatty acid trafficking (Herms et al. 2013; Herms et al. 2015). They modulate lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis sensitivity and act as antioxidant organelles by actively regulating the trafficking of PUFAs that block oxidative stress and cell death (Bai et al. 2019; Zou et al. 2019). There is a crosstalk between ferroptosis and lipid droplets. At the early stage of RSL3-induced ferroptosis, lipid droplet accumulation is increased, but it decreases at the later stage (Bai et al. 2019). Lipid droplet viscosity also increases in cancer cells during ferroptosis induction. Interestingly, molecules that promote lipid droplet formation negatively regulate ferroptosis, such as tumor protein D52 (TPD52), perilipin 2 (PLIN2), and squalene, which lead to ferroptosis resistance in certain cancer cells (Bai et al. 2019; Dong et al. 2020; Sun et al. 2020; Garcia-Bermudez et al. 2019). Lipid droplet degradation occurs via lipolysis and lipophagy, both of which exhibit a significant crosstalk and play a positive regulatory role in ferroptosis (Bai et al. 2019). Lipid droplets breakdown via lipophagy has been shown to promote GPX4 inhibition-induced ferroptosis in hepatocytes (Bai et al. 2019). PUFAtriacylglycerols stored within lipid droplets are drivers of ferroptotic sensitivity by providing PUFAs for phospholipid membrane synthesis (Bezawork-Geleta et al. 2022). Conversely, the presence of lipid droplets appears to inhibit ferroptosis in cells. The functional heterogeneity of lipid droplets and their roles in lipid metabolism, as well as their involvement in ferroptotic processes, still require further investigation.

1.6 Lipid Uptake and Utilization

The transfer of phospholipids from their sites of synthesis to organelle membranes is crucial for a variety of biological processes, including ferroptosis. Lipid transport proteins are responsible for lipid trafficking, and among these proteins, sterol carrier protein 2 (SCP2) is a type of lipid transport protein that facilitates the transport of peroxidized lipids to mitochondria and promotes oxidative stress between compartments (Vila et al. 2004). SCP2-mediated trafficking of peroxidized lipids to mitochondria leads to GPX4 depletion-induced ferroptosis, which causes acute renal failure in mice (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). However, this effect is temporary and only slows down cell death kinetics, suggesting that other translocases may work in conjunction with SCP2.

In addition to de novo synthesis, cells can transport extracellular fatty acids using fatty acid transporters, such as CD36 (also known as fatty acid translocase [FAT]), solute carrier family 27 member 2 (SLC27A2, also known as fatty acid transporter 2 [FATP2], and fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs). Cancer cells can also use exogenous lipids when de novo synthesis is inhibited. However, increased expression of CD36, which is involved in fatty acid intake, can promote tumor metastasis. Therefore, blocking CD36 can inhibit tumor growth and metastasis in prostate cancer models. In CD36-overexpressing cells (cancer or immune cells), fatty acids taken up via CD36 are mostly stored and not used for fatty acid oxidation, which can promote ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2021). CD36 may also suppress ferroptosis by exporting AA (Kuda et al. 2011). Loss of SLC27A2 results in impaired uptake of AA, leading to neutrophils resistant to ferroptosis in the tumor microenvironment (Veglia et al. 2019). In gastric cancer cells, the expression of SLC27A2 is decreased. However, cells can compensate for the reduction in SLC27A2 by enhancing the de novo synthesis of fatty acids to counteract the effect of AA deficiency, which enables cells to maintain sensitivity to ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020).

Fatty acids are broken down in the mitochondria via β-oxidation, a biochemical process in which two carbon units are removed from the carboxyl end of a fatty acid molecule to produce acetyl-CoA. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha (ACACA/ACC1) is a key enzyme involved in both fatty acid biosynthesis and β -oxidation and plays a context-dependent role in promoting ferroptosis (Shimada et al. 2016). Silencing of ACACA in HT1080 cells results in resistance to FIN56, but not RSL3 (Shimada et al. 2016). However, the inhibition of ACACA blocks both erastin- and RSL3induced ferroptosis in MEFs (Li et al. 2020). 2,4-Dienoyl-CoA reductase 1 (DECR1), a rate-limiting enzyme that oxidizes PUFAs, induces lipid peroxidation and cellular ferroptosis (Nassar et al. 2020). In addition, reduced fatty acid metabolism resulting from VHL-mediated β -oxidation inhibition renders renal cancer cells highly sensitive to glutathione (GSH) inhibition-induced ferroptosis (Miess et al. 2018). Although inhibition of β -oxidation can restore tumor cells' sensitivity to ferroptosis, etomoxir, a potential inhibitor of β -oxidation of PUFA, stimulates rather than suppresses RSL3-induced cell death (Kagan et al. 2017). Gaining a better understanding of fatty acid turnover, including the uptake and utilization of fatty acids in cells, may help to unravel the complex regulation of ferroptosis by different lipids.

1.7 Defense Mechanism

Cells have developed various mechanisms to protect themselves against lipid oxidation damage. One of the most crucial strategies is the use of antioxidants, which are capable of neutralizing free radicals and preventing them from reacting with lipids. Antioxidants can either be obtained from the diet or produced within the body, and examples include vitamin E, vitamin C, glutathione (GSH), and superoxide dismutase. Additionally, cells have enzymes that can remove and replace oxidized lipids in cell membranes to aid in their repair and maintain membrane integrity. Furthermore, cells can regulate the composition of their membranes to make them less susceptible to oxidation, such as by increasing levels of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids, which are more stable and less prone to oxidation than polyunsaturated fatty acids. Finally, cells have membrane repair mechanisms to defend against oxidative damage. Overall, these defense mechanisms against lipid oxidation damage work in concert to protect cells from the harmful effects of lipid oxidation and maintain their normal function during ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2021b). In the following sections, we discuss several important molecules involved in inhibiting ferroptosis-induced oxidation damage.

1.7.1 GPX4

There are numerous members of the GPXs family, including GPX1 to GPX8. However, GPX4 plays a more significant role in ferroptosis. GPX4, an enzyme that directly reduces lipid hydroperoxides in biomembranes, can convert GSH to oxidized glutathione disulfide (GSSG) and maintain cellular redox homeostasis (Yang et al. 2014). Both RSL3 and erastin are ferroptosis inducers that can cause an increase in lipid ROS. However, erastin reduces GSH content by inhibiting system xc⁻, which hinders cystine absorption. On the other hand, RSL3 does not affect the GSH level when inducing BJeLR cell death. Therefore, it is speculated that RSL3 may induce ferroptosis through different mechanisms. Using fluoresceinlabeled RSL3, BJeLR cells were screened, and GPX4 was identified as the target protein of RSL3. GPX4 is an inhibitory protein of the lipid peroxidation process that can degrade small molecular and relatively complex lipid peroxides (Yang et al. 2014). Conversely, upregulating GPX4 expression confers resistance to ferroptosis. Moreover, the mevalonate pathway (MVA pathway) can affect GPX4 by regulating the maturation of selenocysteine tRNA, which can cause ferroptosis in cells. Selenocysteine is one of the amino acids in the active center of GPX4, and its insertion into GPX4 requires a specific transporter, selenocysteine tRNA (Ingold et al. 2018; Warner et al. 2000). Isopentenyltransferase is required for the maturation selenocysteine tRNA, which transfers the isopentenyl of group in isopentenylpyrophosphate (IPP) to the selenocysteine tRNA precursor. IPP is a product of the MVA pathway; thus, the MVA pathway can downregulate IPP, affecting the synthesis of selenocysteine tRNA, interfering with the activity of GPX4, and causing ferroptosis.

1.7.2 AIFM2

CoO10 is a lipid-soluble antioxidant that is endogenously produced and has been shown to block the harmful oxidation of proteins, lipids, and DNA. Recently, apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (AIFM2), also known as FSP1, has been identified as an antioxidant regulator in ferroptosis, regardless of its mitochondrial function (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2019). AIFM2 uses nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) to regenerate ubiquinol, the reduced form of CoQ10, which acts as a cellular intrinsic lipophilic radical-trapping antioxidant and prevents oxidative lipid damage in a wide range of cancer cell lines, including breast, lung, brain, colon, and liver cancer. N-myristoylation is required for the translocation of AIFM2 from mitochondria to the cell membrane where it catalyzes the regeneration of non-mitochondrial reduced CoQ10 using NADPH, thereby trapping lipid peroxides in a GPX4-independent manner. AIFM2 also inhibits ferroptosis by activating endosomal sorting complexes required for transport III (ESCRT-III)-dependent membrane repair instead of its oxidoreductase function (Dai et al. 2020c). AIFM2 activity in ferroptosis is specifically inhibited by a small molecule compound called iFSP1, although it was not toxic alone, unlike GPX4 inhibitors (Doll et al. 2019). AIFM2-mediated Vitamin K metabolism not only inhibits ferroptosis, but also highlights the multifaceted role of AIFM2 in controlling the antiferrptotic response.

1.7.3 DHODH

Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) is an enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of pyrimidines, essential building blocks of DNA and RNA. DHODH is located in the mitochondrial inner membrane and catalyzes the fourth step of the de novo synthesis of pyrimidines, converting dihydroorotate to orotate (Zhou et al. 2021). DHODH is also involved in the production of ubiquinone, an important component of the electron transport chain. Studies have shown that DHODH can affect ferroptosis by regulating the production of ubiquinone and the redox status of cells (Mao et al. 2021). DHODH inhibitors, such as brequinar and leflunomide, have been shown to induce ferroptosis in cancer cells by depleting ubiquinone levels and increasing oxidative stress. DHODH inhibition leads to a decrease in the activity of complex III of the electron transport chain, resulting in reduced production of the antioxidant ubiquinone and an increase in mitochondrial oxidative stress. This, in turn, leads to lipid peroxidation and ultimately ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2021). Overall, these findings establish a mitochondrial defense mechanism to inhibit ferroptosis. Given that DHODH is a synthetic lethal vulnerability in mutant KRAS-driven cancers (Koundinya et al. 2018), DHODH inhibition-induced ferroptosis may be a promising approach for targeted therapy in a wide range of cancers.

1.7.4 MGST1

Microsomal glutathione S-transferase 1 (MGST1) belongs to the glutathione S-transferase (GST) family of enzymes and is primarily found in the ER and the outer mitochondrial membrane of cells. MGST1 catalyzes the conjugation of the antioxidant molecule GSH to a variety of electrophilic compounds, including lipid peroxidation products, thereby preventing them from causing further damage to the cell. In ferroptosis, MGST1 plays a protective role by promoting the degradation of lipid peroxides (Kuang et al. 2021). Specifically, MGST1 can catalyze the conjugation of GSH to lipid peroxides, which generates a water-soluble product that can be excreted from the cell. This reduces the levels of lipid peroxides in the cell and helps to prevent the accumulation of lipid peroxides, which is a hallmark of ferroptosis. The overexpression of MGST1 has been shown to protect pancreatic cancer cells from ferroptosis, partially by binding to ALOX5 and reducing lipid peroxidation (Kuang et al. 2021). However, the expression of SLC7A11 and GPX4 remains unaffected by changes in MGST1. Taken together, these findings suggest that MGST1 may act as a ferroptosis suppressor alongside the GPX4 pathway, highlighting its potential as a novel therapeutic target for pancreatic tumors.

1.7.5 ALDH1B1

Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member B1 (ALDH1B1) is a member of the aldehyde dehydrogenase enzyme family that catalyzes the oxidation of aldehydes to their corresponding carboxylic acids. ALDH1B1 is expressed in various tissues and plays a crucial role in cellular detoxification processes, protecting cancer cells against lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis by oxidizing lipid aldehydes generated during the lipid peroxidation process (Chen et al. 2022). Conversely, inhibiting ALDH1B1 activity has been shown to increase lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in cancer cells, suggesting that it may be a potential therapeutic target for cancer treatment (Chen et al. 2022). Interestingly, eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (EIF4E) has a non-translational function of binding and inhibiting the anti-ferroptotic function of ALDH1B1 in the clearance of 4-HNE. Since EIF4E is usually overexpressed in cancer cells, inducing EIF4E-dependent ALDH1B1 inhibition and subsequent ferroptosis may be a safe anticancer strategy. Further studies are needed to determine the specificity and selectivity of the EIF4E–ALDH1B1–4-HNE pathway in tumor therapy.

1.7.6 NFE2L2

NFE2 like BZIP transcription factor 2 (NFE2L2, also known as NRF2) is a transcription factor that plays a critical role in the cellular defense against oxidative stress (Rojo de la Vega et al. 2018). Under normal conditions, NFE2L2 is kept in the cytoplasm by the Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (KEAP1), an adaptor subunit of Cullin 3-based E3 ubiquitin ligase. However, when cells are exposed to oxidative stress or electrophiles, NFE2L2 is released from KEAP1 and translocates to the nucleus, where it activates the expression of genes involved in antioxidant and detoxification pathways (Dai et al. 2020a). The degradation of KEAP1 by sequestosome 1 (SOSTM1) can increase the stability of the NFE2L2 protein and subsequently lead to increased gene transcription. These include genes encoding enzymes involved in GSH synthesis, NADPH regeneration, and phase II detoxification enzymes. Activation of NFE2L2 has been shown to protect cells against ferroptosis by increasing the expression of genes involved in iron metabolism (e.g., ferritin) and redox balance (e.g., MGST, NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 [NQO1], GPX4, and metallothionein-1G [MT1G]), which are critical for ferroptosis suppression (Sun et al. 2016a; Sun et al. 2016b). On the other hand, inhibition of NFE2L2 has been shown to sensitize cells to ferroptosis by decreasing the expression of antioxidant and detoxification genes, and increasing the levels of lipid peroxidation products. Thus, NFE2L2 plays a central role in inhibiting ferroptosis by upregulating multiple genes involved in the antiferroptotic pathway.

1.7.7 NUPR1

Nuclear protein-1 (NUPR1; also known as p8) was initially discovered in 1997 as a small protein expressed in the rat and as a novel gene that is activated in the acute phase of induced pancreatitis and during pancreatic development (Liu and Costa 2022). NUPR1 is a transcription regulator protein that has been shown to promote cell survival in response to oxidative stress by enhancing the expression of antioxidant genes, such as NQO1, and inhibiting the production of ROS. NUPR1 regulates cellular damage and death in different forms, depending on the cell context and the types of stress induced. Regarding ferroptosis, NUPR1 has been identified as a negative regulator of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer and liver cancer (Liu et al. 2021c; Huang et al. 2021). NUPR1 overexpression inhibits, while NUPR1 knockdown sensitizes cells to ferroptosis. NUPR1 inhibits ferroptosis by promoting LCN2 expression to limit iron accumulation or by inhibiting mitochondrial damage (Huang et al. 2021c). In addition to its nuclear function, NUPR1 is also expressed in the cytoplasm. Further studies are needed to define the cytosolic function of NUPR1 in ferroptosis.

1.7.8 ESCRT-III

The endosomal sorting complexes required for transport III (ESCRT-III) are a group of proteins that play a crucial role in several cellular processes, including membrane repair and programmed cell death. ESCRT-III is involved in multivesicular body (MVB) biogenesis, which is the process by which membrane proteins and lipids are sorted into intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) within the endosomal pathway (Lata et al. 2009). Additionally, ESCRT-III plays a key role in repairing damaged plasma

membranes by mediating the formation of a membrane repair complex at the site of injury (Liu et al. 2021a). In terms of ferroptosis, recent studies have suggested that ESCRT-III may play a role in protecting cells against ferroptosis-induced membrane damage (Dai et al. 2020b; Pedrera et al. 2021). ESCRT-III can facilitate the removal of oxidized phospholipids from the plasma membrane, which are a hallmark of ferroptosis. This process involves the recruitment of ESCRT-III to the damaged membrane, where it mediates the sequestration of oxidized phospholipids into ILVs, which are then trafficked to the lysosome for degradation. Collectively, these findings suggest that ESCRT-III plays a critical role in maintaining membrane integrity and protecting cells from oxidative damage, including that induced by ferroptosis.

1.8 Conclusion and Outlook

In conclusion, lipid metabolism and homeostasis play critical roles in the regulation of ferroptosis, a form of regulated cell death driven by lipid peroxidation. The accumulation of oxidized lipids, particularly PUFAs, in cell membranes triggers ferroptosis. To prevent this, cells have developed various mechanisms to regulate the composition of their membranes, repair damaged lipids, and neutralize free radicals that cause lipid peroxidation. In recent years, significant progress has been made in understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying ferroptosis and lipid metabolism. However, many questions remain unanswered, and further research is needed to fully elucidate the complex interplay between lipid metabolism, oxidative stress, and ferroptosis. This includes understanding the roles of different lipid species, identifying new regulators of lipid metabolism and ferroptosis, and developing new therapeutic strategies to target ferroptosis in various diseases.

In summary, the study of lipid metabolism and homeostasis in ferroptosis is a rapidly evolving field with great potential for improving our understanding of various diseases and developing new treatments.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest or financial interests.

References

- Alvarez JG, Storey BT (1989) Role of glutathione peroxidase in protecting mammalian spermatozoa from loss of motility caused by spontaneous lipid peroxidation. Gamete Res 23(1):77–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.1120230108
- Bai Y, Meng L, Han L, Jia Y, Zhao Y, Gao H, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D, Dai E (2019) Lipid storage and lipophagy regulates ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 508(4):997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.12.039
- Barrera G (2012) Oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation products in cancer progression and therapy. ISRN Oncol 2012:137289. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/137289
- Beatty A, Singh T, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Samovich S, Nicolas E, Maslar K, Zhou Y, Cai KQ, Tan Y, Doll S, Conrad M, Subramanian A, Bayir H, Kagan VE, Rennefahrt U, Peterson JR

(2021) Ferroptotic cell death triggered by conjugated linolenic acids is mediated by ACSL1. Nat Commun 12(1):2244. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22471-y

- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Bezawork-Geleta A, Dimou J, Watt MJ (2022) Lipid droplets and ferroptosis as new players in brain cancer glioblastoma progression and therapeutic resistance. Front Oncol 12:1085034. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.1085034
- Brutsch SH, Wang CC, Li L, Stender H, Neziroglu N, Richter C, Kuhn H, Borchert A (2015) Expression of inactive glutathione peroxidase 4 leads to embryonic lethality, and inactivation of the Alox15 gene does not rescue such knock-in mice. Antioxid Redox Signal 22(4):281–293. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.5967
- Carbone M, Melino G (2019) Lipid metabolism offers anticancer treatment by regulating ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ 26(12):2516–2519. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0418-2
- Chen J, Ding C, Chen Y, Hu W, Yu C, Peng C, Feng X, Cheng Q, Wu W, Lu Y, Xie H, Zhou L, Wu J, Zheng S (2021a) ACSL4 reprograms fatty acid metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma via c-Myc/SREBP1 pathway. Cancer Lett 502:154–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2020. 12.019
- Chen X, Comish PB, Tang D, Kang R (2021b) Characteristics and biomarkers of Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:637162. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.637162
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021c) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Cheng J, Fan YQ, Liu BH, Zhou H, Wang JM, Chen QX (2020) ACSL4 suppresses glioma cells proliferation via activating ferroptosis. Oncol Rep 43(1):147–158. https://doi.org/10.3892/or. 2019.7419
- Conrad M, Pratt DA (2019) The chemical basis of ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 15(12):1137–1147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0408-1
- Conrad M, Kagan VE, Bayir H, Pagnussat GC, Head B, Traber MG, Stockwell BR (2018) Regulation of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in diverse species. Genes Dev 32(9–10): 602–619. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.314674.118
- Cui W, Liu D, Gu W, Chu B (2021) Peroxisome-driven ether-linked phospholipids biosynthesis is essential for ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ 28(8):2536–2551. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00769-0
- Dai C, Chen X, Li J, Comish P, Kang R, Tang D (2020a) Transcription factors in ferroptotic cell death. Cancer Gene Ther 27(9):645–656. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-020-0170-2
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020b) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110
- Dai E, Zhang W, Cong D, Kang R, Wang J, Tang D (2020c) AIFM2 blocks ferroptosis independent of ubiquinol metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 523(4):966–971. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2020.01.066
- Dixon SJ, Winter GE, Musavi LS, Lee ED, Snijder B, Rebsamen M, Superti-Furga G, Stockwell BR (2015) Human haploid cell genetics reveals roles for lipid metabolism genes in nonapoptotic cell death. ACS Chem Biol 10(7):1604–1609. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00245
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trumbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Fullekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by

shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91-98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239

- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Dong B, Song W, Lu Y, Sun Y, Lin W (2020) Revealing the viscosity changes in lipid droplets during Ferroptosis by the real-time and in situ near-infrared imaging. ACS Sensors 6:22. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.0c02015
- Estrela GR, Wasinski F, Felizardo RJF, Souza LL, Camara NOS, Bader M, Araujo RC (2017) MATE-1 modulation by kinin B1 receptor enhances cisplatin efflux from renal cells. Mol Cell Biochem 428(1–2):101–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-016-2920-x
- Feng J, Lu PZ, Zhu GZ, Hooi SC, Wu Y, Huang XW, Dai HQ, Chen PH, Li ZJ, Su WJ, Han CY, Ye XP, Peng T, Zhou J, Lu GD (2021) ACSL4 is a predictive biomarker of sorafenib sensitivity in hepatocellular carcinoma. Acta Pharmacol Sin 42(1):160–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41401-020-0439-x
- Flores-Romero H, Ros U, Garcia-Saez AJ (2020) A lipid perspective on regulated cell death. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 351:197–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2019.11.004
- Freitas-Lima LC, Budu A, Arruda AC, Perilhao MS, Barrera-Chimal J, Araujo RC, Estrela GR (2020) PPAR-alpha deletion attenuates cisplatin nephrotoxicity by modulating renal organic transporters MATE-1 and OCT-2. Int J Mol Sci 21(19):7416. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21197416
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Rådmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Förster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, Alnemri ES, Altucci L, Amelio I, Andrews DW, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Antonov AV, Arama E, Baehrecke EH, Barlev NA, Bazan NG, Bernassola F, Bertrand MJM, Bianchi K, Blagosklonny MV, Blomgren K, Borner C, Boya P, Brenner C, Campanella M, Candi E, Carmona-Gutierrez D, Cecconi F, Chan FK, Chandel NS, Cheng EH, Chipuk JE, Cidlowski JA, Ciechanover A, Cohen GM, Conrad M, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Czabotar PE, D'Angiolella V, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, De Laurenzi V, De Maria R, Debatin KM, DeBerardinis RJ, Deshmukh M, Di Daniele N, Di Virgilio F, Dixit VM, Dixon SJ, Duckett CS, Dynlacht BD, El-Deiry WS, Elrod JW, Fimia GM, Fulda S, Garcia-Saez AJ, Garg AD, Garrido C, Gavathiotis E, Golstein P, Gottlieb E, Green DR, Greene LA, Gronemeyer H, Gross A, Hajnoczky G, Hardwick JM, Harris IS, Hengartner MO, Hetz C, Ichijo H, Jaattela M, Joseph B, Jost PJ, Juin PP, Kaiser WJ, Karin M, Kaufmann T, Kepp O, Kimchi A, Kitsis RN, Klionsky DJ, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lee SW, Lemasters JJ, Levine B, Linkermann A, Lipton SA, Lockshin RA, Lopez-Otin C, Lowe SW, Luedde T, Lugli E, MacFarlane M, Madeo F, Malewicz M, Malorni W, Manic G, Marine JC, Martin SJ, Martinou JC, Medema JP, Mehlen P, Meier P, Melino S, Miao EA, Molkentin JD, Moll UM, Munoz-Pinedo C, Nagata S, Nunez G, Oberst A, Oren M, Overholtzer M, Pagano M, Panaretakis T, Pasparakis M, Penninger JM, Pereira DM, Pervaiz S, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Pinton P, Prehn JHM, Puthalakath H, Rabinovich GA, Rehm M, Rizzuto R, Rodrigues CMP, Rubinsztein DC, Rudel T, Ryan KM, Sayan E, Scorrano L, Shao F, Shi Y, Silke J, Simon HU, Sistigu A, Stockwell BR, Strasser A, Szabadkai G, Tait SWG, Tang D, Tavernarakis N, Thorburn A, Tsujimoto Y, Turk B, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Vander Heiden MG, Villunger A, Virgin HW, Vousden KH, Vucic D, Wagner EF, Walczak H, Wallach D, Wang Y, Wells JA, Wood W, Yuan J, Zakeri Z, Zhivotovsky B, Zitvogel L, Melino G, Kroemer G (2018)

Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2018. Cell Death Differ 25(3):486–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4

- Garcia-Bermudez J, Baudrier L, Bayraktar EC, Shen Y, La K, Guarecuco R, Yucel B, Fiore D, Tavora B, Freinkman E, Chan SH, Lewis C, Min W, Inghirami G, Sabatini DM, Birsoy K (2019) Squalene accumulation in cholesterol auxotrophic lymphomas prevents oxidative cell death. Nature 567(7746):118–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0945-5
- Hashidate-Yoshida T, Harayama T, Hishikawa D, Morimoto R, Hamano F, Tokuoka SM, Eto M, Tamura-Nakano M, Yanobu-Takanashi R, Mukumoto Y, Kiyonari H, Okamura T, Kita Y, Shindou H, Shimizu T (2015) Fatty acid remodeling by LPCAT3 enriches arachidonate in phospholipid membranes and regulates triglyceride transport. eLife 4:e06328. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.06328
- Henne WM, Reese ML, Goodman JM (2018) The assembly of lipid droplets and their roles in challenged cells. EMBO J 37(12):e98947. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201898947
- Herms A, Bosch M, Ariotti N, Reddy BJ, Fajardo A, Fernández-Vidal A, Alvarez-Guaita A, Fernández-Rojo MA, Rentero C, Tebar F, Enrich C, Geli MI, Parton RG, Gross SP, Pol A (2013) Cell-to-cell heterogeneity in lipid droplets suggests a mechanism to reduce lipotoxicity. Curr Biol: CB 23(15):1489–1496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.06.032
- Herms A, Bosch M, Reddy BJ, Schieber NL, Fajardo A, Rupérez C, Fernández-Vidal A, Ferguson C, Rentero C, Tebar F, Enrich C, Parton RG, Gross SP, Pol A (2015) AMPK activation promotes lipid droplet dispersion on detyrosinated microtubules to increase mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation. Nat Commun 6:7176. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8176
- Hishikawa D, Shindou H, Kobayashi S, Nakanishi H, Taguchi R, Shimizu T (2008) Discovery of a lysophospholipid acyltransferase family essential for membrane asymmetry and diversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(8):2830–2835. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712245105
- Hishikawa D, Hashidate T, Shimizu T, Shindou H (2014) Diversity and function of membrane glycerophospholipids generated by the remodeling pathway in mammalian cells. J Lipid Res 55(5):799–807. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R046094
- Huang C, Santofimia-Castaño P, Liu X, Xia Y, Peng L, Gotorbe C, Neira JL, Tang D, Pouyssegur J, Iovanna J (2021) NUPR1 inhibitor ZZW-115 induces ferroptosis in a mitochondria-dependent manner. Cell Death Discov 7(1):269. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-021-00662-2
- Ingold I, Berndt C, Schmitt S, Doll S, Poschmann G, Buday K, Roveri A, Peng X, Porto Freitas F, Seibt T, Mehr L, Aichler M, Walch A, Lamp D, Jastroch M, Miyamoto S, Wurst W, Ursini F, Arner ESJ, Fradejas-Villar N, Schweizer U, Zischka H, Friedmann Angeli JP, Conrad M (2018) Selenium utilization by GPX4 is required to prevent Hydroperoxide-induced Ferroptosis. Cell 172(3):409–422. e421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.048
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayir H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Klasson TD, LaGory EL, Zhao H, Huynh SK, Papandreou I, Moon EJ, Giaccia AJ (2022) ACSL3 regulates lipid droplet biogenesis and ferroptosis sensitivity in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Metab 10(1):14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40170-022-00290-z
- Koundinya M, Sudhalter J, Courjaud A, Lionne B, Touyer G, Bonnet L, Menguy I, Schreiber I, Perrault C, Vougier S, Benhamou B, Zhang B, He T, Gao Q, Gee P, Simard D, Castaldi MP, Tomlinson R, Reiling S, Barrague M, Newcombe R, Cao H, Wang Y, Sun F, Murtie J, Munson M, Yang E, Harper D, Bouaboula M, Pollard J, Grepin C, Garcia-Echeverria C, Cheng H, Adrian F, Winter C, Licht S, Cornella-Taracido I, Arrebola R, Morris A (2018) Dependence on the pyrimidine biosynthetic enzyme DHODH is a synthetic lethal vulnerability in mutant KRAS-driven cancers. Cell Chem Biol 25(6):705–717e711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.03.005
- Kuang F, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2020) Oxidative damage and antioxidant defense in Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:586578. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.586578

- Kuang F, Liu J, Xie Y, Tang D, Kang R (2021) MGST1 is a redox-sensitive repressor of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Cell Chem Biol 28(6):765–775.e765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2021.01.006
- Kuda O, Jenkins CM, Skinner JR, Moon SH, Su X, Gross RW, Abumrad NA (2011) CD36 protein is involved in store-operated calcium flux, phospholipase A2 activation, and production of prostaglandin E2. J Biol Chem 286(20):17785–17795. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111. 232975
- Kuwata H, Hara S (2019) Role of acyl-CoA synthetase ACSL4 in arachidonic acid metabolism. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 144:106363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2019. 106363
- Lata S, Schoehn G, Solomons J, Pires R, Gottlinger HG, Weissenhorn W (2009) Structure and function of ESCRT-III. Biochem Soc Trans 37(Pt 1):156–160. https://doi.org/10.1042/ BST0370156
- Lee JY, Nam M, Son HY, Hyun K, Jang SY, Kim JW, Kim MW, Jung Y, Jang E, Yoon SJ, Kim J, Kim J, Seo J, Min JK, Oh KJ, Han BS, Kim WK, Bae KH, Song J, Kim J, Huh YM, Hwang GS, Lee EW, Lee SC (2020) Polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis pathway determines ferroptosis sensitivity in gastric cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(51):32433–32442. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.2006828117
- Li Y, Feng D, Wang Z, Zhao Y, Sun R, Tian D, Liu D, Zhang F, Ning S, Yao J, Tian X (2019) Ischemia-induced ACSL4 activation contributes to ferroptosis-mediated tissue injury in intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. Cell Death Differ 26(11):2284–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0299-4
- Li C, Zhang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2020) Mitochondrial DNA stress triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptotic death. Autophagy 17:948. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627. 2020.1739447
- Li C, Zhang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021) Mitochondrial DNA stress triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptotic death. Autophagy 17(4):948–960. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2020.1739447
- Lin Z, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021) Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Adv Biol (Weinh) 5(8):e2100396. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.202100396
- Lin Z, Liu J, Long F, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D, Yang M (2022) The lipid flippase SLC47A1 blocks metabolic vulnerability to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):7965. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-35707-2
- Liu S, Costa M (2022) The role of NUPR1 in response to stress and cancer development. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 454:116244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2022.116244
- Liu Y, Wang W, Li Y, Xiao Y, Cheng J, Jia J (2015) The 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor Zileuton confers neuroprotection against glutamate oxidative damage by inhibiting Ferroptosis. Biol Pharm Bull 38(8):1234–1239. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b15-00048
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021a) ESCRT-III-mediated membrane repair in cell death and tumor resistance. Cancer Gene Ther 28(1–2):1–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-020-0200-0
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021b) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 289:7038. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Liu J, Song X, Kuang F, Zhang Q, Xie Y, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021c) NUPR1 is a critical repressor of ferroptosis. Nat Commun 12(1):647. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-20904-2
- Ma X, Xiao L, Liu L, Ye L, Su P, Bi E, Wang Q, Yang M, Qian J, Yi Q (2021) CD36-mediated ferroptosis dampens intratumoral CD8(+) T cell effector function and impairs their antitumor ability. Cell Metab 33(5):1001–1012. e1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2021.02.015
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, Ward CC, Cho K, Patti GJ, Nomura DK, Olzmann JA, Dixon SJ (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a Ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(3):420–432e429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016

- Manikandan P, Nagini S (2018) Cytochrome P450 structure, function and clinical significance: a review. Curr Drug Targets 19(1):38-54. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389450118666170125144557
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593:586. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mashima R, Okuyama T (2015) The role of lipoxygenases in pathophysiology; new insights and future perspectives. Redox Biol 6:297–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2015.08.006
- Mashima T, Seimiya H, Tsuruo T (2009) De novo fatty-acid synthesis and related pathways as molecular targets for cancer therapy. Br J Cancer 100(9):1369–1372. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. bjc.6605007
- Matsushita M, Freigang S, Schneider C, Conrad M, Bornkamm GW, Kopf M (2015) T cell lipid peroxidation induces ferroptosis and prevents immunity to infection. J Exp Med 212(4): 555–568. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20140857
- Miess H, Dankworth B, Gouw AM, Rosenfeldt M, Schmitz W, Jiang M, Saunders B, Howell M, Downward J, Felsher DW, Peck B, Schulze A (2018) The glutathione redox system is essential to prevent ferroptosis caused by impaired lipid metabolism in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 37(40):5435–5450. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0315-z
- Nassar ZD, Mah CY, Dehairs J, Burvenich IJ, Irani S, Centenera MM, Helm M, Shrestha RK, Moldovan M, Don AS, Holst J, Scott AM, Horvath LG, Lynn DJ, Selth LA, Hoy AJ, Swinnen JV, Butler LM (2020) Human DECR1 is an androgen-repressed survival factor that regulates PUFA oxidation to protect prostate tumor cells from ferroptosis. eLife 9:e54166. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.54166
- Natesan V, Kim SJ (2021) Lipid metabolism, disorders and therapeutic drugs review. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 29(6):596–604. https://doi.org/10.4062/biomolther.2021.122
- Ou Y, Wang SJ, Li D, Chu B, Gu W (2016) Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(44):E6806–E6812. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607152113
- Pedrera L, Espiritu RA, Ros U, Weber J, Schmitt A, Stroh J, Hailfinger S, von Karstedt S, Garcia-Saez AJ (2021) Ferroptotic pores induce ca(2+) fluxes and ESCRT-III activation to modulate cell death kinetics. Cell Death Differ 28(5):1644–1657. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00691-x
- Petan T (2020) Lipid droplets in cancer. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 112_2020_51
- Pratt DA, Tallman KA, Porter NA (2011) Free radical oxidation of polyunsaturated lipids: new mechanistic insights and the development of peroxyl radical clocks. Acc Chem Res 44(6): 458–467. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar200024c
- Robison WG, Kuwabara T, Bieri JG (1982) The roles of vitamin E and unsaturated fatty acids in the visual process. Retina (Philadelphia, PA) 2(4):263–281
- Rojo de la Vega M, Chapman E, Zhang DD (2018) NRF2 and the hallmarks of cancer. Cancer Cell 34(1):21–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.022
- Romero FJ, Bosch-Morell F, Romero MJ, Jareno EJ, Romero B, Marin N, Roma J (1998) Lipid peroxidation products and antioxidants in human disease. Environ Health Perspect 106(Suppl 5):1229–1234. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.98106s51229
- Rong X, Albert CJ, Hong C, Duerr MA, Chamberlain BT, Tarling EJ, Ito A, Gao J, Wang B, Edwards PA, Jung ME, Ford DA, Tontonoz P (2013) LXRs regulate ER stress and inflammation through dynamic modulation of membrane phospholipid composition. Cell Metab 18(5): 685–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.10.002
- Shimada K, Skouta R, Kaplan A, Yang WS, Hayano M, Dixon SJ, Brown LM, Valenzuela CA, Wolpaw AJ, Stockwell BR (2016) Global survey of cell death mechanisms reveals metabolic regulation of ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 12(7):497–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio. 2079

- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, Fulda S, Gascon S, Hatzios SK, Kagan VE, Noel K, Jiang X, Linkermann A, Murphy ME, Overholtzer M, Oyagi A, Pagnussat GC, Park J, Ran Q, Rosenfeld CS, Salnikow K, Tang D, Torti FM, Torti SV, Toyokuni S, Woerpel KA, Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171(2):273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.09.021
- Sun X, Niu X, Chen R, He W, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016a) Metallothionein-1G facilitates sorafenib resistance through inhibition of ferroptosis. Hepatology 64(2):488–500. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.28574
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016b) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28251
- Sun X, Yang S, Feng X, Zheng Y, Zhou J, Wang H, Zhang Y, Sun H, He C (2020) The modification of ferroptosis and abnormal lipometabolism through overexpression and knockdown of potential prognostic biomarker perilipin2 in gastric carcinoma. Gastric Cancer 23(2):241–259. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10120-019-01004-z
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020a) Ferroptosis. Curr Biol 30:R1–R6. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.issn. 1001-9391.2019.10.002
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020b) Peroxisome: the new player in ferroptosis. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):273. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00404-3
- Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G (2019) The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res 29(5):347–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tesfay L, Paul BT, Konstorum A, Deng Z, Cox AO, Lee J, Furdui CM, Hegde P, Torti FM, Torti SV (2019) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 protects ovarian cancer cells from Ferroptotic cell death. Cancer Res 79(20):5355–5366. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0369
- Veglia F, Tyurin VA, Blasi M, De Leo A, Kossenkov AV, Donthireddy L, To TKJ, Schug Z, Basu S, Wang F, Ricciotti E, DiRusso C, Murphy ME, Vonderheide RH, Lieberman PM, Mulligan C, Nam B, Hockstein N, Masters G, Guarino M, Lin C, Nefedova Y, Black P, Kagan VE, Gabrilovich DI (2019) Fatty acid transport protein 2 reprograms neutrophils in cancer. Nature 569(7754):73–78. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1118-2
- Vila A, Levchenko VV, Korytowski W, Girotti AW (2004) Sterol carrier protein-2-facilitated intermembrane transfer of cholesterol- and phospholipid-derived hydroperoxides. Biochemistry 43(39):12592–12605. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0491200
- Wagner N, Wagner KD (2022) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and the hallmarks of cancer. Cell 11(15):2432. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11152432
- Wang B, Tontonoz P (2019) Phospholipid remodeling in physiology and disease. Annu Rev Physiol 81:165–188. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-020518-114444
- Warner GJ, Berry MJ, Moustafa ME, Carlson BA, Hatfield DL, Faust JR (2000) Inhibition of selenoprotein synthesis by selenocysteine tRNA[Ser]sec lacking isopentenyladenosine. J Biol Chem 275(36):28110–28119. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M001280200
- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, Mao G, Tyurin VA, Anthonymuthu TS, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Kenny EM, Yang Q, Rosenbaum JC, Sparvero LJ, Emlet DR, Wen X, Minami Y, Qu F, Watkins SC, Holman TR, VanDemark AP, Kellum JA, Bahar I, Bayir H, Kagan VE (2017) PEBP1 wardens Ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. Cell 171(3):628–641e626. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.044
- Winterbourn CC (1995) Toxicity of iron and hydrogen peroxide: the Fenton reaction. Toxicol Lett 82-83:969–974
- Wittwer MB, Zur AA, Khuri N, Kido Y, Kosaka A, Zhang X, Morrissey KM, Sali A, Huang Y, Giacomini KM (2013) Discovery of potent, selective multidrug and toxin extrusion transporter

1 (MATE1, SLC47A1) inhibitors through prescription drug profiling and computational modeling. J Med Chem 56(3):781–795. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm301302s

- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Yan B, Ai Y, Sun Q, Ma Y, Cao Y, Wang J, Zhang Z, Wang X (2020) Membrane damage during Ferroptosis is caused by oxidation of phospholipids catalyzed by the oxidoreductases POR and CYB5R1. Mol Cell 81:355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.11.024
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yi J, Zhu J, Wu J, Thompson CB, Jiang X (2020) Oncogenic activation of PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling suppresses ferroptosis via SREBP-mediated lipogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(49):31189–31197. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017152117
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zhao Y, Li M, Yao X, Fei Y, Lin Z, Li Z, Cai K, Zhao Y, Luo Z (2020) HCAR1/MCT1 regulates tumor Ferroptosis through the lactate-mediated AMPK-SCD1 activity and its therapeutic implications. Cell Rep 33(10):108487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108487
- Zhou Y, Tao L, Zhou X, Zuo Z, Gong J, Liu X, Zhou Y, Liu C, Sang N, Liu H, Zou J, Gou K, Yang X, Zhao Y (2021) DHODH and cancer: promising prospects to be explored. Cancer Metab 9(1):22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40170-021-00250-z
- Zou Y, Palte MJ, Deik AA, Li H, Eaton JK, Wang W, Tseng YY, Deasy R, Kost-Alimova M, Dancik V, Leshchiner ES, Viswanathan VS, Signoretti S, Choueiri TK, Boehm JS, Wagner BK, Doench JG, Clish CB, Clemons PA, Schreiber SL (2019) A GPX4-dependent cancer cell state underlies the clear-cell morphology and confers sensitivity to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 10(1): 1617. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09277-9
- Zou Y, Henry WS, Ricq EL, Graham ET, Phadnis VV, Maretich P, Paradkar S, Boehnke N, Deik AA, Reinhardt F, Eaton JK, Ferguson B, Wang W, Fairman J, Keys HR, Dancik V, Clish CB, Clemons PA, Hammond PT, Boyer LA, Weinberg RA, Schreiber SL (2020a) Plasticity of ether lipids promotes ferroptosis susceptibility and evasion. Nature 585(7826):603–608. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2732-8
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020b) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6



Iron Metabolism and Ferroptosis

Hao Zheng and Shinya Toyokuni

Abstract

No life on earth can stay alive without iron. Iron acquisition, transfer, storage, and its retrieval are explicitly regulated by various interacting mechanisms, including peptide hormones and transcriptional/posttranscriptional regulation. Mammals possess no physiological pathway to excrete iron outside of the body except for hemorrhage. Iron deficiency may cause anemia and muscle weakness. However, excess iron is a risk for cancer due to resultant oxidative stress. The word "ferroptosis" consists of Fe(II) and "falling down," respecting the Fenton reaction. Cancer cells accommodate higher catalytic Fe(II) in general but with more resistance to oxidative stress in comparison to the non-tumorous counterpart cells. Therefore, carcinogenesis can be a genetic evolutionary process to obtain ferroptosis-resistance, in which small molecules, such as erastin, can demolish. Recently, low-temperature plasma has become available with the development of engineering, which can precisely load oxidative stress to the preferred surface locations. This novel strategy may specifically kill certain cancer cells or even germs by targeting higher catalytic Fe(II) to result in ferroptosis and is expected to work as an additional medical intervention.

H. Zheng

S. Toyokuni (🖂)

Department of Pathology and Biological Responses, Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine, Nagoya, Japan

Department of Pathology and Biological Responses, Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine, Nagoya, Japan

Center for Low-temperature Plasma Sciences, Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan e-mail: toyokuni@med.nagoya-u.ac.jp

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_2

2.1 Introduction

Iron is abundant in space based on the fact that many meteors, in which the major component is iron, have hit the earth thus far (Ruzicka et al. 2017). The earth also contains a large amount of iron (Ohta et al. 2016), and it is established by geological studies that the ancient sea of a few billion years ago harbored a high concentration of Fe(II) (Olson and Straub 2016) when the first life appeared on earth. Thus, it is not surprising that no independent life on the earth can survive without iron. The great oxygen event occurred approximately 2.5 billion years ago with the sedimentation of iron ore from soluble Fe(II). Then there was a period of relatively high concentration of hydrogen sulfur, and the age of oxygen started from 0.6 billion years ago (Olson and Straub 2016). Higher species, including mammals, have chosen iron to transport oxygen in the body during the evolutionary process. Molecular oxygen, abundant over the present earth, is versatile in the transfer of 1–4 electrons, thus ensuring constant electron flow. Oxygen is transported in mammals via heme in hemoglobin in red blood cells (Wriggleworth and Baum 1980).

2.2 Iron Metabolism in Circulation

Iron is the most abundant heavy metal in humans and the males have ~4 grams and the females have ~2.5 grams, and as much as 60% of iron is in hemoglobin (Wriggleworth and Baum 1980). Iron is a transition metal and its solubility is much higher as Fe(II), and Fe(III) is almost insoluble at neutral pH (Toyokuni 1996; Koppenol and Hider 2019). Apparently, iron has been extremely precious as a nutrient to all lives on the earth, so each species has a tactic to obtain iron efficiently. For example, bacteria secrete siderophore, a small molecule with high iron affinity, to adsorb iron from the outer environments (Miethke and Marahiel 2007). Mammals lack pathways to discharge iron to the outside of the body except for hemorrhage or phlebotomy (Toyokuni 2009b).

Iron solubility is greatly increased after acidification, which is the reason why iron is absorbed through duodenal villous epithelial cells from the diet because the pH of normal gastric juice is 1–2. Fe(III) is always reduced to Fe(II) when passing through the double-layered lipid membrane, including the plasma membrane. Two distinct iron transporters, DMT1 (Slc11A2) (Andrews 1999) and ferroportin (Slc40A1) (Donovan et al. 2000), are essential to absorb iron from the duodenum; namely, DMT1 to take Fe(II) into the cytoplasm and ferroportin to take Fe(II) from the cytoplasm to the portal circulation (Toyokuni 2009b). Secreted Fe(II) is immediately oxidized to Fe(III) by hephaestin (Vulpe et al. 1999) and captured by serum transferrin (Fig. 2.1). Portal vein pours into the liver, which is the major iron reservoir (hepatocytes) in our body. Curiously enough hepatocytes secrete a peptide hormone called hepcidin (Ganz and Nemeth 2012), which as a ligand for ferroportin decreases intestinal iron absorption as well as available iron in circulation by the degradation of ferroportin through the ubiquitin proteasome system (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.1 Summary of iron acquisition by mammals. How iron is absorbed from the diet in the duodenum after solubilization with low pH in the stomach and delivered to each cell is schematically shown. Blue filled circles indicate Fe(III) (ferric iron) and red filled circles correspond to Fe(II) (ferrous iron). Note that iron ions are always reduced to Fe(II) form when they cross the double-layered lipid membrane through the iron transporters (DMT1 and ferroportin). Duodenal iron reductase is Duodenal Cytochrome b (DCYTB; also as CYBRD1) and duodenal iron oxidase is membrane-bound hephaestin. As soon as iron as Fe(III) is released to circulation (portal vein) from the basolateral membrane of duodenal enterocytes, transferrin captures Fe(III), which is transported to all sorts of cells via blood stream. Cellular iron metabolism will be described in Fig. 2.2. There is no active pathway to excrete iron. Refer to text for details

As already described, erythropoiesis is the largest consumer of iron. The major erythroid regulator of hepcidin is erythroferrone, which is synthesized and secreted by erythroblasts in the bone marrow (Ganz 2019). Erythropoietin produced by the renal interstitial cells induces the production of erythroferrone (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.2 Cellular regulation of iron metabolism. Major iron receiver in cells is the transferrin receptor where certain cells may also have DMT1 on the plasma membrane. Transferrin receptor after binding with transferrin is sorted to endosomes and lysosomes, where the binding of transferrin and transferrin receptor as well as that of iron and transferrin are dissolved in acidic environment. Here again Fe(III) in endosomes and lysosomes is reduced by six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of prostate 3 (STEAP3) prior to be released to cytosol via DMT1, where Fe(II) is captured by PCBP1/2 (iron chaperone) and sorted to its destination for functional use or storage in ferritin. Ferritin heavy chain works as oxidase to accommodate iron as Fe(III). Stored Fe(III) in ferritin can be retrieved via NCOA4-mediated ferritinophagy, and heme can be degraded by heme oxygenases (HOs) to recover Fe(II). Surplus iron may be secreted from the cell to circulation via ferroportin, which can transport Fe(II) through the plasma membrane from Fe(II) bound to PCBP1/2. Cellular iron status is finely regulated through multiple mechanisms, both transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms. Of iron regulatory proteins 1 and 2 (IRP1/IRP2), IRP2 can be degraded by FBXL5 through the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Prolyl hydroxylase (PDH), a sensor for iron and oxygen, is the key enzyme for the degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)- 2α , which works as a transcription factor for DMT1 and CYBRD1. Furthermore, hepcidin, a peptide hormone secreted by hepatocyets, is a ligand for ferroportin, which is degraded after binding via proteasome. Hepcidin transcription is inhibited by erythroferrone secreted by erythroblasts. Blue filled circle, Fe (III) (ferric iron) and red filled circle, Fe(II) (ferrous iron). Refer to text for details

2.3 Iron Metabolism in Cells

Iron is a major cofactor for various enzymes either as Fe(II), heme, or the Fe-S cluster. These enzymes include ribonucleotide reductase for synthesizing DNA (Bollinger et al. 1991), cytochrome oxidases for energy production and metabolizing xenobiotics (Powers et al. 1981; de Ungria et al. 2000), and nitric oxide synthases for regulating vascular tones and epithelial secretory activities (McMillan et al. 1992). Therefore, all kinds of cells in our body require iron, which is delivered mainly by serum transferrin (Figs. 2.1 and 2.2). Of note, humans also possess possible siderophores (Devireddy et al. 2010) and siderophore-binding proteins, including lipocalin 2 (Flo et al. 2004; Rodvold et al. 2012), and some of the cells other than duodenal villous epithelia have DMT1 on the plasma membrane, which may be released via membrane budding as extracellular vesicles (Mackenzie et al. 2016). However, the human siderophore system has not been well established yet.

Iron metabolism is precisely regulated via iron regulatory proteins (IRPs; IRP1, and IRP2) and iron-responsive element (IRE) (Hentze and Kuhn 1996). In the case of iron deficiency, the number of transferrin receptor per cell is increased via increasing the lifespan of message of the transferrin receptor with binding of IRP to IREs present at the 3' end of the message, whereas ferritin, an iron storage protein, is reduced by the translation block with binding of IRP to IREs present at the 5' end of the message. Indeed, these are the posttranscriptional regulation mechanisms. Furthermore, F-box/LRR-repeat protein 5 (FBXL5) can target IRP2 for its degradation under iron repletion (Moroishi et al. 2011; Iwai 2018) (Fig. 2.2). We recently found that a typical exosome marker CD63 is under the regulation of the IRE/IRP posttranscriptional system. Loading of iron significantly increased CD63 protein with the IRE-IRP system and iron-loaded ferritin is secreted as extracellular vesicles (Yanatori et al. 2021; Toyokuni et al. 2021).

After binding with transferrin, transferrin receptor is sorted to endosomes and lysosomes, where Fe(III) is released at acidic pH. Here again DMT1 is used at the endosomal and lysosomal membranes after reduction to transport Fe(II) to the cytosolic fraction for use. Recently, poly(rC)-binding proteins 1 and 2 (PCBP1/2) were identified as major Fe(II) chaperones in the cytosol (Shi et al. 2008; Yanatori et al. 2014; Yanatori et al. 2017). Some of the Fe(II) is carried into mitochondria via mitoferrin for the synthesis of heme and the Fe-S cluster (Paradkar et al. 2009). Surplus Fe(II) is stored in the ferritin core, consisting of ferritin heavy chain with oxidase activity of Fe(II) and light chain. Unnecessary Fe(II) may be excreted into extracellular circulation via the only iron exporter, ferroportin, in each cell (Yanatori et al. 2016; Yanatori and Kishi 2019) (Fig. 2.2).

2.4 Excess Iron and Cancer

Iron is essential for every kind of life on the earth as described in the previous sections. Thus, iron deficiency due to food intake insufficiency or iron loss due to continued hemorrhage causes anemia and muscle dysfunction. However, iron excess

Disease	Target cell	Cancer	Molecular mechanism(s)
Genetic (hereditary) hemochromatosis	Hepatocytes	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Genetic; type 1–5 (6 different types) affecting different single genes (directly associated with iron metabolism), ultimately leading to uncontrolled systemic iron loading
Viral hepatitis (hepatitis B and C virus)	Hepatocytes	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Infection; hepatocytes are chronically damaged by autoimmune process, which decreases secretion of hepcidin, leading to unregulated iron absorption from the duodenum
Environmental exposure to asbestos	Mesothelial cells; alveolar/ bronchial cells	Malignant mesothelioma, lung cancer	Environmental exposure; asbestos fibers reach pulmonary alveoli after inhalation; macrophages cannot cope with long and thin fibers, which have high affinity for hemoglobin and histones; fibers accumulate endogenous iron and provides oxidative damage to pulmonary epithelial cells and mesothelial cells
Ovarian endometriosis	Ovarian surface epithelial cells	Clear cell carcinoma, endometrioid adenocarcinoma	Ectopia/regurgitation of menstruation; monthly hemorrhage induces severe iron deposits in the ovary

Table 2.1 Epidemiological association between local excess iron and cancer in humans

is not good for health either but is closely associated with carcinogenesis (Toyokuni 2002, 2009b, 2014; Toyokuni et al. 2017). There are three distinct categories of data, supporting this fact; patient information on specific diseases, human population data based on epidemiological analyses, and the abundant data on animal studies. Table 2.1 summarizes human-specific diseases associated with local iron overload and carcinogenesis of the corresponding cells.

Phlebotomy or iron chelation therapy is the only available method to reduce iron from the body. Of note, there is an epidemiological study that regular phlebotomy (500-ml whole blood) twice a year for 5 years reduced not only the incidence but also the mortality of many visceral cancers (Zacharski et al. 2008).

On the other hand, there are many animal models established on the association of iron excess and carcinogenesis. In 1959 Richmond reported that an intramuscular injection of the iron dextran complex produced spindle-cell sarcoma to highly pleomorphic sarcoma at the site of injection (Richmond 1959). In 1982, Okada and Midorikawa reported that repeated intraperitoneal injections of an iron chelate, ferric nitrilotriacetate (Fe-NTA), induced renal adenocarcinoma with high incidence in rats and mice (Okada and Midorikawa 1982; Ebina et al. 1986; Li et al. 1987; Toyokuni et al. 1998). This model was found with serendipity and we have been studying this model for over 30 years (Toyokuni 2016a). Fe-NTA is soluble at

neutral pH and still works as a catalyst (Toyokuni and Sagripanti 1992; Toyokuni and Sagripanti 1993).

The molecular mechanisms of excess iron-associated carcinogenesis are in two directions; iron is an inorganic essential nutrient for cell proliferation and excess iron generates catalytic Fe(II) in the body, which causes the Fenton reaction [Fe (II) + $H_2O_2 \rightarrow$ Fe(III) + $OH + OH^-$] (Fenton 1894; Koppenol and Hider 2019). The generated hydroxyl radical (OH) is indeed the most reactive species in the biological system, inducing strand breaks, modifications, and cross-links in all kinds of biomolecules, including DNA (Toyokuni and Sagripanti 1996). These covalent molecular alterations are the causes of somatic mutations, leading to carcinogenesis.

In the Fe-NTA model, it was a mystery why intraperitoneal injections of Fe-NTA caused renal adenocarcinoma. We have thus far elucidated that absorbed Fe-NTA into the blood flow is filtered through the glomeruli of the kidney into the lumina of the proximal tubules of the nephron system, where the Fenton reaction is induced presumably by an abundant reductant L-cysteine (Hamazaki et al. 1985, 1986, 1988, 1989; Toyokuni et al. 1990; Okada et al. 1993). It is interesting that the genetic alterations observed in Fe-NTA-induced renal adenocarcinoma reveal massive chromosomal alterations, including homozygous deletion of $p_{16/p_{15}}$ tumor suppressor genes and amplification of *c-Met* oncogene (Tanaka et al. 1999; Toyokuni 2011; Akatsuka et al. 2012). Notably, Fe-NTA-induced carcinogenesis occurs in wild-type animals in high incidence (~90% in rats) (Ebina et al. 1986; Toyokuni 2016a). This is the reason why we ourselves believe that iron excess is one of the major causes of human carcinogenesis as well (Toyokuni 2016b). Iron gradually becomes excess in our body with aging according with the decrease in metabolic rates (Toyokuni 2019).

Excess iron is also associated with foreign body-induced carcinogenesis. Typically, this occurs in asbestos-induced mesothelial carcinogenesis in humans (Oury et al. 2014; Toyokuni 2019). Humans always try to use new materials to improve the quality of our lives especially after industrial revolution, which has sometimes caused unexpected diseases. Asbestos is just one of them. Asbestos is a natural fibrous mineral, so is resistant to heat, acid, and friction, and used for various industrial purposes to increase the quality of the products, including masks, cloths, brakes, ships, locomotives, and houses. These extremely thin mineral fibers have been mined and processed economically and with versatility, so asbestos has been used in huge amounts worldwide. In the 1960s it became clear that asbestos causes various pulmonary diseases because it flies in the air and reaches human pulmonary alveoli due to its physical characteristics (IARC WHO 2012). Within the lung, macrophages and histiocytes try to dispose of these thin fibrous foreign materials. However, macrophages cannot digest asbestos fibers because they are mineral, which was generated on the earth, consuming billions of years. Indeed, thin $(<0.25 \ \mu\text{m})$ and long $(<20 \ \mu\text{m})$ fibers easily kill these scavenger cells (Jiang et al. 2008), stay in the lung for decades, and finally reach the pleural cavity due to their negative pressure. During these periods, asbestos causes not only asbestosis (pulmonary fibrosis due to foreign body) but also malignant mesothelioma and promote lung cancer (Toyokuni 2009a). Here asbestos fibers specifically adsorb hemoglobin
and histones, which accumulate iron on the surface of asbestos fibers and cause oxidative DNA damage in the mesothelial cells after decades because mesothelial cells are also phagocytic cells (Nagai et al. 2011a). Additionally, the asbestos body, a hallmark of asbestos exposure in the lung, is a mass of solidified iron, called hemosiderin (2014).

These processes can be reproduced in animals by intraperitoneal injection of asbestos fibers, which requires only 1.5 years to obtain malignant mesothelioma after an injection of 10 mg of asbestos in ~100% of *wild*-type rats (Jiang et al. 2012). Notably, >90% cases of malignant mesothelioma in rats harbor homozygous deletion of *p16/p15* tumor suppressor genes, which is one of the major targets in the Fe-NTA-induced renal carcinogenesis model as well as human malignant mesothelioma (Jiang et al. 2012). Multiwalled carbon nanotube of ~50 nm diameter presents a similar pathology at least in rat experiments (Nagai et al. 2011b; Toyokuni 2013), thus requiring extremely careful handling for the powder form of carbon nanotubes of this diameter (designated as Group 2B carcinogen from International Agency on Research on Cancer) (Grosse et al. 2014). Thus, animal experiments unequivocally demonstrate that iron excess is associated with carcinogenesis.

2.5 Ferroptosis in Iron Excess

The concept of ferroptosis was coined by Stockwell et al. in 2012 (Dixon et al. 2012; Hirschhorn and Stockwell 2019). Ferroptosis is defined as "iron-dependent regulated necrosis involving lipid peroxidation." Ferroptosis consists of Ferro as Fe(II) and ptosis as "falling down," thus respecting the Fenton reaction (Koppenol and Hider 2019). Thus far, ferroptosis has been observed in renal tubular cells (Angeli et al. 2014; Seibt et al. 2019), degenerated neurons (Masaldan et al. 2019), senescent cells (Coradduzza et al. 2023), and cancer cells, including carcinoma and sarcoma (Stockwell et al. 2017). Whereas cells in different categories may reveal ferroptosis in the future, our laboratory has been working on renal tubular cells and their carcinogenesis for decades.

This first started with serendipity when Shigeru Okada and Osamu Midorikawa discovered renal cell carcinoma in rats in high incidence in 1982 after repeated intraperitoneal administration of ferric nitrilotriacetate (Fe-NTA) (Okada and Midorikawa 1982), which was a recognized hemochromatosis model in the 1970s (Awai et al. 1979). Intraperitoneal administration of Fe-NTA was quite reproducible in inducing necrosis of renal proximal tubules, starting 30 min after the injection and lasting for ~24 h (Hamazaki et al. 1985). Soon we noticed that this necrosis was associated with lipid peroxidation, when measurements of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances were a standard strategy in the 1980s (Hamazaki et al. 1988). Here tubular necrosis presented nuclear pyknosis and eosinophilic degenerated cytoplasm. Electronmicroscopic analyses revealed cytoplasmic vacuoles, mitochondrial swelling, and rupture of plasma membranes (Hamazaki et al. 1988). We now believe that this is ferroptosis.

The Fe-NTA-induced renal carcinogenesis model has taught us two messages from the viewpoint of ferroptosis. Firstly, the ratio of iron as Fe(II) to sulfur as





sulfhydryl (SH) is important when considering ferroptosis (Fig. 2.3). The original ferroptosis is induced by erastin in fibrosarcoma cells, where the squeezed cystine/ glutamate antiporter caused depletion of glutathione, a major source of SH (Dixon et al. 2012). We think that iron excess can induce the same sequences of events. In the case of the Fe-NTA model, Fe-NTA is filtered, after absorption into the systemic blood flow from the portal vein, through the renal glomeruli into the lumina of the renal proximal tubules (Toyokuni et al. 1990), where Fe(II) is taken up through DMT1 in the brush border membrane and simultaneously initiates the Fenton reaction in vivo (Mukaide et al. 2014).

Secondly, we have recognized that one of the major processes of carcinogenesis is establishing ferroptosis-resistance (Fig. 2.3). In the Fe-NTA renal carcinogenesis

model, we noted no ferroptosis 3 weeks after the repeated intraperitoneal administration of Fe-NTA but observed scattered karyomegalic cells which may be already aneuploidy in certain portion of the genome (Hiroyasu et al. 2002). Moreover, A/J mice can maintain an appropriate level of oxidative stress to induce oxidative DNA damage after Fe-NTA exposure, without excessive ferroptosis at an early stage, eventually leading to a high incidence of renal cell carcinoma (Cheng et al. 2022). Of note, cancer cells harbor more catalytic Fe(II) in general (Ito et al. 2016; Schoenfeld et al. 2017), which confirms the presence of ferroptosis-resistance in cancer cells. For example, Nrf2 is a master transcription factor resisting oxidative stress in the cell (Suzuki and Yamamoto 2015), and Nrf2 is a modulator of ferroptosis to be preventive (Sun et al. 2016). The activation of Nrf2 is regulated by Keap1, which is a cytoplasmic sensor for oxidative stress, working as ubiquitin ligase for the steady disposal of Nrf2 in peaceful conditions (Suzuki and Yamamoto 2015). Further, Nrf2 is antagonized with Bach1 (Nishizawa et al. 2023). Many studies established that human cancer cells, especially, lung non-small cell cancers, exhibit mutations either in Nrf2 or Keap1 to cause persistent activation of Nrf2 (Ohta et al. 2008; Menegon et al. 2016). Recently, we observed that BRCA1 haploinsufficiency causes mitochondrial dysfunction, leading to cellular iron deposition under the Fe-NTA-induced renal carcinogenesis model. As mitochondria require sufficient amounts of iron for the biosynthesis of heme and the biogenesis of iron-sulfur cluster (Duan et al. 2023), we supposed that iron metabolism alteration via mitochondrial damage generated ferroptosis-resistance earlier in the *Brca1* mutants in comparison to the *wild-type* (Kong et al. 2022; Toyokuni et al. 2023). Similar results were obtained in that Brca1 haploinsufficiency in rats promoted chrysotile-induced mesothelial carcinogenesis via iron metabolism dysregulation and ferroptosis-resistance in males (Luo et al. 2023).

By the use of the Fe-NTA renal carcinogenesis model, we as pathologists are trying to find the best marker to detect ferroptosis in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) sections because scientific history teaches us that morphological methods significantly broaden the research area for any novel biological phenomena, such as terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling for apoptosis (Heatwole 1999) and 3-nitrotyrosine for peroxinitrite (Smith et al. 1997) though biochemical/molecular methods should be combined for confirmation. FFPE sections are indeed the treasure trove in that they can be preserved at room temperature for nearly 50 years for fine analytical use (Hiroyasu et al. 2004). In the 1990s we had performed comprehensive studies using mass spectrometry to find out the best markers for oxidative stress, using this oxidative renal damage model of Fe-NTA. Oxidative damage causes cellular lipid peroxidation, which ultimately generates aldehydes (Toyokuni 1999; Toyokuni and Akatsuka 2007). We found that 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) is the most sensitive among the aldehydes we could measure (Toyokuni et al. 1997) and 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine was the most sensitive among the oxidatively modified DNA bases (Toyokuni et al. 1994) in the rat kidney 6 h after single intraperitoneal injection of Fe-NTA. Based on these results, we developed five mouse monoclonal antibodies (HNEJ1-5) against the hemiacetal structure of Michael adducts in HNE-modified proteins (Toyokuni et al. 1995; Ozeki et al. 2005) and HNEJ-1 was recently found to work best for the

detection of ferroptosis in the FFPF specimens (Zheng et al. 2021). As we have been interested in the physiological meaning of ferroptosis, HNEJ-1 was applied on the FFPF specimens to define physiological ferroptosis. Ferroptotic cells increased with age in various organs, including kidney, spleen, ovary, and uterus, which was accompanied by substantial iron accumulation. The ferroptotic process was observed in the nucleated erythrocytes between E13.5 and E15.5, which disappeared in the enucleated erythrocytes (Zheng et al. 2021). These observations demonstrate the existence of physiological ferroptotic processes.

2.6 Ferroptosis and Ferritinophagy

Surplus iron is stored safely in the core of ferritin as insoluble Fe(III) in each cell. Ferritin is a huge protein of 450 kDa, consisting of 24 subunits of either heavy or light chain, of which heavy chain (FTH) reveals oxidase activity, changing from soluble Fe(II) to insoluble Fe(III) (Lawson et al. 1989). How each cell takes out the iron from holo-ferritin when necessary has been a question for a long time. Now it is recognized that ferritin-specific autophagy is present as ferritinophagy, mediated by nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4) (Mancias et al. 2014), which specifically target ferritin for degradation in the autophagosome (Fig. 2.2). As expected, ferritinophagy via NCOA4 is required for erythropoiesis. Mancias et al. found that red blood cells do not develop properly in zebrafish which have low amounts of the NCOA4 protein (Mancias et al. 2015). NCOA4, coupled with iron charperone protein PCBP1, mediating the flux of iron out and into of ferritin respectively, is critical for regulating heme synthesis and further erythropoiesis differentiation (Ryu et al. 2017). NCOA4 and PCBP1 are implicated in mediating the flux of iron into and out of ferritin through a direct protein-protein interaction. The dynamic process of NCOA4-PCBP1 interaction is induced by iron deprivation and suppressed by iron excess (Ryu et al. 2018).

As expected, ferritinophagy and ferroptosis are significantly interrelated. Promotion of ferritinophagy is associated with ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2016; Hou et al. 2016; Stockwell et al. 2017), when the released Fe(II) is not immediately used for cellular functions, such as synthesizing proteins with iron cofactors (*ex.* hemoglobin). NCOA4 deficiency abolishes ferritinophagy and confers protection against erastininduced ferroptosis, whereas its overexpression retards RAS-selective lethal 3 (RSL3)-triggered ferroptotic cell death (Gryzik et al. 2021). Moreover, PCBP1 was reported to negatively regulate ferritinophagy-mediated ferroptosis by destabilizing BECN1 mRNA (Lee et al. 2022). The DMT1-PCBP2 pathway was speculated to function at a final step of the iron-recycling pathway through ferritinophagy (Yanatori et al. 2020). Our laboratory reported that PCBP2 deficiency promoted erastin-induced ferroptosis via increased level of catalytic ferrous iron in human malignant mesothelioma cells (Yue 2022).

Cancer cells are generally under persistent oxidative stress while they continue proliferation and invasion (Toyokuni et al. 1995). Recently, our laboratory as well as other investigators established that low-temperature plasma (LTP)/non-thermal

plasma (NTP) specifically kills cancer cells in comparison to non-tumorous cells (Shi et al. 2017; Toyokuni et al. 2018). LTP is the fourth physical state accompanied by ionization over solid/liquid/gas and can supply various reactive species at human body temperature. LTP generation has become possible, depending on recent engineering technology since the 1990s. Whereas LTP generation uses high voltage electricity with ambient air, the essential components are electrons, free radicals, peroxides, UV lights, and their reaction products (Okazaki et al. 2014). Of note, LTP exposure kills malignant mesothelioma cells presumably via ferroptosis but not mesothelial cells (Fig. 2.3). Autophagy and endocytosis are promoted during this process (Shi et al. 2017). We also know by in vitro experiments that holo ferritin exposed to LTP produces catalytic Fe(II), indicating that the liberation of Fe(III) and reduction thereafter occur simultaneously (Furuta et al. 2018). We also observed iron-dependent lipid peroxidation and mitochondrial superoxide generation during the cell death of oral squamous cell carcinoma cells exposed to LTP, thus suggesting the presence of the ferroptotic process (Sato et al. 2019). Furthermore, it has been reported that culture media or solutions exposed to LTP show similar effects (Kurake et al. 2018). On application of plasma-activated lactate (PAL) to malignant mesothelioma cells, we observed that ferroptosis is a major death code. During this process, we observed nitric oxide-associated autophagy in the lysosomes, which eventually leads to ferroptosis (Jiang et al. 2021). Therefore, LTP exposure may be a handy method to induce ferroptosis in certain cancer cells.

2.7 Conclusion

Ferroptosis and iron metabolism are intimately associated. Excess iron is a major background for carcinogenesis and ferroptosis-resistance is one of the common characteristics of cancer cells. Conversely, small molecules, such as erastin, can regulate cellular signaling/metabolism toward iron-dependent oxidative stress in cancer cells. Non-thermal plasma may be a novel strategy to cause ferroptosis specifically in cancer cells.

Acknowledgements This work was supported in part by JST CREST (JPMJCR19H4) and JSPS Kakenhi (JP19H05462 and JP20H05502).

References

Akatsuka S, Yamashita Y, Ohara H, Liu YT, Izumiya M, Abe K, Ochiai M, Jiang L, Nagai H, Okazaki Y, Murakami H, Sekido Y, Arai E, Kanai Y, Hino O, Takahashi T, Nakagama H, Toyokuni S (2012) Fenton reaction induced cancer in wild type rats recapitulates genomic alterations observed in human cancer. PLoS One 7(8):e43403

Andrews NC (1999) The iron transporter DMT1. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31(10):991-994

Angeli JPF, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180

- Awai M, Narasaki M, Yamanoi Y, Seno S (1979) Induction of diabetes in animals by parenteral administration of ferric nitrilotriacetate: a model of experimental hemochromatosis. Am J Pathol 95:663–674
- Bollinger J, Edmondson D, Huynh B, Filley J, Stubbe J (1991) Mechanism of assembly of the tyrosyl radical-dinuclear iron cluster cofactor of ribonucleotide reductase. Science 253(5017): 292–298
- Cheng Z, Akatsuka S, Li GH, Mori K, Takahashi T, Toyokuni S (2022) Ferroptosis resistance determines high susceptibility of murine A/J strain to iron-induced renal carcinogenesis. Cancer Sci 113(1):65–78
- Coradduzza D, Congiargiu A, Chen Z, Zinellu A, Carru C, Medici S (2023) Ferroptosis and senescence: a systematic review. Int J Mol Sci 24(4):3658
- de Ungria M, Rao R, Wobken JD, Luciana M, Nelson CA, Georgieff MK (2000) Perinatal iron deficiency decreases cytochrome c oxidase (CytOx) activity in selected regions of neonatal rat brain. Pediatr Res 48(2):169
- Devireddy LR, Hart DO, Goetz DH, Green MR (2010) A mammalian siderophore synthesized by an enzyme with a bacterial homolog involved in enterobactin production. Cell 141(6): 1006–1017
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072
- Donovan A, Brownlie A, Zhou Y, Shepard J, Pratt S, Moynihan J, Paw B, Drejer A, Barut B, Zapata A, Law T, Brugnara C, Lux S, Pinkus G, Pinkus J, Kingsley P, Palis J, Fleming M, Andrews N, Zon L (2000) Positional cloning of zebrafish ferroportin1 identifies a conserved vertebrate iron exporter. Nature 403(6771):776–781
- Duan G, Li JJ, Duan YH, Zheng CB, Guo QP, Li FN, Zheng J, Yu JY, Zhang PW, Wan ML, Long CM (2023) Mitochondrial iron metabolism: the crucial actors in diseases. Molecules 28(1):29
- Ebina Y, Okada S, Hamazaki S, Ogino F, Li JL, Midorikawa O (1986) Nephrotoxicity and renal cell carcinoma after use of iron- and aluminum- nitrilotriacetate complexes in rats. J Natl Cancer Inst 76:107–113
- Fenton HJH (1894) Oxidation of tartaric acid in presence of iron. J Chem Soc 65:899-910
- Flo TH, Smith KD, Sato S, Rodriguez DJ, Holmes MA, Strong RK, Akira S, Aderem A (2004) Lipocalin 2 mediates an innate immune response to bacterial infection by sequestrating iron. Nature 432(7019):917–921
- Furuta T, Shi L, Toyokuni S (2018) Non-thermal plasma as a simple ferroptosis inducer in cancer cells: a possible role of ferritin. Pathol Int 68:442–443
- Ganz T (2019) Erythropoietic regulators of iron metabolism. Free Radic Biol Med 133:69-74
- Ganz T, Nemeth E (2012) Hepcidin and iron homeostasis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823 9:1434– 1443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.01.014
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q, Zhang W, Xiang J, Jiang X (2016) Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. Cell Res 26(9):1021–1032
- Grosse Y, Loomis D, Guyton KZ, Lauby-Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Guha N, Scoccianti C, Mattock H (2014) Carcinogenicity of fluoro-edenite, silicon carbide fibres and whiskers, and carbon nanotubes. Lancet Oncol 15(13):1427–1428
- Gryzik M, Asperti M, Denardo A (1868) Arosio P & Poli M (2021) NCOA4-mediated ferritinophagy promotes ferroptosis induced by erastin, but not by RSL3 in HeLa cells. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 2:118913
- Hamazaki S, Okada S, Ebina Y, Midorikawa O (1985) Acute renal failure and glucosuria induced by ferric nitrilotriacetate in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 77:267–274
- Hamazaki S, Okada S, Ebina Y, Fujioka M, Midorikawa O (1986) Nephrotoxicity of ferric nitrilotriacetate: an electron-microscopic and metabolic study. Am J Pathol 123:343–350
- Hamazaki S, Okada S, Ebina Y, Li JL, Midorikawa O (1988) Effect of dietary vitamin E on ferric nitrilotriacetate-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 92:500–506

- Hamazaki S, Okada S, Toyokuni S, Midorikawa O (1989) Thiobarbituric acid-reactive substance formation of rat kidney brush border membrane vesicles induced by ferric nitrilotriacetate. Arch Biochem Biophys 274:348–354
- Heatwole VM (1999) TUNEL assay for apoptotic cells. In: Immunocytochemical methods and protocols. Springer, New York, pp 141–148
- Hentze M, Kuhn L (1996) Molecular control of vertebrate iron metabolism: mRNA-based regulatory circuits operated by iron, nitric oxide, and oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(16):8175–8182
- Hiroyasu M, Ozeki M, Kohda H, Echizenya M, Tanaka T, Hiai H, Toyokuni S (2002) Specific allelic loss of p16 (INK4A) tumor suppressor gene after weeks of iron-mediated oxidative damage during rat renal carcinogenesis. Am J Pathol 160(2):419–424
- Hiroyasu M, Akatsuka S, Shirase T, Toda Y, Hiai H, Toyokuni S (2004) Detection of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase messenger RNA using a peptide nucleic acid probe in paraffin-embedded archival specimens. Pathol Int 54(4):251–255
- Hirschhorn T, Stockwell BR (2019) The development of the concept of ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 133:130–143
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ III, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428
- IARC WHO (2012) Asbestos (chrysotile, amosite, crocidolite, tremolite, actinolite, and anthophyllite). In: IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans A Review of Human Carcinogens; Part C: Arsenic, Metals, Fibres, and Dusts. Lyon, France, pp 219–309
- Ito F, Nishiyama T, Shi L, Mori M, Hirayama T, Nagasawa H, Yasui H, Toyokuni S (2016) Contrasting intra- and extracellular distribution of catalytic ferrous iron in ovalbumin-induced peritonitis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 476(4):600–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2016.06.003
- Iwai K (2018) Regulation of cellular iron metabolism: iron-dependent degradation of IRP by SCF (FBXL5) ubiquitin ligase. Free Radic Biol Med 133:64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2018.09.011
- Jiang L, Nagai H, Ohara H, Hara S, Tachibana M, Hirano S, Shinohara Y, Kohyama N, Akatsuka S, Toyokuni S (2008) Characteristics and modifying factors of asbestos-induced oxidative DNA damage. Cancer Sci 99:2142–2151
- Jiang L, Akatsuka S, Nagai H, Chew SH, Ohara H, Okazaki Y, Yamashita Y, Yoshikawa Y, Yasui H, Ikuta K, Sasaki K, Kohgo Y, Hirano S, Shinohara Y, Kohyama N, Takahashi T, Toyokuni S (2012) Iron overload signature in chrysotile-induced malignant mesothelioma. J Pathol 228:366–377
- Jiang L, Zheng H, Lyu Q, Hayashi S, Sato K, Sekido Y, Nakamura K, Tanaka H, Ishikawa K, Kajiyama H, Mizuno M, Hori M, Toyokuni S (2021) Lysosomal nitric oxide determines transition from autophagy to ferroptosis after exposure to plasma-activated Ringer's lactate. Redox Biol 43:101989
- Kong Y, Akatsuka S, Motooka Y, Zheng H, Cheng Z, Shiraki Y, Mashimo T, Imaoka T, Toyokuni S (2022) BRCA1 haploinsufficiency promotes chromosomal amplification under Fenton reaction-based carcinogenesis through ferroptosis-resistance. Redox Biol 54:102356
- Koppenol W, Hider R (2019) Iron and redox cycling. Do's and don'ts. Free Radic Biol Med 133:3– 10
- Kurake N, Ishikawa K, Tanaka H, Hashizume H, Nakamura K, Kajiyama H, Toyokuni S, Kikkawa F, Mizuno M, Hori M (2018) Non-thermal plasma-activated medium modified metabolomic profiles in the glycolysis of U251SP glioblastoma. Arch Biochem Biophys 662: 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2018.12.001
- Lawson DM, Treffry A, Artymiuk PJ, Harrison PM, Yewdall SJ, Luzzago A, Cesareni G, Levi S, Arosio P (1989) Identification of the ferroxidase Centre in ferritin. FEBS Lett 254(1–2): 207–210
- Lee J, You JH, Roh JL (2022) Poly(rC)-binding protein 1 represses ferritinophagy-mediated ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. Redox Biol 51:102276

- Li JL, Okada S, Hamazaki S, Ebina Y, Midorikawa O (1987) Subacute nephrotoxicity and induction of renal cell carcinoma in mice treated with ferric nitrilotriacetate. Cancer Res 47: 1867–1869
- Luo Y, Akatsuka S, Motooka Y, Kong Y, Zheng H, Mashimo T, Imaoka T, Toyokuni S (2023) BRCA1 haploinsufficiency impairs iron metabolism to promote chrysotile-induced mesothelioma via ferroptosis-resistance. Cancer Sci 114:1423–1436
- Mackenzie K, Foot NJ, Anand S, Dalton HE, Chaudhary N, Collins BM, Mathivanan S, Kumar S (2016) Regulation of the divalent metal ion transporter via membrane budding. Cell Discov 2: 16011
- Mancias JD, Wang X, Gygi SP, Harper JW, Kimmelman AC (2014) Quantitative proteomics identifies NCOA4 as the cargo receptor mediating ferritinophagy. Nature 509(7498):105–109
- Mancias JD, Vaites LP, Nissim S, Biancur DE, Kim AJ, Wang X, Liu Y, Goessling W, Kimmelman AC, Harper JW (2015) Ferritinophagy via NCOA4 is required for erythropoiesis and is regulated by iron dependent HERC2-mediated proteolysis. elife 4:e10308
- Masaldan S, Bush AI, Devos D, Rolland AS, Moreau C (2019) Striking while the iron is hot: Iron metabolism and ferroptosis in neurodegeneration. Free Radic Biol Med 133:221–233
- McMillan K, Bredt DS, Hirsch DJ, Snyder SH, Clark JE, Masters B (1992) Cloned, expressed rat cerebellar nitric oxide synthase contains stoichiometric amounts of heme, which binds carbon monoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89(23):11141–11145
- Menegon S, Columbano A, Giordano S (2016) The dual roles of NRF2 in cancer. Trends Mol Med 22(7):578–593
- Miethke M, Marahiel MA (2007) Siderophore-based iron acquisition and pathogen control. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 71(3):413–451
- Moroishi T, Nishiyama M, Takeda Y, Iwai K, Nakayama KI (2011) The FBXL5-IRP2 axis is integral to control of iron metabolism in vivo. Cell Metab 14(3):339–351
- Mukaide T, Hattori Y, Misawa N, Funahashi S, Jiang L, Hirayama T, Nagasawa H, Toyokuni S (2014) Histological detection of catalytic ferrous iron with the selective turn-on fluorescent probe RhoNox-1 in a Fenton reaction-based rat renal carcinogenesis model. Free Radic Res 48: 990–995. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715762.2014.898844
- Nagai H, Ishihara T, Lee WH, Ohara H, Okazaki Y, Okawa K, Toyokuni S (2011a) Asbestos surface provides a niche for oxidative modification. Cancer Sci 102:2118–2125
- Nagai H, Okazaki Y, Chew S, Misawa N, Yamashita Y, Akatsuka S, Yamashita K, Ishihara T, Yoshikawa Y, Jiang L, Ohara H, Takahashi T, Ichihara G, Kostarelos K, Miyata Y, Shinohara H, Toyokuni S (2011b) Diameter of multi-walled carbon nanotubes is a critical factor in mesothelial injury and subsequent carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(49):E1330– E1338
- Nishizawa H, Yamanaka M, Igarashi K (2023) Ferroptosis: regulation by competition between NRF2 and BACH1 and propagation of the death signal. FEBS J 290:1688–1704
- Ohta T, Iijima K, Miyamoto M, Nakahara I, Tanaka H, Ohtsuji M, Suzuki T, Kobayashi A, Yokota J, Sakiyama T, Shibata T, Yamamoto M, Hirohashi S (2008) Loss of Keap1 function activates Nrf2 and provides advantages for lung cancer cell growth. Cancer Res 68(5): 1303–1309
- Ohta K, Kuwayama Y, Hirose K, Shimizu K, Ohishi Y (2016) Experimental determination of the electrical resistivity of iron at Earth's core conditions. Nature 534(7605):95
- Okada S, Midorikawa O (1982) Induction of rat renal adenocarcinoma by Fe-nitrilotriacetate (Fe-NTA). Jpn Arch Intern Med 29:485–491
- Okada S, Minamiyama Y, Hamazaki S, Toyokuni S, Sotomatsu A (1993) Glutathione cycle dependency of ferric nitrilotriacetate-induced lipid peroxidation in mouse proximal renal tubules. Arch Biochem Biophys 301:138–142
- Okazaki Y, Wang Y, Tanaka H, Mizuno M, Nakamura K, Kajiyama H, Kano H, Uchida K, Kikkawa F, Hori M, Toyokuni S (2014) Direct exposure of non-equilibrium atmospheric pressure plasma confers simultaneous oxidative and ultraviolet modifications in biomolecules. J Clin Biochem Nutr 55(3):207–215. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.14-40

- Olson KR, Straub KD (2016) The role of hydrogen sulfide in evolution and the evolution of hydrogen sulfide in metabolism and signaling. Physiology 31(1):60–72
- Oury TD, Sporn TA, Roggli VL (2014) Pathology of asbestos-associated diseases. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- Ozeki M, Miyagawa-Hayashino A, Akatsuka S, Shirase T, Lee WH, Uchida K, Toyokuni S (2005) Susceptibility of actin to modification by 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 827(1):119–126
- Paradkar PN, Zumbrennen KB, Paw BH, Ward DM, Kaplan J (2009) Regulation of mitochondrial iron import through differential turnover of mitoferrin 1 and mitoferrin 2. Mol Cell Biol 29(4): 1007–1016
- Powers L, Chance B, Ching Y-c, Angiolillo P (1981) Structural features and the reaction mechanism of cytochrome oxidase: iron and copper X-ray absorption fine structure. Biophys J 34(3): 465–498
- Richmond HG (1959) Induction of sarcoma in the rat by iron-dextran complex. Br Med J 1(5127): 947–949
- Rodvold JJ, Mahadevan NR, Zanetti M (2012) Lipocalin 2 in cancer: when good immunity goes bad. Cancer Lett 316(2):132–138
- Ruzicka AM, Haack H, Chabot NL, Scott ERD (2017) Iron and stony-iron meteorites: evidence for the formation, crystallization, and early impact histories of differentiated planetesimals. In: Cambridge Planetary science series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 136–158
- Ryu MS, Zhang DL, Protchenko O, Shakoury-Elizeh M, Philpott CC (2017) PCBP1 and NCOA4 regulate erythroid iron storage and heme biosynthesis. J Clin Invest 127(5):1786–1797
- Ryu MS, Duck KA, Philpott CC (2018) Ferritin Iron Regulators, PCBP1 and NCOA4, respond to cellular iron status in developing red cells. Blood Cells Mol Dis 69:75–81
- Sato K, Shi L, Ito F, Ohara Y, Motooka Y, Tanaka H, Mizuno M, Hori M, Hirayama T, Hibi H, Toyokuni S (2019) Non-thermal plasma specifically kills oral squamous cell carcinoma cells in a catalytic Fe(II)-dependent manner. J Clin Biochem Nutr 65(1):8–15
- Schoenfeld JD, Sibenaller ZA, Mapuskar KA, Wagner BA, Cramer-Morales KL, Furqan M, Sandhu S, Carlisle TL, Smith MC, Abu Hejleh T, Berg DJ, Zhang J, Keech J, Parekh KR, Bhatia S, Monga V, Bodeker KL, Ahmann L, Vollstedt S, Brown H, Shanahan Kauffman EP, Schall ME, Hohl RJ, Clamon GH, Greenlee JD, Howard MA, Schultz MK, Smith BJ, Riley DP, Domann FE, Cullen JJ, Buettner GR, Buatti JM, Spitz DR, Allen BG (2017) O₂(-) and H₂O₂mediated disruption of Fe metabolism causes the differential susceptibility of NSCLC and GBM cancer cells to pharmacological ascorbate. Cancer Cell 31(4):487–500e488. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ccell.2017.02.018
- Seibt TM, Proneth B, Conrad M (2019) Role of GPX4 in ferroptosis and its pharmacological implication. Free Radic Biol Med 133:144–152
- Shi H, Bencze KZ, Stemmler TL, Philpott CC (2008) A cytosolic iron chaperone that delivers iron to ferritin. Science 320(5880):1207–1210
- Shi L, Ito F, Wang Y, Okazaki Y, Tanaka H, Mizuno M, Hori M, Hirayama T, Nagasawa H, Richardson DR, Toyokuni S (2017) Non-thermal plasma induces a stress response in mesothelioma cells resulting in increased endocytosis, lysosome biogenesis and autophagy. Free Radic Biol Med 108:904–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.04.368
- Smith MA, Harris PLR, Sayre LM, Beckman JS, Perry G (1997) Widespread peroxynitritemediated damage in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 17(8):2653–2657
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, Fulda S, Gascon S, Hatzios SK, Kagan VE, Noel K, Jiang X, Linkermann A, Murphy ME, Overholtzer M, Oyagi A, Pagnussat GC, Park J, Ran Q, Rosenfeld CS, Salnikow K, Tang D, Torti FM, Torti SV, Toyokuni S, Woerpel KA, Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171(2):273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.09.021

- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184
- Suzuki T, Yamamoto M (2015) Molecular basis of the Keap1–Nrf2 system. Free Radic Biol Med 88:93–100
- Tanaka T, Iwasa Y, Kondo S, Hiai H, Toyokuni S (1999) High incidence of allelic loss on chromosome 5 and inactivation of p15 INK4B and p16 INK4A tumor suppressor genes in oxystress-induced renal cell carcinoma of rats. Oncogene 18:3793–3797
- Toyokuni S (1996) Iron-induced carcinogenesis: the role of redox regulation. Free Radic Biol Med 20:553–566
- Toyokuni S (1999) Reactive oxygen species-induced molecular damage and its application in pathology. PatholInt 49:91–102
- Toyokuni S (2002) Iron and carcinogenesis: from Fenton reaction to target genes. Redox Rep: Communications in Free Radical Research 7(4):189–197
- Toyokuni S (2009a) Mechanisms of asbestos-induced carcinogenesis. Nagoya J Med Sci 71(1–2): 1–10
- Toyokuni S (2009b) Role of iron in carcinogenesis: cancer as a ferrotoxic disease. Cancer Sci 100(1):9–16
- Toyokuni S (2011) Mysterious link between iron overload and CDKN2A/2B. J Clin Biochem Nutr 48(1):46–49
- Toyokuni S (2013) Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity risk of carbon nanotubes. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:2098–2110
- Toyokuni S (2014) Iron and thiols as two major players in carcinogenesis: friends or foes? Front Pharmacol 5:200
- Toyokuni S (2016a) The origin and future of oxidative stress pathology: from the recognition of carcinogenesis as an iron addiction with ferroptosisresistance to non-thermal plasma therapy, vol 66. Pathol Int, p 245
- Toyokuni S (2016b) Oxidative stress as an iceberg in carcinogenesis and cancer biology. Arch Biochem Biophys 595:46–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2015.11.025
- Toyokuni S (2019) Iron addiction with ferroptosis-resistance in asbestos-induced mesothelial carcinogenesis: Toward the era of mesothelioma prevention. Free Radic Biol Med 133:206–215
- Toyokuni S, Akatsuka S (2007) Pathological investigation of oxidative stress in the post-genomic era. Pathol Int 57(8):461–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.2007.02127.x
- Toyokuni S, Sagripanti JL (1992) Iron-mediated DNA damage: sensitive detection of DNA strand breakage catalyzed by iron. J Inorg Biochem 47:241–248
- Toyokuni S, Sagripanti J-L (1993) DNA single- and double-strand breaks produced by ferric nitrilotriacetate in relation to renal tubular carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 14:223–227
- Toyokuni S, Sagripanti J-L (1996) Association between 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine formation and DNA strand breaks mediated by copper and iron. Free Radic Biol Med 20:859–864
- Toyokuni S, Okada S, Hamazaki S, Minamiyama Y, Yamada Y, Liang P, Fukunaga Y, Midorikawa O (1990) Combined histochemical and biochemical analysis of sex hormone dependence of ferric nitrilotriacetate-induced renal lipid peroxidation in ddY mice. Cancer Res 50:5574–5580
- Toyokuni S, Mori T, Dizdaroglu M (1994) DNA base modifications in renal chromatin of Wistar rats treated with a renal carcinogen, ferric nitrilotriacetate. Int J Cancer 57:123–128
- Toyokuni S, Okamoto K, Yodoi J, Hiai H (1995) Persistent oxidative stress in cancer. FEBS Lett 358(1):1–3
- Toyokuni S, Luo XP, Tanaka T, Uchida K, Hiai H, Lehotay DC (1997) Induction of a wide range of C2-12 aldehydes and C7-12 acyloins in the kidney of Wistar rats after treatment with a renal carcinogen, ferric nitrilotriacetate. Free Radic Biol Med 22:1019–1027
- Toyokuni S, Okada K, Kondo S, Nishioka H, Tanaka T, Nishiyama Y, Hino O, Hiai H (1998) Development of high-grade renal cell carcinomas in rats independently of somatic mutations in the Tsc2 and VHL tumor suppressor genes. Jpn J Cancer Res 89:814–820

- Toyokuni S, Ito F, Yamashita K, Okazaki Y, Akatsuka S (2017) Iron and thiol redox signaling in cancer: an exquisite balance to escape ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 108:610–626. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.04.024
- Toyokuni S, Ikehara Y, Kikkawa F, Hori M (2018) Plasma medical science. Academic Press, Cambridge, MA
- Toyokuni S, Kong Y, Zheng H, Mi D, Katabuchi M, Motooka Y, Ito F (2021) Double-edged sword role of iron-loaded ferritin in extracellular vesicles. J Cancer Prev 26(4):244–249
- Toyokuni S, Kong Y, Motooka Y, Akatsuka S (2023) Environmental impact on carcinogenesis under BRCA1 haploinsufficiency. Genes Environ 45:2
- Vulpe CD, Kuo Y-M, Murphy TL, Cowley L, Askwith C, Libina N, Gitschier J, Anderson GJ (1999) Hephaestin, a ceruloplasmin homologue implicated in intestinal iron transport, is defective in the sla mouse. Nat Genet 21(2):195
- Wriggleworth JM, Baum H (1980) The biochemical function of iron. In: Jacobs A, Worwood M (eds) Iron in biochemistry and medicine, II. Academic Press, London, pp 29–86
- Yanatori I, Kishi F (2019) DMT1 and iron transport. Free Radic Biol Med 133:55-63
- Yanatori I, Yasui Y, Tabuchi M, Kishi F (2014) Chaperone protein involved in transmembrane transport of iron. Biochem J 462(1):25–37
- Yanatori I, Richardson DR, Imada K, Kishi F (2016) Iron export through the transporter Ferroportin 1 is modulated by the iron chaperone PCBP2. J Biol Chem 291(33):17303–17318
- Yanatori I, Richardson DR, Toyokuni S, Kishi F (2017) The iron chaperone poly(rC)-binding protein 2 forms a metabolon with the heme oxygenase 1/cytochrome P450 reductase complex for heme catabolism and iron transfer. J Biol Chem 292(32):13205–13229. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M117.776021
- Yanatori I, Richardson DR, Toyokuni S, Kishi F (2020) The new role of poly (rC)-binding proteins as iron transport chaperones: proteins that could couple with inter-organelle interactions to safely traffic iron. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1864:129685
- Yanatori I, Richardson DR, Dhekne HS, Toyokuni S, Kishi F (2021) CD63 is regulated by iron via the IRE-IRP system and is important for ferritin secretion by extracellular vesicles. Blood 138:1490–1503
- Yue L, Luo Y, Jiang L, Sekido Y, Toyokuni S (2022) PCBP2 knockdown promotes ferroptosis in malignant mesothelioma. Pathol Int 72:242–251
- Zacharski L, Chow B, Howes P, Shamayeva G, Baron J, Dalman R, Malenka D, Ozaki C, Levori P (2008) Decreased cancer risk after iron reduction in patients with peripheral arterial disease: results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 100:996–1002
- Zheng H, Jiang L, Tsuduki T, Conrad M, Toyokuni S (2021) Embryonal erythropoiesis and aging exploit ferroptosis. Redox Biol 48:102175

Targeting Epigenetic Regulation of Ferroptosis in Cancer Therapy

3

Zuli Wang, Tania Tao, and Yongguang Tao

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a regulated form of cell death characterized by iron-catalyzed and reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated lipid peroxidation. It plays a crucial role in tumorigenesis, tumor progression, and cancer therapy. Epigenetic regulation has emerged as a promising target for cancer treatment, but the regulatory mechanisms involved in ferroptosis are complex and diverse. In this chapter, we provide a comprehensive summary of the key mechanisms and regulators that are primarily associated with iron metabolism, ROS signaling, and lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Additionally, we delve into the epigenetic aspects of ferroptosis regulation, including chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNAs, and their impact on ferroptosis-related factors. Furthermore, we highlight the growing interest in utilizing epigenetic drugs to target ferroptosis as a therapeutic strategy in cancer treatment. We emphasize the significance of understanding the role of epigenetic regulation in

Z. Wang

Т. Тао

Y. Tao (🖂)

Check for updates

Center for Tissue Engineering and Stem Cell Research, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, Guizhou, China

NHC Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis (Central South University), Cancer Research Institute and School of Basic Medicine, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China

NHC Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis (Central South University), Cancer Research Institute and School of Basic Medicine, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China

NHC Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis (Central South University), Cancer Research Institute and School of Basic Medicine, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China

Department of Pathology, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis and Cancer Invasion, Ministry of Education, Changsha, Hunan, China e-mail: taoyong@csu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_3

ferroptosis, as it holds the potential to enhance the effectiveness of cancer therapy by combining epigenetic inhibition with ferroptosis induction.

3.1 Background

Ferroptosis is a type of regulated cell death characterized by iron-dependent processes and driven by reactive oxygen species (ROS), resulting in the accumulation of lipid peroxidation. In certain cancers, particularly cancer stem cells (CSCs), there is a dependence on iron, making ferroptosis a vulnerability that can be targeted for therapeutic intervention (Rodriguez et al. 2022). The canonical antioxidant defense system involves the solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11), which imports cystine for the production of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) to detoxify lipid peroxides through the consumption of glutathione (GSH). This system functions to inhibit ferroptosis. Studies have shown that targeting the SLC7A11-GSH-GPX4 axis not only increases the sensitivity of cancer cells to radiotherapy but also enhances the efficacy of immunotherapies, such as CD8+ T cell-based approaches, by promoting tumor lipid oxidation (Lang et al. 2019). The regulation of ferroptosis involves multiple and complex processes, including iron metabolism, ROS signaling, and lipid metabolism. Dr. Brent R Stockwell, a prominent researcher who defined the concept of ferroptosis, has emphasized the urgent need to uncover the underlying mechanisms of ferroptosis (Stockwell 2022). Therefore, gaining a deeper understanding of the regulation of ferroptosis is crucial for the development of effective ferroptosis-based cancer therapies (Chen et al. 2021a).

Cancer is a disease characterized by genetic and epigenetic dysregulation. Unlike genetic mutations, epigenetic modifications, including chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, and histone modifications, are specifically controlled by epigenetic factors and can be targeted by small molecule compounds. These epigenetic modifications play a significant role in anticancer treatments and can enhance the sensitivity of cancer cells to therapy (Garcia-Martinez et al. 2021). For instance, azacytidine, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), is an inhibitor of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) and has shown great efficacy in treating acute myelogenous leukemia and other cancers (Sun et al. 2022). Additionally, non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), such as circular RNAs (circRNAs), long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), and microRNAs (miRNAs), have emerged as important epigenetic determinants that serve as diagnostic biomarkers for cancer and provide valuable insights for therapeutic targeting (Slack and Chinnaiyan 2019). Epigenetic proteins and RNAs are closely involved in various cellular activities, including cell growth, differentiation, and fate determination. Abnormalities and uncontrolled actions of these cellular processes contribute to disease states and the initiation of cancer (Wimalasena et al. 2020). Consequently, targeting epigenetic regulators holds significant promise for cancer therapy.

Increasing evidence indicates that numerous epigenetic factors participate in both ferroptosis and tumorigenesis, opening up new avenues for therapeutic interventions (Wu et al. 2020). In this chapter, we first summarize the critical mechanisms and regulators of ferroptosis. Additionally, we extensively discuss the epigenetic

regulation of factors associated with ferroptosis. Finally, we highlight the importance of epigenetic drugs targeting ferroptosis in cancer therapy. Therefore, particular attention is given to the role of epigenetic regulation in ferroptosis, as it holds great potential for effective cancer treatments.

3.2 Mechanisms and Regulators of Ferroptosis

The regulation of ferroptosis involves three main metabolic pathways: iron metabolism, reactive oxygen species (ROS) control, and lipid metabolism, which collectively influence the peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), such as membrane phospholipids (PL). Additionally, other metabolic alterations, including coenzyme Q10, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), and selenium, also play a role in modulating cellular sensitivity to ferroptosis (Stockwell et al. 2017). Furthermore, based on diverse subcellular localization, there are at least three systems involved in protecting cells against ferroptosis: GPX4 in the cytosol and mitochondria, FSP1 on the plasma membrane, and dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) in mitochondria (Mao et al. 2021). While significant progress has been made in unraveling the mechanisms of ferroptosis, our understanding of this process still remains somewhat limited.

With regard to iron metabolism, Fe^{3+} is imported into cells by transferrin (Tf) through transferrin receptor protein (TfR) and metal transporter SLC39A14, whereas ferroportin is responsible for the mediation of iron export. Subsequently, free iron is used by iron regulatory protein (IRP) 1 and 2 to store in ferritin and ironsulfur protein, thereby playing a role in systemic iron homeostasis and ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2020a, b). However, metalloreductase (STEAP3) and divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1) can mediate the release of Fe^{2+} . Moreover, nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4)-ferritin heavy chain (FTH) is able to degrade ferritin and produce Fe^{2+} (Hou et al. 2016). Hydroxyl radicals (•OH) generated by the Fenton reaction between Fe^{2+} and H_2O_2 initiate ferroptosis (Fuhrmann and Brune 2022). Given the strong iron demand of tumor cells particularly CSCs (El Hout et al. 2018), targeting iron status determines the cellular sensitivity toward ferroptosis and becomes a vulnerability in cancer.

As the intermediate regulator of ferroptosis, the interconversion of ROS is necessary for ferroptosis. It is reported that iron-catalyzed Fenton reactions produce HO• from O^{2-} and H₂O₂, which are generated from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidases (NOX) through mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and peroxisomes. Moreover, arachidonate lipoxygenases (ALOXs) and cytochrome P450 reductase (POR) regulate mitochondrial respiratory and promote lipid peroxidation. In contrast, after superoxide dismutase (SOD) transforms O^{2-} into H₂O₂, the catalase (CAT) and peroxiredoxin (PRDX) have the ability to eliminate H₂O₂, resulting in the inhibition of ferroptosis (Benfeitas et al. 2017; Li et al. 2019; Lei et al. 2022). In addition, ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1), an important oxidoreductase parallel to GPX4, functions as a lipophilic radical-trapping antioxidant by reducing coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) (Bersuker et al. 2019). Moreover, same to the radical-trapping function of FSP1, DHODH represses ferroptosis via coordinating with GPX4 (Wang and Min 2021). Recently, a study has reported that guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase 1 (GCH1) is used to synthesize tetrahydrobiopterin [BH4], which promotes the production of CoQ10 and halts lipid peroxidation (Zheng and Conrad 2020). The levels of ROS in cancer cells are higher than in normal cells, which are the characteristics of several malignant progression (Cheung and Vousden 2022), indicating that ROS control is conducive to inhibiting malignancy and curing cancer.

Compared to normal cells, cancer cells are preferable to lipid metabolism for their development and therapy resistance. Acyl-coenzyme A (CoA) synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acvltransferase 3 (LPCAT3), the key activators of PUFA, are responsible for integrating PUFA into PL and accelerating the PUFA peroxidation and ferroptosis. Interestingly, the interaction between monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and PL catalyzed by ACSL3 is capable of preventing the peroxidation of PUFA (Li and Li 2020; Stockwell 2022). In addition, cysteine is imported by cellular cystine-glutamate antiporter (system x_c^{-}) and is, in turn, used for GSH biosynthesis. Subsequently, GPX4 transforms reactive PUFA phospholipid hydroperoxides (PUFA-PL-OOH) into non-reactive and non-lethal PUFA phospholipid alcohols (PUFA-PL-OH) through consumption of GSH (Jiang et al. 2021). Moreover, as a unit of system x_c^{-} , cystine/glutamate antiporter SLC7A11 is promoted by nuclear factor e2-related factor (NRF2) and is repressed by P53 via transcription, participating in nutrient dependency and ferroptosis of tumors (Koppula et al. 2021). These alterations that occurred in lipid metabolism during ferroptosis offer several potential strategies for cancer therapy.

Above all, the ferroptotic metabolism routes, such as iron, ROS, and lipid, are various, and their regulators are complex (Fig. 3.1). Based on our understanding of ferroptosis, treatment of cancer is hard by regulating these mediators. In recent years, their upstream monitors, such as chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNAs, influence cellular susceptibility to ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2021a). Therefore, the identification of epigenetic factors is important for ferroptosis control in response to changes in the cellular environment.

3.3 Epigenetic Regulation in Ferroptosis

3.3.1 Chromatin Remodeling

Chromatin remodeling is a dynamic modification that mobilizes nucleosomes and makes the concentrated genomic DNA accessible to the transcription machinery. The AT-rich interactive domain-containing protein 1A (ARID1A), a switch/sucrose nonfermenting (SWI/SNF) chromatin-remodeling factor, facilitates the NRF2-mediated transcriptional activation of SLC7A11. Thus, the ARID1A-deficient cancer cells are vulnerable to inhibition of the antioxidant GSH and targeting of glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic (Ogiwara et al. 2019). As a chromatin remodeling



Fig. 3.1 The core induction mechanisms and inhibition systems of ferroptosis. Fe³⁺ is imported into cells by Tf through its receptor TfR. Then, STEAP3 is able to transform Fe³⁺, and DMT1 can release Fe²⁺ from the endosome. Cellular O²⁻ can be generated from NOXs. The Fenton reaction between Fe²⁺ and H₂O₂ induces the production of PUFAs-OOH mediated by LOXs, resulting in ferroptosis. GPX4 utilizes SL7A11-transported cystine to inhibit ferroptosis by converting PUFAs-OOH into PUFAs-OH. The SLC7A11 inhibitor (erastin, imidazole ketone erastin, and sulfasalazine) and GPX4 inhibitor (RSL3 and ML162) play an important role in the induction of ferroptosis. Moreover, FSP1 in the cell membrane and DHODH in the mitochondrion are capable of producing CoQH2 and subsequent ferroptosis suppression through decreasing the accumulation of PLOO-

ATPases, lymphoid-specific helicase (LSH) belonging to the sucrose nonfermenting (SNF) family promotes the transcription of ferroptosis repressors, such as fatty acid desaturases 2 (FADS2) and stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 (SCD1). LSH is negatively regulated by HIF1A, indicating that it can respond quickly to hypoxic environments and dynamically regulate target genes (Tang et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2021a). Moreover, a recent study has reported that LSH is able to enhance the expression of SLC7A11 by binding to its promoter region and play a critical role in tumor development through inhibiting ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2021d). In response to various stress, nuclear protein 1 (NUPR1) is highly expressed and transactivating the transcription of e iron exporter lipocalin 2 (LCN2), thereby leading to erastin- or RSL3-induced ferroptosis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells (Chen et al. 2021b).

This finding proposes a promising strategy targeting metabolic properties for the development of anti-cancer therapeutics. However, other chromatin remodeling regulators, such as Imitation Switch (ISWI) and chromodomain helicase DNA (CHD) of ferroptosis, are required for further exploration.

3.3.2 DNA Methylation

Aberrant DNA methylation is existed in cancer cells and promotes cellular oncogenesis, which is mainly catalyzed by three DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), including DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B (Nishiyama and Nakanishi 2021). According to databases like The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), it is found that most ferroptosis-related genes were aberrantly expressed in various tumors due to the great contribution of DNA methylation (Liu et al. 2020b). For the DNA hypermethylation at promoter/enhancer regions, elongation of very long-chain fatty acid protein 5 (ELOVL5) and fatty acid desaturase 1 (FADS1) related to PUFA biosynthesis is frequently silenced and render intestinal-type gastric cancer cells (GCs) resistant to ferroptosis, while the methylation regulators remain unknown (Lee et al. 2020b). In contrast, the promoter of the FSP1 gene is hypermethylated, resulting in the silencing of FSP1 expression and the dependence of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells on GSH-mediated ferroptosis defenses (Pontel et al. 2022).

Notably, the DNA methylation of four ferroptosis related genes, such as (zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1) ZEB1 and CDGSH iron sulfur domain 1 (CISD1), is able to independently predict prognosis and probably guide the treatment in cutaneous melanoma (Wang et al. 2022a). Besides, ferroptosis-related genes AKR1C2 and SOCS1 are hypermethylated and are promising biomarkers for predicting prognosis in patients with AML (Zhou and Chen 2021). There is a study reported that homocysteine induces the DNA methylation of the GPX4 gene and then enhances ferroptosis sensitivity (Zhang et al. 2020). Regrettably, despite the methylation level of various ferroptosis-related genes that have been demonstrated, their methyltransferases remain largely unknown.

3.3.3 Histones Modification

Histones, particularly the histone amino-terminal tails modified by post-translational methylation and acetylation, regulate the transcription and expression of target genes (Stillman 2018). KDM3B, a histone H3 lysine 9 demethylase, synergizes with the transcription factor ATF4 to prevent ferroptosis via upregulating the levels of SLC7A11 (Logie et al. 2021). There is a study that demonstrated that methionine adenosyltransferase 2A (MAT2A) generates adenosylmethionine (SAM) and promotes the trimethylation of lysine-4 on histone H3 (H3K4me3) at the promoter region of ACSL3, resulting in resisting ferroptosis by increasing ACSL3 expression (Ma et al. 2022). Besides, histone methyltransferase MLL4 (KMT2D) is one of the most commonly mutated genes in various cancers and mediates tumor suppression through the markers (Alox12, Alox12b, and Aloxe3) of ferroptosis (Egolf et al. 2021). As a histone H3K9me3 methyltransferases, SUV39H1 inhibition upregulates DPP4 expression by reducing the H3K9me3, thereby inducing lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2021b).

In response to ferroptosis stimulus, histone lysine acetyltransferase 2B (KAT2B) is hard to prevent HNF4A from binding to the ferroptosis downregulated genes, while KAT2B is recruited to the ferroptosis upregulated factors and facilitates the transcriptional role of HIC1 (Zhang et al. 2019a). Fatty acid metabolism-related genes (HADH, ACSL1, and ACAA2), whose expression is dependent on the activity of super-enhancers by the bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) and HMGB2, play a role in PUFAs synthesis. Namely, the loss of BRD4 protects cells from excessive lipid peroxides (Yang et al. 2022). Silencing of BRD4 downregulates some critical ferroptosis-associated genes (GPX4, SLC7A11, and SLC3A2) in breast and lung cancer cell lines (Sui et al. 2019). Additionally, histone deacetylase SIRT1 causes epigenetic reprogramming of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and consequently promotes the susceptibility to ferroptosis in head and neck cancer (HNC) cells (Lee et al. 2020a).

Gan professor's team has found that a nuclear deubiquitinating enzyme BRCA1associated protein 1 (BAP1) decreases histone 2A ubiquitination occupancy on the promoter of SLC7A11 and inhibits the expression of SLC7A11, leading to ferroptosis promotion (Zhang et al. 2018). Conversely, the main H2Aub ubiquitin ligase PRC1 increases SLC7A11 expression (Zhang et al. 2019b). Moreover, research proves that p53 decreases monoubiquitination of histone H2B on lysine 120 (H2Bub1) occupancy on the SLC7A11 gene by promoting the nuclear translocation of deubiquitinase USP7. This leads to the reduction of SLC7A11 expression during erastin treatment (Wang et al. 2019). Importantly, the global and detailed modifications, and the relationship between histone modifications and/or DNA methylation are required for further investigation.

3.3.4 Non-coding RNAs

MicroRNA (miRNA), a powerful 22 nucleotide noncoding RNA, not only participates in the progression of cancer but also participates in the development of drug resistance via interacting with a range of target genes. For example, miR-23a-3p is overexpressed in sorafenib-resistant hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells and directly targeted the 3'-untranslated regions (UTR) of ACSL4, which suggests that miR-23a-3p inhibitor can improve sorafenib responsiveness via inducing ferroptosis (Diener et al. 2022; Lu et al. 2022). The number of miRNAs can decrease the expression of TfR-1, such as miR-210, miR-7-5p, and miR-320. Moreover, miR-638 and miR-200b have a significant inhibition role in ferritin expression (Wang et al. 2018). miRNA-137 targets SLC1A5 and induces ferroptosis by suppressing glutamine transportation.

Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs), defined as RNA transcripts beyond 200 nucleotides, have drawn our great attention for their transcription regulatory and emerging role in cancers. As a competitive endogenous RNA, lncRNA LINC00336 competes against miR-6852 to interact with cystathionine- β -synthase (CBS), thereby triggering the ferroptosis process. In addition, lncRNA PVT1 can enhance ferroptosis by reducing the binding of miR-214 to TP53 3'UTR (Zhang

et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2020). A cytosolic lncRNA P53RRA displaces P53 to bind G3BP1, leading to the retention of P53 in the nucleus and triggering cell ferroptosis and apoptosis (Mao et al. 2018). Interestingly, when cancer cells are exposed to erastin, lncRNA MT1DP increases intracellular ferrous iron concentration and reduces GSH levels via stabilizing miR-365a-3p and modulating NRF2 expression (Gai et al. 2020). Recently, the findings uncover that a nuclear LINC00618 decrease in human acute myeloid leukemia (AML) accelerates ferroptosis via decreasing the expression of SLC7A11 and promotes apoptosis by increasing the levels of cleaved caspase-3, demonstrating that ferroptosis is in a manner dependent on apoptosis (Wang et al. 2021d).

Regarding circular RNAs (circRNAs), they are novel and back-spliced from pre-mRNAs. Several circRNAs have been proven to compete with miRNAs targeting SLC7A11, such as circFNDC3B targeting miR-520d-5p, circ_0067934 targeting miR-545-3p, and circ_0097009 targeting miR-1261, and mainly play a role in inhibiting ferroptosis and promoting the development of various cancer (Zuo et al. 2022). CircRNA cIARS physically and directly interacted with RNA binding protein (RBP) ALKBH5 and suppressed the ALKBH5-mediated autophagy inhibition, which positively modulates sorafenib-induced ferroptosis via ferritinophagy (Liu et al. 2020a). Moreover, circABCB10 silencing inhibits cell ferroptosis and apoptosis by regulating the miR-326/CCL5 axis in rectal cancer (Xian et al. 2020).

Despite the non-coding RNAs are proven to participate in multiple ferroptosis mediators [56], the comprehensive network of non-coding RNAs needs to be excavated and built quickly.

3.3.5 Other Epigenetic Regulators

Selenium (Se), an important micronutrient, is associated with the health of human beings and can promote the transcription of GPX4 and other selenoproteins expression. Selenoproteins, including thioredoxin reductases (TrxR/TXNRD) and antioxidant GSH peroxidases (GPX), contain selenocysteine residues, which are able to counter the induction of ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2020). Iron metabolism-related genes, such as TFRC, SLC11A2, and FTH, are mediated by hypoxia-responsive elements binding to their promoter regions. Hypoxia-induced HIF-1 α activation inhibits ferroptosis treated by RSL3 (Wang et al. 2021a; Li et al. 2020). Moreover, ironresponsive element-binding protein 2 (IREB2) stabilizes TFRC or DMT1 by directly binding to the 3'-untranslated region (UTR) of mRNA (Song et al. 2021). In hepatoblastoma, m6A methylase METTL3/IGF2BP1-mediated N6-methyladenosine (m6A) modification promotes SLC7A11 mRNA stability and upregulates its expression by inhibiting the deadenylation process, resulting in ferroptosis resistance (Liu et al. 2019). Researchers have identified that OTUB1 can directly interact with and stabilize SLC7A11, suggesting that OTUB1 is a key factor in regulating ferroptosis and provides a potential target in cancer therapy (Liu et al. 2019).

Currently, the epigenetic regulators of ferroptosis are largely uncovered, especially the epigenetic regulation of important ferroptosis factors like SLC7A11 (Table 3.1). Hence, future studies should shed light on post-transcriptional and post-translational regulation in ferroptosis.

3.4 Epigenetic Drugs in Cancer Therapy

Previous studies reported that 5-azacitidine specifically inhibits DNA methylation by trapping DNA methyltransferases like DNMT1 and decreases ferroptosis susceptibility by increasing the expression of E-cadherin and GPX4 (Lee et al. 2020a; Pei et al. 2022). Bromodomain protein BRD4 is capable of recognizing acetylation sites and recruiting transcription factors. BRD4 inhibitor (+)-JQ1 (JQ1) has been demonstrated to induce ferroptosis via ferritinophagy and decreases in GPX4 and SLC7A11. Moreover, ferroptosis inducers erastin, RSL3, and sorafenib can enhance the anticancer effect of JQ1 (Sui et al. 2019). Pharmacological inhibition of SIRT1 by histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor EX-527 repressed ferroptosis, whereas SIRT inducers (resveratrol and SRT1720) enhanced ferroptosis, indicating that epigenetic reprogramming contributes to ferroptosis in HNC cells (Lee et al. 2020a).

The study reported that the miR-3587 inhibitor could attenuate ferroptosis through heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (Tao et al. 2021). Nanoparticle-based agents provide a new choice for ferroptosis induction or sensitization. The researchers construct an all-in-one nanoplatform with functions of tumor targeting, monitoring, and treatment by constructing a homotypic cancer cell membrane-camouflaged iron-small interfering RNA nanohybrid. The SLC7A11-targeted siRNA in the nanohybrid inhibits the biosynthesis of GSH by cutting off the supply of intracellular cystine, resulting in the accumulation of ROS, which further increases the accretion of lipid peroxides to enhance iron-induced ferroptosis (Huang et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2022b). However, the research and application of DNMT inhibitors and nanoparticle-based non-coding RNAs have a long way to go.

Hence, the epigenetic drugs of ferroptosis are significant for the inhibition of cancer progression but are required for further exploration (Fig. 3.2). Moreover, the combination of epigenetic drugs and ferroptosis inducers may have a promising therapeutic effect on various cancer.

3.5 Conclusions and Perspectives

Since the discovery of ferroptosis in 2012, it has been implicated in various diseases, including cancer, ischemia/reperfusion injury, and neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease. This has provided novel targets for cancer therapy, and inhibitors of ferroptosis hold significant therapeutic potential in clinical settings (Yan et al. 2021). Importantly, ferroptosis plays a distinct role in cancer treatment compared to traditional radiotherapy and chemotherapy. For instance, platinum-tolerant cells rely on the Wnt receptor Frizzled-7 (FZD7)-β-catenin-Tp63-GPX4

	1			1	
Genes	Chromatin remodeling	DNA methylation	Histone modifications	Noncoding RNAs	Others
SLC7A11		incur, incon	KDM2P	LINC00619	OTUP1
SLC/ATT			RDNI3B BRD4	miR 520d 5n	METTI 3/
	LSII		BAP1	miR-5200-5p	IGF2BP1
			PRC1	miR-1261	Nanoparticle
			USP7	circFNDC3B	l'unopurtiere
				circ_0067934	
				circ_0097009	
FADS2	LSH				
SCD1	LSH				
LCN2	NUPR1				
GPX4		Homocysteine	BRD4	miRNA-17- 92	Se
ELOVL5		Unknown			
FADS1		Unknown			
FSP1		Unknown			
CISD1		Unknown			
AKR1C2		Unknown			
SOCS1		Unknown			
ACSL3			MAT2A		
Alox12			KMT2D		
DPP4			SUV39H1		
SLC3A2			BRD4		
HADH			BRD4		
ACSL1			BRD4		
ACSL4				miR-23a-3p	
				miRNA-17-	
T(D 1				92	
11K-1				miR-210	
				miR-320	
Ferritin				miR-638	
				miR-200b	
SLC1A5				miRNA-137	
CBS				miR-6852	
				LINC00336	
TP53				miR-214	
				PVT1	
P53				P53RRA	
NRF2				miR-365a-3p	
				MIIDP	
ALKBH5				CITCKINA	
TFRC					HIF-10
					IREB2
DMT1					IREB2

 Table 3.1
 Epigenetic regulators in ferroptosis



Fig. 3.2 Epigenetic drugs and their targets in cancer therapy. Chromatin remodeling factors BRD4 are inhibited by JQ1, thereby increasing the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis through repressing the expression of SLC7A11. 5-azacitidine, a DNA methylation inhibitor, is able to promote GPX4 expression and then resist ferroptotic induction. HDAC inhibitor EX-527 targeting SIRT1 induces cell ferroptosis through epigenetic reprogramming of EMT. MiR-3587 inhibitor could attenuate ferroptosis through heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1). Moreover, Se is necessary for GPX4-inhibited ferroptosis

pathway for survival, and they exhibit increased sensitivity to ferroptosis upon treatment with GPX4 inhibitors (Wang et al. 2021c). Similarly, colorectal cancer stem cells (CSCs) have lower levels of ROS, making them vulnerable to the SLC7A11 inhibitor erastin (Xu et al. 2020). The addiction of cancer cells, particularly CSCs, to iron and the susceptibility of CSCs with low ROS levels to ferroptosis highlight the potential of ferroptosis in targeting drug-resistant cancer cells and CSCs (El Hout et al. 2018). Therefore, it is crucial to unravel the specific mechanisms and regulators of ferroptosis to further advance our understanding of this process.

The control of ferroptosis involves key processes, such as iron metabolism (TFR1 and NCOA4), ROS control (FSP1, DHODH, and ALOX), and lipid metabolism (ACSL4, SLC7A11, and GPX4). Perturbations in the execution of these factors can modulate the susceptibility to ferroptosis. While the core factors of ferroptosis have been extensively studied, the upstream regulators responsible for controlling these factors remain largely unknown (Stockwell 2022). It is well established that ferroptosis-related genes, as well as lipid and ROS metabolism, are complex and diverse. In response to both internal and external stimuli triggering ferroptosis, epigenetic modifications serve as a bridge connecting these stimuli to the execution factors. Furthermore, epigenetic regulators have a significant impact on tumorigenesis and cancer progression, making them promising targets for cancer treatment (Hogg et al. 2020). Therefore, the epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis

deserves particular attention in understanding and targeting this process in cancer therapy.

This chapter focuses on summarizing the role of chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNAs in the control of ferroptosis (Tang et al. 2021). It has been found that LSH serves as an important chromatin remodeling factor in ferroptosis regulation, while the involvement of other remodeling complexes, such as ISWI and CHD, remains largely unexplored. Numerous studies have demonstrated the presence of methylation in various ferroptosis-related genes; however, the specific methyltransferases responsible for these modifications have yet to be identified. Additionally, the identified enzymes do not include critical methyltransferases like DNMT1. Although there have been some studies investigating histone modifications on ferroptosis factors, further research is needed to elucidate the comprehensive and detailed nature of these modifications and their relationship with DNA methylation. Non-coding RNAs have been shown to participate in the regulation of multiple ferroptosis mediators (Beermann et al. 2016); however, a comprehensive network of non-coding RNAs in ferroptosis is still to be established. Therefore, there is a need for further exploration and establishment of post-transcriptional and post-translational regulatory mechanisms in ferroptosis. Unfortunately, the research and application of DNMT inhibitors and nanoparticlebased non-coding RNAs in ferroptosis-targeted cancer therapy present significant challenges.

In summary, this chapter aims to provide insights into the epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis, which can help in understanding the cellular response to ferroptosis stimuli through epigenetic mechanisms. Importantly, the combination of epigenetic inhibition and ferroptosis induction represents an effective strategy for cancer therapy.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest or financial interests.

References

- Beermann J, Piccoli MT, Viereck J, Thum T (2016) Non-coding RNAs in development and disease: background, mechanisms, and therapeutic approaches. Physiol Rev 96(4):1297–1325. https:// doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00041.2015
- Benfeitas R, Uhlen M, Nielsen J, Mardinoglu A (2017) New challenges to study heterogeneity in cancer redox metabolism. Front Cell Dev Biol 5:65. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2017.00065
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Chen GQ, Benthani FA, Wu J, Liang D, Bian ZX, Jiang X (2020a) Artemisinin compounds sensitize cancer cells to ferroptosis by regulating iron homeostasis. Cell Death Differ 27(1): 242–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0352-3
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D (2020b) Iron metabolism in Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 590226. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.590226

- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021a) Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 18(5):280–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021b) Targeting ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer: a doubleedged sword. Trends Cancer 7(10):891–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2021.04.005
- Cheung EC, Vousden KH (2022) The role of ROS in tumour development and progression. Nat Rev Cancer 22(5):280–297. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-021-00435-0
- Diener C, Keller A, Meese E (2022) Emerging concepts of miRNA therapeutics: from cells to clinic. Trends Genet 38(6):613–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2022.02.006
- Egolf S, Zou J, Anderson A, Simpson CL, Aubert Y, Prouty S, Ge K, Seykora JT, Capell BC (2021) MLL4 mediates differentiation and tumor suppression through ferroptosis. Sci Adv 7(50): eabj9141. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abj9141
- El Hout M, Dos Santos L, Hamai A, Mehrpour M (2018) A promising new approach to cancer therapy: targeting iron metabolism in cancer stem cells. Semin Cancer Biol 53:125–138. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.07.009
- Fuhrmann DC, Brune B (2022) A graphical journey through iron metabolism, microRNAs, and hypoxia in ferroptosis. Redox Biol 54:102365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102365
- Gai C, Liu C, Wu X, Yu M, Zheng J, Zhang W, Lv S, Li W (2020) MT1DP loaded by folatemodified liposomes sensitizes erastin-induced ferroptosis via regulating miR-365a-3p/NRF2 axis in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 11(9):751. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-020-02939-3
- Garcia-Martinez L, Zhang Y, Nakata Y, Chan HL, Morey L (2021) Epigenetic mechanisms in breast cancer therapy and resistance. Nat Commun 12(1):1786. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22024-3
- Hogg SJ, Beavis PA, Dawson MA, Johnstone RW (2020) Targeting the epigenetic regulation of antitumour immunity. Nat Rev Drug Discov 19(11):776–800. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-0077-5
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Huang S, Le H, Hong G, Chen G, Zhang F, Lu L, Zhang X, Qiu Y, Wang Z, Zhang Q, Ouyang G, Shen J (2022) An all-in-one biomimetic iron-small interfering RNA nanoplatform induces ferroptosis for cancer therapy. Acta Biomater 148:244–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio. 2022.06.017
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8
- Koppula P, Zhuang L, Gan B (2021) Cystine transporter SLC7A11/xCT in cancer: ferroptosis, nutrient dependency, and cancer therapy. Protein Cell 12(8):599–620. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13238-020-00789-5
- Lang X, Green MD, Wang W, Yu J, Choi JE, Jiang L, Liao P, Zhou J, Zhang Q, Dow A, Saripalli AL, Kryczek I, Wei S, Szeliga W, Vatan L, Stone EM, Georgiou G, Cieslik M, Wahl DR, Morgan MA, Chinnaiyan AM, Lawrence TS, Zou W (2019) Radiotherapy and immunotherapy promote Tumoral lipid oxidation and Ferroptosis via synergistic repression of SLC7A11. Cancer Discov 9(12):1673–1685. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0338
- Lee J, You JH, Kim MS, Roh JL (2020a) Epigenetic reprogramming of epithelial-mesenchymal transition promotes ferroptosis of head and neck cancer. Redox Biol 37:101697. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.redox.2020.101697
- Lee JY, Nam M, Son HY, Hyun K, Jang SY, Kim JW, Kim MW, Jung Y, Jang E, Yoon SJ, Kim J, Kim J, Seo J, Min JK, Oh KJ, Han BS, Kim WK, Bae KH, Song J, Kim J, Huh YM, Hwang GS, Lee EW, Lee SC (2020b) Polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis pathway determines ferroptosis sensitivity in gastric cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(51):32433–32442. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006828117
- Lei G, Zhuang L, Gan B (2022) Targeting ferroptosis as a vulnerability in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 22(7):381–396. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-022-00459-0

- Li D, Li Y (2020) The interaction between ferroptosis and lipid metabolism in cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):108. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00216-5
- Li L, Sun S, Tan L, Wang Y, Wang L, Zhang Z, Zhang L (2019) Polystyrene nanoparticles reduced ROS and Inhibited Ferroptosis by triggering lysosome stress and TFEB nucleus translocation in a size-dependent manner. Nano Lett 19(11):7781–7792. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett. 9b02795
- Li J, Cao F, Yin HL, Huang ZJ, Lin ZT, Mao N, Sun B, Wang G (2020) Ferroptosis: past, present and future. Cell Death Dis 11(2):88. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2298-2
- Liu T, Jiang L, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) The Deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates Ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. Cancer Res 79(8):1913–1924. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-18-3037
- Liu Z, Wang Q, Wang X, Xu Z, Wei X, Li J (2020a) Circular RNA cIARS regulates ferroptosis in HCC cells through interacting with RNA binding protein ALKBH5. Cell Death Discov 6:72. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-020-00306-x
- Liu Z, Zhao Q, Zuo ZX, Yuan SQ, Yu K, Zhang Q, Zhang X, Sheng H, Ju HQ, Cheng H, Wang F, Xu RH, Liu ZX (2020b) Systematic analysis of the aberrances and functional implications of Ferroptosis in cancer. iScience 23(7):101302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101302
- Logie E, Van Puyvelde B, Cuypers B, Schepers A, Berghmans H, Verdonck J, Laukens K, Godderis L, Dhaenens M, Deforce D, Vanden Berghe W (2021) Ferroptosis induction in multiple myeloma cells triggers DNA methylation and histone modification changes associated with cellular senescence. Int J Mol Sci 22(22):12234. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222212234
- Lu Y, Chan YT, Tan HY, Zhang C, Guo W, Xu Y, Sharma R, Chen ZS, Zheng YC, Wang N, Feng Y (2022) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis via ETS1/miR-23a-3p/ACSL4 axis mediates sorafenib resistance in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 41(1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-02208-x
- Ma M, Kong P, Huang Y, Wang J, Liu X, Hu Y, Chen X, Du C, Yang H (2022) Activation of MAT2A-ACSL3 pathway protects cells from ferroptosis in gastric cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 181:288–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.02.015
- Mao C, Wang X, Liu Y, Wang M, Yan B, Jiang Y, Shi Y, Shen Y, Liu X, Lai W, Yang R, Xiao D, Cheng Y, Liu S, Zhou H, Cao Y, Yu W, Muegge K, Yu H, Tao Y (2018) A G3BP1-interacting IncRNA promotes Ferroptosis and apoptosis in cancer via nuclear sequestration of p53. Cancer Res 78(13):3484–3496. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3454
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Nishiyama A, Nakanishi M (2021) Navigating the DNA methylation landscape of cancer. Trends Genet 37(11):1012–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2021.05.002
- Ogiwara H, Takahashi K, Sasaki M, Kuroda T, Yoshida H, Watanabe R, Maruyama A, Makinoshima H, Chiwaki F, Sasaki H, Kato T, Okamoto A, Kohno T (2019) Targeting the vulnerability of glutathione metabolism in ARID1A-deficient cancers. Cancer Cell 35(2): 177–190e178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.12.009
- Pei Y, Qian Y, Wang H, Tan L (2022) Epigenetic regulation of Ferroptosis-associated genes and its implication in cancer therapy. Front Oncol 12:771870. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022. 771870
- Pontel LB, Bueno-Costa A, Morellato AE, Carvalho Santos J, Roue G, Esteller M (2022) Acute lymphoblastic leukemia necessitates GSH-dependent ferroptosis defenses to overcome FSP1epigenetic silencing. Redox Biol 55:102408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102408
- Rodriguez R, Schreiber SL, Conrad M (2022) Persister cancer cells: iron addiction and vulnerability to ferroptosis. Mol Cell 82(4):728–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2021.12.001
- Slack FJ, Chinnaiyan AM (2019) The role of non-coding RNAs in oncology. Cell 179(5): 1033–1055. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.017

- Song J, Liu T, Yin Y, Zhao W, Lin Z, Yin Y, Lu D, You F (2021) The deubiquitinase OTUD1 enhances iron transport and potentiates host antitumor immunity. EMBO Rep 22(2):e51162. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.202051162
- Stillman B (2018) Histone modifications: insights into their influence on gene expression. Cell 175(1):6–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.032
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.06.003
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, Fulda S, Gascon S, Hatzios SK, Kagan VE, Noel K, Jiang X, Linkermann A, Murphy ME, Overholtzer M, Oyagi A, Pagnussat GC, Park J, Ran Q, Rosenfeld CS, Salnikow K, Tang D, Torti FM, Torti SV, Toyokuni S, Woerpel KA, Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171(2):273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.09.021
- Sui S, Zhang J, Xu S, Wang Q, Wang P, Pang D (2019) Ferritinophagy is required for the induction of ferroptosis by the bromodomain protein BRD4 inhibitor (+)-JQ1 in cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 10(5):331. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-1564-7
- Sun L, Zhang H, Gao P (2022) Metabolic reprogramming and epigenetic modifications on the path to cancer. Protein Cell 13(12):877–919. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-021-00846-7
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tao W, Liu F, Zhang J, Fu S, Zhan H, Qian K (2021) miR-3587 inhibitor attenuates Ferroptosis following renal ischemia-reperfusion through HO-1. Front Mol Biosci 8:789927. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.789927
- Wang F, Min J (2021) DHODH tangoing with GPX4 on the ferroptotic stage. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6(1):244. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00656-7
- Wang Y, Yu L, Ding J, Chen Y (2018) Iron metabolism in cancer. Int J Mol Sci 20(1):95. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms20010095
- Wang Y, Yang L, Zhang X, Cui W, Liu Y, Sun QR, He Q, Zhao S, Zhang GA, Wang Y, Chen S (2019) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis by H2B monoubiquitination and p53. EMBO Rep 20(7):e47563. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201847563
- Wang M, Mao C, Ouyang L, Liu Y, Lai W, Liu N, Shi Y, Chen L, Xiao D, Yu F, Wang X, Zhou H, Cao Y, Liu S, Yan Q, Tao Y, Zhang B (2020) Correction to: long noncoding RNA LINC00336 inhibits ferroptosis in lung cancer by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. Cell Death Differ 27(4):1447. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0394-6
- Wang H, Cheng Y, Mao C, Liu S, Xiao D, Huang J, Tao Y (2021a) Emerging mechanisms and targeted therapy of ferroptosis in cancer. Mol Ther 29(7):2185–2208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2021.03.022
- Wang J, Yin X, He W, Xue W, Zhang J, Huang Y (2021b) SUV39H1 deficiency suppresses clear cell renal cell carcinoma growth by inducing ferroptosis. Acta Pharm Sin B 11(2):406–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.09.015
- Wang Y, Zhao G, Condello S, Huang H, Cardenas H, Tanner EJ, Wei J, Ji Y, Li J, Tan Y, Davuluri RV, Peter ME, Cheng JX, Matei D (2021c) Frizzled-7 identifies platinum-tolerant ovarian cancer cells susceptible to Ferroptosis. Cancer Res 81(2):384–399. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-20-1488
- Wang Z, Chen X, Liu N, Shi Y, Liu Y, Ouyang L, Tam S, Xiao D, Liu S, Wen F, Tao Y (2021d) A nuclear long non-coding RNA LINC00618 accelerates Ferroptosis in a manner dependent upon apoptosis. Mol Ther 29(1):263–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.024
- Wang Y, Chen D, Xie H, Jia M, Sun X, Peng F, Guo F, Tang D (2022a) AUF1 protects against ferroptosis to alleviate sepsis-induced acute lung injury by regulating NRF2 and ATF3. Cell Mol Life Sci 79(5):228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-022-04248-8
- Wang Y, Chen J, Lu J, Xi J, Xu Z, Fan L, Dai H, Gao L (2022b) Metal ions/nucleotide coordinated nanoparticles comprehensively suppress tumor by synergizing ferroptosis with energy

metabolism interference. J Nanobiotechnology 20(1):199. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-022-01405-w

- Wimalasena VK, Wang T, Sigua LH, Durbin AD, Qi J (2020) Using chemical epigenetics to target cancer. Mol Cell 78(6):1086–1095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.04.023
- Wu Y, Zhang S, Gong X, Tam S, Xiao D, Liu S, Tao Y (2020) The epigenetic regulators and metabolic changes in ferroptosis-associated cancer progression. Mol Cancer 19(1):39. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01157-x
- Xian ZY, Hu B, Wang T, Cai JL, Zeng JY, Zou Q, Zhu PX (2020) CircABCB10 silencing inhibits the cell ferroptosis and apoptosis by regulating the miR-326/CCL5 axis in rectal cancer. Neoplasma 67(5):1063–1073. https://doi.org/10.4149/neo_2020_191024N1084
- Xu X, Zhang X, Wei C, Zheng D, Lu X, Yang Y, Luo A, Zhang K, Duan X, Wang Y (2020) Targeting SLC7A11 specifically suppresses the progression of colorectal cancer stem cells via inducing ferroptosis. Eur J Pharm Sci 152:105450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2020.105450
- Yan HF, Zou T, Tuo QZ, Xu S, Li H, Belaidi AA, Lei P (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms and links with diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6(1):49. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00428-9
- Yang M, Liu K, Chen P, Zhu H, Wang J, Huang J (2022) Bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) as an epigenetic regulator of fatty acid metabolism genes and ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 13(10):912. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-05344-0
- Zhang Y, Shi J, Liu X, Feng L, Gong Z, Koppula P, Sirohi K, Li X, Wei Y, Lee H, Zhuang L, Chen G, Xiao ZD, Hung MC, Chen J, Huang P, Li W, Gan B (2018) BAP1 links metabolic regulation of ferroptosis to tumour suppression. Nat Cell Biol 20(10):1181–1192. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41556-018-0178-0
- Zhang X, Du L, Qiao Y, Zhang X, Zheng W, Wu Q, Chen Y, Zhu G, Liu Y, Bian Z, Guo S, Yang Y, Ma L, Yu Y, Pan Q, Sun F, Wang J (2019a) Ferroptosis is governed by differential regulation of transcription in liver cancer. Redox Biol 24:101211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019. 101211
- Zhang Y, Koppula P, Gan B (2019b) Regulation of H2A ubiquitination and SLC7A11 expression by BAP1 and PRC1. Cell Cycle 18(8):773–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2019. 1597506
- Zhang X, Huang Z, Xie Z, Chen Y, Zheng Z, Wei X, Huang B, Shan Z, Liu J, Fan S, Chen J, Zhao F (2020) Homocysteine induces oxidative stress and ferroptosis of nucleus pulposus via enhancing methylation of GPX4. Free Radic Biol Med 160:552–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2020.08.029
- Zhang Y, Li M, Guo Y, Liu S, Tao Y (2022) The organelle-specific regulations and epigenetic regulators in Ferroptosis. Front Pharmacol 13:905501. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022. 905501
- Zheng J, Conrad M (2020) The metabolic underpinnings of Ferroptosis. Cell Metab 32(6):920–937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.10.011
- Zhou F, Chen B (2021) Prognostic significance of ferroptosis-related genes and their methylation in AML. Hematology 26(1):919–930. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078454.2021.1996055
- Zuo YB, Zhang YF, Zhang R, Tian JW, Lv XB, Li R, Li SP, Cheng MD, Shan J, Zhao Z, Xin H (2022) Ferroptosis in cancer progression: role of noncoding RNAs. Int J Biol Sci 18(5): 1829–1843. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.66917



The Role of Autophagy in Ferroptosis

Rui Kang and Daolin Tang

Abstract

Autophagy is a self-degrading process that helps determine the fate of cells in response to stress. Although the role of autophagy in promoting cell survival is well understood, the connection between autophagy and cell death is still not entirely clear. Ferroptosis is a type of cell death that is driven by iron-mediated lipid peroxidation and plasma membrane rupture. Recent studies suggest that the level of autophagy in a cell can impact its sensitivity to ferroptosis. The selective destruction of certain proteins or organelles through autophagy can trigger ferroptosis by promoting iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation. Some of the genes and proteins involved in regulating autophagy-dependent ferroptosis may differ from those involved in starvation-induced autophagy. To develop effective treatments for related diseases, a deeper understanding of the mechanisms and regulation of autophagy in ferroptosis is essential.

4.1 Introduction

Autophagy plays a critical role in maintaining cellular homeostasis by breaking down and disposing of intracellular waste, including unused proteins and damaged organelles (Dikic and Elazar 2018). There are different types of autophagy, including microautophagy, chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), and macroautophagy, which can be further classified into bulk and selective autophagy. By degrading these waste products, autophagy provides cells with the resources they need to perform their biological functions and survive in the face of stressors, such as starvation, hypoxia, and drug toxicity (Kroemer et al. 2010). However, excessive

R. Kang $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Tang

Department of Surgery, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: rui.kang@utsouthwestern.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_4



Fig. 4.1 Role of autophagy in ferroptosis. Autophagy is a type of cellular degradation that is dependent on the lysosome and can occur in both selective and non-selective forms. Ferroptosis, on the other hand, is a type of cell death that is driven by oxidative stress and is dependent on iron. This type of cell death is characterized by lipid peroxidation, which leads to the production of toxic lipids. The role of selective autophagy in ferroptosis is complex, as it can both enhance and inhibit the process through the degradation of various organelles or proteins. Moreover, the BECN1 protein has been found to bind directly to SLC7A11, thereby inhibiting cystine uptake and maintaining low levels of the antioxidant glutathione

autophagy can lead to cell damage or death, known as autophagy-dependent cell death (Tang et al. 2019). This process is regulated by the autophagy machinery, including autophagy-associated genes and protein complexes (Galluzzi et al. 2018; Xie et al. 2015). Autophagy-dependent cell death has been linked to various diseases, including cancer (Kriel and Loos 2019; Li et al. 2021b). Despite recent advancements, the underlying signaling pathways and regulatory networks that govern different types of selective autophagy-mediated cell death remain to be fully understood.

Ferroptosis is a regulated form of cell death that is triggered by oxidative damage from iron accumulation, leading to lipid peroxidation (Tang and Kroemer 2020). Despite its historical classification as a type of autophagy-independent cell death due to the inability of the autophagy inhibitor chloroquine to block the activity of ferroptosis activators in Rat sarcoma (RAS)-mutated cancer cells (Dixon et al. 2012), recent genetic evidence suggests that autophagy plays a role in the initiation and execution of ferroptosis through the triggering of iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation (Zhou et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2020a; Zhang et al. 2022; Xie et al. 2020a). The depletion of key components of the autophagy machinery (such as ATG5, ATG7, or BECN1) decreases the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis in both cancer and non-cancer cells (Liu et al. 2020a; Chen et al. 2021a).

In this chapter, we present the fundamental mechanisms behind autophagy and ferroptosis. Our focus is on how dysregulated autophagy impacts ferroptosis

(Fig. 4.1). This understanding may offer valuable insights into the possibility of targeting autophagy-dependent ferroptosis in diseases (Chen et al. 2023).

4.2 Mechanism of Autophagy

Autophagy is a complex, lysosome-dependent cellular degradation process that involves the formation of intracellular membrane structures, including phagophore, autophagosome, and autolysosome. On the other hand, other processes like CMA and microautophagy have different mechanisms. CMA specifically degrades proteins with the KFERQ motif, which is recognized by the heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) and regulated by lysosome-associated membrane protein 2 (LAMP2A) in lysosomes (Kaushik and Cuervo 2018). Microautophagy involves the direct phagocytosis of degraded cargo through lysosomes or late endosomes (Wang et al. 2022). This section provides a detailed description of the dynamic process and regulation of macroautophagy (hereinafter referred to as autophagy) in mammalian cells.

4.2.1 Phagophore

Autophagy is activated by various external (such as starvation, hypoxia, and pH changes) and internal factors (such as metabolic stress, aging, accumulation of misfolded proteins, and DNA damage). The activation of autophagy is triggered by the activation or impairment of multiple signaling pathways, such as the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, the phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit delta (PI3K) pathway, the adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway, and the mammalian target of rapamycin (MTOR) pathway (Xie et al. 2015; Lahiri et al. 2021). These signals cause the formation of a cup-shaped phagophore structure, which is formed by membranes from various sources (such as the endoplasmic reticulum [ER], mitochondria, Golgi apparatus, and plasma membrane), and engulfs cytoplasmic molecules.

The formation of the phagophore structure is facilitated by two protein complexes, namely the unc-51-like autophagy-activating kinase (ULK) complex and the class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PtdIns3K) complex (Mizushima 2010). The ULK complex includes the core component ULK1 (a homolog of yeast Atg1), ATG13, and the scaffolding protein RB1-inducible coiled-coil 1 (RB1CC1, also known as FIP200, a homolog of yeast Atg17). The PtdIns3K complex consists of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit type 3 (PIK3C3, an ortholog of yeast Vps34), BECN1 (a mammalian homolog of yeast Vps30/Atg6), and phosphoinositide-3-kinase regulatory subunit 4 (PIK3R4, a mammalian homolog of yeast Vps15).

The ULK1 complex integrates signals from two key regulators of nutrient and energy levels, MTOR and AMPK, to initiate autophagy in response to changes in intracellular energy and nutrient levels. ULK1 kinase activity then activates the PtdIns3K complex, which is responsible for the formation of phagophore assembly sites, membrane nucleation, membrane elongation, and the formation of autophagosomes (Mizushima 2010). BECN1 is a key player in the regulation of autophagy, as it binds to many proteins and serves as a hub to control the induction of autophagy and phagophore formation (Kang et al. 2011).

4.2.2 Autophagosome

Autophagosomes, double-membrane structures derived from phagophore elongation, are formed by two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems. The first system involves the covalent conjugation of ATG12 and ATG5, which is catalyzed by ATG7 and ATG10. This conjugation forms a complex with ATG16L, which acts as an E3 enzyme to facilitate the conjugation of ubiquitin-like microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (MAP1LC3/LC3)-family proteins (Scherz-Shouval et al. 2019; Nakatogawa 2013).

The second system involves the processing and lipidation of pro-MAP1LC3. The C-terminal polypeptide is cleaved by ATG4, a cysteine protease, to form MAP1LC3-I (Scherz-Shouval et al. 2007). This protein is then covalently associated with phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in the presence of ATG7 and ATG3, resulting in the formation of MAP1LC3-II, the membrane-associated protein that is essential for autophagosome formation and degradation of cargo proteins. MAP1LC3-II serves not only as a marker for autophagosomes but also as a bridge between degraded substrates and autophagy receptors like sequestosome 1 (SQSTM1/p62). In addition to these processes, ATG9A-containing vesicles also contribute to starvation-induced autophagosome formation but not ferroptosis-associated autophagosome formation (Liu et al. 2022a). Therefore, different stimulatory signals and altered membrane sources are involved in the formation of autophagosomes.

4.2.3 Autolysosome

Autophagosomes fuse with lysosomes to form autolysosomes, although the exact molecular mechanism in mammalian cells remains unclear. Several lysosomal and membrane proteins have been implicated in this process, including lysosome-associated membrane protein 2 (LAMP2), the GTPase-activating protein RAB7A, the homotypic fusion and protein sorting (HOPS) complex, the soluble N-ethylmaleimide–sensitive fusion factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) family, integration of autophagosomal syntaxin 17 (STX17), and lysosomal vesicle-associated membrane protein 8 (VAMP8) (Chi et al. 2019; Shen et al. 2021; Tian et al. 2020, 2021; Bernard and Klionsky 2015). The inner membrane of autophagosomes, including MAP1LC3-II, is also degraded by lysosomal enzymes. This degradation of MAP1LC3-II does not necessarily indicate inhibition of autophagy, and measuring autophagic flux in conjunction with late-stage autophagy inhibitors is a reliable method for assessing autophagic activity.

The cargo in lysosomes is typically degraded by lysosomal acid enzymes, such as cathepsin B (CTSB), cathepsin D (CTSD), cathepsin L (CTSL), acid phosphatases, and lipases. The selectivity of the cargo degradation remains unknown. The degraded cargo can be recycled to construct cellular components for self-renewal. However, excessive lysosomal degradation can be harmful to cellular function, so maintaining a healthy balance of degradation is essential for maintaining normal cellular homeostasis.

4.3 Selective Autophagy

Compared to bulk autophagy, selective autophagy is a targeted form of autophagy where specific cellular components, such as damaged organelles, misfolded proteins, or invading pathogens, are selectively degraded. Selective autophagy relies on specific autophagy receptors, which recognize and bind to these components to deliver them to autophagosomes for degradation (Vargas et al. 2022). The specificity of selective autophagy allows cells to maintain cellular homeostasis and regulate the quality control of cellular components. Autophagy receptors can be divided into two categories: ubiquitin-binding receptors, which recognize ubiquitinated cargoes, and cargo-localizing receptors, which bind directly to the degraded cargoes. Selective autophagy receptors contain a motif known as the Atg8-interacting motif or LC3-interacting region (AIM/LIR) to bind to the LC3/GABARAP/Atg8 family of lipidated proteins.

In yeast, the first identified form of selective autophagy was the cytoplasm-tovacuole transport, which involved Atg11- and Atg19-dependent processing of aminopeptidase 1, aspartate aminopeptidase, and α -mannosidase (Baba et al. 1997). In mammalian cells, the receptors involved in selective autophagy are more diverse, and over 30 have been studied. Mitophagy, the selective removal of mitochondria, is the most studied form of autophagy receptor in mammals and involves the recognition of ubiquitinated mitochondrial proteins (Xie et al. 2020b, 2021). PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) and Parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (Parkin) proteins play a key role in this process, with PINK1 being a mitochondrial serine/threonine kinase and Parkin being an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Lazarou et al. 2015).

LC3 proteins or LC3 receptors can induce autophagy through a direct association with mitochondrial proteins in a ubiquitin-independent mechanism. Different receptors are involved in different types of selective autophagy and play a role in regulating cellular homeostasis. The binding of cargo-containing autophagy receptors to the Atg8/LC3 family of proteins ensures selectivity. In mammalian cells, there are two Atg8 protein families: MAP1LC3 and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) type A receptor-associated protein (GABARAP), which are further divided into seven isoforms (Schaaf et al. 2016). Selective autophagy receptors bind LC3/GABARAP proteins through conserved LIR and GABARAP-interacting motifs, with the core motif being [W/F/Y]-XX-[L/V/I]. LIRs also contain residues that can be phosphorylated to increase interaction with the Atg8/LC3 family (Rogov et al. 2017).

4.4 Mechanism of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a type of iron-dependent oxidative cell death that is largely regulated by the body's antioxidant defenses (Kuang et al. 2020). However, other signals or molecules also play a role in determining a cell's sensitivity to ferroptosis. In the following section, we will provide an overview of the key mechanisms and antioxidant systems that govern ferroptosis (Tang et al. 2021; Liu et al. 2021b).

4.4.1 Iron Toxicity

Iron is a vital trace element for all living organisms that exist in two redox states: ferrous (Fe^{2+}) and ferric (Fe^{3+}). The balance of iron in the body is crucial for proper functioning, including oxygen transport, electron transfer, and DNA synthesis. This balance is achieved through the processes of uptake, utilization, storage, and export of iron (Torti et al. 2018; Crielaard et al. 2017).

Cells acquire Fe^{3+} through transferrin receptor (TFRC)-mediated endocytosis, which is bound to transferrin (TF). Fe^{3+} is then reduced to Fe^{2+} by the STEAP3 metalloreductase within the endosome and released into the cytosol via the solute carrier family 11 member 2 (SLC11A2) pathway. Fe^{2+} can be stored in ferritin, including the ferritin heavy polypeptide 1 (FTH1) and ferritin light polypeptide 1 (FTL1) subunits.

 Fe^{2+} also plays a role in oxygen transport and the creation of mitochondrial iron– sulfur clusters. Excess Fe^{2+} can be exported from the cell by solute carrier family 40 member 1 (SLC40A1), which converts Fe^{2+} to Fe^{3+} . As such, any disruptions in iron metabolism may impact ferroptosis sensitivity (Chen et al. 2021c).

Iron contributes to ferroptosis not only by creating reactive oxygen species (ROS) through a non-enzymatic Fenton reaction but also by serving as a co-factor for metabolic enzymes, such as arachidonate lipoxygenase (ALOX) and cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR), which can induce lipid peroxidation (Zou et al. 2020; Li et al. 2021a). This is why an increase in intracellular iron can trigger ferroptosis (Ajoolabady et al. 2021).

For instance, the degradation of ferritin through ferritinophagy, which is facilitated by nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4), leads to iron release from ferritin and ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells (Hou et al. 2016). Conversely, glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase 1 (GOT1) can inhibit ferroptosis by inhibiting ferritinophagy (Kremer et al. 2021). Overall, the regulation of iron homeostasis in relation to ferroptosis is complex and delicate.

4.4.2 Lipid Toxicity

Ferroptosis is characterized by excessive lipid peroxidation and the formation of toxic lipid metabolites (Lin et al. 2021). The lipids most susceptible to peroxidation, arachidonic acid (AA) and adrenic acid (AdA), can lead to cell membrane rupture.

The synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acid phospholipids (PUFA-PLs) is governed by two key mediators, acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) (Yuan et al. 2016; Dixon et al. 2015). ACSL4 links PUFAs (AA or AdA) to CoA to form PUFA-CoAs, which are then esterified with PLs by LPCAT3. The carboxylation of acetyl CoA to malonyl-CoA by acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC) is also needed for some PUFA synthesis. Inhibition of ACSL4 or LPCAT3 can, therefore, prevent or reduce sensitivity to ferroptosis. The lipid flippase solute carrier family 47 member 1 (SLC47A1) deficiency can also use the ACSL4-sterol O-acyltransferase 1 (SOAT1) pathway instead of the ACSL4-LPCAT3 pathway to produce PUFAcontaining cholesterol esters and promote ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2022).

The role of lipoxygenases (ALOXs), a non-heme iron-dependent enzyme that can directly oxidize PUFA-containing lipids in membranes, in ferroptosis is contentdependent. For example, ALOX12 and ALOX15 are not essential for ferroptosis in mice, suggesting that other regulators, such as cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR), contribute to lipid peroxidation during ferroptosis (Zou et al. 2020). Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) produced by stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) can completely inhibit PUFA-mediated ferroptosis (Magtanong et al. 2019). Additionally, 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4-HNE), a byproduct of lipid peroxidation, has recently been implicated as a direct mediator of ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2022b), highlighting that the effector of ferroptosis may not necessarily be a protein.

4.4.3 GPX4 Antioxidant System

Glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) is the sole GPX member found in mammalian cells, and it converts phospholipid (PL) hydroperoxides into alcohols. Studies have revealed that cytosolic GPX4 plays a crucial role in inhibiting ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2014), as evidenced by the fact that re-expression of cytosolic GPX4 rescues *Gpx4* deletion-induced ferroptosis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Yant et al. 2003). In certain cases, mitochondrial GPX4 also helps in blocking mitochondrial oxidative damage-induced ferroptosis in cancer cells (Mao et al. 2021b).

The anti-ferroptotic effects of GPX4 are dependent on reduced glutathione (GSH), a tripeptide derived from glycine, glutamate, and cysteine, with cysteine being the rate-limiting precursor. Most cells obtain cysteine through the system xc⁻-mediated uptake and subsequent transformation of cystine, which involves solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11) and solute carrier family 3 member 2 (SLC3A2). Deprivation of cysteine through dietary means or pharmacological inhibition of the SLC7A11-GPX4 pathway (using erastin or RSL3) can trigger ferroptosis in various cells. While GPX4 is considered a key suppressor of ferroptosis (Viswanathan et al. 2017; Kang et al. 2018a), pointing to the presence of a GPX4-independent pathway.

4.4.4 AIFM2 Antioxidant System

CRISPR-Cas9 has identified Screening with apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (AIFM2, also known as FSP1) as a defense protein against ferroptosis, which operates in parallel to the GPX4 system (Doll et al. 2019). The mechanism involves N-myristoylation, which is necessary for the translocation of AIFM2 from mitochondria to the plasma membrane, thereby reducing lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. This is achieved by reducing ubiquinone to ubiquinol (CoQH2) through its NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase activity, which traps lipid peroxyl radicals and prevents lipid autoxidation or indirectly oxidized α -tocopheryl radicals (vitamin E, a lipid antioxidant) (Doll et al. 2019). As a result, AIFM2 functions as a non-mitochondrial electron transport chain.

AIFM2 also serves as a vitamin K reductase, converting vitamin K into hydroquinone (VKH2) and thereby protecting GPX4-depleted cells from harmful lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Mishima et al. 2022). In addition to its reported enzymatic functions, AIFM2 can activate endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT)-III-dependent membrane repair mechanisms to inhibit ferroptosis (Dai et al. 2020c).

In conclusion, these findings underscore the presence of three different molecular and cellular mechanisms through which AIFM2 protects against ferroptosis.

4.4.5 DHODH Antioxidant System

Mitochondria play a crucial role in regulating cellular metabolism and death, and they generate a substantial amount of ROS during oxidative phosphorylation. An imbalance in the mitochondrial antioxidant system can lead to lipid peroxidation. Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) is an enzyme that plays a crucial role in the de novo synthesis of pyrimidine nucleotides, which are the building blocks of DNA and RNA (Zhou et al. 2021). DHODH catalyzes the oxidation of dihydroorotate to orotate, which is an essential step in the formation of uracil and cytosine, two of the four nucleotides that make up the DNA molecule. In ferroptosis, DHODH controls pyrimidine synthesis in the inner mitochondrial membrane and can transfer electrons to CoQ to reduce it to CoQH2 (Mao et al. 2021a). An increase in DHODH-mediated CoQH2 production compensates for lipid peroxidation caused by the inactivation of GPX4. This mechanism can only be rescued by mitochondrial GPX4 or DHODH, not cytosolic GPX4. This highlights the existence of a mitochondrial antioxidant defense mechanism that helps prevent ferroptosis.

4.4.6 NFE2L2 Antioxidant System

NFE2L2, also known as NRF2, is a crucial transcription factor in the cap'n'collar (CNC) family (Dai et al. 2020a). It plays a vital role in maintaining redox homeostasis and regulating antioxidant genes by binding to antioxidant response elements (AREs). Under normal circumstances, the activity of NFE2L2 is suppressed as it is bound by Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (KEAP1) in the cytoplasm, leading to its degradation. However, under oxidative and electrophilic stress, NFE2L2 is dissociated from KEAP1 and travels to the nucleus, where it partners with small v-maf musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog (sMaf) proteins to activate the expression of ARE-dependent target genes.

In addition, NFE2L2 also provides cellular protection against ferroptosis activators like erastin and sorafenib (Sun et al. 2016b). It increases the stability of the NFE2L2 protein by suppressing the formation of the NFE2L2-KEAP1 complex. This process is regulated by SQSTM1, an autophagy receptor, which activates NFE2L2 expression through the inactivation of KEAP1. The activation of the SQSTM1-KEAP1-NFE2L2 pathway, therefore, blocks ferroptosis induced by erastin and sorafenib in cancer cells by upregulating multiple target genes (Sun et al. 2016b). Along with the well-known NFE2L2-targeted genes, such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate hydrogen (NADPH) quinone dehydrogenase 1 (NQO1), GPX4, SLC7A11, and ferritin heavy chain 1 (FTH1), the cysteine-rich metallothionein 1G (MT1G) protein has been identified as a novel NFE2L2-targeted gene that provides resistance to ferroptosis in vitro and in xeno-graft mouse models (Sun et al. 2016a; Houessinon et al. 2016).

4.4.7 Membrane Repair System

The plasma membrane's integrity and function are essential for cell survival and communication, and the membrane repair system helps preserve them. This system includes regrouping lipids, forming lipid rafts, and involving proteins, such as phospholipases, lipases, and flippases. A lipid flippase, SLC47A1, can prevent ferroptosis in cancer cells by restructuring lipids and has been observed at elevated levels in cancers (Wittwer et al. 2013). Targeting SLC47A1 may overcome resistance to ferroptosis in cancer cells.

The ESCRT complexes play a crucial role in repairing the plasma membrane and preventing various forms of regulated necrosis, including ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2021a). Inhibiting charged multivesicular body protein 5 (CHMP5) or CHMP6, components of ESCRT-III, increases ferroptosis susceptibility in HCC cells (Dai et al. 2020b). Calcium signaling and endoplasmic reticulum stress regulate ferroptosis through the activation of ESCRT-III on cell membranes.

4.5 Autophagy in Ferroptosis

Autophagy can either inhibit or promote cell death depending on the context. This section discusses the mechanisms by which autophagy regulates ferroptosis in cancer cells (Xie et al. 2016).
4.5.1 Ferritinophagy

Ferritinophagy is a type of autophagy, which is a process where cells break down and recycle their own components (Ajoolabady et al. 2021). Ferritinophagy specifically degrades ferritin, a complex made up of two proteins, FTH1 and FTL1. A cytosolic autophagy receptor called NCOA4 is involved in mediating ferritin degradation and promoting ferroptosis. Ferroptosis is a type of programmed cell death that occurs when cells accumulate toxic levels of iron.

The expression of NCOA4 can be regulated by different signaling pathways. For example, O-GlcNAcylation of FTH1 can inhibit its binding to NCOA4 and thus decrease ferritinophagy. On the other hand, inhibiting O-GlcNAcylation can enhance ferritinophagy (Yu et al. 2022). Another example is poly(rC) binding protein 1 (PCBP1), which can suppress autophagy and thus inhibit ferritinophagy-dependent ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2022). In contrast, ELAV-like RNA binding protein 1 (ELAVL1/HuR) can regulate ferritinophagy-dependent ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2018).

Different factors can also affect ferritinophagy and ferroptosis. For example, hypoxia downregulates NCOA4 and increases FTH/FTL protein levels, which can inhibit ferritinophagy. On the other hand, transmembrane protein 164 (TMEM164), but not ATG9A, can selectively promote autophagosome formation to degrade ferritin during ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022a). In addition, inhibiting the lysosomal V-ATPase with bafilomycin A1 can decrease ferritin degradation and ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2018), whereas dihydroartemisinin can induce ferritinophagy-dependent ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2016).

Overall, ferritinophagy plays a major role in promoting ferroptosis by increasing the accumulation of toxic iron. However, since NCOA4 is widely expressed, targeting NCOA4-dependent ferroptosis in cancer therapy may require careful monitoring of toxicity.

4.5.2 Lipophagy

Fatty acids are converted into triglycerides and cholesterol esters inside cells and stored in a spherical organelle called lipid droplets (LDs) (Maan et al. 2018). During times of stress, such as starvation or RSL3, LDs can be engulfed by autophagosomes for destruction in the lysosome, releasing free fatty acids. This process, called lipophagy, promotes RSL3-induced ferroptosis in primary mouse hepatocytes and the human liver cancer cell line HepG2. The regulation of this process is controlled by the LD cargo receptor RAB7A (Bai et al. 2019; Schroeder et al. 2015).

RAB7A selectively recognizes LDs and triggers the ATG5-dependent formation of autophagosomes (Bai et al. 2019). If ATG5 or RAB7A is knocked down, RSL3-induced ferroptosis is prevented both in vitro and in vivo (Bai et al. 2019). Similarly, knocking down the tumor protein D52 (TPD52), which regulates LD formation, increases RSL3-induced ferroptosis. On the other hand, overexpressing TPD52 limits ferroptosis (Bai et al. 2019). These findings suggest that increasing LD storage

can protect against lipid toxicity, whereas lipophagy makes cells more sensitive to ferroptosis by releasing more lipids for lipid peroxidation. Further research on the signals and mediators of lipophagy is crucial for developing ferroptosis-related therapies in cancers with high levels of LDs, such as liver cancer.

4.5.3 Clockophagy

The circadian rhythm is an internal mechanism that is controlled by circadian clock proteins, such as aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like protein (ARNTL/BMAL1) and CLOCK. These proteins regulate various cellular processes including iron and lipid metabolism. It has been found that ARNTL degradation can occur through an autophagy-dependent pathway called clockophagy (Liu et al. 2019), which specifically degrades ARNTL1 and promotes ferroptosis in cancer cells when exposed to GPX4 inhibitors (e.g., RSL3 and FIN56) but not when exposed to SLC7A11 inhibitors (e.g., erastin, sulfasalazine, and sorafenib) (Yang et al. 2019).

Mass spectrometry analysis showed that SQSTM1 acts as an autophagy receptor that binds ARNTL to ATG5- and ATG7-dependent autophagosomes for degradation in the lysosome (Yang et al. 2019). This process does not require ATG9A. The degradation of ARNTL represses the expression of the target gene EGLN2, which controls lipid metabolism through hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF1A) (Yang et al. 2019). Additionally, the knockdown of the circadian protein PER1 impedes autophagy in the hippocampus, which may increase susceptibility to ferroptosis during cerebral ischemia (Rami et al. 2017). The ferroptosis inhibitor liproxstatin-1 prevents acute pancreatitis in pancreatic *Arntl*-specific knockout mice induced by L-arginine (Liu et al. 2020b). Furthermore, extracellular SQSTM1 induces ACSL4 expression to enhance autophagy-dependent ferroptosis and subsequent pancreatitis (Yang et al. 2022), providing alternative strategies to mediate ferroptosis-induced sterile inflammation.

These findings show a relationship between circadian rhythms, autophagy, and ferroptosis. Further research is needed to determine if regulators of ferroptosis are influenced by circadian rhythms.

4.5.4 Mitophagy

Mitophagy, a mechanism for controlling the quality of mitochondria, regulates the production of mitochondrial ROS and the sensitivity to cell death (Jiao et al. 2021). PINK1-Parkin-dependent mitophagy is the central way of managing mitochondrial health. However, the connection between mitochondria and ferroptosis is unclear and can even seem paradoxical. For instance, the mitochondrial respiratory chain inhibitor BAY 87–2243 triggers excessive mitophagy and leads to an increase in mitochondrial ROS production and subsequent ferroptosis in BRAFV600E melanoma cell lines, but overexpression of GPX4 or administration of ferrostatin-1

reverses the ferroptosis induced by BAY 87–2243 (Basit et al. 2017). On the other hand, a loss of function in fumarate hydratase, a component of the mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid cycle, confers resistance to ferroptosis induced by cysteine deprivation. The compound WJ460, which interacts with myoferlin protein, promotes mitophagy and mitochondrial fission and heightens pancreatic cancer cell sensitivity to ferroptosis (Rademaker et al. 2022). Additionally, zalcitabine-induced stress on mitochondrial DNA triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptosis through the stimulator of interferon response CGAMP interactor 1 (STING1, also known as STING or TMEM173) pathway (Li et al. 2021a). STING1 also collaborates with MFN1/2 to enhance mitochondrial fusion during ferroptosis (Li et al. 2021a). These studies shed light on the intricate relationship between mitophagy, mitochondrial dynamics, and ferroptosis, yet the role of specific autophagy receptors in mediating mitophagy and ferroptosis remains to be investigated further.

4.5.5 Reticulophagy

The ER is a cell organelle responsible for making proteins and lipids. When there is an accumulation of unfolded proteins during protein synthesis, the cell activates the "unfolded protein response" (UPR) to prevent damage. Excess UPR can lead to cell death (Oakes and Papa 2015). Reticulophagy is a type of autophagy that helps to remove unnecessary parts of the ER or proteins that the UPR cannot process. Sorafenib, a type of drug, has been shown to limit ferroptosis in liver cancer cells by inducing reticulophagy through the reticulophagy regulator family member 3 (FAM134B) receptor (Liu et al. 2022b). The exact mechanism is still unknown, but it may involve the activation of FAM134B by the protein poly(A) binding protein cytoplasmic 1 (PABPC1) during ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022b). These findings suggest that different types of selective autophagy can play a role in controlling ferroptosis.

4.5.6 GPX4 Degradation

Both CMA and autophagy play a role in the degradation of GPX4, leading to the enhancement of ferroptosis in cancer cells (Yang et al. 2020; Han et al. 2021). The autophagy inducer rapamycin and the ferroptosis inducer RSL3 can suppress MTOR and degrade GPX4, implying that ferroptosis might be regulated by GPX4 degradation through autophagy (Liu et al. 2021d). Exogenous copper leads to an increase in GPX4 ubiquitination, and the formation of GPX4 aggregates through direct binding to the GPX4 protein cysteines at positions 107 and 148. TAX1BP1, or Tax1 binding protein 1, functions as an autophagic receptor that mediates GPX4 degradation and initiates ferroptosis in response to copper stress (Xue et al. 2023). Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) has been discovered as a molecular chaperone that interacts with the CMA cargo receptor LAMP2A, thereby mediating GPX4 degradation during ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2019). Conversely, inhibiting HSP90 stops CMA-induced

ferroptosis in the mouse neuronal cell line HT-22. On the other hand, HSPA5, an ER-associated molecular chaperone, prevents erastin-induced ferroptosis in human pancreatic cancer cell lines by inhibiting GPX4 protein degradation (Zhu et al. 2017). These findings indicate that different HSP family proteins exert diverse molecular chaperone functions in either enhancing or inhibiting GPX4 degradation.

4.5.7 CDH2 Degradation

The role of specific autophagy receptors in ferroptosis is still an unresolved question in the field. However, recent research has shed light on this topic. A study that combined membrane protein screening with functional analyses showed that hippocalcin like 1 (HPCAL1), a calcin-like protein found in the hippocampus, serves as a specific autophagy receptor that promotes ferroptosis in cancer cells (Chen et al. 2022c). It does so by directly mediating the degradation of the cadherin 2 (CDH2) protein but not the degradation of ferritin, SLC40A1, or GPX4. HPCAL1 is not necessary for starvation-induced autophagy or cancer cell apoptosis, and its known role as a Ca²⁺-binding protein is not essential for its role in autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. The study also found that PRKCQ-mediated phosphorylation of Thr149 on HPCAL1 is necessary for its recognition and degradation of CDH2 (Chen et al. 2022c). This discovery provides new insights into the specific role of autophagydependent ferroptosis in cancer therapy.

4.5.8 SLC40A1 Degradation

SLC40A1 is found in cells that store and release iron, such as cells in the lining of the small intestine (enterocytes) and cells in the liver (hepatocytes). Mutations in the SLC40A1 gene have been linked to a type of iron overload disorder called hemochromatosis. This condition is characterized by the buildup of too much iron in the body, which can lead to damage to tissues and organs over time. Hemochromatosis has several forms, each with a different underlying cause, but mutations in the SLC40A1 gene are responsible for about 10% of cases. Autophagic degradation of SLC40A1 by SQSTM1 also increases iron accumulation and ferroptosis (Li et al. 2021c). It is necessary to further evaluate the relationship between autophagy, ferroptosis, and hemochromatosis in the future.

4.5.9 BECN1-Mediated System xc⁻ Inhibition

The multifaceted protein BECN1 plays a crucial role in the regulation of ferroptosis (Kang et al. 2018b). Direct binding of BECN1 to SLC7A11, in response to inhibitors, such as erastin, sulfasalazine, and sorafenib but not GPX4 inhibitors, such as RSL3 and FIN56, results in cysteine deprivation-induced ferroptosis. Phosphorylation of BECN1 at S90 and S93 by AMPK promotes the formation of the

BECN1-SLC7A11 complex, and mutations at these phosphorylation sites prevent ferroptosis. The BECN1 activator, Tat-beclin 1 protein peptide, boosts both autophagy and ferroptosis-induced tumor suppression in mice. However, the mechanism by which AMPK selectively activates BECN1 remains unclear.

The RNA binding protein ELAVL1/HuR can also mediate ferroptosis by promoting autophagy activation through binding to AU-rich elements within the 3'--untranslated region F3 of BECN1 mRNA in human hepatic stellate cells (Zhang et al. 2018). This process may be further enhanced by the exosome-mediated delivery of BECN1 secreted by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. The binding of BECN1 to ubiquitin-specific protease 11 (USP11) in spinal cord ischemia-reperfusion injury further demonstrates BECN1's role in mediating autophagy-dependent ferroptosis (Rong et al. 2021). Overall, BECN1 can regulate ferroptosis by either limiting SLC7A11 activity directly or by activating an autophagy-dependent pathway.

4.5.10 Lysosomal Membrane Permeabilization

The accumulation of iron in the lysosomal lumen can trigger a Fenton response that increases lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP) and ultimately leads to cell death. In contrast, lysosomal ferritin can mitigate oxidative stress. LMP results in the release of lysosomal contents, such as CTSB, CTSD, and iron, which, in turn, increase ROS production and initiate ferroptosis. This process may also be regulated by V-ATPase-mediated selective autophagy (Chen et al. 2022a). Ferroptosis can also be induced by erastin-mediated lysosomal cell death. The signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) regulates this process by inducing CTSB expression, which is required for lysosomal cell death (Gao et al. 2018). However, inhibiting STAT3 pharmacologically (using the cathepsin inhibitor CA-074Me) or genetically limits ferroptosis in cancer cells. In 5-FU-resistant gastric cancer, STAT3 plays a negative role in ferroptosis by binding to the promoters of genes, such as GPX4, SLC7A11, and FTH1, that negatively regulate ferroptosis (Ouyang et al. 2022). These findings suggest that STAT3 has a context-dependent role in ferroptosis, and the receptors and mechanisms involved in mediating STAT3 degradation remain to be investigated.

4.6 Conclusions and Perspectives

Ferroptosis has seen significant advancements in research in recent years (Stockwell et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021c; Chen et al. 2021b). Our perception of ferroptosis and how it is controlled has shifted as it has become known to have close ties to autophagy. Elevated autophagic activity can drive ferroptosis by selectively eliminating antioxidant proteins and cellular components, which raises questions about the molecular and metabolic checkpoints that influence cell survival or death. Ferroptosis and autophagy are complex processes that involve oxidative stress and

membrane structural changes and are regulated by various mechanisms. However, more needs to be understood about the role of selective autophagy in regulating ferroptosis sensitivity.

Developing therapeutic strategies targeting cancer cells that involve autophagy or ferroptosis can be challenging as both processes can occur in normal cells and tissues. Further identification of biomarkers, such as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Zhang et al. 2013), high-mobility group protein 1 (HMGB1) (Wen et al. 2019), and decorin (DCN) (Liu et al. 2021c), is crucial for future clinical studies on ferroptosis. Moreover, gaining insight into the immune properties of ferroptotic cell death is crucial for the development of new immunotherapies in the fight against diseases (Chen et al. 2022c; Liu et al. 2021c, 2021d; Zhang et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2022).

Author Disclosure Statement The authors declare no competing interests.

References

- Ajoolabady A, Aslkhodapasandhokmabad H, Libby P, Tuomilehto J, Lip GYH, Penninger JM, Richardson DR, Tang D, Zhou H, Wang S, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Ren J (2021) Ferritinophagy and ferroptosis in the management of metabolic diseases. Trends Endocrinol Metab 32(7):444–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2021.04.010
- Baba M, Osumi M, Scott SV, Klionsky DJ, Ohsumi Y (1997) Two distinct pathways for targeting proteins from the cytoplasm to the vacuole/lysosome. J Cell Biol 139(7):1687–1695. https://doi. org/10.1083/jcb.139.7.1687
- Bai Y, Meng L, Han L, Jia Y, Zhao Y, Gao H, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D, Dai E (2019) Lipid storage and lipophagy regulates ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 508(4):997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.12.039
- Basit F, van Oppen LM, Schöckel L, Bossenbroek HM, van Emst-de Vries SE, Hermeling JC, Grefte S, Kopitz C, Heroult M, Hgm Willems P, Koopman WJ (2017) Mitochondrial complex I inhibition triggers a mitophagy-dependent ROS increase leading to necroptosis and ferroptosis in melanoma cells. Cell Death Dis 8(3):e2716. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.133
- Bernard A, Klionsky DJ (2015) Toward an understanding of autophagosome-lysosome fusion: the unsuspected role of ATG14. Autophagy 11(4):583–584. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627. 2015.1029220
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021a) Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 18(5):280–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang DL (2021b) Ferroptosis in infection, inflammation, and immunity. J Exp Med 218(6):e20210518. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20210518
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021c) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen F, Kang R, Liu J, Tang D (2022a) The V-ATPases in cancer and cell death. Cancer Gene Ther 29:1529–1541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-022-00477-y
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022b) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Chen X, Song X, Li J, Zhang R, Yu C, Zhou Z, Liu J, Liao S, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022c) Identification of HPCAL1 as a specific autophagy receptor involved in ferroptosis. Autophagy 19:54. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2059170

- Chen F, Cai X, Kang R, Liu J, Tang D (2023) Autophagy-dependent Ferroptosis in cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2022.0202
- Chi C, Leonard A, Knight WE, Beussman KM, Zhao Y, Cao Y, Londono P, Aune E, Trembley MA, Small EM, Jeong MY, Walker LA, Xu H, Sniadecki NJ, Taylor MR, Buttrick PM, Song K (2019) LAMP-2B regulates human cardiomyocyte function by mediating autophagosomelysosome fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(2):556–565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1808618116
- Crielaard BJ, Lammers T, Rivella S (2017) Targeting iron metabolism in drug discovery and delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 16(6):400–423. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2016.248
- Dai C, Chen X, Li J, Comish P, Kang R, Tang D (2020a) Transcription factors in Ferroptotic cell death. Cancer Gene Therapy 27:645. https://doi.org/10.1021/es026208x
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020b) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110
- Dai E, Zhang W, Cong D, Kang R, Wang J, Tang D (2020c) AIFM2 blocks ferroptosis independent of ubiquinol metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 523(4):966–971. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2020.01.066
- Dikic I, Elazar Z (2018) Mechanism and medical implications of mammalian autophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(6):349–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0003-4
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Dixon SJ, Winter GE, Musavi LS, Lee ED, Snijder B, Rebsamen M, Superti-Furga G, Stockwell BR (2015) Human haploid cell genetics reveals roles for lipid metabolism genes in nonapoptotic cell death. ACS Chem Biol 10(7):1604–1609. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00245
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, Alnemri ES, Altucci L, Amelio I, Andrews DW, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Antonov AV, Arama E, Baehrecke EH, Barlev NA, Bazan NG, Bernassola F, Bertrand MJM, Bianchi K, Blagosklonny MV, Blomgren K, Borner C, Boya P, Brenner C, Campanella M, Candi E, Carmona-Gutierrez D, Cecconi F, Chan FK, Chandel NS, Cheng EH, Chipuk JE, Cidlowski JA, Ciechanover A, Cohen GM, Conrad M, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Czabotar PE, D'Angiolella V, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, De Laurenzi V, De Maria R, Debatin KM, DeBerardinis RJ, Deshmukh M, Di Daniele N, Di Virgilio F, Dixit VM, Dixon SJ, Duckett CS, Dynlacht BD, El-Deiry WS, Elrod JW, Fimia GM, Fulda S, Garcia-Saez AJ, Garg AD, Garrido C, Gavathiotis E, Golstein P, Gottlieb E, Green DR, Greene LA, Gronemeyer H, Gross A, Hajnoczky G, Hardwick JM, Harris IS, Hengartner MO, Hetz C, Ichijo H, Jaattela M, Joseph B, Jost PJ, Juin PP, Kaiser WJ, Karin M, Kaufmann T, Kepp O, Kimchi A, Kitsis RN, Klionsky DJ, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lee SW, Lemasters JJ, Levine B, Linkermann A, Lipton SA, Lockshin RA, Lopez-Otin C, Lowe SW, Luedde T, Lugli E, MacFarlane M, Madeo F, Malewicz M, Malorni W, Manic G, Marine JC, Martin SJ, Martinou JC, Medema JP, Mehlen P, Meier P, Melino S, Miao EA, Molkentin JD, Moll UM, Munoz-Pinedo C, Nagata S, Nunez G, Oberst A, Oren M, Overholtzer M, Pagano M, Panaretakis T, Pasparakis M, Penninger JM, Pereira DM, Pervaiz S, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Pinton P, Prehn JHM, Puthalakath H, Rabinovich GA, Rehm M, Rizzuto R, Rodrigues CMP, Rubinsztein DC, Rudel T, Ryan KM, Sayan E, Scorrano L, Shao F, Shi Y, Silke J, Simon HU, Sistigu A, Stockwell BR, Strasser A, Szabadkai G, Tait SWG, Tang D, Tavernarakis N, Thorburn A, Tsujimoto Y, Turk B, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Vander Heiden MG,

Villunger A, Virgin HW, Vousden KH, Vucic D, Wagner EF, Walczak H, Wallach D, Wang Y, Wells JA, Wood W, Yuan J, Zakeri Z, Zhivotovsky B, Zitvogel L, Melino G, Kroemer G (2018) Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2018. Cell Death Differ 25(3):486–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4

- Gao H, Bai Y, Jia Y, Zhao Y, Kang R, Tang D, Dai E (2018) Ferroptosis is a lysosomal cell death process. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503(3):1550–1556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2018.07.078
- Han L, Bai L, Fang X, Liu J, Kang R, Zhou D, Tang D, Dai E (2021) SMG9 drives ferroptosis by directly inhibiting GPX4 degradation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 567:92–98. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.06.038
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Houessinon A, Francois C, Sauzay C, Louandre C, Mongelard G, Godin C, Bodeau S, Takahashi S, Saidak Z, Gutierrez L, Regimbeau JM, Barget N, Barbare JC, Ganne N, Chauffert B, Coriat R, Galmiche A (2016) Metallothionein-1 as a biomarker of altered redox metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma cells exposed to sorafenib. Mol Cancer 15(1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12943-016-0526-2
- Jiao H, Jiang D, Hu X, Du W, Ji L, Yang Y, Li X, Sho T, Wang X, Li Y, Wu YT, Wei YH, Hu X, Yu L (2021) Mitocytosis, a migrasome-mediated mitochondrial quality-control process. Cell 184(11):2896–2910.e2813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.04.027
- Kang R, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT, Tang D (2011) The Beclin 1 network regulates autophagy and apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 18(4):571–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2010.191
- Kang R, Zeng L, Zhu S, Xie Y, Liu J, Wen Q, Cao L, Xie M, Ran Q, Kroemer G, Wang H, Billiar TR, Jiang J, Tang D (2018a) Lipid peroxidation drives Gasdermin D-mediated Pyroptosis in lethal Polymicrobial sepsis. Cell Host Microbe 24(1):97–108e104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chom.2018.05.009
- Kang R, Zhu S, Zeh HJ, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2018b) BECN1 is a new driver of ferroptosis. Autophagy 14(12):2173–2175. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2018.1513758
- Kaushik S, Cuervo AM (2018) The coming of age of chaperone-mediated autophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(6):365–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0001-6
- Kremer DM, Nelson BS, Lin L, Yarosz EL, Halbrook CJ, Kerk SA, Sajjakulnukit P, Myers A, Thurston G, Hou SW, Carpenter ES, Andren AC, Nwosu ZC, Cusmano N, Wisner S, Mbah NE, Shan M, Das NK, Magnuson B, Little AC, Savani MR, Ramos J, Gao T, Sastra SA, Palermo CF, Badgley MA, Zhang L, Asara JM, McBrayer SK, di Magliano MP, Crawford HC, Shah YM, Olive KP, Lyssiotis CA (2021) GOT1 inhibition promotes pancreatic cancer cell death by ferroptosis. Nat Commun 12(1):4860. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24859-2
- Kriel J, Loos B (2019) The good, the bad and the autophagosome: exploring unanswered questions of autophagy-dependent cell death. Cell Death Differ 26:640. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-018-0267-4
- Kroemer G, Marino G, Levine B (2010) Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 40(2):280–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023
- Kuang F, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2020) Oxidative damage and antioxidant defense in Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:586578. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.586578
- Lahiri V, Metur SP, Hu Z, Song X, Mari M, Hawkins WD, Bhattarai J, Delorme-Axford E, Reggiori F, Tang D, Dengjel J, Klionsky DJ (2021) Post-transcriptional regulation of ATG1 is a critical node that modulates autophagy during distinct nutrient stresses. Autophagy 18:1694. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.1997305
- Lazarou M, Sliter DA, Kane LA, Sarraf SA, Wang C, Burman JL, Sideris DP, Fogel AI, Youle RJ (2015) The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy. Nature 524(7565):309–314. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14893

- Lee J, You JH, Roh JL (2022) Poly(rC)-binding protein 1 represses ferritinophagy-mediated ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. Redox Biol 51:102276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox. 2022.102276
- Li C, Zhang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021a) Mitochondrial DNA stress triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptotic death. Autophagy 17(4):948–960. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2020.1739447
- Li J, Chen X, Kang R, Zeh H, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021b) Regulation and function of autophagy in pancreatic cancer. Autophagy 17(11):3275–3296. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020. 1847462
- Li J, Liu J, Xu Y, Wu R, Chen X, Song X, Zeh H, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Wang X, Tang D (2021c) Tumor heterogeneity in autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy 17(11):3361–3374. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.1872241
- Lin R, Zhang Z, Chen L, Zhou Y, Zou P, Feng C, Wang L, Liang G (2016) Dihydroartemisinin (DHA) induces ferroptosis and causes cell cycle arrest in head and neck carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett 381(1):165–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.07.033
- Lin Z, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021) Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Adv Biol (Weinh) 5(8):e2100396. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.202100396
- Lin Z, Liu J, Long F, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D, Yang M (2022) The lipid flippase SLC47A1 blocks metabolic vulnerability to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):7965. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-35707-2
- Liu J, Yang M, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2019) Autophagic degradation of the circadian clock regulator promotes ferroptosis. Autophagy 15(11):2033–2035. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2019.1659623
- Liu J, Kuang F, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ, Kang R, Tang D (2020a) Autophagy-dependent Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Cell Chem Biol 27(4):420–435. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chembiol.2020.02.005
- Liu Y, Wang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2020b) The circadian clock protects against ferroptosisinduced sterile inflammation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 525(3):620–625. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.02.142
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021a) ESCRT-III-mediated membrane repair in cell death and tumor resistance. Cancer Gene Ther 28(1–2):1–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-020-0200-0
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021b) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 289:7038. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Liu J, Zhu S, Zeng L, Li J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Jiang J, Tang D, Kang R (2021c) DCN released from ferroptotic cells ignites AGER-dependent immune responses. Autophagy 18: 2036. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.2008692
- Liu Y, Wang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021d) Interplay between MTOR and GPX4 signaling modulates autophagy-dependent ferroptotic cancer cell death. Cancer Gene Ther 28(1–2): 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-020-0182-y
- Liu J, Liu Y, Wang Y, Li C, Xie Y, Klionsky DJ, Kang R, Tang D (2022a) TMEM164 is a new determinant of autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy 19:945. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2022.2111635
- Liu Z, Ma C, Wang Q, Yang H, Lu Z, Bi T, Xu Z, Li T, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Liu J, Wei X, Li J (2022b) Targeting FAM134B-mediated reticulophagy activates sorafenib-induced ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 589:247–253. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2021.12.019
- Maan M, Peters JM, Dutta M, Patterson AD (2018) Lipid metabolism and lipophagy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 504(3):582–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.02.097
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, Ward CC, Cho K, Patti GJ, Nomura DK, Olzmann JA, Dixon SJ (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a Ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(3):420–432e429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016

- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021a) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021b) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593:586. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mishima E, Ito J, Wu Z, Nakamura T, Wahida A, Doll S, Tonnus W, Nepachalovich P, Eggenhofer E, Aldrovandi M, Henkelmann B, Yamada KI, Wanninger J, Zilka O, Sato E, Feederle R, Hass D, Maida A, Mourao ASD, Linkermann A, Geissler EK, Nakagawa K, Abe T, Fedorova M, Proneth B, Pratt DA, Conrad M (2022) A non-canonical vitamin K cycle is a potent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 608(7924):778–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05022-3
- Mizushima N (2010) The role of the Atg1/ULK1 complex in autophagy regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 22(2):132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.12.004
- Nakatogawa H (2013) Two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems that mediate membrane formation during autophagy. Essays Biochem 55:39–50. https://doi.org/10.1042/bse0550039
- Oakes SA, Papa FR (2015) The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in human pathology. Annu Rev Pathol 10:173–194. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-012513-104649
- Ouyang S, Li H, Lou L, Huang Q, Zhang Z, Mo J, Li M, Lu J, Zhu K, Chu Y, Ding W, Zhu J, Lin Z, Zhong L, Wang J, Yue P, Turkson J, Liu P, Wang Y, Zhang X (2022) Inhibition of STAT3ferroptosis negative regulatory axis suppresses tumor growth and alleviates chemoresistance in gastric cancer. Redox Biol 52:102317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102317
- Rademaker G, Boumahd Y, Peiffer R, Anania S, Wissocq T, Liegeois M, Luis G, Sounni NE, Agirman F, Maloujahmoum N, De Tullio P, Thiry M, Bellahcene A, Castronovo V, Peulen O (2022) Myoferlin targeting triggers mitophagy and primes ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Redox Biol 53:102324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102324
- Rami A, Fekadu J, Rawashdeh O (2017) The hippocampal Autophagic machinery is depressed in the absence of the circadian clock protein PER1 that may Lead to vulnerability during cerebral ischemia. Curr Neurovasc Res 14(3):207–214. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1567202614666170619083239
- Rogov VV, Stolz A, Ravichandran AC, Rios-Szwed DO, Suzuki H, Kniss A, Löhr F, Wakatsuki S, Dötsch V, Dikic I, Dobson RC, McEwan DG (2017) Structural and functional analysis of the GABARAP interaction motif (GIM). EMBO Rep 18(8):1382–1396. https://doi.org/10.15252/ embr.201643587
- Rong Y, Fan J, Ji C, Wang Z, Ge X, Wang J, Ye W, Yin G, Cai W, Liu W (2021) USP11 regulates autophagy-dependent ferroptosis after spinal cord ischemia-reperfusion injury by deubiquitinating Beclin 1. Cell Death Differ 29:1164. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00907-8
- Schaaf MB, Keulers TG, Vooijs MA, Rouschop KM (2016) LC3/GABARAP family proteins: autophagy-(un)related functions. FASEB J 30(12):3961–3978. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj. 201600698R
- Scherz-Shouval R, Shvets E, Fass E, Shorer H, Gil L, Elazar Z (2007) Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. EMBO J 26(7): 1749–1760. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601623
- Scherz-Shouval R, Shvets E, Fass E, Shorer H, Gil L, Elazar Z (2019) Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. EMBO J 38(10). https:// doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019101812
- Schroeder B, Schulze RJ, Weller SG, Sletten AC, Casey CA, McNiven MA (2015) The small GTPase Rab7 as a central regulator of hepatocellular lipophagy. Hepatology 61(6):1896–1907. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.27667

- Shen Q, Shi Y, Liu J, Su H, Huang J, Zhang Y, Peng C, Zhou T, Sun Q, Wan W, Liu W (2021) Acetylation of STX17 (syntaxin 17) controls autophagosome maturation. Autophagy 17(5): 1157–1169. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1752471
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, Fulda S, Gascon S, Hatzios SK, Kagan VE, Noel K, Jiang X, Linkermann A, Murphy ME, Overholtzer M, Oyagi A, Pagnussat GC, Park J, Ran Q, Rosenfeld CS, Salnikow K, Tang D, Torti FM, Torti SV, Toyokuni S, Woerpel KA, Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171(2):273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.09.021
- Sun X, Niu X, Chen R, He W, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016a) Metallothionein-1G facilitates sorafenib resistance through inhibition of ferroptosis. Hepatology 64(2):488–500. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.28574
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016b) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28251
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020) Ferroptosis. Curr Biol 30:R1–R6. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.issn. 1001-9391.2019.10.002
- Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G (2019) The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res 29(5):347–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tian X, Zheng P, Zhou C, Wang X, Ma H, Ma W, Zhou X, Teng J, Chen J (2020) DIPK2A promotes STX17- and VAMP7-mediated autophagosome-lysosome fusion by binding to VAMP7B. Autophagy 16(5):797–810. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2019.1637199
- Tian X, Teng J, Chen J (2021) New insights regarding SNARE proteins in autophagosomelysosome fusion. Autophagy 17(10):2680–2688. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020. 1823124
- Torti SV, Manz DH, Paul BT, Blanchette-Farra N, Torti FM (2018) Iron and cancer. Annu Rev Nutr 38:97–125. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-082117-051732
- Vargas JNS, Hamasaki M, Kawabata T, Youle RJ, Yoshimori T (2022) The mechanisms and roles of selective autophagy in mammals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 24:167. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41580-022-00542-2
- Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Dhruv HD, Gill S, Eichhoff OM, Seashore-Ludlow B, Kaffenberger SD, Eaton JK, Shimada K, Aguirre AJ, Viswanathan SR, Chattopadhyay S, Tamayo P, Yang WS, Rees MG, Chen S, Boskovic ZV, Javaid S, Huang C, Wu X, Tseng YY, Roider EM, Gao D, Cleary JM, Wolpin BM, Mesirov JP, Haber DA, Engelman JA, Boehm JS, Kotz JD, Hon CS, Chen Y, Hahn WC, Levesque MP, Doench JG, Berens ME, Shamji AF, Clemons PA, Stockwell BR, Schreiber SL (2017) Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. Nature 547(7664):453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23007
- Wang L, Klionsky DJ, Shen HM (2022) The emerging mechanisms and functions of microautophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 24:186. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-022-00529-z
- Wen Q, Liu J, Kang R, Zhou B, Tang D (2019) The release and activity of HMGB1 in ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 510(2):278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.01.090
- Wittwer MB, Zur AA, Khuri N, Kido Y, Kosaka A, Zhang X, Morrissey KM, Sali A, Huang Y, Giacomini KM (2013) Discovery of potent, selective multidrug and toxin extrusion transporter 1 (MATE1, SLC47A1) inhibitors through prescription drug profiling and computational modeling. J Med Chem 56(3):781–795. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm301302s
- Wu Z, Geng Y, Lu X, Shi Y, Wu G, Zhang M, Shan B, Pan H, Yuan J (2019) Chaperone-mediated autophagy is involved in the execution of ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(8): 2996–3005. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1819728116
- Xie Y, Kang R, Sun X, Zhong M, Huang J, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2015) Posttranslational modification of autophagy-related proteins in macroautophagy. Autophagy 11(1):28–45. https://doi.org/10.4161/15548627.2014.984267

- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xie Y, Li J, Kang R, Tang D (2020a) Interplay between lipid metabolism and autophagy. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:431. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00431
- Xie Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2020b) Mitophagy receptors in tumor biology. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:594203. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.594203
- Xie Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021) Mitophagy in pancreatic cancer. Front. Oncologia 11:616079. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.616079
- Xue Q, Yan D, Chen X, Li X, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Chen X, Tang D, Liu J (2023) Copper-dependent autophagic degradation of GPX4 drives ferroptosis. Autophagy 19:1982. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2023.2165323
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang M, Chen P, Liu J, Zhu S, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2019) Clockophagy is a novel selective autophagy process favoring ferroptosis. Sci Adv 5(7): eaaw2238. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw2238
- Yang L, Chen X, Yang Q, Chen J, Huang Q, Yao L, Yan D, Wu J, Zhang P, Tang D, Zhong N, Liu J (2020) Broad Spectrum Deubiquitinase inhibition induces both apoptosis and Ferroptosis in cancer cells. Front Oncol 10:949. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00949
- Yang L, Ye F, Liu J, Klionsky DJ, Tang D, Kang R (2022) Extracellular SQSTM1 exacerbates acute pancreatitis by activating autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy 19:1733. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2152209
- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, Belter JG, Motta L, Richardson A, Prolla TA (2003) The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. Free Radic Biol Med 34(4):496–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0891-5849(02)01360-6
- Yu F, Zhang Q, Liu H, Liu J, Yang S, Luo X, Liu W, Zheng H, Liu Q, Cui Y, Chen G, Li Y, Huang X, Yan X, Zhou J, Chen Q (2022) Dynamic O-GlcNAcylation coordinates ferritinophagy and mitophagy to activate ferroptosis. Cell Discovery 8(1):40. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41421-022-00390-6
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zhang Q, Kang R, Zeh HJ 3rd, Lotze MT, Tang D (2013) DAMPs and autophagy: cellular adaptation to injury and unscheduled cell death. Autophagy 9(4):451–458. https://doi.org/10. 4161/auto.23691
- Zhang Z, Yao Z, Wang L, Ding H, Shao J, Chen A, Zhang F, Zheng S (2018) Activation of ferritinophagy is required for the RNA-binding protein ELAVL1/HuR to regulate ferroptosis in hepatic stellate cells. Autophagy 14(12):2083–2103. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2018. 1503146
- Zhang Z, Guo M, Li Y, Shen M, Kong D, Shao J, Ding H, Tan S, Chen A, Zhang F, Zheng S (2020) RNA-binding protein ZFP36/TTP protects against ferroptosis by regulating autophagy signaling pathway in hepatic stellate cells. Autophagy 16(8):1482–1505. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2019.1687985
- Zhang R, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2022) Ion channels and transporters in autophagy. Autophagy 18(1):4–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.1885147
- Zhou B, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Tang D (2020) Ferroptosis is a type of autophagydependent cell death. Semin Cancer Biol 66:89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019. 03.002

- Zhou Y, Tao L, Zhou X, Zuo Z, Gong J, Liu X, Zhou Y, Liu C, Sang N, Liu H, Zou J, Gou K, Yang X, Zhao Y (2021) DHODH and cancer: promising prospects to be explored. Cancer Metab 9(1):22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40170-021-00250-z
- Zhu S, Zhang Q, Sun X, Zeh HJ 3rd, Lotze MT, Kang R, Tang D (2017) HSPA5 regulates Ferroptotic cell death in cancer cells. Cancer Res 77(8):2064–2077. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.can-16-1979
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6



5

Heat Shock Proteins and HSF1 in Ferroptosis

Hu Tang, Fangquan Chen, Xiutao Cai, Limin Xiang, Daolin Tang, Rui Kang, and Jiao Liu

Abstract

When cells are exposed to various stressors, such as heat, toxins, or oxidative stress, heat shock transcription factor 1 (HSF1) becomes activated and triggers the expression of genes that encode heat shock proteins (HSPs), which play important roles in a variety of cellular processes, including protein folding, transport, and degradation, as well as protection against cell damage and death. Ferroptosis is a non-apoptotic form of cell death that is triggered by iron-dependent lipid peroxidation. This process involves imbalanced redox systems, iron accumulation, and lipid peroxidation, which can impact various intracellular organelles and proteins. As a result, maintaining the stability of intracellular proteins is important for regulating ferroptosis sensitivity. In this chapter, we summarized the mechanisms that regulate protein homeostasis and described the role of HSF1-mediated expression of HSPs in ferroptosis. A better understanding of the link between HSPs and ferroptosis may pave the way for the development of novel strategies in the treatment of various diseases.

H. Tang \cdot F. Chen \cdot X. Cai \cdot L. Xiang \cdot J. Liu (\boxtimes)

DAMP Laboratory, Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China e-mail: 2018683073@gzhmu.edu.cn

D. Tang · R. Kang (⊠) Department of Surgery, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: rui.kang@utsouthwestern.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_5

5.1 Introduction

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are a group of highly conserved proteins found in plants, fungi, insects, and mammals (Tong et al. 2022). They play a crucial role in various cellular processes and assist in intracellular protein folding, processing, and translocation to maintain protein stability and prevent protein aggregation (Tutar and Tutar 2010; Hartl et al. 2011). HSPs can be divided into different categories based on their molecular weight, including small HSPs, HSP40, HSP60, HSP70, HSP90, and large HSPs, with heat shock transcription factor 1 (HSF1) serving as a key regulator of gene transcription in HSPs.

In response to stressors, such as oxidative damage, thermal damage, hypoxia, and accumulation of misfolded proteins, HSPs are activated in a transcription-dependent manner to maintain protein homeostasis in the cytoplasm, endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, and other cellular regions (Richter et al. 2010). They help refold misfolded proteins, but if they are unable to do so, the misfolded proteins are degraded through the proteasome pathway to alleviate proteotoxic stress. However, if misfolded proteins accumulate, they tend to initiate corresponding signaling pathways that can lead to cell death. The outcome depends on the interplay between complex signaling pathways, the type, intensity, and duration of the stress.

According to the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death, there are two categories of cell death: accidental cell death (ACD) and regulated cell death (RCD). ACD is caused by physical, chemical, or mechanical conditions, while RCD depends on specific molecular mechanisms (Galluzzi et al. 2018; Tang et al. 2021a). Ferroptosis is a type of non-apoptotic RCD that is caused by iron-dependent lipid peroxidation and subsequent plasma membrane damage (Tang and Kroemer 2020). It involves a complex interplay of regulatory factors (Chen et al. 2021e).

In this chapter, we discuss how HSPs regulate ferroptosis from a functional perspective, with the aim of providing new insights into the mechanism and defense of ferroptosis.

5.2 HSPs in Protein Homeostasis

HSPs are commonly referred to as molecular chaperones due to their original perception of providing protective functions within the cell. They aid in the refolding of proteins and the restoration of protein function when the cell is exposed to stressors, such as high temperatures, low oxygen levels, heavy metals, drugs, or other agents that cause protein denaturation. Different HSPs are distributed in various organelles and contribute to local protein homeostasis in unique ways. HSPs primarily maintain protein homeostasis through the heat shock response (HSR, for cytoplasmic protein homeostasis), the unfolded protein response (UPR, for endoplasmic reticulum [ER] protein homeostasis), and the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (mtUPR, for mitochondrial protein homeostasis). In this section, we will outline the process of these three mechanisms and their involvement with HSPs.

5.2.1 Heat Shock Response

HSR was first observed in 1962 when Italian geneticists discovered that Drosophila larvae chromosomes puffed up upon exposure to high temperatures (Ritossa 1996). This puff was taken as a sign of gene expression and the rapid gene transcription was seen to occur just minutes after the heat exposure. A growing number of studies later showed that HSPs were predominantly induced during HSR (Fig. 5.1).

HSR not only increases the expression of protective HSPs but also leads to the downregulation of other protein expression (Tissières et al. 1974; Lewis et al. 1975;



Fig. 5.1 Mechanism of activation of the heat shock response. The heat shock response is triggered by exposure to temperature changes, pH imbalances, elevated levels of ROS, and toxin accumulation. TGM2 catalyzes the trimerization and translocation of HSF1 to the nucleus. Once in the nucleus, HSF1 is phosphorylated and deacetylated, allowing it to bind to DNA and activate the transcription of target genes. HSPA8 can bind to HSF1 to prevent transactivation, while sumoylation of HSF1 recruits repressors. Over time, HSF1 loses its transcriptional activity and dissociates from DNA, leading to its ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome. On the other hand, EP300 stabilizes HSF1 through acetylation, and HSF1 can then re-bind to HSP40 and HSPA8, maintaining an inactive state

Spradling et al. 1977; Vihervaara et al. 2018). This helps to restore the cell to homeostasis under proteotoxic conditions. HSR can be induced not just by high temperatures but also by various exogenous and endogenous stimuli, including cold stress and changes in pH (Colinet et al. 2010; Triandafillou et al. 2020; Petronini et al. 1995).

HSF1 is the main regulatory molecule of HSR (Pincus et al. 2018; Solís et al. 2018). In the absence of stress, HSF1 is maintained in an inactive monomeric form by molecular chaperones such as HSP70 and HSP40. When a proteotoxic stress occurs, the molecular chaperones are recruited to the misfolded protein, HSF1 is released and travels to the nucleus in the presence of transglutaminase 2 (TGM2) to form a homotrimer that binds to the heat shock element (HSE) and induces transcription of molecular chaperones and protein degradation-associated genes (Kmiecik and Mayer 2022).

To terminate HSR when the cells return to homeostasis, proper mechanisms are needed. During HSR recovery, the heat shock protein family A member 8 (HSPA8) binds to the trans-activation domain of HSF1 to initially attenuate HSR, and then high concentrations of HSPA8 induce the dissociation of HSF1 from DNA, leading to complete termination of HSR. The dissociated monomeric form of HSF1 is then transported to the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) for degradation (Kmiecik et al. 2020; Connell et al. 2001).

HSP90AA1 (also known as HSP90) was also found to inhibit the transcriptional activity of HSF1 (Zou et al. 1998). These findings suggest that HSR is a crucial mechanism for maintaining cellular protein homeostasis and has negative feedback regulation to prevent excessive activation. Many of the genes regulated during HSR are not regulated by the HSF family, implying that the process also involves non-HSF-dependent mechanisms. For example, serum response factor (SRF) was found to rapidly mediate cytoskeletal gene expression in HSR of mouse fibroblasts, a process that does not require the involvement of the HSF family (Mahat et al. 2016).

5.2.2 Unfolded Protein Response

The ER is a central organelle that plays a crucial role in protein synthesis, folding, transport, and quality control (Kohli et al. 2021). Unlike the HSR, which reacts to proteotoxicity in the cytoplasm, the ER has a separate mechanism for maintaining protein homeostasis that involves molecular chaperones. The accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER can result in ER stress, which is triggered by various factors, such as hypoxia, pH acidification, nutrient deficiencies, and calcium ion disruption (Kohli et al. 2021; Chen and Cubillos-Ruiz 2021). This stress activates an UPR to restore ER homeostasis.

One of the important molecular chaperones in the ER is heat shock protein family A member 5 (HSPA5), also known as 78-kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78) or binding immunoglobulin protein (BIP). HSPA5 is a member of the HSP70 family and has a nucleotide-binding domain (NBD) with ATPase activity and a substrate binding domain (SBD) that binds client proteins and hydrolyzes ATP to ADP with the assistance of HSP40 (Pobre et al. 2019). HSPA5 helps ensure proper protein folding and transport in the ER, and in some cases, transports misfolded proteins to the ER membrane for degradation by the proteasome pathway (Kim et al. 2021; Ibrahim et al. 2019). The ER also has an ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD) mechanism that degrades proteins, whether misfolded or not, via synoviolin 1 (SYVN1)-mediated recognition and reverse transfer (Wei et al. 2018).

In addition to its chaperone role, HSPA5 also acts as a buffer for calcium ions in the ER to maintain calcium homeostasis (Prins and Michalak 2011). There is growing evidence that HSPA5 can migrate to the cell surface, where it functions as a receptor or binds to ligands (Van Krieken et al. 2021). For example, isthmin 1 (ISM1) regulates lung homeostasis by controlling alveolar macrophage populations and functional phenotypes through HSPA5-mediated apoptosis on the cell surface (Lam et al. 2022).

Three transmembrane proteins in the ER serve as pressure sensors for ER stress: activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 3 (EIF2AK3, also known as PERK), and endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus signaling 1 (ERN1, also known as IRE1 α) (Hetz et al. 2020). When ER protein levels are stable, HSPA5 is associated with these three sensors to keep them in an inactive state. During ER stress, when HSPA5 has a higher affinity for unfolded or misfolded proteins, it dissociates from the sensors, activating the UPR (Wang et al. 2009; Walter and Ron 2011). The UPR is a conserved adaptive mechanism that has three branches to handle imbalances in protein homeostasis in the ER (Fig. 5.2) (Braakman and Bulleid 2011).

ERN1 functions as an ER transmembrane protein with both a cytoplasmic kinase structure and an RNase structural domain (Hetz and Glimcher 2009). Upon UPR activation, ERN1 oligomerizes and autophosphorylates, leading to the splicing of a 26-nucleotide fragment of X-box-binding protein 1 (XBP1) mRNA in the cytoplasm (Yoshida et al. 2001). The spliced XBP1 encodes a transcriptionally active X-box-binding protein, while unspliced XBP1 encodes a less active protein (Chen and Cubillos-Ruiz 2021). The spliced XBP1 induces HSPs and ERAD-related proteins (Calfon et al. 2002). The RNase domain of ERN1 also regulates protein synthesis in the ER through the regulated IRE1 α -dependent decay pathway and regulates inflammation and cell survival through signaling pathways like nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Hollien and Weissman 2006; Kang et al. 2022; Sozen et al. 2022; Liu et al. 2020a).

EIF2AK3 is a serine-threonine kinase that reduces protein synthesis by phosphorylating eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A (EIF2A), inhibiting mRNA translation (Harding et al. 1999). The phosphorylation of EIF2A leads to the production of activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), which regulates the expression of HSPs, genes involved in cell metabolism and cell death, and the DNA damage inducible transcript 3 (DDIT3, also known as CHOP) (Liu et al. 2015).

ATF6 translocates to the Golgi during UPR and is cleaved by membrane-bound transcription factor peptidase site 1 (MBTPS1, also known as S1P) and membranebound transcription factor peptidase site 2 (MBTPS2, also known as S2P), releasing



Fig. 5.2 The unfolded protein response in the endoplasmic reticulum. Increased levels of misfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum trigger endoplasmic reticulum stress, leading to an unfolded protein response (UPR). The endoplasmic reticulum chaperone HSPA5 binds tightly to misfolded proteins, causing it to dissociate from the endoplasmic reticulum transmembrane sensors (ATF6, ERN1, and EIF2AK3) and activating them. HSPA5 helps to refold the misfolded protein, and if this is not possible, the protein is degraded by the proteasome through ERAD. Each of the three sensors activates downstream signaling pathways in its own unique way

the N-terminal portion of ATF6 (p50). The p50 enters the nucleus and induces the expression of HSPs and UPR-related genes (Haze et al. 1999; Hillary and FitzGerald 2018).

HSPA5 and serpin family H member 1 (SERPINH1, also known as HSP47) both play a role in regulating UPR activation. SERPINH1 binds to activate ERN1, enhancing XBP1 mRNA splicing and UPR-related gene transcription (Sepulveda et al. 2018). HSPA5 has a high affinity for misfolded proteins, and when misfolded proteins increase, SERPINH1 can bind to ERN1 to accelerate activation and enhance the UPR process. DnaJ heat shock protein family member B9 (DNAJB9), a co-chaperone of HSPA5, enhances ATP hydrolysis and HSPA5's binding efficiency to ERN1, leading to ERN1 inactivation. XBP1 also transcribes DNAJB9, making ERN1-DNAJB9 a negative feedback mechanism (Lee et al. 2003).

Other ER chaperones also play critical roles in maintaining protein homeostasis. For instance, transmembrane proteins like calnexin (CANX) and its soluble form, calreticulin (CALR), located in the ER, ensure proper folding of glycoproteins. N-linked glycoproteins are modified in the ER by the addition of one or more precursor glycans (Kozlov and Gehring 2020). Following the sequential cleavage of the two terminal glucose residues by glucosidases I and II, the peptide chain interacts with CANX/CALR. If the protein is still misfolded, it undergoes re-glycosylation and binding to CANX/CALR in a process known as the CANX/ CALR folding cycle (Kohli et al. 2021). If the protein fails to fold correctly, it is degraded by ERAD. Additionally, CANX and CALR also regulate ER calcium levels (Prins and Michalak 2011). HSP90B1, also called 94-kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP94), is a member of the HSP90 family and contributes to calcium buffering in the ER, directing misfolded proteins to ERAD (Christianson et al. 2008; Eletto et al. 2010; Marzec et al. 2012). DnaJ heat shock protein family member C3 (DNAJC3), a member of the HSP40 family and localized in the ER, binds to the N-terminus of misfolded proteins to help refold them by interacting with HSPA5 through its J structural domain (Rutkowski et al. 2007; Oyadomari et al. 2006). DNAJC3 also directly suppresses EIF2AK3 activation, restoring protein synthesis and allowing the ER to return to homeostasis during the UPR (Oyadomari et al. 2006). Thus, the UPR of the ER and the protein folding and degradation mediated by HSPs are crucial for maintaining protein homeostasis in the ER.

5.2.3 Mitochondrial Unfolded Protein Response

Mitochondria are membrane-bound organelles commonly found in eukaryotes, with a primary function of producing ATP through respiration, as well as regulating cellular metabolism and signaling (Attardi and Schatz 1988; Spinelli and Haigis 2018; Zhang et al. 2018a). These organelles also have robust mechanisms to maintain protein homeostasis. The mtUPR regulates the mitochondrial protein input, folding, and quality control (Pickles et al. 2018). This response is often considered to be a transcriptional one, which increases the expression of mitochondrial molecular chaperones in response to an excess of misfolded proteins (Martinus et al. 1996; Bahr et al. 2022).

Activating transcription factor 5 (ATF5) plays a crucial role in the regulation of the mtUPR. Under non-stress conditions, ATF5 is transported to the mitochondria via the TIM-TOM transporter and degraded by the lon peptidase 1 (LONP1) protease. However, under stress conditions, the pathway of ATF5 into the mitochondria is blocked, and it accumulates in the cytoplasm, eventually translocating to the nucleus to induce the transcription of mitochondrial chaperones, proteases, and respiration-related genes (Fiorese and Haynes 2017; Rath et al. 2018).

The accumulation of unfolded proteins in the intermembrane space of mitochondria (ISM) results in an increased accumulation of reactive oxygen species

(ROS), which activates the AKT pathway, leading to the activation of estrogen receptor 1 (ESR1). ESR1 then enters the nucleus to induce the transcription of nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF1) and HtrA serine peptidase 2 (HTRA2) (Papa and Germain 2011). NRF1 interacts with sirtuin 7 (SIRT7) to inhibit the transcription of the translational machinery portion of the mitochondria, thereby reducing mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative metabolism (Mohrin et al. 2015).

In the mitochondrial matrix, the accumulation of unfolded proteins activates eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 2 (EIF2AK2, also known as PKR) and further activates AP-1 transcription factor subunit (JUN) via the mitogenactivated protein kinase 8 (MAPK8) pathway. Phosphorylated JUN can induce the transcription of DDIT3, which can bind to the mtUPR element (MURE) promoter to induce the transcription of mitochondrial chaperones (Arnould et al. 2015; Quirós et al. 2016). Furthermore, EIF2AK2 can induce the integrated stress response (ISR) through the phosphorylation of EIF2A in response to intra- and extracellular stress (Zhang et al. 2021a).

Mitochondrial heat shock proteins 60 (mtHSP60) and 70 (mtHSP70) play crucial roles in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis (Fig. 5.3). HSPA9, the main mtHSP70, is a member of the HSP70 family and has close homology to the murine mortalin (Xie et al. 2000). The theory of mitochondrial symbiosis suggests that early eukaryotic cells evolved mitochondria by engulfing prokaryotes with unique genomes, leading to the transfer of a variety of mitochondrial protein genomes to nuclear chromosomes (Roger et al. 2017). This also led to the development of mechanisms for translocation of mitochondrial proteins from the cytoplasm to mitochondria. When active, the translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 40 (TOMM40) and translocase of inner mitochondrial membrane 23 (TIMM23) form a supercomplex to facilitate translocation between the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes, with the help of the active presequence translocase-associated motor (PAM), a functional complex located on the matrix side of the endosomal membrane (Hartl 1996). The translocase of inner mitochondrial membrane 44 (TIM44) interacts with HSPA9, localizing it to the inner mitochondrial membrane. ATP hydrolysis, regulated by grpE like 1 (GRPEL1) and grpE like 2 (GRPEL2), drives the entry of precursor peptides into the mitochondrial matrix (Srivastava et al. 2017). After translocation, HSPA9 enters the matrix, binds to the precursor peptide, and works with mtHSP60 to fold the protein. The co-chaperone HSP40 assists HSPA9 in non-covalently interacting with misfolded proteins, facilitating their refolding or degradation if repair fails. HSPA9 also supports the function of the suv3 like RNA helicase (SUPV3L1), a component of the mitochondrial protein translation complex (Herrmann et al. 1994). During stress, HSPA9 facilitates crosstalk between mitochondria and ER by enabling interaction between voltage-dependent anion channel 1 (VDAC1) on the outer mitochondrial membrane and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor type 1 (ITPR1) on the ER, leading to calcium influx from the ER into the mitochondrial matrix (Honrath et al. 2017).

Heat shock protein family D member 1 (HSPD1), a component of the mtHSP60 family, has a dynamic state that fluctuates among single toroidal, heptameric single toroidal, and tetrameric double toroidal forms (Levy-Rimler et al. 2001; Viitanen



Fig. 5.3 Regulation of mitochondrial protein homeostasis and mtUPR. Misfolded proteins in the mitochondria are managed through the cooperation of co-chaperones, HSPD1, and HSPA9. HSPD1 interacts with pro-caspase3, BIRC5, and TP53 to regulate apoptosis, while HSPA9 interacts with SUPV3L1 to maintain the translation of mitochondrial proteins and to promote calcium influx into the mitochondria via interaction with ITPR1 from the endoplasmic reticulum and VDAC1 on the mitochondrial membrane. The presence of misfolded proteins in the mitochondria triggers the mtUPR response, activating various signaling pathways, inducing the production of mitochondrial heat shock proteins, and regulating mitochondrial biosynthesis and OXPHOS

et al. 1992). The toroids of HSPD1 are capable of binding to unfolded proteins and recruiting the co-chaperone heat shock protein family E member 1 (HSPE1) to bind to the heptameric single toroidal using ATP as a source of energy (Levy-Rimler et al. 2001). This helps to isolate the unfolded protein and support its proper folding, releasing the fully folded protein once ATP is hydrolyzed to ADP. HSPD1 can also fold proteins independently of HSPE1 (Dubaquié et al. 1998). In mitochondria, HSPD1 and HSPE1 form a complex with pro-caspase3 to increase the release of cytochrome C and activate pro-caspase3, resulting in ATP-dependent apoptosis (Samali et al. 1999). However, in cancer cells, HSPD1 stabilizes the anti-apoptotic

protein baculoviral IAP repeat containing 5 (BIRC5, also known as survivin) in mitochondria and forms a complex with tumor protein P53 (TP53) and BCL2 associated X (BAX) to prevent apoptosis initiation (Ghosh et al. 2008). This highlights that the role of HSPD1 in biology is largely dependent on the substrate protein it stabilizes.

5.3 Mechanism of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a form of RCD that is driven by lipid peroxidation and dependent on iron (Xie et al. 2016). It is distinct from apoptosis driven by the caspase family. The small molecule erastin was originally discovered to induce a non-apoptotic type of cell death, and subsequent research revealed that the process is iron-dependent and involves interactions and regulation between multiple molecules (Dolma et al. 2003; Wolpaw et al. 2011). In recent years, it has become widely accepted that the mechanism of ferroptosis involves two initial signals (loss of antioxidant system and accumulation of iron), an intermediate event (lipid peroxidation), and ending events (Chen et al. 2021e; Liu et al. 2021a), as summarized in Fig. 5.4.

5.3.1 Antioxidant Pathways

Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) is an enzyme that prevents lipid peroxidation and depends on glutathione (GSH) and selenium for its function. GSH is a tripeptide with a cysteine component that acts as an intracellular antioxidant. The synthesis of GSH requires the uptake of cystine through the amino acid transporter system xc⁻, followed by its reduction to cysteine (Dixon et al. 2012). The most common inducers of ferroptosis, erastin, and RSL3, work by inhibiting the uptake of cystine by system xc^{-} and directly inhibiting GPX4, respectively. System xc⁻ is composed of two subunits, solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11) and solute carrier family 3 member 2 (SLC3A2), which are regulated by various intracellular molecules, transcription factors, and enzymes. For example, BECN1 can inhibit SLC7A11 activity (Song et al. 2018b), while OTU deubiquitinase ubiquitin aldehyde binding 1 (OTUB1) can stabilize SLC7A11 protein (Liu et al. 2019a). Transcription factors like NFE2 like BZIP transcription factor 2 (NFE2L2, also known as NRF2), TP53, and BRCA1 associated protein 1 (BAP1) also have a direct impact on the expression of SLC7A11 (Song et al. 2018a; Liu et al. 2019b; Kang et al. 2019; Feng et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2018b).

Other pathways, such as ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1 (ABCB1), increase susceptibility to ferroptosis by effluxing GSH from cells (Cao et al. 2019). Cysteine dioxygenase type 1 (CDO1) can sensitize cells to ferroptosis by depleting cysteine, reducing GSH synthesis. However, the knockdown of CDO1 maintains mitochondrial stability in erastin-treated cells (Hao et al. 2017). During cystine starvation, NFE2L2 prevents ferroptosis by regulating glutamate homeostasis and upregulating glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit (GCLC) (Kang et al. 2021).



Fig. 5.4 The mechanism of ferroptosis. Ferroptosis is a type of cell death that occurs as a result of an imbalance between antioxidant pathways, iron accumulation, and lipid peroxidation. The core mechanism of ferroptosis is the excessive oxidation of cellular lipids, which results in membrane damage. The endosomal sorting complex required for transport III (ESCRT-III) plays a crucial role in regulating ferroptosis through its ability to repair damaged membranes

GPX4 is a central molecule in the negative regulation of ferroptosis, but it can also be degraded to induce ferroptosis through the action of RSL3 and FIN56 (Shimada et al. 2016). Erastin-induced ferroptosis leads to an increase in lysosomal associated membrane protein 2 (LAMP2A) and the activation of HSP90-dependent chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), resulting in GPX4 degradation (Wu et al. 2019b). However, erastin can also trigger ER stress in cells, leading to an increase in HSPA5 and interaction with GPX4, thereby protecting GPX4 from degradation and resisting ferroptosis (Zhu et al. 2017).

Cells cannot rely solely on GPX4 to protect against lipid peroxidation, as there are other mechanisms that respond to ferroptosis. Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10), also known as ubiquinone-10, has been traditionally thought to play a role in transferring electrons for mitochondrial ATP production. However, recent research has shown

that in the presence of apoptosis inducing factor mitochondria associated 2 (AIFM2), CoQ10 can be reduced to ubiquinol (CoQ10H2) and trap lipid peroxyl radicals to prevent ferroptosis, a process that is independent of GPX4 (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019). Additionally, the compound FIN56 not only induces GPX4 degradation, but also increases susceptibility to ferroptosis by depleting CoQ10 through the methoxypyruvate pathway. AIFM2 can also function independently of CoQ10, and vitamin K (VK) has redox activity and can be converted in the VK cycle by AIFM2 to vitamin K hydroquinone (VKH2), which can prevent lipid peroxidation (Mishima et al. 2022). More recently, it was found that dihydroorotic dehydrogenase (DHODH) and glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 2 (GPD2) can also reduce CoQ10 to CoQ10H2 and inhibit ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2021; Wu et al. 2022a), demonstrating the significant impact of AIFM2 and CoQ10 in the mechanism of ferroptosis without involving GPX4.

In addition, a CRISPR screen revealed that GTP cyclohydrolase-1 (GCH1) is a crucial factor in preventing ferroptosis (Kraft et al. 2020; Soula et al. 2020). GCH1 offers resistance through two methods: (1) the metabolic derivative of GCH1, tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), has its own ability to scavenge oxygen radicals, and (2) GCH1 can alter the lipid membrane environment, increase the presence of CoQ10H2, and decrease polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) levels, thus inhibiting ferroptosis. Interleukin-4-induced-1 (IL4I1) is an amino acid oxidase produced by immune cells and its snake homologue L-amino acid oxidase (LAAO) causes oxidative stress and leads to cell death. However, in mammals, it generates indole-3-pyruvate (I3P) from tryptophan and offers resistance to ferroptosis through the free radical scavenging properties of I3P and the activation of antioxidant gene expression (Zeitler et al. 2021). This study highlights that proteins encoded by the same gene can act differently or even in opposing ways in different species, which suggests that the mechanisms involved in studying ferroptosis may vary among species (Kuang et al. 2020).

5.3.2 Iron Overload

Iron in cells can be divided into ferric ions (Fe^{3+}) and ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) . Food contains mainly insoluble Fe^{3+} , which needs to be reduced to Fe^{2+} for absorption. This reduction occurs when Fe^{3+} binds to transferrin (TF) and is recognized by the transferrin receptor (TFRC) on the cell membrane, allowing trivalent iron ions to enter the cell (Gao et al. 2015). Lactotransferrin (LTF) is also involved in the uptake of iron by cells (Wang et al. 2020). However, the protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation of heat shock protein family B member 1 (HSPB1) can block iron uptake and thus limit ferroptosis (Sun et al. 2015).

Once inside the cell, Fe^{3+} is reduced to Fe^{2+} by six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of prostate 3 (STEAP3) in the endosome and transported to the cytoplasm by solute carrier family 11 member 2 (SLC11A2) (Fleming et al. 1997). Fe^{2+} can be stored in the cytoplasm in the form of ferritin, which includes ferritin light chain (FTL) and ferritin heavy chain 1 (FTH1). Nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4)-mediated ferritinophagy leads to the release of Fe²⁺, but we can limit ferroptosis by inhibiting ferritinophagy to increase iron storage (Hou et al. 2016). The overexpression of ferritin mitochondrial (FTMT) can also make cells resistant to ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2016). Ferritinophagy appears to be linked to cellular sensitivity to ferroptosis, but human macrophages can inhibit NCOA4-mediated FTMT degradation to limit ferroptosis under hypoxic conditions (Fuhrmann et al. 2020).

The inhibition of protein solute carrier family 40 member 1 (SLC40A1), which transports iron out of cells, leads to intracellular iron accumulation and induces ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2016). Prominin2 (PROM2), a pentraxin associated with the regulation of lipid dynamics, also inhibits ferroptosis by promoting the formation of multivesicular bodies (MVB) and exosomes that transport iron out of cells (Brown et al. 2019).

Intracellular Fe²⁺ is a crucial factor in the initiation of ferroptosis. Fe²⁺ can bind to GSH in the cell and be delivered to ferritin for storage via the chaperone poly(rC)binding protein 1 (PCBP1). When GSH is depleted, it triggers the Fenton reaction with Fe²⁺, producing ROS and increasing oxidative damage, as well as blocking iron storage and eventually leading to ferroptosis (Patel et al. 2021; Patel et al. 2019). Iron also increases the activity of arachidonate lipoxygenases (ALOXs) or hypoxia inducible factor prolyl-hydroxylases, which regulate lipid peroxidation and oxygen homeostasis, respectively (Chowdhury et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2016). Ferroptosis can be limited by the use of deferoxamine, an iron chelator (Chen et al. 2020).

5.3.3 Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) plays a crucial role in the development of ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016). Arachidonic acid (AA), a 20-carbon chain omega-6 fatty acid with 4 unsaturated bonds (20:4), is the most common PUFA in animal cells. AA and adrenic acid (AdA, 22:4) are sensitive to lipid peroxidation due to their two diallyl groups when located at the sn2 position of PUFA phospholipids (PLs) (Kagan et al. 2017).

Two key enzymes, acyl-CoA synthetase long chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3), are involved in the production of AA/AdA derivatives and play an essential role in lipid-driven ferroptosis (Yuan et al. 2016; Doll et al. 2017). ACSL4 catalyzes the reaction of AA/AdA with CoA to form AA/AdA-CoA derivatives, which are then esterified to form phospholipids by LPCAT3. Studies have shown that the absence of ACSL4 can result in resistance to ferroptosis, and its re-expression can resensitize cells to ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017). ACSL4 also participates in positive feedback regulation of ferroptosis through phosphorylation by protein kinase C beta (PRKCB) and regulation of E-cadherin expression through the merlin-Hippo-YAP pathway (Zhang et al. 2022b; Wu et al. 2019a).

However, it is important to note that the peroxidation of free fatty acids (FAs) is not critical for ferroptosis, only peroxidation of PLs. The use of the BODIPY 581/591 C11 fluorescent probe to measure PL peroxidation levels in ferroptosisrelated experiments can impose limitations as it does not differentiate between PL and FA peroxidation (Liang et al. 2022).

PL peroxidation can occur through both enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathways. Non-enzymatic peroxidation of PL typically requires the involvement of redox metals, with iron being the most commonly observed. Intracellularly, iron is typically bound in complexes like ferritin, iron-sulfur clusters, and heme. The small amount of unbound iron is referred to as unstable iron pools and is highly reactive. Activated iron reacts with hydrogen peroxide in a Fenton reaction, resulting in the production of hydroxyl ions (OH⁻) and hydroxyl radicals (OH) or a proton and peroxy radicals (OOH). Both hydroxyl and peroxyl radicals participate in lipid peroxidation. The ALOX family plays a significant role in the enzyme-dependent lipid peroxidation process. In H1299 cells, spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1 (SAT1), which is a target gene of TP53, increases the expression of arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase (ALOX15) and is involved in TP53mediated ferroptosis (Ou et al. 2016). In pancreatic cancer cells, microsomal glutathione S-transferase 1 (MGST1) binds to arachidonate 5-lipoxygenase (ALOX5), reduces lipid peroxidation, and inhibits ferroptosis (Kuang et al. 2021). However, it has been noted that the expression of ALOXs was not detected in many of the cell lines used for ferroptosis research (Ghandi et al. 2019), suggesting that ALOXs only act in ALOXs-expressing cell lines and are not the sole enzyme involved. Indeed, cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR) in the ER has also been shown to play a role in lipid peroxidation (Yan et al. 2021; Zou et al. 2020). POR provides electrons to members of the CYP family, allowing them to oxidize and metabolize other molecules. POR induces ferroptosis in a CYP-independent manner through the production of hydrogen peroxide with cytochrome B5 reductase 1 (CYB5R1), which initiates lipid peroxidation through the Fenton reaction (Yan et al. 2021).

Compared to PUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) do not have a diallyl position and are therefore not prone to peroxidation. MUFAs inhibit ferroptosis. Exogenous MUFAs, after activation by acyl-CoA synthetase long chain family member 3 (ACSL3), reduce the sensitivity of the plasma membrane to oxidation and allow cells to resist ferroptosis (Magtanong et al. 2019). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) protects ovarian cancer cells from ferroptosis by catalyzing the production of MUFAs (Tesfay et al. 2019). Of note, oleic acid, a MUFA, induces ferroptosis in lung-injured mice (Zhou et al. 2019), indicating that the mechanism by which MUFAs regulate ferroptosis can vary in different contexts. Overall, our current understanding of the modulation of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis is just the tip of the iceberg (Chen et al. 2021d; Lin et al. 2021).

5.3.4 Membrane Damage and Repair

The final stage of the ferroptosis process has yet to be fully understood, despite the clear role of lipid reactive oxygen species and Fe^{2+} in the development of ferroptosis. The accumulation of toxic lipids, such as malondialdehyde (MDA) or

4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE), causes oxidative damage to cell membranes and is a hallmark of ferroptosis. Exogenous 4-HNE can directly induce ferroptosis damage in a manner dependent on NOX (Chen et al. 2022c; Lin et al. 2022). The intracellular membrane repair mechanism, endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT)-III, negatively regulates ferroptosis by preventing the accumulation of toxic lipids (Dai et al. 2020). The effect of traditional ferroptosis inducers, such as ER stress and calcium influx, leads to the buildup of the subunits charged multivesicular body protein 5 (CHMP5) and charged multivesicular body protein 6 (CHMP6) of ESCRT-III. A reduction in CHMP5 or CHMP6 levels makes cells more susceptible to ferroptosis. Recent research has also found that the autophagic receptor, hippocalcin like 1 (HPCAL1), selectively degrades cadherin-2 (CDH2) during ferroptosis, which reduces membrane tension and increases lipid peroxidation, making cells more susceptible to ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2022d). Thus, the regulation of membrane stability and membrane repair mechanisms may be an important area of investigation in ferroptosis research (Liu et al. 2020b).

5.4 The Function of HSPs in Ferroptosis

The process of ferroptosis involves the control of various key proteins related to redox systems, lipid metabolism, and iron balance. Here, we highlight the importance of several key HSPs in regulating these ferroptotic processes.

5.4.1 Small HSPs in Ferroptosis

Small heat shock proteins (sHSP) are widespread molecular chaperones made up of a highly conserved α -crystallin domain of around 90 amino acids, which is crucial for their function (Carra et al. 2013; Sun and MacRae 2005). In response to proteotoxic stress, sHSPs prevent the aggregation of misfolded proteins by binding to them in an ATP-independent manner, acting as the first line of defense against stress (Carra et al. 2012; Tedesco et al. 2022a). They also help HSP70 in refolding or degradation of misfolded proteins (Haslbeck and Vierling 2015). Although sHSPs exist as monomers, their function often requires the formation of high molecular weight multimers that maintain a balance between aggregation and dissociation (Lambert et al. 1999). The expression and distribution of different sHSPs vary greatly in tissues and cells, with HSPB1 being widely expressed (Tedesco et al. 2022b). HSPB1 is resistant to cellular oxidative stress due to phosphorylation of its dimer and is believed to have anti-apoptotic effects by binding to cytochrome C released from mitochondria, thus inhibiting caspase activation (Zavialov et al. 1998; Bruey et al. 2000).

HSPB1 plays an important role in regulating ferroptosis (Fig. 5.5a). The overexpression of HSPB1 reduces iron uptake in mice (Chen et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2010). Erastin, a commonly used ferroptosis inducer, increases HSF1-dependent expression of HSPB1 in cells. Pre-treatment with heat shock or



Fig. 5.5 Role of sHSP, HSP40, and HSP60 in ferroptosis. (a) HSPB1 plays a role in limiting ferroptosis by reducing iron uptake. On the other hand, HMOX1 promotes ferroptosis by catalyzing the breakdown of heme, leading to an increase in non-heme iron and inhibiting ferroptosis through its antioxidant pathway. The effects of HSPB7 and HSPB8 on ferroptosis are yet to be determined, but they are believed to protect against lipid peroxidation. (b) DNAJB6 induces ferroptosis by directly inhibiting GPX4. DNAJA5 and DNAJA6 promote the formation of iron-sulfur clusters, which helps to prevent iron overload. DNAJC24 serves as a storage protein for iron. (c) CCT3 works to inhibit ferroptosis by increasing the expression of SLC7A11. HSPD1 can aid in the proper folding of ALDH2 and stabilizing it, and ALDH2 can inhibit ferroptosis mediated by ACSL4. However, there is currently no evidence to suggest that HSPD1 directly inhibits ferroptosis

overexpression of HSPB1 makes cells more resistant to ferroptosis. Protein kinase C (PRKC)-mediated phosphorylation of the S15A/S86 site of HSPB1 also positively regulates actin polymerization and recombination, thus limiting iron uptake and ferroptosis (Sun et al. 2015). Other factors besides HSF1 and PRKC also affect HSPB1 expression and activity. The knockdown of the FA complementation group D2 (FANCD2) in bone marrow stromal cells leads to downregulation of HSPB1 and increased sensitivity to ferroptosis (Song et al. 2016). circST6GALNAC6, a bladder cancer tumor suppressor, blocks the phosphorylation of HSPB1 by erastin at the

Ser15 site, thus promoting ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2022b). HSPB1 has a high affinity for highly mobile membranes and is involved in regulating their physical properties, which may play a role in the regulation of ferroptosis (Csoboz et al. 2022). Ferroptosis typically results in plasma membrane damage, and the membrane regulation mechanism of HSPB1 may be involved in its regulation.

Heat shock protein 32 kDa (HSP32), also known as heme oxygenase 1 (HMOX1), is induced by oxidative stress or heme and to increase cellular sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide (Brand et al. 2010). HMOX1 is upregulated by doxorubicin in cardiomyocytes through the action of NFE2L2, which then catalyzes the degradation of heme iron and increases the levels of non-heme iron, contributing to the development of ferroptosis (Fig. 5.5a) (Fang et al. 2019). Similarly, tagitinin C, a sesquiterpene lactone, induces ER stress and ferroptosis in colorectal cancer cells. The EIF2AK3 pathway serves as a sensor for ER stress and mediates phosphorylation of NFE2L2, allowing it to enter the nucleus and induce HMOX1 expression, leading to ferroptosis (Wei et al. 2021).

It is important to note that the role of HMOX1 in ferroptosis is not always positive. For example, in renal proximal tubule cells, deletion of HMOX1 leads to increased sensitivity to erastin, which can be reversed by iron chelators (Adedoyin et al. 2018). In another study, aristolactam I induces mitochondrial iron accumulation in proximal renal tubular cells, inhibiting the NFE2L2-HMOX1 pathway and blocking antioxidant protection, resulting in ferroptosis (Deng et al. 2020).

These findings suggest that the regulation of HMOX1 and its role in ferroptosis are inconsistent across different tissues and cells, making it crucial to consider this when exploring the potential use of ferroptosis in diseases. For example, sickle cell disease is characterized by increased hemolysis and resulting heme overload in plasma. This can induce the upregulation of HMOX1, driving cardiomyopathy and ferroptosis, a process that can be prevented by inhibiting HMOX1 (Menon et al. 2022).

Additionally, heat shock protein family B member 8 (HSPB8) reduces elevated levels of lipid peroxidation during lung ischemia–reperfusion in mice (Yang et al. 2019). HSPB7 enhances the antioxidant capacity of cells through the NFE2L2-HMOX1 pathway in bovine adipocytes (Sun et al. 2019b). However, there is currently no direct evidence that HSPB7 and HSPB8 inhibit ferroptosis, and further research is needed to fully understand the relationship between small HSPs and ferroptosis.

5.4.2 HPS40 in Ferroptosis

HSP40 is the largest family of heat shock proteins, with over 50 members (Kampinga and Craig 2010). It is also known as the DNAJ protein and contains a highly conserved "J" domain, with the His-Pro-Asp (HPD) motif being essential for activating the ATPase activity of HSP70, making it a co-chaperone (Kityk et al. 2018). DNAJ is classified into three groups based on its structure: DNAJA, DNAJB, and DNAJC. DNAJA has an N-terminal "J" domain, a Gly-Phe-rich region, two

C-terminal β-barrel domains, a zinc finger structure, and a dimerization domain. DNAJB contains most of these structures, but not the zinc finger domain, while DNAJC usually only has the "J" domain (Kampinga and Craig 2010; Kaida and Iwakuma 2021). DNAJ regulates protein folding, translocation, and degradation by transporting substrate proteins to HSP70 and stimulating ATP hydrolysis, allowing stable binding to HSP70 (Hasegawa et al. 2017; Greene et al. 1998). Some DNAJ proteins also function independently of HSP70, such as DnaJ heat shock protein family member B8 (DNAJB8) which binds to polyglutamine proteins through its C-terminal serine-rich region and prevents aggregation through histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4) (Hageman et al. 2010). DNAJ proteins have a dual role in regulating cell death. For example, DnaJ heat shock protein family member A3 (DNAJA3) acts as a mitochondrial chaperone in MCF-7 cells and interacts directly with TP53 to induce intrinsic apoptosis, while DnaJ heat shock protein family member B1 (DNAJB1) interacts with programmed cell death 5 (PDCD5) and degrades it, inhibiting TP53-mediated apoptosis in A549 cells (Trinh et al. 2010; Cui et al. 2015).

In the context of ferroptosis, DNAJ heat shock protein family member B6 (DNAJB6) inhibits the proliferation of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) by promoting ferroptosis (Fig. 5.5b). This overexpression of DNAJB6 leads to smaller mitochondria and a higher membrane density in ESCC cells, as well as loss of mitochondrial structural integrity, edema in the mitochondrial matrix, and increased levels of lipid peroxidation, resulting from the inhibition of GPX4 (Jiang et al. 2020). However, the specific mechanism by which DNAJB6 inhibits GPX4 is not yet clear. DNAJB6 inhibits tumor EMT and metastasis by upregulating the dickkopf Wnt signaling pathway inhibitor 1 (DKK1), which in turn inhibits the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway (Menezes et al. 2012). In gastric cancer, the activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway promotes the binding of the β -catenin/TCF4 transcriptional complex to the promoter region of GPX4, leading to increased expression of GPX4 and attenuated lipid ROS production, thereby inhibiting ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2022d). These findings suggest that DNAJB6 may play a role in regulating ferroptosis.

In Arabidopsis, two DNAJ proteins, DNA J protein A5 (DNAJA5) and DNA J protein A6 (DNAJA6), are capable of binding iron through their conserved cysteine residues, promoting iron incorporation into Fe-S clusters through the interaction of the "J" domain with the sulfur utilization factor (SUF). The deletion of DNAJA6 and DNAJA5 leads to defective Fe-S protein production in chloroplasts, photosynthetic dysfunction, and intracellular iron overload (Fig. 5.5b) (Zhang et al. 2021b). Among the DNAJC proteins, DNAJ heat shock protein family member C24 (DNAJC24) is composed of two domains: a conserved "J" domain and a CSL-type zinc finger domain linked by a flexible linker-helix (Sahi and Craig 2007). The flexible linker-helix structure allows for the regulation of the protein's function by adjusting the flexibility between the two domains. DNAJC24 is capable of binding iron through its CSL-domain and oligomerizing to act as a transient "iron storage protein," thereby regulating iron homeostasis (Fig. 5.5b). Jjj3 in yeast, a direct homolog of human DNAJC24, exhibits a similar iron-binding function, suggesting a conserved cross-species mechanism for iron chelation (Thakur et al. 2012).

5.4.3 HSP60 in Ferroptosis

HSP60, also known as HSPD1, has a mitochondrial targeting signal on its N-terminal side for import into the mitochondria (Vilasi et al. 2014). HSPD1 helps to maintain mitochondrial protein homeostasis by assisting in protein folding and interacting with HSPE1 (Levy-Rimler et al. 2001). It has three distinct domains: the apical, intermediate, and equatorial domains (Klebl et al. 2021). When unbound from ATP, the apical domain of HSPD1 is hydrophobic, allowing it to make contact with substrate proteins. When ATP binds to the equatorial domain, the HSPD1 forms a double ring structure in combination with HSPE1 and the apical domain, forming a "football complex." After ATP hydrolysis, the apical domain configuration of HSPD1 changes, causing the protein to fold and release (Tang et al. 2022).

HSPD1 is a crucial factor in the mtUPR and plays a role in regulating various stress response pathways to balance both intra- and extracellular stress. It generally acts as an anti-apoptotic factor, inhibiting TP53-dependent apoptosis by forming a complex with TP53 and blocking its activity (Ghosh et al. 2008) (Fig. 5.5c). HSPD1 also activates NF- κ B-dependent BIRC5 expression to inhibit apoptosis (Chun et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2018). On the other hand, HSPD1 promotes apoptosis by forming a complex with procaspase 3 and activating caspase 3 via upstream caspase 9 (Xanthoudakis et al. 1999).

There are no reports indicating that HSPD1 regulates ferroptosis, but it may play a role in regulating lipid metabolism. HSPD1 helps to fold aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 family member (ALDH2) and acyl-CoA dehydrogenase short/branched chain (ACADSB) in ovarian cancer cells (Hu et al. 2021). Although ALDH2 inhibits ACSL4-mediated ferroptosis (Zhu et al. 2022), it is not clear if HSPD1 can limit ferroptosis by stabilizing ALDH2.

HSP60 belongs to the group I chaperonins, which are found in bacteria and organelles, and are distinct from group II chaperonins (CCT/TriC) that are present in the cytoplasm of archaea and eukaryotes (Archibald et al. 2000). Chaperonin containing TCP1 subunit 3 (CCT3) can inhibit ferroptosis in lung cancer cells by positively regulating the expression of SLC7A11 but not GPX4, as seen through transcription. The knockdown of CCT3 increases erastin toxicity, while ferrostatin-1 partially rescues cellular activity (Wang et al. 2022a). Alterations in CCT3 expression levels have been associated with various diseases, including cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, and ciliary dyskinesia. CCT3 is therefore an important target for understanding disease mechanisms and developing new therapeutic strategies.

5.4.4 HSP70 in Ferroptosis

HSP70 is a highly conserved protein that is composed of 13 HSPA family members and is involved in preventing the aggregation of misfolded proteins and promoting their refolding. It also solubilizes denatured proteins and degrades them in combination with the cellular degradation system. The interaction of HSP70 with a substrate protein alone only moderately stimulates ATPase activity, but the conversion to a



Fig. 5.6 Role of HSP70 in ferroptosis. The HSPA5 protein stabilizes GPX4, thereby limiting ferroptosis. The HSPA8 protein promotes ferroptosis by facilitating GPX4 degradation through the chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) pathway, but it can also inhibit ferroptosis by facilitating ACSL4 degradation through CMA. The HSPA1 protein contributes to ferroptosis by increasing lipid peroxidation through the upregulation of NQO1. Meanwhile, the sGRP78 protein mediates TLR4 endocytosis and triggers its degradation through autophagy, leading to ferroptosis

highly effective ATP-active state usually requires the involvement of the co-chaperone DNAJ protein (Rosenzweig et al. 2019). DNAJ proteins mediate the binding of substrate proteins to HSP70-ATP, promoting ATP hydrolysis and reducing the affinity of HSP70 for substrate proteins. HSPA1, HSPA8, HSPA9, and HSPA5 are the four most important and frequently studied members of the HSP70 family. HSPA1 inhibits apoptosis and regulates necrosis and autophagy (Gao et al. 2010; Nylandsted et al. 2004; Yaglom et al. 2003). The overexpression of HSPA8 promotes the proliferation, invasion, and migration of glioblastoma cells (Sun et al. 2019a). HSPA9 stabilizes the mitochondrial membrane permeability, promoting the survival of BRAF mutant tumor cells (Wu et al. 2020).

HSPA5, a member of the HSP70 family, could regulate ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells (Zhu et al. 2017). Erastin induces ATF4-dependent upregulation of HSPA5 in pancreatic cancer cells and to be more sensitive to ferroptosis after the knockdown of HSPA5, which acts as a negative regulator of ferroptosis by binding to GPX4 and avoiding its degradation (Fig. 5.6). The EIF2AK3-ATF4-HSPA5 pathway limits dihydroartemisinin (DHA)-induced ferroptosis in glioblastoma (Chen et al. 2019). Further research in other cell types, such as colorectal cancer cells, chondrocytes, and carp hepatocytes, showed that HSPA5 could also resist

ferroptosis through the same mechanism (Wang et al. 2022c; Lv et al. 2022; Cui et al. 2022). However, recent studies have identified the mechanism by which secreted HSPA5 induces ferroptosis. In cases of ER stress, HSPA5 expression is upregulated and can be expressed on the cell surface as well as secreted outside of the cell as secreted GRP78 (sGRP78) (Delpino and Castelli 2002). In myeloid cells, sGRP78 mediates toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) endocytosis. Intracellular TLR4 forms a complex with MAP1LC3-SQSTM1 for lysosomal degradation, while sGRP78enhanced autophagy-dependent TLR4 degradation induces both apoptosis and ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2022c). This highlights the dual role of HSPA5, which protects GPX4 from degradation and thus inhibits ferroptosis when acting as a molecular chaperone, and promotes ferroptosis through an autophagy-dependent pathway when secreted (Kang and Tang 2017). The next research direction for HSPA5 could be to investigate how its functions in ferroptosis are regulated in different cellular compartments and how these functions contribute to disease processes. Furthermore, in the field of nanomaterials, nanostructures loaded with Fe²⁺ and β -lapachone (LAP) easily trigger ferroptosis in tumor cells after treatment with NIR, and the process involved the upregulation of NAD(P)H dehydrogenase quinone 1 (NQO1), induced by HSPA1, leading to the promotion of iron-mediated lipid peroxidation (Xue et al. 2021).

HSPA8 plays a role in regulating ferroptosis through the process of chaperonemediated autophagy (CMA). HSPA8 recognizes proteins with the KFERQ pentapeptide motif and transports them to LAMP2A at the lysosomal membrane for degradation. The drug NVP-AUY922 reduces the CMA-mediated degradation of GPX4, leading to the inhibition of ferroptosis in mouse lung epithelial cells (Li et al. 2022). On the other hand, glia maturation factor beta (GMFB) has the opposite effect by disrupting the lysosomal pH and reducing CMA-mediated degradation of ACSL4, thus promoting ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022a). In conclusion, HSPA8 can either inhibit or promote ferroptosis, depending on the function of the protein it degrades through the CMA pathway. This makes it difficult to design specific therapeutic strategies that target HSPA8 without affecting its normal functions.

5.4.5 HSP90 in Ferroptosis

HSP90 is a highly abundant protein in the cytoplasm, making up 1-2% of total soluble proteins in stress-free conditions. It functions as an ATP-dependent molecular chaperone, regulating protein function through its interactions with substrate proteins (Schopf et al. 2017). The basic structure of HSP90 consists of three domains: the N-terminal domain (NTD), the middle domain (MD), and the C-terminal domain (CTD). The NTD contains an ATP-binding pocket known as the Bergerat fold, which is the binding site for nucleotides and drugs. The MD contains a catalytic loop, which binds to ATP and HSP90 client proteins, while the CTD facilitates dimerization and interaction with co-chaperones (Wu et al. 2017). It also has another ATP binding site. In mammals, there are two main isoforms of HSP90: inducible HSP90 α and constitutive HSP90 β , which are primarily located in



Fig. 5.7 Role of HSP90 in ferroptosis. The 17-DMAG-HMPB nanosystem is taken up by tumors via NIR endocytosis. The HMPB component promotes iron release, while 17-DMAG triggers ferroptosis by blocking the activity of HSP90. This leads to the inhibition of HIF1A and GPX4. HSP90 stimulates ferroptosis through its interaction with HSPA8, LAMP2A, and GPX4, promoting the degradation of GPX4 through the CMA pathway. HSP90 also causes dephosphorylation of DNM1L, which increases ACSL4-mediated ferroptosis. TRAP1 binding to NSUN5 results in the degradation of FTH1 and FTL, thereby promoting ferroptosis

the cytoplasm (Johnson 2012). Two additional isoforms, HSP90B1 located in the ER and TRAP1 in the mitochondria, also exist (Gupta 1995; Altieri 2013).

HSP90 is a crucial player in regulating ferroptosis (Fig. 5.7). The inhibitor of HSP90, 17-DMAG, when delivered to tumors using nanosystems and NIR, reduces the expression of HSP90 and induces ferroptosis by increasing Fe^{2+} release and decreasing GPX4 and hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha (HIF1A) expression (Lian et al. 2022). On the other hand, HSP90 also enhances ferroptosis through other pathways. For example, dephosphorylation of dynamin 1 like (DNM1L) by HSP90 and protein phosphatase 3 catalytic (PPP3C) at ser637 leads to altered mitochondrial morphology and increased lipid peroxidation through ACSL4, promoting ferroptosis (Miao et al. 2022). HSP90's involvement in CMA means it can also drive ferroptosis by degrading GPX4 through this pathway. Sb exposure in neurons results in HSPA8-HSP90-LAMP2A-GPX4 binding, forming a chaperone-GPX4 complex that accelerates GPX4 degradation and triggers ferroptosis (Yu et al. 2022). In addition to neuronal cells, ferroptosis can also be promoted in tumor cells and renal tubules with acute kidney injury through CMA-mediated GPX4 degradation induced by erastin and legumain, respectively (Chen et al. 2021a; Wu et al. 2019b). Furthermore, TRAP1, an isoform of HSP90, induces FTH1/FTL degradation in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) by binding to NOP2/Sun RNA methyltransferase 5 (NSUN5), resulting in Fe²⁺ accumulation and GPX4 reduction.

ultimately leading to ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022b). The clinical development of HSP90 inhibitors has been challenging, in part because of their toxicity and off-target effects. HSP90 is also essential for the folding and stabilization of many normal proteins, and inhibition of HSP90 can lead to unintended consequences.

5.4.6 Ubiquitin in Ferroptosis

Ubiquitin, in addition to the several important heat shock protein families, also belongs to the heat shock proteins (Sharp et al. 1999). It is a small, 76-amino acid protein with a stable β -grasp fold structure that is highly conserved (Burroughs et al. 2007). The C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin is covalently attached to the substrate lysine through the action of three enzymes: E1 (ubiquitin activating enzyme), E2 (ubiquitin-binding enzyme), and E3 (ubiquitin ligase). The E1 enzyme activates the C-terminus of ubiquitin and transfers it to the E2 enzyme, which then transfers it to the substrate and ubiquitin (Buetow and Huang 2016). The type of substrate that ubiquitin binds to primarily depends on the type of E3 enzyme, with over 600 E3 enzymes compared to only 2 E1 and 35 E2 enzymes (Deol et al. 2019).

Typical ubiquitination is the formation of an isopeptide bond between the lysine residue of the substrate protein and the C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin (Berndsen and Wolberger 2014). However, sometimes, it can also form ester or thioester bonds with serine/threonine or cysteine residues of the substrate (McDowell et al. 2010; Vosper et al. 2009). Substrate proteins can be labeled with a single ubiquitin molecule at one site, referred to as monoubiquitination. Ubiquitin contains eight potential ubiquitination sites, and further ubiquitination of these sites can result in the formation of ubiquitin chains. Finally, the ubiquitinated substrate proteins are degraded by the proteasome.

Several key proteins involved in ferroptosis can be regulated by ubiquitin, such as HECT, UBA, and WWE domain containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase 1 (HUWE1) and NEDD4 like E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (NEDD4L) (Fig. 5.8). HUWE1 limits ferroptosis in acute liver injury by targeting the degradation of TFRC (Wu et al. 2022b). NEDD4L inhibits ferroptosis by binding to LTF to degrade it, reducing iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation in cancer cells (Wang et al. 2020).

Different E3 ubiquitin ligases regulate ferroptosis through multiple substrates. For example, NEDD4L binding to SLC7A11 is increased in breast cancer after ionizing radiation, leading to the ubiquitinated degradation of SLC7A11 and inducing ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2021d). Estrogen receptor 1 (ESR1) also inhibits ferroptosis by enhancing NEDD4L binding to TFRC, leading to its degradation during ionizing radiation-induced ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022c). Other proteins, such as tripartite motif containing 26 (TRIM26), suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 (SOCS2), fascin actin-bundling protein 1 (FSCN1), and the lncRNA HEPFAL, can also promote SLC7A11 ubiquitination degradation to induce ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2022a; Zhu et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2022b; Zhang et al. 2022a). The mechanism by which ubiquitination and degradation of GPX4 induces ferroptosis has recently


Fig. 5.8 Mechanism of SLC7A11 and GPX4 ubiquitination in ferroptosis. The E3 ubiquitin ligase targets SLC7A11 or GPX4 for degradation through ubiquitination, leading to ferroptosis. On the other hand, OTUB1 limits ferroptosis by stabilizing SLC7A11 through deubiquitination. Meanwhile, the linear ubiquitination of GPX4 by RNF31 stabilizes GPX4 and inhibits ferroptosis

been identified, with the discovery of DMOCPTL, a derivative of chamomile lactone, directly binding to GPX4 and promoting its ubiquitination and degradation (Ding et al. 2021). Bufotalin and the E3 ligase tripartite motif containing 46 (TRIM46) promote GPX4 ubiquitination to induce ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022c; Zhang et al. 2021c). GPX4 is also regulated in a novel approach, where ring finger protein 31 (RNF31) maintains GPX4 stability through linear ubiquitination of GPX4 (Dong et al. 2022).

Deubiquitination enzymes also play a role in regulating ferroptosis. The inhibition of ubiquitin specific peptidase 7 (USP7) triggers TP53 activation by blocking deubiquitination, leading to the downregulation of TFRC and the suppression of ferroptosis (Tang et al. 2021b). USP7 also stabilizes heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1 (HNRNPA1) through deubiquitination, and HNRNPA1 facilitates the packaging of miR-522 into exosomes. Exosomal miR-522 has the potential to inhibit ALOX15, and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) promote the secretion of miR-522 by chemotherapy drugs like cisplatin and paclitaxel, thus reducing the levels of lipid reactive oxygen species in cancer cells and enhancing chemosensitivity (Zhang et al. 2020). OTUB1 stabilizes SLC7A11 and suppresses ferroptosis by directly interacting with SLC7A11, a process that may involve OTUB1 persulfuration (Zhao et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021b). These findings demonstrate the important role of deubiquitination enzymes in the regulation of ferroptosis.

Overall, there is a need to better understand the precise roles of the UPS pathway in ferroptosis-related diseases and to develop targeted therapies that exploit these pathways in a disease-specific manner. This requires a deeper understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying the UPS pathway and its interactions with ferroptotic processes.

5.4.7 HSF1 in Ferroptosis

HSF1 is a crucial transcription factor that regulates the expression of HSPs (Fig. 5.9). Within the HSF family, HSF1 has a significant role. When HSF1 is activated, it enters the nucleus and binds to the HSE of HSPs, a conserved sequence made up of three nGaan inverted repeats, located in the promoter region of the target gene, thereby initiating the transcription of HSPs.

The activation of HSF1 occurs in several stages: trimerization, nuclear translocation, DNA binding, transcriptional activation, and transcriptional inactivation and attenuation (Akerfelt et al. 2010). In a nonstressed state, HSF1 is in a monomeric form and bound to HSPs to prevent activation. Upon exposure to proteotoxic stress, HSPs have a higher affinity for misfolded proteins, causing them to separate from HSF1. The separation of HSPs allows HSF1 to trimerize and translocate to the nucleus with the help of TGM2 (Rossin et al. 2018). Once the trimeric HSF1 is phosphorylated, it can bind to the HSE of the target gene to regulate its transcription.



Fig. 5.9 Role of HSF1 in ferroptosis. Heat shock treatment helps cells build resistance to ferroptosis by increasing HSF1 and HSPB1 expression. Combining the treatment with erastin and celastrol can further enhance HSF1, leading to higher production of HSPs and resistance to ferroptosis. Conversely, palmitic acid suppresses HSF1, disrupting iron homeostasis and GPX4, thereby inducing ferroptosis. Ferroptosis can also be triggered by 4-HNE, which stimulates PROM2 transcription through a MAPK14-mediated activation of HSF1. On the other hand, L-threonine activates HSF1 and enhances FTN1 transcription, helping cells resist ferroptosis

The trimeric HSF1 in the nucleus can still interact with HSP70 or HSP40 to avoid transactivation (Shi et al. 1998).

HSPB1 is phosphorylated by PRKC, which reduces iron uptake and lipid peroxidation by stabilizing the cytoskeleton and inhibiting iron uptake. Erastin induces the upregulation of HSF1-dependent HSPB1, and when HSF1 is knocked down, HSPB1 expression decreases and cells become more sensitive to erastin (Sun et al. 2015). On the other hand, heat shock treatment increases HSF1 and HSPB1 expression and resistance to ferroptosis. Combined treatment of erastin and celastrol, a potential anticancer agent, causes death in non-small cell lung cancer cells by activating the ROS-mitochondrial fission-mitochondrial autophagy axis and stimulating HSF1 and HSPs expression. When HSF1 is knocked down, the tumor becomes more sensitive to the treatment (Liu et al. 2021c).

HSF1 and GPX4 are dose- and time-dependently downregulated by palmitic acid-induced ferroptosis, but HSF1 overexpression improves iron homeostasis and restores cellular activity by upregulating iron metabolism-related genes, including FTH1, TFRC, and SLC40A1 (Wang et al. 2021). HMOX1 can induce or prevent ferroptosis based on its effect on iron levels and antioxidant capacity. HMOX1 transcription is regulated by HSF1 (Inouye et al. 2018), implying that HSF1 is a mechanism to both resist and promote ferroptosis through the HSF1-HMOX1-Fe²⁺ pathway.

HSF1 also regulates ferroptosis through proteins other than HSPs. 4-HNE, a lipid metabolite formed from lipid peroxidation products, resists ferroptosis by activating HSF1 through MAPK14 and promoting HSF1-dependent transcription of PROM2 (Brown et al. 2021). Supplementation of L-threonine in *Caenorhabditis elegans* activates HSF1 and increases the transcription of ferritin to resist ferroptosis (Kim et al. 2022). Further investigation is needed to fully understand the role of HSF1 in the regulation of ferroptosis and to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying its function. This will require the use of advanced techniques to investigate the interactions between HSF1 and other key regulators of ferroptosis, as well as studies that examine the role of HSF1 in different cellular and environmental contexts.

5.5 Conclusions and Perspectives

HSPs play a crucial role in maintaining protein homeostasis and regulating ferroptosis. These heat shock proteins have two mechanisms for regulating protein homeostasis: (1) HSPs directly bind to misfolded proteins to refold them or mark them for degradation and (2) HSPs control the activity of stress sensors, such as HSF1 and ERN1, by directly binding to them. In the absence of stress, only a few HSPs bind to stress sensors to inhibit their activity and prevent activation. In the presence of stress, HSPs must be induced to be upregulated and have a higher affinity for misfolded proteins, resulting in their disengagement from the stress sensor and activation of the signaling pathway. The stabilization and correct function of proteins are extremely important for regulating ferroptosis. HSPs regulate ferroptosis in various contexts by stabilizing different protein substrates or

promoting protein degradation. The effect of HSPs on ferroptosis depends on the substrate and certain HSPs, such as HSPA5 and HSP90, have a bidirectional effect at different positions (Zhu et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2022c). The need for multiple HSPs to work together highlights the importance of further exploring the combined role of multiple HSPs in ferroptosis.

In addition, HSPs are important in tumor development and are widely used as potential clinical biomarkers for the diagnosis and prognosis of cancer patients. HSPs, such as HSP70 and HSP90, are targets in cancer therapy and their inhibitors are widely applied. For example, ruxolitinib, a JAK inhibitor, decreases HSP70 and HSP90 expression and inhibits breast tumor growth (Tavallai et al. 2016). A better understanding of the relationship between HSPs and ferroptosis could contribute to the development of more therapeutic tools for cancer and ferroptosis-related diseases. Despite extensive research, the precise role of HSPs in ferroptosis remains unclear. Some HSPs have been shown to have a dual role in regulating ferroptosis, while the interplay between HSPs, apoptosis, and autophagy in this process is not well understood. Additionally, the relationship between different subcellular localizations of HSPs and their impact on ferroptosis requires further investigation. The identification of specific biomarkers associated with HSP-dependent ferroptosis could facilitate its translation into practical applications (Liu et al. 2021b; Chen et al. 2021c).

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest or financial interests.

References

- Adedoyin O, Boddu R, Traylor A, Lever JM, Bolisetty S, George JF, Agarwal A (2018) Heme oxygenase-1 mitigates ferroptosis in renal proximal tubule cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 314(5):F702–F714. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00044.2017
- Akerfelt M, Morimoto RI, Sistonen L (2010) Heat shock factors: integrators of cell stress, development and lifespan. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11(8):545–555. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm2938
- Altieri DC (2013) Hsp90 regulation of mitochondrial protein folding: from organelle integrity to cellular homeostasis. Cell Mol Life Sci 70(14):2463–2472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1177-0
- Archibald JM, Logsdon JM, Doolittle WF (2000) Origin and evolution of eukaryotic chaperonins: phylogenetic evidence for ancient duplications in CCT genes. Mol Biol Evol 17(10):1456–1466
- Arnould T, Michel S, Renard P (2015) Mitochondria retrograde signaling and the UPR mt: where are we in mammals? Int J Mol Sci 16(8):18224–18251. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms160818224
- Attardi G, Schatz G (1988) Biogenesis of mitochondria. Annu Rev Cell Biol 4:289-333
- Bahr T, Katuri J, Liang T, Bai Y (2022) Mitochondrial chaperones in human health and disease. Free Radic Biol Med 179:363–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.11.015
- Berndsen CE, Wolberger C (2014) New insights into ubiquitin E3 ligase mechanism. Nat Struct Mol Biol 21(4):301–307. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2780
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2

- Braakman I, Bulleid NJ (2011) Protein folding and modification in the mammalian endoplasmic reticulum. Annu Rev Biochem 80:71–99. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-062209-093836
- Brand A, Bauer NG, Hallott A, Goldbaum O, Ghebremeskel K, Reifen R, Richter-Landsberg C (2010) Membrane lipid modification by polyunsaturated fatty acids sensitizes oligodendroglial OLN-93 cells against oxidative stress and promotes up-regulation of heme oxygenase-1 (HSP32). J Neurochem 113(2):465–476. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06611.x
- Brown CW, Amante JJ, Chhoy P, Elaimy AL, Liu H, Zhu LJ, Baer CE, Dixon SJ, Mercurio AM (2019) Prominin2 drives ferroptosis resistance by stimulating iron export. Dev Cell 51(5): 575–586.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2019.10.007
- Brown CW, Chhoy P, Mukhopadhyay D, Karner ER, Mercurio AM (2021) Targeting prominin2 transcription to overcome ferroptosis resistance in cancer. EMBO Mol Med 13(8):e13792. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.202013792
- Bruey JM, Ducasse C, Bonniaud P, Ravagnan L, Susin SA, Diaz-Latoud C, Gurbuxani S, Arrigo AP, Kroemer G, Solary E, Garrido C (2000) Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cytochrome c. Nat Cell Biol 2(9):645–652
- Buetow L, Huang DT (2016) Structural insights into the catalysis and regulation of E3 ubiquitin ligases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17(10):626–642. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.91
- Burroughs AM, Balaji S, Iyer LM, Aravind L (2007) Small but versatile: the extraordinary functional and structural diversity of the beta-grasp fold. Biol Direct 2:18
- Calfon M, Zeng H, Urano F, Till JH, Hubbard SR, Harding HP, Clark SG, Ron D (2002) IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. Nature 415(6867):92–96
- Cao JY, Poddar A, Magtanong L, Lumb JH, Mileur TR, Reid MA, Dovey CM, Wang J, Locasale JW, Stone E, Cole SPC, Carette JE, Dixon SJ (2019) A genome-wide haploid genetic screen identifies regulators of glutathione abundance and ferroptosis sensitivity. Cell Rep 26(6): 1544–1556.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.043
- Carra S, Crippa V, Rusmini P, Boncoraglio A, Minoia M, Giorgetti E, Kampinga HH, Poletti A (2012) Alteration of protein folding and degradation in motor neuron diseases: implications and protective functions of small heat shock proteins. Prog Neurobiol 97(2):83–100. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.09.009
- Carra S, Rusmini P, Crippa V, Giorgetti E, Boncoraglio A, Cristofani R, Naujock M, Meister M, Minoia M, Kampinga HH, Poletti A (2013) Different anti-aggregation and pro-degradative functions of the members of the mammalian sHSP family in neurological disorders. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 368(1617):20110409. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0409
- Chen X, Cubillos-Ruiz JR (2021) Endoplasmic reticulum stress signals in the tumour and its microenvironment. Nat Rev Cancer 21(2):71–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-020-00312-2
- Chen H, Zheng C, Zhang Y, Chang Y-Z, Qian Z-M, Shen X (2006) Heat shock protein 27 downregulates the transferrin receptor 1-mediated iron uptake. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 38(8):1402–1416
- Chen Y, Mi Y, Zhang X, Ma Q, Song Y, Zhang L, Wang D, Xing J, Hou B, Li H, Jin H, Du W, Zou Z (2019) Dihydroartemisinin-induced unfolded protein response feedback attenuates ferroptosis via PERK/ATF4/HSPA5 pathway in glioma cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38(1):402. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1413-7
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D (2020) Iron metabolism in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 590226. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.590226
- Chen C, Wang D, Yu Y, Zhao T, Min N, Wu Y, Kang L, Zhao Y, Du L, Zhang M, Gong J, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Mi X, Yue S, Tan X (2021a) Legumain promotes tubular ferroptosis by facilitating chaperone-mediated autophagy of GPX4 in AKI. Cell Death Dis 12(1):65. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41419-020-03362-4
- Chen S, Bu D, Zhu J, Yue T, Guo S, Wang X, Pan Y, Liu Y, Wang P (2021b) Endogenous hydrogen sulfide regulates xCT stability through persulfidation of OTUB1 at cysteine 91 in colon cancer cells. Neoplasia 23(5):461–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2021.03.009

- Chen X, Comish PB, Tang D, Kang R (2021c) Characteristics and biomarkers of ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:637162. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.637162
- Chen X, Kang R, Tang D (2021d) Ferroptosis by lipid peroxidation: the tip of the iceberg? Front Cell Dev Biol 9:646890. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.646890
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021e) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen C, Xie B, Li Z, Chen L, Chen Y, Zhou J, Ju S, Zhou Y, Zhang X, Zhuo W, Yang J, Mao M, Xu L, Wang L (2022a) Fascin enhances the vulnerability of breast cancer to erastin-induced ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 13(2):150. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04579-1
- Chen Q, Zheng W, Guan J, Liu H, Dan Y, Zhu L, Song Y, Zhou Y, Zhao X, Zhang Y, Bai Y, Pan Y, Zhang J, Shao C (2022b) SOCS2-enhanced ubiquitination of SLC7A11 promotes ferroptosis and radiosensitization in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell Death Differ. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41418-022-01051-7
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022c) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Chen X, Song X, Li J, Zhang R, Yu C, Zhou Z, Liu J, Liao S, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022d) Identification of HPCAL1 as a specific autophagy receptor involved in ferroptosis. Autophagy. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2059170
- Chowdhury R, Candela-Lena JI, Chan MC, Greenald DJ, Yeoh KK, Tian Y-M, McDonough MA, Tumber A, Rose NR, Conejo-Garcia A, Demetriades M, Mathavan S, Kawamura A, Lee MK, van Eeden F, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ, Schofield CJ (2013) Selective small molecule probes for the hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) prolyl hydroxylases. ACS Chem Biol 8(7):1488–1496. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb400088q
- Christianson JC, Shaler TA, Tyler RE, Kopito RR (2008) OS-9 and GRP94 deliver mutant alphalantitrypsin to the Hrd1-SEL1L ubiquitin ligase complex for ERAD. Nat Cell Biol 10(3): 272–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1689
- Chun JN, Choi B, Lee KW, Lee DJ, Kang DH, Lee JY, Song IS, Kim HI, Lee S-H, Kim HS, Lee NK, Lee SY, Lee K-J, Kim J, Kang SW (2010) Cytosolic Hsp60 is involved in the NF-kappaB-dependent survival of cancer cells via IKK regulation. PLoS One 5(3):e9422. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0009422
- Colinet H, Lee SF, Hoffmann A (2010) Temporal expression of heat shock genes during cold stress and recovery from chill coma in adult *Drosophila melanogaster*. FEBS J 277(1):174–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07470.x
- Connell P, Ballinger CA, Jiang J, Wu Y, Thompson LJ, Höhfeld J, Patterson C (2001) The co-chaperone CHIP regulates protein triage decisions mediated by heat-shock proteins. Nat Cell Biol 3(1):93–96
- Csoboz B, Gombos I, Kóta Z, Dukic B, Klement É, Varga-Zsíros V, Lipinszki Z, Páli T, Vígh L, Török Z (2022) The small heat shock protein, HSPB1, interacts with and modulates the physical structure of membranes. Int J Mol Sci 23(13):7317. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23137317
- Cui X, Choi H-K, Choi Y-S, Park S-Y, Sung G-J, Lee Y-H, Lee J, Jun WJ, Kim K, Choi K-C, Yoon H-G (2015) DNAJB1 destabilizes PDCD5 to suppress p53-mediated apoptosis. Cancer Lett 357(1):307–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2014.11.041
- Cui J, Zhou Q, Yu M, Liu Y, Teng X, Gu X (2022) 4-Tert-butylphenol triggers common carp hepatocytes ferroptosis via oxidative stress, iron overload, SLC7A11/GSH/GPX4 axis, and ATF4/HSPA5/GPX4 axis. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 242:113944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2022.113944
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110

- Delpino A, Castelli M (2002) The 78 kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78/BIP) is expressed on the cell membrane, is released into cell culture medium and is also present in human peripheral circulation. Biosci Rep 22(3-4):407–420
- Deng H-F, Yue L-X, Wang N-N, Zhou Y-Q, Zhou W, Liu X, Ni Y-H, Huang C-S, Qiu L-Z, Liu H, Tan H-L, Tang X-L, Wang Y-G, Ma Z-C, Gao Y (2020) Mitochondrial iron overload-mediated inhibition of Nrf2-HO-1/GPX4 assisted ALI-induced nephrotoxicity. Front Pharmacol 11: 624529. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.624529
- Deol KK, Lorenz S, Strieter ER (2019) Enzymatic logic of ubiquitin chain assembly. Front Physiol 10:835. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00835
- Ding Y, Chen X, Liu C, Ge W, Wang Q, Hao X, Wang M, Chen Y, Zhang Q (2021) Identification of a small molecule as inducer of ferroptosis and apoptosis through ubiquitination of GPX4 in triple negative breast cancer cells. J Hematol Oncol 14(1):19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-01016-8
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trümbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Füllekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3(3):285–296
- Dong K, Wei R, Jin T, Zhang M, Shen J, Xiang H, Shan B, Yuan J, Li Y (2022) HOIP modulates the stability of GPx4 by linear ubiquitination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 119(44):e2214227119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2214227119
- Dubaquié Y, Looser R, Fünfschilling U, Jenö P, Rospert S (1998) Identification of in vivo substrates of the yeast mitochondrial chaperonins reveals overlapping but non-identical requirement for hsp60 and hsp10. EMBO J 17(20):5868–5876
- Eletto D, Dersh D, Argon Y (2010) GRP94 in ER quality control and stress responses. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21(5):479–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2010.03.004
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, Gu S, Gao F, Zhu N, Yin X, Cheng Q, Zhang P, Dai W, Chen J, Yang F, Yang H-T, Linkermann A, Gu W, Min J, Wang F (2019) Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(7):2672–2680. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116
- Feng L, Zhao K, Sun L, Yin X, Zhang J, Liu C, Li B (2021) SLC7A11 regulated by NRF2 modulates esophageal squamous cell carcinoma radiosensitivity by inhibiting ferroptosis. J Transl Med 19(1):367. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-021-03042-7
- Fiorese CJ, Haynes CM (2017) Integrating the UPR into the mitochondrial maintenance network. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 52(3):304–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409238.2017.1291577
- Fleming MD, Trenor CC, Su MA, Foernzler D, Beier DR, Dietrich WF, Andrews NC (1997) Microcytic anaemia mice have a mutation in Nramp2, a candidate iron transporter gene. Nat Genet 16(4):383–386
- Fuhrmann DC, Mondorf A, Beifuß J, Jung M, Brüne B (2020) Hypoxia inhibits ferritinophagy, increases mitochondrial ferritin, and protects from ferroptosis. Redox Biol 36:101670. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101670

- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, Alnemri ES, Altucci L, Amelio I, Andrews DW, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Antonov AV, Arama E, Baehrecke EH, Barlev NA, Bazan NG, Bernassola F, Bertrand MJM, Bianchi K, Blagosklonny MV, Blomgren K, Borner C, Bova P, Brenner C, Campanella M, Candi E, Carmona-Gutierrez D, Cecconi F, Chan FKM, Chandel NS, Cheng EH, Chipuk JE, Cidlowski JA, Ciechanover A, Cohen GM, Conrad M, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Czabotar PE, D'Angiolella V, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, De Laurenzi V, De Maria R, Debatin K-M, DeBerardinis RJ, Deshmukh M, Di Daniele N, Di Virgilio F, Dixit VM, Dixon SJ, Duckett CS, Dynlacht BD, El-Deiry WS, Elrod JW, Fimia GM, Fulda S, García-Sáez AJ, Garg AD, Garrido C, Gavathiotis E, Golstein P, Gottlieb E, Green DR. Greene LA. Gronemever H. Gross A. Hainoczky G. Hardwick JM. Harris IS. Hengartner MO, Hetz C, Ichijo H, Jäättelä M, Joseph B, Jost PJ, Juin PP, Kaiser WJ, Karin M, Kaufmann T, Kepp O, Kimchi A, Kitsis RN, Klionsky DJ, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lee SW, Lemasters JJ, Levine B, Linkermann A, Lipton SA, Lockshin RA, López-Otín C, Lowe SW, Luedde T, Lugli E, MacFarlane M, Madeo F, Malewicz M, Malorni W, Manic G, Marine J-C, Martin SJ, Martinou J-C, Medema JP, Mehlen P, Meier P, Melino S, Miao EA, Molkentin JD, Moll UM, Muñoz-Pinedo C, Nagata S, Nuñez G, Oberst A, Oren M, Overholtzer M, Pagano M, Panaretakis T, Pasparakis M, Penninger JM, Pereira DM, Pervaiz S, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Pinton P, Prehn JHM, Puthalakath H, Rabinovich GA, Rehm M, Rizzuto R, Rodrigues CMP, Rubinsztein DC, Rudel T, Ryan KM, Sayan E, Scorrano L, Shao F, Shi Y, Silke J, Simon H-U, Sistigu A, Stockwell BR, Strasser A, Szabadkai G, Tait SWG, Tang D, Tavernarakis N, Thorburn A, Tsujimoto Y, Turk B, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Vander Heiden MG, Villunger A, Virgin HW, Vousden KH, Vucic D, Wagner EF, Walczak H, Wallach D, Wang Y, Wells JA, Wood W, Yuan J, Zakeri Z, Zhivotovsky B, Zitvogel L, Melino G, Kroemer G (2018) Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2018. Cell Death Differ 25(3):486-541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4
- Gao Y, Han C, Huang H, Xin Y, Xu Y, Luo L, Yin Z (2010) Heat shock protein 70 together with its co-chaperone CHIP inhibits TNF-alpha induced apoptosis by promoting proteasomal degradation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase1. Apoptosis 15(7):822–833. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10495-010-0495-7
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Ghandi M, Huang FW, Jané-Valbuena J, Kryukov GV, Lo CC, McDonald ER, Barretina J, Gelfand ET, Bielski CM, Li H, Hu K, Andreev-Drakhlin AY, Kim J, Hess JM, Haas BJ, Aguet F, Weir BA, Rothberg MV, Paolella BR, Lawrence MS, Akbani R, Lu Y, Tiv HL, Gokhale PC, de Weck A, Mansour AA, Oh C, Shih J, Hadi K, Rosen Y, Bistline J, Venkatesan K, Reddy A, Sonkin D, Liu M, Lehar J, Korn JM, Porter DA, Jones MD, Golji J, Caponigro G, Taylor JE, Dunning CM, Creech AL, Warren AC, McFarland JM, Zamanighomi M, Kauffmann A, Stransky N, Imielinski M, Maruvka YE, Cherniack AD, Tsherniak A, Vazquez F, Jaffe JD, Lane AA, Weinstock DM, Johannessen CM, Morrissey MP, Stegmeier F, Schlegel R, Hahn WC, Getz G, Mills GB, Boehm JS, Golub TR, Garraway LA, Sellers WR (2019) Next-generation characterization of the cancer cell line encyclopedia. Nature 569(7757):503–508. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1186-3
- Ghosh JC, Dohi T, Kang BH, Altieri DC (2008) Hsp60 regulation of tumor cell apoptosis. J Biol Chem 283(8):5188–5194
- Greene MK, Maskos K, Landry SJ (1998) Role of the J-domain in the cooperation of Hsp40 with Hsp70. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(11):6108–6113
- Gupta RS (1995) Phylogenetic analysis of the 90 kD heat shock family of protein sequences and an examination of the relationship among animals, plants, and fungi species. Mol Biol Evol 12(6): 1063–1073
- Hageman J, Rujano MA, van Waarde MAWH, Kakkar V, Dirks RP, Govorukhina N, Oosterveld-Hut HMJ, Lubsen NH, Kampinga HH (2010) A DNAJB chaperone subfamily with

HDAC-dependent activities suppresses toxic protein aggregation. Mol Cell 37(3):355–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.001

- Hao S, Yu J, He W, Huang Q, Zhao Y, Liang B, Zhang S, Wen Z, Dong S, Rao J, Liao W, Shi M (2017) Cysteine dioxygenase 1 mediates erastin-induced ferroptosis in human gastric cancer cells. Neoplasia 19(12):1022–1032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2017.10.005
- Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D (1999) Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase. Nature 397(6716):271–274. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 16729
- Hartl FU (1996) Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. Nature 381(6583):571-579
- Hartl FU, Bracher A, Hayer-Hartl M (2011) Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. Nature 475(7356):324–332. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10317
- Hasegawa T, Yoshida S, Sugeno N, Kobayashi J, Aoki M (2017) DnaJ/Hsp40 family and Parkinson's disease. Front Neurosci 11:743. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00743
- Haslbeck M, Vierling E (2015) A first line of stress defense: small heat shock proteins and their function in protein homeostasis. J Mol Biol 427(7):1537–1548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb. 2015.02.002
- Haze K, Yoshida H, Yanagi H, Yura T, Mori K (1999) Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Mol Biol Cell 10(11):3787–3799
- Herrmann JM, Stuart RA, Craig EA, Neupert W (1994) Mitochondrial heat shock protein 70, a molecular chaperone for proteins encoded by mitochondrial DNA. J Cell Biol 127(4):893–902
- Hetz C, Glimcher LH (2009) Fine-tuning of the unfolded protein response: assembling the IRE1alpha interactome. Mol Cell 35(5):551–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.08.021
- Hetz C, Zhang K, Kaufman RJ (2020) Mechanisms, regulation and functions of the unfolded protein response. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 21(8):421–438. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0250-z
- Hillary RF, FitzGerald U (2018) A lifetime of stress: ATF6 in development and homeostasis. J Biomed Sci 25(1):48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-018-0453-1
- Hollien J, Weissman JS (2006) Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science 313(5783):104–107
- Honrath B, Metz I, Bendridi N, Rieusset J, Culmsee C, Dolga AM (2017) Glucose-regulated protein 75 determines ER-mitochondrial coupling and sensitivity to oxidative stress in neuronal cells. Cell Death Discov 3:17076. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.76
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2016.1187366
- Hu N, Bai L, Dai E, Han L, Kang R, Li H, Tang D (2021) Pirin is a nuclear redox-sensitive modulator of autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 536:100–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.12.066
- Huang Y-H, Lin K-H, Yu J-S, Wu T-J, Lee W-C, Chao CCK, Pan T-L, Yeh C-T (2018) Targeting HSP60 by subcutaneous injections of jetPEI/HSP60-shRNA destabilizes cytoplasmic survivin and inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma growth. Mol Carcinog 57(9):1087–1101. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mc.22827
- Ibrahim IM, Abdelmalek DH, Elfiky AA (2019) GRP78: a cell's response to stress. Life Sci 226: 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.04.022
- Inouye S, Hatori Y, Kubo T, Saito S, Kitamura H, Akagi R (2018) NRF2 and HSF1 coordinately regulate heme oxygenase-1 expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 506(1):7–11. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.10.030
- Jiang B, Zhao Y, Shi M, Song L, Wang Q, Qin Q, Song X, Wu S, Fang Z, Liu X (2020) DNAJB6 promotes ferroptosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci 65(7):1999–2008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05929-4
- Johnson JL (2012) Evolution and function of diverse Hsp90 homologs and cochaperone proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823(3):607–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.09.020

- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JPF, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayır H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kaida A, Iwakuma T (2021) Regulation of p53 and cancer signaling by heat shock protein 40/Jdomain protein family members. Int J Mol Sci 22(24):13527. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms222413527
- Kampinga HH, Craig EA (2010) The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11(8):579–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2941
- Kang R, Tang D (2017) Autophagy and ferroptosis what's the connection? Curr Pathobiol Rep 5(2):153–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40139-017-0139-5
- Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2019) The tumor suppressor protein p53 and the ferroptosis network. Free Radic Biol Med 133:162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.05.074
- Kang YP, Mockabee-Macias A, Jiang C, Falzone A, Prieto-Farigua N, Stone E, Harris IS, DeNicola GM (2021) Non-canonical glutamate-cysteine ligase activity protects against ferroptosis. Cell Metab 33(1):174–189.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.12.007
- Kang H, Dong Y, Peng R, Liu H, Guo Q, Song K, Zhu M, Yu K, Wu W, Li F (2022) Inhibition of IRE1 suppresses the catabolic effect of IL-1β on nucleus pulposus cell and prevents intervertebral disc degeneration in vivo. Biochem Pharmacol 197:114932. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp. 2022.114932
- Kim HJ, Kim S-Y, Kim D-H, Park JS, Jeong SH, Choi YW, Kim C-H (2021) Crosstalk between HSPA5 arginylation and sequential ubiquitination leads to AKT degradation through autophagy flux. Autophagy 17(4):961–979. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1740529
- Kim J, Jo Y, Cho D, Ryu D (2022) L-threonine promotes healthspan by expediting ferritindependent ferroptosis inhibition in C. elegans. Nat Commun 13(1):6554. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41467-022-34265-x
- Kityk R, Kopp J, Mayer MP (2018) Molecular mechanism of J-domain-triggered ATP hydrolysis by Hsp70 chaperones. Mol Cell 69(2):227–237.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017. 12.003
- Klebl DP, Feasey MC, Hesketh EL, Ranson NA, Wurdak H, Sobott F, Bon RS, Muench SP (2021) Cryo-EM structure of human mitochondrial HSPD1. iScience 24(1):102022. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.isci.2020.102022
- Kmiecik SW, Mayer MP (2022) Molecular mechanisms of heat shock factor 1 regulation. Trends Biochem Sci 47(3):218–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2021.10.004
- Kmiecik SW, Le Breton L, Mayer MP (2020) Feedback regulation of heat shock factor 1 (Hsf1) activity by Hsp70-mediated trimer unzipping and dissociation from DNA. EMBO J 39(14): e104096. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019104096
- Kohli E, Causse S, Baverel V, Dubrez L, Borges-Bonan N, Demidov O, Garrido C (2021) Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones in viral infection: therapeutic perspectives. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 85(4):e0003521. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00035-21
- Kozlov G, Gehring K (2020) Calnexin cycle structural features of the ER chaperone system. FEBS J 287(20):4322–4340. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15330
- Kraft VAN, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Müller C, Zandkarimi F, Merl-Pham J, Bao X, Anastasov N, Kössl J, Brandner S, Daniels JD, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Hauck SM, Stockwell BR, Hadian K, Schick JA (2020) GTP Cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract ferroptosis through lipid remodeling. ACS Cent Sci 6(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 9b01063
- Kuang F, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2020) Oxidative damage and antioxidant defense in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:586578. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.586578
- Kuang F, Liu J, Xie Y, Tang D, Kang R (2021) MGST1 is a redox-sensitive repressor of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Cell. Chem Biol 28(6):765–775.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2021.01.006

- Lam TYW, Nguyen N, Peh HY, Shanmugasundaram M, Chandna R, Tee JH, Ong CB, Hossain MZ, Venugopal S, Zhang T, Xu S, Qiu T, Kong WT, Chakarov S, Srivastava S, Liao W, Kim J-S, Teh M, Ginhoux F, Fred Wong WS, Ge R (2022) ISM1 protects lung homeostasis via cell-surface GRP78-mediated alveolar macrophage apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 119(4): e2019161119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2019161119
- Lambert H, Charette SJ, Bernier AF, Guimond A, Landry J (1999) HSP27 multimerization mediated by phosphorylation-sensitive intermolecular interactions at the amino terminus. J Biol Chem 274(14):9378–9385
- Lee A-H, Iwakoshi NN, Glimcher LH (2003) XBP-1 regulates a subset of endoplasmic reticulum resident chaperone genes in the unfolded protein response. Mol Cell Biol 23(21):7448–7459
- Levy-Rimler G, Viitanen P, Weiss C, Sharkia R, Greenberg A, Niv A, Lustig A, Delarea Y, Azem A (2001) The effect of nucleotides and mitochondrial chaperonin 10 on the structure and chaperone activity of mitochondrial chaperonin 60. Eur J Biochem 268(12):3465–3472
- Lewis M, Helmsing PJ, Ashburner M (1975) Parallel changes in puffing activity and patterns of protein synthesis in salivary glands of Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72(9):3604–3608
- Li L, Wu D, Deng S, Li J, Zhang F, Zou Y, Zhang T, Xu Y (2022) NVP-AUY922 alleviates radiation-induced lung injury via inhibition of autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Cell Death Discov 8(1):86. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-00887-9
- Lian H, Guan P, Tan H, Zhang X, Meng Z (2022) Near-infrared light triggered multi-hit therapeutic nanosystem for tumor specific photothermal effect amplified signal pathway regulation and ferroptosis. Bioact Mater 9:63–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2021.07.014
- Liang D, Minikes AM, Jiang X (2022) Ferroptosis at the intersection of lipid metabolism and cellular signaling. Mol Cell 82(12):2215–2227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2022.03.022
- Lin Z, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021) Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Adv Biol (Weinh) 5(8):e2100396. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.202100396
- Lin Z, Liu J, Long F, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D, Yang M (2022) The lipid flippase SLC47A1 blocks metabolic vulnerability to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):7965. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-35707-2
- Liu Z, Lv Y, Zhao N, Guan G, Wang J (2015) Protein kinase R-like ER kinase and its role in endoplasmic reticulum stress-decided cell fate. Cell Death Dis 6:e1822. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2015.183
- Liu T, Jiang L, Tavana O, Gu W (2019a) The deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3037
- Liu T, Jiang L, Tavana O, Gu W (2019b) The Deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. Cancer Res 79(8):1913–1924. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-18-3037
- Liu C, Yan D-Y, Wang C, Ma Z, Deng Y, Liu W, Xu B (2020a) IRE1 signaling pathway mediates protective autophagic response against manganese-induced neuronal apoptosis in vivo and in vitro. Sci Total Environ 712:136480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136480
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2020b) ESCRT-III-mediated membrane repair in cell death and tumor resistance. Cancer Gene Ther. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-020-0200-0
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2021a) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Liu J, Zhu S, Zeng L, Li J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Jiang J, Tang D, Kang R (2021b) DCN released from ferroptotic cells ignites AGER-dependent immune responses. Autophagy 18(9): 2036–2049. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.2008692
- Liu M, Fan Y, Li D, Han B, Meng Y, Chen F, Liu T, Song Z, Han Y, Huang L, Chang Y, Cao P, Nakai A, Tan K (2021c) Ferroptosis inducer erastin sensitizes NSCLC cells to celastrol through activation of the ROS-mitochondrial fission-mitophagy axis. Mol Oncol 15(8):2084–2105. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12936
- Liu R, Liu L, Bian Y, Zhang S, Wang Y, Chen H, Jiang X, Li G, Chen Q, Xue C, Li M, Liu L, Liu X, Ma S (2021d) The dual regulation effects of ESR1/NEDD4L on SLC7A11 in breast

cancer under ionizing radiation. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:772380. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell. 2021.772380

- Liu C, Sun W, Zhu T, Shi S, Zhang J, Wang J, Gao F, Ou Q, Jin C, Li J, Xu J-Y, Zhang J, Tian H, Xu G-T, Lu L (2022a) Glia maturation factor-β induces ferroptosis by impairing chaperonemediated autophagic degradation of ACSL4 in early diabetic retinopathy. Redox Biol 52: 102292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102292
- Liu J, Ren Z, Yang L, Zhu L, Li Y, Bie C, Liu H, Ji Y, Chen D, Zhu M, Kuang W (2022b) The NSUN5-FTH1/FTL pathway mediates ferroptosis in bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Death Discov 8(1):99. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-00902-z
- Liu L, Zhang C, Qu S, Liu R, Chen H, Liang Z, Tian Z, Li L, Ma S, Liu X (2022c) ESR1 inhibits ionizing radiation-induced ferroptosis in breast cancer cells via the NEDD4L/CD71 pathway. Arch Biochem Biophys 725:109299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2022.109299
- Lv M, Cai Y, Hou W, Peng K, Xu K, Lu C, Yu W, Zhang W, Liu L (2022) The RNA-binding protein SND1 promotes the degradation of GPX4 by destabilizing the HSPA5 mRNA and suppressing HSPA5 expression, promoting ferroptosis in osteoarthritis chondrocytes. Inflamm Res 71(4):461–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00011-022-01547-5
- Ma S, Henson ES, Chen Y, Gibson SB (2016) Ferroptosis is induced following siramesine and lapatinib treatment of breast cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 7:e2307. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis. 2016.208
- Magtanong L, Ko P-J, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, Ward CC, Cho K, Patti GJ, Nomura DK, Olzmann JA, Dixon SJ (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(3):420–432.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016
- Mahat DB, Salamanca HH, Duarte FM, Danko CG, Lis JT (2016) Mammalian heat shock response and mechanisms underlying its genome-wide transcriptional regulation. Mol Cell 62(1):63–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.02.025
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Martinus RD, Garth GP, Webster TL, Cartwright P, Naylor DJ, Høj PB, Hoogenraad NJ (1996) Selective induction of mitochondrial chaperones in response to loss of the mitochondrial genome. Eur J Biochem 240(1):98–103
- Marzec M, Eletto D, Argon Y (2012) GRP94: an HSP90-like protein specialized for protein folding and quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823(3):774–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.10.013
- McDowell GS, Kucerova R, Philpott A (2010) Non-canonical ubiquitylation of the proneural protein Ngn2 occurs in both Xenopus embryos and mammalian cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 400(4):655–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.08.122
- Menezes ME, Mitra A, Shevde LA, Samant RS (2012) DNAJB6 governs a novel regulatory loop determining Wnt/β-catenin signalling activity. Biochem J 444(3):573–580. https://doi.org/10. 1042/BJ20120205
- Menon AV, Liu J, Tsai HP, Zeng L, Yang S, Asnani A, Kim J (2022) Excess heme upregulates heme oxygenase 1 and promotes cardiac ferroptosis in mice with sickle cell disease. Blood 139(6):936–941. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020008455
- Miao Z, Tian W, Ye Y, Gu W, Bao Z, Xu L, Sun G, Li C, Tu Y, Chao H, Lam SM, Liu N, Ji J (2022) Hsp90 induces Acsl4-dependent glioma ferroptosis via dephosphorylating Ser637 at Drp1. Cell Death Dis 13(6):548. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04997-1
- Mishima E, Ito J, Wu Z, Nakamura T, Wahida A, Doll S, Tonnus W, Nepachalovich P, Eggenhofer E, Aldrovandi M, Henkelmann B, Yamada K-I, Wanninger J, Zilka O, Sato E, Feederle R, Hass D, Maida A, Mourão ASD, Linkermann A, Geissler EK, Nakagawa K, Abe T, Fedorova M, Proneth B, Pratt DA, Conrad M (2022) A non-canonical vitamin K cycle is a potent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 608(7924):778–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05022-3

- Mohrin M, Shin J, Liu Y, Brown K, Luo H, Xi Y, Haynes CM, Chen D (2015) Stem cell aging. A mitochondrial UPR-mediated metabolic checkpoint regulates hematopoietic stem cell aging. Science 347(6228):1374–1377. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2361
- Nylandsted J, Gyrd-Hansen M, Danielewicz A, Fehrenbacher N, Lademann U, Høyer-Hansen M, Weber E, Multhoff G, Rohde M, Jäättelä M (2004) Heat shock protein 70 promotes cell survival by inhibiting lysosomal membrane permeabilization. J Exp Med 200(4):425–435
- Ou Y, Wang S-J, Li D, Chu B, Gu W (2016) Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(44):E6806–E6812
- Oyadomari S, Yun C, Fisher EA, Kreglinger N, Kreibich G, Oyadomari M, Harding HP, Goodman AG, Harant H, Garrison JL, Taunton J, Katze MG, Ron D (2006) Cotranslocational degradation protects the stressed endoplasmic reticulum from protein overload. Cell 126(4):727–739
- Papa L, Germain D (2011) Estrogen receptor mediates a distinct mitochondrial unfolded protein response. J Cell Sci 124(Pt 9):1396–1402. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.078220
- Patel SJ, Frey AG, Palenchar DJ, Achar S, Bullough KZ, Vashisht A, Wohlschlegel JA, Philpott CC (2019) A PCBP1-BolA2 chaperone complex delivers iron for cytosolic [2Fe-2S] cluster assembly. Nat Chem Biol 15(9):872–881. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0330-6
- Patel SJ, Protchenko O, Shakoury-Elizeh M, Baratz E, Jadhav S, Philpott CC (2021) The iron chaperone and nucleic acid-binding activities of poly(rC)-binding protein 1 are separable and independently essential. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 118(25):e2104666118. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.2104666118
- Petronini PG, Alfieri R, Campanini C, Borghetti AF (1995) Effect of an alkaline shift on induction of the heat shock response in human fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol 162(3):322–329
- Pickles S, Vigié P, Youle RJ (2018) Mitophagy and quality control mechanisms in mitochondrial maintenance. Curr Biol 28(4):R170–R185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.004
- Pincus D, Anandhakumar J, Thiru P, Guertin MJ, Erkine AM, Gross DS (2018) Genetic and epigenetic determinants establish a continuum of Hsf1 occupancy and activity across the yeast genome. Mol Biol Cell 29(26):3168–3182. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E18-06-0353
- Pobre KFR, Poet GJ, Hendershot LM (2019) The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperone BiP is a master regulator of ER functions: getting by with a little help from ERdj friends. J Biol Chem 294(6):2098–2108. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV118.002804
- Prins D, Michalak M (2011) Organellar calcium buffers. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3(3): a004069. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004069
- Quirós PM, Mottis A, Auwerx J (2016) Mitonuclear communication in homeostasis and stress. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17(4):213–226. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.23
- Rath E, Moschetta A, Haller D (2018) Mitochondrial function gatekeeper of intestinal epithelial cell homeostasis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 15(8):497–516. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41575-018-0021-x
- Richter K, Haslbeck M, Buchner J (2010) The heat shock response: life on the verge of death. Mol Cell 40(2):253–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.10.006
- Ritossa F (1996) Discovery of the heat shock response. Cell Stress Chaperones 1(2):97-98
- Roger AJ, Muñoz-Gómez SA, Kamikawa R (2017) The origin and diversification of mitochondria. Curr Biol 27(21):R1177–R1192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.09.015
- Rosenzweig R, Nillegoda NB, Mayer MP, Bukau B (2019) The Hsp70 chaperone network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(11):665–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0133-3
- Rossin F, Villella VR, D'Eletto M, Farrace MG, Esposito S, Ferrari E, Monzani R, Occhigrossi L, Pagliarini V, Sette C, Cozza G, Barlev NA, Falasca L, Fimia GM, Kroemer G, Raia V, Maiuri L, Piacentini M (2018) TG2 regulates the heat-shock response by the post-translational modification of HSF1. EMBO Rep 19(7):e45067. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201745067
- Rutkowski DT, Kang S-W, Goodman AG, Garrison JL, Taunton J, Katze MG, Kaufman RJ, Hegde RS (2007) The role of p58IPK in protecting the stressed endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Biol Cell 18(9):3681–3691
- Sahi C, Craig EA (2007) Network of general and specialty J protein chaperones of the yeast cytosol. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(17):7163–7168

- Samali A, Cai J, Zhivotovsky B, Jones DP, Orrenius S (1999) Presence of a pre-apoptotic complex of pro-caspase-3, Hsp60 and Hsp10 in the mitochondrial fraction of jurkat cells. EMBO J 18(8): 2040–2048
- Schopf FH, Biebl MM, Buchner J (2017) The HSP90 chaperone machinery. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 18(6):345–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.20
- Sepulveda D, Rojas-Rivera D, Rodríguez DA, Groenendyk J, Köhler A, Lebeaupin C, Ito S, Urra H, Carreras-Sureda A, Hazari Y, Vasseur-Cognet M, Ali MMU, Chevet E, Campos G, Godoy P, Vaisar T, Bailly-Maitre B, Nagata K, Michalak M, Sierralta J, Hetz C (2018) Interactome screening identifies the ER luminal chaperone Hsp47 as a regulator of the unfolded protein response transducer IRE1α. Mol Cell 69(2):238–252.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017. 12.028
- Sharp FR, Massa SM, Swanson RA (1999) Heat-shock protein protection. Trends Neurosci 22(3): 97–99
- Shi Y, Mosser DD, Morimoto RI (1998) Molecular chaperones as HSF1-specific transcriptional repressors. Genes Dev 12(5):654–666
- Shimada K, Skouta R, Kaplan A, Yang WS, Hayano M, Dixon SJ, Brown LM, Valenzuela CA, Wolpaw AJ, Stockwell BR (2016) Global survey of cell death mechanisms reveals metabolic regulation of ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 12(7):497–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio. 2079
- Solís EJ, Pandey JP, Zheng X, Jin DX, Gupta PB, Airoldi EM, Pincus D, Denic V (2018) Defining the essential function of yeast Hsf1 reveals a compact transcriptional program for maintaining eukaryotic Proteostasis. Mol Cell 69(3):534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.01.021
- Song X, Xie Y, Kang R, Hou W, Sun X, Epperly MW, Greenberger JS, Tang D (2016) FANCD2 protects against bone marrow injury from ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 480(3): 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.068
- Song X, Zhu S, Chen P, Hou W, Wen Q, Liu J, Xie Y, Liu J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2018a) AMPK-mediated BECN1 phosphorylation promotes ferroptosis by directly blocking system X activity. Curr Biol 28(15):2388–2399.e5. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.094
- Song X, Zhu S, Chen P, Hou W, Wen Q, Liu J, Xie Y, Liu J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2018b) AMPK-mediated BECN1 phosphorylation promotes ferroptosis by directly blocking system xc(-) activity. Curr Biol 28(15):2388–2399e2385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.094
- Soula M, Weber RA, Zilka O, Alwaseem H, La K, Yen F, Molina H, Garcia-Bermudez J, Pratt DA, Birsoy K (2020) Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to canonical ferroptosis inducers. Nat Chem Biol 16(12):1351–1360. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0613-y
- Sozen E, Demirel-Yalciner T, Sari D, Ozer NK (2022) Cholesterol accumulation in hepatocytes mediates IRE1/p38 branch of endoplasmic reticulum stress to promote nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Free Radic Biol Med 191:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022. 08.024
- Spinelli JB, Haigis MC (2018) The multifaceted contributions of mitochondria to cellular metabolism. Nat Cell Biol 20(7):745–754. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0124-1
- Spradling A, Pardue ML, Penman S (1977) Messenger RNA in heat-shocked Drosophila cells. J Mol Biol 109(4):559–587
- Srivastava S, Savanur MA, Sinha D, Birje A, Vigneshwaran R, Saha PP, D'Silva P (2017) Regulation of mitochondrial protein import by the nucleotide exchange factors GrpEL1 and GrpEL2 in human cells. J Biol Chem 292(44):18075–18090. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117. 788463
- Sun Y, MacRae TH (2005) Small heat shock proteins: molecular structure and chaperone function. Cell Mol Life Sci 62(21):2460–2476
- Sun X, Ou Z, Xie M, Kang R, Fan Y, Niu X, Wang H, Cao L, Tang D (2015) HSPB1 as a novel regulator of ferroptotic cancer cell death. Oncogene 34(45):5617–5625. https://doi.org/10.1038/ onc.2015.32

- Sun G, Cao Y, Xu Y, Huai D, Chen P, Guo J, Li M, Dai Y (2019a) Overexpression of Hsc70 promotes proliferation, migration, and invasion of human glioma cells. J Cell Biochem 120(6): 10707–10714. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.28362
- Sun X, Li X, Jia H, Loor JJ, Bucktrout R, Xu Q, Wang Y, Shu X, Dong J, Zuo R, Yang L, Liu G, Li X (2019b) Effect of heat-shock protein B7 on oxidative stress in adipocytes from preruminant calves. J Dairy Sci 102(6):5673–5685. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15726
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020) Ferroptosis. Curr Biol 30(21):R1292–R1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2020.09.068
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021a) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tang L-J, Zhou Y-J, Xiong X-M, Li N-S, Zhang J-J, Luo X-J, Peng J (2021b) Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 promotes ferroptosis via activation of the p53/TfR1 pathway in the rat hearts after ischemia/reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 162:339–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2020.10.307
- Tang Y, Zhou Y, Fan S, Wen Q (2022) The multiple roles and therapeutic potential of HSP60 in cancer. Biochem Pharmacol 201:115096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115096
- Tavallai M, Booth L, Roberts JL, Poklepovic A, Dent P (2016) Rationally repurposing Ruxolitinib (Jakafi (®)) as a solid tumor therapeutic. Front Oncol 6:142. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2016. 00142
- Tedesco B, Cristofani R, Ferrari V, Cozzi M, Rusmini P, Casarotto E, Chierichetti M, Mina F, Galbiati M, Piccolella M, Crippa V, Poletti A (2022a) Insights on human small heat shock proteins and their alterations in diseases. Front Mol Biosci 9:842149. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmolb.2022.842149
- Tedesco B, Ferrari V, Cozzi M, Chierichetti M, Casarotto E, Pramaggiore P, Mina F, Galbiati M, Rusmini P, Crippa V, Cristofani R, Poletti A (2022b) The role of small heat shock proteins in protein misfolding associated motoneuron diseases. Int J Mol Sci 23(19):11759. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms231911759
- Tesfay L, Paul BT, Konstorum A, Deng Z, Cox AO, Lee J, Furdui CM, Hegde P, Torti FM, Torti SV (2019) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 protects ovarian cancer cells from ferroptotic cell death. Cancer Res 79(20):5355–5366. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0369
- Thakur A, Chitoor B, Goswami AV, Pareek G, Atreya HS, D'Silva P (2012) Structure and mechanistic insights into novel iron-mediated moonlighting functions of human J-protein cochaperone, Dph4. J Biol Chem 287(16):13194–13205. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112. 339655
- Tissières A, Mitchell HK, Tracy UM (1974) Protein synthesis in salivary glands of *Drosophila* melanogaster: relation to chromosome puffs. J Mol Biol 84(3):389–398
- Tong J, Li D, Meng H, Sun D, Lan X, Ni M, Ma J, Zeng F, Sun S, Fu J, Li G, Ji Q, Zhang G, Shen Q, Wang Y, Zhu J, Zhao Y, Wang X, Liu Y, Ouyang S, Sheng C, Shen F, Wang P (2022) Targeting a novel inducible GPX4 alternative isoform to alleviate ferroptosis and treat metabolic-associated fatty liver disease. Acta Pharm Sin B 12(9):3650–3666. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.apsb.2022.02.003
- Triandafillou CG, Katanski CD, Dinner AR, Drummond DA (2020) Transient intracellular acidification regulates the core transcriptional heat shock response. elife 9:e54880. https://doi.org/10. 7554/eLife.54880
- Trinh DLN, Elwi AN, Kim S-W (2010) Direct interaction between p53 and Tid1 proteins affects p53 mitochondrial localization and apoptosis. Oncotarget 1(6):396–404
- Tutar L, Tutar Y (2010) Heat shock proteins; an overview. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 11(2):216–222
- Van Krieken R, Tsai Y-L, Carlos AJ, Ha DP, Lee AS (2021) ER residential chaperone GRP78 unconventionally relocalizes to the cell surface via endosomal transport. Cell Mol Life Sci 78(12):5179–5195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-021-03849-z
- Vihervaara A, Duarte FM, Lis JT (2018) Molecular mechanisms driving transcriptional stress responses. Nat Rev Genet 19(6):385–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-018-0001-6

- Viitanen PV, Lorimer GH, Seetharam R, Gupta RS, Oppenheim J, Thomas JO, Cowan NJ (1992) Mammalian mitochondrial chaperonin 60 functions as a single toroidal ring. J Biol Chem 267(2):695–698
- Vilasi S, Carrotta R, Mangione MR, Campanella C, Librizzi F, Randazzo L, Martorana V, Marino Gammazza A, Ortore MG, Vilasi A, Pocsfalvi G, Burgio G, Corona D, Palumbo Piccionello A, Zummo G, Bulone D, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL, San Biagio PL, Cappello F (2014) Human Hsp60 with its mitochondrial import signal occurs in solution as heptamers and tetradecamers remarkably stable over a wide range of concentrations. PLoS One 9(5):e97657. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097657
- Vosper JMD, McDowell GS, Hindley CJ, Fiore-Heriche CS, Kucerova R, Horan I, Philpott A (2009) Ubiquitylation on canonical and non-canonical sites targets the transcription factor neurogenin for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. J Biol Chem 284(23):15458–15468. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M809366200
- Walter P, Ron D (2011) The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. Science 334(6059):1081–1086. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1209038
- Wang M, Wey S, Zhang Y, Ye R, Lee AS (2009) Role of the unfolded protein response regulator GRP78/BiP in development, cancer, and neurological disorders. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(9): 2307–2316. https://doi.org/10.1089/ARS.2009.2485
- Wang D, Peng Y, Xie Y, Zhou B, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Antiferroptotic activity of non-oxidative dopamine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 480(4):602–607. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.099
- Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2020) NEDD4L-mediated LTF protein degradation limits ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 531(4):581–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2020.07.032
- Wang N, Ma H, Li J, Meng C, Zou J, Wang H, Liu K, Liu M, Xiao X, Zhang H, Wang K (2021) HSF1 functions as a key defender against palmitic acid-induced ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 150:65–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2020.10.010
- Wang K, He J, Tu C, Xu H, Zhang X, Lv Y, Song C (2022a) Upregulation of CCT3 predicts poor prognosis and promotes cell proliferation via inhibition of ferroptosis and activation of AKT signaling in lung adenocarcinoma. BMC Mol Cell Biol 23(1):25. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12860-022-00424-7
- Wang L, Wu S, He H, Ai K, Xu R, Zhang L, Zhu X (2022b) CircRNA-ST6GALNAC6 increases the sensitivity of bladder cancer cells to erastin-induced ferroptosis by regulating the HSPB1/ P38 axis. Lab Investig. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41374-022-00826-3
- Wang R, Hua L, Ma P, Song Y, Min J, Guo Y, Yang C, Li J, Su H (2022c) HSPA5 repressed ferroptosis to promote colorectal cancer development by maintaining GPX4 stability. Neoplasma 69(5):1054–1069. https://doi.org/10.4149/neo_2022_220331N363
- Wang Y, Zheng L, Shang W, Yang Z, Li T, Liu F, Shao W, Lv L, Chai L, Qu L, Xu Q, Du J, Liang X, Zeng J, Jia J (2022d) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling confers ferroptosis resistance by targeting GPX4 in gastric cancer. Cell Death Differ 29(11):2190–2202. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41418-022-01008-w
- Wei J, Chen L, Li F, Yuan Y, Wang Y, Xia W, Zhang Y, Xu Y, Yang Z, Gao B, Jin C, Melo-Cardenas J, Green RM, Pan H, Wang J, He F, Zhang K, Fang D (2018) HRD1-ERAD controls production of the hepatokine FGF21 through CREBH polyubiquitination. EMBO J 37(22): e98942. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201898942
- Wei R, Zhao Y, Wang J, Yang X, Li S, Wang Y, Yang X, Fei J, Hao X, Zhao Y, Gui L, Ding X (2021) Tagitinin C induces ferroptosis through PERK-Nrf2-HO-1 signaling pathway in colorectal cancer cells. Int J Biol Sci 17(11):2703–2717. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.59404
- Wolpaw AJ, Shimada K, Skouta R, Welsch ME, Akavia UD, Pe'er D, Shaik F, Bulinski JC, Stockwell BR (2011) Modulatory profiling identifies mechanisms of small molecule-induced cell death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(39):E771–E780. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1106149108

- Wu J, Liu T, Rios Z, Mei Q, Lin X, Cao S (2017) Heat shock proteins and cancer. Trends Pharmacol Sci 38(3):226–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2016.11.009
- Wu J, Minikes AM, Gao M, Bian H, Li Y, Stockwell BR, Chen Z-N, Jiang X (2019a) Intercellular interaction dictates cancer cell ferroptosis via NF2-YAP signalling. Nature 572(7769):402–406. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1426-6
- Wu Z, Geng Y, Lu X, Shi Y, Wu G, Zhang M, Shan B, Pan H, Yuan J (2019b) Chaperone-mediated autophagy is involved in the execution of ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(8): 2996–3005. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1819728116
- Wu P-K, Hong S-K, Chen W, Becker AE, Gundry RL, Lin C-W, Shao H, Gestwicki JE, Park J-I (2020) Mortalin (HSPA9) facilitates -mutant tumor cell survival by suppressing ANT3mediated mitochondrial membrane permeability. Sci Signal 13(622):eaay1478. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/scisignal.aay1478
- Wu S, Mao C, Kondiparthi L, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2022a) A ferroptosis defense mechanism mediated by glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 2 in mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 119(26):e2121987119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2121987119
- Wu Y, Jiao H, Yue Y, He K, Jin Y, Zhang J, Zhang J, Wei Y, Luo H, Hao Z, Zhao X, Xia Q, Zhong Q, Zhang J (2022b) Ubiquitin ligase E3 HUWE1/MULE targets transferrin receptor for degradation and suppresses ferroptosis in acute liver injury. Cell Death Differ 29(9):1705–1718. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-022-00957-6
- Wu Z, Xu Z, Zhou X, Li H, Zhao L, Lv Y, Guo Y, Shen G, He Y, Lei P (2022c) sGRP78 enhances selective autophagy of monomeric TLR4 to regulate myeloid cell death. Cell Death Dis 13(7): 587. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-05048-5
- Xanthoudakis S, Roy S, Rasper D, Hennessey T, Aubin Y, Cassady R, Tawa P, Ruel R, Rosen A, Nicholson DW (1999) Hsp60 accelerates the maturation of pro-caspase-3 by upstream activator proteases during apoptosis. EMBO J 18(8):2049–2056
- Xie H, Hu Z, Chyna B, Horrigan SK, Westbrook CA (2000) Human mortalin (HSPA9): a candidate for the myeloid leukemia tumor suppressor gene on 5q31. Leukemia 14(12):2128–2134
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xue C, Li M, Liu C, Li Y, Fei Y, Hu Y, Cai K, Zhao Y, Luo Z (2021) NIR-actuated remote activation of ferroptosis in target tumor cells through a photothermally responsive iron-chelated biopolymer nanoplatform. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 60(16):8938–8947. https://doi.org/10. 1002/anie.202016872
- Yaglom JA, Ekhterae D, Gabai VL, Sherman MY (2003) Regulation of necrosis of H9c2 myogenic cells upon transient energy deprivation. Rapid deenergization of mitochondria precedes necrosis and is controlled by reactive oxygen species, stress kinase JNK, HSP72 and ARC. J Biol Chem 278(50):50483–50496
- Yan B, Ai Y, Sun Q, Ma Y, Cao Y, Wang J, Zhang Z, Wang X (2021) Membrane damage during ferroptosis is caused by oxidation of phospholipids catalyzed by the oxidoreductases POR and CYB5R1. Mol Cell 81(2):355–369.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.11.024
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yang S, Tian J, Zhang F, Liu A, Xie B, Chen Q (2019) The protective effects of heat shock protein 22 in lung ischemia-reperfusion injury mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 512(4):698–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.03.048
- Yoshida H, Matsui T, Yamamoto A, Okada T, Mori K (2001) XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. Cell 107(7):881–891
- Yu S, Li Z, Zhang Q, Wang R, Zhao Z, Ding W, Wang F, Sun C, Tang J, Wang X, Zhang H, Huang R, Wu Q, Jiang J, Zhao X (2022) GPX4 degradation via chaperone-mediated autophagy contributes to antimony-triggered neuronal ferroptosis. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 234:113413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113413

- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zavialov A, Benndorf R, Ehrnsperger M, Zav'yalov V, Dudich I, Buchner J, Gaestel M (1998) The effect of the intersubunit disulfide bond on the structural and functional properties of the small heat shock protein Hsp25. Int J Biol Macromol 22(3–4):163–173
- Zeitler L, Fiore A, Meyer C, Russier M, Zanella G, Suppmann S, Gargaro M, Sidhu SS, Seshagiri S, Ohnmacht C, Köcher T, Fallarino F, Linkermann A, Murray PJ (2021) Anti-ferroptotic mechanism of IL4i1-mediated amino acid metabolism. elife 10:e64806. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife. 64806
- Zhang X, Min X, Li C, Benjamin IJ, Qian B, Zhang X, Ding Z, Gao X, Yao Y, Ma Y, Cheng Y, Liu L (2010) Involvement of reductive stress in the cardiomyopathy in transgenic mice with cardiacspecific overexpression of heat shock protein 27. Hypertension 55(6):1412–1417. https://doi. org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.147066
- Zhang Q, Wu X, Chen P, Liu L, Xin N, Tian Y, Dillin A (2018a) The mitochondrial unfolded protein response is mediated cell-non-autonomously by retromer-dependent Wnt signaling. Cell 174(4):870–883.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.06.029
- Zhang Y, Shi J, Liu X, Feng L, Gong Z, Koppula P, Sirohi K, Li X, Wei Y, Lee H, Zhuang L, Chen G, Xiao Z-D, Hung M-C, Chen J, Huang P, Li W, Gan B (2018b) BAP1 links metabolic regulation of ferroptosis to tumour suppression. Nat Cell Biol 20(10):1181–1192. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41556-018-0178-0
- Zhang H, Deng T, Liu R, Ning T, Yang H, Liu D, Zhang Q, Lin D, Ge S, Bai M, Wang X, Zhang L, Li H, Yang Y, Ji Z, Wang H, Ying G, Ba Y (2020) CAF secreted miR-522 suppresses ferroptosis and promotes acquired chemo-resistance in gastric cancer. Mol Cancer 19(1):43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01168-8
- Zhang G, Wang X, Li C, Li Q, An YA, Luo X, Deng Y, Gillette TG, Scherer PE, Wang ZV (2021a) Integrated stress response couples mitochondrial protein translation with oxidative stress control. Circulation 144(18):1500–1515. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120. 053125
- Zhang J, Bai Z, Ouyang M, Xu X, Xiong H, Wang Q, Grimm B, Rochaix J-D, Zhang L (2021b) The DnaJ proteins DJA6 and DJA5 are essential for chloroplast iron-sulfur cluster biogenesis. EMBO J 40(13):e106742. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2020106742
- Zhang J, Qiu Q, Wang H, Chen C, Luo D (2021c) TRIM46 contributes to high glucose-induced ferroptosis and cell growth inhibition in human retinal capillary endothelial cells by facilitating GPX4 ubiquitination. Exp Cell Res 407(2):112800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2021. 112800
- Zhang B, Bao W, Zhang S, Chen B, Zhou X, Zhao J, Shi Z, Zhang T, Chen Z, Wang L, Zheng X, Chen G, Wang Y (2022a) LncRNA HEPFAL accelerates ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma by regulating SLC7A11 ubiquitination. Cell Death Dis 13(8):734. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41419-022-05173-1
- Zhang H-L, Hu B-X, Li Z-L, Du T, Shan J-L, Ye Z-P, Peng X-D, Li X, Huang Y, Zhu X-Y, Chen Y-H, Feng G-K, Yang D, Deng R, Zhu X-F (2022b) PKCβII phosphorylates ACSL4 to amplify lipid peroxidation to induce ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41556-021-00818-3
- Zhang W, Jiang B, Liu Y, Xu L, Wan M (2022c) Bufotalin induces ferroptosis in non-small cell lung cancer cells by facilitating the ubiquitination and degradation of GPX4. Free Radic Biol Med 180:75–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.01.009
- Zhao X, Zhou M, Yang Y, Luo M (2021) The ubiquitin hydrolase OTUB1 promotes glioma cell stemness via suppressing ferroptosis through stabilizing SLC7A11 protein. Bioengineered 12(2):12636–12645. https://doi.org/10.1080/21655979.2021.2011633
- Zhou H, Li F, Niu J-Y, Zhong W-Y, Tang M-Y, Lin D, Cui H-H, Huang X-H, Chen Y-Y, Wang H-Y, Tu Y-S (2019) Ferroptosis was involved in the oleic acid-induced acute lung injury in mice. Sheng Li Xue Bao 71(5):689–697

- Zhu S, Zhang Q, Sun X, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT, Kang R, Tang D (2017) HSPA5 regulates ferroptotic cell death in cancer cells. Cancer Res 77(8):2064–2077. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-16-1979
- Zhu Y, Zhang C, Huang M, Lin J, Fan X, Ni T (2021) TRIM26 induces ferroptosis to inhibit hepatic stellate cell activation and mitigate liver fibrosis through mediating SLC7A11 ubiquitination. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:644901. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.644901
- Zhu Z-Y, Liu Y-D, Gong Y, Jin W, Topchiy E, Turdi S, Gao Y-F, Culver B, Wang S-Y, Ge W, Zha W-L, Ren J, Pei Z-H, Qin X (2022) Mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH2) rescues cardiac contractile dysfunction in an APP/PS1 murine model of Alzheimer's disease via inhibition of ACSL4-dependent ferroptosis. Acta Pharmacol Sin 43(1):39–49. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41401-021-00635-2
- Zou J, Guo Y, Guettouche T, Smith DF, Voellmy R (1998) Repression of heat shock transcription factor HSF1 activation by HSP90 (HSP90 complex) that forms a stress-sensitive complex with HSF1. Cell 94(4):471–480
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6



The Ongoing Search for a Biomarker of Ferroptosis

Benedikt Kolbrink, Friedrich Alexander von Samson-Himmelstjerna, Theresa Riebeling, Kevin Schulte, and Stefan Krautwald

Abstract

A regulated form of cell death characterized by iron-dependent lipid peroxidation, ferroptosis contributes to a wide variety of pathophysiological processes. There are high hopes for therapeutically modulating ferroptosis. However, the difficulty of detecting ferroptosis in vivo remains a major obstacle. Unlike other forms of regulated cell death, defining the presence and progression of ferroptosis is hampered by the lack of receptors, ligands, or an unambiguous executioner. Establishing a simple and reliable method to detect ongoing ferroptosis in the bio-samples of living organisms would greatly aid the clarification of many outstanding questions. In this chapter, we outline the current concepts of ferroptosis biomarkers and the most promising approaches for visualizing ferroptosis in vivo.

6.1 Definition and Regulation of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a unique form of cell death in which iron-dependent accumulation of lipid peroxides and eventual plasma membrane rupture occur (Dixon et al. 2012). A prerequisite for ferroptosis to proceed is the presence of a sufficient pool of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in the plasma membrane (Doll et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2016). Upon ferroptotic stimuli, the PUFAs are peroxidized in iron-dependent processes (enzymatically by lipoxygenases (Yang et al. 2016) and nonenzymatically by the so-called Fenton reaction (Braughler et al. 1986; Pratt et al. 2011)), resulting in pore formation in biological membranes (Riegman et al. 2020; Pedrera et al.

e-mail: krautwald@nephro.uni-kiel.de

B. Kolbrink \cdot F. A. von Samson-Himmelstjerna \cdot T. Riebeling \cdot K. Schulte \cdot S. Krautwald (\boxtimes) Department of Nephrology and Hypertension, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_6

2021). Eukaryotic cells have evolved several potent protective mechanisms to counteract this detrimental accumulation of peroxides. Generally, it is assumed that a loss of these antioxidant protective mechanisms or disturbance of cellular redox homeostasis favors reactive oxygen species and lipid peroxide accumulation, which ultimately leads to cell death.

The first identified and arguably most important anti-ferroptotic mechanism is the glutathione (GSH)/glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) system. GPX4 is an enzyme expressed in both the cytosol and mitochondria, where it directly catalyzes lipid peroxide reduction, oxidizing GSH as a cofactor (Mao et al. 2021). GPX4 not only represents an indispensable cornerstone for maintaining cellular redox balance under physiological conditions (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014), but also plays a pathophysiological role in cancer cell resistance to oxidative stress (Yang et al. 2014). GPX4 function is dependent on the cellular GSH pool, which in turn relies on cystine import into the cell, as cystine is a critical substrate for GSH synthesis. The membrane-bound enzyme system Xc^- is the most relevant importer of cystine, the inhibition of which triggers ferroptosis in many cells (Dixon et al. 2012). Nevertheless, other sources of cystine supply have been described, for example, the catabolism of extracellular protein (Armenta et al. 2022).

A second major protective mechanism against ferroptosis is independent of GSH and GPX4. The central element in this mechanism is oxidoreductase ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1, previously known as AIFM2), which reduces the membrane-bound radical scavenger ubiquinone (CoQ_{10}) by consuming NADPH (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019). Recently, it was reported that the inhibitory effect of FSP1 on ferroptosis was mediated not only by CoQ_{10} , but also by vitamin K (Mishima et al. 2022), which is also a potent inhibitor of lipid peroxidation (Kolbrink et al. 2022). Another GPX4-independent protector against ferroptosis is GTP cyclohydrolase 1 (GCH1), which is involved in di- and tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis, limits PUFA peroxidation, and acts as a CoQ_{10} reducer (Kraft et al. 2020; Soula et al. 2020). Furthermore, the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) reduces CoQ_{10} in the mitochondria and thereby contributes to protection against ferroptotic stress of the mitochondrial membranes (Mao et al. 2021).

In conclusion, we have broad insight into the regulatory mechanisms and determinants of lipid peroxidation and the processes that determine cell sensitivity to ferroptosis. Nevertheless, detecting ongoing ferroptosis in patients is extremely difficult, which hinders the identification of the precise clinical scenarios in which ferroptosis modulation would be useful. This issue arises from a discrepancy between the methodology with which ferroptosis was initially discovered and defined and the methodology currently available in vivo. Ferroptosis was defined in vitro (Fig. 6.1) as a form of regulated cell death that can be induced by specific ferroptosis inducers (e.g., erastin, RSL3) and conversely can be prevented by specific small-molecule inhibitors of lipid peroxidation (ferrostatins or liproxstatins (Zilka et al. 2017)). Additionally, lipid peroxide levels can be quantified, e.g., using redox-sensitive dyes (Drummen et al. 2002; Aldini et al. 2001), to support a conclusion of ferroptotic cell death.



Fig. 6.1 The concept of ferroptosis in vitro. Ferroptosis can be induced in murine NIH3T3 cells through exposure to RSL3, a direct inhibitor of GPX4. The resulting cell death can be averted by specific inhibitors of lipid peroxidation such as ferrostatin-1 (Fer-1) or vitamin K1. Cells were stimulated at 37 °C for 24 h with 5 μ M RSL3 alone or with 1 μ M Fer-1 or 10 μ M vitamin K1 as indicated. Cell death was quantified by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) using 7-amino-actinomycin D (7-AAD) and phosphatidylserine accessibility (annexin V staining) as markers. Note: The original data were published previously (Kolbrink et al. 2022)

However, there is no clearly definable limit for the lipid peroxidation levels leading to ferroptosis, which is largely due to the fact that the individual cell resistance depends strongly on the expressed cellular protective mechanisms. This issue is even more pronounced in the living organism and application of in vitro methods is challenging for three reasons: (1) the stimulus triggering ferroptosis cannot be as clearly defined as in cell culture. Often, in vivo stimuli that are thought to induce ferroptosis can simultaneously induce other forms of cell death (for example, ischemia-reperfusion injury [IRI] leads to necroptosis, ferroptosis, and pyroptosis). (2) Organisms do not comprise a homogeneous cell population; rather, they are composed of heterogeneous cells with varying behavior and expression of anti-ferroptotic systems. (3) While ferroptosis inhibitors are suitable for detecting the involvement of ferroptosis in animal models, they only enable retrospective conclusions. Therefore, this approach cannot aid the identification of ongoing ferroptosis.

Consequently, reliable biomarkers are required that can be measured in bio-samples (e.g., serum, biopsy tissue). In the following sections, we will discuss the available evidence on biomarkers currently used as markers of ferroptosis.

6.2 Acyl-CoA Synthetase Long-Chain Family Member 4 (ACSL4)

6.2.1 The Role of ACSL4 in Ferroptosis

The first candidate identified as a potential ferroptosis biomarker was the enzyme ACSL4. The ACSL family members catalyze coenzyme A (CoA) ligation to longchain fatty acids, which are then metabolized through β -oxidation, glycerolipid, or cholesteryl ester synthesis pathways (Kim et al. 2001; Yan et al. 2015). As a unique characteristic compared to the other ACSLs, ACSL4 has a marked preference for activating PUFAs such as arachidonic acid (AA) (Kim et al. 2001; Tang et al. 2018), which are required for ferroptosis. An oxidative lipidomics analysis in cells undergoing ferroptosis revealed that AA- and adrenic acid (AdA)-containing species in phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) were the preferred substrates for oxidation in ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). Subsequent ACSL4-mediated AA and AdA activation is a necessary step for generating AA-PE and AdA-PE. *Acsl4* knockout reduced both AA-CoA and AdA-CoA, and AA- and AdA-containing PE species levels, thereby rendering cells insusceptible to ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017; Kagan et al. 2017).

From these experiments published in 2017, we learned that ACSL4 expression is necessary for ferroptosis, but it took another five years until we understood, why ACSL4 alone is insufficient for ferroptosis: a further activation step of ACSL4 is crucial for the execution of ferroptosis. Upon ferroptosis induction, the protein kinase C ßII (PKCBII) senses sublethal levels of lipid peroxides in a positive feedback mechanism, thereupon phosphorylating the inactive form of ACSL4 at Thr328. Subsequently, ACSL4 dimerizes and performs its function, providing the PUFA levels required for ferroptosis to proceed and allowing the cell to die by ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022). However, whether ACSL4 is an obligatory component of all contexts of ferroptotic cell death has not been conclusively answered. Several studies have demonstrated that Acsl4 knockout prevented ferroptosis induced by indirect inhibition of GPX4 (by cystine deprivation through inhibition of the Xc⁻ system) (Muller et al. 2017; Yuan et al. 2016). Additionally, a recent study on the genetic regulation of ferroptosis postulated that ACSL4 is required for ferroptosis caused by direct inhibition of GPX4. However, that study assigned only a minor role to ACSL4 in ferroptosis induced by indirect inhibition of GPX4 (Magtanong et al. 2022), which partially contradicted previous evidence (Muller et al. 2017; Yuan et al. 2016). Notably, these deeper mechanistic observations are currently limited to in vitro settings. In contrast, ferroptosis in vivo presents a considerably more complex situation.

6.2.2 ACSL4 as a Biomarker of Pathophysiological Ferroptosis

The potential suitability of ACSL4 as a biomarker of ferroptosis emerged with the observation that ACSL4 expression is markedly upregulated in cancer cells upon ferroptosis induction in vitro (Yuan et al. 2016). To understand the further context: research on ferroptosis in vivo reported that the kidney was generally the first organ that is particularly susceptible to ferroptosis. This is illustrated by the fact that adult mice died of kidney failure after inducible Gpx4 knockout (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014), whereas complete (homozygous) knockout of Gpx4 was embryonically lethal (Yant et al. 2003; Imai et al. 2003). In pathophysiological ferroptosis, renal IRI was identified as a disease model particularly strongly driven by ferroptosis (Linkermann et al. 2014).



Fig. 6.2 ACSL4 expression in a mouse model of renal IRI. Male C57BL/6 J mice underwent 35 min bilateral renal pedicle clamping followed by 48 h reperfusion (IR). One group (IR + vitamin K1) received a single intraperitoneal injection of 25 mg/kg bodyweight of the ferroptosis inhibiting agent vitamin K1 15 min before the procedure. The kidney sections immunohistochemically stained for ACSL4 expression clearly demonstrate that IR greatly increased renal tubule ACSL4 expression compared to that in untreated animals (vehicle), which was prevented by the administration of vitamin K1 (scale bars = 50 µm). Note: The original data were published previously (Kolbrink et al. 2022)

The first report to assign ACSL4 a ferroptosis biomarker role in vivo was from our laboratory. Using a mouse model of kidney IRI, we demonstrated that the renal expression levels of ACSL4 correlated with tissue damage and impaired kidney function, were dependent on the ischemia time, and increased during the subsequent reperfusion period (Muller et al. 2017). Furthermore, the application of ferroptosis inhibitors (Fig. 6.2) reduced kidney damage and ACSL4 expression (Kolbrink et al. 2022).

In addition to its property as a biomarker in the renal IRI setting, ACSL4 also has direct pathophysiological importance in ferroptosis induction, as evidenced by the fact that the specific *Acsl4* knockout in renal tubules protected against IRI (Wang et al. 2022). Based on animal studies, similar pathophysiological significance was attributed to ACSL4 in IRI of various organs and tissues other than the kidney: carried by ACSL4, ferroptosis enhanced organ damage in IRI of the gut, heart, and brain (Li et al. 2019; Fan et al. 2021; Cui et al. 2021) and contributed to diabetic kidney disease (Wang et al. 2020), cardiac remodeling (Pei et al. 2021), and rhabdomyolysis in exertional heat stroke (He et al. 2022b). Moreover, ACSL4 expression upregulation was evident in necrotizing enterocolitis in mouse models, where it was suppressed by ferroptosis inhibition, and in humans (Dang et al. 2022).

These aforementioned ACSL4-dependent diseases all share the pathophysiologic characteristic that cell death processes lead to organ damage. This contrasts with a group of diseases in which it is not cell death but their excessive proliferation that presents a major problem for the organism as a whole, namely malignant neoplasms or cancer. ACSL4-dependent ferroptosis is also considered important in cancer. In this context, however, it is predominantly not considered harmful, but rather as a desirable event for eliminating malignant cells. Thus, as opposed to diseases in which the issue is excessive cell death, ferroptosis induction, and not prevention, is a prospective therapeutic approach in neoplastic diseases.

In mice, ACSL4 promoted immunogenic tumor ferroptosis and limited tumor growth (Liao et al. 2022). Furthermore, ionizing radiation treatment of tumor cells

and xenografts induced ACSL4 expression and enhanced ferroptosis (Lei et al. 2020). Therefore, ACSL4 appears to mediate ferroptosis in malignant tumors, potentially contributing to antitumor immunity. Supporting this assumption, increased ACSL4 expression in tumor tissue, which presumably implies greater tumor susceptibility to ferroptosis, was associated with significantly better prognosis in patients with breast cancer (Sha et al. 2021).

In conclusion, studies proposing ACSL4 as a ferroptosis biomarker predominantly compared ACSL4 protein expression in diseased tissue with that in healthy tissue and correlated the expression with the extent of tissue damage and lipid peroxidation. An increase in total protein expression therefore appears to correlate with increased ferroptosis occurrence. Based on this approach, ACSL4 primarily represents a semiquantitative ferroptosis marker, although the amount of ACSL4 required for ferroptosis in vivo has not been conclusively determined. A possible future refinement of this approach could be to specifically detect ACSL4 phosphorylated at Thr328, as this phosphorylation event appears to represent an important checkpoint in ACSL4-dependent ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022).

6.3 Transferrin Receptor 1 (TfR1)

6.3.1 The Role of TfR1 in Ferroptosis

As a key characteristic in the initial description of ferroptosis, it was clearly demonstrated that an exogenous supply of iron significantly sensitized cells to ferroptosis, whereas iron chelation completely inhibited ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012). As described above, the presence of intracellular iron is essential for ferroptosis, as the processes leading to lipid peroxidation are iron-dependent. However, iron ions cannot cross unhampered across cell membranes as the intracellular iron pool is tightly controlled for cell survival and function. Moreover, only a very minor portion of body iron is present in its free, ionized form; the largest portion is protein-bound, e.g., to the plasma transport protein transferrin, and cannot be easily released. Therefore, it is unsurprising that proteins responsible for iron import into cells also play a role in ferroptosis. One such protein is TfR1, which is expressed on the plasma membrane in response to intracellular iron demand. Upon binding Fe³⁺-loaded transferrin, the TfR1-transferrin complex is internalized into endosomes, where Fe³⁺ is reduced to Fe²⁺ and subsequently transported to its cellular destinations (Aisen 2004).

Interestingly, decades before the first description of ferroptosis, it was clear that TfR1 is significantly involved in cellular redox metabolism. Although ferroptosis was not known by its present name then, it was observed that an oxidative form of cell death was dependent on TfR1-mediated cellular import of iron and that inhibiting TfR1 via specific antibodies prevented this cell death (Tampo et al. 2003; Kotamraju et al. 2002). Fittingly, oncogene-mediated upregulation of TfR1 sensitized cells to ferroptosis, whereas knocking down TfR1 exerted the opposite effect (Yang and Stockwell 2008; Gao et al. 2015). The physiological mechanisms

of TfR1 regulation also influence ferroptosis. Therefore, TfR1 is a target of the ubiquitin ligase E3 HUWE1/MULE, and ubiquitination of TfR1 followed by proteasomal degradation inhibited ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2022). Overall, it can be assumed that the intracellular iron pool, which is regulated by TfR1, is a key regulator of ferroptosis, which highlights TfR1 as a potential therapeutic target.

6.3.2 TfR1 as Biomarker of Ferroptosis

Brent Stockwell's group identified TfR1 as a protein of interest in a large screening searching for a specific detection biomarker of ongoing ferroptosis (Feng et al. 2020). For this purpose, they immunized mice with plasma membrane fragments of ferroptotic tumor cells, isolated antibody-producing plasma cell clones from their spleens, and examined the resulting monoclonal antibodies for their ability to detect cells undergoing ferroptosis in an immunofluorescence assay. The most promising of these antibodies was validated for its specificity for ferroptosis in several cell lines in vitro. Subsequently, immunoprecipitation and mass spectrometry identified TfR1 as its antigen. In a further step, the same team used machine learning to develop a ferroptosis identification technique using TfR1 immunostaining in an automated and low-bias manner. In a transformed cell line, immunostaining against TfR1 and F-actin, and nuclear staining, enabled the automated identification of ferroptotic cells with >90% accuracy (Jin et al. 2022). It must be noted that the specificity of TfR1 as a ferroptosis marker is apparent only with immunofluorescence; therefore, this methodology must be applied exactly as described. The total protein expression of TfR1 detected in western blots did not appear to change after the induction of ferroptosis in cell culture (Song et al. 2020; Ma et al. 2016).

Within ferroptosis-driven disease models, however, TfR1 expression behaves differently. Total TfR1 expression increased in rodent heart and liver IRI and correlated with lipid peroxidation levels and cell death (Tang et al. 2021; Wu et al. 2022). Furthermore, TfR1 expression was markedly enhanced over time in mice with traumatic brain injury, which was largely suppressed by ferroptosis inhibitors (Chen et al. 2021). In contrast, the role of TfR1 in cancer has not been conclusively elucidated. It has long been known that TfR1 is significantly upregulated in diverse cancers (Shen et al. 2018), which may explain the increased sensitivity of tumor cells to ferroptosis. Nevertheless, the extent to which TfR1 can be used to detect ferroptosis in vivo in this setting has not been determined.

Overall, TfR1 as a ferroptosis biomarker can currently be used to specifically detect ferroptosis in vitro via immunofluorescence. However, the limited in vivo evidence to date suggests that, similarly to ACSL4, TfR1 is a semiquantitative marker whose expression increases in ferroptosis-damaged tissue.

6.4 Lipid Peroxidation-Associated Protein Adducts

6.4.1 Accumulation of Lipid Peroxidation By-products during Ferroptosis

The concept of lipid peroxidation was established long before ferroptosis was described (Niki 2009). A result of harmful oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation is not a desirable process in the vast majority of cases, which spurred efforts to measure lipid peroxidation. As direct measurement of the manifold forms of lipid peroxides is extremely difficult, especially in living organisms, alternative means were sought to quantify the extent of lipid peroxidation. In biological systems, lipid peroxides are constantly degraded, and a large number of different aldehydes are formed during these degradation processes. Fortunately, these aldehydes are not difficult to detect. Therefore, the extent of lipid peroxidation can be inferred from the amount of these aldehydes. Well-established molecules for this purpose are malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) (Esterbauer et al. 1991; Spickett 2013). Aldehyde accumulation can also be detected during ferroptosis (which is regularly done in a wide variety of studies), but these molecules are not specific ferroptosis markers, as they are also constantly present under physiological conditions (Niki 2009). Yet, in higher, unphysiological concentrations, MDA and 4-HNE modify proteins in biological systems, and specific antibodies can be generated against the resulting adducts (Toyokuni et al. 1994; Yamada et al. 2001). Accordingly, better specificity for detecting ferroptosis could be assumed, and the 4-HNE modified proteins are particularly promising candidates.

6.4.2 4-HNE Protein Adducts as Biomarkers of Ferroptosis

As early as 1995, the Japanese group of Shinya Toyokuni generated five antibodies against the 4-HNE histidine adduct (Toyokuni et al. 1995). Using these antibodies, they studied an iron-mediated cell death (which would currently be referred to as ferroptosis) in kidney cells several years before ferroptosis was first described (Ozeki et al. 2005). Recently, they reexamined their antibodies and discovered that one of them recognizes ferroptotic cells in immunocytochemistry and immunohistochemistry with high sensitivity and specificity. Additionally, cells stained by this antibody were markedly increased in ferroptosis-driven disease models. In the same work, they further used this antibody to study ferroptosis in aging processes. In aging rats, they observed a massive increase in cells in various organs that could be stained by the antibody, leading to the assumption that they had detected ongoing multiorgan ferroptosis. In our opinion, however, the antibody staining did not correlate well with ferroptotic cell death in that model, as the corresponding animal would certainly not have survived such pronounced organ necrosis (Zheng et al. 2021). In this setting, therefore, we do not consider the antibody ferroptosis-specific and would rather assume that 4-HNE protein adducts were increased to antibodydetectable levels during senescence. Nevertheless, a second research group also from Japan generated an antibody against ferroptotic cells that also recognizes 4-HNE adducts. However, this was only used in cell culture (Kobayashi et al. 2021). Therefore, the anti-HNE antibodies appear to be good in vitro markers of ferroptosis, but share the trait of limited evaluability in vivo with ACSL4 and TfR1.

6.5 Innovative Approaches

The underlying concept of the ferroptosis biomarkers discussed above is the detection of (increased) expression of specific proteins via antibodies. The details thereof differ, for example, ACSL4 and TfR1 are physiologically expressed proteins, whereas the 4-HNE adducts are random by-products of lipid peroxidation. Nonetheless, the basic idea of detecting differentially expressed markers is consistent. One possible approach to refine this methodology is to limit bias with machine learning (Jin et al. 2022), but to what extent this will become widespread is unknown.

In addition to these efforts, the genome has received much attention regarding ferroptosis. To date, hundreds of genes have described relevance in ferroptosis as drivers, inhibitors, and potential markers. Nevertheless, other than the few highlighted in this chapter, none of them are sufficiently specific to be suitable as a biomarker. The number of ferroptosis-related genes is constantly increasing and is nearly impossible to follow. Therefore, we refer to the "FerrDb" database, where a constantly updated compilation can be found (Zhou and Bao 2020).

There are creative and innovative new approaches to detect ferroptosis. Cellular changes in lipid composition (so-called lipidomics) can be visualized in tissue samples via matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization imaging mass spectrometry, thereby detecting very specific changes in the lipidome during the course of tissue injury (Martín-Saiz et al. 2022). If it were possible to determine a specific lipid profile for ferroptosis, it could potentially be made visible in tissues. However, the complexity and high cost of the method are presently a major obstacle to routine use.

In addition, mass spectrometry can evaluate not only the lipidome, but also analyze the totality of all proteins in a cell, i.e., the proteome. Mass spectrometry can even detect specific posttranslational modifications of proteins. One posttranslational modification that can occur during ferroptosis is protein carbonylation, which is the addition of a reactive carbonyl group to a protein. This typically occurs through electrophilic unsaturated aldehydes formed during lipid peroxidation, for example MDA or 4-HNE. Mass spectrometry can be used to study exact carbonylation sites during ferroptosis, some of which appear to be ferroptosis-specific (Chen et al. 2018). Many more impressive subdisciplines have evolved from mass spectrometric analysis of the proteome, such as the study of the functional status of reactive cysteine residues on proteins, known as the cysteinome. As with the lipidome and protein carbonylations, specific changes can also be observed in the cysteinome during ferroptosis, although it is currently unclear whether these would have potential as biomarkers (Wang and Wang 2022).

The supreme discipline of all these -omics, however, is combining them into the so-called multi-omics. The overarching concept is that considering more -omics

leads to a more precise analysis. A recently published research letter provided a multi-omics approach to the prognostic and therapeutic relevance of ferroptosis in melanoma patients. This analysis included four molecular levels: mRNAs, microRNAs, DNA methylation sites, and a proteomic analysis of 49 proteins. Subsequently, a ferroptosis score was established that described the extent of ferroptosis not as a binary yes/no decision, but as a multifactorial numerical value. The ferroptosis score predicted outcomes and could potentially guide therapy (He et al. 2022a). This is undoubtedly a highly elegant and innovative technique, although the necessary resource investment is enormous and it is therefore probably not suitable for widespread practical use yet.

6.6 Conclusion

Currently, a small selection of biomarkers is available to detect ferroptosis in vitro or in vivo. To date, none of these markers has been established as superior and all have certain limitations. In particular, the unequivocal and definitive detection of ongoing ferroptosis in living organisms currently remains difficult, as the "common" biomarkers are only suitable as semiquantitative parameters so far. The release of the proteoglycan decorin (DCN) has recently been identified as a specific biomarker of ferroptosis, distinguishing it from other cell death modalities, both in vitro and in vivo (Liu et al. 2022). Additionally, there are several new and innovative ideas to either refine existing methodology or generate entirely novel approaches, but these are currently either not yet mature or are extremely complex and expensive. A feasible pragmatic approach would be to use a combination of the currently available "simple" biomarkers. In summary, the in vivo situation in particular requires substantial further research efforts to understand how, when, and where ferroptosis can be detected reliably.

References

- Aisen P (2004) Transferrin receptor 1. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36(11):2137–2143. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biocel.2004.02.007
- Aldini G, Yeum KJ, Russell RM, Krinsky NI (2001) A method to measure the oxidizability of both the aqueous and lipid compartments of plasma. Free Radic Biol Med 31(9):1043–1050. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(01)00684-0
- Armenta DA, Laqtom NN, Alchemy G, Dong W, Morrow D, Poltorack CD, Nathanson DA, Abu-Remalieh M, Dixon SJ (2022) Ferroptosis inhibition by lysosome-dependent catabolism of extracellular protein. Cell Chem Biol 29:1588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2022. 10.006
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Braughler JM, Duncan LA, Chase RL (1986) The involvement of iron in lipid peroxidation. Importance of ferric to ferrous ratios in initiation. J Biol Chem 261(22):10282–10289

- Chen Y, Liu Y, Lan T, Qin W, Zhu Y, Qin K, Gao J, Wang H, Hou X, Chen N, Friedmann Angeli JP, Conrad M, Wang C (2018) Quantitative profiling of protein Carbonylations in Ferroptosis by an aniline-derived probe. J Am Chem Soc 140(13):4712–4720. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs. 8b01462
- Chen X, Gao C, Yn Y, Cheng Z, Chen G, Rui T, Luo C, Gao Y, Wang T, Chen X, Tao L (2021) Ruxolitinib exerts neuroprotection via repressing ferroptosis in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol 342:113762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2021.113762
- Cui Y, Zhang Y, Zhao X, Shao L, Liu G, Sun C, Xu R, Zhang Z (2021) ACSL4 exacerbates ischemic stroke by promoting ferroptosis-induced brain injury and neuroinflammation. Brain Behav Immun 93:312–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2021.01.003
- Dang D, Zhang C, Meng Z, Lv X, Li Z, Wei J, Wu H (2022) Integrative analysis links ferroptosis to necrotizing enterocolitis and reveals the role of ACSL4 in immune disorders. iScience 25(11): 105406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.105406
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trumbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Fullekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourao A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Drummen GP, van Liebergen LC, Op den Kamp JA, Post JA (2002) C11-BODIPY(581/591), an oxidation-sensitive fluorescent lipid peroxidation probe: (micro)spectroscopic characterization and validation of methodology. Free Radic Biol Med 33(4):473–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0891-5849(02)00848-1
- Esterbauer H, Schaur RJ, Zollner H (1991) Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. Free Radic Biol Med 11(1):81–128. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0891-5849(91)90192-6
- Fan Z, Cai L, Wang S, Wang J, Chen B (2021) Baicalin prevents myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury through inhibiting ACSL4 mediated Ferroptosis. Front Pharmacol 12:628988. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphar.2021.628988
- Feng H, Schorpp K, Jin J, Yozwiak CE, Hoffstrom BG, Decker AM, Rajbhandari P, Stokes ME, Bender HG, Csuka JM, Upadhyayula PS, Canoll P, Uchida K, Soni RK, Hadian K, Stockwell BR (2020) Transferrin receptor is a specific Ferroptosis marker. Cell Rep 30(10):3411–3423. e3417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.049
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Radmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Forster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate Ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- He Y, Dong Y, Chen Y, Zhang G, Zhang H, Lei G, Du Y, Chen X, Ye Y, Liu H (2022a) Multiomics characterization and therapeutic liability of ferroptosis in melanoma. Signal Transduct Target Ther 7(1):268. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01067-y

- He S, Li R, Peng Y, Wang Z, Huang J, Meng H, Min J, Wang F, Ma Q (2022b) ACSL4 contributes to ferroptosis-mediated rhabdomyolysis in exertional heat stroke. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 13(3):1717–1730. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12953
- Imai H, Hirao F, Sakamoto T, Sekine K, Mizukura Y, Saito M, Kitamoto T, Hayasaka M, Hanaoka K, Nakagawa Y (2003) Early embryonic lethality caused by targeted disruption of the mouse PHGPx gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 305(2):278–286. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0006-291x(03)00734-4
- Jin J, Schorpp K, Samaga D, Unger K, Hadian K, Stockwell BR (2022) Machine learning classifies Ferroptosis and Apoptosis cell death modalities with TfR1 immunostaining. ACS Chem Biol 17(3):654–660. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.1c00953
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayir H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kim JH, Lewin TM, Coleman RA (2001) Expression and characterization of recombinant rat acyl-CoA synthetases 1, 4, and 5. Selective inhibition by triacsin C and thiazolidinediones. J Biol Chem 276(27):24667–24673. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010793200
- Kobayashi S, Harada Y, Homma T, Yokoyama C, Fujii J (2021) Characterization of a rat monoclonal antibody raised against ferroptotic cells. J Immunol Methods 489:112912. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2020.112912
- Kolbrink B, von Samson-Himmelstjerna FA, Messtorff ML, Riebeling T, Nische R, Schmitz J, Brasen JH, Kunzendorf U, Krautwald S (2022) Vitamin K1 inhibits ferroptosis and counteracts a detrimental effect of phenprocoumon in experimental acute kidney injury. Cell Mol Life Sci 79(7):387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-022-04416-w
- Kotamraju S, Chitambar CR, Kalivendi SV, Joseph J, Kalyanaraman B (2002) Transferrin receptordependent iron uptake is responsible for doxorubicin-mediated apoptosis in endothelial cells: role of oxidant-induced iron signaling in apoptosis. J Biol Chem 277(19):17179–17187. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111604200
- Kraft VAN, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Muller C, Zandkarimi F, Merl-Pham J, Bao X, Anastasov N, Kossl J, Brandner S, Daniels JD, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Hauck SM, Stockwell BR, Hadian K, Schick JA (2020) GTP Cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract Ferroptosis through lipid remodeling. ACS Cent Sci 6(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 9b01063
- Lei G, Zhang Y, Koppula P, Liu X, Zhang J, Lin SH, Ajani JA, Xiao Q, Liao Z, Wang H, Gan B (2020) The role of ferroptosis in ionizing radiation-induced cell death and tumor suppression. Cell Res 30(2):146–162. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0263-3
- Li Y, Feng D, Wang Z, Zhao Y, Sun R, Tian D, Liu D, Zhang F, Ning S, Yao J, Tian X (2019) Ischemia-induced ACSL4 activation contributes to ferroptosis-mediated tissue injury in intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. Cell Death Differ 26(11):2284–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0299-4
- Liao P, Wang W, Wang W, Kryczek I, Li X, Bian Y, Sell A, Wei S, Grove S, Johnson JK, Kennedy PD, Gijon M, Shah YM, Zou W (2022) CD8(+) T cells and fatty acids orchestrate tumor ferroptosis and immunity via ACSL4. Cancer Cell 40(4):365–378e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2022.02.003
- Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N, Mulay SR, Dewitz C, De Zen F, Prokai A, Zuchtriegel G, Krombach F, Welz PS, Weinlich R, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Pasparakis M, Bleich M, Weinberg JM, Reichel CA, Brasen JH, Kunzendorf U, Anders HJ, Stockwell BR, Green DR, Krautwald S (2014) Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(47):16836–16841. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1415518111
- Liu J, Zhu S, Zeng L, Li J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Jiang J, Tang D, Kang R (2022) DCN released from ferroptotic cells ignites AGER-dependent immune responses. Autophagy 18(9): 2036–2049. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2021.2008692

- Ma S, Henson ES, Chen Y, Gibson SB (2016) Ferroptosis is induced following siramesine and lapatinib treatment of breast cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 7(7):e2307–e2307. https://doi.org/10. 1038/cddis.2016.208
- Magtanong L, Mueller GD, Williams KJ, Billmann M, Chan K, Armenta DA, Pope LE, Moffat J, Boone C, Myers CL, Olzmann JA, Bensinger SJ, Dixon SJ (2022) Context-dependent regulation of ferroptosis sensitivity. Cell Chem Biol 29(9):1409–1418e1406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2022.06.004
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Martín-Saiz L, Guerrero-Mauvecin J, Martín-Sanchez D, Fresnedo O, Gómez MJ, Carrasco S, Cannata-Ortiz P, Ortiz A, Fernandez JA, Sanz AB (2022) Ferrostatin-1 modulates dysregulated kidney lipids in acute kidney injury. J Pathol 257(3):285–299. https://doi.org/10.1002/path. 5882
- Mishima E, Ito J, Wu Z, Nakamura T, Wahida A, Doll S, Tonnus W, Nepachalovich P, Eggenhofer E, Aldrovandi M, Henkelmann B, Yamada KI, Wanninger J, Zilka O, Sato E, Feederle R, Hass D, Maida A, Mourao ASD, Linkermann A, Geissler EK, Nakagawa K, Abe T, Fedorova M, Proneth B, Pratt DA, Conrad M (2022) A non-canonical vitamin K cycle is a potent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 608(7924):778–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05022-3
- Muller T, Dewitz C, Schmitz J, Schroder AS, Brasen JH, Stockwell BR, Murphy JM, Kunzendorf U, Krautwald S (2017) Necroptosis and ferroptosis are alternative cell death pathways that operate in acute kidney failure. Cell Mol Life Sci 74(19):3631–3645. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2547-4
- Niki E (2009) Lipid peroxidation: physiological levels and dual biological effects. Free Radic Biol Med 47(5):469–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.05.032
- Ozeki M, Miyagawa-Hayashino A, Akatsuka S, Shirase T, Lee W-h, Uchida K, Toyokuni S (2005) Susceptibility of actin to modification by 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. J Chromatogr B 827(1): 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2005.02.025
- Pedrera L, Espiritu RA, Ros U, Weber J, Schmitt A, Stroh J, Hailfinger S, von Karstedt S, Garcia-Saez AJ (2021) Ferroptotic pores induce ca(2+) fluxes and ESCRT-III activation to modulate cell death kinetics. Cell Death Differ 28(5):1644–1657. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00691-x
- Pei Z, Liu Y, Liu S, Jin W, Luo Y, Sun M, Duan Y, Ajoolabady A, Sowers JR, Fang Y, Cao F, Xu H, Bi Y, Wang S, Ren J (2021) FUNDC1 insufficiency sensitizes high fat diet intakeinduced cardiac remodeling and contractile anomaly through ACSL4-mediated ferroptosis. Metabolism 122:154840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154840
- Pratt DA, Tallman KA, Porter NA (2011) Free radical oxidation of polyunsaturated lipids: new mechanistic insights and the development of peroxyl radical clocks. Acc Chem Res 44(6): 458–467. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar200024c
- Riegman M, Sagie L, Galed C, Levin T, Steinberg N, Dixon SJ, Wiesner U, Bradbury MS, Niethammer P, Zaritsky A, Overholtzer M (2020) Ferroptosis occurs through an osmotic mechanism and propagates independently of cell rupture. Nat Cell Biol 22(9):1042–1048. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0565-1
- Sha R, Xu Y, Yuan C, Sheng X, Wu Z, Peng J, Wang Y, Lin Y, Zhou L, Xu S, Zhang J, Yin W, Lu J (2021) Predictive and prognostic impact of ferroptosis-related genes ACSL4 and GPX4 on breast cancer treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. EBioMedicine 71:103560. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103560
- Shen Y, Li X, Dong D, Zhang B, Xue Y, Shang P (2018) Transferrin receptor 1 in cancer: a new sight for cancer therapy. Am J Cancer Res 8(6):916–931
- Song Z, Xiang X, Li J, Deng J, Fang Z, Zhang L, Xiong J (2020) Ruscogenin induces ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Oncol Rep 43(2):516–524. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2019.7425

- Soula M, Weber RA, Zilka O, Alwaseem H, La K, Yen F, Molina H, Garcia-Bermudez J, Pratt DA, Birsoy K (2020) Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to canonical ferroptosis inducers. Nat Chem Biol 16(12):1351–1360. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0613-y
- Spickett CM (2013) The lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal: advances in chemistry and analysis. Redox Biol 1(1):145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2013.01.007
- Tampo Y, Kotamraju S, Chitambar CR, Kalivendi SV, Keszler A, Joseph J, Kalyanaraman B (2003) Oxidative Stress–Induced Iron Signaling Is Responsible for Peroxide-Dependent Oxidation of Dichlorodihydrofluorescein in Endothelial Cells. Circ Res 92 (1):56–63. doi:doi:https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000048195.15637.AC
- Tang Y, Zhou J, Hooi SC, Jiang YM, Lu GD (2018) Fatty acid activation in carcinogenesis and cancer development: essential roles of long-chain acyl-CoA synthetases. Oncol Lett 16(2): 1390–1396. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.8843
- Tang L-J, Zhou Y-J, Xiong X-M, Li N-S, Zhang J-J, Luo X-J, Peng J (2021) Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 promotes ferroptosis via activation of the p53/TfR1 pathway in the rat hearts after ischemia/reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 162:339–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2020.10.307
- Toyokuni S, Uchida K, Okamoto K, Hattori-Nakakuki Y, Hiai H, Stadtman ER (1994) Formation of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal-modified proteins in the renal proximal tubules of rats treated with a renal carcinogen, ferric nitrilotriacetate. Proc Natl Acad Sci 91(7):2616–2620. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.91.7.2616
- Toyokuni S, Miyake N, Hiai H, Hagiwara M, Kawakishi S, Osawa T, Uchida K (1995) The monoclonal antibody specific for the 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal histidine adduct. FEBS Lett 359(2):189–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(95)00033-6
- Wang Y, Wang C (2022) Quantitative reactive cysteinome profiling reveals a functional link between ferroptosis and proteasome-mediated degradation. Cell Death Differ 30:125. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41418-022-01050-8
- Wang Y, Bi R, Quan F, Cao Q, Lin Y, Yue C, Cui X, Yang H, Gao X, Zhang D (2020) Ferroptosis involves in renal tubular cell death in diabetic nephropathy. Eur J Pharmacol 888:173574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173574
- Wang Y, Zhang M, Bi R, Su Y, Quan F, Lin Y, Yue C, Cui X, Zhao Q, Liu S, Yang Y, Zhang D, Cao Q, Gao X (2022) ACSL4 deficiency confers protection against ferroptosis-mediated acute kidney injury. Redox Biol 51:102262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102262
- Wu Y, Jiao H, Yue Y, He K, Jin Y, Zhang J, Zhang J, Wei Y, Luo H, Hao Z, Zhao X, Xia Q, Zhong Q, Zhang J (2022) Ubiquitin ligase E3 HUWE1/MULE targets transferrin receptor for degradation and suppresses ferroptosis in acute liver injury. Cell Death Differ 29(9):1705–1718. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-022-00957-6
- Yamada S, Kumazawa S, Ishii T, Nakayama T, Itakura K, Shibata N, Kobayashi M, Sakai K, Osawa T, Uchida K (2001) Immunochemical detection of a lipofuscin-like fluorophore derived from malondialdehyde and lysine. J Lipid Res 42(8):1187–1196. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0022-2275(20)31568-6
- Yan S, Yang XF, Liu HL, Fu N, Ouyang Y, Qing K (2015) Long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase in fatty acid metabolism involved in liver and other diseases: an update. World J Gastroenterol 21(12): 3492–3498. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i12.3492
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113

- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, Belter JG, Motta L, Richardson A, Prolla TA (2003) The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. Free Radic Biol Med 34(4):496–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0891-5849(02)01360-6
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zhang HL, Hu BX, Li ZL, Du T, Shan JL, Ye ZP, Peng XD, Li X, Huang Y, Zhu XY, Chen YH, Feng GK, Yang D, Deng R, Zhu XF (2022) PKCbetaII phosphorylates ACSL4 to amplify lipid peroxidation to induce ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-021-00818-3
- Zheng H, Jiang L, Tsuduki T, Conrad M, Toyokuni S (2021) Embryonal erythropoiesis and aging exploit ferroptosis. Redox Biol 48:102175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.102175
- Zhou N, Bao J (2020) FerrDb: a manually curated resource for regulators and markers of ferroptosis and ferroptosis-disease associations. Database 2020. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baaa021
- Zilka O, Shah R, Li B, Friedmann Angeli JP, Griesser M, Conrad M, Pratt DA (2017) On the mechanism of Cytoprotection by Ferrostatin-1 and Liproxstatin-1 and the role of lipid peroxidation in Ferroptotic cell death. ACS Cent Sci 3(3):232–243. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 7b00028

Check for updates

p53 and Ferroptosis

Shun Jiang and Yangchun Xie

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a form of oxidative cell death that relies on intracellular iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation. Recent studies have shown that the tumor suppressor p53 can regulate ferroptosis either positively or negatively, in addition to its well-known effects on apoptosis and other non-apoptotic forms of cell death, including necroptosis and autophagy. The mechanism by which p53 regulates ferroptosis can be transcriptional-dependent or independent. On one hand, p53 enhances ferroptosis by inhibiting SLC7A11 (solute carrier family 7 member 11) transcription, promoting the expression of SAT1 (spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1) and GLS2 (glutaminase 2), or interacting with SLC25A28 (mitoferrin-2) in mitochondria. On the other hand, p53 suppresses ferroptosis by inhibiting DPP4 (dipeptidyl peptidase 4) activity or inducing CDKN1A/p21 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1 A) and iPLA2 β expression. This chapter provides an overview of the recent discoveries concerning the role of p53 in regulating ferroptosis.

7.1 Introduction

The tumor protein p53, also known as p53, plays a crucial role in the maintenance of multicellular organisms (Surget et al. 2013). Discovered in 1979, p53 has been described as "the guardian of the genome" due to its function in conserving stability and preventing genome mutation, thereby acting as a tumor suppressor (May and May 1999). Moreover, p53 has various mechanisms for its anticancer function and

137

S. Jiang \cdot Y. Xie (\boxtimes)

Department of Oncology, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China

e-mail: xieyangchun88@csu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_7

works through several pathways involved in cell death. External and internal stress signals stabilize and activate p53 (Kruiswijk et al. 2015). Activated p53 induces apoptosis by transactivating proapoptotic genes (e.g., BAX, BAD, BAK) or directly binding to antiapoptotic mitochondrial proteins (e.g., BCL-2, BCL-XL) (Huang and Strasser 2000; Galluzzi et al. 2008). p53 also plays a positive role in oxidative stress-induced necroptosis. During oxidative stress, p53 directly binds to cyclophilin D to open the mitochondrial permeability transition pore or transcriptionally activates necrosis-related factor, a long noncoding RNA (lncRNA), to elevate RIPK1/RIPK3 levels (Vaseva et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2016b).

Regarding autophagy, p53 can both promote and inhibit the autophagic process, depending on its subcellular localization. Nuclear p53 induces autophagy by transcriptionally upregulating AMPK (AMP-activated protein kinase) and DRAM (damage-regulated autophagy modulator), whereas cytoplasmic p53 inhibits autophagy by inducing Beclin-1 degradation (Maiuri et al. 2010; Feng et al. 2007; Criollo et al. 2009; Kang et al. 2011). Recently, emerging evidence has suggested that p53 is also involved in a novel non-apoptotic cell death process called ferroptosis, which will be discussed in this chapter.

7.1.1 Ferroptosis Basics

Ferroptosis is a newly discovered form of regulated cell death (RCD) that relies on intracellular iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation (Stockwell et al. 2017; Xie et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2022). First described in 2012, ferroptosis is characterized morphologically, biochemically, and genetically as distinct from other types of cell death, such as apoptosis, necroptosis, and autophagic cell death (Dixon et al. 2012). It is primarily caused by iron-mediated lipid oxidative damage, which can be inhibited by lipophilic antioxidants (e.g., ferrostatin-1, liproxstatin-1) and iron chelators (e.g., deferoxamine mesylate), but not by apoptosis-, necroptosis-, and autophagy-specific inhibitors (e.g., Z-VAD-FMK, BOC-D-FMK, wortmannin, and necrostatin-1) (Skouta et al. 2014; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). Two small molecule compounds, erastin and RSL3, were initially found to induce ferroptosis, respectively by indirect or direct inhibition of the membrane lipid repair enzyme GPX4 (glutathione peroxidase 4) (Dolma et al. 2003; Yang and Stockwell 2008; Yang et al. 2014; Dixon et al. 2012). Specifically, erastin inhibits the cystine/ glutamate antiporter system Xc- on cell membranes, reducing cellular uptake of cysteine and blocking the synthesis of GPX4 substrates GSH (glutathione), which in turn triggers the accumulation of membrane lipid peroxides and ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012).

Recent studies have shown that phospholipids, the natural molecules that make up cell membranes, play a crucial role in driving ferroptosis in cells. Membrane phospholipids (PEs), which are rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) such as arachidonic acid (AA), are the key substances involved (Kagan et al. 2017; Doll et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2016). The metabolism of AA involves pathways including lipoxygenases (LOXs). Under the action of LOXs and other oxidizing enzymes,
membrane PEs produce malondialdehyde and other oxidative end products, which react with proteins and nucleic acids to alter cell structure and function, thus producing toxicity (Gaschler and Stockwell 2017; Chen et al. 2021d). Core regulators such as System Xc-, GPX4, NRF2 (nuclear factor-E2-related factor 2), and ACSL4 (Acyl-coenzyme A synthetase long-chain 4) have been identified as involved in the control of ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012; Yang et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2017; Doll et al. 2017). However, the final effector in the execution of ferroptosis remains unclear. Currently, abnormal activation of ferroptosis pathways has been shown to be involved in a variety of pathophysiological processes, including cancer cell death, neurodegenerative lesions, ischemia-reperfusion injury, and antiviral immunity (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2014; Matsushita et al. 2015; Do Van et al. 2016; Linkermann et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2021b; Tang et al. 2021).

7.2 p53 as a pro-Ferroptosis Regulator

7.2.1 Transcriptional Suppression of SLC7A11

The best-known mechanisms of p53 in tumor suppression involve initiating regulated cell death (RCD) and cell cycle arrest via transcriptional-dependent or -independent mechanisms. Posttranslational modifications of p53 can heavily impact its transcriptional and oncosuppressive functions. For example, $p53^{3KR}$, an acetylation-deficient p53 variant (with loss of K98 acetylation and also referred to as $p53^{K98R}$), fails to induce apoptosis and cell cycle arrest, but retains the capacity for tumor suppression as wild-type p53, indicating an unknown activity of p53 in tumor suppression (Li et al. 2012).

SLC7A11 (solute carrier family 7 member 11), a crucial component of the cystine/glutamate antiporter system Xc-, is identified as a transcriptional target of p53 through microarray screening (Jiang et al. 2015). In certain human cancer cells expressing wild-type p53, such as human breast cancer MCF7 cells and human osteosarcoma U2OS cells, as well as in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), SLC7A11 is transcriptionally repressed upon induction of p53 expression, which is completely abrogated in the absence of p53. Notably, similar results are also observed in cell lines with induced p533KR expression. Genetic suppression of SLC7A11 and the subsequent inhibition of system Xc- impairs cystine uptake and glutathione (GSH) synthesis, leading to the accumulation of lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012) (Fig. 7.1). Therefore, reduced SLC7A11 expression and cystine uptake levels are considered necessary conditions for ferroptosis in tet-on p53^{3KR}-inducible cells, which resolves a missing puzzle piece in p53-mediated tumor suppression (Jennis et al. 2016).

At present, there are various compounds that have been identified to induce ferroptosis partly through p53-mediated inhibition of SLC7A11 transcription in different cancer cells, such as pseudolaric acid B, bavachin, and flubendazole (Wang et al. 2018; Luo et al. 2021; Zhou et al. 2021). Furthermore, ALOX12 has



Fig. 7.1 The bidirectional regulatory role of p53 in the control of ferroptosis. On one hand, p53 enhances ferroptosis by inhibiting SLC7A11 transcription, promoting the expression of SAT1 and GLS2, or interacting with SLC25A28 in mitochondria. On the other hand, p53 suppresses ferroptosis by inhibiting DPP4 activity or inducing CDKN1A/p21 and iPLA2 β expression

been identified as the required factor of p53-SLC7A11 axis-dependent ferroptosis in U2OS cells and human lung cancer H1299 Tet-on p53^{3KR} cells (Chu et al. 2019). Genetic inactivation of ALOX12 is sufficient to abrogate p53-mediated tumor suppression (Chu et al. 2019). Mechanistically, SLC7A11 directly interacts with ALOX12 to modulate its activity and function. Additionally, in a recent study, STAT6 was found to inhibit ferroptosis and alleviate acute lung injury by competitively binding with CREB-binding protein, inhibiting P53 acetylation, and transcriptionally restoring SLC7A11 expression (Yang et al. 2022b). However, further investigation is required to determine how p53 might contribute to other components of ferroptosis, as not all p53-induced ferroptosis is via inhibition of SLC7A11.

7.2.2 Transcriptional Activation of SAT1

In addition to its role in cystine metabolism, p53 has been implicated in the regulation of polyamine metabolism, which involves organic compounds containing two or more amino groups (Ou et al. 2016). Polyamines play important roles in regulating cellular growth, proliferation, differentiation, and programmed cell death(Moschou and Roubelakis-Angelakis 2014).

SAT1 (spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1. arginine/arginine 1-acetyltransferase 1) is a rate-limiting enzyme that acetylates spermidine and spermine to form N1-acetylspermidine and N1-acetylspermine, respectively, in the presence of acetyl-coenzyme A. Repressed SAT1 expression and impaired spermidine/spermine depletion have been associated with various pathological processes, including tumorigenesis (Thomas and Thomas 2003). Recent studies have identified SAT1 as another transcriptional target of p53, as revealed by RNA sequencing in human melanoma A375 cells (Ou et al. 2016) (Fig. 7.1). Transcriptional induction of SAT1 by p53 contributes to ROS-mediated ferroptotic cell death, but not apoptosis, which is associated with the hyper-activation of ALOX15 (arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase), an iron-binding enzyme that oxidizes PUFAs. Furthermore, an ALOX15-specific inhibitor PD146176 impairs SAT1-induced ferroptotic cell death, establishing a p53-SAT1-ALOX15 axis in the ferroptosis pathway (Ou et al. 2016).

7.2.3 Transcriptional Activation of GLS2

Glutamine metabolism is an additional target in p53-mediated ferroptosis. Recent studies have shown that glutamine can induce ferroptosis during amino acid starvation by converting to glutamate with the help of mitochondrial glutaminases (GLS). Although two isoforms of GLS exist, only GLS2 is responsible for ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2015).

An African-specific single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in p53, the Ser47 variant (referred to as S47), has been found to attenuate p53 function in transactivating target proteins, including GLS2, resulting in impaired ferroptotic cell death following treatment with erastin. Silencing GLS2 in wild-type MEFs showed a similar phenotype to the impaired ferroptotic cell death observed in S47 MEFs (Jennis et al. 2016) (Fig. 7.1). However, transformation with E1A and RAS restored p53 function in trans-activating GLS2 and oncosuppression, potentially overcoming resistance to cisplatin and erastin-induced cell death in humans with the S47 variant (Basu et al. 2016). Thus, a p53-mediated ferroptosis network has emerged, based on fine-tuning of p53 transcriptome.

7.2.4 Mitochondrial Translocation and Interaction with SLC25A28

There is evidence that demonstrates p53's involvement in regulating ferroptosis in mitochondria. Mitochondrial translocation of p53 contributes to the enhancement of ferroptosis by bromodomain-containing protein 7 (BRD7) in hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) (Zhang et al. 2020). BRD7 knockout significantly reduces serine392 phosphorylation and p53 expression in mitochondria, as opposed to in the cytoplasm and

nucleus, while knockin of BRD7 markedly increases them (Zhang et al. 2020). The S392A mutant impairs BRD7-mediated p53 mitochondrial translocation and ferroptosis in HSCs (Zhang et al. 2020). SLC25A28 (mitoferrin-2) is a crucial target that directly binds to p53 in the mitochondria, mediating mitochondrial iron trafficking in BRD7-enhanced ferroptosis, which is inhibited upon S392A mutant or p53 knockdown (Zhang et al. 2020) (Fig. 7.1). Furthermore, SLC25A28 knockdown completely abolishes mitochondrial iron accumulation, which impairs BRD7-enhanced ferroptosis in HSCs (Zhang et al. 2020). Thus, induction of ferroptosis to eliminate HSCs could effectively improve the pathological changes of liver fibrosis and serve as a potential anti-fibrotic therapeutic strategy.

7.3 p53 as an Anti-Ferroptosis Regulator

7.3.1 Transcriptional Activation of CDKN1A/p21

Recent evidence suggests that p53 plays a negative regulatory role in ferroptosis, which is fully dependent on the stabilization of wild-type p53 protein and transactivation of the canonical p53 target gene CDKN1A/p21 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A responsible for cell cycle arrest) (Tarangelo et al. 2018). Notably, in line with a prior study showing that p21 activation only occurs in cells expressing wild-type p53 but not those with mutant p53 (el-Deiry et al. 1993), the p53^{3KR} mutant fails to constitutively express CDKN1A/p21, possibly explaining why opposite results were obtained with wild-type p53 versus the p53^{3KR} mutant in the regulation of ferroptosis.

Pretreatment with nutlin-3 (a small-molecule MDM2 inhibitor) increases p53 expression levels and simultaneously suppresses erastin2-induced cell death (a specific system Xc- inhibitor) in p53^{+/+} cells, but not in p53^{-/-} cells. Likewise, nutlin-3 pretreatment delays the onset of cell death upon cystine deprivation, a process blocked by ferrostatin-1, indicating that the delayed ferroptosis requires the expression and stabilization of wild-type p53 (Tarangelo et al. 2018). Nutlin-3 upregulates CDKN1A mRNA and p21 protein in p53^{+/+} but not p53^{-/-} cells. In contrast, nutlin-3 pretreatment fails to protect against erastin2-induced ferroptosis in CDKN1A-deficient cells, suggesting a further requirement for p21 to suppress ferroptosis (Fig. 7.1). Mechanistically, the p53-p21 pathway delays the execution of ferroptosis by reducing the consumption of GSH (glutathione), rather than CDK4/ 6 inhibition or enhanced NRF2 (nuclear factor-E2-related factor 2) activity. However, precisely how p21 promotes GSH biosynthesis or conservation remains unclear.

7.3.2 Posttranslational Inhibition of DPP4 Activity

p53 is functionally inactivated or mutated in approximately 50% of human cancers, including colorectal cancer cells (CRC) (Fearon 2011). Recently, evidence has

shown that deletion and mutation of p53 in CRCs promote ferroptosis by enhancing the activity of DPP4 (dipeptidyl peptidase-4), demonstrating for the first time that p53 regulates ferroptosis in a transcription-independent pathway (Xie et al. 2017).

Ferroptosis is RAS mutation-oriented when discovered in 2012 (Dixon et al. 2012). Although ferroptosis was initially discovered to be RAS mutation-oriented (Dixon et al. 2012), alteration of RAS status within CRCs does not affect cell death induced by erastin. However, functional p53 deficiency sensitizes CRCs to ferroptotic cell death instead of non-CRCs such as U2OS and MCF7. In these non-CRCs, p53 acts as a pro-ferroptosis mediator through transcriptional suppression of SLC7A11, whereas in CRCs, a novel mechanism of p53 regulating ferroptosis was discovered through a protease inhibitor library screening. Remarkably, only DPP4 inhibitors block erastin-induced cell death in p53-deficient CRCs. DPP4, also known as CD26 (cluster of differentiation 26), is an enzyme expressed on the surface of most cell types and is associated with immune regulation, glucose metabolism, and oxidative stress (Reinhold and Brocke 2014; De et al. 2019; Chua et al. 2014). Mechanistically, p53 limits ferroptosis by promoting nuclear translocation of DPP4, which impairs the membrane DPP4 activity in lipid peroxidation (Fig. 7.1). Of note, there is almost no DPP4 expression in U2OS and MCF7 cells, suggesting that the p53-DPP4 network is not predominant in these cells.

7.3.3 Transcriptional Activation of iPLA2 β

The calcium-independent phospholipase iPLA2 β is another target of p53 during ROS-induced ferroptosis in cancer cells that express wild-type p53 (such as U2OS, MCF7, A375, and human lung cancer A549 cells) (Chen et al. 2021a). Upon p53 activation by either nutlin or doxorubicin treatment, the mRNA levels of iPLA2 β are induced at the early stage of stress responses or under low levels of stress, but are diminished at the late stage of stress responses or under high levels of stress (Chen et al. 2021a). As a phospholipase involved in lipid detoxification, iPLA2 β downregulates the levels of peroxidized membrane lipids upon ROS stress and effectively suppresses p53-promoted ferroptosis (Fig. 7.1). On the contrary, endogenous iPLA2 β depletion sensitizes tumor cells to ROS-induced ferroptosis and enhances p53-mediated tumor suppression (Chen et al. 2021a). Therefore, repression of p53-driven ferroptosis by iPLA2 β plays a critical role in the tumorigenesis of cancers that overexpress iPLA2 β , and targeting iPLA2 β to activate ferroptosis in human cancers is a promising therapeutic strategy.

7.4 Conclusion

Over the past few years, studies have revealed emerging functions of p53 in the ferroptosis network, highlighting its unconventional role in regulating RCD. It is evident that p53 becomes activated in response to a series of stressors, including DNA damage, oxidative, or metabolic stress. The critical events leading to the

activation of the p53 network involve posttranslational modifications and transcriptional regulation of numerous target genes. Acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination have been shown to be crucial for p53-mediated ferroptosis (Jiang et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2016a; Zhang et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2023). However, p53 regulation of its target genes, such as SLC7A11, SAT1, GLS2, and CDKN1A/p21, exhibits a bidirectional role in the control of ferroptosis in different contexts (Jiang et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2018; Ou et al. 2016; Jennis et al. 2016; Tarangelo et al. 2018). In addition, p53 or its target genes can be modulated by SNP, noncoding RNAs (including lncRNAs and microRNAs), SOCS1 (suppressor of cytokine signaling 1), SIRT3 (sirtuin 3), USP7 (ubiquitin-specific protease 7), or CUL9 (cullin9) to engage in ferroptosis (Basu et al. 2016; Mao et al. 2018; Saint-Germain et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2018; Lu et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2019a; Jin et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2019b; Chen et al. 2021c; Yang et al. 2022a). Due to the complexity of p53 activity, potential modifications and novel target genes still need to be identified. Furthermore, the subcellular localization of p53 plays a crucial role in the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis. For example, nuclear p53 promotes ferroptosis in lung cancer cells but inhibits it in colorectal cancer cells (Mao et al. 2018; Xie et al. 2017). Additionally, p53 mitochondrial translocation promotes ferroptosis in HSCs (Zhang et al. 2020). Thus, further understanding of the molecular mechanisms by which p53 modulates ferroptosis may provide rich insights into the opposing effects in different cellular contexts.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82172656 and 81802476) and the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (2023JJ20086 and 2021JJ40882).

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest or financial interests.

References

- Basu S, Barnoud T, Kung CP, Reiss M, Murphy ME (2016) The African-specific S47 polymorphism of p53 alters chemosensitivity. Cell Cycle 15(19):2557–2560. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15384101.2016.1215390
- Chen D, Tavana O, Chu B, Erber L, Chen Y, Baer R, Gu W (2017) NRF2 is a major target of ARF in p53-independent tumor suppression. Mol Cell 68(1):224–232e224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2017.09.009
- Chen D, Chu B, Yang X, Liu Z, Jin Y, Kon N, Rabadan R, Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Gu W (2021a) iPLA2beta-mediated lipid detoxification controls p53-driven ferroptosis independent of GPX4. Nat Commun 12(1):3644. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23902-6
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021b) Ferroptosis in infection, inflammation, and immunity. J Exp Med 218(6):e20210518. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20210518
- Chen X, Kang R, Tang D (2021c) Ferroptosis by lipid peroxidation: the tip of the iceberg? Front Cell Dev Biol 9:646890. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.646890
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021d) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918

- Chu B, Kon N, Chen D, Li T, Liu T, Jiang L, Song S, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) ALOX12 is required for p53-mediated tumour suppression through a distinct ferroptosis pathway. Nat Cell Biol 21(5):579–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-019-0305-6
- Chua S, Lee FY, Tsai TH, Sheu JJ, Leu S, Sun CK, Chen YL, Chang HW, Chai HT, Liu CF, Lu HI, Yip HK (2014) Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase-IV enzyme activity protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. J Transl Med 12:357. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12967-014-0357-0
- Criollo A, Dessen P, Kroemer G (2009) DRAM: a phylogenetically ancient regulator of autophagy. Cell Cycle 8(15):2319–2320. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.8.15.9251
- De S, Banerjee S, Kumar SKA, Paira P (2019) Critical role of dipeptidyl peptidase IV: a therapeutic target for diabetes and cancer. Mini Rev Med Chem 19(2):88–97. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1389557518666180423112154
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Do Van B, Gouel F, Jonneaux A, Timmerman K, Gele P, Petrault M, Bastide M, Laloux C, Moreau C, Bordet R, Devos D, Devedjian JC (2016) Ferroptosis, a newly characterized form of cell death in Parkinson's disease that is regulated by PKC. Neurobiol Dis 94:169–178. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2016.05.011
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trumbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Fullekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3(3):285–296
- el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1993) WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. Cell 75(4):817–825
- Fearon ER (2011) Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer. Annu Rev Pathol 6:479–507. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130235
- Feng Z, Hu W, de Stanchina E, Teresky AK, Jin S, Lowe S, Levine AJ (2007) The regulation of AMPK beta1, TSC2, and PTEN expression by p53: stress, cell and tissue specificity, and the role of these gene products in modulating the IGF-1-AKT-mTOR pathways. Cancer Res 67(7): 3043–3053. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4149
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Radmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Forster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Tajeddine N, Kroemer G (2008) Targeting p53 to mitochondria for cancer therapy. Cell Cycle 7(13):1949–1955. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.7.13.6222
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate Ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Gaschler MM, Stockwell BR (2017) Lipid peroxidation in cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482(3):419–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.086
- Huang DC, Strasser A (2000) BH3-only proteins-essential initiators of apoptotic cell death. Cell 103(6):839–842
- Jennis M, Kung CP, Basu S, Budina-Kolomets A, Leu JI, Khaku S, Scott JP, Cai KQ, Campbell MR, Porter DK, Wang X, Bell DA, Li X, Garlick DS, Liu Q, Hollstein M, George DL, Murphy

ME (2016) An African-specific polymorphism in the TP53 gene impairs p53 tumor suppressor function in a mouse model. Genes Dev 30(8):918–930. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.275891.115

- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang SJ, Su T, Hibshoosh H, Baer R, Gu W (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520(7545):57–62. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature14344
- Jin Y, Gu W, Chen W (2021) Sirt3 is critical for p53-mediated ferroptosis upon ROS-induced stress. J Mol Cell Biol 13(2):151–154. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjaa074
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayir H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kang R, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT, Tang D (2011) The Beclin 1 network regulates autophagy and apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 18(4):571–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2010.191
- Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH (2015) p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16(7):393–405. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm4007
- Li T, Kon N, Jiang L, Tan M, Ludwig T, Zhao Y, Baer R, Gu W (2012) Tumor suppression in the absence of p53-mediated cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, and senescence. Cell 149(6):1269–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.026
- Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N, Mulay SR, Dewitz C, De Zen F, Prokai A, Zuchtriegel G, Krombach F, Welz PS, Weinlich R, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Pasparakis M, Bleich M, Weinberg JM, Reichel CA, Brasen JH, Kunzendorf U, Anders HJ, Stockwell BR, Green DR, Krautwald S (2014) Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(47):16836–16841. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1415518111
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2022) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 289(22):7038–7050. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Lu J, Xu F, Lu H (2020) LncRNA PVT1 regulates ferroptosis through miR-214-mediated TFR1 and p53. Life Sci 260:118305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118305
- Luo Y, Gao X, Zou L, Lei M, Feng J, Hu Z (2021) Bavachin induces Ferroptosis through the STAT3/P53/SLC7A11 Axis in osteosarcoma cells. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2021:1783485. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/1783485
- Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Malik SA, Kroemer G (2010) Autophagy regulation by p53. Curr Opin Cell Biol 22(2):181–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.12.001
- Mao C, Wang X, Liu Y, Wang M, Yan B, Jiang Y, Shi Y, Shen Y, Liu X, Lai W, Yang R, Xiao D, Cheng Y, Liu S, Zhou H, Cao Y, Yu W, Muegge K, Yu H, Tao Y (2018) A G3BP1-interacting IncRNA promotes Ferroptosis and apoptosis in cancer via nuclear sequestration of p53. Cancer Res 78(13):3484–3496. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3454
- Matsushita M, Freigang S, Schneider C, Conrad M, Bornkamm GW, Kopf M (2015) T cell lipid peroxidation induces ferroptosis and prevents immunity to infection. J Exp Med 212(4): 555–568. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20140857
- May P, May E (1999) Twenty years of p53 research: structural and functional aspects of the p53 protein. Oncogene 18(53):7621–7636. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203285
- Moschou PN, Roubelakis-Angelakis KA (2014) Polyamines and programmed cell death. J Exp Bot 65(5):1285–1296. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ert373
- Ou Y, Wang SJ, Li D, Chu B, Gu W (2016) Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(44):E6806–E6812. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607152113
- Reinhold D, Brocke S (2014) DPP4-directed therapeutic strategies for MERS-CoV. Lancet Infect Dis 14(2):100–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70696-0
- Saint-Germain E, Mignacca L, Vernier M, Bobbala D, Ilangumaran S, Ferbeyre G (2017) SOCS1 regulates senescence and ferroptosis by modulating the expression of p53 target genes. Aging (Albany NY) 9(10):2137–2162. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101306

- Skouta R, Dixon SJ, Wang J, Dunn DE, Orman M, Shimada K, Rosenberg PA, Lo DC, Weinberg JM, Linkermann A, Stockwell BR (2014) Ferrostatins inhibit oxidative lipid damage and cell death in diverse disease models. J Am Chem Soc 136(12):4551–4556. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja411006a
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, Fulda S, Gascon S, Hatzios SK, Kagan VE, Noel K, Jiang X, Linkermann A, Murphy ME, Overholtzer M, Oyagi A, Pagnussat GC, Park J, Ran Q, Rosenfeld CS, Salnikow K, Tang D, Torti FM, Torti SV, Toyokuni S, Woerpel KA, Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171(2):273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.09.021
- Sun X, Ou Z, Xie M, Kang R, Fan Y, Niu X, Wang H, Cao L, Tang D (2015) HSPB1 as a novel regulator of ferroptotic cancer cell death. Oncogene 34(45):5617–5625. https://doi.org/10.1038/ onc.2015.32
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28251
- Surget S, Khoury MP, Bourdon JC (2013) Uncovering the role of p53 splice variants in human malignancy: a clinical perspective. Onco Targets Ther 7:57–68. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT. S53876
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tarangelo A, Magtanong L, Bieging-Rolett KT, Li Y, Ye J, Attardi LD, Dixon SJ (2018) p53 suppresses metabolic stress-induced Ferroptosis in cancer cells. Cell Rep 22(3):569–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.12.077
- Thomas T, Thomas TJ (2003) Polyamine metabolism and cancer. J Cell Mol Med 7(2):113-126
- Vaseva AV, Marchenko ND, Ji K, Tsirka SE, Holzmann S, Moll UM (2012) p53 opens the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to trigger necrosis. Cell 149(7):1536–1548. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.014
- Wang SJ, Li D, Ou Y, Jiang L, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Gu W (2016a) Acetylation is crucial for p53-mediated Ferroptosis and tumor suppression. Cell Rep 17(2):366–373. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.celrep.2016.09.022
- Wang SJ, Ou Y, Jiang L, Gu W (2016b) Ferroptosis: a missing puzzle piece in the p53 blueprint? Mol Cell Oncol 3(3):e1046581. https://doi.org/10.1080/23723556.2015.1046581
- Wang Z, Ding Y, Wang X, Lu S, Wang C, He C, Wang L, Piao M, Chi G, Luo Y, Ge P (2018) Pseudolaric acid B triggers ferroptosis in glioma cells via activation of Nox4 and inhibition of xCT. Cancer Lett 428:21–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.04.021
- Wang M, Mao C, Ouyang L, Liu Y, Lai W, Liu N, Shi Y, Chen L, Xiao D, Yu F, Wang X, Zhou H, Cao Y, Liu S, Yan Q, Tao Y, Zhang B (2019a) Long noncoding RNA LINC00336 inhibits ferroptosis in lung cancer by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. Cell Death Differ 26(11):2329–2343. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0304-y
- Wang Y, Yang L, Zhang X, Cui W, Liu Y, Sun QR, He Q, Zhao S, Zhang GA, Wang Y, Chen S (2019b) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis by H2B monoubiquitination and p53. EMBO Rep 20(7):e47563. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201847563
- Wang CK, Chen TJ, Tan GYT, Chang FP, Sridharan S, Yu CA, Chang YH, Chen YJ, Cheng LT, Hwang-Verslues WW (2023) MEX3A mediates p53 degradation to suppress Ferroptosis and facilitate ovarian cancer tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 83(2):251–263. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-22-1159
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xie Y, Zhu S, Song X, Sun X, Fan Y, Liu J, Zhong M, Yuan H, Zhang L, Billiar TR, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2017) The tumor suppressor p53 limits Ferroptosis by blocking DPP4 activity. Cell Rep 20(7):1692–1704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017. 07.055

- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yang L, WenTao T, ZhiYuan Z, Qi L, YuXiang L, Peng Z, Ke L, XiaoNa J, YuZhi P, MeiLing J, QingYang F, GuoDong H, YueXiang W, JianMin X (2022a) Cullin-9/p53 mediates HNRNPC degradation to inhibit erastin-induced ferroptosis and is blocked by MDM2 inhibition in colorectal cancer. Oncogene 41(23):3210–3221. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-022-02284-z
- Yang Y, Ma Y, Li Q, Ling Y, Zhou Y, Chu K, Xue L, Tao S (2022b) STAT6 inhibits ferroptosis and alleviates acute lung injury via regulating P53/SLC7A11 pathway. Cell Death Dis 13(6): 530. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04971-x
- Zhang Z, Guo M, Shen M, Kong D, Zhang F, Shao J, Tan S, Wang S, Chen A, Cao P, Zheng S (2020) The BRD7-P53-SLC25A28 axis regulates ferroptosis in hepatic stellate cells. Redox Biol 36:101619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101619
- Zhou X, Zou L, Chen W, Yang T, Luo J, Wu K, Shu F, Tan X, Yang Y, Cen S, Li C, Mao X (2021) Flubendazole, FDA-approved anthelmintic, elicits valid antitumor effects by targeting P53 and promoting ferroptosis in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Pharmacol Res 164:105305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105305



Ferroptosis in Cardiovascular Disease

Jason K. Higa, Nicholas K. Kawasaki, and Takashi Matsui

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a relatively newly discovered form of regulated cell death that is distinct from other forms of cell death. Ferroptosis has been observed in a variety of tissues and diseases, including the heart. The heart depends on iron as a cofactor in many enzymes and in catalyzing reactions supplying the constant energy needs of the heart. Erythrocytes also require iron for binding and transporting oxygen in heme. The metabolic demands of the heart and the constant perfusion of blood through the myocardium put it at risk of iron overload and consequent oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation-all hallmarks of ferroptosis. Disruptions to iron and redox homeostasis can induce ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Iron homeostasis is maintained by multiple iron transport and storage mechanisms, and redox balance is maintained by multiple pathways, including glutathione peroxidase (GPX4) and potential new cellular antioxidant mechanisms. Together, these antioxidant pathways are a cellular multipronged system in combating oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation. This chapter describes how various cardiac pathologies disrupt iron and redox homeostasis and facilitate ferroptosis. Later, we discuss current therapies for dealing with cardiovascular iron overload diseases and strategies for potential new antiferroptotic therapies.

8

J. K. Higa · N. K. Kawasaki · T. Matsui (🖂)

Center for Cardiovascular Research, Department of Anatomy, Biochemistry & Physiology, John A. Burns School of Medicine, University of Hawai'i at Manoa, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA e-mail: tmatsui@hawaii.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_8

8.1 Introduction

Ferroptosis is a type of regulated cell death mediated by iron-dependent lipid peroxidation, which distinguishes it from other forms of cell death (Dixon et al. 2012). While accidental cell death caused by physical, chemical, or mechanical stimuli cannot be prevented, regulated cell death can be attenuated by altering the activity of endogenous signal transduction pathways (Galluzzi et al. 2015). Regulated cell death, such as apoptosis, is critical in the pathogenesis of many cardiac diseases, including acute myocardial infarction (MI) and heart failure (Konstantinidis et al. 2012). However, ferroptosis is distinct from apoptosis and other forms of cell death (Dixon et al. 2012). Two major pathophysiological features characterize ferroptosis; iron dependency and the accumulation of lipid peroxides (Hirschhorn and Stockwell 2019). These features are not shared with apoptosis nor other types of regulated cell death (Dixon et al. 2012). The pathophysiological role of ferroptosis in the heart has become a burgeoning field of study that has yielded many publications since the last edition of this book. In that time, ferroptosis has transitioned from a new discovery into an increasingly important factor in cell death in the heart (Fang et al. 2023; Yang et al. 2022b).

Damage to cardiac tissue can result in adverse left ventricular (LV) remodeling, which includes ventricular dilatation and fibrosis. Adverse LV remodeling is an important prognostic factor for heart failure (Bhatt et al. 2017). In cardiac ischemia, the magnitude of cardiomyocyte cell death is directly proportional to the future risk of LV remodeling and heart failure (Mckay et al. 1986). The death and loss of cardiomyocytes caused by an acute MI or cardiomyopathy can result in cardiac pump dysfunction and subsequent heart failure. The adult human heart has a limited ability to repair and compensate for losses in cardiomyocytes, as adults have limited cardiomyocyte proliferation rates after the neonatal period (Hirai et al. 2016). While studies have demonstrated cardiomyocyte proliferation and reprogramming of fibroblasts into cardiomyocytes under certain conditions (Abad et al. 2017; Senvo et al. 2013), there are currently no well-established therapeutic approaches or methods that restore cardiac function after losing functional cardiomyocytes in pathological settings. Therefore, preventing massive cardiomyocyte death due to cardiac injury remains a reasonable strategy for preventing and treating heart failure following cardiac insults or injuries such as an acute MI or cardiomyopathy.

Myocardial reperfusion therapies, such as primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), reduce the initial infarct size in patients presenting with an acute MI by restoring blood flow to the infarcted area. However, the process of reperfusion induces further injury in the myocardium, known as reperfusion injury (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). In patients with ST-segment elevation MI (STEMI), intramyocardial hemorrhage is a frequent complication that occurs after successful myocardial reperfusion and is an independent predictor of adverse LV remodeling (Carrick et al. 2016; Ganame et al. 2009). A report using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed that all patients in the study who had adverse LV remodeling also displayed accumulated residual myocardial iron in the myocardium within the infarct zone (Bulluck et al. 2016). We demonstrated that in mouse models, iron accumulates in the myocardium following ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury (Baba et al. 2018). In the report, we also showed that ferrostatin-1, a ferroptosis inhibitor (Dixon et al. 2012), inhibited Fe (III)-citrate-induced cell death in adult mouse cardiomyocytes (Baba et al. 2018). Reports using *in vivo* surgical models in mice demonstrated that ferroptosis plays an important role in the pathogenesis of I/R injury (Chen et al. 2021; Fang et al. 2019; Gao et al. 2015; Li et al. 2019a; Miyamoto et al. 2022). Further studies showed that inhibition of ferroptosis protects the heart against cardiomyopathy, like that seen in response to doxorubicin (DOX) treatment (Fang et al. 2019; Kitakata et al. 2021; Tadokoro et al. 2020).

These findings strongly suggest that ferroptosis, a form of iron-dependent regulated cell death, is a potential target for novel therapies targeting cardiac diseases, including acute MI and cardiomyopathy. We review the role of ferroptosis in cardiovascular disease in this chapter.

8.2 Iron in the Heart

8.2.1 The Physiological Role of Iron in the Heart

The heart is constantly beating and contracting to circulate and distribute blood throughout the body, thus it needs a constant supply of energy to fuel cardiomyocyte contractions. Therefore, cardiomyocytes are rich in mitochondria, which generate the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) needed to supply the constant energy demands of the heart. Blood is a fluid tissue that contains many iron-rich components in both its cellular and liquid fractions. Red blood cells (RBCs), or erythrocytes, are a major component of blood and are the primary carriers of oxygen to the tissues of the body. RBCs rely on intracellular stores of hemoglobin to bind oxygen for transport, and each hemoglobin molecule contains four molecules of heme. Iron is central to the structure of heme and essential for its ability to bind diatomic oxygen. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) catalyzes the catabolism of heme into Fe²⁺ and biliverdin as part of the normal turnover of RBCs and recycling of iron in the body and has become increasingly important in studies of ferroptosis in the heart.

Iron is also critical for mitochondrial function and is needed in iron-sulfur clusters that are essential cofactors for proteins involved in several mitochondrial functions, including beta-oxidation, the citric acid cycle, and oxidative phosphorylation (Stehling and Lill 2013). In oxidative phosphorylation, the properties of iron-sulfur clusters allow the transfer of electrons through the mitochondrial complexes of the electron transport chain, which generates not only ATP but also reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Murphy 2009). Iron-sulfur clusters are also essential for heme synthesis.

8.2.2 The Pathological Role of Excess Iron in the Heart

Since the 1970s, researchers have reported correlations between excess cardiac iron deposition and cardiac dysfunction (Buja and Roberts 1971), and research attempting to link and implicate the causative effects of excess iron in cardiac disease continues to this day. In the 1990s, researchers hypothesized that ferritin and overall body iron stores and homeostasis contributed to cardiovascular disease (Salonen et al. 1992), but later studies and analyses failed to support the hypothesis that serum ferritin and body iron dysregulation are linked to cardiovascular disease (Knuiman et al. 2003; Sempos et al. 2000).

Despite the lack of support for the serum ferritin hypothesis, other studies have associated pathologies that cause excess iron deposition with cardiovascular dysfunction. Hemochromatosis is a condition characterized by iron overload in the body and can be caused by either hereditary factors that affect genes associated with iron homeostasis, or acquired through medical interventions such as frequent blood transfusions (Babitt and Lin 2011; Kohgo et al. 2008). Genetic hemochromatosis is associated with LV dysfunction (Carpenter et al. 2013), and chronic transfusions can cause cardiac iron overload as viewed through T2* MRI (De Montalembert et al. 2017).

Genetic disorders that affect hemoglobin synthesis and metabolism are also associated with cardiovascular disease (Taher et al. 2013). Hemoglobin relies on iron as an essential cofactor that allows heme to bind to oxygen, but hemoglobin is also a potential source of extracellular iron if hemolysis occurs. Beta-thalassemia is characterized by inefficient erythropoiesis, an inability to handle free iron, and is associated with an increased risk of heart failure (De Montalembert et al. 2017; Hahalis et al. 2005). In sickle-cell disease, a mutation in the gene encoding hemoglobin causes the protein to misfold and warp RBCs into an elongated shape, affecting their transport and durability in the cardiovascular system (Wood 2016). This atypical shape also makes sickle-cells more prone to hemolysis and releasing hemoglobin into the extracellular space (Wood 2016). Myocardial iron loading is also observed in sickle-cell disease (Wood et al. 2004), and this increased iron deposition is directly linked to myocardial dysfunction (Fujikura et al. 2018).

Research since the last edition of this book has revealed an increasing importance of iron and ferroptosis in acute and chronic cardiovascular diseases. Ischemia-reperfusion models have shown increased myocardial iron deposition and elevated ferroptotic markers. Various causes of cardiomyopathy, such as post-I/R LV remodeling, doxorubicin treatment, pressure overload-induced hypertrophy, and diabetes, have all shown increased ferroptosis (Fang et al. 2023; Yang et al. 2022b) (Fig. 8.1).

Thus, iron is an essential element for cardiovascular function in both cardiomyocyte metabolism and oxygen transport via hemoglobin, but these functions also mean that the heart is potentially exposed to both intracellular and extracellular sources of free iron. Therefore, the heart is vulnerable to derangements in iron homeostasis both inside and out, which can lead to ferroptosis and other ironoverload pathologies.



Fig. 8.1 Stages of cardiac ferroptosis. (1) Various cardiac pathologies such as ischemiareperfusion (I/R) injury, doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy, and diabetes mellitus can cause myocardial damage. (2) Damage to the heart or its vasculature can result in the deposition, accumulation, and increased availability of redox-active iron inside cardiomyocytes and organelles. (3) Cardiac pathologies like I/R can also lower antioxidant defenses and cause oxidative stress due to increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. (4) Increased ROS and oxidative stress favors the formation of lipid peroxides, which can compromise membrane structure and result in a lack of membrane integrity and function. (5) Ferroptosis occurs as a result of the catastrophic accumulation of lipid peroxides, which leads to cell swelling and rupture, and may propagate along connected cardiomyocytes

8.2.3 The Effects of Iron Homeostasis on Cell Function

Although iron is a key component in triggering ferroptotic mechanisms, cardiomyocytes need iron as a cofactor for intracellular enzymes. Iron is especially vital for mitochondrial activity that supplies the energy needed for ion transport in cardiac electrochemical activity and muscle contraction (Griffiths 2012). Iron serves as a critical catalyst for several steps in aerobic respiration and generating ATP required for the constant energy demands of cardiomyocytes (Levi and Rovida 2009). Iron deficiency impairs mitochondrial aerobic respiration and results in an

eventual LV dysfunction and heart failure (Haddad et al. 2017). Since both iron deficiency and excess iron cause cardiac pathologies, a homeostatic balance must be struck between having too little or too much intracellular iron inside the heart. Therefore, cardiac muscle requires mechanisms that maintain iron homeostasis within a normal range.

Iron homeostasis is dynamic and can change by altering the contents of the labile iron pool—an intracellular reserve of soluble iron (Kakhlon and Cabantchik 2002) (Fig. 8.2). The iron in the labile iron pool can participate in redox reactions and can also be targeted by chelators. The labile property of the iron pool refers to how the cell can import, export, or sequester iron using proteins or organelles to adjust iron concentrations in the pool and regulate redox activity (Kakhlon and Cabantchik 2002). The primary mechanism of iron import into the cell is through the binding of transferrin-bound iron to transferrin receptors and consequent receptor-mediated endocytosis (Hentze et al. 2010; Kakhlon and Cabantchik 2002). Alternatively, ferroportin is the primary means of iron export from the cell and decreasing iron in the labile iron pool (Hentze et al. 2010). Another means of regulating the labile iron pool is through ferritin, which binds to soluble iron, thus sequestering it and allowing iron to be stored within the cell in a form that cannot easily participate in redox reactions (Arosio and Levi 2002). Conversely, ferritinophagy, a specific form of autophagy targeting ferritin, reverses this process and releases iron back into the labile iron pool (Hou et al. 2016; Santana-Codina and Mancias 2018). Pathways that mediate ferritinophagy have been identified in cardiac tissue, such as those involving Nuclear Receptor Coactivator 4 alpha and beta (NCOA4α & NCOAβ) activity (Gao et al. 2016; Ito et al. 2021). Disrupting lysosomal activity also increases intracellular iron levels, providing further evidence of the important effect of autophagy in intracellular iron homeostasis (Hou et al. 2016, Santana-Codina and Mancias 2018). Heme is also a source of potentially labile iron, and HO-1 has become increasingly important in studies of iron homeostasis and redox balance in the heart, as HO-1 activity catabolizes heme and releases its core Fe²⁺ into the labile iron pool (Fang et al. 2019) (Fig. 8.2).

8.3 Ferroptosis and Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Production

8.3.1 Iron Homeostasis and ROS Generation

Iron storage is not limited to ferritin in the cytosol, and excess iron can be stored in the mitochondria. Cardiac muscle needs a constant supply of ATP to keep up with the energy demands of a constantly beating heart. Thus, it follows that cardiomyocytes are also abundant in mitochondria, which require iron as cofactors in ATP synthesis (Levi and Rovida 2009). Cardiac mitochondria are also able to store excess iron within iron-sulfur clusters and mitochondrial ferritin (FtMt), a mitochondria-specific form of the iron storage protein (Drysdale et al. 2002). Mitochondria are a hotbed of ROS, which are generated by oxidative phosphorylation occurring within the mitochondria during aerobic ATP production (Levi and



Fig. 8.2 Mechanisms of ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Red outlines indicate proteins or cell activity that promote ferroptosis. Green outlines indicate proteins containing polyunsaturated fatty acid, PLOH phospholipid alcohol, PLOOH phospholipid hydroperoxide, PUFA polyunsaturated fatty acid, ROS reactive or cell activity that promote antioxidant activity, inhibition of ferroptosis, or both. Pointed arrows indicate activation, synthesis, or transport. Blunt double-lined arrows indicate inhibition or reduction of its target. ACSL4 acyl-CoA synthetase long chain family member 4, ALOXI5 arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase, C cysteine, CC cystine, Co210 coenzyme Q10, Co200H2 coenzyme Q10 (reduced), DMTI Divalent Metal Transporter 1, Glu glutamate, Fer-I ferrostatin-1, FPN ferroportin, FSP1 ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (also AIFM2), Ft ferritin, Gly glycine, GPX4 glutathione peroxidase 4, GSH glutathione (reduced), GSSG glutathione disulfide, HO-I heme oxygenase-1, KEAP1 Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1, NCOA4 nuclear receptor coactivator 4, Nrf2 nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2, PL phospholipid, PL-PUFA phospholipid containing polyunsaturated fatty acid(s), PL-PUFA-OOH phospholipid hydroperoxide oxygen species, SLC3A2 solute carrier family 3 member 2 (also 4F2HC), SLC7A11 solute carrier family 7 member 11, system Xe- cystine/glutamate antiporter, If transferrin, TFRI transferrin receptor 1 Rovida 2009). The generated ROS can also interact with iron-sulfur clusters within the mitochondria and catalyze the Fenton reaction, in which iron can interact with ROS and H_2O_2 to generate even more ROS (Thomas et al. 2009).

Altered rates of iron import or export or increased release of iron from storage can cause iron to accumulate in the labile iron pool and trigger ferroptosis. Transferrin and its transferrin receptor (Tfr1) are the primary mode of iron import into the cell (Fig. 8.2). Increasing the rate of iron transport can predispose a cell to ferroptosis by causing it to accumulate iron. Lapatinib is a tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitor that increases transferrin transport and causes ferroptotic activity (Ma et al. 2016). Tfr1was also identified as a ferroptosis-specific marker as determined by a screen of monoclonal antibodies that identified 3F3-FMA, an antibody specific for ferroptosis and Tfr1. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy were used to verify the location of ferroptosis and the anti-Tfr1 antibody, which both colocalized at the plasma membrane of multiple cell lines treated with RSL3 (Feng et al. 2020). although this needs to be confirmed in cardiac cells. The specificity of Tfr1 as a marker for ferroptosis was validated by experiments showing that induction of apoptosis with staurosporine and induction of necrosis with H_2O_2 did not increase anti-Tfr1 staining (Feng et al. 2020). Divalent Metal Transporter 1 (DMT1) is a transmembrane protein that facilitates the uptake of ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) into cells (Gunshin et al. 1997). A study that used an *in vitro* hypoxia-reoxygenation (H/R) model with neonatal cardiomyocytes demonstrated that overexpression of DMT1 promoted H/R-induced ferroptosis (Song et al. 2021). Accordingly, knockdown of DMT1 prevented intracellular accumulation of ferrous iron and significantly inhibited H/R-induced cell ferroptosis (Song et al. 2021). In a similar vein to increasing iron import via DMT1 or transferrin and Tfr1, decreasing the rate of iron export can also cause a cell to accumulate iron and predispose it to ferroptosis. Siramesine, a sigma-2 receptor ligand that was originally developed for treatment of depression, decreases ferroportin activity and induces ferroptosis by causing excess iron to accumulate without the ability to rid the cell of excess iron (Ma et al. 2016).

8.3.2 Glutathione Peroxidase 4 (GPX4)

Ferroptosis was initially discovered through small-molecule inhibitors that disrupted the production of glutathione and GPX4 (Dixon et al. 2012) (Fig. 8.2). GPX4 uses glutathione in the reduction of lipid peroxides and the prevention of oxidative damage and cell death that could result from the accumulation of lipid peroxide radicals (Friedmann Angeli and Conrad 2018). GPX4 is a selenoprotein that uses its selenocysteine to reduce hydroperoxides and lipid hydroperoxides in ferroptosis (Ingold et al. 2018; Seibt et al. 2019). Selenocysteine is integral to GPX4, as replacement of the selenium group with sulfur essentially replaces selenocysteine with cysteine, which induces ferroptosis (Ingold et al. 2018). The high catalytic activity of selenocysteine allows GPX4 to constantly target hydroperoxides and reduce oxidative stress in the cell (Conrad 2009). GPX4 works by preventing 15-lipoxygenases from oxidizing polyunsaturated phosphatidylethanolamines

(PEs), specifically on arachidonoyl and adrenoyl fatty acids (Stockwell et al. 2017; Wenzel et al. 2017). GPX4 specifically reduces hydroperoxy-PEs that are created by a combination of phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1 (PEBP1) and 15-lipoxygenases (Wenzel et al. 2017). This process is ferroptosis-specific as inhibition of arachidonoyl and adrenoyl esterification prevents ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). Moreover, loss of acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3)—both enzymes that esterify polyunsaturated fatty acids—also confers an anti-ferroptotic effect (Stockwell et al. 2017). In contrast, apoptosis oxidizes cardiolipins and not PEs, further distinguishing ferroptosis as using a different form of lipid peroxidation (Orrenius and Zhivotovsky 2005).

Ferroptosis-inducing compounds are currently classified into two categories: class 1 and class 2 ferroptosis inducers (Yang et al. 2014), although this will likely change in the future as new ferroptotic mechanisms have been discovered. Class 1 ferroptosis inducers, such as erastin, target the cystine/glutamate transporter (system Xc- or xCT). Cystine is an essential reactant in the synthesis of glutathione. Therefore, inhibition of system Xc- or the gene that encodes system Xc- will deplete the cell of cysteine and glutathione. Overexpression of solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11), the gene that encodes system Xc-, inhibits ROS-induced ferroptosis (Jiang et al. 2015). Furthermore, SLC7A11 deletion combined with a high-iron diet triggers ferroptosis in murine macrophages (Jiang et al. 2015) and cardiomyocytes (Baba et al. 2018). Class 2 ferroptosis inducers, such as Ras-selective lethal 3 (RSL3), work downstream of class 1 inhibitors and directly target and inhibit GPX4 activity. Other small-molecule inducers of ferroptosis have been discovered, although their mechanisms are not as well-defined as class 1 and class 2 ferroptosis inducers (Yu et al. 2017).

GPX4 has powerful protective effects in cardiac tissue, and overexpression of GPX4 prevents ischemia/reperfusion-associated cardiac dysfunction (Dabkowski et al. 2008). GPX4 is also found in the mitochondria, but mitochondrial GPX4 may play a lesser role than cytosolic GPX4 in ferroptosis, as mitochondria-specific overexpression of GPX4 failed to prevent ferroptosis in cultured cardiomyocytes subjected to H/R (Miyamoto et al. 2022). In accordance with the protective role of GPX4 against ferroptosis, inhibition or loss of GPX4 activity results in decreased antioxidant defenses, accumulation of lipid peroxides, and consequent ferroptosis (Yang and Stockwell 2016). Haploinsufficient GPX4 mice show increased carbonyl stress and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE)-adducts in cardiac tissue (Katunga et al. 2015). Those mice also displayed cardiac hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis after being fed a high-fat, high-sucrose diet model (Katunga et al. 2015). Genetic GPX4 knockout models showed similar markers of ferroptosis and cardiomyopathies, which were reduced when GPX4 knockout mice were fed an antioxidant-rich diet supplemented with vitamin E (Imai et al. 2017). However, removal of this diet from the GPX4 knockout mice resulted in sudden cardiac death (Imai et al. 2017). Additional pathways further upstream of glutathione synthesis and GPX4 can also induce ferroptosis. These include the mevalonate pathway, which controls the synthesis of selenoproteins such as GPX4 (Yang and Stockwell 2016) and the sulfur-transfer pathway, which are important in cysteine biosynthesis and consequent glutathione formation (Yu et al. 2017). Taken together, GPX4 plays an integral role in mediating ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes by attenuating oxidative stress and preventing ROS accumulation.

The role of mitochondria in ferroptosis is more evident than it has been before. One of the first hints of the involvement of mitochondria was a study showing that prenatal knockout of mitochondrial thioredoxin reductase in cardiomyocytes, a reducing selenoprotein similar to GPX4, led to congestive heart disease in murine models (Conrad 2009). The involvement of mitochondria in cardiac ferroptosis is also supported by a study showing that cardiac hypertrophy can be induced through iron overload of mitochondria in cardiomyocytes (Tang et al. 2019). The resulting cardiac dysfunction seems to be caused by an accumulation of lipid peroxides in mitochondrial membranes (Tang et al. 2019). Cells treated with an antioxidant that specifically targets the mitochondria were rescued from the damage caused by lipid peroxidation (Fang et al. 2019). Additionally, cells treated with RSL3, a GPX4 inhibitor, displayed abnormal mitochondrial morphology and reduced function (Jelinek et al. 2018). In the case of human hearts, Raf kinase inhibitor protein (RKIP) is upregulated in patients who suffer from heart failure. RKIP is a member of the phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein (PEBP) family, thus linking this clinical research data to lipid peroxidation and heart function (Wolf et al. 2018). Mitochondria do not produce GSH, therefore they need to transport it from the cytosol, but this mechanism is not completely clear. However, two putative carrier proteins, solute carrier family 25 member 10 (SLC25A10; also dicarboxylate carrier, DIC) and solute carrier family 25 member 11 (SLC25A11; also oxoglutarate carrier, OGC), have been identified as being protective against oxidative stress, although fused membrane vesicle assays with these carriers show that they do not directly transport GSH (Jang et al. 2021).

So far, we established that the inherent redox properties of iron generate ROS, cardiomyocytes continually generate ROS through mitochondrial activity, and the antioxidant glutathione has an important role in scavenging free radicals and preventing cell death caused by the accumulation of ROS generated from normal cardiac activity and pathological conditions (Van Der Pol et al. 2018). Therefore, it follows that the labile iron pool, mitochondria, and glutathione are all involved in ferroptosis, and that derangements in any of these components can result in a combination of excess iron accumulation, ROS generation, and lipid peroxidation, all of which are hallmarks of ferroptosis.

8.3.3 Ferroptosis Suppressor Protein 1 (FSP1)

Ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) was previously known as apoptosisinducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (AIFM2), but was renamed to FSP1 after its potent anti-ferroptotic effects were recently discovered (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2019) (Fig. 8.2). FSP1 localizes to the plasma membrane and catalyzes the reduction of ubiquinone (CoQ₁₀) to ubiquinol (CoQ₁₀H₂), the latter of which is an antioxidant that can reduce nearby lipid peroxide radicals in the cell membrane and reduce them to phospholipid hydroperoxides, which in turn can be further reduced by GPX4 into phospholipid alcohols (Bersuker et al. 2019). FSP1 can also repair ferroptotic membrane damage by recruiting the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport III (ESCRT-III) (Dai et al. 2020). ESCRT-III anti-ferroptotic activity is specific to FSP1 and is independent of the FSP1/CoQ₁₀ pathway, suggesting that the effects of FSP1 are carried through multiple anti-ferroptotic mechanisms.

FSP1 also compensates for losses in GPX4 activity, as overexpression of FSP1 confers resistance to RSL3-induced ferroptosis in GPX4 knockout cell culture models (Bersuker et al. 2019, Doll et al. 2019). Glutathione is not a substrate for FSP1, and glutathione levels are also unaffected by changes in FSP1 activity, further decoupling FSP1 from the GPX4 pathway (Bersuker et al. 2019). Therefore, FSP1 has complementary anti-ferroptotic effects that are independent of GPX4 and can compensate for losses in GPX4 activity (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2019).

8.3.4 Mitochondria and Dihydroorotate Dehydrogenase (DHODH)

The close relationship between mitochondria and ferroptosis is almost indisputable, as mitochondria are pivotal in iron homeostasis and redox reactions and display marked changes in their morphology and metabolism in response to ferroptotic conditions (Dixon et al. 2012; Doll et al. 2017; Gao et al. 2019). However, whether mitochondria are a key component of ferroptosis has come under question, and research has shifted toward investigating the extent to which mitochondrial are involved and whether they are necessary or play more of a supporting role in ferroptosis.

Studies investigating the localization of lipid peroxide accumulation and mechanisms of action of anti-ferroptotic agents have not converged on the mitochondria, making it less likely that the mitochondria are the primary initiator of ferroptotic mechanisms (Doll et al. 2019; Gaschler et al. 2018; Hirata et al. 2023; Riegman et al. 2020). Depletion of mitochondria via mitophagy did not rescue HT1080 cells from RSL3-induced ferroptosis, and inhibition of the electron transport chain and mitochondrial uncoupling failed to prevent RSL3-induced accumulation of lipid ROS in different noncardiac cell culture lines (Gao et al. 2019). Therefore, the mitochondria are not necessary for ferroptosis mediated through the GSH/GPX4 pathway (Gao et al. 2019). However, cells depleted of mitochondria showed increased resistance to ferroptosis induced by erastin or cysteine deprivation (Gao et al. 2019). Since erastin inhibits system Xc- and decreases import and intracellular levels of cysteine, it appears that mitochondria play an important role in ferroptosis caused by cysteine-poor conditions (Gao et al. 2019). This was confirmed by experiments using inhibitors of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) and electron transport chain, which also suppressed ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2019). Therefore, mitochondrial contributions to ferroptosis may be dependent on the presence of cysteine and independent from GPX4 activity.

Despite the increasing evidence that mitochondria are not necessary for ferroptosis, it does not mean that mitochondria cannot initiate their own ferroptotic mechanisms. Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) is an enzyme involved with pyrimidine synthesis and is located in the mitochondrial inner membrane. Inhibition of DHODH sensitized cancer cells with low levels of GPX4 to ferroptosis, and deletion of DHODH caused lipid peroxidation and ferroptotic cell death (Mao et al. 2021). GPX4 knockdown increases expression of DHODH; however, DHODH knockout in cells that express high levels of GPX4 did not exhibit lipid peroxidation (Mao et al. 2021). Taken together, DHODH regulation of ferroptosis is not dependent on GPX4, giving further evidence that mitochondrial ferroptotic activity is independent from GPX4. Furthermore, the different subcellular locations of DHODH versus FSP1 suggest a possible alternate DHODH pathway of triggering ferroptosis, and that the normal functions of GPX4, FSP1, and a potential DHODH pathway may help compensate for oxidative stress when one of those pathways are compromised.

8.3.5 Lipid Peroxidation

Disruption of either GPX4 or the FSP1/CoQ₁₀ axis eventually tips the scale in favor of ROS formation, which ultimately results in the accumulation of lipid-based ROS, especially in the form of lipid hydroperoxides (Yang and Stockwell 2016). Lipidbased ROS are more than a downstream target of increased ROS formation—they are a critical mechanism and a distinguishing and defining component of ferroptosis (Latunde-Dada 2017). Phosphatidylethanolamines were a primary suspect among possible lipid peroxides that could contribute to ferroptosis, as oxidized PEs have been observed in heart disease for decades, as ischemia disrupts the arrangement of PEs in the sarcolemma of cardiomyocytes (Post et al. 1995). Furthermore, culturing cardiomyocytes in the presence of N,N-dimethylethanolamine, which affects the configuration of PEs, limits cell damage caused by ischemia and metabolic inhibition (Post et al. 1995). Oxidized PEs have been implicated as a lipid-based ROS critical for ferroptosis signaling (D'herde and Krysko 2017). Additionally, by-products of lipid peroxidation, such as MDA (malondialdehyde) and 4-HNE, are also used as consistent markers for detecting ferroptosis (Feng et al. 2020).

It was previously thought that organelles could be the primary sites of ferroptosis, but the plasma membrane has resurfaced in importance regarding the accumulation of lipid-based ROS in subcellular compartments (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2019; Hirata et al. 2023; Riegman et al. 2020). Interest in the plasma membrane was boosted by the discovery of the FSP1/CoQ₁₀ axis, which acts at the plasma membrane instead of organelles (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2023). Ferroptosis has shown the ability to spread between cells in a wave-like pattern (Linkermann et al. 2014a; Riegman et al. 2020) which led to investigations into the potential involvement of the plasma membrane in the propagation of ferroptotic cell death, and that ferroptotic lipid peroxidation compromises the

structure of the plasma membrane (Riegman et al. 2020). The altered structure of the ferroptotic plasma membrane leads to pore formation, which contributes to osmotic swelling and rounding of cells undergoing ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023, Riegman et al. 2020). The increased cell volume caused by osmotic swelling results in increased membrane tension and activation of mechanosensitive cation channels (Hirata et al. 2023). Cation channels appear to play a role in ferroptosis, as increased Ca²⁺ influx has been observed before ferroptotic cell rupture. Additionally, treatment with ruthenium red, a broad cation channel blocker, results in decreased LDH release from cells treated with RSL3 and other inducers of ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023). Piezo1 is a mechanosensitive nonselective cation channel that opens in response to membrane distortion and appears to facilitate ferroptosis as evidenced by Piezo knockout and knockdown cell lines being significantly more resistant to RSL3induced ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023). Loss of cation concentration gradients and equilibration of cytosolic cations with extracellular fluid are also observed in ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023), which would render cardiomyocytes unable to conduct electrical impulses. Cellular swelling, compromised membrane integrity, and the collapse of concentration gradients caused by ferroptosis eventually result in cell rupture and death (Hirata et al. 2023; Riegman et al. 2020).

Lipid-based ROS can also propagate to the membranes of other intracellular compartments (Torii et al. 2016). Mitochondria were an initial target of studies investigating the effects of ferroptosis on organelles because of how excess iron accumulation in mitochondria causes lipid peroxidation of mitochondrial membranes (Fang et al. 2019). Lysosomes were studied due to their vital role in autophagy and release of iron from ferritin stores (Gao et al. 2016). The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) was also studied due to it being a central site of lipid synthesis and containing the majority of the total lipid bilayers in a cell (Gaschler et al. 2018). An imaging study in MCF7 breast cancer cells used an iridium-based transition metal complex that accumulates in the ER and showed increased ER viscosity in response to ferroptosis (Hao et al. 2021). Another study of the subcellular localization of ferrostatin-1 revealed that ferrostatin-1 suppressed lipid peroxidation localized at the ER (Gaschler et al. 2018).

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) have been studied in the context of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress due to their roles as essential membrane components and free radical scavengers (Hulbert et al. 2014). However, the radical-scavenging properties of PUFAs also make them a target for oxidation (D'herde and Krysko 2017). This has led to studies investigating enzymes involved in lipid metabolism and biosynthesis of PUFAs. Studies of ACSL4, an enzyme involved in PUFA metabolism, revealed that knocking out ACSL4 increased cell resistance to ferroptosis in breast cancer cell lines, and inhibition of ACSL4 in intestinal I/R mouse models also inhibited ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017; Li et al. 2019b) (Fig. 8.2). PUFAs are substrates for ALOX15, a lipoxygenase that catalyzes the formation of lipid peroxide radicals and signaling molecules. Increased ALOX15 activity is associated with increased lipid peroxidation and sensitivity to ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2022). A study in cancer cells demonstrated that enrichment of PUFAs predisposes cells to ferroptotic death by GPX4 inhibition (Beatty et al. 2021).

Another study showed that membrane complexes consisting of PEBP1 and 15-lipoxygenases triggered the formation of PUFA-based ROS in disease models of asthma, kidney failure, and brain trauma (Wenzel et al. 2017).

Although it might seem like PUFAs are complicit in ferroptosis, they are also vital components of cellular membranes, and PUFA deficiency results in adverse outcomes in multiple diseases (Calon et al. 2005; Pachikian et al. 2011). Higher PUFA intake also reduces the risk of some cardiovascular diseases, including nonfatal MI and sudden death due to coronary artery disease (Bucher et al. 2002). Therefore, the role of PUFAs in normal cardiac function and cardiac ferroptosis might be similar to that of iron: both iron and lipid-based ROS are necessary for ferroptosis, but a deficiency in either iron or PUFA results in other adverse cardiac outcomes (Bucher et al. 2002; Von Haehling et al. 2015). One hypothesis behind the relationship between ferroptosis, PUFA, and lipid-based ROS states that ferroptosis might be a consequence of cells incorporating PUFAs into membranes during the evolution of the cell (Stockwell et al. 2017).

In contrast to PUFAs, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) appear to have an anti-ferroptotic effect. MUFAs were able to suppress erastin-induced ferroptosis by cotreatment with either oleic acid or palmitoleic acid in cell culture models (Magtanong et al. 2019), although this result was not obtained from a cardiac cell line. The mechanism behind how MUFAs suppress ferroptosis was shown to be independent of chelation, changes in GPX4 activity, or direct free radical scavenging in cell-free assays (Magtanong et al. 2019). Therefore, MUFAs may act in parallel or downstream of GSH/GPX4 activity. Nevertheless, MUFAs block membrane lipid ROS accumulation as detected by fluorescent markers, and this activity seems to be preferentially targeted to the plasma membrane (Magtanong et al. 2019). Treatment with exogenous MUFAs also decreases PUFA incorporation into phospholipids, further offsetting the potential sensitizing effects of PUFAs toward ferroptosis (Magtanong et al. 2019). The anti-ferroptotic effects of MUFAs are dependent on the presence of acyl-coenzyme A synthetase long-chain family member 3 (ACSL3), as exogenous oleic acid treatment was rendered less effective in preventing ferroptosis in ACSL3 loss-of-function cell culture models as compared to wildtype cell culture lines (Magtanong et al. 2019).

Other lipids and enzymes involved in lipid metabolism have been found to affect ferroptosis. Alpha-eleostearic acid was found to enhance cell death in a GSH/GPX4-dependent manner when cotreated with inhibitors of glutathione synthesis (Beatty et al. 2021). The ferroptotic effects of alpha-eleostearic acid are dependent on ACSL1, another acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member that forms peroxides from alpha-eleostearic acid (Beatty et al. 2021).

8.4 Pathological Features of Ferroptosis in the Heart

Ferroptosis has emerged as an increasingly important factor in I/R injury of the heart. A study estimated that ~40% of cell death can be attributed to ferroptosis in cardiac I/R models (Miyamoto et al. 2022). This estimate is supported by a study in rat I/R

models that used pharmacological agents that inhibit apoptosis, necroptosis, and ferroptosis. The study concluded that apoptosis and ferroptosis are the primary types of regulated cell death in cardiac I/R injury (Luo et al. 2022). However, ferroptosis can still occur in the heart even if apoptosis is suppressed (Fang et al. 2019). Several cardiac pathologies can lead to excess iron deposition and accumulation, increased ROS production, and pathological alterations in membrane lipids, which are all vital elements of ferroptosis (Fig. 8.1).

8.4.1 Ferroptosis in Ischemia-Reperfusion (I/R) Injury

An increasing number of studies have observed ferroptosis during cardiac I/R injury. I/R injury results from temporary deprivation of blood, oxygen, and nutrients to the myocardium during ischemia, and metabolic changes in response to restoration of blood flow to the infarcted area during reperfusion (Murphy and Steenbergen 2008). I/R injury frequently occurs as a consequence of coronary artery disease and MIs and subsequent intervention (Asanuma et al. 1997). ROS production is characteristic of I/R injury and increases in the myocardium during the ischemic phase (Cadenas 2018; Zweier et al. 1987). Although reperfusion restores oxygen and nutrients to infarcted tissue, reperfusion causes yet another increase in ROS production (Zweier et al. 1987). The one-two combination of ROS production during both phases of I/R leads to an acute and marked overproduction of ROS (Zweier et al. 1987). I/R also causes mitochondria to produce more ROS, which results from altered mitochondrial metabolism during hypoxia and ischemia, and the sudden influx of oxygen upon reperfusion (Zweier et al. 1987).

I/R injury shares multiple features in common with ferroptosis, including release of labile free iron, increased ROS production, lipid peroxidation, and ER stress. I/R causes an increase in free hemoglobin and heme concentrations during open heart surgery (Das et al. 1992). The release of heme also leads to the release of free iron and increased ROS production from the labile iron pool (Das et al. 1992). HO-1 catalyzes the release of Fe²⁺ from heme, and an increasing number of studies are linking HO-1 to ferroptosis, making it a significant factor in I/R-induced ferroptosis. HO-1 is upregulated in response to H/R in cultured cardiomyocytes and in I/R injury in rat hearts leading to iron overload in the endoplasmic reticulum (Miyamoto et al. 2022). GPX4 is also affected by I/R, and I/R injury in mouse hearts decreases GPX4 expression throughout the myocardium (Miyamoto et al. 2022). Therefore, I/R injury not only generates ROS, but it increases redox-active iron and decreases endogenous cellular defenses against oxidative stress.

I/R-induced ROS production can lead to the formation of lipid peroxides (Fig. 8.1). The role of lipid peroxides in I/R injury is supported by clinical evidence showing that serum lipid peroxide concentrations are higher in patients with coronary heart disease compared to peers without heart disease (Kesavulu et al. 2001). Lipid peroxidation may occur during the ischemic phase of I/R injury, as suggested by a study showing that lipid peroxides and ferroptotic markers increased during the hypoxic phase in H/R treatment of H9c2 cells (Ma et al. 2022). A variety of lipid

peroxide types have been identified as contributing to ferroptosis. Surgical I/R injury models in rats have shown increased oxidized phospholipid (OxPL) and mitochondrial oxidized adrenoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine levels that result in ferroptotic cardiomyocyte death (Jang et al. 2021; Yeang et al. 2019). I/R also affects levels of enzymes involved in lipid metabolism, such as ACSL4, which increases during I/R and increases sensitivity to ferroptosis in in vitro H/R and in vivo I/R intestinal models (Li et al. 2019b), although this has yet to be directly demonstrated in the heart. Ischemic and hypoxic cardiomyocyte damage is also associated with increased arachidonic acid 15-lipoxygenase-1 (ALOX15) expression (Ma et al. 2022). ALOX15 catalyzes the peroxidation of PUFAs and overexpression of ALOX15 increases cell death due to hypoxia (Ma et al. 2022). PUFAs have been celebrated for their antioxidant properties and seeming cardiovascular benefits (Oppedisano et al. 2020), but if combined with increased ALOX15 activity, PUFAs become increasingly oxidized and increase susceptibility to ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2022). ALOX15 knockout mice fed with a PUFA-enriched diet showed increased resistance to I/R injury and better cardiac function recovery than wild-type mice fed with the same PUFA-rich diet (Ma et al. 2022).

I/R also induces pathological changes in organelle function. I/R causes derangements in mitochondrial function and compromises mitochondrial membrane integrity, which can lead to ferroptosis (Jang et al. 2021; Meerson et al. 1982; Miyamoto et al. 2022; Paradies et al. 1999). When H9c2 cells are treated with inhibitors of electron transport chain complexes I and III or ATP synthase, the addition of RSL3 causes a marked increase in cell death (Jang et al. 2021). The mitochondria do not produce GSH, therefore they must source and transport it from elsewhere. Treatment with RSL3 or direct inhibition of the mitochondrial carrier proteins SLC25A10 (also DIC) and SLC25A11 (also OGC) results in decreased cellular and mitochondrial GSH levels and increased ROS production and ferroptosis (Jang et al. 2021). Treatment with RSL3 also inactivates mitochondrial GPX4, depletes mitochondrial GSH reserves, and increases mitochondrial ROS in H9c2 cells, which lead to ferroptosis and loss of membrane integrity and membrane potential (Jang et al. 2021).

ER stress is also a characteristic of I/R injury (Zhang et al. 2009). In the ER, oxygen accepts electrons from disulfide bonds formed during protein folding; however, disulfide bond formation also generates ROS (Chakravarthi et al. 2006; Malhotra et al. 2008; Zeeshan et al. 2016). Reduced glutathione (GSSG) also assists with oxidation during disulfide bond formation and with redox balance to prevent excess ROS formation in the ER (Chakravarthi et al. 2006; Malhotra et al. 2008). However, hypoxia experienced during ischemia inhibits disulfide bond formation, causing misfolding of proteins and ER stress (Rozpedek et al. 2016). ER stress further disrupts the redox balance within the ER and induces the formation of more added ROS (Zeeshan et al. 2016). The overproduction of ROS leads to ER lipid peroxidation, but does so by causing the accumulation of free iron in the ER in response to H/R instead of affecting protein folding (Miyamoto et al. 2022).

Ferroptosis-inducing drugs are known to cause ER stress, which further underscores the importance of the ER in ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2018). Ferroptosisinducing drugs also cause activation of the PERK [protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase]/eIF2 α (eukaryotic initiation factor 2 α)/ATF4 (activating transcription factor 4)/CHOP [C/EBP (CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein) homologous protein] signaling pathway (Lee et al. 2018). The PERK/eIF2 α /ATF4/CHOP pathway is also notable in that it is involved in both ferroptosis and apoptosis (Lee et al. 2018). Although ferroptosis and apoptosis have distinct features and characteristics, e.g., iron-dependency in ferroptosis and caspase activation in apoptosis, common pathways like PERK/eIF2 α /ATF4/CHOP could indicate possible cross-talk between ferroptosis and apoptosis, despite apoptosis not being necessary for ferroptosis (Fang et al. 2019; Lee et al. 2018).

Activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3) is a downstream target of ATF4 activity (Jiang et al. 2004) and has also been identified as a regulator of ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022). ATF3 is a transient molecule that reaches its highest expression levels during early reperfusion and has shown protective effects against I/R injury (Liu et al. 2021). ATF3 overexpression inhibits ferroptosis caused by I/R injury and inhibits the effects of erastin and RSL3-induced ferroptosis in cell culture models. Conversely, ATF3 knockout decreases GPX4 protein expression and exacerbates the extent of I/R injury in murine models (Liu et al. 2022). ATF3 also binds to the promoter of Fanconi anemia complementation group D2 (FANCD2) and upregulates its expression. FANCD2 improved cell viability and inhibited ferroptosis in an H/R cell culture model using AC16 cells, thereby forming an anti-ferroptotic axis with ATF3 (Liu et al. 2022).

Ferroptosis may also involve ubiquitin pathways. Increased expression of ubiquitin-specific peptidase 22 (USP22), a deubiquitinase, was found to inhibit ferroptosis and limit myocardial I/R injury in rat models (Ma et al. 2020). The anti-ferroptotic mechanism of USP22 appears to be through a pathway involving sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), p53, and SLC7A11, the latter of which provides a bridge between USP22 and antioxidant activity (Ma et al. 2020). Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 (USP7) removes ubiquitin from p53, and a study that used H9c2 cells, rat models of I/R injury, and bioinformatic analysis revealed a pathway involving USP7, p53, and TfR1. The novel USP7/p53/TfR1 pathway connects ubiquitination with I/R injury, iron metabolism, and ferroptosis (Tang et al. 2021).

Several studies have also investigated the effects of cardiac ferroptosis on other tissues and cells. Inflammation has a well-established role in I/R injury and consequent ventricular remodeling, and studies are increasingly finding connections linking inflammation to cardiac ferroptosis. Cells subjected to I/R injury and ferroptosis release pro-inflammatory molecules such as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which is thought to be due to compromised membrane integrity caused by ferroptotic membrane lipid peroxidation (Linkermann et al. 2014b). By-products of lipid peroxidation such as 4-HNE have also shown pro-inflammatory effects via Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). Cardiac I/R injury also activates Toll-like receptor adaptor molecule 1 (TICAM1) and TLR4 signaling in endothelial cells, which release pro-inflammatory molecules such as type 1 interferons (IFN) that attract neutrophils. Murine models of heart transplantation showed increased TLR4 signaling, neutrophil recruitment, and inflammation initiated by ferroptotic cell death, further linking cardiac damage with inflammation and ferroptosis (Li et al. 2019a). ELAVL1 (embryonic lethal-abnormal vision like protein 1) is an RNA-binding protein that regulates gene expression and has been linked to cardiac inflammation and ferroptosis. Increased ELAVL1 expression has also been observed in diabetic human hearts and surgical I/R mouse models. Conversely, ELAVL1 knockdown of ELAVL1 inhibits cardiac pyroptosis and ferroptosis. ELAVL1 also stabilizes and increases the expression of Beclin-1, which regulates autophagy associated with myocardial I/R injury (Chen et al. 2021).

8.4.2 Ferroptosis in Cardiomyopathy

8.4.2.1 Iron Overload and LV Remodeling

After an MI, the heart is left to deal with the aftermath of the myocardial damage and resulting impaired cardiac function. An MI can permanently damage coronary vessels in an infarcted region, which can cause intramyocardial hemorrhage upon reperfusion to the infarcted area (Das et al. 1992). Blood flow to damaged vessels could lead to hemorrhaging of blood components, including red blood cells, out of injured blood vessels and into the myocardium of the infarcted area (Betgem et al. 2015). This extravasation of red blood cells can lead to a subsequent release of hemoglobin, heme, and free iron. MRI T2 and T2* imaging provided further evidence of this phenomenon, as those imaging techniques can measure and quantify iron in cardiac tissue after MIs (Wood and Ghugre 2008). Studies that employed T2 and T2* imaging to study iron deposition in the myocardium also provided further evidence against the serum ferritin hypothesis and showed more localized and focal post-MI iron deposition in the myocardium rather than in the entire bloodstream (Kolnagou et al. 2006, Wood and Ghugre 2008). Increased iron deposition was observed in infarcted myocardium as detected by histological staining, T2*weighted imaging and mapping, and quantitative susceptibility mapping (QSM) detection of magnetic susceptibility in a swine I/R model (Moon et al. 2020). QSM also detected elevated magnetic susceptibility in patients who experienced reperfusion after a hemorrhagic myocardial infarction, although the result should be considered preliminary since it is based on a small sample size (Moon et al. 2020). However, these studies are valuable, as detection of myocardial hemorrhage and iron deposition after I/R injury in human hearts is a very important first step toward targeting and managing ferroptosis in patients experiencing adverse cardiac events.

Intramyocardial hemorrhage is also associated with adverse LV remodeling, further cardiac events, and sudden death (Betgem et al. 2015). LV remodeling refers to histological and physiological changes in the myocardium that typically occur after a MI (Gajarsa and Kloner 2011; Sutton and Sharpe 2000). The changes that occur during LV remodeling attempt to adapt and compensate for losses in cardiac function from myocardial damage sustained during and after the MI (Sutton and Sharpe 2000). However, this compensation is not perfect, and the heart never reaches

the same level of efficiency it had before the MI (Sutton and Sharpe 2000). As a result, LV remodeling eventually leads to the future development of heart failure (Gajarsa and Kloner 2011; Konstam et al. 2011; Sutton and Sharpe 2000). One common link between LV remodeling and ferroptosis is the importance of ROS and redox balance. Treatment with dimethylthiourea, an antioxidant, prevented LV remodeling and subsequent heart failure in mice (Kinugawa et al. 2000). Another group obtained similar results in a genetic model by overexpressing glutathione peroxidase, which also prevented LV remodeling and failure (Shiomi et al. 2004).

Iron overload is strongly linked with cardiomyopathy and provides a foundation for ferroptosis through cardiac iron deposition (Gujja et al. 2010). As mentioned earlier in this chapter, patients who suffer from blood disorders such as thalassemia receive periodic transfusions, which can result in iron overload in the serum (Taher et al. 2013; Wood et al. 2004). However, this iron overload can also lead to cardiomyopathy caused by the accumulation of iron in cardiomyocytes (Berdoukas et al. 2015). A study of L-type Ca^{2+} channels provided a mechanism for this accumulation and showed that L-type Ca^{2+} channels are the dominant mechanism of iron entry into cardiomyocytes during iron-overload cardiomyopathy (Oudit et al. 2003).

However, iron overload cardiomyopathy is not solely caused by transfusions and can be idiopathic (Gujja et al. 2010). Furthermore, iron overload cardiomyopathy is often asymptomatic in its early stages (Gujja et al. 2010). Apelin and its APJ receptor have been implicated as a pathway that links several features of iron overload and cardiomyopathy. Apelin and APJ receptor are important regulators of embryonic cardiowycyte development (Scott et al. 2007). However, apelin is also a marker of cardiovascular disease, and increased apelin concentrations are found in blood and cardiac tissue of patients with comorbid cardiomyopathy and heart failure (Berry et al. 2004; Foldes et al. 2003; Miettinen et al. 2007). Another study showed that apelin increases sideroflexin1 (SFXN-1)-mediated iron overload, ferritinophagy, and cardiac hypertrophy. If iron-overload resulting from apelin signaling can also induce ferroptosis, apelin and APJ receptor could be an important ferroptotic mechanism and target for preventing ferroptosis in the heart (Tang et al. 2019).

Ferritinophagy has been the subject of multiple studies due to its ability to affect iron concentrations in the labile iron pool. NCOA4 has emerged as a vital regulatory component of ferritinophagy in the heart. A study subjected NCOA4-deficient mice to transverse aortic constriction (TAC) pressure overload and observed attenuated cardiac remodeling and decreased formation of MDA and 4-HNE lipid peroxide by-products in NCOA4-deficient mice as compared to counterparts with intact NCOA4 genes (Ito et al. 2021). NCOA4-deficient hearts also showed altered iron metabolism, as hearts with normally functioning NCOA4 showed greater levels of ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) in response to TAC pressure overload, whereas NCOA4-deficient hearts showed greater levels of ferric iron (Fe³⁺) and lower levels of ferrous iron to ferritin heavy chain 1 (FTH1) (Ito et al. 2021).

BTB and CNC homology 1 (BACH1) is another transcription factor that binds to heme and regulates iron and heme metabolism by downregulating ferritin proteins FTH1 and ferritin light chain 1 (FTL1) and HO-1 (Nishizawa et al. 2020). BACH1

also affects the synthesis of glutathione by downregulating several proteins in the GSH/GPX4 antioxidant pathway such as glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit (Gclm), glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit (Gclc), and solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC40A11). Generally, most of the genes repressed by BACH1 have some anti-ferroptotic activity (Nishizawa et al. 2020). These anti-ferroptotic genes were upregulated in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) treated with erastin, suggesting that these genes may form a coordinated compensatory antioxidant mechanism in response to ferroptotic activity. BACH1 has also been shown to promote ferroptosis by blunting the antioxidant response and increasing mitochondrial labile iron. The pro-ferroptotic activity of BACH1 is further supported by MI I/R models using BACH1 knockout mice, which show smaller infarct sizes, better cardiac recovery, and better survival than wild-type mice subjected to the same I/R procedure. (Nishizawa et al. 2020)

Cardiomyopathy can result in oxidative stress due to increased ROS production (Berdoukas et al. 2015). In addition to redox stress caused by ROS, iron-catalyzed ROS production also damages mtDNA and decreases mitochondrial respiration in cardiomyocytes, which further exacerbates the severity of cardiomyopathy (Gao et al. 2010). However, it must be noted that although oxidative stress is linked and often seen in cardiomyopathy, there are mechanisms unrelated to oxidative stress that can still cause cardiomyopathy (Gammella et al. 2015).

8.4.3 Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

In diabetic cardiomyopathy, the heart experiences additional oxidative stress due to diabetic metabolic derangements (Cai and Kang 2001). Lipid peroxidation also occurs in diabetic cardiomyopathy (Garcia-Bunuel 1984), and one study implicates ferroptosis as being essential for diabetic cardiomyopathy (Wang et al. 2022a). Pathways involving AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) have been investigated as a possible mechanism linking diabetic cardiomyopathy with ferroptosis. AMPK increases glucose uptake and lipid oxidation in nutrient-deficient conditions (Lin and Hardie 2018). Increased AMPK activity in nutrient-poor conditions was associated with decreased sensitivity to ferroptosis murine models of renal I/R injury in mice (Lee et al. 2020). Alterations in AMPK activity also change the biosynthesis of PUFAs, as AMPK deletion increases the production of PEs (Lee et al. 2020). The effects of AMPK on ferroptosis also occur outside of the mitochondria, further suggesting that mitochondria-independent ferroptotic mechanisms may exist, although this has yet to be confirmed in cardiac tissue (Lee et al. 2020). AMPK activity also increases Nrf2 (Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2) activation via an AMPK/Akt/GSK3B/Nrf2 pathway, thus linking AMPK to cellular antioxidant responses and defenses against oxidative stress (Sun et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2022a).

8.4.4 Chemical-Induced cardiomyopathy

Cardiomyopathy can also be caused by cytotoxic molecules. Doxorubicin (DOX) is a chemotherapeutic agent that belongs to the anthracycline class of anti-neoplastic drugs (Thorn et al. 2011). DOX exerts its cytotoxic effects by binding to DNA and inducing cell death (Thorn et al. 2011). However, the cytotoxicity of DOX leads to its well-documented cardiotoxicity along with resultant cardiomyopathy (Chatterjee et al. 2010). Doxorubicin triggers iron-mediated ROS production, mitochondrial dysfunction, and dysregulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ flux, all of which contribute to its cardiotoxic effects (Thorn et al. 2011). However, given the effectiveness of doxorubicin in chemotherapy, its use will probably continue despite its cardiotoxic effects, and recent studies are focusing on other DOX delivery methods that result in less toxicity (Tacar et al. 2013).

The first study that revealed a strong link between doxorubicin and ferroptosis investigated the development of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in mice that were defective in apoptotic or necroptotic mechanisms (Fang et al. 2019). The necroptosis-defective mice showed cardiac ferroptotic cell death in response to doxorubicin treatment (Fang et al. 2019). Ferrostatin-1 also successfully improved the survival of control and receptor interacting protein kinase 3 (Ripk3) knockout mice after treatment with doxorubicin (Fang et al. 2019). Dexrazoxane (DXZ), an iron chelator, was also used in that study to alleviate the effects and symptoms of doxorubicin treatment (Fang et al. 2019). This landmark study was particularly impactful in cardiac ferroptosis research, as it integrated cell death, labile iron, redox balance, and multiple mechanisms of ferroptosis specifically in the context of cardiac tissue, instead of cancer or other organs. Most importantly, the study showed that ferroptosis and doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy did not involve necroptosis, and that ferroptosis was not dependent on apoptosis (Fang et al. 2019). This was supported by a study that used zVAD-FMK (zVAD), an apoptosis inhibitor, and showed that zVAD-FMK was unable to reduce mitochondrial lipid peroxidation caused by doxorubicin (Tadokoro et al. 2020).

Further studies confirmed that ferroptosis is the major form of regulated cell death in cardiomyocytes after doxorubicin treatment (Tadokoro et al. 2020). A study implicated mitochondria as being a central part of doxorubicin-induced ferroptosis in the heart and demonstrated increased iron accumulation and lipid peroxide formation in the mitochondria, but not in the cytosol nor other organelles (Tadokoro et al. 2020). Doxorubicin is also a chelating agent for iron, and the same study used chelators specific for ferrous and ferric ions to determine whether one species of iron ion plays a larger role in ferroptosis. The authors concluded that doxorubicin-ferric iron complexes and free ferrous iron are the major reactants in Fenton reactions caused by doxorubicin treatment (Tadokoro et al. 2020).

Studies further investigating the effects of DXZ in remediating the cardiotoxic effects of DOX revealed that high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) may be a common link between the effects of DOX and DXZ. DOX induces expression of HMGB1, and overexpression of HMGB1 increased cell susceptibility to ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2021). Conversely, co-treatment of DOX with either DXZ or Fer-1

resulted in decreased HGMB1 activity compared to DOX alone, as well as increased cell viability and decreased production of lipid peroxidation by-products (Zhang et al. 2021).

Other pathways have been associated with DOX-induced cardiomyopathy. MITOL/MARCH5 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase localized to the outer mitochondrial membrane, and decreased MITOL expression results in decreased GPX4 and induces ferroptosis in rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (Kitakata et al. 2021). MITOL knockdown increased cultured cardiomyocyte susceptibility to DOX-induced ferroptosis, and in turn, DOX decreases MITOL in a dose-dependent manner (Kitakata et al. 2021). MITOL also has crosstalk with other pathways involved in ferroptosis, as siRNA knockdown of MITOL in rat ventricular cardiomyocytes increased protein expression in the eIF2 α /ATF4 pathway (Kitakata et al. 2021).

DOX also increases cardiomyocyte expression of methyltransferase-like 14 (METTL14), an m6A modification enzyme that targets KCNQ1OT1, a noncoding RNA that acts as a miRNA sponge (Zhuang et al. 2021). Increased expression of METTL14 and KCNQ1OT1 led to increased expression of Tfr1, iron accumulation, and ferroptosis (Zhuang et al. 2021). Silencing of METTL14 and knockdown of KCNQ1OT1 restored levels of several miRNA species, decreased intracellular iron in DOX-treated cells, and suppressed ferroptosis (Zhuang et al. 2021). This study could be the first glimpse of the possible involvement of miRNAs in cardiac ferroptosis.

Although the majority of chemical-induced ferroptosis studies have concentrated on DOX as of this writing, a few groups have investigated the ferroptotic effects of other molecules involved in cardiac diseases. One study used lipopolysaccharides (LPSs), a common component of Gram-negative bacteria, to investigate the possible role of ferroptosis in sepsis-induced cardiomyopathy. In vitro cell culture treatment with LPS and intraperitoneal injections of LPS into mice increased the expression of islet cell autoantigen 69 (ICA69), a molecule with potential roles in inflammation and immune function (Kong et al. 2022). This correlates with the detection of increased ICA69 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) collected from patients with sepsis that were hospitalized in intensive care units, and ICA69 levels were correlated with the severity of sepsis (Kong et al. 2022). Compared with their wild-type counterparts, ICA69 knockout mice treated with LPS showed decreased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, increased GPX4 expression, and decreased markers of ferroptosis such as MDA and PTGS2 (Kong et al. 2022). Thus, ICA69 could be a potential in vivo biomarker of ferroptosis that could be measured in a blood sample.

8.5 Potential Therapies Targeting Ferroptosis in Cardiovascular Disease

8.5.1 Regulation of Iron in the Labile Iron Pool

The labile iron pool is a dynamic source of intracellular iron that catalyzes ROS formation and potentially triggers consequent ferroptosis. One potential strategy that can limit the extent of ferroptotic cell death is to decrease the amount of iron in the labile iron pool by further increasing the activity of mechanisms that remove or sequester iron from the labile iron pool and prevent it from participating in redox reactions and ROS production.

8.5.2 Iron Storage and Transport

The labile iron pool can be decreased by keeping iron stored within ferritin. BACH1 increases ferroptosis by suppressing ferritin and ferroportin gene expression, and BACH1 knockout mice showed better resistance in response to increased labile iron pool levels (Nishizawa et al. 2020). HPPE is a substituted benzimidazole small molecule inhibitor of BACH1 that has neuroprotective effects in mouse models of Parkinson's disease, but could also potentially be used to inhibit ferroptosis in the heart as ferroptosis is also part of the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease (Ahuja et al. 2022d).

Heme is another potential source of iron for the labile iron pool (Fig. 8.2). When heme is catabolized by HO-1, the porphyrin ring structure releases its central iron atom (Ryter and Tyrrell 2000). Zinc protophorphyrin IX (ZPP-IX), an HO-1 antagonist, has been used to protect against doxorubicin-induced ferroptosis and cell death in animal models (Fang et al. 2019). Therefore, HO-1 inhibitors could prevent the release of free iron from heme into the labile iron pool.

Inhibition of ferritinophagy is another potential strategy to decrease labile iron by preventing the release of iron from ferritin. This strategy was successful in studies that used lysosomal and autophagic inhibitors to decrease ROS production and ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2016; Torii et al. 2016). NCOA4 plays an important role in ferritinophagy in the heart, and decreased expression of NCOA4 was correlated to reduced levels of iron overload, reduced lipid oxidation, and attenuation of cardiac remodeling in response to TAC pressure overload. One group has developed a compound that inhibits NCOA4, ferritinophagy, and ferroptosis (Fang et al. 2021). The compound reduced cerebral ischemic injury caused by transient cerebral artery occlusion, therefore NCOA4 inhibitors could be another class of anti-ferroptotic drugs that target ferritinophagy (Ito et al. 2021).

Ferroportin can also decrease iron in the labile iron pool by exporting iron from the cell (Gardenghi et al. 2007; Lakhal-Littleton et al. 2015) (Fig. 8.2). Overexpression of ferroportin decreases ROS production and inhibits cell death under ferroptotic conditions (Ma et al. 2016). Therefore, increasing ferroportin activity may be a way to inhibit ferroptosis by reducing available iron in the labile iron pool. A study using cardiac-specific ferroportin knockout mice demonstrated that deletion of ferroportin increases accumulation of iron in cardiomyocytes and cardiac ferroportin is necessary for preserving cardiac function (Lakhal-Littleton et al. 2015). Additionally, hepcidin is an endogenous inhibitor of ferroportin that causes internalization and degradation of ferroportin (Hentze et al. 2010). Although the mechanisms of the hepcidin-ferroportin axis on iron homeostasis in the heart are complex (Lakhal-Littleton et al. 2015), controlling ferroportin could be an effective strategy for inhibiting ferroptosis in cardiac disease. Dimethyl fumarate (DMF) is a Nrf2 activator and hepcidin inhibitor that also upregulates ferroportin and ferritin expression (Belcher et al. 2017), therefore DMF and other hepcidin inhibitors may be a new potential class of anti-ferroptotic molecules that work by increasing ferroportin activity.

Inhibition of iron import by inhibiting transferrin and transferrin receptors could be another strategy to inhibit ferroptosis by limiting iron transport and uptake into cells, thus preventing more iron from being added into the labile iron pool. A study employing this strategy showed that transferrin knockdown reduced cell death, ROS, and ferroptosis in several breast cancer cell lines (Ma et al. 2016). P22077 is a USP7 inhibitor that decreases TfR1 protein expression via a USP7/p53/TfR1 pathway. P22077 treatment was able to decrease Tfr1 expression, increase GPX activity, decrease lipid peroxide formation, and inhibit ferroptosis in H9c2 cells subjected to H/R (Tang et al. 2021). siRNA knockdown of Tfr1 achieved similar antiferroptotic effects (Tang et al. 2021). miRNA pathways also affect the expression of Tfr1 in cardiomyocytes, and miR-7a-5p levels were inversely correlated with Tfr1 expression and sensitivity to ferroptosis (Zhuang et al. 2021). One group discovered a compound derived from a marine natural product that inhibits Tfr1 and caused iron deprivation in breast cancer cells (Wu et al. 2022), and could be also used to prevent ferroptosis. Therefore, small molecule, siRNA, and miRNA-based therapeutics that downregulate or inhibit Tfr1 could be explored for possible anti-ferroptotic therapies.

8.5.3 Iron Chelation

The solubility of iron allows it to be transported in the fluids of the body, but it also means that iron can also be chelated (Kakhlon and Cabantchik 2002). Chelation traps and sequesters iron, thus effectively removing it from the labile iron pool and preventing it from participating in redox reactions and ROS generation (Gammella et al. 2016). The use of chelators in the prevention of ferroptosis is an active area of research as many chelating compounds are approved for medical use in humans (Britton et al. 2002; Mobarra et al. 2016) (Fig. 8.2). Chelation therapy is already used to treat iron-overload diseases and prevent iron-overload-induced cardiomyopathy (Gujja et al. 2010).

Deferoxamine (DFO) is a chelator with decades of use in the treatment of iron overload in patients with hematological disorders (Pennell et al. 2006; Propper et al. 1977). Multiple studies show that DFO reduces cytosolic ROS production and

inhibits ferroptotic cell death (Kwon et al. 2015; Ooko et al. 2015). DFO also shows cardioprotective effects by inducing ischemic preconditioning-like effects and altering ROS production in I/R models (Dendorfer et al. 2005). DFO also protects against derangements in cardiac electrophysiology in a gerbil model of iron-overload cardiomyopathy (Obejero-Paz et al. 2003) and is successfully used in preventing iron-overload cardiomyopathy caused by hereditary hemochromatosis (Tauchenova et al. 2016). The relatively long history of DFO use in treating hematological disorders makes it an attractive potential treatment in the prevention of ferroptosis during acute myocardial events, although this has not been tested in clinical trials as of this writing.

Dexrazoxane (DXZ) is another chelator with notable clinical use in protecting the heart against the cardiotoxic effects of doxorubicin (Swain et al. 1997). DXZ prevents ferroptosis by maintaining mitochondrial ATP levels and inhibiting phospholipid oxidation (Koleini et al. 2019; Nagai et al. 2017). DXZ displays cardioprotective effects in I/R models by inhibiting ROS production, apoptosis, and promoting angiogenesis (Neckar et al. 2012). DXZ also shows cardioprotective effects in animal models of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy by protecting myocardial mitochondria against the effects of doxorubicin (Fang et al. 2019; Hasinoff et al. 2003; Lebrecht et al. 2007). DXZ may also confer additional protective effects by inhibiting HMGB1, a protein that has been implicated in ferroptosis and doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy (Zhang et al. 2021).

A selected few iron chelators also can target organelles, such as chelators that cross into the mitochondria. Mitochondria-targeted chelators could potentially decrease the ability of excess iron to trigger ROS overproduction and mitochondrial dysfunction. 2,2'-bipyridyl (2BP) is a membrane-permeable metal chelator that can enter mitochondria and chelate mitochondrial iron (Dixon et al. 2012). Several studies have used 2BP to target and affect mitochondrial iron, with 2BP consistently showcasing an ability to inhibit ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012; Gao et al. 2015). In in vivo animal models of I/R injury, treatment with 2BP preserved cardiac function against I/R injury, whereas the DFO-treated group showed no significant protection (Chang et al. 2016). Further studies are required to see if the mitochondrial targeting of 2BP is related to the ferroptotic mechanisms involving the mitochondria that are described earlier in this chapter.

The endoplasmic reticulum is also a potential target for chelation, as FerroFarRed (FFR), a chelator that targets the ER, was able to improve cell survival in response to H/R (Miyamoto et al. 2022). The anti-ferroptotic effects shown by FFR and other organelle-specific chelators could lead to studies that investigate which organelles are linked to specific ferroptotic mechanisms, or a measurement of how much organelles contribute to ferroptosis.

8.5.4 ROS Inhibition

Research since the previous edition of this chapter has revealed multiple antioxidants and antioxidant systems involved in redox homeostasis and ferroptosis in the heart. The discovery of new pathways has yielded many new possible strategies in controlling ROS and ferroptosis in the heart.

8.5.5 Glutathione (GSH) and Glutathione Peroxidase 4 (Gpx4) Activity

ROS generation is not limited to mitochondrial activity and ferroptosis. Other cardiac pathological conditions such as acute MI and I/R injury can also result in ROS overproduction (Cadenas 2018; Chouchani et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2009). Therefore, protective mechanisms are needed to maintain cardiac function and cardiomyocyte viability during these conditions. GPX4 is critical in preventing excess free radical generation and resultant cardiomyocyte death (Wortmann et al. 2013). GPX enzymes use GSH to donate electrons to reduce its substrates, therefore an adequate supply of glutathione is needed to maintain the antioxidant activity of GPX (Bellinger et al. 2009). Glutathione S-transferases are another important enzyme that conjugate GSH to substrates to remove them from the body (Ishikawa et al. 1986). Cardiac glutathione S-transferases catalyze the conjugation of GSH to 4-HNE, a lipid peroxide, and facilitate its removal from the heart (Ishikawa et al. 1986). GPX4 also modulates the levels of H_2O_2 in the matrix of myocardial mitochondria in rats (Antunes et al. 2002). Given all the conditions that could lead to oxidative stress, dysregulation of GSH production would result in the disruption of its protective antioxidant properties and cause oxidative stress and potential adverse cardiac outcomes (Antunes et al. 2002; Ishikawa and Sies 1984; Lim et al. 2009).

Mitochondria are a major site of ROS production that could contribute towards ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2018), and treatments targeting the mitochondria could blunt the contribution of mitochondria to ferroptotic cell death. Mitochondria-specific overexpression of GPX4 attenuates I/R injury and decreases lipid peroxidation (Dabkowski et al. 2008). XJB-5-131, a mitochondria-targeted ROS and electron scavenger, showed increased protection and recovery of cardiac function after I/R injury as compared to controls (Jang et al. 2021). Therefore, antioxidant small molecules that target the mitochondria like XJB-5-131 could be used to prevent ferroptosis.

Gene therapy targeting components of the GSH/GPX4 pathway could also be a new way of preventing ferroptosis. Adenoviral vectors were used to overexpress USP22 in the myocardium of rats subjected to myocardial I/R injury, and the increased USP22 increased GSH consumption through the SIRT1/p53/SLC7A11 axis and inhibited ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2020). Gene therapy that targets pathways that affect and enhance the expression and activity of GPX4 could also be explored. ATF3 has anti-ferroptotic effects and increasing its activity could restore GPX4 levels, as ATF3 reexpression using adenoviral vectors was able to restore GPX4 levels and maintain cardiac function in an ATF3 knockout mouse model (Liu et al. 2022).
8.5.6 Nrf2-Mediated Antioxidant Activity

Nrf2 is a well-studied transcription factor that regulates the expression of many genes related to cellular antioxidant defenses, including GPX4, GSH reductase, and SLC7A11 (Fig. 8.2). In its inactive state, Nrf2 is kept in check and inhibited by Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1), which holds Nrf2 in the cytoplasm and targets it for ubiquitination and degradation. Oxidative stress releases Nrf2 from Keap1, which allows Nrf2 to translocate to the nucleus and bind to antioxidant response elements (AREs) located in the promoters of GPX4 and other genes that reduce oxidative stress and restore redox homeostasis.

Numerous studies have investigated the role of Nrf2 in the context of different cardiovascular diseases. Nrf2 protects cardiac cells against oxidative damage and cell death during ischemia-reperfusion injury (Howden 2013). In turn, both ischemic preconditioning and myocardial ischemic-reperfusion injury increase Nrf2 protein expression (Xu et al. 2014). Small molecules that upregulate Nrf2 and its down-stream targets also protect against maladaptive cardiac remodeling and fibrosis (Xing et al. 2012). Decreases in Nrf2 activity have also been linked to increased sensitivity to ferroptosis. Nrf2 knockout models show that Nrf2 is necessary to protect against cardiac remodeling from pressure overload (Wang et al. 2015). Another study showed that overexpression of protein arginine methyltransferase 4 (PRMT4) inhibited Nrf2 activity and aggravated doxorubicin-induced cardiomy-opathy (Wang et al. 2022b). Nrf2 also exhibits anti-inflammatory effects through its suppression of NF- κ B activity, and treatment with the triterpenoid bardoxolone methyl (also called CDDO-Me) increased Nrf2 activity and improved post-MI cardiac recovery in rat models of chronic heart failure (Tian et al. 2019).

Several studies in the past few years have revealed a strong relationship between Nrf2, GPX4, and ferroptosis. Upregulation and overexpression of Nrf2 increase cellular resistance to ferroptosis in various cancer cell models (Fan et al. 2017; Shin et al. 2018). Nrf2 also binds to AREs in the promoters of several genes involved in GSH synthesis and GPX4 activity, such as SLC7A11, GSS, GCLC/GCLM, and GPX4 itself (Dodson et al. 2019). Lipid peroxides and by-products such as 4-HNE also activate the Keap1/Nrf2 pathway, thus activating cellular defenses against oxidative stress and ferroptosis (Cai et al. 2018; Gao et al. 2020). The well-established antioxidant activity of Nrf2 and its direct regulation of several proteins and enzymes in the GSH/GPX4 axis could lead to therapeutic options that combat the oxidative stresses of ferroptosis in cardiac disease.

Although there is increasing evidence that Nrf2 activity affects iron homeostasis by regulating genes that modulate the levels of free iron in the labile iron pool, the overall mechanism of how Nrf2 increases, decreases, or modulates free iron levels is not as clear. Nrf2 regulates genes involved in both heme synthesis and heme catabolism, which can remove or add iron to the labile iron pool. Nrf2 regulates heme synthesis by binding to AREs and increasing expression of ferrochelatase (FECH) (Kerins and Ooi 2018), which inserts ferrous ions into the protoporphyrin ring structure of heme, thus consuming free iron and removing it from the labile iron pool in the process. On the other hand, Nrf2 regulates heme catabolism by binding to

the promoter of HO-1 (Yang et al. 2022a), which catabolizes heme into biliverdin and releases free iron into the cytosol (Mu et al. 2021).

Despite its antioxidant activity, Nrf2 itself does not have a completely cardioprotective role. Granted, many studies show that increased Nrf2 activity protects against ferroptosis (Cui et al. 2021; La Rosa et al. 2021; Shin et al. 2018), but there are studies that suggest the opposite, as Nrf2 has been implicated in the progression and worsening of cardiac disease in certain contexts (Qin et al. 2016; Zang et al. 2020). In the setting of autophagy insufficiency, Nrf2 contributes to maladaptive cardiac remodeling (Qin et al. 2016). In a transgenic mouse model of mutant protein aggregation and reductive stress, disruption of Nrf2 signaling prevented reductive stress and preserved cardiac function (Kannan et al. 2013). Therefore, although Nrf2 protects against oxidative stress, the role of Nrf2 in cardiac disease is not a straightforward protective one and may change in the context of other cellular stresses. The Nrf2 target HO-1 further muddles the relationship between Nrf2 and ferroptosis, as HO-1 accelerates free iron release and erastin-induced ferroptosis (Kwon et al. 2015). More studies are needed to investigate the overall effect of Nrf2 on cellular iron stores, especially given the seemingly paradoxical role of HO-1.

Despite the lack of a clear pathway linking Nrf2 to the prevention or promotion of ferroptosis, there is a growing number of studies that successfully use methods of increasing Nrf2 activity to prevent ferroptosis and limit the extent of cardiac disease and injury. Investigating the effects of molecules that increase Nrf2 activity could yield new anti-ferroptotic drugs.

Natural products are a widely known source of antioxidants and have been investigated as potential anti-ferroptotic agents. Triterpenoid saponins have demonstrated increased Nrf2 activity and protection against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy (Luo et al. 2021). Sulforaphane, a phytochemical found in cruciferous vegetables, activates an AMPK/Nrf2 pathway and protects against ferroptosis in murine high-fat diet models of diabetes (Wang et al. 2022a).

Two sedative agents have surprisingly shown potential anti-ferroptotic activity. A study using post-conditioning with etomidate (R-1-(1-ethylphenyl) imidazole-5-ethylester), a carboxylated imidazole sedative used in anesthesia, showed that etomidate increased Nrf2 levels and decreased ROS production in a rat model of I/R injury (Lv et al. 2021). Dexmedetomidine, an anxiolytic and sedative widely used in surgery, also showed increased Nrf2 activity and decreased sensitivity to ferroptosis in H9c2 cells and rat models of I/R injury (Wang et al. 2022c). The increased Nrf2 activity by dexmedetomidine also increased AMPK/GSK-3 β , which lends more evidence for a AMPK pathway in ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2022c).

Although there are many studies investigating Nrf2 and ferroptosis, only a relatively small subset investigates this relationship in the heart. Despite this, the majority suggest a possible cardioprotective role of Nrf2 against ferroptosis. However, given the complicated relationship between Nrf2 and heart disease in general, Nrf2 and cardiac ferroptosis should be investigated in a variety of cardiac pathologies and models to determine whether Nrf2 has an overall cardioprotective

effect or Nrf2 acts in a context-specific manner influenced by other stresses in the heart.

8.5.7 GPX4-Independent Antioxidants

The revelation of FSP1 and its anti-ferroptotic mechanism has opened a new avenue for a potential whole new class of anti-ferroptotic drugs. Screening of existing compound libraries has already yielded a compound that inhibits FSP1 activity (Doll et al. 2019). Therefore, a similar screen of molecules that mimic the antioxidant properties of FSP1 or upregulate its expression could lead to the discovery of new anti-ferroptotic drugs. FSP1-like molecules or compounds that boost the expression or activity of FSP1 could be used to prevent ferroptosis in conditions with low GSH/GPX4 activity.

Several other compounds have shown GPX4-independent antioxidant and antiferroptotic activity. Tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) is a metabolite of GTP and has shown antioxidant effects in cancer cells undergoing ferroptosis due to GPX4 inhibition (Soula et al. 2020). A decrease in BH4 alone did not increase lipid peroxidation levels, but when suppressed alongside GPX4, an increase in lipid ROS was observed. Treatment with BH2, the reduced form of BH4, was also able to restore cellular function in response to decreased BH4 and GPX4 activity. Since BH4 is derived from GTP, the anti-ferroptotic properties of BH4 make it a form of ferroptotic resistances that is not reliant on cysteine concentrations and can be the target of potential anti-ferroptotic therapeutics that do not rely on adequate levels of GPX4, GSH, or cysteine.

MitoTEMPO, a mitochondria-targeted antioxidant, also prevented DOX-induced ferroptosis and cardiomyopathy (Fang et al. 2019). DHODH is located at the mitochondrial inner membrane, and its activity is coupled to the reduction of CoQ to CoQH₂. DHODH inhibition increased the ratio of oxidized CoQ to CoQH₂ and increased susceptibility to ferroptosis, whereas supplementation of mitoCoQH₂ (a mitochondria-targeted analog of CoQH₂) provided some protection against RSL3-mediated ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2021). Taken together, mitochondria-targeted antioxidants or enzymes could prevent ferroptosis in conditions where mitochondria are significant contributors to oxidative stress.

Vitamins and natural products have also shown anti-ferroptotic activity, such as baicalein, a natural product and antioxidant that also shows inhibition of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Shintoku et al. 2017). Lipid-soluble antioxidant vitamins and vitamin precursors have also shown anti-ferroptotic activity, including alpha-tocopherol (vitamin E) and beta carotene (Yang and Stockwell 2016). When researchers deprived GPX4 knockout mice of dietary vitamin E, the reduction in antioxidant intake induced endothelial cell detachment and the formation of thrombi in multiple organs (Wortmann et al. 2013). However, the reintroduction of the antioxidant vitamin back into the diet of the mice rescued them from cardiovascular catastrophe. Vitamin E also prevents ferroptosis in GPX4 knockout mice, albeit in a hepatocellular context (Carlson et al. 2016). Trolox, a water-soluble antioxidant

analog of vitamin E, also inhibits lipid peroxidation and prevents ferroptotic cell death in vitro (Shintoku et al. 2017).

Vitamin E is a major source of antioxidants in the human diet. Therefore, numerous studies have investigated potential benefits of vitamin E in cardiovascular disease prevention (Lonn et al. 2005; Stephens et al. 1996). Unfortunately, these studies have failed to yield consistent data that vitamin E improves cardiovascular health or prevents cardiovascular disease, with a randomized clinical study of over 500 patients in each group suggesting that vitamin E supplementation may actually increase the risk of heart failure (Lonn et al. 2005). However, that large-scale study and most cardiovascular vitamin E studies use alpha-tocopherol by itself and other studies suggest that other tocopherols besides alpha-tocopherol or a blend of tocopherols may have more potent antioxidant and cardioprotective effects (Devaraj and Jialal 2005; Ohrvall et al. 1996). The possible involvement of other tocopherols could lead to the development of diets or nutritional programs that leverage antioxidant vitamin research to prevent ferroptosis and cardiovascular disease.

8.5.8 Ferrostatin-1 and Other Small Molecule Inhibitors of Ferroptosis

Ferrostatin-1 is arguably the most researched anti-ferroptotic agent to date with its anti-ferroptotic effects demonstrated in a variety of cell lines, tissue types, and disease models (Gaschler et al. 2018; Skouta et al. 2014; Zilka et al. 2017). Ferrostatin-1 protects the heart against I/R injury and cardiomyopathy (Fang et al. 2019; Li et al. 2019a). The anti-ferroptotic mechanism of ferrostatin-1 is largely due to its structure and inherent antioxidant properties and ability to scavenge free radicals (Zilka et al. 2017). Ferrostatin-1 can neutralize oxidized lipids such as oxidized phosphatidylcholines (Stamenkovic et al. 2021). Ferrostatin-1 also rescues cardiomyocytes from DOX-induced cardiomyopathy in MITOL knockdown and knockout models ferroptosis (Fang et al. 2019; Kitakata et al. 2021). Ferrostatin-1 can accumulate in lysosomes, mitochondria, and the endoplasmic reticulum, but predominantly does so in the ER (Gaschler et al. 2018). Ferrostatin-1 also prevents ferroptotic cell death caused by the accumulation of iron in the labile iron pool, such as that caused by siramesine, a lysosome destabilizing detergent (Ma et al. 2016). However, to date, the use of ferrostatin-1 is preclinical and no human studies of ferrostatin-1 toxicology and safety with the goal of potential therapeutic use have been performed.

More anti-ferroptotic agents have been discovered since ferrostatin-1. Liproxstatin-1 was discovered in a small-molecule screen for ferroptosis inhibitors (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014) and also works as a free radical scavenger that prevents PUFA oxidation (Zilka et al. 2017). Further studies have discovered more ferroptosis inhibitors, such as tetrahydronaphthyridinols (THNs), a class of compounds that improve cell viability and decrease ROS production more effectively than both ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 (Zilka et al. 2017). The diverse chemical structures of currently known ferroptosis inhibitors and their general free

radical-scavenging properties suggest that other antioxidants could have ferroptosisinhibiting properties. If current anti-ferroptotic drugs like ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 do not pass clinical trials, a screen of small molecule antioxidants could yield more candidate compounds that could be added to the ferroptosis inhibitor pharmacopeia in the future.

Although ferroptosis in the heart does not depend on apoptosis, apoptosis still has a significant role in cardiac cell death in response to I/R injury. Combinations of anti-ferroptotic and anti-apoptotic drugs may yield even more protection against cardiac cell death in response to I/R (Tadokoro et al. 2020). Targeting pathways shared by both ferroptosis and apoptosis, such as the PERK/eIF2 α /ATF4/CHOP pathway (Lee et al. 2018), may also yield therapies that could prevent I/R injury even better than therapies that only target ferroptosis or apoptosis in the heart.

8.5.9 Lipid Metabolism and Membrane Integrity

Enzymes that regulate lipid metabolism could also be potential targets for inhibiting ferroptosis. Lipoxygenases, such as ALOX15, are essential enzymes that metabolize arachidonic acid and are key in the synthesis of PUFA-derived compounds such as leukotrienes (De Caterina and Zampolli 2004). However, ALOX15 and PUFAs are also complicit in the lipid peroxidation that is characteristic of ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2022; Shintoku et al. 2017; Zilka et al. 2017). Antioxidant compounds like ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 prevent lipid peroxidation, but neither of them are substrates nor direct inhibitors of ALOX15 (Zilka et al. 2017). Several small molecule inhibitors of ALOX15 have been identified, such as PD146176, baicalein, and daidzein (Ma et al. 2022; Shintoku et al. 2017; Zilka et al. 2017). Treatment of cultured cardiomyocytes with ALOX15 inhibitors results in decreased lipid peroxidation and suppression of ferroptosis (Shintoku et al. 2017; Zilka et al. 2017), although this effect may be dependent on the presence of PUFAs (Ma et al. 2022). siRNA-mediated knockdown and mouse knockout models of ALOX15 also decrease lipid peroxidation and prevent ferroptotic cell death in in vivo and in vitro models of cardiac ferroptosis, therefore decreasing ALOX15 activity through gene therapy or upstream regulators could also inhibit ferroptosis (Ma et al. 2022; Shintoku et al. 2017).

ACSL4 catalyzes the metabolism of lipids, making it an attractive target for preventing lipid peroxidation and ferroptotic. Rosiglitazone, an anti-diabetic PPAR modulating drug, inhibits ACSL4 and showed anti-ferroptotic effects in intestinal H/R and I/R models by restoring GPX4 function, reducing lipid oxidation, and limiting the extent of I/R injury in mouse intestines (Li et al. 2019b). Similar anti-ferroptotic effects were also seen by siRNA knockdown of ACSL4 (Li et al. 2019b). 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) is an endogenous metabolite that stimulates AMPK activity that inhibits PUFA synthesis, thereby indirectly decreasing ACSL4 activity. AICAR decreases erastin-induced ferroptosis in cell culture models and decreases sensitivity to ferroptosis in renal I/R injury models (Lee et al. 2020). Other ACSL family members, such as ACSL1 and ACSL3, have

also shown pro-ferroptotic and anti-ferroptotic effects in noncardiac cell lines when incubated in conditions enriched with their lipid substrates (Beatty et al. 2021; Magtanong et al. 2019). Taken together, modulators of ACSL family proteins could be used as a new class of anti-ferroptotic drugs. Furthermore, given that the ferroptotic activity of these enzymes is affected by levels of their lipid substrates, supplementation of lipids that inhibit ferroptosis such as MUFAs or limited consumption of easily oxidized lipids such as PUFAs could also be an avenue of preventing ferroptosis through dietary means.

Oxidized phosphatidylcholine-containing phospholipids (OxPLs) are produced in response to I/R injury and cause cardiomyocyte cell death. E06, a murine natural antibody that targets OxPLs but not unoxidized phospholipids, was able to reduce infarct size in surgical I/R models in mice when overexpressed as a single-chain antibody fragment (Stamenkovic et al. 2021; Yeang et al. 2019). The development of antibodies, biologics, or other molecules that neutralize or reduce the production of OxPLs could yield a new class of anti-ferroptotic drugs.

Lipid peroxides also cause the formation of nanoscale pores in the plasma membrane of cells undergoing ferroptosis, which leads to osmotic swelling, rupture, and propagation of ferroptotic cell death (Riegman et al. 2020). A study of the formation of nanopores in ferroptosis used polyethylene glycols PEG1450 and PEG3350 to serve as osmoprotectants and was able to inhibit cell rupture caused by ferroptosis (Riegman et al. 2020). Activation of mechanosensitive cation channels and loss of cation concentrations gradients are also caused by changes in membrane composition during ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023). Treatment with 2-aminoethoxydiphenyl borate (2-APB), a broad inhibitor of TRP channels, was able to maintain Na⁺/K⁺ concentration gradients and suppress RSL3-induced ferroptosis (Hirata et al. 2023). Further studies of ion channels are needed to determine if there are some that are specific to ferroptosis. Screening of existing ion channel modulators and blockers could yield a new class of anti-ferroptotic drugs.

8.5.10 Inhibition of Inflammation

In light of all the studies linking inflammatory stimuli and ferroptosis, targeting inflammatory pathways and administering anti-inflammatory treatments could attenuate both cardiac inflammation and ferroptosis.

ELAVL1 is associated with inflammation, pyroptosis, and autophagy, and siRNA knockdown of ELAVL1 suppressed I/R-induced ferroptosis associated with Beclin-1-mediated autophagy (Chen et al. 2021). MS-444 is a small molecule inhibitor of ELAVL1 (also known as human antigen R or HuR) and although it has been mostly investigated in cancer cell lines and not in the heart, it could have potential anti-ferroptotic effects (Chaudhary et al. 2023).

Activation of inflammatory innate immune responses could also be targeted, as the release of DAMPs, TLR4 activation, and neutrophil recruitment are all characteristics of I/R injury. Depletion of neutrophils through treatment with Ly6g antibodies was able to reduce the infarcted area in murine hearts subjected to I/R injury (Li et al. 2019a).

Molecules that promote both inflammation and ferroptosis, such as ICA69, could serve as targets of anti-ferroptotic interventions. Increased ICA69 expression was observed in murine models of sepsis-induced cardiomyopathy, and knockout murine models of ICA69 exhibited decreased pro-inflammatory and ferroptotic markers, therefore therapies that target and decrease ICA69 could lead to decreases in both inflammation and ferroptosis in patients with sepsis (Kong et al. 2022).

In summary, studies published since the previous edition of this book have opened multiple new avenues and potential mechanisms for inhibiting ferroptosis in cardiac tissues. These general strategies include: decreasing the availability of free redox-active iron, restoring antioxidant defenses and redox homeostasis, modulating membrane lipid metabolism, and inhibiting inflammation. Despite the wide variety of mechanisms and potential treatments, all of these pathways converge on ROS and lipid peroxide production as central key steps in the process of ferroptosis.

8.6 Conclusions

The constant activity of the heart requires a steady supply of energy to meet its metabolic demands. Iron and redox reactions are vital components of enzymes and metabolic processes that generate ATP to supply the heart with energy, and an imbalance in the homeostasis of either iron or redox reactions can trigger ferroptosis in the myocardium.

Cardiac pathologies such as I/R and ventricular cardiomyopathy share common elements with ferroptosis, such as excess iron accumulation in cardiomyocytes, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, ER stress, and lipid peroxidation.

However, ferroptosis is not unique to the heart and is part of the pathophysiology of many diseases, including cancer, kidney disease, liver disease, and neurodegenerative diseases. Each year, researchers are discovering and confirming new ferroptotic mechanisms in a variety of pathologies, and current cardiac ferroptosis research has confirmed many of those mechanisms in the heart.

As the list of ferroptotic pathways and genes grows, the library of molecules that regulate or inhibit ferroptosis has also expanded. However, information of the safety and toxicity of these molecules in humans is scant, if not nonexistent. In the meantime, several drugs that chelate iron or boost antioxidant defenses are relatively safe and approved for medical use in many countries. Existing compound libraries can also be screened for pro- and anti-ferroptotic molecules, which is a strategy that several groups mentioned in this chapter have already implemented. Each newly discovered gene or pathway involved in ferroptosis is an opportunity to discover another potential compound or class of drugs that could be used to inhibit ferroptosis in the heart.

Ferroptosis has drawn increased attention over the past decade, and this has led to a rapid growth in research investigating ferroptosis in the heart. The expanding interest and activity in this field makes for a positive and optimistic outlook for a variety of ferroptosis-targeted therapies in the near future.

References

- Abad M, Hashimoto H, Zhou H et al (2017) Notch inhibition enhances cardiac reprogramming by increasing MEF2C transcriptional activity. Stem Cell Reports 8:548–560. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stemcr.2017.01.025
- Ahuja M, Ammal Kaidery N, Attucks OC et al (2021) Bach1 derepression is neuroprotective in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 118(45):e2111643118. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2111643118
- Antunes F, Han D, Cadenas E (2002) Relative contributions of heart mitochondria glutathione peroxidase and catalase to H(2)O(2) detoxification in in vivo conditions. Free Radic Biol Med 33:1260–1267. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(02)01016-x
- Arosio P, Levi S (2002) Ferritin, iron homeostasis, and oxidative damage. Free Radic Biol Med 33: 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(02)00842-0
- Asanuma T, Tanabe K, Ochiai K et al (1997) Relationship between progressive microvascular damage and intramyocardial hemorrhage in patients with reperfused anterior myocardial infraction: myocardial contrast echocardiographic study. Circulation 96:448–453. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.cir.96.2.448
- Baba Y, Higa JK, Shimada BK et al (2018) Protective effects of the mechanistic target of rapamycin against excess iron and ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 314: H659–H668. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00452.2017
- Babitt JL, Lin HY (2011) The molecular pathogenesis of hereditary hemochromatosis. Semin Liver Dis 31:280–292. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0031-1286059
- Beatty A, Singh T, Tyurina YY et al (2021) Ferroptotic cell death triggered by conjugated linolenic acids is mediated by ACSL1. Nat Commun 12:2244. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22471-y
- Belcher JD, Chen C, Nguyen J et al (2017) Control of oxidative stress and inflammation in sickle cell disease with the Nrf2 activator dimethyl fumarate. Antioxid Redox Signal 26:748–762. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2015.6571
- Bellinger FP, Raman AV, Reeves MA et al (2009) Regulation and function of selenoproteins in human disease. Biochem J 422:11–22. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20090219
- Berdoukas V, Coates TD, Cabantchik ZI (2015) Iron and oxidative stress in cardiomyopathy in thalassemia. Free Radic Biol Med 88:3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.07.019
- Berry MF, Pirolli TJ, Jayasankar V et al (2004) Apelin has in vivo inotropic effects on normal and failing hearts. Circulation 110(11 Suppl 1):II187–II193. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR. 0000138382.57325.5c
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z et al (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575:688–692. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Betgem RP, De Waard GA, Nijveldt R et al (2015) Intramyocardial haemorrhage after acute myocardial infarction. Nat Rev Cardiol 12:156–167. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2014.188
- Bhatt AS, Ambrosy AP, Velazquez EJ (2017) Adverse remodeling and reverse remodeling after myocardial infarction. Curr Cardiol Rep 19:71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11886-017-0876-4
- Britton RS, Leicester KL, Bacon BR (2002) Iron toxicity and chelation therapy. Int J Hematol 76: 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02982791
- Bucher HC, Hengstler P, Schindler C et al (2002) N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Med 112:298–304. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0002-9343(01)01114-7
- Buja LM, Roberts WC (1971) Iron in the heart. Etiology and clinical significance. Am J Med 51: 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(71)90240-3

- Bulluck H, Rosmini S, Abdel-Gadir A et al (2016) Residual myocardial iron following intramyocardial hemorrhage during the convalescent phase of reperfused ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction and adverse left ventricular remodeling. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 9(10): e004940. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.116.004940
- Cadenas S (2018) ROS and redox signaling in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and cardioprotection. Free Radic Biol Med 117:76–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2018.01.024
- Cai L, Kang YJ (2001) Oxidative stress and diabetic cardiomyopathy: a brief review. Cardiovasc Toxicol 1:181–193. https://doi.org/10.1385/ct:1:3:181
- Cai J, Pires KM, Ferhat M et al (2018) Autophagy ablation in adipocytes induces insulin resistance and reveals roles for lipid peroxide and Nrf2 signaling in adipose-liver crosstalk. Cell Rep 25 (1708-1717):e1705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.10.040
- Calon F, Lim GP, Morihara T et al (2005) Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid depletion activates caspases and decreases NMDA receptors in the brain of a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurosci 22:617–626. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005. 04253.x
- Carlson BA, Tobe R, Yefremova E et al (2016) Glutathione peroxidase 4 and vitamin E cooperatively prevent hepatocellular degeneration. Redox Biol 9:22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. redox.2016.05.003
- Carpenter JP, Grasso AE, Porter JB et al (2013) On myocardial siderosis and left ventricular dysfunction in hemochromatosis. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 15:24. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1532-429X-15-24
- Carrick D, Haig C, Ahmed N et al (2016) Myocardial hemorrhage after acute reperfused STsegment-elevation myocardial infarction: relation to microvascular obstruction and prognostic significance. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 9:e004148. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCIMAGING. 115.004148
- Chakravarthi S, Jessop CE, Bulleid NJ (2006) The role of glutathione in disulphide bond formation and endoplasmic-reticulum-generated oxidative stress. EMBO Rep 7:271–275. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.embor.7400645
- Chang HC, Wu R, Shang M et al (2016) Reduction in mitochondrial iron alleviates cardiac damage during injury. EMBO Mol Med 8:247–267. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201505748
- Chatterjee K, Zhang J, Honbo N et al (2010) Doxorubicin cardiomyopathy. Cardiology 115:155– 162. https://doi.org/10.1159/000265166
- Chaudhary S, Appadurai MI, Maurya SK et al (2023) MUC16 promotes triple-negative breast cancer lung metastasis by modulating RNA-binding protein ELAVL1/HUR. Breast Cancer Res 25:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-023-01630-7
- Chen HY, Xiao ZZ, Ling X et al (2021) ELAVL1 is transcriptionally activated by FOXC1 and promotes ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury by regulating autophagy. Mol Med 27:14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10020-021-00271-w
- Chouchani ET, Pell VR, James AM et al (2016) A unifying mechanism for mitochondrial superoxide production during ischemia-reperfusion injury. Cell Metab 23:254–263. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cmet.2015.12.009
- Conrad M (2009) Transgenic mouse models for the vital selenoenzymes cytosolic thioredoxin reductase, mitochondrial thioredoxin reductase and glutathione peroxidase 4. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1575–1585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2009.05.001
- Cui Y, Zhang Z, Zhou X et al (2021) Microglia and macrophage exhibit attenuated inflammatory response and ferroptosis resistance after RSL3 stimulation via increasing Nrf2 expression. J Neuroinflammation 18:249. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-021-02231-x
- D'herde K, Krysko DV (2017) Ferroptosis: oxidized PEs trigger death. Nature chemical biology 13: 4–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2261
- Dabkowski ER, Williamson CL, Hollander JM (2008) Mitochondria-specific transgenic overexpression of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (GPx4) attenuates

ischemia/reperfusion-associated cardiac dysfunction. Free Radic Biol Med 45:855–865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.06.021

- Dai E, Zhang W, Cong D et al (2020) AIFM2 blocks ferroptosis independent of ubiquinol metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 523:966–971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2020.01.066
- Das DK, Engelman RM, Liu X et al (1992) Oxygen-derived free radicals and hemolysis during open heart surgery. Mol Cell Biochem 111:77–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00229577
- De Caterina R, Zampolli A (2004) From asthma to atherosclerosis--5-lipoxygenase, leukotrienes, and inflammation. N Engl J Med 350:4–7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp038190
- De Montalembert M, Ribeil JA, Brousse V et al (2017) Cardiac iron overload in chronically transfused patients with thalassemia, sickle cell anemia, or myelodysplastic syndrome. PLoS One 12:e0172147. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172147
- Dendorfer A, Heidbreder M, Hellwig-Burgel T et al (2005) Deferoxamine induces prolonged cardiac preconditioning via accumulation of oxygen radicals. Free Radic Biol Med 38:117– 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.10.015
- Devaraj S, Jialal I (2005) Failure of vitamin E in clinical trials: is gamma-tocopherol the answer? Nutr Rev 63:290–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2005.tb00143.x
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR et al (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149:1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042
- Dodson M, Castro-Portuguez R, Zhang DD (2019) NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. Redox Biol 23:101107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019. 101107
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY et al (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13:91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2239
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R et al (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575:693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Drysdale J, Arosio P, Invernizzi R et al (2002) Mitochondrial ferritin: a new player in iron metabolism. Blood Cells Mol Dis 29:376–383. https://doi.org/10.1006/bcmd.2002.0577
- Fan Z, Wirth AK, Chen D et al (2017) Nrf2-Keap1 pathway promotes cell proliferation and diminishes ferroptosis. Oncogenesis 6:e371. https://doi.org/10.1038/oncsis.2017.65
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D et al (2019) Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116:2672–2680. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116
- Fang Y, Chen X, Tan Q et al (2021) Inhibiting ferroptosis through disrupting the NCOA4-FTH1 interaction: a new mechanism of action. ACS Cent Sci 7:980–989. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.0c01592
- Fang X, Ardehali H, Min J et al (2023) The molecular and metabolic landscape of iron and ferroptosis in cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 20:7–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41569-022-00735-4
- Feng H, Schorpp K, Jin J et al (2020) Transferrin receptor is a specific ferroptosis marker. Cell Rep 30:3411–3423.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.049
- Foldes G, Horkay F, Szokodi I et al (2003) Circulating and cardiac levels of apelin, the novel ligand of the orphan receptor APJ, in patients with heart failure. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 308: 480–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-291x(03)01424-4
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Conrad M (2018) Selenium and GPX4, a vital symbiosis. Free Radic Biol Med 127:153–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.03.001
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B et al (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16:1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb3064
- Fujikura K, Golive AD, Ando T et al (2018) Increased iron deposition is directly associated with myocardial dysfunction in patients with sickle cell disease. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 11:279– 280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.02.011

- Gajarsa JJ, Kloner RA (2011) Left ventricular remodeling in the post-infarction heart: a review of cellular, molecular mechanisms, and therapeutic modalities. Heart Fail Rev 16:13–21. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10741-010-9181-7
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Vitale I et al (2015) Essential versus accessory aspects of cell death: recommendations of the NCCD 2015. Cell Death Differ 22:58–73. https://doi.org/10. 1038/cdd.2014.137
- Gammella E, Recalcati S, Rybinska I et al (2015) Iron-induced damage in cardiomyopathy: oxidative-dependent and independent mechanisms. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2015:230182. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/230182
- Gammella E, Recalcati S, Cairo G (2016) Dual role of ROS as signal and stress agents: iron tips the balance in favor of toxic effects. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016:8629024. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8629024
- Ganame J, Messalli G, Dymarkowski S et al (2009) Impact of myocardial haemorrhage on left ventricular function and remodelling in patients with reperfused acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 30:1440–1449. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehp093
- Gao X, Qian M, Campian JL et al (2010) Mitochondrial dysfunction may explain the cardiomyopathy of chronic iron overload. Free Radic Biol Med 49:401–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2010.04.033
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N et al (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59:298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q et al (2016) Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. Cell Res 26: 1021–1032. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.95
- Gao M, Yi J, Zhu J et al (2019) Role of Mitochondria in Ferroptosis. Mol Cell 73(354-363):e353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.10.042
- Gao Q, Zhang G, Zheng Y et al (2020) SLC27A5 deficiency activates NRF2/TXNRD1 pathway by increased lipid peroxidation in HCC. Cell Death Differ 27:1086–1104. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41418-019-0399-1
- Garcia-Bunuel L (1984) Lipid peroxidation in alcoholic myopathy and cardiomyopathy. Med Hypotheses 13:217–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-9877(84)90034-3
- Gardenghi S, Marongiu MF, Ramos P et al (2007) Ineffective erythropoiesis in beta-thalassemia is characterized by increased iron absorption mediated by down-regulation of hepcidin and up-regulation of ferroportin. Blood 109:5027–5035. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-09-048868
- Gaschler MM, Hu F, Feng H et al (2018) Determination of the subcellular localization and mechanism of action of ferrostatins in suppressing ferroptosis. ACS Chem Biol 13:1013– 1020. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00199
- Griffiths EJ (2012) Mitochondria and heart disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 942:249–267. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-007-2869-1_11
- Gujja P, Rosing DR, Tripodi DJ et al (2010) Iron overload cardiomyopathy: better understanding of an increasing disorder. J Am Coll Cardiol 56:1001–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2010. 03.083
- Gunshin H, Mackenzie B, Berger UV et al (1997) Cloning and characterization of a mammalian proton-coupled metal-ion transporter. Nature 388:482–488. https://doi.org/10.1038/41343
- Haddad S, Wang Y, Galy B et al (2017) Iron-regulatory proteins secure iron availability in cardiomyocytes to prevent heart failure. Eur Heart J 38:362–372. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw333
- Hahalis G, Alexopoulos D, Kremastinos DT et al (2005) Heart failure in beta-thalassemia syndromes: a decade of progress. Am J Med 118:957–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed. 2005.02.021
- Hao L, Zhong YM, Tan CP et al (2021) Quantitative tracking of endoplasmic reticulum viscosity during ferroptosis by an iridium complex via TPPLM. Chem Commun (Camb) 57:5040–5042. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1cc01062j

- Hasinoff BB, Schnabl KL, Marusak RA et al (2003) Dexrazoxane (ICRF-187) protects cardiac myocytes against doxorubicin by preventing damage to mitochondria. Cardiovasc Toxicol 3: 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1385/ct:3:2:89
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM (2013) Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: a neglected therapeutic target. J Clin Invest 123:92–100. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI62874
- Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU, Galy B et al (2010) Two to tango: regulation of Mammalian iron metabolism. Cell 142:24–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.028
- Hirai M, Cattaneo P, Chen J et al (2016) Revisiting preadolescent cardiomyocyte proliferation in mice. Circ Res 118:916–919. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.308101
- Hirata Y, Cai R, Volchuk A et al (2023) Lipid peroxidation increases membrane tension, Piezo1 gating, and cation permeability to execute ferroptosis. Curr Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2023.02.060
- Hirschhorn T, Stockwell BR (2019) The development of the concept of ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 133:130–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.09.043
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X et al (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12:1425–1428. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Howden R (2013) Nrf2 and cardiovascular defense. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2013:104308. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/104308
- Hulbert AJ, Kelly MA, Abbott SK (2014) Polyunsaturated fats, membrane lipids and animal longevity. J Comp Physiol B 184:149–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-013-0786-8
- Imai H, Matsuoka M, Kumagai T et al (2017) Lipid peroxidation-dependent cell death regulated by GPx4 and ferroptosis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 403:143–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/82_ 2016_508
- Ingold I, Berndt C, Schmitt S et al (2018) Selenium utilization by GPX4 is required to prevent hydroperoxide-induced ferroptosis. Cell 172(409-422):e421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2017.11.048
- Ishikawa T, Sies H (1984) Cardiac transport of glutathione disulfide and S-conjugate. Studies with isolated perfused rat heart during hydroperoxide metabolism. J Biol Chem 259:3838–3843
- Ishikawa T, Esterbauer H, Sies H (1986) Role of cardiac glutathione transferase and of the glutathione S-conjugate export system in biotransformation of 4-hydroxynonenal in the heart. J Biol Chem 261:1576–1581
- Ito J, Omiya S, Rusu MC et al (2021) Iron derived from autophagy-mediated ferritin degradation induces cardiomyocyte death and heart failure in mice. Elife 10:e62174. https://doi.org/10.7554/ eLife.62174
- Jang S, Chapa-Dubocq XR, Tyurina YY et al (2021) Elucidating the contribution of mitochondrial glutathione to ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Redox Biol 45:102021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. redox.2021.102021
- Jelinek A, Heyder L, Daude M et al (2018) Mitochondrial rescue prevents glutathione peroxidasedependent ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 117:45–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2018.01.019
- Jiang HY, Wek SA, Mcgrath BC et al (2004) Activating transcription factor 3 is integral to the eukaryotic initiation factor 2 kinase stress response. Mol Cell Biol 24:1365–1377. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.3.1365-1377.2004
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T et al (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520:57–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14344
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F et al (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13:81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kakhlon O, Cabantchik ZI (2002) The labile iron pool: characterization, measurement, and participation in cellular processes. Free Radic Biol Med 33:1037–1046. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0891-5849(02)01006-7
- Kannan S, Muthusamy VR, Whitehead KJ et al (2013) Nrf2 deficiency prevents reductive stressinduced hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res 100:63–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/ cvt150

- Katunga LA, Gudimella P, Efird JT et al (2015) Obesity in a model of gpx4 haploinsufficiency uncovers a causal role for lipid-derived aldehydes in human metabolic disease and cardiomyopathy. Mol Metab 4:493–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2015.04.001
- Kerins MJ, Ooi A (2018) The roles of NRF2 in modulating cellular iron homeostasis. Antioxid Redox Signal 29:1756–1773. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2017.7176
- Kesavulu MM, Rao BK, Giri R et al (2001) Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme status in Type 2 diabetics with coronary heart disease. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 53:33–39. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0168-8227(01)00238-8
- Kinugawa S, Tsutsui H, Hayashidani S et al (2000) Treatment with dimethylthiourea prevents left ventricular remodeling and failure after experimental myocardial infarction in mice: role of oxidative stress. Circ Res 87:392–398. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.87.5.392
- Kitakata H, Endo J, Matsushima H et al (2021) MITOL/MARCH5 determines the susceptibility of cardiomyocytes to doxorubicin-induced ferroptosis by regulating GSH homeostasis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 161:116–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2021.08.006
- Knuiman MW, Divitini ML, Olynyk JK et al (2003) Serum ferritin and cardiovascular disease: a 17-year follow-up study in Busselton, Western Australia. Am J Epidemiol 158:144–149. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwg121
- Kohgo Y, Ikuta K, Ohtake T et al (2008) Body iron metabolism and pathophysiology of iron overload. Int J Hematol 88:7–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-008-0120-5
- Koleini N, Nickel BE, Edel AL et al (2019) Oxidized phospholipids in Doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Chem Biol Interact 303:35–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2019.01.032
- Kolnagou A, Economides C, Eracleous E et al (2006) Low serum ferritin levels are misleading for detecting cardiac iron overload and increase the risk of cardiomyopathy in thalassemia patients. The importance of cardiac iron overload monitoring using magnetic resonance imaging T2 and T2*. Hemoglobin 30:219–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630260600642542
- Kong C, Ni X, Wang Y et al (2022) ICA69 aggravates ferroptosis causing septic cardiac dysfunction via STING trafficking. Cell Death Discov 8:187. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-00957-y
- Konstam MA, Kramer DG, Patel AR et al (2011) Left ventricular remodeling in heart failure: current concepts in clinical significance and assessment. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 4:98–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmg.2010.10.008
- Konstantinidis K, Whelan RS, Kitsis RN (2012) Mechanisms of cell death in heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:1552–1562. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.111. 224915
- Kwon MY, Park E, Lee SJ et al (2015) Heme oxygenase-1 accelerates erastin-induced ferroptotic cell death. Oncotarget 6:24393–24403. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5162
- La Rosa P, Petrillo S, Turchi R et al (2021) The Nrf2 induction prevents ferroptosis in Friedreich's Ataxia. Redox Biol 38:101791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101791
- Lakhal-Littleton S, Wolna M, Carr CA et al (2015) Cardiac ferroportin regulates cellular iron homeostasis and is important for cardiac function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:3164–3169. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1422373112
- Latunde-Dada GO (2017) Ferroptosis: role of lipid peroxidation, iron and ferritinophagy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1861:1893–1900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2017.05.019
- Lebrecht D, Geist A, Ketelsen UP et al (2007) Dexrazoxane prevents doxorubicin-induced longterm cardiotoxicity and protects myocardial mitochondria from genetic and functional lesions in rats. Br J Pharmacol 151:771–778. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0707294
- Lee YS, Lee DH, Choudry HA et al (2018) Ferroptosis-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress: cross-talk between ferroptosis and apoptosis. Mol Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-18-0055
- Lee H, Zandkarimi F, Zhang Y et al (2020) Energy-stress-mediated AMPK activation inhibits ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 22:225–234. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0461-8
- Levi S, Rovida E (2009) The role of iron in mitochondrial function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790: 629–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2008.09.008

- Li W, Feng G, Gauthier JM et al (2019a) Ferroptotic cell death and TLR4/Trif signaling initiate neutrophil recruitment after heart transplantation. J Clin Invest 129:2293–2304. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI126428
- Li Y, Feng D, Wang Z et al (2019b) Ischemia-induced ACSL4 activation contributes to ferroptosismediated tissue injury in intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. Cell Death Differ 26:2284–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0299-4
- Lim CC, Bryan NS, Jain M et al (2009) Glutathione peroxidase deficiency exacerbates ischemiareperfusion injury in male but not female myocardium: insights into antioxidant compensatory mechanisms. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 297:H2144–H2153. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpheart.00673.2009
- Lin SC, Hardie DG (2018) AMPK: sensing glucose as well as cellular energy status. Cell Metab 27: 299–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.10.009
- Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N et al (2014a) Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:16836–16841. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1415518111
- Linkermann A, Stockwell BR, Krautwald S et al (2014b) Regulated cell death and inflammation: an auto-amplification loop causes organ failure. Nat Rev Immunol 14:759–767. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nri3743
- Liu Y, Hu Y, Xiong J et al (2021) Overexpression of activating transcription factor 3 alleviates cardiac microvascular ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Front Pharmacol 12:598959. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.598959
- Liu H, Mo H, Yang C et al (2022) A novel function of ATF3 in suppression of ferroptosis in mouse heart suffered ischemia/reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 189:122–135. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.07.006
- Lonn E, Bosch J, Yusuf S et al (2005) Effects of long-term vitamin E supplementation on cardiovascular events and cancer: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 293:1338–1347. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.293.11.1338
- Luo LF, Guan P, Qin LY et al (2021) Astragaloside IV inhibits adriamycin-induced cardiac ferroptosis by enhancing Nrf2 signaling. Mol Cell Biochem 476:2603–2611. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11010-021-04112-6
- Luo Y, Apaijai N, Liao S et al (2022) Therapeutic potentials of cell death inhibitors in rats with cardiac ischaemia/reperfusion injury. J Cell Mol Med 26:2462–2476. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jcmm.17275
- Lv Z, Wang F, Zhang X et al (2021) Etomidate attenuates the ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion rat model via Nrf2/HO-1 pathway. Shock 56:440–449. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SHK.000000000001751
- Ma S, Henson ES, Chen Y et al (2016) Ferroptosis is induced following siramesine and lapatinib treatment of breast cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 7:e2307. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2016.208
- Ma S, Sun L, Wu W et al (2020) USP22 Protects Against Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury via the SIRT1-p53/SLC7A11-Dependent Inhibition of Ferroptosis-Induced Cardiomyocyte Death. Front Physiol 11:551318. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.551318
- Ma XH, Liu JH, Liu CY et al (2022) ALOX15-launched PUFA-phospholipids peroxidation increases the susceptibility of ferroptosis in ischemia-induced myocardial damage. Signal Transduct Target Ther 7:288. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01090-z
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M et al (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(420-432):e429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016
- Malhotra JD, Miao H, Zhang K et al (2008) Antioxidants reduce endoplasmic reticulum stress and improve protein secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:18525–18530. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.0809677105
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y et al (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593:586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7

- Mckay RG, Pfeffer MA, Pasternak RC et al (1986) Left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction: a corollary to infarct expansion. Circulation 74:693–702. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. cir.74.4.693
- Meerson FZ, Kagan VE, Kozlov YP et al (1982) The role of lipid peroxidation in pathogenesis of ischemic damage and the antioxidant protection of the heart. Basic Res Cardiol 77:465–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01907940
- Miettinen KH, Magga J, Vuolteenaho O et al (2007) Utility of plasma apelin and other indices of cardiac dysfunction in the clinical assessment of patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. Regul Pept 140:178–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2006.12.004
- Miyamoto HD, Ikeda M, Ide T et al (2022) Iron overload via heme degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum triggers ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. JACC Basic Transl Sci 7:800–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts.2022.03.012
- Mobarra N, Shanaki M, Ehteram H et al (2016) A review on iron chelators in treatment of iron overload syndromes. Int J Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Res 10:239–247
- Moon BF, Iyer SK, Hwuang E et al (2020) Iron imaging in myocardial infarction reperfusion injury. Nat Commun 11:3273. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16923-0
- Mu Q, Chen L, Gao X et al (2021) The role of iron homeostasis in remodeling immune function and regulating inflammatory disease. Sci Bull (Beijing) 66:1806–1816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scib.2021.02.010
- Murphy MP (2009) How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. Biochem J 417:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20081386
- Murphy E, Steenbergen C (2008) Mechanisms underlying acute protection from cardiac ischemiareperfusion injury. Physiol Rev 88:581–609. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00024.2007
- Nagai H, Satomi T, Abiru A et al (2017) Antihypertrophic effects of small molecules that maintain mitochondrial ATP levels under hypoxia. EBioMedicine 24:147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ebiom.2017.09.022
- Neckar J, Boudikova A, Mandikova P et al (2012) Protective effects of dexrazoxane against acute ischaemia/reperfusion injury of rat hearts. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 90:1303–1310. https://doi. org/10.1139/y2012-096
- Nishizawa H, Matsumoto M, Shindo T et al (2020) Ferroptosis is controlled by the coordinated transcriptional regulation of glutathione and labile iron metabolism by the transcription factor BACH1. J Biol Chem 295:69–82. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.009548
- Obejero-Paz CA, Yang T, Dong WQ et al (2003) Deferoxamine promotes survival and prevents electrocardiographic abnormalities in the gerbil model of iron-overload cardiomyopathy. J Lab Clin Med 141:121–130. https://doi.org/10.1067/mlc.2003.18
- Ohrvall M, Sundlof G, Vessby B (1996) Gamma, but not alpha, tocopherol levels in serum are reduced in coronary heart disease patients. J Intern Med 239:111–117. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-2796.1996.410753000.x
- Ooko E, Saeed ME, Kadioglu O et al (2015) Artemisinin derivatives induce iron-dependent cell death (ferroptosis) in tumor cells. Phytomedicine 22:1045–1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. phymed.2015.08.002
- Oppedisano F, Macri R, Gliozzi M et al (2020) The anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties of n-3 PUFAs: their role in cardiovascular protection. Biomedicines 8:9–306. https://doi.org/10. 3390/biomedicines8090306
- Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B (2005) Cardiolipin oxidation sets cytochrome c free. Nat Chem Biol 1: 188–189. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio0905-188
- Oudit GY, Sun H, Trivieri MG et al (2003) L-type Ca2+ channels provide a major pathway for iron entry into cardiomyocytes in iron-overload cardiomyopathy. Nat Med 9:1187–1194. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm920
- Pachikian BD, Essaghir A, Demoulin JB et al (2011) Hepatic n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid depletion promotes steatosis and insulin resistance in mice: genomic analysis of cellular targets. PLoS One 6:e23365. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023365

- Paradies G, Petrosillo G, Pistolese M et al (1999) Lipid peroxidation and alterations to oxidative metabolism in mitochondria isolated from rat heart subjected to ischemia and reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 27:42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(99)00032-5
- Pennell DJ, Berdoukas V, Karagiorga M et al (2006) Randomized controlled trial of deferiprone or deferoxamine in beta-thalassemia major patients with asymptomatic myocardial siderosis. Blood 107:3738–3744. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-07-2948
- Post JA, Bijvelt JJ, Verkleij AJ (1995) Phosphatidylethanolamine and sarcolemmal damage during ischemia or metabolic inhibition of heart myocytes. Am J Physiol 268:H773–H780. https://doi. org/10.1152/ajpheart.1995.268.2.H773
- Propper RD, Cooper B, Rufo RR et al (1977) Continuous subcutaenous administration of deferoxamine in patients with iron overload. N Engl J Med 297:418–423. https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJM197708252970804
- Qin Q, Qu C, Niu T et al (2016) Nrf2-mediated cardiac maladaptive remodeling and dysfunction in a setting of autophagy insufficiency. Hypertension 67:107–117. https://doi.org/10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06062
- Riegman M, Sagie L, Galed C et al (2020) Ferroptosis occurs through an osmotic mechanism and propagates independently of cell rupture. Nat Cell Biol 22:1042–1048. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41556-020-0565-1
- Rozpedek W, Pytel D, Mucha B et al (2016) The role of the PERK/eIF2alpha/ATF4/CHOP signaling pathway in tumor progression during endoplasmic reticulum stress. Curr Mol Med 16:533–544. https://doi.org/10.2174/1566524016666160523143937
- Ryter SW, Tyrrell RM (2000) The heme synthesis and degradation pathways: role in oxidant sensitivity. Heme oxygenase has both pro- and antioxidant properties. Free Radic Biol Med 28: 289–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(99)00223-3
- Salonen JT, Nyyssonen K, Korpela H et al (1992) High stored iron levels are associated with excess risk of myocardial infarction in eastern Finnish men. Circulation 86:803–811. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.cir.86.3.803
- Santana-Codina N, Mancias JD (2018) The role of NCOA4-mediated ferritinophagy in health and disease. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 11(4):114. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph11040114
- Scott IC, Masri B, D'amico LA et al (2007) The g protein-coupled receptor agtrl1b regulates early development of myocardial progenitors. Dev Cell 12:403–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel. 2007.01.012
- Seibt TM, Proneth B, Conrad M (2019) Role of GPX4 in ferroptosis and its pharmacological implication. Free Radic Biol Med 133:144–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018. 09.014
- Sempos CT, Looker AC, Gillum RE et al (2000) Serum ferritin and death from all causes and cardiovascular disease: the NHANES II Mortality Study. National Health and Nutrition Examination Study. Ann Epidemiol 10:441–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1047-2797(00)00068-5
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL et al (2013) Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493:433–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11682
- Shin D, Kim EH, Lee J et al (2018) Nrf2 inhibition reverses resistance to GPX4 inhibitor-induced ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 129:454–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2018.10.426
- Shintoku R, Takigawa Y, Yamada K et al (2017) Lipoxygenase-mediated generation of lipid peroxides enhances ferroptosis induced by erastin and RSL3. Cancer Sci 108:2187–2194. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13380
- Shiomi T, Tsutsui H, Matsusaka H et al (2004) Overexpression of glutathione peroxidase prevents left ventricular remodeling and failure after myocardial infarction in mice. Circulation 109:544– 549. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000109701.77059.E9
- Skouta R, Dixon SJ, Wang J et al (2014) Ferrostatins inhibit oxidative lipid damage and cell death in diverse disease models. J Am Chem Soc 136:4551–4556. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja411006a

- Song Y, Wang B, Zhu X et al (2021) Human umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs exosome attenuate myocardial injury by inhibiting ferroptosis in acute myocardial infarction mice. Cell Biol Toxicol 37:51–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-020-09530-8
- Soula M, Weber RA, Zilka O et al (2020) Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to canonical ferroptosis inducers. Nature chemical biology 16:1351–1360. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41589-020-0613-y
- Stamenkovic A, O'hara KA, Nelson DC et al (2021) Oxidized phosphatidylcholines trigger ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes during ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 320:H1170–H1184. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00237.2020
- Stehling O, Lill R (2013) The role of mitochondria in cellular iron-sulfur protein biogenesis: mechanisms, connected processes, and diseases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5:a011312. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a011312
- Stephens NG, Parsons A, Schofield PM et al (1996) Randomised controlled trial of vitamin E in patients with coronary disease: Cambridge Heart Antioxidant Study (CHAOS). Lancet 347: 781–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(96)90866-1
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H et al (2017) Ferroptosis: a regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. Cell 171:273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2017.09.021
- Sun Y, Zhou S, Guo H et al (2020) Protective effects of sulforaphane on type 2 diabetes-induced cardiomyopathy via AMPK-mediated activation of lipid metabolic pathways and NRF2 function. Metabolism 102:154002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2019.154002
- Sutton MG, Sharpe N (2000) Left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction: pathophysiology and therapy. Circulation 101:2981–2988. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.101.25.2981
- Swain SM, Whaley FS, Gerber MC et al (1997) Cardioprotection with dexrazoxane for doxorubicin-containing therapy in advanced breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 15:1318–1332. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1997.15.4.1318
- Tacar O, Sriamornsak P, Dass CR (2013) Doxorubicin: an update on anticancer molecular action, toxicity and novel drug delivery systems. J Pharm Pharmacol 65:157–170. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01567.x
- Tadokoro T, Ikeda M, Ide T et al (2020) Mitochondria-dependent ferroptosis plays a pivotal role in doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. JCI Insight 5(9):e132747. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight. 132747
- Taher AT, Viprakasit V, Musallam KM et al (2013) Treating iron overload in patients with nontransfusion-dependent thalassemia. Am J Hematol 88:409–415. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh. 23405
- Tang M, Huang Z, Luo X et al (2019) Ferritinophagy activation and sideroflexin1-dependent mitochondria iron overload is involved in apelin-13-induced cardiomyocytes hypertrophy. Free Radic Biol Med 134:445–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2019.01.052
- Tang LJ, Zhou YJ, Xiong XM et al (2021) Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 promotes ferroptosis via activation of the p53/TfR1 pathway in the rat hearts after ischemia/reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 162:339–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.10.307
- Tauchenova L, Krizova B, Kubanek M et al (2016) Successful treatment of iron-overload cardiomyopathy in hereditary hemochromatosis with deferoxamine and deferiprone. Can J Cardiol 32: 1574 e1571–1574 e1573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2016.07.589
- Thomas C, Mackey MM, Diaz AA et al (2009) Hydroxyl radical is produced via the Fenton reaction in submitochondrial particles under oxidative stress: implications for diseases associated with iron accumulation. Redox Rep 14:102–108. https://doi.org/10.1179/135100009X392566
- Thorn CF, Oshiro C, Marsh S et al (2011) Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects. Pharmacogenet Genomics 21:440–446. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC. 0b013e32833ffb56
- Tian C, Gao L, Zhang A et al (2019) Therapeutic effects of Nrf2 activation by bardoxolone methyl in chronic heart failure. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 371:642–651. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.119. 261792

- Torii S, Shintoku R, Kubota C et al (2016) An essential role for functional lysosomes in ferroptosis of cancer cells. Biochem J 473:769–777. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20150658
- Van Der Pol A, Van Gilst WH, Voors AA et al (2018) Treating oxidative stress in heart failure: past, present and future. Eur J Heart Fail. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.1320
- Von Haehling S, Jankowska EA, Van Veldhuisen DJ et al (2015) Iron deficiency and cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 12:659–669. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2015.109
- Wang H, Lai Y, Mathis BJ et al (2015) Deubiquitinating enzyme CYLD mediates pressure overload-induced cardiac maladaptive remodeling and dysfunction via downregulating Nrf2. J Mol Cell Cardiol 84:143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.04.012
- Wang X, Chen X, Zhou W et al (2022a) Ferroptosis is essential for diabetic cardiomyopathy and is prevented by sulforaphane via AMPK/NRF2 pathways. Acta Pharm Sin B 12:708–722. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2021.10.005
- Wang Y, Yan S, Liu X et al (2022b) PRMT4 promotes ferroptosis to aggravate doxorubicininduced cardiomyopathy via inhibition of the Nrf2/GPX4 pathway. Cell Death Differ 29:1982– 1995. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-022-00990-5
- Wang Z, Yao M, Jiang L et al (2022c) Dexmedetomidine attenuates myocardial ischemia/reperfusion-induced ferroptosis via AMPK/GSK-3beta/Nrf2 axis. Biomed Pharmacother 154:113572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2022.113572
- Wang ZL, Yuan L, Li W et al (2022d) Ferroptosis in Parkinson's disease: glia-neuron crosstalk. Trends Mol Med 28:258–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2022.02.003
- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J et al (2017) PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. Cell 171(628-641):e626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017. 09.044
- Wolf S, Abd Alla J, Quitterer U (2018) Sensitization of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor contributes to RKIP-induced symptoms of heart failure. Front Med (Lausanne) 5:359. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmed.2018.00359
- Wood JC (2016) The heart in sickle cell disease, a model for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:9670–9672. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1611899113
- Wood JC, Ghugre N (2008) Magnetic resonance imaging assessment of excess iron in thalassemia, sickle cell disease and other iron overload diseases. Hemoglobin 32:85–96. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03630260701699912
- Wood JC, Tyszka JM, Carson S et al (2004) Myocardial iron loading in transfusion-dependent thalassemia and sickle cell disease. Blood 103:1934–1936. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-06-1919
- Wortmann M, Schneider M, Pircher J et al (2013) Combined deficiency in glutathione peroxidase 4 and vitamin E causes multiorgan thrombus formation and early death in mice. Circ Res 113: 408–417. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.279984
- Wu C, Zhao W, Yu J et al (2018) Induction of ferroptosis and mitochondrial dysfunction by oxidative stress in PC12 cells. Sci Rep 8:574. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18935-1
- Wu Y, Ma Z, Mai X et al (2022) Identification of a novel inhibitor of TfR1 from designed and synthesized muriceidine a derivatives. Antioxidants (Basel) 11(5):834. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antiox11050834
- Xing Y, Niu T, Wang W et al (2012) Triterpenoid dihydro-CDDO-trifluoroethyl amide protects against maladaptive cardiac remodeling and dysfunction in mice: a critical role of Nrf2. PLoS One 7:e44899. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044899
- Xu B, Zhang J, Strom J et al (2014) Myocardial ischemic reperfusion induces de novo Nrf2 protein translation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1842:1638–1647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014. 06.002
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2016) Ferroptosis: death by lipid peroxidation. Trends Cell Biol 26:165– 176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.10.014
- Yang WS, Sriramaratnam R, Welsch ME et al (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156:317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010

- Yang X, Fang Y, Hou J et al (2022a) The heart as a target for deltamethrin toxicity: Inhibition of Nrf2/HO-1 pathway induces oxidative stress and results in inflammation and apoptosis. Chemosphere 300:134479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134479
- Yang X, Kawasaki NK, Min J et al (2022b) Ferroptosis in heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 173:141– 153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2022.10.004
- Yeang C, Hasanally D, Que X et al (2019) Reduction of myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury by inactivating oxidized phospholipids. Cardiovasc Res 115:179–189. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cvr/cvy136
- Yu H, Guo P, Xie X et al (2017) Ferroptosis, a new form of cell death, and its relationships with tumourous diseases. J Cell Mol Med 21:648–657. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13008
- Zang H, Mathew RO, Cui T (2020) The dark side of Nrf2 in the heart. Front Physiol 11:722. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00722
- Zeeshan HM, Lee GH, Kim HR et al (2016) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and associated ROS. Int J Mol Sci 17:327. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17030327
- Zhang GG, Teng X, Liu Y et al (2009) Inhibition of endoplasm reticulum stress by ghrelin protects against ischemia/reperfusion injury in rat heart. Peptides 30:1109–1116. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.peptides.2009.03.024
- Zhang H, Wang Z, Liu Z et al (2021) Protective effects of dexazoxane on rat ferroptosis in doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy through regulating HMGB1. Front Cardiovasc Med 8: 685434. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2021.685434
- Zhuang S, Ma Y, Zeng Y et al (2021) METTL14 promotes doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte ferroptosis by regulating the KCNQ10T1-miR-7-5p-TFRC axis. Cell Biol Toxicol. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10565-021-09660-7
- Zilka O, Shah R, Li B et al (2017) On the mechanism of cytoprotection by ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 and the role of lipid peroxidation in ferroptotic cell death. ACS Cent Sci 3:232–243. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.7b00028
- Zweier JL, Flaherty JT, Weisfeldt ML (1987) Direct measurement of free radical generation following reperfusion of ischemic myocardium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:1404–1407. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.5.1404



Understanding Ferroptosis from a Free Radical Perspective

Junichi Fujii

Abstract

Membrane disruption caused by iron-dependent phospholipid peroxidation is a distinctive feature of ferroptosis. Lipid peroxides that are produced either by ironcontaining oxygenase enzymes or by oxygen radicals generated via free ironmediated nonenzymatic reactions are likely involved in cell death. While actively proliferating cells are sensitive to ferroptosis, quiescent cells are somewhat resistant. Proliferating cells, as typified by tumorigenic cells, are prone to producing oxygen radical species because of their stimulated oxygen consumption due to active metabolism. Upon ferroptotic stimuli, ferritinophagy increases the levels of free iron by degrading ferritin and some iron-sulfur clusters associated with enzymes of the tricarboxylic acid cycle may also become a source for free iron in mitochondria. Substances with radical-scavenging ability can terminate radical chain reactions, thereby preventing ferroptosis-related diseases. The focus of this chapter is on the generation of radical species that initiate lipid peroxidation reactions and the importance of their removal to prevent cell death.

9.1 Introduction

Cells die through several pathways under various physiological or pathological conditions. While machinery involved in final process of many types of regulated cell death generally consists of unique proteins, peroxidized phospholipids are exceptionally responsible for ferroptosis via membrane destruction (Tang et al. 2019; Stockwell 2022). Cells with a cysteine (Cys) deficiency caused by inhibition

J. Fujii (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Yamagata University, Yamagata, Japan e-mail: jfujii@med.id.yamagata-u.ac.jp

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_9

of the cystine transporter xCT, also referred to as SLC7A11, or by the deprivation of extracellular cystine typically undergo ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012). Because glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) plays a central role in the reductive detoxification of phospholipid hyroperoxides (PL-OOH), a defect in glutathione (GSH) synthesis due to an insufficient Cys supply leads to the malfunction of GPX4, which results in the accumulation of PL-OOH and eventual cell rupture (Seibt et al. 2019; Ursini and Maiorino 2020).

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are sensitive targets of hydroxyl radicals, which can be produced by Fenton chemistry in the presence of free iron and peroxides. The resulting alkoxyl radicals initiate chain reactions of lipid peroxidation (Niki 2009). Since free iron along with peroxides is the initiator for the lipid peroxidation, the removal of free iron effectively prevents cell death (Latunde-Dada 2017; Masaldan et al. 2019). Investigations concerning the pathways for ferroptosis execution have identified several genes that largely contribute to the processes of cell death as well as protection against it (Tarangelo et al. 2018; Kang et al. 2019; Gan 2021). Because most studies exploring anti-ferroptotic genes have been carried out under conditions in which xCT or GPX4 are inhibited, emerging genes largely function to compensate GPX4 function by suppressing lipid peroxidation. Intriguingly, however, a group of genes has been classified into phospholipid synthesis or its repairment, but show no direct association with lipid peroxidation (Rodencal and Dixon 2022). These results suggest that ferroptosis is tightly associated with the active metabolic state of cells and occurs due to declined capacity of detoxification of lipid peroxides. In this chapter, after a brief overview of the ferroptotic pathway, the sources of iron and radicals that may initiate the vicious cycle and cause eventual cell death are discussed.

9.2 Lipid Peroxidation Reaction in Ferroptosis

Since the first report on the definition of ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012), our knowledge of the properties of the cell death pathway that includes primary roles of lipid peroxidation and defense systems has accumulated abundantly (Stockwell 2022). The dysfunction of GPX4 alone causes ferroptosis in most cases, which implies that lipid peroxidation products that occur during normal metabolic processes are sufficient to reach lethal levels if they are not efficiently eliminated.

9.2.1 Radical Chain Reactions Responsible for Lipid Peroxidation

Many compounds, such as xCT inhibitors and GPX4 inhibitors, as well as pathogenic conditions, such as inflammation and ischemia-reperfusion injury, have been reported to induce ferroptosis, and there seems to be no dispute that lipid peroxides are the direct executor of this process (Stockwell 2022). A malfunction of GPX4 by a GSH insufficiency or the downregulation of GPX4 gene expression generally results in increased PL-OOH levels. Vitamin E (tocopherol: Toc) supplementation can rescue cell death caused by xCT inhibition (Dixon et al. 2012) and a lethal phenotype of GPX4 gene ablation (Seibt et al. 2019). Since Toc is effective in scavenging lipid radicals, these observations support the notion that the radical chain reaction has a major role in PL-OOH formation and the subsequent execution of ferroptosis. Among organs, the kidney appears to be the most susceptible organ to ferroptosis under a GPX4 deficiency (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014).

Alkyl radicals (L•) may be produced by the reaction of PUFA with other radical species that are likely originated from superoxide (Niki 2009). The reaction of L• with an oxygen molecule results in the production of alkylperoxyl radicals (LOO•), which, upon reaction with PUFA, is converted into LOOH with the simultaneous regeneration of L•. Thus, the radical chain reaction continues to produce LOOH as long as L•, PUFA, and oxygen molecule are present. The presence of free iron further stimulates the accumulation of LOOH through the generation of radical species.

Toc functionally compensates for a GPX4 deficiency, whereas the mechanisms responsible for the inhibition of ferroptosis by Toc and GPX4 are somewhat different. GPX4 is the enzyme that reduces PL-OOH to the alcohol form (PL-OH) using electrons from GSH (Ursini and Maiorino 2020). Meanwhile, Toc reduces L• to L and becomes a tocopherol radical (Toc.), which possesses low electronabstracting potential and hence is much less cytotoxic. Accordingly, Toc-mediated radical scaventing terminates the chain reaction and suppresses the further production of PL-OOH. Coenzyme Q (CoQ) is synthesized in mitochondria, and a part of CoQ is transferred to the plasma membrane via STARD7 (Deshwal et al. 2023) and reduces lipid radicals, which include Toc. The resulting radical form of CoO can be reduced back by the ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) in a NAD(P)Hdependent manner (Bersuker et al. 2019; Doll et al. 2019). Vitamin K also suppresses lipid peroxidation by donating an electron and is converted into a vitamin K radical. FSP1 again reductively recycles the vitamin K radical and consequently suppresses ferroptosis (Mishima et al. 2022). Thus, FSP1 acts as an anti-ferroptosis enzyme that functions independently from GPX4. Tetrahydrobiopterin produced by GTP cyclohydrolase-1 (GCH1) indirectly maintains the CoQ redox state, and, consequently, GCH1 also suppresses ferroptosis (Kraft et al. 2020).

Ascorbate is present in the mM range in cell organelles and is a representative antioxidant that reduces Toc• back to Toc (Buettner 1993). In fact, ascorbate is a strong reducing agent against multiple radical species because of its ability to donate an electron. However, the reaction of ascorbate with free iron may generate radical species and exacerbate the oxidative state (Badu-Boateng and Naftalin 2019). This potentially harmful reaction based on redox coupling between ascorbate and iron appears to be a reason for why ascorbate does not emerge as an effective antiferroptotic agent. Consistent with this notion, the coadministration of ascorbate and an iron chelator may be able to prevent ferroptosis-related diseases by eliminating radical species more effectively. On the other hand, such cytotoxic action can be applicable for the treatment of malignant tumors. For example, a pharmacological dose of ascorbate can exert tumoricidal effects by means of generating radical species (Chen et al. 2007).

9.2.2 Roles of Free Iron in Ferroptosis

Iron may originate from either an intracellular or an extracellular source and is involved in radical formation via Fenton-type chemistry (Toyokuni et al. 2017). The iron fraction that can be chelated by high-affinity metal chelators is regarded as the labile iron pool (LIP) and accounts for 0.1-3% of the total cellular iron. However, the LIP alone is not sufficient for inducing ferroptosis. Ferritin is a ferric iron storage protein that prevents harmful free iron-mediated reactions from occurring. The degradation of ferritin is stimulated by means of autophagy, more specifically ferritinophagy, under conditions where xCT or GPX4 are inhibited (Chen et al. 2021) (Fig. 9.1). Toc is present in lysosomal membranes at concentrations that are approximately one-order in magnitude higher than in other subcellular compartments (Wang and Quinn 1999). Because lysosomes are rich in free iron among cell organelles, an enriched Toc content together with GPX4 associated with the membrane (Wu et al. 2019) could protect lysosomal membranes from peroxidation. It is therefore conceivable that ferritinophagy under a Toc deficiency or aberrant GPX4 function could result in elevated levels of PL-OOH, thus making the lysosomal and autolysosomal membrane vulnerable. Rupture of the vesicular structure may release iron into the cytosol, which augments the lipid peroxidation of the plasma membrane, eventually causing cell death. On the other hand, lipoxygenase (LOX) is activated and appears to be involved in lipid peroxidation for ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016; Benatzy et al. 2022). Under conditions in which xCT is inhibited,



Fig. 9.1 Lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Phospholipids with PUFA are prone to be peroxidized by either hydrogen peroxide in the presence of free iron or by the enzymatic activity of ALOX. Free iron and ROS may also be provided from ferritinophagy and respiratory chain in mitochondria

phosphorylase kinase G2 (PHKG2) appears to increase the levels of cellular iron, which leads to the activation of lipoxygenase enzymes. We further discuss the sources and roles of iron in phospholipid peroxidation during ferroptosis in the following session.

9.2.3 Cys-GSH-GPX4 Axis as a Primary Defense System against Ferroptosis

Cys auxotrophy is quite different between in vitro and in vivo situations because of difference in the redox environment of cells. Cells are generally cultivated under atmospheric oxygen conditions, i.e., 21% O₂, which is approximately 4-times higher than those at in vivo conditions. In this oxygen status, Cys is largely converted into cystine in the culture medium. Cys/cystine are either taken up by cells or synthesized via the transsulfuration pathway in conjunction with Met metabolism in vivo. Despite the highly oxidative extracellular state, mouse plasma still contains significant amounts of Cys vs cystine at 18 μ M vs 33 μ M (Sato et al. 2005). Therefore, cells in most tissues, excluding the brain and immune cells, do not express xCT but utilize extracellular Cys or synthesize it through the transsulfuration pathway (Conrad and Sato 2012). Neutral amino acid transporters ASCT1 and ASCT2 are responsible for the uptake of Cys in ordinary cells, whereas neurons employ neutral amino acid transporter excitatory amino acid carrier type 1 (EAAC1) (Conrad and Sato 2012). These cells, however, possess the ability to express xCT upon an oxidative insult most likely via the activation of Nrf-2, which is a master regulator for redox-reactive genes (Yamamoto et al. 2018). Cystine incorporated into cells via xCT may be reduced to Cys by means of thioredoxin 1 and the thioredoxin-related protein 14 kDa (TRP14) (Pader et al. 2014). A significant amount of Cys is then secreted from cells, where it may act to maintain redox balance in the cellular microenvironment (Banjac et al. 2008). Accordingly, cultivated cells commonly depend on the expression of xCT to meet the demand of Cys for redox homeostasis.

Ferroptosis is typically induced in cultivated cells by a deficiency of intracellular Cys, which can occur by the inhibition of xCT or cultivation in cystine-free media. The dysfunction of GPX4 or Cys deprivation leads to the accumulation of PL-OOH, which results in membrane destruction and ferroptosis (Stockwell 2022). Since Cys is an essential building block for GSH, most studies have concluded that a Cys deficiency causes ferroptosis through a defect in GSH synthesis. However, there is a dissociation in the viability of cells caused by a Cys deficiency and that caused by GSH depletion (Banjac et al. 2008). In fact, Cys can be utilized to synthesize many cellular components that include taurine, coenzyme A, cysteamine, and iron-sulfur [Fe-S] clusters other than a building block for proteins and GSH. Cys is also the endogenous source of cellular mediators including hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) and persulfides (GSSH), terminate radical chain reactions by eliminating radical species efficiently and suppressing ferroptosis (Barayeu et al. 2023; Wu et al. 2022).

The widespread use of Cys may explain why the cessation of the Cys supply rather than the inhibition of GSH synthesis robustly induces ferroptosis.

As a nonessential amino acid, Cys can be produced through the transsulfuration pathway coupled with methionine (Met) metabolism; however, the contribution of the pathway to the supply of Cys appears to be limited to some organs, such as the liver (McBean 2012). In the transsulfuration pathway, cystathionine β -synthase (CBS) produces cystathionine from homocysteine, which is supplied from the metabolism of Met, and serine, after which, cystathionine γ -lyase (CSE) cleaves cystathionine to Cys and 2-oxo butyrate (Fujii et al. 2020). The ability to synthesize Cys tends to decline under cell culture conditions due to the downregulation of enzymes that are involved in the transsulfuration pathway for unknown reasons. Accordingly, most lines of cells, whether normal cells or cancer cells, depend on extracellular cystine for survival.

The malignant phenotype of cancer cells tends to be associated with the expression of xCT even in an in vivo situation (Ishimoto et al. 2011), which may be explained by the augmented requirement of Cys for active proliferation. For these reasons, ferroptosis is considered to be a promising target for anticancer therapy (Jiang et al. 2021; Lee and Roh 2022). On the other hand, quiescent cells are less sensitive to ferroptosis, as discussed below, which may be one of the reasons why cancer stem cells tend to avoid drug-induced cell death. Substantial differences in the redox state between ex vivo and in vivo conditions can be an obstacle to the application of results obtained from in vitro studies to cancer therapy. Genetic modification can convert CBS to cyst(e)inase, which hydrolytically depletes plasma Cys and the cystine pool in mice and nonhuman primates (Cramer et al. 2017). The application of cyst(e)inase to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma was found to be effective by inducing ferroptosis (Badgley et al. 2020), although at this time, this approach has not reached the stage of clinical trials for cancer patients (Lee and Roh 2022). Because Cys is a semi-essential amino acid, the depletion of plasma cyst (e)ine may influence the redox conditions of most cells that depend on extracellular cyst(e)ine.

9.2.4 Regulators of Phospholipid Peroxidation

Both enzymatic and radical-mediated nonenzymatic reactions are considered to be responsible for lipid peroxidation (Stoyanovsky et al. 2019). Exploration of factors that regulate ferroptosis has identified several genes that are robustly involved in ferroptosis. Arachidonate lipoxygenase (ALOX), an enzyme that requires nonheme iron for activity (Benatzy et al. 2022), has been shown to be responsible for LOOH formation in some cases of ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016). Among the LOX family of enzymes, the aberrant activation of ALOX5, ALOX12, and ALOX15 reportedly results in the development of ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017; Chu et al. 2019). Catalytic iron in ALOX coordinates amino acids of the enzyme, but may uncontrollably catalyze peroxidation reactions of PUFA. An elevated iron supply, gene expression, and membrane localization have all been reported to activate ALOX

sufficiently to cause cell death (Yang et al. 2016; Ou et al. 2016; Shintoku et al. 2017). Cyclooxygenase (COX) is also an iron-containing PUFA oxygenase, but its direct involvement in ferroptosis has not been confirmed. This is probably because iron, which constitutes the catalytic center of COX, is in the form of heme that does not easily release iron due to its rigid structure. This difference in iron status appears to distinguish the contribution of the two PUFA oxygenases to ferroptosis.

Acyl-coenzyme A synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) was also reported to dictate ferroptosis under conditions where xCT or GPX4 are inhibited (Yuan et al. 2016; Doll et al. 2017; Kagan et al. 2017). ACSL4 has no direct role in lipid peroxidation reactions, but it preferentially catalyzes the conjugation of arachidonate with CoA and stimulates its incorporation into phosphatidic acid, followed by phospholipids and triacylglycerol. Upon ferroptotic stimuli, PKCβII activates ACSL4 by phosphorylation, which further accelerates the incorporation of PUFA into phospholipids (Zhang et al. 2022). Since lipid peroxides recruit PKCβII to membranes and stimulate its activity, these reactions are considered to form a feedforward signal amplification cascade. Thus, the coordinate actions of ACSL4 with ALOX or nonenzymatic lipid peroxidation reactions result in the accumulation of PL-OOH in cell membranes. Contrary to this, calcium-independent phospholipase A2 encoded by PLA2G6 was found to suppress ferroptosis (Beharier et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021a; Sun et al. 2021). This anti-ferroptotic action appears to be accomplished by the excision of LOOH from PL-OOH. Because the expression of high levels of PLA2G6 is associated with drug-resistance of some tumors, this antiferroptotic action may be responsible for the malignancy of melanoma and other tumors (Duffy et al. 2018).

9.3 Ferroptosis Occurs Preferentially in Metabolically Active Cells

An understanding of the sources of radical electrons and iron is of prime importance for the purpose of the prevention and treatment of ferroptosis-associated diseases. It is well recognized that proliferating cells rather than quiescent cells are prone to developing ferroptosis, which is a quite different hallmark from apoptotic cell death. We discuss how such a cell state determines cell fate here.

9.3.1 Association of Ferroptosis with Active Metabolic State

Cells in most tissues of healthy adults, excluding some cells such as those in bone marrow and reproductive organs, generally do not proliferate. Unlike cancer cells that continue to proliferate, cell-to-cell contact is a primary cause for the arrested proliferation of normal cells, which is defined as contact inhibition. E-cadhelin, which is the adhesion molecule constituting the adherent junction between adjacent cells, is involved in the suppression of ferroptosis by activating the tumor suppressor Merlin/NF2 and the Hippo signaling pathway (Wu et al. 2019). Resistance to contact

inhibition is one of the hallmarks of malignant cells, which may explain the high susceptibility to ferroptosis of mesenchymal cancer cells that exhibit a high metastatic potential (Viswanathan et al. 2017; Hangauer et al. 2017).

Cellular proliferation processes are divided into four phases, G₁, S, G₂, and M, which are promoted by the unique coupling of the cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk) and proceed in a cyclic manner (Havens et al. 2006). Generally speaking, high metabolic activity consumes more oxygen and, hence, is considered to produce more ROS compared to quiescent cells (Meacham et al. 2022). Metabolic reactions, including energy production in mitochondria, are uniquely regulated at each phase of the cell cycle, resulting in varying degrees of ROS release. Although the production of excessive levels of ROS may suppress mitotic spindle formation through the inhibition of Aurora kinase and result in mitotic arrest (Wang et al. 2017), moderate levels of ROS rather stimulate cell proliferation by modulating mitotic signaling (Finkel 2011). The cellular localization of GSH as well as the levels of antioxidant enzymes also changes synchronously with the cell cycle. The accumulation of proteins with oxidized Cys residues is found in the M phase (Patterson et al. 2019). However, this may not simply indicate a high production of ROS at the M phase because protein contents are balanced between their synthesis and degradation. In fact, it is known that lysosomes, which function alongside proteasomes to digest intracellular proteins, are scarce during the M phase (Nowosad and Besson 2022). As a result, genome integrity can be protected against lysosomal nucleases while the nuclear envelope is broken down (Odle et al. 2020). Inhibition of the serine/threonine kinase mechanistic target of rapamycin 1 (mTOR1), which is a critical regulator of autophagy, accomplishes this genome guard at the M phase. Thus, the accumulation of oxidized proteins at the M phase may not necessarily indicate the production of ROS at this stage. At present, it is still vague as to how much ROS are produced at each phase of the cell cycle and the nature of the mechanism that regulates them.

Cultivation in cystine-free media typically induces ferroptosis in cells with a defect in the transsulfuration pathway, but surprisingly, a double deficiency of cystine and Met rather suppresses cell death (Lee et al. 2017). As a matter of fact, upon Met restriction, cell cycle arrest occurs at the end of the G1 phase and the G2 phase, which is called the Hoffman effect (Kaiser 2020). While several changes occur in metabolism, Met-deficient cultivation leads to a decline in the content of S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), a Met metabolite acting as the methyl group donor (Fig. 9.2). Among many methylated compounds, cytosine with methylation at the 5 position must be inherited to newly synthesized daughter DNA during the S phase. DNA methyltransferase DNMT1 maintains the cytosine methylation at the CpG island during DNA replication (Chen and Zhang 2020). While excessive methylation of tumor-suppressor genes may be a cause for tumor development, overall defects in DNA methylation restrict the cell cycle progression. For example, disabling DNA methylation by means of DNMT1 gene ablation causes hemimethylation in the CpG island, ultimately leading to cell cycle arrest (Chen et al. 2007b). When cells cultivated under a double deficiency of Cys and Met are supplemented with SAM, cell cycle resumes and LOOH levels rise, ultimately



Fig. 9.2 Regulatory system of ferroptosis in association with methionine metabolism coupled with the transsulfuration pathway. Cys can be produced through a transsulfuration reaction coupled with Met metabolism. SAM is a methyl group donor for cytosine methylation during the replication of DNA at the S phase of the cell cycle. Cells with a SAM deficiency are unable to transmit methylation status to daughter DNA and undergo cell cycle arrest. GSH depletion caused by a Cys deficiency leads to the development of ferroptosis. While a Cys deficiency alone does not affect the mitotic ability of cells, a double deficiency of Cys and Met leads to cell quiescence and survival due to defective SAM production. DNMT, DNA methyltransferase; SAH, S-adenosylhomocysteine; Hcy, homocysteine, Cst, cystathionine, Ser, serine

leading to ferroptosis (Homma et al. 2022a). These collective observations suggest that ROS derived from active metabolism after the S phase initiates ferroptosis if the LOOH-scavenging system does not function properly.

9.3.2 Mitochondria as a Source for Radicals

The origin of the oxygen radical that triggers lipid peroxidation reactions appears to vary depending on the ferroptotic stimulus. The destruction of mitochondrial morphology, represented by fragmentation, cristae disappearance, and volume reduction, is a hallmark of ferroptotic cells (Dixon et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2020; Oh et al. 2022). Given that the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) is considered to be the major source for the electron leak (Wong et al. 2017), it is conceivable that leaked electrons along with oxygen molecules form oxygen radicals that are responsible for the lipid peroxidation and consequent mitochondrial destruction. The inhibition of ETC complexes decreases mitochondrial membrane potential, which

is elevated upon ferroptotic stimuli, and suppresses cell death (Gao et al. 2019). Then, the use of specific inhibitors that suppress the leakage of electrons from each ETC complex without otherwise altering energy metabolism demonstrated that electrons leaked from ETC III but not from ETC I mainly contribute to the ferroptosis caused by cultivation under cystine-deprived conditions (Homma et al. 2021). Contrary to these results, however, the inhibition of ETC I in melanoma cells reportedly triggers the production of ROS and results in ferroptosis (Basit et al. 2017). These observations imply that radical sources for ferroptosis may differ depending on type of cell and the ferroptotic stimuli.

9.3.3 Sources of Free Iron in Mitochondrial

While free iron is released upon ferritinophagy, the source of the iron for lipid peroxidation within mitochondria remains ambiguous. In normal proliferating cells, iron is transferred from the cytosol to mitochondria after ferritinophagy to meet the demand for heme and [Fe-S] cluster formation. Mitochondria carry a unique ferritin, which stores iron and has a high structural similarity to cytosolic ferritin (Levi et al. 2021). The excessive degradation of mitochondrial ferritin by proteases may release free iron, which would result in ferroptosis through accleration in lipid peroxidation. Consistent with this possibility, the overexpression of mitochondrial ferritin alleviates erastin-induced ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2016) and cerebral damage caused by ischemia/reperfusion (Wang et al. 2021). Information on mitochondrial ferritin with respect to ferroptosis is still limited, and further investigations are needed to determine the significance of this mitochondrial iron-storage protein.

Cellular iron auxotrophy is controlled by the iron regulatory protein 1 (IRP1) which contains [4Fe-4S] clusters with a high susceptibility to cellular iron status. Under an iron insufficiency, the release of one iron atom from the [4Fe-4S] cluster causes cytosolic IRP1 to bind to the iron-responsive element in the mRNA that encodes for iron-metabolizing proteins, which results in regulation of the translation and the stability of the mRNA (Rouault 2006). Meanwhile, mitochondrial IRP2 acts as aconitase, which catalyzes the conjugation of oxaloacetate and the acetyl group of acetyl-CoA in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. While iron in the form of heme and [Fe-S] clusters associated with proteins are generally not directly involved in radical formation, reactive oxygen and nitrogen oxide species may cause the release of iron from [Fe-S] cluster in proteins (Gardner et al. 1994; Castro et al. 2019). The reaction of ROS with aconitase releases ferrous iron and hydrogen peroxide, which results in the remodeling of the carbon metabolism by the TCA cycle, as typically observed in M1-polarized macrophages (O'Neill and Artyomov 2019). Succinate dehydrogenase, another enzyme in the TCA cycle, contains three [Fe-S] clusters, [2Fe-2S], [3Fe-4S], and [4Fe-4S], and is sensitive to inactivation by superoxide as well as itaconate, a metabolite produced via the broken TCA cycle in M1 macrophages. While TCA cycle remodeling causes phenotypic changes in the cells, little interest has developed regarding the released iron so far. This is because macrophages are known to be resistant to ferroptosis. Macrophages have unique iron



Fig. 9.3 A hypothetical mechanism for cell proliferation-associated lipid peroxidation in mitochondria. Superoxide is produced in proliferating cells due to active respiration

exclusion systems, the lysosomal iron pump protein natural resistance-associated macrophage protein 1 (Nramp1), and the iron export protein ferroportin, which may decrease the toxicity of iron (Haschka et al. 2021). Given that mitochondrial destruction is one of hallmarks of ferroptosis in ordinary cells and aconitase is present in abundant levels, it can be speculated that the released iron from [Fe-S] clusters and radicals that have leaked from ETC may coordinately be involved in lipid peroxidation in the mitochondrial membrane (Fujii et al. 2022). Based on this assumption, we propose a hypothetical model in which ROS originated from ETC attacks on the [4Fe-4S] cluster in aconitase 2, releases ferrous iron together with hydrogen peroxide, and collectively causes lipid peroxidation under a Cys deficiency (Fig. 9.3). Consistent with this notion, the [Fe-S] cluster assembly protein ISCU regulates iron status in mitochondria and suppresses the ferroptosis that is induced by dihydroartemisinin (Du et al. 2019). Cys desulfurase NFS1 which transfers sulfur from Cys for assembling [Fe-S] also suppresses ferroptosis in lung tumor cells (Alvarez et al. 2017). Modulating the assembly of [Fe-S] clusters by the cysteine desulfurase complex is activated by frataxin, which also results in the suppression of ferroptosis (Du et al. 2020). Other [Fe-S] cluster proteins may also be involved in this scenario. For example, proteins with CDGSH iron sulfur domains (CISDs) are proteins with [2Fe-2S] clusters and may be responsible for the [2Fe-2S]cluster relay between mitochondria and other cellular components (Mittler et al. 2019). While CISD1 and CISD3 stimulate ferroptosis, CIDS2 appears to confer resistance to ferroptosis (Tang et al. 2019). Since the functions of these proteins that are associated with ferroptosis are vague at this moment, this issue needs further clarification.

Because [4Fe-4S] clusters in aconitase are prone to oxidative damage, ferrous iron along with hydrogen peroxide is released. The [4Fe-4S] cluster can be reconstructed by means of Cys desulfurase (NFS1) and the [Fe-S] cluster assembly protein (ISCU) in the presence of sufficient Cys. However, this process is dysfunctional when sufficient amounts of Cys are not available. As a result, released iron together with hydrogen peroxide may stimulate lipid peroxidation, leading to the destruction of the mitochondrial membrane structure.

9.4 Future Mission of Ferroptosis Research

Rapid advances in ferroptosis research would provide clues for the treatment of ferroptosis-related diseases by modulating the pathways. For the purpose of understanding and the early diagnosis of such diseases, the development of a simple and reliable method for the in situ identification of ferroptotic cells is awaited. On the other hand, the induction of ferroptosis may be a promising approach for the treatment of malignant tumors that are resistant to apoptosis (Viswanathan et al. 2017; Hangauer et al. 2017).

9.4.1 Approach to Detect Ferroptotic Cells In Situ

Apoptosis is typically executed by caspases that are activated through death receptor- or apoptosome-involved pathways and is responsible for a variety of physiological and pathological functions in the body (Nagata 2018). The detection of cleaved caspases by the antibodies and cleaved DNA by means of the TUNEL method are quite useful for in situ detection. Studies using cell culture systems have greatly contributed to the clarification of machineries responsible for ferroptosis; however, several problems associated with applying these findings to the pathological diagnosis of ferroptosis-related diseases have emerged. The identification of ferroptotic cells in situ would be of prime importance for the diagnosis of such diseases, but there appears to be no simple methods available for accomplishing this so far.

For the purpose of detecting ferroptotic cells in situ, it would be advantageous to establish specific antibodies for this purpose. 4-Hydroxy-4-nonenal (HNE) and related aldehydes are produced in lipid peroxidation reactions and, hence, can be regarded as a marker for ferroptotic cells (Toyokuni 2016; Saito 2021). These aldehydes are common products of the lipid peroxidation reactions under oxidative stress, but may not be formed at early process of ferroptosis. We attempted to establish monoclonal antibodies raised against ferroptotic cells, which were prepared by cultivation in the absence of cystine. One antibody, designated as FerAb, appears to recognize cells upon several ferroptotic stimuli, although the antigenic structure remains unidentified (Kobayashi et al. 2021). FerAb also recognizes HNE-modified proteins, but the cellular localization of the possible antigenic molecule appears to

differ from that of anti-HNE. FerAb could distinguish ferroptotic cells without fixation by means of a fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS) (Homma et al. 2022b). The nature of this antibody would be beneficial because artifacts that may be produced during fixation can be avoided. Thus, FerAb appears to be one of the first generation antibodies that rather specifically detects ferroptotic cells. While the characterization of FerAb is still ongoing, the development of specific antibodies and the identification of their antigenic structures could facilitate the diagnosis of ferroptotic cells in situ.

9.4.2 Prevention and Treatment of Ferroptosis-related Diseases

Ferroptosis underlies the pathogenesis of many diseases, such as neurodegeneration and ischemic organ injuries, and, therefore, needs to be prevented for the sake of a healthy subject. Gene products, such as ACSL4, are involved in the execution of ferroptosis, but also have roles in normal physiology. Hence, their inhibition can suppress the ferroptosis-associated pathological state, but may also affect the physiological functions of ordinary cells. It would be more advantageous to scavenge radicals, which initiate or continue the chain reaction associated with lipid peroxidation, by means of natural or synthetic radical-scavenging compounds. For example, nitric oxide is inhaled for the treatment of certain respiratory diseases. Therapeutic effects of nitric oxide on some pulmonary injuries may be partly attributed to chainterminating reactions, in addition to improving blood circulation.

Cancer cells that are less sensitive to apoptosis-inducing drugs have been reported to be susceptible to ferroptosis (Viswanathan et al. 2017; Hangauer et al. 2017). While Cys deprivation is effective in inducing ferroptosis in vitro, it may not be an ideal approach in vivo because Cys plays requisite roles in the redox homeostasis of all types of cells. Quiescent cancer cells, as represented by cancer stem cells, tend to be resistant to the treatment and may cause recurrence (Liang and Kaufmann 2023). For the purpose of the treatment of such cancer cells that are quiescent due to a Met insufficiency (Kaiser 2020), the administration of pharmacological doses of Met/SAM along with ferroptosis-inducing drugs may increase the efficacy of the cancer treatment by stimulating cell death.

References

- Alvarez SW, Sviderskiy VO, Terzi EM, Papagiannakopoulos T, Moreira AL, Adams S, Sabatini DM, Birsoy K, Possemato R (2017) NFS1 undergoes positive selection in lung tumours and protects cells from ferroptosis. Nature 551(7682):639–643
- Badgley MA, Kremer DM, Maurer HC, DelGiorno KE, Lee HJ, Purohit V, Sagalovskiy IR, Ma A, Kapilian J, Firl CEM, Decker AR, Sastra SA, Palermo CF, Andrade LR, Sajjakulnukit P, Zhang L, Tolstyka ZP, Hirschhorn T, Lamb C, Liu T, Gu W, Seeley ES, Stone E, Georgiou G, Manor U, Iuga A, Wahl GM, Stockwell BR, Lyssiotis CA, Olive KP (2020) Cysteine depletion induces pancreatic tumor ferroptosis in mice. Science 368(6486):85–89

- Badu-Boateng C, Naftalin RJ (2019) Ascorbate and ferritin interactions: Consequences for iron release in vitro and in vivo and implications for inflammation. Free Radic Biol Med 133:75–87
- Banjac A, Perisic T, Sato H, Seiler A, Bannai S, Weiss N, Kölle P, Tschoep K, Issels RD, Daniel PT, Conrad M, Bornkamm GW (2008) The cystine/cysteine cycle: a redox cycle regulating susceptibility versus resistance to cell death. Oncogene 27(11):1618–1628
- Barayeu U, Schilling D, Eid M, Xavier da Silva TN, Schlicker L, Mitreska N, Zapp C, Gräter F, Miller AK, Kappl R, Schulze A, Friedmann Angeli JP, Dick TP (2023) Hydropersulfides inhibit lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis by scavenging radicals. Nat Chem Biol 19(1):28–37
- Basit F, van Oppen LM, Schöckel L, Bossenbroek HM, van Emst-de Vries SE, Hermeling JC, Grefte S, Kopitz C, Heroult M, Hgm Willems P, Koopman WJ (2017) Mitochondrial complex I inhibition triggers a mitophagy-dependent ROS increase leading to necroptosis and ferroptosis in melanoma cells. Cell Death Dis 8(3):e2716
- Beharier O, Tyurin VA, Goff JP, Guerrero-Santoro J, Kajiwara K, Chu T, Tyurina YY, St Croix CM, Wallace CT, Parry S, Parks WT, Kagan VE, Sadovsky Y (2020) PLA2G6 guards placental trophoblasts against ferroptotic injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(44):27319–27328
- Benatzy Y, Palmer MA, Brüne B (2022) Arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase type B: regulation, function, and its role in pathophysiology. Front Pharmacol 13:1042420
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692
- Buettner GR (1993) The pecking order of free radicals and antioxidants: lipid peroxidation, α -tocopherol, and ascorbate. Arch Biochem Biophys 300:535–543
- Castro L, Tórtora V, Mansilla S, Radi R (2019) Aconitases: non-redox iron-sulfur proteins sensitive to reactive species. Acc Chem Res 52(9):2609–2619
- Chen Z, Zhang Y (2020) Role of Mammalian DNA methyltransferases in development. Annu Rev Biochem 89:135–158
- Chen Q, Espey MG, Sun AY, Lee JH, Krishna MC, Shacter E, Choyke PL, Pooput C, Kirk KL, Buettner GR, Levine M (2007) Ascorbate in pharmacologic concentrations selectively generates ascorbate radical and hydrogen peroxide in extracellular fluid in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(21):8749–8754
- Chen T, Hevi S, Gay F, Tsujimoto N, He T, Zhang B, Ueda Y, Li E (2007b) Complete inactivation of DNMT1 leads to mitotic catastrophe in human cancer cells. Nat Genet 39(3):391–396
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021) Cellular degradation systems in ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ 28(4):1135–1148
- Chen D, Chu B, Yang X, Liu Z, Jin Y, Kon N, Rabadan R, Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Gu W (2021a) iPLA2β-mediated lipid detoxification controls p53-driven ferroptosis independent of GPX4. Nat Commun 12(1):3644
- Chu B, Kon N, Chen D, Li T, Liu T, Jiang L, Song S, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) ALOX12 is required for p53-mediated tumour suppression through a distinct ferroptosis pathway. Nat Cell Biol 21(5):579–591
- Conrad M, Sato H (2012) The oxidative stress-inducible cystine/glutamate antiporter, system x (c) (-) : cystine supplier and beyond. Amino Acids 42:231–246
- Cramer SL, Saha A, Liu J, Tadi S, Tiziani S, Yan W, Triplett K, Lamb C, Alters SE, Rowlinson S, Zhang YJ, Keating MJ, Huang P, DiGiovanni J, Georgiou G, Stone E (2017) Systemic depletion of L-cyst(e)ine with cyst(e)inase increases reactive oxygen species and suppresses tumor growth. Nat Med 23(1):120–127
- Deshwal S, Onishi M, Tatsuta T, Bartsch T, Cors E, Ried K, Lemke K, Nolte H, Giavalisco P, Langer T (2023) Mitochondria regulate intracellular coenzyme Q transport and ferroptotic resistance via STARD7. Nat Cell Biol 25(2):246–257
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cells 149:1060–1072

- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trümbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Füllekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698
- Du J, Wang T, Li Y, Zhou Y, Wang X, Yu X, Ren X, An Y, Wu Y, Sun W, Fan W, Zhu Q, Wang Y, Tong X (2019) DHA inhibits proliferation and induces ferroptosis of leukemia cells through autophagy dependent degradation of ferritin. Free Radic Biol Med 131:356–369
- Du J, Zhou Y, Li Y, Xia J, Chen Y, Chen S, Wang X, Sun W, Wang T, Ren X, Wang X, An Y, Lu K, Hu W, Huang S, Li J, Tong X, Wang Y (2020) Identification of Frataxin as a regulator of ferroptosis. Redox Biol 32:101483
- Duffy DL, Zhu G, Li X, Sanna M, Iles MM, Jacobs LC, Evans DM, Yazar S, Beesley J, Law MH, Kraft P, Visconti A, Taylor JC, Liu F, Wright MJ, Henders AK, Bowdler L, Glass D, Ikram MA, Uitterlinden AG, Madden PA, Heath AC, Nelson EC, Green AC, Chanock S, Barrett JH, Brown MA, Hayward NK, MacGregor S, Sturm RA, Hewitt AW, Melanoma GWAS Consortium, Kayser M, Hunter DJ, Newton Bishop JA, Spector TD, Montgomery GW, Mackey DA, Smith GD, Nijsten TE, Bishop DT, Bataille V, Falchi M, Han J, Martin NG (2018) Novel pleiotropic risk loci for melanoma and nevus density implicate multiple biological pathways. Nat Commun 9(1):4774
- Filipovic MR, Zivanovic J, Alvarez B, Banerjee R (2018) Chemical biology of H₂S signaling through persulfidation. Chem Rev 118(3):1253–1337
- Finkel T (2011) Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species. J Cell Biol 194(1):7-15
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Rådmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Förster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16:1180–1191
- Fujii J, Homma T, Kobayashi S (2020) Ferroptosis caused by cysteine insufficiency and oxidative insult. Free Radic Res 54(11–12):969–980
- Fujii J, Homma T, Osaki T (2022) Superoxide radicals in the execution of cell death. Antioxidants (Basel) 11(3):501
- Gan B (2021) Mitochondrial regulation of ferroptosis. J Cell Biol 220(9):e202105043
- Gao M, Yi J, Zhu J, Minikes AM, Monian P, Thompson CB, Jiang X (2019) Role of Mitochondria in Ferroptosis. Mol Cell 73(2):354–363
- Gardner PR, Nguyen DD, White CW (1994) Aconitase is a sensitive and critical target of oxygen poisoning in cultured mammalian cells and in rat lungs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:12248–12252
- Hangauer MJ, Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Bole D, Eaton JK, Matov A, Galeas J, Dhruv HD, Berens ME, Schreiber SL, McCormick F, McManus MT (2017) Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition. Nature 551(7679):247–250
- Haschka D, Hoffmann A, Weiss G (2021) Iron in immune cell function and host defense. Semin Cell Dev Biol 115:27–36
- Havens CG, Ho A, Yoshioka N, Dowdy SF (2006) Regulation of late G1/S phase transition and APC Cdh1 by reactive oxygen species. Mol Cell Biol 26(12):4701–4711
- Homma T, Kobayashi S, Sato H, Fujii J (2021) Superoxide produced by mitochondrial complex III plays a pivotal role in the execution of ferroptosis induced by cysteine starvation. Arch Biochem Biophys 700:108775

- Homma T, Kobayashi S, Fujii J (2022a) Methionine deprivation reveals the pivotal roles of cell cycle progression in ferroptosis that is induced by cysteine starvation. Cells 11(10):1603
- Homma T, Nishino Y, Fujii J, Yokoyama C (2022b) Flow cytometric determination of ferroptosis using a rat monoclonal antibody raised against ferroptotic cells. J Immunol Methods 510: 113358
- Ishimoto T, Nagano O, Yae T, Tamada M, Motohara T, Oshima H, Oshima M, Ikeda T, Asaba R, Yagi H, Masuko T, Shimizu T, Ishikawa T, Kai K, Takahashi E, Imamura Y, Baba Y, Ohmura M, Suematsu M, Baba H, Saya H (2011) CD44 variant regulates redox status in cancer cells by stabilizing the xCT subunit of system xc(-) and thereby promotes tumor growth. Cancer Cell 19:387–400
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayır H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90
- Kaiser P (2020) Methionine dependence of cancer. Biomolecules 10(4):568
- Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2019) The tumor suppressor protein p53 and the ferroptosis network. Free Radic Biol Med 133:162–168
- Kobayashi S, Harada Y, Homma T, Yokoyama C, Fujii J (2021) Characterization of a rat monoclonal antibody raised against ferroptotic cells. J Immunol Methods 489:112912
- Kraft VAN, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Müller C, Zandkarimi F, Merl-Pham J, Bao X, Anastasov N, Kössl J, Brandner S, Daniels JD, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Hauck SM, Stockwell BR, Hadian K, Schick JA (2020) GTP cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract ferroptosis through lipid remodeling. ACS Cent Sci 6(1):41–53
- Latunde-Dada GO (2017) Ferroptosis: role of lipid peroxidation, iron and ferritinophagy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1861(8):1893–1900
- Lee J, Roh JL (2022) SLC7A11 as a gateway of metabolic perturbation and ferroptosis vulnerability in cancer. Antioxidants (Basel) 11(12):2444
- Lee J, Kang ES, Kobayashi S, Homma T, Sato H, Seo HG, Fujii J (2017) The viability of primary hepatocytes is maintained under a low cysteine-glutathione redox state with a marked elevation in ophthalmic acid production. Exp Cell Res 361(1):178–191
- Levi S, Ripamonti M, Dardi M, Cozzi A, Santambrogio P (2021, 1969) Mitochondrial ferritin: its role in physiological and pathological conditions. Cells 10(8)
- Liang L, Kaufmann AM (2023) The significance of cancer stem cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in metastasis and anti-cancer therapy. Int J Mol Sci 24(3):2555
- Masaldan S, Bush AI, Devos D, Rolland AS, Moreau C (2019) Striking while the iron is hot: iron metabolism and ferroptosis in neurodegeneration. Free Radic Biol Med 133:221–233
- McBean GJ (2012) The transsulfuration pathway: a source of cysteine for glutathione in astroytes. Amino Acids 42:199–205
- Meacham CE, DeVilbiss AW, Morrison SJ (2022) Metabolic regulation of somatic stem cells in vivo. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 23(6):428–443
- Mishima E, Ito J, Wu Z, Nakamura T, Wahida A, Doll S, Tonnus W, Nepachalovich P, Eggenhofer E, Aldrovandi M, Henkelmann B, Yamada KI, Wanninger J, Zilka O, Sato E, Feederle R, Hass D, Maida A, Mourão ASD, Linkermann A, Geissler EK, Nakagawa K, Abe T, Fedorova M, Proneth B, Pratt DA, Conrad M (2022) A non-canonical vitamin K cycle is a potent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 608(7924):778–783
- Mittler R, Darash-Yahana M, Sohn YS, Bai F, Song L, Cabantchik IZ, Jennings PA, Onuchic JN, Nechushtai R (2019) NEET proteins: a new link between iron metabolism, reactive oxygen species, and cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal 30(8):1083–1095
- Nagata S (2018) Apoptosis and clearance of apoptotic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 36:489-517

- Niki E (2009) Lipid peroxidation: physiological levels and dual biological effects. Free Radic Biol Med 47(5):469–484
- Nowosad A, Besson A (2022) Lysosomes at the crossroads of cell metabolism, cell cycle, and stemness. Int J Mol Sci 23(4):2290
- O'Neill LAJ, Artyomov MN (2019) Itaconate: the poster child of metabolic reprogramming in macrophage function. Nat Rev Immunol 19(5):273–281
- Odle RI, Walker SA, Oxley D, Kidger AM, Balmanno K, Gilley R, Okkenhaug H, Florey O, Ktistakis NT, Cook SJ (2020) An mTORC1-to-CDK1 switch maintains autophagy suppression during mitosis. Mol Cell 77(2):228–240
- Oh SJ, Ikeda M, Ide T, Hur KY, Lee MS (2022) Mitochondrial event as an ultimate step in ferroptosis. Cell Death Discov 8(1):414
- Ou Y, Wang SJ, Li D, Chu B, Gu W (2016) Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(44):E6806–E6812
- Pader I, Sengupta R, Cebula M, Xu J, Lundberg JO, Holmgren A, Johansson K, Arnér ES (2014) Thioredoxin-related protein of 14 kDa is an efficient L-cystine reductase and S-denitrosylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(19):6964–6969
- Patterson JC, Joughin BA, van de Kooij B, Lim DC, Lauffenburger DA, Yaffe MB (2019) ROS and oxidative stress are elevated in mitosis during asynchronous cell cycle progression and are exacerbated by mitotic arrest. Cell Syst 8(2):163–167
- Rodencal J, Dixon SJ (2022) A tale of two lipids: Lipid unsaturation commands ferroptosis sensitivity. Proteomics 23:e2100308
- Rouault TA (2006) The role of iron regulatory proteins in mammalian iron homeostasis and disease. Nat Chem Biol 2:406–414
- Saito Y (2021) Lipid peroxidation products as a mediator of toxicity and adaptive response The regulatory role of selenoprotein and vitamin E. Arch Biochem Biophys 703:108840
- Sato H, Shiiya A, Kimata M, Maebara K, Tamba M, Sakakura Y, Makino N, Sugiyama F, Yagami K, Moriguchi T, Takahashi S, Bannai S (2005) Redox imbalance in cystine/glutamate transporter-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 280(45):37423–37429
- Seibt TM, Proneth B, Conrad M (2019) Role of GPX4 in ferroptosis and its pharmacological implication. Free Radic Biol Med 133:144–152
- Shintoku R, Takigawa Y, Yamada K, Kubota C, Yoshimoto Y, Takeuchi T, Koshiishi I, Torii S (2017) Lipoxygenase-mediated generation of lipid peroxides enhances ferroptosis induced by erastin and RSL3. Cancer Sci 108(11):2187–2194
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421
- Stoyanovsky DA, Tyurina YY, Shrivastava I, Bahar I, Tyurin VA, Protchenko O, Jadhav S, Bolevich SB, Kozlov AV, Vladimirov YA, Shvedova AA, Philpott CC, Bayir H, Kagan VE (2019) Iron catalysis of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis: Regulated enzymatic or random free radical reaction? Free Radic Biol Med 133:153–161
- Sun WY, Tyurin VA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Anthonymuthu TS, Zhai YJ, Pan MH, Gong HB, Lu DH, Sun J, Duan WJ, Korolev S, Abramov AY, Angelova PR, Miller I, Beharier O, Mao GW, Dar HH, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Hastings TG, Greenamyre TJ, Chu CT, Sadovsky Y, Bahar I, Bayır H, Tyurina YY, He RR, Kagan VE (2021) Phospholipase iPLA₂β averts ferroptosis by eliminating a redox lipid death signal. Nat Chem Biol 17(4): 465–476
- Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G (2019) The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res 29(5):347–364
- Tarangelo A, Magtanong L, Bieging-Rolett KT, Li Y, Ye J, Attardi LD, Dixon SJ (2018) p53 suppresses metabolic stress-induced ferroptosis in cancer cells. Cell Rep 22(3):569–575
- Toyokuni S (2016) The origin and future of oxidative stress pathology: From the recognition of carcinogenesis as an iron addiction with ferroptosis-resistance to non-thermal plasma therapy. Pathol Int 66(5):245–259
- Toyokuni S, Ito F, Yamashita K, Okazaki Y, Akatsuka S (2017) Iron and thiol redox signaling in cancer: an exquisite balance to escape ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 108:610–626
- Ursini F, Maiorino M (2020) Lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis: the role of GSH and GPx4. Free Radic Biol 152:175–185
- Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Dhruv HD, Gill S, Eichhoff OM, Seashore-Ludlow B, Kaffenberger SD, Eaton JK, Shimada K, Aguirre AJ, Viswanathan SR, Chattopadhyay S, Tamayo P, Yang WS, Rees MG, Chen S, Boskovic ZV, Javaid S, Huang C, Wu X, Tseng YY, Roider EM, Gao D, Cleary JM, Wolpin BM, Mesirov JP, Haber DA, Engelman JA, Boehm JS, Kotz JD, Hon CS, Chen Y, Hahn WC, Levesque MP, Doench JG, Berens ME, Shamji AF, Clemons PA, Stockwell BR, Schreiber SL (2017) Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. Nature 547(7664):453–457
- Wang X, Quinn PJ (1999) Vitamin E and its function in membranes. Prog Lipid Res 38(4):309-336
- Wang YQ, Chang SY, Wu Q, Gou YJ, Jia L, Cui YM, Yu P, Shi ZH, Wu WS, Gao G, Chang YZ (2016) The protective role of mitochondrial ferritin on erastin-induced ferroptosis. Front Aging Neurosci 8:308
- Wang GF, Dong Q, Bai Y, Yuan J, Xu Q, Cao C, Liu X (2017) Oxidative stress induces mitotic arrest by inhibiting Aurora A-involved mitotic spindle formation. Free Radic Biol Med 103: 177–187
- Wang H, Liu C, Zhao Y, Gao G (2020) Mitochondria regulation in ferroptosis. Eur J Cell Biol 99(1):151058
- Wang P, Cui Y, Ren Q, Yan B, Zhao Y, Yu P, Gao G, Shi H, Chang S, Chang YZ (2021) Mitochondrial ferritin attenuates cerebral ischaemia/reperfusion injury by inhibiting ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 12(5):44
- Wong HS, Dighe PA, Mezera V, Monternier PA, Brand MD (2017) Production of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide from specific mitochondrial sites under different bioenergetic conditions. J Biol Chem 292(41):16804–16809
- Wu Z, Geng Y, Lu X, Shi Y, Wu G, Zhang M, Shan B, Pan H, Yuan J (2019) Chaperone-mediated autophagy is involved in the execution of ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(8): 2996–2300
- Wu Z, Khodade VS, Chauvin JR, Rodriguez D, Toscano JP, Pratt DA (2022) Hydropersulfides inhibit lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis by scavenging radicals. J Am Chem Soc 144(34): 15825–15837
- Yamamoto M, Kensler TW, Motohashi H (2018) The KEAP1-NRF2 system: a thiol-based sensoreffector apparatus for maintaining redox homeostasis. Physiol Rev 98(3):1169–1203
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343
- Zhang HL, Hu BX, Li ZL, Du T, Shan JL, Ye ZP, Peng XD, Li X, Huang Y, Zhu XY, Chen YH, Feng GK, Yang D, Deng R, Zhu XF (2022) PKCβII phosphorylates ACSL4 to amplify lipid peroxidation to induce ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):88–98



The NRF2-anti-ferroptosis Axis in Health and Disease

Matthew Dodson, Aryatara Shakya, Jinjing Chen, Wei-Tai Chen, Nicholas W. McKee, and Donna D. Zhang

Abstract

Despite a common endpoint, how a cell dies is dictated by the initiating stressor and downstream effectors that govern the pro-death response. One recently identified mode of cell death is ferroptosis, an iron- and lipid peroxidationdriven death cascade that is morphologically distinct from apoptotic, necrotic, and autophagic cell death. While the name "ferroptosis" was just recently coined in 2012, evidence supporting the existence of this pathway dates back several decades. Importantly, though ferroptosis was initially identified as a means to kill apoptosis-resistant cancer cells, its relevance in other pathological contexts continues to emerge. One critical deterrent to ferroptotic cell death is the transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), which controls the expression of several key anti-ferroptotic mediators. Although the ability of NRF2 to prevent ferroptotic death was initially thought to derive primarily from its mediation of the antioxidant response, recent evidence has revealed NRF2 regulation of iron homeostasis and lipid peroxide reduction also plays a pivotal role. Here, we will provide a brief overview of the ferroptosis and NRF2 pathways, including the NRF2-mediated transcriptional programs that have been implicated in regulating the ferroptosis cascade. Additionally, we will discuss the evolving pathological relevance of ferroptosis, including how

M. Dodson · A. Shakya · J. Chen · W.-T. Chen · N. W. McKee

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, College of Pharmacy, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

D. D. Zhang (🖂)

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, College of Pharmacy, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Arizona Cancer Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA e-mail: dzhang@pharmacy.arizona.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_10

modulation of NRF2 has been shown to affect ferroptotic death, and what the future holds for this critical axis of cell survival.

10.1 Introduction

The balance between life and death in the cell is governed by an intricate network of signaling pathways that intertwine to activate or suppress a given cellular response depending on the initiating signal. In the case of programmed cell death, the upstream stressor plays a large part in determining the downstream death cascade that is initiated. Accordingly, an increasing number of cell death pathways have been identified, evolving from the initially recognized 3 morphotypes (i.e., apoptosis, autophagic cell death, and necrosis) to 12 distinct modes of cell death (Galluzzi et al. 2018). This infers that while the outcome may be the same, the steps and effectors needed to reach the death endpoint can differ greatly depending on the context and stress involved. Perhaps one of the more intriguing death cascades to recently emerge is ferroptosis, which requires both an excess of iron and lipid peroxides to take place. While ferroptosis was initially characterized as a novel mode of cell death in apoptosis-resistant cancer cells, its pathological relevance continues to emerge across other disease contexts as well, including neurodegeneration, diabetes, autoimmune disorders, ischemic injury, cardiovascular disease, and chronic liver disease (Jiang et al. 2021; Stockwell 2022; Anandhan et al. 2020; Tang et al. 2021). Additionally, an increasing number of pro- and anti-ferroptotic effectors continue to be discovered, further enhancing our understanding of the complexity of this death cascade.

Importantly, much like the other identified modes of programmed cell death, initiation of ferroptosis is mediated by a system of checks and balances that ensure it occurs only when certain conditions are met. At its core, these conditions can be broken down into two primary components: 1) increased lipid peroxidation, which can occur both enzymatically and nonenzymatically, and 2) an accumulation of labile, redox-active ferrous iron, which catalyzes the formation of harmful radicals via the Fenton reaction. Despite the seemingly simple combination of events needed for ferroptosis to occur, the possible causative factors that can lead to alterations in lipid peroxidation and the labile iron pool are quite complex. Thus, determining the pathological mechanisms that drive these key hallmarks of ferroptotic death, both in a cancer context and beyond, continues to represent an area of active interest. Critically, the expression of most of the anti-ferroptotic mitigators identified to date are mediated by the transcription factor, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2). As such, it is not surprising that NRF2 has continued to emerge as a primary target for activating or inhibiting ferroptosis depending on the pathological setting. In this chapter, we will briefly introduce the ferroptosis and NRF2 cascades, including a detailed overview of the NRF2 transcriptional targets that mediate ferroptosis. Finally, we will highlight evidence in the literature indicating that NRF2 plays an important role in determining ferroptotic fate across a variety of pathological contexts and conclude with a discussion on what the future holds for the NRF2-ferroptosis field.

10.2 A Brief History of Ferroptosis

Similar to the inception of other areas of scientific research, the field of ferroptosis arose from efforts to solve an unsolved problem, i.e., overcoming acquired apoptosis-resistance in aggressive cancer subtypes. In fact, one of the basic tenets of the recently expanded hallmarks of cancer originally laid out by Hanahan and Weinberg is resisting cell death (Hanahan 2022), which has represented a significant obstacle to the generation of successful cancer therapeutics for decades. It was in this vein that Stockwell's group set out to screen for compounds capable of killing apoptosis-resistant cancer cells; in this case, those harboring oncogenic RAS mutations that facilitate their continued survival. It was in the early days of these screening attempts that erastin (Eradicator of RAS and ST-expressing cells) was discovered, which caused cell death in the absence of any indicators of apoptosis (Dolma et al. 2003). From there, Stockwell's group began to identify the fundamental aspects of this newly identified mode of cell death, showing in 2007 that erastin-induced cell death was oxidative by nature and could be reversed by the administration of lipophilic antioxidants, indicating the importance of membrane lipid peroxidation in driving this cascade. This same study also identified the first targets of erastin, voltage-dependent anion channel 2 and 3 (VDAC2/3), which at the time made sense based on the notion that mitochondrial dysfunction could produce the reactive species needed to promote membrane peroxidation (Yagoda et al. 2007). Later, in 2008, Stockwell's group discovered two homologous compounds that induced non-apoptotic death in a manner similar to erastin, which they named RSL3/5. They also demonstrated that iron chelation using deferoxamine could reverse both erastin and RSL3-induced cell death (Yang and Stockwell 2008), which was one of the earliest indications that iron accumulation, along with the already established increase in lipid peroxidation, was also a critical driver of this type of death. It is important to note that while the initial discoveries regarding erastin and RSL3 were being made, Marcus Conrad's group independently showed in 2008 that genetic ablation of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) in vitro, a critical enzyme that reduces lipid peroxides, also resulted in non-apoptotic cell death, which would also later prove to be an important early finding in the field (Seiler et al. 2008).

All of these discoveries led to one of the seminal moments in the field, the 2012 coining of the term "ferroptosis" for this newly identified mode of non-apoptotic cell death. The name arose following the definitive demonstration by Dixon and Stockwell that iron-dependent lipid peroxidation was promoting erastin-induced cancer cell death, a phenomenon also observed in glutamate-treated ex vivo brain slices, in a manner that was morphologically and molecularly distinct from apoptosis, autophagic cell death, and necrosis (Dixon et al. 2012). Furthermore, erastin, much like an excess of glutamate, was shown to inhibit system xc-, a cystine-glutamate antiporter, resulting in glutathione (GSH) depletion, increased oxidative

stress, and decreased function of critical antioxidant enzymes that use GSH as a cofactor. One such enzyme is GPX4, whose ferroptosis relevance was solidified in a series of 2014 studies, where it was identified as the target of RSL3, and Conrad's group showed that genetic ablation of Gpx4 led to increased lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis-driven acute kidney failure in mice (Yang et al. 2014; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). Over the next few years, several enzymatic sources of lipid peroxidation were also shown to be associated with ferroptosis induction, including lipoxygenases 5, 12, and 15 (ALOX5/12/15), prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2/COX-2), as well as the lipid metabolizing enzymes acyl-CoA synthetase long chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) (Yang et al. 2014; Dixon et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2016; Yuan et al. 2016). In 2016, it was also shown that nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4)dependent degradation of ferritin, a process termed ferritinophagy, could result in an increase of labile iron, thus promoting ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2016; Hou et al. 2016). Importantly, this was one of the first mechanistic indications of where the iron that promotes ferroptosis may originate, as up to this point its importance, but not source, was known. Identification of iron and lipid peroxides as drivers of ferroptotic death led to the pursuit of anti-ferroptotic effectors that might function in different intracellular compartments, particularly considering the abundance of phospholipids in the plasma and organellar membranes. This search led to the co-discovery of ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1; previously named AIFM2) in 2019, and dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) in 2021, which suppress lipid peroxidation in the plasma and mitochondrial membranes, respectively (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019; Mao et al. 2021).

The studies included above represent just some of the key findings that served as the foundation for the ongoing development and emergence of the ferroptosis field. As the relevance of this pathway continues to expand, so too will the identification of novel effectors of this critical death cascade. A timeline of key discoveries made to date is provided in Fig. 10.1 (top portion).

10.3 The NRF2 Pathway and Its Relevance to Ferroptosis

Mentioned briefly above, the NRF2 signaling pathway and ferroptosis are intimately linked, as many of the proteins responsible for maintaining iron homeostasis and preventing lipid peroxidation are encoded by NRF2 target genes. NRF2 itself is primarily regulated at the protein level by the Cullin 3-Ring box 1-Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (CUL3-RBX1-KEAP1) E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, which under basal, non-stressed conditions targets NRF2 for proteasomal degradation. However, in the presence of oxidative/electrophilic stress, autophagy dysfunction, or somatic mutations in *NFE2L2*/NRF2 or the genes that encode its degradation machinery, NRF2 can accumulate in the nucleus and activate the transcription of antioxidant response element (ARE)-containing genes (Fig. 10.2). While many of the NRF2 target genes involved in glutathione metabolism, phase I, II, and III xenobiotic detoxification, and iron storage/homeostasis (Fig. 10.2) are relevant in







Fig. 10.2 The NRF2 signaling pathway. NRF2 expression is primarily regulated at the protein level by the CUL3-RBX1-KEAP1 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. Under normal basal conditions, this complex targets NRF2 for degradation by the proteasome. Under stress conditions, NRF2 activation can occur via the canonical pathway (i.e., oxidative/electrophilic modification of KEAP1 cysteines, top left) or the noncanonical pathway (p62-dependent sequestration of KEAP1, top right). Once in the nucleus, NRF2 forms a heterodimer with sMAF proteins and initiates the transcription of ARE-containing genes. Two primary transcriptional programs govern NRF2-dependent regulation of ferroptosis, 1) Iron metabolism (bottom left), and 2) Lipid peroxide reduction (bottom right). Key aspects of NRF2-regulated iron metabolism, including ferritin synthesis, ferritinophagy, and heme metabolism, as well as lipid peroxide reduction, including GSH metabolism, enzymatic production, and reduction of lipid peroxides, as well as conjugation and export are all indicated. All genes indicated in the figure (in bold) are validated NRF2 target genes

a ferroptosis context (discussed in more detail below), there are several transcriptional targets of NRF2 that have been identified over the past two decades that are particularly relevant to the prevention of ferroptosis. One example is *xCT/SLC7A11*, a subunit of the system xc- antiporter, which was initially discovered as an NRF2 target gene in 2002 (Sasaki et al. 2002). In 2012, *AIFM2* (now *FSP1*) and *GPX4* were both identified to contain putative AREs in a series of ChIP-seq studies (Chorley et al. 2012; Hirotsu et al. 2012). However, while a functional ARE in *FSP1* was later validated through additional analysis (Koppula et al. 2022), *GPX4* has yet to be verified. On the other hand, *GPX2*, which unlike its more ubiquitous counterpart *GPX4* is primarily expressed in the gastrointestinal tract and liver, is directly regulated by NRF2 and plays a role in suppressing ferroptosis (Banning et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2017a).

The first indication that NRF2 might play a role in mediating ferroptosis in cancer came from a pair of studies in 2014 and 2016, where elevated expression of the NRF2 target genes aldo-ketoreductase family 1, members C1-3 (AKR1C1-3), and metallothionein-1G (MT-IG) was correlated with resistance to xCT inhibition, and NRF2 was clearly shown to be a critical driver of ferroptosis resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma (Dixon et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2016a, 2016b). In 2021, MGST1 was also identified as an NRF2 target gene that prevents ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells (Kuang et al. 2021). In a recent study conducted by our group, it was demonstrated that NRF2 plays a crucial role in regulating iron homeostasis and ferroptosis by controlling ferritin synthesis (HERC2) and degradation (VAMP8). As such, a combined treatment approach using a ferroptosis inducer and an NRF2 inhibitor has been proposed as a strategy to target ovarian cancer, a refractory malignancy (Anandhan et al. 2023). We also showed that α -synuclein can suppress NRF2 and promote ferroptosis in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease, and that high fat diet-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice involves increased degradation of NRF2 and ferroptotic death (A et al. 2022; Liu et al. 2023). Similar to the ferroptosis discoveries indicated above, key NRF2-related ferroptosis discoveries are summarized in Fig. 10.1 (bottom portion). Overall, NRF2 clearly plays a role in mediating ferroptosis, particularly in the context of cancer cell survival. Below, we will provide a detailed overview of the key anti-ferroptotic transcriptional programs that are governed by the NRF2 signaling pathway.

10.4 NRF2 Regulation of Ferroptosis

As NRF2 has been suggested to regulate upwards of 300 target genes whose functions range from dictating the intracellular redox balance to maintaining protein homeostasis, it is not surprising that many have been linked to ferroptosis. Classifying the key pillars that constitute the NRF2 anti-ferroptotic cascade can vary depending on the ferroptotic response in question; however, it can generally be divided into two major categories: 1) Mitigating lipid peroxidation, and 2) preventing accumulation of labile iron. The following section will introduce the target genes mediated by NRF2 that have been linked to preventing ferroptotic death (summarized in Fig. 10.3).



Fig. 10.3 The NRF2-anti-ferroptotic response. There are two critical drivers of ferroptosis, increased lipid peroxide production and accumulation of labile iron. Excess lipid peroxidation can occur as a result of altered GPX4 activity, decreased xCT function/GSH synthesis, increased Fenton-dependent production of hydroxyl radicals, increased catabolism/anabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and exposure to excess exogenous lipids in the form of high fat diet (HFD). Accumulation of labile iron can result from decreased ferritin synthesis, altered ferritinophagy, changes in iron influx/efflux, or aberrant heme metabolism. Several GSH, phase I/II/III, lipid peroxide reducing, and iron-related enzymes/proteins have been specifically identified to prevent ferroptosis. *Indicates target genes involved in GSH metabolism that are also phase II genes

10.4.1 Lipid Peroxidation

Due to the reactive nature of lipid peroxides, which are capable of damaging DNA, proteins, and membrane lipids, several defense systems are in place to ensure they are properly kept in check. This starts with glutathione (GSH), which is present at millimolar concentrations in most cell types, and thus represents one of the first lines of defense against the harmful effects of reactive species. NRF2 has been shown to regulate every aspect of GSH metabolism, starting with the import of cystine, which passes through NRF2 regulated *xCT/SLC7A11* (one subunit of the system xc-glutamate-cystine antiporter) (Sasaki et al. 2002; Hirotsu et al. 2012), and gets reduced intracellularly to cysteine, the critical amino acid that gives GSH its reducing power. The genes that encode the catalytic (*GCLC*) and modulatory (*GCLM*) subunits of glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL), which joins cysteine to

glutamate in the first step of GSH synthesis, are both NRF2 target genes (Erickson et al. 2002; Yang et al. 2005; Hirotsu et al. 2012; Chorley et al. 2012). Glutathione synthetase (GSS), which adds glycine to the newly formed glutamate-cysteine dipeptide, is also regulated by NRF2 (Lee et al. 2005). Along with its synthesis, the enzyme that reduces glutathione (GSR, glutathione reductase), as well as several enzymatic systems that utilize GSH to reduce peroxides, including thioredoxin reductase 1/thioredoxin 1 (TXNRD1/TXN1), peroxiredoxins 1 and 6 (PRDX1/6), and sulfiredoxin 1 (SRXN1), are all well-established target genes (Harvey et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2003; Sakurai et al. 2005; Kim et al. 2007; Chowdhury et al. 2009; Soriano et al. 2009; Hirotsu et al. 2012; Chorley et al. 2012). Several components of phase, I, II, and III drug/xenobiotic detoxification, which are responsible for reducing, conjugating, and exporting reactive intermediates from the cell, are also regulated by NRF2. This includes phase I enzymes, i.e., aldoketoreductase family C1, members 1–3 (AKR1C1–3), phase II enzymes, including NADPH quinone dehydrogenase 1 (NOO1) and several glutathione-S-transferases (GSTA1-4, MGST1), and phase III multidrug resistance proteins 1-4 (ABCC1-4) (Nioi et al. 2003; Lou et al. 2006; Hirotsu et al. 2012; Kuang et al. 2021; Maher et al. 2007; Itoh et al. 1997). Importantly, many of the aforementioned targets have been linked to ferroptosis in different pathologies, including GCLC/GCLM, SLC7A11, PRDX1/6, SRXN1, TXN1/TXRD1, AKR1C1, ABCC1, and GSTA4/MGST1 (Kang et al. 2021; Nishizawa et al. 2020; Lovatt et al. 2020; Lu et al. 2019; Ding et al. 2022; Bai et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2020; Gagliardi et al. 2019; de Souza et al. 2022; Ide et al. 2022; Kuang et al. 2021). Thus, NRF2 regulation of GSH metabolism and phase I, II, and III xenobiotic detoxification represent a key frontline defense in preventing the accumulation of the reactive species needed to initiate lipid peroxidation and subsequent ferroptotic cell death.

Should excessive lipid peroxidation occur, several NRF2-regulated enzymes have been shown to be critical for reducing lipid peroxides, particularly in the context of ferroptosis. Covered in detail above, glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) was one of the first enzymes linked to lipid peroxidation where loss of function resulted in ferroptotic death. Intriguingly, while the majority of the NRF2 field has considered GPX4 a target gene for the past decade, mostly due to its identification as a putative target gene in an NRF2 ChIP-seq pulldown experiment (Hirotsu et al. 2012), an actual functional ARE has never been fully validated. Thus, while clearly linked to NRF2, its definitive status as a target gene has yet to be verified. Glutathione peroxidase 2 (GPX2), on the other hand, has been validated as a bona fide target gene (Banning et al. 2005) and was recently indicated to be a biomarker of ferroptosis across several different cancer types (Luo et al. 2022; Tian et al. 2021; Ping et al. 2022). Aldehyde dehydrogenase family 1 member 1A (ALDH1A1) was also shown to be a putative target gene (Hirotsu et al. 2012), as well as several enzymes involved in lipogenesis, including peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (PPARG) and nuclear receptor subfamily 0 group B member 2 (NR0B2), which could influence lipid peroxidation through excess lipid production, are also mediated by NRF2 (Cho et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2010; Chorley et al. 2012). Finally, ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) was recently identified to prevent ferroptosis

by controlling reduction of the critical membrane antioxidant CoQ10 (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019). FSP1 was previously known as apoptosis inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (*AIFM2*), which was reported as a possible NRF2 target gene in 2012, and recently validated by Boyi Gan's group (Koppula et al. 2022). Overall, it is clear that NRF2 plays a critical role in not only preventing lipid peroxides from forming, but also detoxifying them should an excess of these harmful lipid species arise.

10.4.2 Iron Metabolism and Homeostasis

The other critical requirement for ferroptotic death is the accumulation of labile. reactive ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}), which drives the Fenton-dependent production of reactive hydroxyl radicals that go on to initiate lipid peroxidation in the plasma and organellar membranes. Under normal conditions, iron import, export, metabolism, and storage are all tightly regulated, in large part to prevent the toxicity associated with excess free iron. Similar to its governance of overall antioxidant maintenance and preventing lipid peroxidation, NRF2 also regulates multiple aspects of iron homeostasis. Perhaps one of the more prevalent sources of NRF2regulated iron processing is heme metabolism, which is mediated by multiple NRF2 targets, including heme oxygenase 1 (HMOX1; converts heme to biliverdin), biliverdin reductase B (BLVRB; converts biliverdin to bilirubin), solute carrier family 48 member A1 (SLC48A1; heme transporter), ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 6 (ABCB6; heme synthesis), and ferrochelatase (FECH; heme synthesis) (Campbell et al. 2013; Chorley et al. 2012; Hirotsu et al. 2012). HMOX1 in particular has been linked to ferroptosis across several pathological contexts (Chiang et al. 2018; Adedovin et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2022f; Fang et al. 2023), inferring that NRF2-dependent maintenance of proper heme metabolism could serve as a critical barrier to ferroptosis initiation.

The iron that is not incorporated into heme/iron-containing proteins or iron-sulfur clusters is stored in the critical iron storage protein ferritin. Ferritin consists of alternating repeats of the ferritin heavy (FTH1) and light (FTL) chains that form a cage with ferric iron (Fe³⁺) at the core. Both FTH1 and FTL are known target genes of NRF2 (Pietsch et al. 2003; Hintze and Theil 2005), indicating that NRF2 is a critical regulator of ferritin synthesis, and thus iron storage. Consistent with this notion, our group recently identified that ferritin stability at the protein level is also regulated by NRF2, as we demonstrated that HECT and RLD domain containing E3 protein ligase 2 (HERC2), an E3 ligase that controls the proteasomal degradation of NCOA4 (ferritinophagy adaptor) and F-box and leucine-rich repeat protein 5 (FBXL5; regulator of IRP1/2), is a direct target gene of NRF2 (Anandhan et al. 2023). Interestingly, while not a direct transcriptional target, we also showed that NRF2 regulated the expression of vesicle-associated membrane protein 8 (VAMP8; required for the final autophagy fusion step to occur) via the lysosomal-mediated transcription factor TFEB, indicating that NRF2 regulation of ferritin degradation can be both direct and indirect. This NRF2-HERC2-VAMP8 axis played a critical role in mediating ovarian cancer cell sensitivity to ferroptosis, further supporting the notion that NRF2 and iron reliance represent targetable vulnerabilities in a cancer setting, particularly in NRF2 hyperactivated, refractory cancers (Rodriguez et al. 2022; Anandhan et al. 2020).

10.5 NRF2 and Ferroptosis in Disease

As mentioned above, the relevance of the NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis in disease was first shown in cancer, but has since expanded to several other pathological contexts. Below, we will highlight some of the acute and chronic pathologies that have been associated with NRF2 prevention of ferroptosis (summarized in Fig. 10.4).

10.5.1 Cancer

Discussed briefly above, the first direct evidence that NRF2 plays an anti-ferroptotic role in cancer was shown in hepatocellular carcinoma, as genetic ablation, or pharmacological inhibition of NRF2 significantly enhanced sorafenib and erastininduced ferroptotic death (Sun et al. 2016b). Intriguingly, NRF2 activation in this context was via the noncanonical pathway, i.e., p62-dependent sequestration of KEAP1, which has been shown to drive other means of cancer resistance as well (Inami et al. 2011; Saito et al. 2016; Hsu et al. 2022; Li et al. 2020; Ryoo et al. 2018). Noncanonical activation of NRF2 also mediated ferroptosis resistance in head and neck cancer, which could be reversed by treatment with the nonspecific NRF2 inhibitor trigonelline (Shin et al. 2018). NRF2-driven resistance to ferroptosis has also been reported in glioma (Fan et al. 2017; de Souza et al. 2022), gastric cancer (Fu et al. 2021), renal carcinoma (Kerins et al. 2017), colorectal cancer (Yang et al. 2021a), lung adenocarcinoma (Takahashi et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2020b; Wang et al. 2022b), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (Feng et al. 2021; He et al. 2023), and ovarian cancer (Liu et al. 2020a; Anandhan et al. 2023), indicating that the NRF2anti-ferroptosis axis represents a significant driver of tumor cell survival. While these studies indicated a direct link to NRF2, it is important to note that the relevance of NRF2 in an anti-ferroptotic context coincides with many of the earliest discoveries in the field, due to NRF2 regulation of SLC7A11 and GPX4. Along with these two critical targets, GCLC/GCLM, FTH1/FTL, PRDX6, and HMOX1 are also NRF2 target genes shown to promote ferroptosis resistance in a cancer context (Kang et al. 2021; Nishizawa et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2022a; Lu et al. 2019; Roh et al. 2017; Lu et al. 2021). Thus, NRF2-dependent prevention of ferroptosis plays a significant role in promoting cancer progression and resistance, highlighting the need for the development of specific NRF2 inhibitors, before ferroptosis inducers can be successfully applied in the clinic.



Fig. 10.4 NRF2 regulation of ferroptosis in disease. The anti-ferroptotic role of NRF2 has been demonstrated across several cancer and noncancer disease states. NRF2-ferroptosis-related cancers are indicated in green, and noncancer related pathologies are indicated in blue

10.5.2 Neurodegeneration

Though many of the early findings regarding the pathological relevance of ferroptotic cell death were made in cancer models, a large body of work continues to emerge showing the importance of this cascade in other disease states as well. In the case of neurodegenerative disorders, ferroptosis has just begun to emerge as a prominent mode of cell death in this subset of diseases (Ratan 2020). To date, only a handful of studies have demonstrated a link between NRF2 and ferroptosis in a neuropathological context. For example, noncanonical p62-dependent activation of NRF2 was shown to prevent ferroptosis in 6-hydroxydopamine-treated dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells (Sun et al. 2020). Pharmacological activation of NRF2 using carnosic acid also protected against erastin-induced ferroptosis in PC12 cells (Cheng et al. 2021). It has also been proposed that BDNF-dependent activation of NRF2 in astrocytes can prevent ferroptosis from occurring in neighboring dopaminergic neurons, although this still needs to be fully validated in an experimental setting (Ishii et al. 2019). Importantly, all of these studies strongly suggest that NRF2 protects against ferroptosis in dopaminergic neurons, one of the primary neuronal cell types lost during the progression of Parkinson's disease (PD). Supporting this notion, work from our group demonstrated that excess α -synuclein significantly enhanced ferroptotic death in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo using a mouse model that overexpresses human α -synuclein. We also showed that α -synuclein overexpression suppressed NRF2 at the protein level, and that loss of NRF2 increased several key markers of ferroptosis in PD-relevant brain regions in an age-dependent manner (Anandhan et al. 2022). In the context of Alzheimer's disease, several compounds have been shown to ameliorate ferroptosis in erastin- and $A\beta_{1-42}$ -treated HT22 hippocampal cells, respectively (Wang et al. 2022a; Li et al. 2022a). Thus, NRF2mediated regulation of ferroptosis represents a critical mechanism for promoting neuronal survival and slowing down the progression of neurodegenerative diseases.

10.5.3 Diabetes

Another disease state where the relevance of ferroptotic death is evolving rapidly is diabetes, as several diabetic complications have now been linked to ferroptosis. For example, both diabetic cardiomyopathy and diabetic nephropathy in diabetic mouse models were recently linked to ferroptotic cell death that could be prevented by pharmacological activation of NRF2 using sulforaphane and fenofibrate, respectively (Wang et al. 2022d; Li et al. 2021). Similarly, melatonin-dependent activation of NRF2 and its downstream targets SLC7A11 and GPX4 was shown to slow the progression of osteoporosis in diabetic rats (Ma et al. 2020). Additionally, empagliflozin was shown to activate NRF2 to attenuate renal ferroptosis in in vitro and in vivo models of diabetic kidney disease (Lu et al. 2023). Another intriguing study found that autophagy dysfunction-dependent activation of NRF2 led to a chronic increase in lipogenesis that fueled increased lipid peroxidation and cardiomyocyte ferroptotic death in a mouse diabetic cardiomyopathy model (Zang

et al. 2020). Finally, decreased expression of NRF2 was associated with increased pancreatic β -cell ferroptosis in a streptozotocin-injected mouse model of diabetes, which could be rescued by administration of the lipophilic antioxidant ferrostatin-1 (Stancic et al. 2022). These studies already provide a solid foundation indicating that ferroptosis plays an important role in diabetes progression, with more studies sure to come.

10.5.4 Liver Disease

10.5.4.1 NAFLD/NASH

NAFLD (Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease) refers to a group of conditions where there is accumulation of excess fat in the liver of people with little or no alcohol consumption. It is estimated that up to one third of the global population is affected by NAFLD (Henry et al. 2022). Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is recognized as the progressive form of NAFLD characterized by inflammation and liver cell damage (Kleiner et al. 2005). NAFLD increases the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (Targher et al. 2016), cardiovascular disease (Targher et al. 2016), and liver cancer, to name a few, but effective therapies are still not available. A recent study found that ferroptosis inhibition protected hepatocytes from death and suppressed the subsequent infiltration of immune cells and the inflammatory response normally observed in a choline-deficient, ethionine-supplemented (CDE) diet model of steatohepatitis. This suggested that hepatic ferroptosis may function as the trigger for initiating inflammation in steatohepatitis (Tsurusaki et al. 2019). Other studies also showed that ferroptosis accompanies the development of fatty liver. For instance, in a high fat diet-fed mouse model, induction of ferroptosis in the liver was confirmed by the presence of increased lipid peroxidation and known ferroptosis biomarkers, including SLC7A11, GPX4, COX2, and ACSL4 (Liu et al. 2023). Consistently, in the clinic, patients with NAFLD usually display increased levels of lipid peroxidation products and systemic oxidative stress markers (Madan et al. 2006). Histological analyses confirmed that patients with NAFLD exhibit a significant increase in 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE)-positive cells in the liver (Podszun et al. 2020). Thus, from primary cell models to clinical patient samples, ferroptosis has proved to be an active participant in the pathological development of fatty liver.

Recent studies have indicated that NRF2 activation by a variety of compounds improves NAFLD by suppressing ferroptosis. Sulforaphane, which is a well-known NRF2 activator, suppressed HFD-induced NAFLD and ferroptotic cell death in an NRF2-dependent manner (Liu et al. 2023). Similarly, Delerive's group discovered S217879 as a potent and selective compound that disrupted the KEAP1-NRF2 interaction, leading to robust NRF2 pathway activation and prevention of NASH progression in mice (Seedorf et al. 2023). RNA-sequencing analyses revealed major alterations in the liver transcriptome in response to S217879, with *GPX4* and *PRDX6* (Seedorf et al. 2023), which as mentioned above are established ferroptosis suppressors and NRF2 targets, being significantly upregulated by S217879. These

studies serve as strong evidence that targeting the NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis could serve as a promising therapeutic strategy for fatty liver disease.

10.5.4.2 Liver Fibrosis

Liver fibrosis is characterized by the deposition of extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins and the formation of a scar in place of normal tissue. It can be caused by various factors, including viral infections, alcohol abuse, NASH, exposure to certain drugs and toxins, and obstruction of bile flow from the liver to the intestines (Kisseleva and Brenner 2021). Both hepatotoxic injury and cholestatic injury can cause inflammation and damage to the liver, leading to the activation of hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) which are engaged in the production of ECM proteins. When aggravated, hepatic fibrosis can progress to cirrhosis and hepatocarcinoma.

Administration of carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) is one of the most used experimental models for inducing toxin-mediated liver fibrosis (Scholten et al. 2015). Notably, CCl₄ induced liver damage displays key features of ferroptosis, including increased lipid peroxidation, GSH depletion, and SAT1 induction (Zahedi et al. 2012); furthermore, these features are inhibited by prior- or coadministration of the ferroptosis inhibitors/antioxidants deferoxamine (DFO), GSH, or N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) (Cai et al. 2015; Mohammed et al. 2016). NRF2 deficiency in mice was shown to worsen CCl₄-induced liver inflammation and fibrosis (Xu et al. 2008). This study also found that these abnormalities were partly due to the reduced expression of NRF2 target genes which encode enzymes involved in the detoxification of CCl_4 and its metabolites. Further, loss of NRF2 in hepatocytes, but not myeloid lineage cells, worsened oxidative damage and increased malondialdehyde (MDA) levels in response to CCl₄ treatment, which in turn resulted in more severe liver fibrosis (Lyu et al. 2020). It is worth noting that these studies didn't focus specifically on ferroptosis, despite showing some of the key markers and reversibility, and therefore whether ferroptotic cell death is a key contributor to the exacerbated fibrosis observed in NRF2-deficient mice still requires further validation. Another group generated mice expressing a constitutively active NRF2 (caNrf2) mutant in hepatocytes to see if NRF2 overexpression could protect mice from liver injury. Surprisingly, this study found no beneficial effect of NRF2 activation on CCl₄induced liver injury and fibrosis, at least in the presence of constitutively active NRF2 (Kohler et al. 2014). In contrast, acute pharmacological activation of NRF2 by sulforaphane reduced the levels of MDA, a marker of lipid peroxidation, and improved fibrosis in the livers of CCl₄-treated mice exposed to ethanol (Ishida et al. 2021). Overall, a better understanding of the role of NRF2 and the ferroptosis pathway in the development of liver fibrosis is still needed.

In the context of iron-related liver diseases, hereditary hemochromatosis, which is a type of disease that results from inherited mutations in iron regulatory genes, is characterized by excessive iron deposition in the liver, which eventually leads to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Pietrangelo 2010). Iron supplementation in the form of ferric citrate potently induced ferroptosis in murine primary

hepatocytes and bone marrow-derived macrophages (Wang et al. 2017b). Further, mice fed with a high iron diet for 8 weeks, developed liver damage with increased expression of ferroptotic markers, which was reversed by ferroptosis inhibition with ferrostatin-1 (Wang et al. 2017b). NRF2 was recently shown to influence the transcriptional response to iron in sinusoidal endothelial cells. Iron-overloaded $Nrf2^{-/-}$ mice demonstrated elevated liver lipid peroxidation as revealed by increased MDA levels and elevated fibrotic markers (Lim et al. 2019). In the context of murine hereditary hemochromatosis, loss of NRF2 led to increased parenchymal iron deposition, higher levels of 4-HNE-protein adducts, and the development of a fibrotic phenotype (Duarte et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2019). When the NRF2 activator CDDO-Im was used to treat $Hfe^{-/-}$ mice, a mouse model of hereditary hemochromatosis, these mice exhibited reduced liver lipid peroxidation (Lim et al. 2019). Finally, SLC7A11 was found to be significantly upregulated in iron-treated cells compared to untreated cells, with genetic ablation of SLC7A11 resulting in enhanced sensitivity to ferroptosis in both hepatocytes and mouse liver (Wang et al. 2017b). Altogether, the NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis appears to be a promising target for treating iron-overload and hemochromatosis-related liver damage.

10.6 Acute Organ Injury

The NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis has also been reported to play a role in mediating acute injury across several different organ systems. Increased expression of SLC7A11 and HMOX1 was shown to mediate the anti-ferroptotic effects of NRF2 in a model of sepsis-induced ischemic lung injury (Dong et al. 2020). NRF2 activation and prevention of ferroptosis in sepsis-induced acute lung injury (ALI) may be mediated by the AU-rich element binding factor 1 (AUF1), which was shown in a separate study to dictate NRF2 mRNA stability, and thus the ferroptotic response (Wang et al. 2022e). Several other proteins with anti-ferroptotic function have also been linked to NRF2 in carrying out their protective effects in ALI, including telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT,(Dong, 2021 #17781)) and inhibitor of apoptosis-stimulating protein of p53 (iASPP,(Li et al. 2020 #17782)). Additionally, p62-dependent, noncanonical activation of NRF2 also prevented ferroptotic death via increased expression of HMOX1, NQO1, and FTH1 in a model of radiation-induced acute lung injury (Li et al. 2022b). In the liver, pharmacological induction of NRF2 using bardoxolone methyl or bicyclol prevented iron accumulation, lipid peroxidation, and ferroptosis in CCl_4 injured mice (Wu et al. 2022; Zhao et al. 2022). Intriguingly, overexpression of fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) or sestrin 2 (SESN2) also protected from hepatic ferroptosis in an iron-overload mouse model in an NRF2-dependent manner (Wu et al. 2021; Park et al. 2019). Finally, NRF2 was also indicated to protect against ferroptosis in cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury, as pharmacological activation with leonurine (Hu et al. 2022), or dimethyl fumarate (Yang et al. 2021b), prevented ferroptotic injury, which was lost in NRF2 knockout mice. Furthermore, p62-dependent activation of NRF2 prevented ferroptosis in a mouse ischemic kidney injury model (Yang et al. 2022b).

The NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis has also been identified to mediate ischemic stroke and traumatic brain injury. One notable recent example was a study indicating that pharmacological administration of the flavonoid icariside II ameliorated cerebral injury following ischemic stroke in an NRF2-dependent manner (Gao et al. 2023). In another study, the myokine irisin attenuated the hippocampal dysfunction and ferroptotic death cause by sepsis-associated encephalopathy via enhanced activity of NRF2 and GPX4 (Wang et al. 2022c). NRF2 mediation of ferroptosis also plays a critical role in traumatic brain injury (TBI), as pharmacological activation improved, whereas genetic ablation enhanced TBI-induced ferroptosis, and the expression of NRF2 and several of its anti-ferroptotic target genes (i.e., *SLC7A11*, *FTH1*, *FTL*, and *FSP1*) were elevated post-TBI (Cheng et al. 2023). Overall, it is clear that upregulation of NRF2 protects, whereas suppression exacerbates, ferroptotic death across multiple organ injury models.

10.7 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

It is becoming increasingly clear that NRF2 is an indispensable barrier to preventing initiation of the ferroptotic cascade. Through its regulation of almost every antiferroptotic mediator identified to date, NRF2 represents the first and last line of defense in preventing the iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation required for ferroptosis to occur. Perhaps the most exciting aspect of the NRF2-ferroptosis field is its recent growth, quickly expanding from a cancer context to cover pathologies ranging from acute organ injury to chronic cell loss in neurodegeneration, liver disease, and diabetes. Discussed in detail above, NRF2 primarily exerts its antiferroptotic effects through preventing iron accumulation, in large part through dictating ferritin stability and heme metabolism, as well as mitigating lipid peroxidation, via its governance of GSH metabolism and the reduction of peroxides once they form. Of recent interest is the ongoing indication that ferroptosis indeed occurs in normal (patho)physiological settings, as there was early concern that it represented an "artificial" mode of death that only occurred in certain specific contexts in cancer cells. This includes the demonstration of ferroptosis in patient samples across several different disease contexts and the continued expansion of known initiators and effectors of this death pathway. The emergence of NRF2 and its downstream transcriptional mediators of ferroptosis as viable therapeutic targets also holds great promise for successfully targeting this axis to treat disease. It is also worth noting that both canonical (oxidation/electrophilic modification-dependent) and noncanonical (p62-dependent) activation of NRF2 have been shown to prevent ferroptosis across several pathological contexts. This fact, coupled with the intricate network of NRF2-regulated proteins and pathways that have already been linked to ferroptosis, indicates that targeting the NRF2-anti-ferroptosis axis represents an increasingly viable approach for inducing or preventing ferroptosis depending on the disease context.

References

- Adedoyin O, Boddu R, Traylor A, Lever JM, Bolisetty S, George JF, Agarwal A (2018) Heme oxygenase-1 mitigates ferroptosis in renal proximal tubule cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 314(5):F702–F714. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00044.2017
- Anandhan A, Dodson M, Schmidlin CJ, Liu P, Zhang DD (2020) Breakdown of an ironclad defense system: the critical role of NRF2 in mediating ferroptosis. Cell Chem Biol 27(4):436–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.011
- Anandhan A, Chen W, Nguyen N, Madhavan L, Dodson M, Zhang DD (2022) Alpha-Syn overexpression, NRF2 suppression, and enhanced ferroptosis create a vicious cycle of neuronal loss in Parkinson's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 192:130–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2022.09.015
- Anandhan A, Dodson M, Shakya A, Chen J, Liu P, Wei Y, Tan H, Wang Q, Jiang Z, Yang K, Garcia JG, Chambers SK, Chapman E, Ooi A, Yang-Hartwich Y, Stockwell BR, Zhang DD (2023) NRF2 controls iron homeostasis and ferroptosis through HERC2 and VAMP8. Sci Adv 9(5):eade9585. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.ade9585
- Bai L, Yan F, Deng R, Gu R, Zhang X, Bai J (2021) Thioredoxin-1 rescues MPP(+)/MPTP-induced ferroptosis by increasing glutathione peroxidase 4. Mol Neurobiol 58(7):3187–3197. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12035-021-02320-1
- Banning A, Deubel S, Kluth D, Zhou Z, Brigelius-Flohe R (2005) The GI-GPx gene is a target for Nrf2. Mol Cell Biol 25(12):4914–4923. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.25.12.4914-4923.2005
- Bersuker K, Hendricks J, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575:688. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-019-1705-2
- Cai Z, Lou Q, Wang F, Li E, Sun J, Fang H, Xi J, Ju L (2015) N-acetylcysteine protects against liver injure induced by carbon tetrachloride via activation of the Nrf2/HO-1 pathway. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 8(7):8655–8662
- Campbell MR, Karaca M, Adamski KN, Chorley BN, Wang X, Bell DA (2013) Novel hematopoietic target genes in the NRF2-mediated transcriptional pathway. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2013:120305. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/120305
- Cheng J, Xu T, Xun C, Guo H, Cao R, Gao S, Sheng W (2021) Carnosic acid protects against ferroptosis in PC12 cells exposed to erastin through activation of Nrf2 pathway. Life Sci 266: 118905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118905
- Cheng H, Wang P, Wang N, Dong W, Chen Z, Wu M, Wang Z, Yu Z, Guan D, Wang L, Zhao R (2023) Neuroprotection of NRF2 against Ferroptosis after traumatic brain injury in mice. Antioxidants (Basel) 12(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox12030731
- Chiang SK, Chen SE, Chang LC (2018) A dual role of Heme Oxygenase-1 in cancer cells. Int J Mol Sci 20(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20010039
- Cho HY, Gladwell W, Wang X, Chorley B, Bell D, Reddy SP, Kleeberger SR (2010) Nrf2regulated PPAR{gamma} expression is critical to protection against acute lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(2):170–182. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200907-1047OC
- Chorley BN, Campbell MR, Wang X, Karaca M, Sambandan D, Bangura F, Xue P, Pi J, Kleeberger SR, Bell DA (2012) Identification of novel NRF2-regulated genes by ChIP-Seq: influence on retinoid X receptor alpha. Nucleic Acids Res 40(15):7416–7429. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks409
- Chowdhury I, Mo Y, Gao L, Kazi A, Fisher AB, Feinstein SI (2009) Oxidant stress stimulates expression of the human peroxiredoxin 6 gene by a transcriptional mechanism involving an antioxidant response element. Free Radic Biol Med 46(2):146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2008.09.027
- de Souza I, Monteiro LKS, Guedes CB, Silva MM, Andrade-Tomaz M, Contieri B, Latancia MT, Mendes D, Porchia B, Lazarini M, Gomes LR, Rocha CRR (2022) High levels of NRF2

sensitize temozolomide-resistant glioblastoma cells to ferroptosis via ABCC1/MRP1 upregulation. Cell Death Dis 13(7):591. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-05044-9

- Ding Y, Yang X, Han X, Shi M, Sun L, Liu M, Zhang P, Huang Z, Yang X, Li R (2022) Ferroptosis-related gene expression in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Front Genet 13: 927869. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.927869
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Dixon SJ, Patel DN, Welsch M, Skouta R, Lee ED, Hayano M, Thomas AG, Gleason CE, Tatonetti NP, Slusher BS, Stockwell BR (2014) Pharmacological inhibition of cystine-glutamate exchange induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and ferroptosis. elife 3:e02523. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.02523
- Dixon SJ, Winter GE, Musavi LS, Lee ED, Snijder B, Rebsamen M, Superti-Furga G, Stockwell BR (2015) Human haploid cell genetics reveals roles for lipid metabolism genes in nonapoptotic cell death. ACS Chem Biol 10(7):1604–1609. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00245
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Grocin AG, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel C, Mourao A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnel V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt D, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575:693. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-019-1707-0
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3(3):285–296
- Dong H, Qiang Z, Chai D, Peng J, Xia Y, Hu R, Jiang H (2020) Nrf2 inhibits ferroptosis and protects against acute lung injury due to intestinal ischemia reperfusion via regulating SLC7A11 and HO-1. Aging (Albany NY) 12(13):12943–12959. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.103378
- Duarte TL, Caldas C, Santos AG, Silva-Gomes S, Santos-Goncalves A, Martins MJ, Porto G, Lopes JM (2017) Genetic disruption of NRF2 promotes the development of necroinflammation and liver fibrosis in a mouse model of HFE-hereditary hemochromatosis. Redox Biol 11:157–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2016.11.013
- Erickson AM, Nevarea Z, Gipp JJ, Mulcahy RT (2002) Identification of a variant antioxidant response element in the promoter of the human glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit gene. Revision of the ARE consensus sequence. J Biol Chem 277(34):30730–30737. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M205225200
- Fan Z, Wirth AK, Chen D, Wruck CJ, Rauh M, Buchfelder M, Savaskan N (2017) Nrf2-Keap1 pathway promotes cell proliferation and diminishes ferroptosis. Oncogenesis 6(8):e371. https:// doi.org/10.1038/oncsis.2017.65
- Fang X, Ardehali H, Min J, Wang F (2023) The molecular and metabolic landscape of iron and ferroptosis in cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 20(1):7–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41569-022-00735-4
- Feng L, Zhao K, Sun L, Yin X, Zhang J, Liu C, Li B (2021) SLC7A11 regulated by NRF2 modulates esophageal squamous cell carcinoma radiosensitivity by inhibiting ferroptosis. J Transl Med 19(1):367. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-021-03042-7
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Radmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Forster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064

- Fu D, Wang C, Yu L, Yu R (2021) Induction of ferroptosis by ATF3 elevation alleviates cisplatin resistance in gastric cancer by restraining Nrf2/Keap1/xCT signaling. Cell Mol Biol Lett 26(1): 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11658-021-00271-y
- Gagliardi M, Cotella D, Santoro C, Cora D, Barlev NA, Piacentini M, Corazzari M (2019) Aldoketo reductases protect metastatic melanoma from ER stress-independent ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 10(12):902. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-2143-7
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, Alnemri ES, Altucci L, Amelio I, Andrews DW, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Antonov AV, Arama E, Baehrecke EH, Barlev NA, Bazan NG, Bernassola F, Bertrand MJM, Bianchi K, Blagosklonny MV, Blomgren K, Borner C, Boya P, Brenner C, Campanella M, Candi E, Carmona-Gutierrez D, Cecconi F, Chan FK, Chandel NS, Cheng EH, Chipuk JE, Cidlowski JA, Ciechanover A, Cohen GM, Conrad M, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Czabotar PE, D'Angiolella V, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, De Laurenzi V, De Maria R, Debatin KM, DeBerardinis RJ, Deshmukh M, Di Daniele N, Di Virgilio F, Dixit VM, Dixon SJ, Duckett CS, Dynlacht BD, El-Deiry WS, Elrod JW, Fimia GM, Fulda S, Garcia-Saez AJ, Garg AD, Garrido C, Gavathiotis E, Golstein P, Gottlieb E, Green DR, Greene LA, Gronemeyer H, Gross A, Hajnoczky G, Hardwick JM, Harris IS, Hengartner MO, Hetz C, Ichijo H, Jaattela M, Joseph B, Jost PJ, Juin PP, Kaiser WJ, Karin M, Kaufmann T, Kepp O, Kimchi A, Kitsis RN, Klionsky DJ, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lee SW, Lemasters JJ, Levine B, Linkermann A, Lipton SA, Lockshin RA, Lopez-Otin C, Lowe SW, Luedde T, Lugli E, MacFarlane M, Madeo F, Malewicz M, Malorni W, Manic G, Marine JC, Martin SJ, Martinou JC, Medema JP, Mehlen P, Meier P, Melino S, Miao EA, Molkentin JD, Moll UM, Munoz-Pinedo C, Nagata S, Nunez G, Oberst A, Oren M, Overholtzer M, Pagano M, Panaretakis T, Pasparakis M, Penninger JM, Pereira DM, Pervaiz S, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Pinton P, Prehn JHM, Puthalakath H, Rabinovich GA, Rehm M, Rizzuto R, Rodrigues CMP, Rubinsztein DC, Rudel T, Ryan KM, Sayan E, Scorrano L, Shao F, Shi Y, Silke J, Simon HU, Sistigu A, Stockwell BR, Strasser A, Szabadkai G, Tait SWG, Tang D, Tavernarakis N, Thorburn A, Tsujimoto Y, Turk B, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Vander Heiden MG, Villunger A, Virgin HW, Vousden KH, Vucic D, Wagner EF, Walczak H, Wallach D, Wang Y, Wells JA, Wood W, Yuan J, Zakeri Z, Zhivotovsky B, Zitvogel L, Melino G, Kroemer G (2018) Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the nomenclature committee on cell death 2018. Cell Death Differ 25(3):486-541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q, Zhang W, Xiang J, Jiang X (2016) Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. Cell Res 26(9):1021–1032. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.95
- Gao J, Ma C, Xia D, Chen N, Zhang J, Xu F, Li F, He Y, Gong Q (2023) Icariside II preconditioning evokes robust neuroprotection against ischaemic stroke, by targeting Nrf2 and the OXPHOS/ NF-kappaB/ferroptosis pathway. Br J Pharmacol 180(3):308–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph. 15961
- Hanahan D (2022) Hallmarks of cancer: new dimensions. Cancer Discov 12(1):31–46. https://doi. org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Harvey CJ, Thimmulappa RK, Singh A, Blake DJ, Ling G, Wakabayashi N, Fujii J, Myers A, Biswal S (2009) Nrf2-regulated glutathione recycling independent of biosynthesis is critical for cell survival during oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 46(4):443–453. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.10.040
- He X, Zhou Y, Chen W, Zhao X, Duan L, Zhou H, Li M, Yu Y, Zhao J, Guo Y, Gu H, Jiang Y, Dong Z, Liu K (2023) Repurposed pizotifen malate targeting NRF2 exhibits anti-tumor activity through inducing ferroptosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncogene 42:1209. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-023-02636-3
- Henry L, Paik J, Younossi ZM (2022) Review article: the epidemiologic burden of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease across the world. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 56(6):942–956. https://doi.org/10. 1111/apt.17158
- Hintze KJ, Theil EC (2005) DNA and mRNA elements with complementary responses to hemin, antioxidant inducers, and iron control ferritin-L expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(42): 15048–15052. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0505148102

- Hirotsu Y, Katsuoka F, Funayama R, Nagashima T, Nishida Y, Nakayama K, Engel JD, Yamamoto M (2012) Nrf2-MafG heterodimers contribute globally to antioxidant and metabolic networks. Nucleic Acids Res 40(20):10228–10239. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks827
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Hsu WL, Wang CM, Yao CL, Chen SC, Nien CY, Sun YH, Tseng TY, Luo YH (2022) Blockage of Nrf2 and autophagy by L-selenocystine induces selective death in Nrf2-addicted colorectal cancer cells through p62-Keap-1-Nrf2 axis. Cell Death Dis 13(12):1060. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41419-022-05512-2
- Hu J, Gu W, Ma N, Fan X, Ci X (2022) Leonurine alleviates ferroptosis in cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by activating the Nrf2 signalling pathway. Br J Pharmacol 179(15):3991–4009. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15834
- Huang J, Tabbi-Anneni I, Gunda V, Wang L (2010) Transcription factor Nrf2 regulates SHP and lipogenic gene expression in hepatic lipid metabolism. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 299(6):G1211–G1221. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00322.2010
- Ide S, Ide K, Abe K, Kobayashi Y, Kitai H, McKey J, Strausser SA, O'Brien LL, Tata A, Tata PR, Souma T (2022) Sex differences in resilience to ferroptosis underlie sexual dimorphism in kidney injury and repair. Cell Rep 41(6):111610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111610
- Inami Y, Waguri S, Sakamoto A, Kouno T, Nakada K, Hino O, Watanabe S, Ando J, Iwadate M, Yamamoto M, Lee MS, Tanaka K, Komatsu M (2011) Persistent activation of Nrf2 through p62 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Cell Biol 193(2):275–284. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb. 201102031
- Ishida K, Kaji K, Sato S, Ogawa H, Takagi H, Takaya H, Kawaratani H, Moriya K, Namisaki T, Akahane T, Yoshiji H (2021) Sulforaphane ameliorates ethanol plus carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver fibrosis in mice through the Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response and acetaldehyde metabolization with inhibition of the LPS/TLR4 signaling pathway. J Nutr Biochem 89:108573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2020.108573
- Ishii T, Warabi E, Mann GE (2019) Circadian control of BDNF-mediated Nrf2 activation in astrocytes protects dopaminergic neurons from ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 133:169– 178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.09.002
- Itoh K, Chiba T, Takahashi S, Ishii T, Igarashi K, Katoh Y, Oyake T, Hayashi N, Satoh K, Hatayama I, Yamamoto M, Nabeshima Y (1997) An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236(2):313–322. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1997.6943
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8
- Kang YP, Mockabee-Macias A, Jiang C, Falzone A, Prieto-Farigua N, Stone E, Harris IS, DeNicola GM (2021) Non-canonical glutamate-cysteine ligase activity protects against ferroptosis. Cell Metab 33(1):174–189 e177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.12.007
- Kerins MJ, Vashisht AA, Liang BX, Duckworth SJ, Praslicka BJ, Wohlschlegel JA, Ooi A (2017) Fumarate mediates a chronic proliferative signal in fumarate hydratase-inactivated cancer cells by increasing transcription and translation of ferritin genes. Mol Cell Biol 37(11). https://doi. org/10.1128/MCB.00079-17
- Kim YC, Yamaguchi Y, Kondo N, Masutani H, Yodoi J (2003) Thioredoxin-dependent redox regulation of the antioxidant responsive element (ARE) in electrophile response. Oncogene 22(12):1860–1865. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206369
- Kim YJ, Ahn JY, Liang P, Ip C, Zhang Y, Park YM (2007) Human prx1 gene is a target of Nrf2 and is up-regulated by hypoxia/reoxygenation: implication to tumor biology. Cancer Res 67(2): 546–554. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2401
- Kisseleva T, Brenner D (2021) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of liver fibrosis and its regression. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 18(3):151–166. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-020-00372-7

- Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, Ferrell LD, Liu YC, Torbenson MS, Unalp-Arida A, Yeh M, McCullough AJ, Sanyal AJ, Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Clinical Research N (2005) Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 41(6):1313–1321. https://doi.org/10. 1002/hep.20701
- Kohler UA, Kurinna S, Schwitter D, Marti A, Schafer M, Hellerbrand C, Speicher T, Werner S (2014) Activated Nrf2 impairs liver regeneration in mice by activation of genes involved in cellcycle control and apoptosis. Hepatology 60(2):670–678. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.26964
- Koppula P, Lei G, Zhang Y, Yan Y, Mao C, Kondiparthi L, Shi J, Liu X, Horbath A, Das M, Li W, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2022) A targetable CoQ-FSP1 axis drives ferroptosisand radiation-resistance in KEAP1 inactive lung cancers. Nat Commun 13(1):2206. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-022-29905-1
- Kuang F, Liu J, Xie Y, Tang D, Kang R (2021) MGST1 is a redox-sensitive repressor of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Cell Chem Biol 28:765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2021. 01.006
- Lee TD, Yang H, Whang J, Lu SC (2005) Cloning and characterization of the human glutathione synthetase 5'-flanking region. Biochem J 390(Pt 2):521–528. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20050439
- Li T, Jiang D, Wu K (2020) p62 promotes bladder cancer cell growth by activating KEAP1/NRF2dependent antioxidative response. Cancer Sci 111(4):1156–1164. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas. 14321
- Li S, Zheng L, Zhang J, Liu X, Wu Z (2021) Inhibition of ferroptosis by up-regulating Nrf2 delayed the progression of diabetic nephropathy. Free Radic Biol Med 162:435–449. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.10.323
- Li L, Li WJ, Zheng XR, Liu QL, Du Q, Lai YJ, Liu SQ (2022a) Eriodictyol ameliorates cognitive dysfunction in APP/PS1 mice by inhibiting ferroptosis via vitamin D receptor-mediated Nrf2 activation. Mol Med 28(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10020-022-00442-3
- Li X, Chen J, Yuan S, Zhuang X, Qiao T (2022b) Activation of the P62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in radiation-induced lung injury. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2022: 8973509. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/8973509
- Lim PJ, Duarte TL, Arezes J, Garcia-Santos D, Hamdi A, Pasricha SR, Armitage AE, Mehta H, Wideman S, Santos AG, Santos-Goncalves A, Morovat A, Hughes JR, Soilleux E, Wang CY, Bayer AL, Klenerman P, Willberg CB, Hartley RC, Murphy MP, Babitt JL, Ponka P, Porto G, Drakesmith H (2019) Nrf2 controls iron homeostasis in haemochromatosis and thalassaemia via Bmp6 and hepcidin. Nat Metab 1(5):519–531. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-019-0063-6
- Liu N, Lin X, Huang C (2020a) Activation of the reverse transsulfuration pathway through NRF2/ CBS confers erastin-induced ferroptosis resistance. Br J Cancer 122(2):279–292. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41416-019-0660-x
- Liu P, Wu D, Duan J, Xiao H, Zhou Y, Zhao L, Feng Y (2020b) NRF2 regulates the sensitivity of human NSCLC cells to cystine deprivation-induced ferroptosis via FOCAD-FAK signaling pathway. Redox Biol 37:101702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101702
- Liu P, Anandhan A, Chen J, Shakya A, Dodson M, Ooi A, Chapman E, White E, Garcia JG, Zhang DD (2023) Decreased autophagosome biogenesis, reduced NRF2, and enhanced ferroptotic cell death are underlying molecular mechanisms of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Redox Biol 59: 102570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102570
- Lou H, Du S, Ji Q, Stolz A (2006) Induction of AKR1C2 by phase II inducers: identification of a distal consensus antioxidant response element regulated by NRF2. Mol Pharmacol 69(5): 1662–1672. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.019794
- Lovatt M, Adnan K, Kocaba V, Dirisamer M, Peh GSL, Mehta JS (2020) Peroxiredoxin-1 regulates lipid peroxidation in corneal endothelial cells. Redox Biol 30:101417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. redox.2019.101417

- Lu B, Chen XB, Hong YC, Zhu H, He QJ, Yang B, Ying MD, Cao J (2019) Identification of PRDX6 as a regulator of ferroptosis. Acta Pharmacol Sin 40(10):1334–1342. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41401-019-0233-9
- Lu R, Jiang Y, Lai X, Liu S, Sun L, Zhou ZW (2021) A shortage of FTH induces ROS and Sensitizes RAS-proficient neuroblastoma N2A cells to ferroptosis. Int J Mol Sci 22(16). https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22168898
- Lu Q, Yang L, Xiao JJ, Liu Q, Ni L, Hu JW, Yu H, Wu X, Zhang BF (2023) Empagliflozin attenuates the renal tubular ferroptosis in diabetic kidney disease through AMPK/NRF2 pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 195:89–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.12.088
- Luo L, Yao X, Xiang J, Huang F, Luo H (2022) Identification of ferroptosis-related genes for overall survival prediction in hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 12(1):10007. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-022-14554-7
- Lyu H, Wang H, Li L, Zhu J, Chen F, Chen Y, Liu C, Fu J, Yang B, Zhang Q, Xu Y, Pi J (2020) Hepatocyte-specific deficiency of Nrf2 exacerbates carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis via aggravated hepatocyte injury and subsequent inflammatory and fibrogenic responses. Free Radic Biol Med 150:136–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.02.015
- Ma H, Wang X, Zhang W, Li H, Zhao W, Sun J, Yang M (2020) Melatonin suppresses ferroptosis induced by high glucose via activation of the Nrf2/HO-1 signaling pathway in type 2 diabetic osteoporosis. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2020:9067610. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/ 9067610
- Madan K, Bhardwaj P, Thareja S, Gupta SD, Saraya A (2006) Oxidant stress and antioxidant status among patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). J Clin Gastroenterol 40(10): 930–935. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mcg.0000212608.59090.08
- Maher JM, Dieter MZ, Aleksunes LM, Slitt AL, Guo G, Tanaka Y, Scheffer GL, Chan JY, Manautou JE, Chen Y, Dalton TP, Yamamoto M, Klaassen CD (2007) Oxidative and electrophilic stress induces multidrug resistance-associated protein transporters via the nuclear factor-E2-related factor-2 transcriptional pathway. Hepatology 46(5):1597–1610. https://doi.org/10. 1002/hep.21831
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mohammed A, Abd Al Haleem EN, El-Bakly WM, El-Demerdash E (2016) Deferoxamine alleviates liver fibrosis induced by CCl4 in rats. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 43(8):760–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1681.12591
- Nioi P, McMahon M, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Hayes JD (2003) Identification of a novel Nrf2regulated antioxidant response element (ARE) in the mouse NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene: reassessment of the ARE consensus sequence. Biochem J 374(Pt 2):337–348. https:// doi.org/10.1042/BJ20030754
- Nishizawa H, Matsumoto M, Shindo T, Saigusa D, Kato H, Suzuki K, Sato M, Ishii Y, Shimokawa H, Igarashi K (2020) Ferroptosis is controlled by the coordinated transcriptional regulation of glutathione and labile iron metabolism by the transcription factor BACH1. J Biol Chem 295(1):69–82. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.009548
- Park SJ, Cho SS, Kim KM, Yang JH, Kim JH, Jeong EH, Yang JW, Han CY, Ku SK, Cho IJ, Ki SH (2019) Protective effect of sestrin2 against iron overload and ferroptosis-induced liver injury. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 379:114665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2019.114665
- Pietrangelo A (2010) Hereditary hemochromatosis: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. Gastroenterology 139(2):393–408, 408 e391-392. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.013
- Pietsch EC, Chan JY, Torti FM, Torti SV (2003) Nrf2 mediates the induction of ferritin H in response to xenobiotics and cancer chemopreventive dithiolethiones. J Biol Chem 278(4): 2361–2369. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M210664200
- Ping S, Wang S, Zhao Y, He J, Li G, Li D, Wei Z, Chen J (2022) Identification and validation of a ferroptosis-related gene signature for predicting survival in skin cutaneous melanoma. Cancer Med 11(18):3529–3541. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.4706

- Podszun MC, Chung JY, Ylaya K, Kleiner DE, Hewitt SM, Rotman Y (2020) 4-HNE immunohistochemistry and image analysis for detection of lipid peroxidation in human liver samples using Vitamin E treatment in NAFLD as a proof of concept. J Histochem Cytochem 68(9):635–643. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155420946402
- Ratan RR (2020) The chemical biology of ferroptosis in the central nervous system. Cell Chem Biol 27(5):479–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.007
- Rodriguez R, Schreiber SL, Conrad M (2022) Persister cancer cells: iron addiction and vulnerability to ferroptosis. Mol Cell 82(4):728–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2021.12.001
- Roh JL, Kim EH, Jang H, Shin D (2017) Nrf2 inhibition reverses the resistance of cisplatin-resistant head and neck cancer cells to artesunate-induced ferroptosis. Redox Biol 11:254–262. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.010
- Ryoo IG, Choi BH, Ku SK, Kwak MK (2018) High CD44 expression mediates p62-associated NFE2L2/NRF2 activation in breast cancer stem cell-like cells: implications for cancer stem cell resistance. Redox Biol 17:246–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2018.04.015
- Saito T, Ichimura Y, Taguchi K, Suzuki T, Mizushima T, Takagi K, Hirose Y, Nagahashi M, Iso T, Fukutomi T, Ohishi M, Endo K, Uemura T, Nishito Y, Okuda S, Obata M, Kouno T, Imamura R, Tada Y, Obata R, Yasuda D, Takahashi K, Fujimura T, Pi J, Lee MS, Ueno T, Ohe T, Mashino T, Wakai T, Kojima H, Okabe T, Nagano T, Motohashi H, Waguri S, Soga T, Yamamoto M, Tanaka K, Komatsu M (2016) p62/Sqstm1 promotes malignancy of HCV-positive hepatocellular carcinoma through Nrf2-dependent metabolic reprogramming. Nat Commun 7:12030. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12030
- Sakurai A, Nishimoto M, Himeno S, Imura N, Tsujimoto M, Kunimoto M, Hara S (2005) Transcriptional regulation of thioredoxin reductase 1 expression by cadmium in vascular endothelial cells: role of NF-E2-related factor-2. J Cell Physiol 203(3):529–537. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcp.20246
- Sasaki H, Sato H, Kuriyama-Matsumura K, Sato K, Maebara K, Wang H, Tamba M, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Bannai S (2002) Electrophile response element-mediated induction of the cystine/glutamate exchange transporter gene expression. J Biol Chem 277(47):44765–44771. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M208704200
- Scholten D, Trebicka J, Liedtke C, Weiskirchen R (2015) The carbon tetrachloride model in mice. Lab Anim 49(1 Suppl):4–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/0023677215571192
- Seedorf K, Weber C, Vinson C, Berger S, Vuillard LM, Kiss A, Creusot S, Broux O, Geant A, Ilic C, Lemaitre K, Richard J, Hammoutene A, Mahieux J, Martiny V, Durand D, Melchiore F, Nyerges M, Paradis V, Provost N, Duvivier V, Delerive P (2023) Selective disruption of NRF2-KEAP1 interaction leads to NASH resolution and reduction of liver fibrosis in mice. JHEP Rep 5(4):100651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhepr.2022.100651
- Seiler A, Schneider M, Forster H, Roth S, Wirth EK, Culmsee C, Plesnila N, Kremmer E, Radmark O, Wurst W, Bornkamm GW, Schweizer U, Conrad M (2008) Glutathione peroxidase 4 senses and translates oxidative stress into 12/15-lipoxygenase dependent- and AIF-mediated cell death. Cell Metab 8(3):237–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.005
- Shin D, Kim EH, Lee J, Roh JL (2018) Nrf2 inhibition reverses resistance to GPX4 inhibitorinduced ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 129:454–462. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.10.426
- Soriano FX, Baxter P, Murray LM, Sporn MB, Gillingwater TH, Hardingham GE (2009) Transcriptional regulation of the AP-1 and Nrf2 target gene sulfiredoxin. Mol Cells 27(3):279–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10059-009-0050-y
- Stancic A, Saksida T, Markelic M, Vucetic M, Grigorov I, Martinovic V, Gajic D, Ivanovic A, Velickovic K, Savic N, Otasevic V (2022) Ferroptosis as a novel determinant of beta-cell death in diabetic conditions. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2022:3873420. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2022/3873420
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.06.003

- Sun X, Niu X, Chen R, He W, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016a) Metallothionein-1G facilitates sorafenib resistance through inhibition of ferroptosis. Hepatology 64(2):488–500. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.28574
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016b) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28251
- Sun Y, He L, Wang T, Hua W, Qin H, Wang J, Wang L, Gu W, Li T, Li N, Liu X, Chen F, Tang L (2020) Activation of p62-Keap1-Nrf2 pathway protects 6-hydroxydopamine-induced ferroptosis in dopaminergic cells. Mol Neurobiol 57(11):4628–4641. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12035-020-02049-3
- Takahashi N, Cho P, Selfors LM, Kuiken HJ, Kaul R, Fujiwara T, Harris IS, Zhang T, Gygi SP, Brugge JS (2020) 3D culture models with CRISPR screens reveal hyperactive NRF2 as a prerequisite for spheroid formation via regulation of proliferation and ferroptosis. Mol Cell 80(5):828–844 e826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.10.010
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Targher G, Byrne CD, Lonardo A, Zoppini G, Barbui C (2016) Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. J Hepatol 65(3):589–600. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2016.05.013
- Tian Q, Zhou Y, Zhu L, Gao H, Yang J (2021) Development and validation of a ferroptosis-related gene signature for overall survival prediction in lung adenocarcinoma. Front Cell Dev Biol 9: 684259. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.684259
- Tsurusaki S, Tsuchiya Y, Koumura T, Nakasone M, Sakamoto T, Matsuoka M, Imai H, Yuet-Yin Kok C, Okochi H, Nakano H, Miyajima A, Tanaka M (2019) Hepatic ferroptosis plays an important role as the trigger for initiating inflammation in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Cell Death Dis 10(6):449. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-1678-y
- Wang X, Tomso DJ, Chorley BN, Cho HY, Cheung VG, Kleeberger SR, Bell DA (2007) Identification of polymorphic antioxidant response elements in the human genome. Hum Mol Genet 16(10):1188–1200. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddm066
- Wang GX, Tu HC, Dong Y, Skanderup AJ, Wang Y, Takeda S, Ganesan YT, Han S, Liu H, Hsieh JJ, Cheng EH (2017a) DeltaNp63 inhibits oxidative stress-induced cell death, including ferroptosis, and cooperates with the BCL-2 family to promote clonogenic survival. Cell Rep 21(10):2926–2939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.11.030
- Wang H, An P, Xie E, Wu Q, Fang X, Gao H, Zhang Z, Li Y, Wang X, Zhang J, Li G, Yang L, Liu W, Min J, Wang F (2017b) Characterization of ferroptosis in murine models of hemochromatosis. Hepatology 66(2):449–465. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.29117
- Wang C, Chen S, Guo H, Jiang H, Liu H, Fu H, Wang D (2022a) Forsythoside a mitigates Alzheimer's-like pathology by inhibiting ferroptosis-mediated neuroinflammation via Nrf2/ GPX4 Axis activation. Int J Biol Sci 18(5):2075–2090. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.69714
- Wang H, Huang Q, Xia J, Cheng S, Pei D, Zhang X, Shu X (2022b) The E3 ligase MIB1 promotes proteasomal degradation of NRF2 and sensitizes lung cancer cells to ferroptosis. Mol Cancer Res 20(2):253–264. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-21-0342
- Wang J, Zhu Q, Wang Y, Peng J, Shao L, Li X (2022c) Irisin protects against sepsis-associated encephalopathy by suppressing ferroptosis via activation of the Nrf2/GPX4 signal axis. Free Radic Biol Med 187:171–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.05.023
- Wang X, Chen X, Zhou W, Men H, Bao T, Sun Y, Wang Q, Tan Y, Keller BB, Tong Q, Zheng Y, Cai L (2022d) Ferroptosis is essential for diabetic cardiomyopathy and is prevented by sulforaphane via AMPK/NRF2 pathways. Acta Pharm Sin B 12(2):708–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.apsb.2021.10.005
- Wang Y, Chen D, Xie H, Jia M, Sun X, Peng F, Guo F, Tang D (2022e) AUF1 protects against ferroptosis to alleviate sepsis-induced acute lung injury by regulating NRF2 and ATF3. Cell Mol Life Sci 79(5):228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-022-04248-8

- Wang ZL, Yuan L, Li W, Li JY (2022f) Ferroptosis in Parkinson's disease: glia-neuron crosstalk. Trends Mol Med 28(4):258–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2022.02.003
- Wu A, Feng B, Yu J, Yan L, Che L, Zhuo Y, Luo Y, Yu B, Wu D, Chen D (2021) Fibroblast growth factor 21 attenuates iron overload-induced liver injury and fibrosis by inhibiting ferroptosis. Redox Biol 46:102131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.102131
- Wu J, Xue R, Wu M, Yin X, Xie B, Meng Q (2022) Nrf2-mediated ferroptosis inhibition exerts a protective effect on acute-on-chronic liver failure. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2022:4505513. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/4505513
- Xu W, Hellerbrand C, Kohler UA, Bugnon P, Kan YW, Werner S, Beyer TA (2008) The Nrf2 transcription factor protects from toxin-induced liver injury and fibrosis. Lab Investig 88(10): 1068–1078. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2008.75
- Yagoda N, von Rechenberg M, Zaganjor E, Bauer AJ, Yang WS, Fridman DJ, Wolpaw AJ, Smukste I, Peltier JM, Boniface JJ, Smith R, Lessnick SL, Sahasrabudhe S, Stockwell BR (2007) RAS-RAF-MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels. Nature 447(7146):864–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05859
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yang H, Magilnick N, Lee C, Kalmaz D, Ou X, Chan JY, Lu SC (2005) Nrf1 and Nrf2 regulate rat glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit transcription indirectly via NF-kappaB and AP-1. Mol Cell Biol 25(14):5933–5946. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.25.14.5933-5946.2005
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yang L, Wang H, Yang X, Wu Q, An P, Jin X, Liu W, Huang X, Li Y, Yan S, Shen S, Liang T, Min J, Wang F (2020) Auranofin mitigates systemic iron overload and induces ferroptosis via distinct mechanisms. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):138. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00253-0
- Yang J, Mo J, Dai J, Ye C, Cen W, Zheng X, Jiang L, Ye L (2021a) Cetuximab promotes RSL3induced ferroptosis by suppressing the Nrf2/HO-1 signalling pathway in KRAS mutant colorectal cancer. Cell Death Dis 12(11):1079. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-021-04367-3
- Yang Y, Cai F, Zhou N, Liu S, Wang P, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Zhang A, Jia Z, Huang S (2021b) Dimethyl fumarate prevents ferroptosis to attenuate acute kidney injury by acting on NRF2. Clin Transl Med 11(4):e382. https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.382
- Yang FC, Wang C, Zhu J, Gai QJ, Mao M, He J, Qin Y, Yao XX, Wang YX, Lu HM, Cao MF, He MM, Wen XM, Leng P, Cai XW, Yao XH, Bian XW, Wang Y (2022a) Inhibitory effects of temozolomide on glioma cells is sensitized by RSL3-induced ferroptosis but negatively correlated with expression of ferritin heavy chain 1 and ferritin light chain. Lab Investig 102(7):741–752. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41374-022-00779-7
- Yang J, Sun X, Huang N, Li P, He J, Jiang L, Zhang X, Han S, Xin H (2022b) Entacapone alleviates acute kidney injury by inhibiting ferroptosis. FASEB J 36(7):e22399. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj. 202200241RR
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zahedi K, Barone SL, Xu J, Steinbergs N, Schuster R, Lentsch AB, Amlal H, Wang J, Casero RA Jr, Soleimani M (2012) Hepatocyte-specific ablation of spermine/spermidine-N1acetyltransferase gene reduces the severity of CCl4-induced acute liver injury. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 303(5):G546–G560. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00431.2011

- Zang H, Wu W, Qi L, Tan W, Nagarkatti P, Nagarkatti M, Wang X, Cui T (2020) Autophagy inhibition enables Nrf2 to exaggerate the progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice. Diabetes 69(12):2720–2734. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-1176
- Zhao T, Yu Z, Zhou L, Wang X, Hui Y, Mao L, Fan X, Wang B, Zhao X, Sun C (2022) Regulating Nrf2-GPx4 axis by bicyclol can prevent ferroptosis in carbon tetrachloride-induced acute liver injury in mice. Cell Death Discov 8(1):380. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-01173-4



Epigenetic Modification in Ferroptosis

Susu Guo, Xiao Zhang, and Jiayi Wang

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a recently discovered type of cell death that is characterized by significant iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation during the cell death process. Over the past decade, epigenetics has emerged as a key player in mechanisms of disease. Epigenetic changes, whether acquired or inherited, can modulate gene expression states without altering the DNA sequence itself. While the study of epigenetics and its role in ferroptosis is still a nascent research area, it has attracted a great deal of attention and is advancing at a rapid pace, thanks to methodological improvements and important breakthroughs each year. In this chapter, we provide an overview of the interplay between ferroptosis and epigenetic modifications, which could pave the way for novel disease treatments.

S. Guo

X. Zhang (🖂)

J. Wang (🖂)

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, P. R. China

Shanghai Institute of Thoracic Oncology, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, P. R. China e-mail: 728002276@shsmu.edu.cn

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, P. R. China

Shanghai Institute of Thoracic Oncology, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, P. R. China e-mail: jiayi.wang@sjtu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 241 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_11

11.1 Introduction

Epigenetic modifications lead to heritable changes in gene function that occur without alterations in the DNA sequence (Zhang et al. 2020a). The primary epigenetic mechanisms include modifications of nucleic acids, histones and non-histones, non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), chromatin remodeling, and post-translational modifications. These mechanisms play a vital role in the initiation and maintenance of epigenetic silencing and regulation of the gene expression profile and are integral to numerous cellular processes such as gene expression, (Wang et al. 2020a) X-chromosome inactivation, (Loda et al. 2022) embryogenesis, (Xu et al. 2021a) and genomic imprinting (Tucci et al. 2019).

Ferroptosis is a type of non-apoptotic cell death that is characterized by the irondependent overproduction of lipid hydroperoxides (Li et al. 2020). Upon depletion of intracellular glutathione (GSH) and a decrease in the activity of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), lipid peroxides cannot be metabolized by the GPX4-catalyzed reduction reaction. Fe²⁺ then oxidizes lipids in a Fenton-like manner, leading to the production of a large amount of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which promotes ferroptosis (Li et al. 2020). Ferroptosis is a biological process that is regulated by multiple factors; however, the specific regulatory mechanisms require further study.

Like ferroptosis, the epigenetic machinery is highly susceptible to oxidative stress and iron metabolism. As research in this area progresses, numerous genes have already been identified as pivotal to ferroptosis. Research has demonstrated an involvement of epigenetic regulatory mechanisms in ferroptosis. A significant number of epigenetic enzymes and modifications, such as histone lysine demethylase 3B (KDM3B), lymphoid-specific helicase (LSH), and monoubiquitination of H2A-B, have been identified as regulators of ferroptosis. This chapter aims to discuss the epigenetic changes that occur during ferroptosis.

11.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is regulated by multiple metabolic events and signaling pathways. Lipogenesis involves the production of phospholipids containing polyunsaturated fatty acid chains (PUFA-PLs) mediated by acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and various other enzymes and is required for phospholipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Yi et al. 2020). Cellular iron is another crucial factor in ferroptosis, and processes such as transferrin receptor- (TFRC-) mediated iron import and autophagy-mediated ferritin degradation promote this process (Battaglia et al. 2020). Additionally, imbalanced cellular redox homeostasis contributes to ferroptosis. When cells lack reducing agents such as cysteine, cellular metabolism, particularly oxidative metabolism in mitochondria, causes an accumulation of ROS, which promotes ferroptosis (Badgley et al. 2020). The vital function of glutaminolysis in cysteine deprivation–induced ferroptosis can be partially explained by its anaplerotic role in supporting the mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (Gao et al. 2019). Multiple signal transduction pathways and

transcription regulators modulate lipogenesis, iron homeostasis, cellular metabolism, and redox homeostasis, altering ferroptosis sensitivity.

11.3 Molecular Mechanisms of Epigenetic Modification

Epigenetic mechanisms lead to heritable changes in gene expression or phenotype that occur without alterations to the underlying DNA sequence (Peixoto et al. 2020). These changes can persist through multiple cell divisions and across multiple generations, without any change in the DNA sequence of the organism. The most notable epigenetic mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modifications, and ncRNAs.

DNA methylation is a process in which cytosine is selectively methylated at CpG dinucleotides, resulting in the formation of 5-methylcytosine (Moore et al. 2013). There are two groups of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs): DNMT1, which mainly maintains DNA methylation by methylating hemi-methylated cytosine in double-stranded DNA and may also be involved in the methylation of the newly synthesized DNA strand during replication and DNMT3a and DNMT3b, which are primarily responsible for de novo methylation on unmethylated double-stranded DNA (Qureshi et al. 2022). DNA methylation is generally associated with gene silencing, while DNA demethylation is usually associated with gene activation.

Histone modification is a complex process involving the post-translational modification of histone proteins by enzymes. These post-translational modifications, including methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination, (Zhang et al. 2021a) and play a critical role in gene expression by regulating the degree of chromatin compaction. Histone methylation frequently occurs on specific lysine and arginine residues on histores H3 and H4. Histore lysine methylation can lead to either activation or inhibition of gene expression, depending on the location of the modification. For example, methylation events at H3K9, H3K27, and H4K20 are well-known "inactivation" markers and repressive marks; methylation at these sites is associated with heterochromatin formation (Barski et al. 2007). In contrast, the methylation of H3K4 and H3K36 is considered an "activation" mark. Acetylation of histone proteins mostly occurs on N-terminal conserved lysine residues. Acetylation of lysine residues 9 and 14 of histone H3 and of lysines 5, 8, 12, and 16 of histone H4 is associated with chromatin activation or opening (Dhar et al. 2017). Deacetylation of lysine residues leads to chromatin compression and gene transcription inactivation. Different histone modifications can affect each other and can interact with DNA methylation.

ncRNAs can be categorized into two types: housekeeping and regulatory ncRNAs. Regulatory ncRNAs can be further divided on the basis of size into short non-coding RNAs, such as siRNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs), and circular RNAs (circRNAs), and long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) (Dhar et al. 2017). Recent studies have demonstrated that ncRNAs play a critical role in epigenetic modification and can regulate gene and chromosome expression, ultimately regulating multiple cellular and biological processes.

11.4 Association Between Epigenetics and Ferroptosis

11.4.1 DNA Modification

DNA modifications play important roles in multiple biological processes and diseases, including cancer, (Skvortsova et al. 2019) cardiovascular diseases, (Corsi et al. 2020) and hemorrhagic injury (Ma et al. 2022). These modifications do not interfere with Watson-Crick pairing but affect the DNA-protein interaction within the major groove of the double helix. Recent studies have begun to reveal the epigenetic mechanisms involved in ferroptosis. Critical epigenetic modifications that regulate ferroptosis are described below.

Hydroxyl radicals are produced during Fe^{2+} -dependent Haber–Weiss reactions that occur in ferroptotic cells (Ma et al. 2022). Research suggests that hydroxyl radicals can generate methyl radicals and cause non-enzymatic methylation of cytosine and guanidine residues in DNA, directly impacting the methylome (Kawai et al. 2010). Erastin, an inhibitor of cystine import, triggers activation of the transsulfuration pathway, limiting the availability of methyl donors required for DNA and histone methylation (Liu et al. 2020). JmjC-domain-containing histone demethylases (JHDMs) and ten-eleven translocation (TET) DNA demethylases are highly dependent on the availability of iron (Cyr and Domann 2011; Wang et al. 2018). DNA modifications also influence ferroptosis. Homocysteine promotes the DNA methylation of GPX4 in the nucleus pulposus, inducing ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2020b).

11.4.2 RNA Modifications

Cellular RNA is subject to a wide range of diverse chemical modifications that participate in all aspects of RNA metabolism. These modifications include N6-adenosine methylation (m⁶A), 5-methylcytidine (m⁵C), 2'-O-ribose-methylation (Nm), pseudouridine (Ψ), N7-methylguanosine (m⁷G), and N1-adenosine methylation (m¹A) and are found in tRNA, rRNA, mRNA, and other ncRNAs. These modifications play key roles in mechanisms in various diseases such as cancer, metabolic syndrome, heart failure, coronary heart disease, and hypertension. Better understanding of the participation of miRNA, lncRNA, and other types of RNA in disease progression is critical to determine their potential clinical relevance as therapeutic targets or disease biomarkers (Barbieri and Kouzarides 2020; Wu et al. 2021).

11.4.2.1 m⁶A

 m^6A modification, an N6-methylation that occurs on adenosine in RNA, has been the subject of many epitranscriptomic studies (Oerum et al. 2021). The close relationship between m^6A and ferroptosis has been extensively investigated in various pathological contexts. Several m^6A writers, readers, and erasers have been studied as potential direct or indirect targets for mediating ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2022; Shen et al. 2021).

The m⁶A modification can affect ferroptotic signaling and ferroptosis. For instance, methyltransferase-like 14 (METTL14) catalyzes m⁶A modification of the lncRNA KCNQ1OT1, which inhibits miR-7-5p activity. Reduced expression of miR-7-5p leads to increased levels of transferrin receptor, which promotes the uptake of iron and the production of lipid reactive oxygen species (Zhuang et al. 2021). Another study found that the m⁶A writer methyltransferase-like 3 (METTL3) was negatively regulated by miR-4443 overexpression, leading to lower levels of m⁶A on ferroptosis-suppressing protein 1 (FSP1) and inhibiting FSP1 activity in suppressing ferroptosis (Song et al. 2021). Bioinformatics analyses on lncRNAs have also revealed that m⁶A regulators such as fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1), heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein C (HNRNPC), METTL3, and METTL5 are expressed at higher levels in high-risk ferroptosis groups (Zheng et al. 2021).

11.4.2.2 m⁵C

The investigation of m^5C is ongoing and is the second only to m^6A in terms of the level of exploration. m^5C is the C5 methylation of cytosine in RNA and is catalyzed by enzymes of the NOL1/NOP2/SUN domain (NSUN) family and the DNA methyltransferase homologue DNMT2. One of the most recent discoveries linking m^5C and ferroptosis involves the role of the exclusive writer of m^5C , NOP2/Sun RNA methyltransferase 5 (NSUN5). Depletion of NSUN5 in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells reduces the levels of m^5C in ferritin heavy chain 1 (FTH1) and ferritin light chain (FTL) RNA and leads to an increase in intracellular iron concentrations. This in turn results in the downregulation of GPX4, the accumulation of ROS, and lipid peroxidation products, all of which mediate ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022a).

11.4.2.3 Other RNA Modifications

Other RNA modifications have received less research attention. N4-acetylcytidine (ac4C) modification of mRNA is mediated by N-acetyltransferase 10 (NAT10), which is important for mRNA stability and translation efficiency. Zheng et al. showed that NAT10 plays a crucial role in the development of colon cancer by influencing the stability of FSP1 mRNA and ferroptosis. These findings suggest that NAT10 may be a promising marker and target for the prognosis and treatment of colon cancer.

ncRNAs

ncRNAs are RNA molecules that do not encode proteins and include intronic RNAs, miRNAs, lncRNAs, circRNAs, and extracellular RNAs (Li and Wang 2022). ncRNAs play crucial roles in many biological processes related to ferroptosis, including regulating the mRNA or protein levels of ferroptosis-associated genes, regulating iron metabolism, and altering the Fenton reaction (Fig. 11.1). In this



Fig. 11.1 Regulation of ferroptosis by ncRNAs

section, we will discuss three ncRNA groups that have been associated with ferroptosis.

IncRNAs

IncRNAs are RNA transcripts longer than 200 nucleotides with limited proteincoding potential (van Heesch et al. 2019). These lncRNAs are regulators that play important roles in gene expression and diverse physiological and pathological processes, including ferroptosis, and are evolutionarily conserved.

GPX4 maintains redox homeostasis and protects cells against ferroptosis by reducing highly reactive lipid hydroperoxides (LOOH) to non-reactive lipid alcohols and is a target of lncRNAs (Jia et al. 2020). The lncRNA UCA1 upregulates the expression of GSH and NADPH, which allows GPX4 to play an antioxidant role and reduce the production of ROS, ultimately inhibiting ferroptosis (Li et al. 2015; Gao et al. 2015). Other lncRNAs, such as MALAT1, regulate ROS generation by modulating the Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (KEAP1)/nuclear factor ery-throid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) pathway, which in turn affects GPX4 activity (Gao et al. 2015; Radhakrishnan and Kowluru 2021). Additionally, the lncRNA NEAT1 inhibits the expression of ACSL4, increases the expression of SLC7A11 and GPX4, and reduces the iron content in cells, further regulating ferroptosis (Jiang et al. 2020).

lncRNAs also play key roles in regulating iron metabolism, which is an important mechanism in ferroptosis. Fe^{2+} provides electrons to oxygen through the Fenton reaction, leading to ROS formation, which catalyzes the formation of lipid radicals and ultimately ferroptosis (Li et al. 2020). Knock down of the lncRNA PVT1 significantly reduced the expression of TFR1 and increased the expression of FTL, ultimately reducing the uptake of iron and inhibiting ferroptosis (Xu et al. 2018). The lncRNA MT1DP stabilizes miR-365a-3p, which inhibits the expression of NRF2, increases intracellular iron levels, and increases oxidative stress (Gai et al. 2020).

Cysteine metabolism, another important component of ferroptosis, is also regulated by lncRNAs. Cysteine is the most limiting amino acid for GSH synthesis, and inhibition of its import through the cystine-glutamate transport receptor (system Xc-) is sufficient to trigger ferroptosis in vitro (Doll and Conrad 2017). Mao et al. found that the lncRNA P53RRA increased the retention of p53 in the nucleus, inhibiting the transcription of SLC7A11 and reducing the uptake of cysteine, ultimately increasing the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2018). Furthermore, lncRNA00618 directly induced ferroptosis by reducing the transcriptional activity of SLC7A11 (Wang et al. 2021a). lnc00336 acts as a sponge for miRNA6852 to regulate the expression of cystathionine- β -synthase, a surrogate marker of ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2019a).

IncRNAs also regulate the function of small molecule compounds associated with ferroptosis. Erastin, one of the most common ferroptosis inducers, mediates ferroptosis through a variety of mechanism, including the system Xc-, the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC), and p53 (Zhao et al. 2020). Erastin upregulates the lncRNA GABPB1-AS1, which downregulates GABPB1 protein levels by blocking GABPB1 translation, leading to the downregulation of the gene encoding peroxiredoxin-5 (PRDX5) peroxidase and the eventual suppression of the cellular antioxidant capacity (Qi et al. 2019).

miRNAs

miRNAs are a major class of small ncRNAs found in animals, plants, and some viruses, and negatively regulate gene expression at the mRNA level (Saliminejad et al. 2019). They not only have profound effects on metabolism but also play critical functions in the regulation of ferroptosis.

System Xc-, located in the cell membrane, mediates the transport of cysteine and glutamate. Glutamate is transported outside the cell, while cystine is imported. Cystine participates in the generation of GSH, which is used by GPX4 to detoxify lipid peroxidation and plays an essential role in inhibiting ferroptosis. Overexpressing miR-27a-3p leads to SLC7A11 suppression, thereby reducing erastin-caused ferroptosis (Lu et al. 2021). Similarly, miR-5096 induces ferroptotic cell death in human breast cancer cells by reducing the mRNA and protein levels of SLC7A11, resulting in the simultaneous increase of ROS, OH⁻, lipid ROS, and iron levels and decreased GSH and mitochondrial membrane potential (Yadav et al. 2021). Zhang et al. demonstrated that lncRNA OIP5-AS1 serves as an endogenous sponge of miR-128-3p to regulate the expression of SLC7A11 and decrease cell viability by enhancing ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2021b). SLC7A11 is a direct target

of miR-26b, and its expression is increased in both breast cancer cell lines and clinical samples (Liu et al. 2011). Another study showed that miR-1287-5p directly binds to the 3'-UTR region of GPX4 mRNA to inhibit its protein level and activity, leading to ferroptotic induction and tumor suppression (Xu et al. 2021b). miR-15a also interacts with the 3'-UTR region of GPX4 mRNA, which suppresses cell proliferation, elevates lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release, accumulates intracellular ferrous iron and ROS, disrupts mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP), and increases malondialdehyde (MDA) levels (Xu et al. 2022). miR-182-5p and miR-378a-3p are upregulated in ferroptosis and regulate the expression of GPX4 and SLC7A11 negatively by directly binding to the 3'-UTR (Ding et al. 2020).

Iron is an essential element for ferroptosis, and its homeostasis is strictly regulated. TFRC is a cell surface receptor necessary for cellular iron uptake by receptor-mediated endocytosis. After binding with transferrin (TF), iron is transported into the cell by TFRC and combined with ferritin, a hollow iron storage protein composed of 24 FTH and FTL subunits. Ferroportin (FPN), a cell membrane protein, functions in iron export and removes excess iron. A lack of miR-7-5p expression increases the levels of TFRC, promoting the uptake of iron and production of lipid ROS (Zhuang et al. 2021). Iron storage and release are altered by miRNAs, which target FTH or FPN, respectively. Administration of miR-124 antagomir enhanced FPN expression and attenuated iron accumulation in aged mice models (Bao et al. 2020). Moreover, miR-335 enhanced ferroptosis through the degradation of FTH1 to increase iron release, lipid peroxidation, and ROS accumulation and decrease MMP (Li et al. 2021).

The initiation and execution of ferroptosis are controlled by glutamine metabolism, which is crucial for the synthesis of TCA metabolites, nonessential amino acids, nucleotides, fatty acids, antioxidants, and ATP energy (Huang et al. 2021). Glutamine transport is mediated by SLC5A1. In mitochondria, glutamine is converted to glutamate by glutaminase (GLS) and subsequently deaminated to α -ketoglutarate (α -KG), which is incorporated into the TCA cycle and provides O^{2-} to redox signaling. miR-137 negatively regulates ferroptosis by directly targeting the glutamine transporter SLC1A5, leading to decreased glutamine uptake and MDA accumulation (Luo et al. 2018). Similarly, miR-190a-5p was shown to negatively regulate ferroptosis in rat cardiomyocyte H9c2 cells by directly targeting GLS2, resulting in the downregulation of ROS, MDA, and Fe²⁺ accumulation (Zhou et al. 2021).

Ferroptosis is a form of lipid peroxidation–driven cell death. ACSL4 is an isozyme that catalyzes polyunsaturated fatty acid–containing lipid biosynthesis, promoting the accumulation of lipid peroxidation products and leading to ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2022). Arachidonic acid 15-lipoxygenase-1 (ALOX15) plays a key role in mediating the production of lipid ROS in various types of tissues and tumors (Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). miR-424-5p negatively regulates ferroptosis by directly targeting ACSL4 in ovarian cancer cells (Ma et al. 2021). miR-23a-3p modulates ferroptosis by directly targeting the 3'-UTR of ACSL4 mRNA (Lu et al. 2022). ACSL4 is also a target gene of miR-106b-5p, and overexpression of miR-106b-5p reverses the effects of the lncRNA H19 on cell viability and
ferroptosis in BMVECs (Chen et al. 2021a). Exosome-miR-522 is a potential inhibitor of ALOX15, leading to ALOX15 suppression and decreased lipid-ROS accumulation in cancer cells, ultimately resulting in decreased chemo-sensitivity (Zhang et al. 2020c).

The KEAP1-NRF2 pathway is the principal protective mechanism and response to oxidative and electrophilic stress. Under normal conditions, KEAP1 is part of the E3 ubiquitin ligase that regulates the levels and activity of NRF2, a transcription factor that is regulated by ubiquitination and proteosomal degradation. When the cell is under stress, KEAP1 undergoes a complex molecular process involving sensor cysteines that facilitates NRF2 to evade ubiquitination, accumulate within the cell, and move into the nucleus. Nuclear NRF2 promotes an antioxidant transcription program, which helps to combat oxidative stress (Baird and Yamamoto 2020). In human neuroblastoma cells, miR-7, which is highly expressed in the brain, represses KEAP1 expression by targeting the 3'-UTR of KEAP1 mRNA. This results in increased NRF2 activity, which decreases intracellular hydroperoxide levels and increases the level of reduced glutathione, indicating relief from oxidative stress. miR-200a has also been reported to inhibit KEAP1 and activate NRF2 signaling (Wang et al. 2020a). Conversely, miR-28 targets the 3'-UTR of NRF2 mRNA and decreases NRF2 expression (Yang et al. 2011). miR-153-3p also suppresses the expression of NRF-2 by binding to its 3'-UTR, while miR-142-5p negatively regulates NRF2 expression in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (Zuo et al. 2020; Xiao et al. 2021). In obesity, suppression of miR-144 leads to a decrease in fumarate production, which consequently inhibits NRF2 activity (Azzimato et al. 2021).

circRNAs

circRNAs are endogenous biomolecules found in eukaryotes with cell-specific and tissue-specific expression patterns; their biogenesis is regulated by specific cis-acting elements and trans-acting factors (Kristensen et al. 2019). CircRNAs are more stable than other ncRNAs because of their covalently closed loop structure.

An important role for circRNAs in ferroptosis has recently been recognized. circRNAs play a crucial role in regulating lipid peroxidation, a key step in driving ferroptosis. cir93 interacts with and increases the expression of fatty acid–binding protein 3, which transports arachidonic acid and facilitates its reaction with taurine, thereby reducing ferroptosis in lung adenocarcinoma cells (Zhang et al. 2022a). circPtpn14 (mmu_circ_0000130) acts as a miR-351-5p sponge to upregulate the expression of the ferroptosis-related 5-lipoxygenase (Wu et al. 2022). Moreover, mmu_circRNA_0000309 competitively sponges miR-188-3p and upregulates the lipid repair enzyme GPX4, which inactivates ferroptosis-dependent mitochondrial damage (Jin et al. 2022). In thyroid cancer cells, circ_0067934 upregulates the expression of SLC7A11, a ferroptosis-negative regulator, by sponging and inhibiting miR-545-3p (Wang et al. 2021b). Similarly, circ0097009 acts as a competing endogenous RNA to regulate the expression of SLC7A11 by sponging miR-1261 in hepatocellular carcinoma (Lyu et al. 2021).

circRNAs also affect iron homeostasis. CircRAPGEF5 interacts with the Fox-1 C-terminal domain of RBFOX2 and causes a targeted exclusion of a specific exon in TFRC by blocking RBFOX2's binding to pre-mRNA. This ultimately results in a reduction of the labile iron pool and decreased production of lipid peroxides. Elevated levels of circRAPGEF5 result in ferroptosis resistance (Zhang et al. 2022b).

11.5 Chromatin Remodeling Factors

Chromatin is a highly dynamic and plastic structure that exhibits compositional diversity, providing it with a high potential to modify genome topology and orchestrate gene regulation across various cellular processes, including ferroptosis (Michael and Thomä 2021). LSH, a member of the chromatin remodeling ATPase SNF2 family, is a chromatin remodeling protein that plays a stabilizing role by maintaining an appropriate DNA methylation level (Han et al. 2020). Recent studies have demonstrated that LSH also participates in metabolic pathways associated with ferroptosis. By interacting with WDR76, LSH inhibits ferroptosis by activating lipid metabolism-associated genes such as glucose transporter type 1 (GLUT1), stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD1), and fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2) through DNA methylation and histone modification (Jiang et al. 2017).

11.6 Histone Modifications

Histones serve as the framework for DNA packaging. The tails of the four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3, and H4) are subject to chemical modifications including methylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, and glycosylation, which alter the interactions between histones and nuclear proteins including the transcriptional machinery, ultimately changing the expression of targeted genes (Lawrence et al. 2016). In this section, we summarize the roles of various histone modifications in ferroptosis (Fig. 11.2).

DNA methylation is an important epigenetic modification that regulates gene expression and is implicated in many cellular processes (Martisova et al. 2021). The di- or tri-methylation of H3K9 is a well-established epigenetic mark of heterochromatin and associated with transcriptional silencing (Becker et al. 2016). Deficiency of suppressor of variegation 3–9 homologue 1 (SUV39H1) modulates the H3K9me3 status of the dipeptidyl-peptidase-4 (DPP4) gene promoter, resulting in upregulation of its expression and contributes to ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2021c). The histone methyltransferase SET domain bifurcated 1(SETDB1) significantly promotes the expression of E-cadherin, which reduces lipid ROS and ferrous ions and inhibits ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022b). Conversely, KDM3B, a histone H3 lysine 9 demethylase, can protect against ferroptosis induced by erastin, an inhibitor of SLC7A11 (Wang et al. 2020b). Lysine demethylase 3B (KDM3B) upregulates the expression of SLC7A11 through cooperation with the transcription factor activating



Fig. 11.2 Histone modifications and the regulation of ferroptosis

transcription factor 4 (ATF4) by decreasing histone H3 lysine 9 methylation (Wang et al. 2020b). KDM4A regulates SLC7A11 transcription and cells ferroptosis by controlling H3K9me3 demethylation in the promoter region of SLC7A11 (Chen et al. 2021b). Multiple lysine and arginine residues of histones (such as H3R2, H3K4, H3K27, H3K79, H4R3, H4K20, and H2BK5) also undergo methylation/ demethylation and exhibit pleiotropic roles in gene transcription (Jambhekar et al. 2019). Therefore, determining whether methylation of histones and their writers, readers, and erasers also participate in the regulation of ferroptosis should be explored.

Acetylation is a widespread, reversible post-translational protein modification that is regulated by two classes of enzymes: lysine acetyltransferases and lysine deacetylases (Shvedunova and Akhtar 2022). Over 40 different lysine residues in the four canonical core histones, H2A, H2B, H3, and H4, are modified by acetylation (Zhao and Garcia 2015). NRF2 activates the transcription of the SLC7A11 gene partially through recruiting HAT, a histone acetyltransferase (Chen et al. 2017). Moreover, (+)-JQ1 regulates ferritinophagy and the expression of ferroptosis-associated genes via epigenetic inhibition of bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) by suppressing the expression of the histone methyltransferase G9a or enhancing the expression of the histone deacetylase silent information regulator Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) (Sui et al. 2019).

Histone ubiquitination is distinct from other post-translational modifications of histones, which usually involve small chemical groups. Ubiquitination involves the

covalent binding of a 76-amino acid protein, ubiquitin, to lysine residues on proteins or to ubiquitin itself, resulting in the formation of different types of polyubiquitin chains. Ubiquitination involves the sequential activity of E1 activating, E2 conjugating, and E3 ligase enzymes (Mattiroli and Penengo 2021). The regulation of SLC7A11 expression and erastin-induced ferroptosis is critically dependent on H2A ubiquitination/de-ubiquitination. BRCA1-associated protein (BAP1), a tumor suppressor and H2A deubiquitinase, suppresses SLC7A11 expression by reducing H2A ubiquitination (H2Aub) on the SLC7A11 promoter (Zhang et al. 2019). Conversely, the phosphorylating protein regulator of cytokinesis 1 (PRC1) complex, a well-known ubiquitin ligase of H2Aub, is responsible for establishing H2A ubiquitination on the SLC7A11 promoter (Zhang et al. 2019). These findings suggest that dynamic regulation of H2Aub is crucial for SLC7A11 repression in cancer cells (Zhang et al. 2019). Studies showed that histone H2B monoubiquitination (H2Bub1) negatively regulates the Warburg effect and tumorigenesis in human lung cancer cells by controlling the expression of multiple mitochondrial respiratory genes essential for oxidative phosphorylation (Jing et al. 2020). H2Bub1 also regulates the expression of SLC7A11 and a group of ion-binding genes involved in various metabolism-related processes, highlighting the role of H2Bub1 as a novel epigenetic regulator of ferroptosis. Moreover, H2Bub1 epigenetically activates SLC7A11 expression, thereby inhibiting cellular sensitivity to ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2019b).

11.7 Non-histone Modifications

Multiple pathways participate in ferroptosis, including the iron metabolism pathway, lipid metabolism pathway, and system Xc- (Li et al. 2020). Epigenetic modifications of these pathways play critical functions in ferroptosis.

Acetylation is catalyzed by a series of acetyltransferases that transfer acetyl groups (-CO-CH₃) from acetylated molecules, including acetyl-coenzyme A, to specific amino acid residues of protein substrates (Polevoda and Sherman 2002). Acetylation plays a vital role in many biological phenomena, including ferroptosis. Acetylation of p53 has a significant impact on its influence on apoptosis and ferroptosis. The p53 acetylation-defective mutant (3KR) fails to induce cell cycle arrest, senescence, and apoptosis but it fully retains the ability to regulate SLC7A11 expression and induce ferroptosis upon ROS-induced stress (Jiang et al. 2015). Activation of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1 (SAT1) induces lipid peroxidation and sensitizes cells to undergo ferroptosis upon ROS-induced stress, which suppresses tumor growth in xenograft tumor models (Ou et al. 2016).

Protein glycosylation is the covalent attachment of single sugars or glycans, including multi-sugar polysaccharides or complex oligosaccharides, to specific residues of target proteins (Eichler 2019). The role of glycosylation modification of proteins in ferroptosis has not been well discussed. Downregulation of N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase-14 (GALNT14) suppressed the activity of the mTOR pathway by modifying O-glycosylation of EGFR, resulting in inhibiting

both apoptosis and ferroptosis of ovarian cancer cells (Li et al. 2022). Deficiency of lysosome-associated membrane protein-2, a highly glycosylated lysosomal membrane protein, reduced the concentration of cytosolic cysteine, resulting in low GSH, inferior antioxidant capability, and mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and leading to ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020).

Ubiquitination is vital for multiple cellular processes and regulates multiple proteins related to cell growth, proliferation, and survival (Han et al. 2022). Among the ubiquitination system components, E3 ubiquitin ligases and deubiquitinases have the most prominent roles in modulating ferroptosis. Iron is necessary for ferroptosis, and FPN is the only iron-exporting protein on the cytoplasmic membrane (Hassannia et al. 2019). Ubiquitination of FPN is a key mechanism that regulates its function. The ubiquitin ligase RNF217 mediates the degradation of FPN and regulates iron homeostasis (Jiang et al. 2021). The key regulatory factors of ferroptosis are also regulated by ubiquitination. The reduction of ubiquitin specific peptidase 11 (USP11), a deubiquitinase of NRF2, contributes to the suppression of cell proliferation and induction of ferroptotic cell death from ROS-mediated stress (Meng et al. 2021). Quiescin sulfhydryl oxidase homolog (QSOX1) restrains EGF-induced EGFR activation by promoting ubiquitinationmediated degradation of EGFR and accelerating its intracellular endosomal trafficking, leading to the suppression of NRF2 activity (Sun et al. 2021). The ubiquitin hydrolase OTUB1 maintains SLC7A11 stability through direct interaction with SLC7A11, and this process does not depend on the participation of p53 (Liu et al. 2019). Depletion of NEDD4, a HECT domain E3 ubiquitin ligase, limits the protein degradation of VDAC, which increases the sensitivity of cancer cells to erastin, a ferroptosis inducer (Yang et al. 2020). SCD1, an enzyme that catalyzes the ratelimiting step in monounsaturated fatty acid synthesis, inhibits ferroptosis by increasing coenzyme Q-binding protein 10 (CoQ10) (Tesfay et al. 2019). CoQ10 is an endogenous membrane antioxidant whose depletion has been linked to ferroptosis.

11.8 Selenium

Selenium (Se) is an essential micronutrient that plays a crucial role in development and a wide variety of physiological processes, including immune responses (Avery and Hoffmann 2018). Selenoproteins are proteins with a selenocysteine (Sec, U, Se-Cys) and include five antioxidant ATF glutathione peroxidases and three thioredoxin reductases (TrxR/TXNRD), both of which contain only one Se (Santesmasses et al. 2020). As mentioned above, the glutathione-dependent lipid hydroperoxidase GPX4 prevents ferroptosis by converting lipid hydroperoxides into non-toxic lipid alcohols (Bersuker et al. 2019). However, the upstream regulatory mechanisms are unknown. Augmentation of the selenome gene via seleniummediated epigenetic regulation inhibited ferroptosis and protected against neuronal cell death after brain hemorrhage. Pharmacological selenium augments GPX4 and other genes in this transcriptional program, the selenome, via coordinated activation of the transcription factors TFAP2c and Sp1, to protect neurons (Alim et al. 2019). High levels of GPX4 expression are critical for an adaptive response and reduce cell death after intracerebral hemorrhage by inhibiting ferroptosis. Furthermore, Tat-linked SelP peptide (Tat SelPep), a selenocysteine-containing peptide created artificially, has the same function to improve outcomes after stroke in an Sp1-dependent manner, providing a wider therapeutic window. Pharmacological selenium may be a novel therapeutic strategy to block ferroptosis and promote cell survival.

11.9 Conclusion

The present review provides an overview of epigenetics and its involvement in ferroptosis, a recent but rapidly growing research field. Recent methodological advancements have increased interest and led to important progress in understanding the relationship between epigenetics and ferroptosis. While current research has focused on several key ferroptosis genes, the mechanisms by which epigenetic regulation affects other ferroptosis-related genes and signaling pathways remain largely unknown. A more comprehensive and systematic study of the epigenetic regulatory network involved in ferroptosis is needed.

Given the close association of ferroptosis with diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, and neurotoxicity, investigating the epigenetic mechanisms underlying altered ferroptosis sensitivity in different pathological contexts is of great interest. Advances in this cross-disciplinary research may offer new insights and treatment options for these diseases. Although the precise role of epigenetic mechanisms in ferroptosis is not yet fully understood, ongoing studies in this area hold great promise for overcoming current barriers. Further investigation into epigenetic molecules and their role in ferroptosis will contribute to the development of novel treatments for ferroptosis-related diseases.

References

- Alim I, Caulfield JT, Chen Y, Swarup V, Geschwind DH, Ivanova E et al (2019) Selenium drives a transcriptional adaptive program to block ferroptosis and treat stroke. Cell 177(5):1262–79.e25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.032
- Avery JC, Hoffmann PR (2018) Selenium, selenoproteins, and immunity. Nutrients 10(9). https:// doi.org/10.3390/nu10091203
- Azzimato V, Chen P, Barreby E, Morgantini C, Levi L, Vankova A et al (2021) Hepatic miR-144 drives fumarase activity preventing NRF2 activation during obesity. Gastroenterology 161(6): 1982–97.e11. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.08.030
- Badgley MA, Kremer DM, Maurer HC, DelGiorno KE, Lee HJ, Purohit V et al (2020) Cysteine depletion induces pancreatic tumor ferroptosis in mice. Science (New York, NY) 368(6486): 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw9872
- Baird L, Yamamoto M (2020) The molecular mechanisms regulating the KEAP1-NRF2 pathway. Mol Cell Biol 40(13). https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00099-20
- Bao WD, Zhou XT, Zhou LT, Wang F, Yin X, Lu Y et al (2020) Targeting miR-124/Ferroportin signaling ameliorated neuronal cell death through inhibiting apoptosis and ferroptosis in aged

intracerebral hemorrhage murine model. Aging Cell 19(11):e13235. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13235

- Barbieri I, Kouzarides T (2020) Role of RNA modifications in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 20(6): 303–322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-020-0253-2
- Barski A, Cuddapah S, Cui K, Roh TY, Schones DE, Wang Z et al (2007) High-resolution profiling of histone methylations in the human genome. Cell 129(4):823–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2007.05.009
- Battaglia AM, Chirillo R, Aversa I, Sacco A, Costanzo F, Biamonte F (2020) Ferroptosis and cancer: mitochondria meet the "iron maiden" cell death. Cells 9(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells9061505
- Becker JS, Nicetto D, Zaret KS (2016) H3K9me3-dependent heterochromatin: barrier to cell fate changes. Trends Genet 32(1):29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2015.11.001
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH et al (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Chen HH, Chang HH, Chang JY, Tang YC, Cheng YC, Lin LM et al (2017) Enhanced B-Rafmediated NRF2 gene transcription and HATs-mediated NRF2 protein acetylation contributes to ABCC1-mediated chemoresistance and glutathione-mediated survival in acquired topoisomerase II poison-resistant cancer cells. Free Radic Biol Med 113:505–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2017.10.375
- Chen B, Wang H, Lv C, Mao C, Cui Y (2021a) Long non-coding RNA H19 protects against intracerebral hemorrhage injuries via regulating microRNA-106b-5p/acyl-CoA synthetase long chain family member 4 axis. Bioengineered 12(1):4004–4015. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 21655979.2021.1951070
- Chen M, Jiang Y, Sun Y (2021b) KDM4A-mediated histone demethylation of SLC7A11 inhibits cell ferroptosis in osteosarcoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 550:77–83. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2021.02.137
- Corsi S, Iodice S, Vigna L, Cayir A, Mathers JC, Bollati V et al (2020) Platelet mitochondrial DNA methylation predicts future cardiovascular outcome in adults with overweight and obesity. Clin Epigenetics 12(1):29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00825-5
- Cyr AR, Domann FE (2011) The redox basis of epigenetic modifications: from mechanisms to functional consequences. Antioxid Redox Signal 15(2):551–589. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars. 2010.3492
- Dhar S, Gursoy-Yuzugullu O, Parasuram R, Price BD (2017) The tale of a tail: histone H4 acetylation and the repair of DNA breaks. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 372(1731). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0284
- Ding C, Ding X, Zheng J, Wang B, Li Y, Xiang H et al (2020) miR-182-5p and miR-378a-3p regulate ferroptosis in I/R-induced renal injury. Cell Death Dis 11(10):929. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41419-020-03135-z
- Doll S, Conrad M (2017) Iron and ferroptosis: a still ill-defined liaison. IUBMB Life 69(6): 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1616
- Eichler J (2019) Protein glycosylation. Curr Biol 29(7):R229–Rr31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2019.01.003
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ et al (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Gai C, Liu C, Wu X, Yu M, Zheng J, Zhang W et al (2020) MT1DP loaded by folate-modified liposomes sensitizes erastin-induced ferroptosis via regulating miR-365a-3p/NRF2 axis in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 11(9):751. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-02939-3
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011

- Gao M, Yi J, Zhu J, Minikes AM, Monian P, Thompson CB et al (2019) Role of mitochondria in ferroptosis. Mol Cell 73(2):354–63.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.10.042
- Han M, Li J, Cao Y, Huang Y, Li W, Zhu H et al (2020) A role for LSH in facilitating DNA methylation by DNMT1 through enhancing UHRF1 chromatin association. Nucleic Acids Res 48(21):12116–12134. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa1003
- Han S, Wang R, Zhang Y, Li X, Gan Y, Gao F et al (2022) The role of ubiquitination and deubiquitination in tumor invasion and metastasis. Int J Biol Sci 18(6):2292–2303. https://doi. org/10.7150/ijbs.69411
- Hassannia B, Vandenabeele P, Vanden BT (2019) Targeting Ferroptosis to iron out cancer. Cancer Cell 35(6):830–849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.04.002
- Huang F, Yang R, Xiao Z, Xie Y, Lin X, Zhu P et al (2021) Targeting ferroptosis to treat cardiovascular diseases: a new continent to be explored. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:737971. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.737971
- Jambhekar A, Dhall A, Shi Y (2019) Roles and regulation of histone methylation in animal development. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(10):625–641. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0151-1
- Jia M, Qin D, Zhao C, Chai L, Yu Z, Wang W et al (2020) Redox homeostasis maintained by GPX4 facilitates STING activation. Nat Immunol 21(7):727–735. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0699-0
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang SJ, Su T, Hibshoosh H et al (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520(7545):57–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature14344
- Jiang Y, Mao C, Yang R, Yan B, Shi Y, Liu X et al (2017) EGLN1/c-Myc induced lymphoidspecific helicase inhibits ferroptosis through lipid metabolic gene expression changes. Theranostics 7(13):3293–3305. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.19988
- Jiang X, Guo S, Zhang Y, Zhao Y, Li X, Jia Y et al (2020) LncRNA NEAT1 promotes docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer by regulating ACSL4 via sponging miR-34a-5p and miR-204-5p. Cell Signal 65:109422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2019.109422
- Jiang L, Wang J, Wang K, Wang H, Wu Q, Yang C et al (2021) RNF217 regulates iron homeostasis through its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity by modulating ferroportin degradation. Blood 138(8): 689–705. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020008986
- Jin J, Wang Y, Zheng D, Liang M, He Q (2022) A novel identified circular RNA, mmu_mmu_circRNA_0000309, involves in Germacrone-mediated improvement of diabetic nephropathy through regulating ferroptosis by targeting miR-188-3p/GPX4 signaling axis. Antioxid Redox Signal 36(10–12):740–759. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2021.0063
- Jing YY, Cai FF, Zhang L, Han J, Yang L, Tang F et al (2020) Epigenetic regulation of the Warburg effect by H2B monoubiquitination. Cell Death Differ 27(5):1660–1676. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41418-019-0450-2
- Kawai K, Li YS, Song MF, Kasai H (2010) DNA methylation by dimethyl sulfoxide and methionine sulfoxide triggered by hydroxyl radical and implications for epigenetic modifications. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 20(1):260–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.10.124
- Kristensen LS, Andersen MS, Stagsted LVW, Ebbesen KK, Hansen TB, Kjems J (2019) The biogenesis, biology and characterization of circular RNAs. Nat Rev Genet 20(11):675–691. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0158-7
- Lawrence M, Daujat S, Schneider R (2016) Lateral thinking: how histone modifications regulate gene expression. Trends Genet 32(1):42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2015.10.007
- Lee JJ, Ishihara K, Notomi S, Efstathiou NE, Ueta T, Maidana D et al (2020) Lysosome-associated membrane protein-2 deficiency increases the risk of reactive oxygen species-induced ferroptosis in retinal pigment epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 521(2):414–419. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.10.138
- Li K, Wang Z (2022) Non-coding RNAs: key players in T cell exhaustion. Front Immunol 13: 959729. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.959729

- Li HJ, Li X, Pang H, Pan JJ, Xie XJ, Chen W (2015) Long non-coding RNA UCA1 promotes glutamine metabolism by targeting miR-16 in human bladder cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 45(11): 1055–1063. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyv132
- Li J, Cao F, Yin HL, Huang ZJ, Lin ZT, Mao N et al (2020) Ferroptosis: past, present and future. Cell Death Dis 11(2):88. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2298-2
- Li X, Si W, Li Z, Tian Y, Liu X, Ye S et al (2021) miR-335 promotes ferroptosis by targeting ferritin heavy chain 1 in in vivo and in vitro models of Parkinson's disease. Int J Mol Med 47(4). https:// doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2021.4894
- Li HW, Liu MB, Jiang X, Song T, Feng SX, Wu JY et al (2022) GALNT14 regulates ferroptosis and apoptosis of ovarian cancer through the EGFR/mTOR pathway. Future Oncol 18(2): 149–161. https://doi.org/10.2217/fon-2021-0883
- Liu XX, Li XJ, Zhang B, Liang YJ, Zhou CX, Cao DX et al (2011) MicroRNA-26b is underexpressed in human breast cancer and induces cell apoptosis by targeting SLC7A11. FEBS Lett 585(9):1363–1367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.04.018
- Liu T, Jiang L, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) The Deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. Cancer Res 79(8):1913–1924. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. Can-18-3037
- Liu N, Lin X, Huang C (2020) Activation of the reverse transsulfuration pathway through NRF2/ CBS confers erastin-induced ferroptosis resistance. Br J Cancer 122(2):279–292. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41416-019-0660-x
- Liu J, Ren Z, Yang L, Zhu L, Li Y, Bie C et al (2022a) The NSUN5-FTH1/FTL pathway mediates ferroptosis in bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Death Dis 8(1):99. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-00902-z
- Liu T, Xu P, Ke S, Dong H, Zhan M, Hu Q et al (2022b) Histone methyltransferase SETDB1 inhibits TGF-β-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in pulmonary fibrosis by regulating SNAII expression and the ferroptosis signaling pathway. Arch Biochem Biophys 715:109087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2021.109087
- Loda A, Collombet S, Heard E (2022) Gene regulation in time and space during X-chromosome inactivation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 23(4):231–249. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-021-00438-7
- Lu X, Kang N, Ling X, Pan M, Du W, Gao S (2021) MiR-27a-3p promotes non-small cell lung cancer through SLC7A11-mediated-ferroptosis. Front Oncol 11:759346. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fonc.2021.759346
- Lu Y, Chan YT, Tan HY, Zhang C, Guo W, Xu Y et al (2022) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis via ETS1/miR-23a-3p/ACSL4 axis mediates sorafenib resistance in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 41(1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-02208-x
- Luo M, Wu L, Zhang K, Wang H, Zhang T, Gutierrez L et al (2018) miR-137 regulates ferroptosis by targeting glutamine transporter SLC1A5 in melanoma. Cell Death Differ 25(8):1457–1472. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0053-8
- Lyu N, Zeng Y, Kong Y, Chen Q, Deng H, Ou S et al (2021) Ferroptosis is involved in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma through the circ0097009/miR-1261/SLC7A11 axis. Ann Transl Med 9(8):675. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm-21-997
- Ma LL, Liang L, Zhou D, Wang SW (2021) Tumor suppressor miR-424-5p abrogates ferroptosis in ovarian cancer through targeting ACSL4. Neoplasma 68(1):165–173. https://doi.org/10.4149/ neo_2020_200707N705
- Ma X, Yang B, Li X, Miao Z (2022) Tet enzymes-mediated DNA 5hmC modification in cerebral ischemic and hemorrhagic injury. Neurotox Res 40(3):884–891. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12640-022-00505-7
- Mao C, Wang X, Liu Y, Wang M, Yan B, Jiang Y et al (2018) A G3BP1-interacting lncRNA promotes ferroptosis and apoptosis in cancer via nuclear sequestration of p53. Cancer Res 78(13):3484–3496. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-17-3454

- Martisova A, Holcakova J, Izadi N, Sebuyoya R, Hrstka R, Bartosik M (2021) DNA methylation in solid tumors: functions and methods of detection. Int J Mol Sci 22(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms22084247
- Mattiroli F, Penengo L (2021) Histone ubiquitination: an integrative signaling platform in genome stability. Trends Genet 37(6):566–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2020.12.005
- Meng C, Zhan J, Chen D, Shao G, Zhang H, Gu W et al (2021) The deubiquitinase USP11 regulates cell proliferation and ferroptotic cell death via stabilization of NRF2 USP11 deubiquitinates and stabilizes NRF2. Oncogene 40(9):1706–1720. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-021-01660-5
- Michael AK, Thomä NH (2021) Reading the chromatinized genome. Cell 184(14):3599–3611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.05.029
- Moore LD, Le T, Fan G (2013) DNA methylation and its basic function. Neuropsychopharmacology 38(1):23–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.112
- Oerum S, Meynier V, Catala M, Tisné C (2021) A comprehensive review of m6A/m6Am RNA methyltransferase structures. Nucleic Acids Res 49(13):7239–7255. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab378
- Ou Y, Wang SJ, Li D, Chu B, Gu W (2016) Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(44):E6806–E6e12. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607152113
- Peixoto P, Cartron PF, Serandour AA, Hervouet E (2020) From 1957 to nowadays: a brief history of epigenetics. Int J Mol Sci 21(20). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21207571
- Polevoda B, Sherman F (2002) The diversity of acetylated proteins. Genome Biol 3(5): reviews0006. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2002-3-5-reviews0006
- Qi W, Li Z, Xia L, Dai J, Zhang Q, Wu C et al (2019) LncRNA GABPB1-AS1 and GABPB1 regulate oxidative stress during erastin-induced ferroptosis in HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Sci Rep 9(1):16185. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52837-8
- Qureshi MZ, Sabitaliyevich UY, Rabandiyarov M, Arystanbekuly AT (2022) Role of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) in metastasis. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-Grand) 68(1):226–236. https://doi.org/10.14715/cmb/2022.68.1.27
- Radhakrishnan R, Kowluru RA (2021) Long noncoding RNA MALAT1 and regulation of the antioxidant defense system in diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes 70(1):227–239. https://doi.org/10. 2337/db20-0375
- Saliminejad K, Khorram Khorshid HR, Soleymani Fard S, Ghaffari SH (2019) An overview of microRNAs: biology, functions, therapeutics, and analysis methods. J Cell Physiol 234(5): 5451–5465. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27486
- Santesmasses D, Mariotti M, Gladyshev VN (2020) Bioinformatics of selenoproteins. Antioxid Redox Signal 33(7):525–536. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2020.8044
- Shen M, Li Y, Wang Y, Shao J, Zhang F, Yin G et al (2021) N(6)-methyladenosine modification regulates ferroptosis through autophagy signaling pathway in hepatic stellate cells. Redox Biol 47:102151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.102151
- Shvedunova M, Akhtar A (2022) Modulation of cellular processes by histone and non-histone protein acetylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 23(5):329–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-021-00441-y
- Skvortsova K, Stirzaker C, Taberlay P (2019) The DNA methylation landscape in cancer. Essays Biochem 63(6):797–811. https://doi.org/10.1042/ebc20190037
- Song Z, Jia G, Ma P, Cang S (2021) Exosomal miR-4443 promotes cisplatin resistance in non-small cell lung carcinoma by regulating FSP1 m6A modification-mediated ferroptosis. Life Sci 276: 119399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119399
- Sui S, Zhang J, Xu S, Wang Q, Wang P, Pang D (2019) Ferritinophagy is required for the induction of ferroptosis by the bromodomain protein BRD4 inhibitor (+)-JQ1 in cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 10(5):331. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-1564-7
- Sun J, Zhou C, Zhao Y, Zhang X, Chen W, Zhou Q et al (2021) Quiescin sulfhydryl oxidase 1 promotes sorafenib-induced ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma by driving EGFR

endosomal trafficking and inhibiting NRF2 activation. Redox Biol 41:101942. 10.1016/j. redox.2021.101942

- Tesfay L, Paul BT, Konstorum A, Deng Z, Cox AO, Lee J et al (2019) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 protects ovarian cancer cells from ferroptotic cell death. Cancer Res 79(20):5355–5366. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-19-0369
- Tucci V, Isles AR, Kelsey G, Ferguson-Smith AC (2019) Genomic imprinting and physiological processes in mammals. Cell 176(5):952–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.043
- van Heesch S, Witte F, Schneider-Lunitz V, Schulz JF, Adami E, Faber AB et al (2019) The translational landscape of the human heart. Cell 178(1):242–60.e29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2019.05.010
- Wang Y, Yu L, Ding J, Chen Y (2018) Iron metabolism in cancer. Int J Mol Sci 20(1). https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms20010095
- Wang M, Mao C, Ouyang L, Liu Y, Lai W, Liu N et al (2019a) Long noncoding RNA LINC00336 inhibits ferroptosis in lung cancer by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. Cell Death Differ 26(11):2329–2343. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0304-y
- Wang Y, Yang L, Zhang X, Cui W, Liu Y, Sun QR et al (2019b) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis by H2B monoubiquitination and p53. EMBO Rep 20(7):e47563. https://doi.org/ 10.15252/embr.201847563
- Wang X, Ye L, Zhang K, Gao L, Xiao J, Zhang Y (2020a) Upregulation of microRNA-200a in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells enhances the repair of spinal cord injury in rats by reducing oxidative stress and regulating Keap1/Nrf2 pathway. Artif Organs 44(7):744–752. https://doi. org/10.1111/aor.13656
- Wang Y, Zhao Y, Wang H, Zhang C, Wang M, Yang Y et al (2020b) Histone demethylase KDM3B protects against ferroptosis by upregulating SLC7A11. FEBS Open Bio 10(4):637–643. https:// doi.org/10.1002/2211-5463.12823
- Wang Z, Chen X, Liu N, Shi Y, Liu Y, Ouyang L et al (2021a) A nuclear long non-coding RNA LINC00618 accelerates ferroptosis in a manner dependent upon apoptosis. Mol Ther 29(1): 263–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.024
- Wang HH, Ma JN, Zhan XR (2021b) Circular RNA Circ_0067934 attenuates ferroptosis of thyroid cancer cells by miR-545-3p/SLC7A11 signaling. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 12:670031. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2021.670031
- Wang J, Yin X, He W, Xue W, Zhang J, Huang Y (2021c) SUV39H1 deficiency suppresses clear cell renal cell carcinoma growth by inducing ferroptosis. Acta Pharm Sin B 11(2):406–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.09.015
- Wang Y, Zhang M, Bi R, Su Y, Quan F, Lin Y et al (2022) ACSL4 deficiency confers protection against ferroptosis-mediated acute kidney injury. Redox Biol 51:102262. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.redox.2022.102262
- Wu Y, Zhan S, Xu Y, Gao X (2021) RNA modifications in cardiovascular diseases, the potential therapeutic targets. Life Sci 278:119565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119565
- Wu C, Du M, Yu R, Cheng Y, Wu B, Fu J et al (2022) A novel mechanism linking ferroptosis and endoplasmic reticulum stress via the circPtpn14/miR-351-5p/5-LOX signaling in melatoninmediated treatment of traumatic brain injury. Free Radic Biol Med 178:271–294. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.12.007
- Xiao S, Liu N, Yang X, Ji G, Li M (2021) Polygalacin D suppresses esophageal squamous cell carcinoma growth and metastasis through regulating miR-142-5p/Nrf2 axis. Free Radic Biol Med 164:58–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.11.029
- Xu Y, Luo X, He W, Chen G, Li Y, Li W et al (2018) Long non-coding RNA PVT1/miR-150/ HIG2 axis regulates the proliferation, invasion and the balance of iron metabolism of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell Physiol Biochem 49(4):1403–1419. https://doi.org/10.1159/000493445
- Xu R, Li C, Liu X, Gao S (2021a) Insights into epigenetic patterns in mammalian early embryos. Protein Cell 12(1):7–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-020-00757-z

- Xu Z, Chen L, Wang C, Zhang L, Xu W (2021b) MicroRNA-1287-5p promotes ferroptosis of osteosarcoma cells through inhibiting GPX4. Free Radic Res 55(11–12):1119–1129. https://doi. org/10.1080/10715762.2021.2024816
- Xu P, Wang Y, Deng Z, Tan Z, Pei X (2022) MicroRNA-15a promotes prostate cancer cell ferroptosis by inhibiting GPX4 expression. Oncol Lett 23(2):67. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol. 2022.13186
- Yadav P, Sharma P, Sundaram S, Venkatraman G, Bera AK, Karunagaran D (2021) SLC7A11/ xCT is a target of miR-5096 and its restoration partially rescues miR-5096-mediated ferroptosis and anti-tumor effects in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Lett 522:211–224. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.canlet.2021.09.033
- Yang M, Yao Y, Eades G, Zhang Y, Zhou Q (2011) MiR-28 regulates Nrf2 expression through a Keap1-independent mechanism. Breast Cancer Res Treat 129(3):983–991. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10549-011-1604-1
- Yang Y, Luo M, Zhang K, Zhang J, Gao T, Connell DO et al (2020) Nedd4 ubiquitylates VDAC2/3 to suppress erastin-induced ferroptosis in melanoma. Nat Commun 11(1):433. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-020-14324-x
- Yang H, Hu Y, Weng M, Liu X, Wan P, Hu Y et al (2022) Hypoxia inducible lncRNA-CBSLR modulates ferroptosis through m6A-YTHDF2-dependent modulation of CBS in gastric cancer. J Adv Res 37:91–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2021.10.001
- Yi J, Zhu J, Wu J, Thompson CB, Jiang X (2020) Oncogenic activation of PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling suppresses ferroptosis via SREBP-mediated lipogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(49):31189–31197. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017152117
- Zhang Y, Koppula P, Gan B (2019) Regulation of H2A ubiquitination and SLC7A11 expression by BAP1 and PRC1. Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 18(8):773–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15384101.2019.1597506
- Zhang L, Lu Q, Chang C (2020a) Epigenetics in health and disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 1253:3–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3449-2_1
- Zhang X, Huang Z, Xie Z, Chen Y, Zheng Z, Wei X et al (2020b) Homocysteine induces oxidative stress and ferroptosis of nucleus pulposus via enhancing methylation of GPX4. Free Radic Biol Med 160:552–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.08.029
- Zhang H, Deng T, Liu R, Ning T, Yang H, Liu D et al (2020c) CAF secreted miR-522 suppresses ferroptosis and promotes acquired chemo-resistance in gastric cancer. Mol Cancer 19(1):43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01168-8
- Zhang Y, Sun Z, Jia J, Du T, Zhang N, Tang Y et al (2021a) Overview of histone modification. Adv Exp Med Biol 1283:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-8104-5_1
- Zhang Y, Guo S, Wang S, Li X, Hou D, Li H et al (2021b) LncRNA OIP5-AS1 inhibits ferroptosis in prostate cancer with long-term cadmium exposure through miR-128-3p/SLC7A11 signaling. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 220:112376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112376
- Zhang X, Xu Y, Ma L, Yu K, Niu Y, Xu X et al (2022a) Essential roles of exosome and circRNA_101093 on ferroptosis desensitization in lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Commun (Lond) 42(4):287–313. https://doi.org/10.1002/cac2.12275
- Zhang J, Chen S, Wei S, Cheng S, Shi R, Zhao R et al (2022b) CircRAPGEF5 interacts with RBFOX2 to confer ferroptosis resistance by modulating alternative splicing of TFRC in endometrial cancer. Redox Biol 57:102493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102493
- Zhao Y, Garcia BA (2015) Comprehensive catalog of currently documented histone modifications. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7(9):a025064. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a025064
- Zhao Y, Li Y, Zhang R, Wang F, Wang T, Jiao Y (2020) The role of erastin in ferroptosis and its prospects in cancer therapy. Onco Targets Ther 13:5429–5441. https://doi.org/10.2147/ott. S254995
- Zheng J, Guo J, Wang Y, Zheng Y, Zhang K, Tong J (2021) Bioinformatic analyses of the ferroptosis-related lncRNAs signature for ovarian cancer. Front Mol Biosci 8:735871. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.735871

- Zhou X, Zhuo M, Zhang Y, Shi E, Ma X, Li H (2021) miR-190a-5p regulates cardiomyocytes response to ferroptosis via directly targeting GLS2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 566:9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.05.100
- Zhuang S, Ma Y, Zeng Y, Lu C, Yang F, Jiang N et al (2021) METTL14 promotes doxorubicininduced cardiomyocyte ferroptosis by regulating the KCNQ10T1-miR-7-5p-TFRC axis. Cell Biol Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-021-09660-7
- Zuo J, Zhao M, Fan Z, Liu B, Wang Y, Li Y et al (2020) MicroRNA-153-3p regulates cell proliferation and cisplatin resistance via Nrf-2 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Thoracic Cancer 11(3):738–747. https://doi.org/10.1111/1759-7714.13326



12

Organelle-specific Mechanisms of Ferroptosis

Xin Chen

Abstract

Ferroptosis, which occurs due to the peroxidation of unsaturated lipids, is associated with several pathological conditions. The fate of a ferroptotic cell is determined by the extent of damage and repair of biological membranes. In recent years, it has been discovered that multiple organelles are involved in regulating intracellular signaling pathways that either promote or inhibit ferroptosis. This chapter is dedicated to discussing the regulation of ferroptosis by various organelles, such as mitochondria, lipid droplets, endoplasmic reticulum, lysosomes, ribosomes, peroxisomes, and the Golgi apparatus. Given the crucial role of lipid peroxidation in this process, we emphasize the importance of various cellular events, including ROS production, antioxidant systems, iron metabolism, and lipid metabolism, in different organelles.

12.1 Introduction

Ferroptosis is a form of cell death triggered by excessive lipid peroxidation-mediated membrane damage (Dixon et al. 2012; Xie et al. 2016). The onset of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis is primarily caused by the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in membrane lipids, which is dependent on the presence of iron. The key antioxidant system that counteracts lipid peroxidation is composed of solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11), glutathione (GSH), and glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) (Dixon et al. 2012; Yang et al. 2014). SLC7A11, a plasma membrane

X. Chen (🖂)

Affiliated Cancer Hospital & Institute of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou Municipal and Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Protein Modification and Degradation, State Key Laboratory of Respiratory Disease, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China a mail, schory in graphy and an

e-mail: chenxin@gzhmu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_12

antiporter, plays a critical role in maintaining GSH synthesis by facilitating the transport of cystine. Within cells, cystine is converted to cysteine, which serves as a building block for GSH synthesis. GPX4, a GSH-dependent enzyme, reduces lipid peroxides to their alcohol form, thus limiting lipid peroxidation. Inhibition of SLC7A11-mediated cystine uptake or GSH-dependent GPX4 activity can result in excessive lipid peroxidation and subsequent ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012; Yang et al. 2014). GPX4 is found in the cytosol, mitochondria, and nucleus. While the roles of cytosolic and mitochondrial GPX4 in defending against ferroptosis are well established, the function of nuclear GPX4 remains incompletely understood. In addition to the GSH-dependent pathway, cells possess a GSH-independent mechanism to resist ferroptosis. For instance, in the cytosol, apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 (AIFM2/FSP1) reduces Coenzyme O (CoO) to its active form, CoQH₂. Similarly, in the mitochondria, dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) or glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 2 (GPD2) are responsible for this reduction process (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019; Mao et al. 2021b; Wu et al. 2022). CoQH₂ functions as a lipidic antioxidant, effectively limiting lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Lipid peroxidation-induced disruption of the cell membrane can be repaired by the endosomal sorting complex required for transport-III (ESCRT-III) machinery (Dai et al. 2020b; Pedrera et al. 2020).

Biological membranes play a crucial role in maintaining cellular architecture and physiology. The plasma membrane acts as a barrier, separating the cell's interior from the external environment, and regulates the transport of substances into and out of the cell. The nucleus is surrounded by the nuclear envelope, which serves as a repository of genetic information and controls cell metabolism and heredity. In eukaryotic cells, membrane-bound organelles provide compartments that partially restrict the free exchange of proteins and metabolites. Autophagy, an intracellular membrane trafficking pathway, functions to clear damaged or unnecessary cytoplasmic material. It has a dual role in cell death, contributing both to protection and destruction (Kroemer and Jaattela 2005). The regulation of ferroptosis involves various regulators in different organelles, including mitochondria, lipid droplets (LDs), endoplasmic reticulum (ER), lysosomes, ribosomes, peroxisomes, and the Golgi apparatus (Chen et al. 2021e, f).

12.2 Role of Mitochondria in Ferroptosis

Mitochondria are dynamic organelles involved in energy generation, metabolism, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, and cell death. In the context of ferroptosis, both mitochondria-dependent and mitochondria-independent pathways have been reported. Mitochondrial depletion has been shown to promote ferroptosis induced by cystine starvation or the inhibition of SLC7A11 (e.g., erastin), while it does not affect cellular sensitivity to GPX4 inhibitors (e.g., RSL3 and FIN56) (Gao et al. 2019; Gaschler et al. 2018). Several regulators of mitochondrial metabolism, iron, ROS, mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), and proteins have been implicated in the regulation of the ferroptotic response (Fig. 12.1).



Fig. 12.1 Role of mitochondria in ferroptosis. Ferroptotic response is regulated by mitochondrial VDACs (**a**), ROS production and antioxidant system (**b**), TCA cycle and ETC (**c**), iron (**d**), mtDNA stress (**e**), proteases OMA1 (**f**), mitophagy (**g**), and apoptosis-related proteins (**h**)

12.2.1 Morphological Morphology in Ferroptosis

In electron microscopic studies, ferroptotic cells exhibit intact nuclei and show no alterations in nuclear morphology, which distinguishes them from apoptotic cells (Yagoda et al. 2007). However, the most prominent mitochondrial morphological changes observed in ferroptosis include increased membrane densities, decreased volume, and a reduction in the number of cristae (Dixon et al. 2012; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). These changes suggest that ferroptosis may induce mitochondrial dysfunction. However, the precise mechanisms underlying these alterations in mitochondrial morphology remain largely unclear.

12.2.2 Mitochondrial VDACs as Targets for Erastin

The voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) is a mitochondrial porin located in the outer membrane of mitochondria. It facilitates the exchange of various ions and metabolites between the mitochondria and cytosol. Additionally, VDAC serves as a platform for numerous proteins such as hexokinase (HK) or BCL2-associated X, apoptosis regulator (BAX), which may be involved in cell survival or cell death processes (Shoshan-Barmatz et al. 2008). Studies utilizing affinity-based target identification have identified VDACs as important targets for erastin (Yagoda et al. 2007). Knockdown of VDAC2 or VDAC3 has been shown to inhibit erastininduced ferroptosis. However, overexpression of VDAC3 does not affect erastin sensitivity, suggesting that while VDACs are necessary for erastin-induced ferroptosis, they are not sufficient on their own (Yagoda et al. 2007). Consistently, an inhibitor of VDAC oligomerization called VBIT-12 has been found to alleviate ferroptosis-induced liver injury in mice with acetaminophen-induced liver injury (Niu et al. 2022). Furthermore, ubiquitination plays a significant role in the regulation of VDAC during ferroptosis. Erastin induces the degradation of VDAC2 or VDAC3 through the ubiquitin-proteasome system in melanoma cells (Yang et al. 2020). NEDD4 has been identified as an essential E3 ligase for the ubiquitination and degradation of VDAC2 or VDAC3 induced by erastin (Yang and Stockwell 2008). Inhibition of NEDD4 enhances the stabilization of VDAC2 or VDAC3 and increases sensitivity to erastin (Yang and Stockwell 2008). Interestingly, erastin has also been shown to induce ROS-dependent apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells through its interaction with VDAC1 (Huo et al. 2016), suggesting that VDAC serves as a regulatory hub for multiple types of cell death. However, GPX4 inhibitors (e.g., RSL3) appear to induce ferroptosis in a manner independent of VDAC and NEDD4 (Yang and Stockwell 2008; Yang et al. 2020). It remains unclear whether the inhibition of cysteine uptake by erastin affects the function of VDAC isoforms.

12.2.3 Mitochondrial ROS

Mitochondria are intracellular organelles that generate a significant amount ROS. While earlier articles dismissed the involvement of mitochondrial ROS in ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012), recent studies have revealed that mitochondrial ROS can act as a crucial source of ROS-mediated ferroptotic cell death in specific contexts (Liang et al. 2022). In erastin-treated mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), lipid peroxidation in mitochondria occurs earlier than in the plasma membrane (Gao et al. 2019). Ferroptosis can lead to an increase in hypochlorous acid (HClO), a reactive oxygen species, within mitochondria (Fang et al. 2022). Consistently, mitoquinone, a mitochondria-targeted antioxidant, has been shown to reverse erastin- or RSL3induced ferroptosis in liver cancer cells or mouse hippocampal cells (Jelinek et al. 2018; Oh et al. 2022). Similarly, the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoTEMPO effectively scavenges mitochondrial ROS to inhibit ferroptosis in doxorubicininduced cardiomyopathy, whereas non-mitochondria-targeted antioxidants have weaker effects (Fang et al. 2019). Additionally, malondialdehyde (MDA), one of the end products of lipid peroxidation, exhibits higher levels within the mitochondria of doxorubicin-induced ferroptotic cardiomyocytes compared to the non-mitochondrial fraction (Tadokoro et al. 2020). These findings highlight the significant role of mitochondrial ROS in ferroptosis-related diseases.

Mitochondria, being inherently producers of ROS, also possess powerful antioxidant systems to detoxify both endogenous and exogenous ROS. Antioxidant enzymes such as GPX4 and DHODH, as well as endogenous substances like CoQ and GSH, located within mitochondria, play a critical role in suppressing ferroptosis. GPX4, in addition to its cytoplasmic distribution, is also present in mitochondria and protects them from ferroptosis-mediated doxorubicin cardiotoxicity (Tadokoro et al. 2020). CoQ, synthesized at the mitochondrial inner membrane, acts as a GSH-independent endogenous molecule with strong anti-ferroptotic activity. Within mitochondria, DHODH or GPD2 promotes the reduction of CoQ to CoQH₂, a lipidsoluble antioxidant that effectively counteracts lipid peroxidation and inhibits ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2021a; Wu et al. 2022). Inactivation of GPX4 increases the flux through DHODH, leading to enhanced generation of CoQH₂ to neutralize lipid peroxidation and inhibit ferroptosis (Mao et al. 2021a). Consequently, inhibition of both mitochondrial GPX4 and DHODH results in the robust accumulation of mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and promotes ferroptosis.

Moreover, the mitochondrial protein presenilin-associated rhomboid-like (PARL) contributes to cellular protection against ferroptosis by facilitating the transport of CoQ from mitochondria to the plasma membrane (Deshwal et al. 2023). GSH, synthesized in the cytosol, is also localized within mitochondria at a concentration similar to that in the cytosol (Mari et al. 2009). Inhibition of the GSH transporters solute carrier family 25 member 10 (SLC25A10) and solute carrier family 25 member 11 (SLC25A11) depletes mitochondrial GSH and exacerbates ferroptosis in H9c2 cardioblasts (Jang et al. 2021). Specifically, FUN14 domain-containing protein 2 (FUNDC2), a mitochondrial outer membrane protein, promotes ferroptosis by interacting with SLC25A11 to decrease mitochondrial GSH levels (Ta et al. 2022). Thus, the mitochondrial antioxidant systems play a crucial role as important regulators of ferroptotic cell death.

12.2.4 Mitochondrial Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle and Oxidative Phosphorylation

In eukaryotic systems, the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) occur within mitochondria and are closely linked to ATP production. Under normal conditions, glucose, as the primary energy source, is converted to pyruvate via glycolysis in the cytoplasm. Pyruvate then enters the mitochondria to produce acetyl CoA, which fuels the TCA cycle and OXPHOS for complete metabolization. As discussed earlier, ROS generated by the electron transport chain (ETC) within the OXPHOS system may promote ferroptosis. Consequently, inhibitors of the ETC are known to suppress cystine starvation or erastin-induced ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2019). There is evidence suggesting that the TCA cycle is required for ferroptosis. Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 7A1 (COX7A1), a subunit of the mitochondrial ETC, enhances sensitivity to ferroptosis induced by cysteine deprivation through the promotion of mitochondrial TCA cycle activity (Feng et al. 2022). The activity of α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (KGDH), an enzyme within the TCA cycle that catalyzes the conversion of α -ketoglutarate (α KG) to succinyl-CoA, is increased during ferroptosis induced by cysteine deprivation or sulfasalazine (Shin et al. 2020). Intermediate products in the TCA cycle, such as α KG, succinic acid, and fumaric acid, can enhance ferroptosis induced by cysteine depletion (Gao et al. 2019). Interestingly, loss-of-function mutations in fumarate hydratase (FH), another TCA cycle enzyme responsible for the conversion of fumarate to malate, inhibit cystine starvation-induced ferroptosis in renal cancer cells (Gao et al. 2019). Paradoxically, another study shows that FH knockout cells are more sensitive to erastin-induced cell death (Kerins et al. 2018). Furthermore, downregulation of isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP(+)) 2 (IDH2), which catalyzes the conversion of isocitrate to α KG, promotes erastin-induced ferroptotic cell death (Kim et al. 2020). However, metabolic reprogramming towards a pro-ferroptotic phenotype occurs upon interfering with the expression of a single enzyme remains to be elucidated.

During glutaminolysis, glutamine is converted to glutamate, which can be further converted to αKG to fuel the TCA cycle. Glutaminases (GLSs) are rate-limiting enzymes that control glutaminolysis by catalyzing the hydrolysis of glutamine to glutamate. Interestingly, glutamine supplementation in an amino acid-starved medium induces ferroptotic cell death in PC3 cells (Ogor et al. 2021). In contrast, pharmacological and genetic inhibition of mitochondrial GLS2, but not the cytoplasmic isoform GLS1, inhibits ferroptotic cell death (Gao et al. 2015; Suzuki et al. 2022). Moreover, GLS2 is a transcriptional target of the tumor protein p53 (TP53) and may be required for TP53-mediated ferroptosis induction (Jennis et al. 2016). Additionally, microRNA 190a (MIR190A) targets GLS2, resulting in the downregulation of ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes (Zhou et al. 2021). Furthermore, besides its coupling with oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), the TCA cycle acts as a metabolic engine that can influence various metabolic pathways, including fatty acid synthesis. Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4) suppresses glucosemediated ferroptosis, partially by inhibiting the TCA cycle and subsequent fatty acid synthesis (Song et al. 2021). Thus, the mitochondrial TCA cycle and OXPHOS provide a fine-tuning mechanism in modulating ferroptosis.

12.2.5 Mitochondrial Iron

Intracellular iron promotes the production of ROS through the Fenton reaction, leading to lipid peroxidation during ferroptosis. Thus, iron metabolism plays a crucial role in the process of ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2020). Chelatable iron is present in mitochondria with a concentration of 4-12 μ M, similar to that in the cytosol and nuclei (Petrat et al. 2001). Mitochondrial iron overload induces inhibition of the antioxidant system, contributing to ferroptosis-mediated nephrotoxicity induced by aristolactam (Deng et al. 2020). Iron-sulfur-containing CISD family proteins on the outer mitochondrial membrane are involved in maintaining various mitochondrial functions. CISD1/mitoNEET may affect mitochondrial iron levels by regulating the function of VDAC1, a potential iron ion channel (Lipper et al. 2019). Systemic knockdown of CISD1 induces mitochondrial lipid peroxidation (Kusminski et al. 2012). Consistently, genetic inhibition of CISD1 increases mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and erastin-induced ferroptosis in liver cancer cells (Yuan et al.

2016). Similarly, disruption of CISD2 function leads to the accumulation of mitochondrial iron and ROS (Karmi et al. 2021). Accordingly, CISD2 promotes resistance to sorafenib- or sulfasalazine-induced ferroptotic cell death in hepatocellular carcinoma or head and neck cancer cells (Kim et al. 2018; Li et al. 2021a; Li et al. 2022c). CISD2 overexpression also alleviates ferroptosis-mediated neuronal injury following intracerebral hemorrhage in mice (Ruihao Li et al. 2023). Other iron-sulfur cluster assembly enzymes, such as frataxin (FXN), NFS1 cysteine desulfurase, and iron-sulfur cluster assembly enzyme (ISCU), inhibit ferroptosis by controlling iron metabolism and mitochondrial function (Alvarez et al. 2017; Terzi et al. 2021; Du et al. 2020; Du et al. 2019).

Ferritin has the capacity to store iron and protect cells from iron-mediated ferroptosis (Hou et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2016). As a predominantly cytoplasmic protein, it can also be localized in mitochondria, known as mitochondrial ferritin (FTMT). Overexpression of FTMT inhibits erastin-induced neuronal cell death (Wang et al. 2016). Additionally, hypoxia increases mitochondrial ferritin, leading to the inhibition of ferroptosis in primary human macrophages (Fuhrmann et al. 2020).

12.2.6 Mitochondrial DNA

Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which encodes essential OXPHOS-associated proteins, regulates ferroptotic cell death in a context-dependent manner. Initial studies showed that mtDNA-depleted (ρ^0) 143B cells and mtDNA-wild-type 143B cells exhibited similar sensitivity to erastin- and RSL3-induced ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012). However, subsequent studies demonstrated that SK-Hep1 ρ^0 cells were more resistant to erastin-induced ferroptosis compared to matched mtDNA-wildtype cells, due to upregulation of mitochondrial GPX4 expression (Oh et al. 2022). In contrast, mtDNA depletion induced by a mutant of deoxyguanosine kinase (DGUOK), an enzyme involved in mtDNA replication, enhanced ferroptosis sensitivity in hepatocytes by inducing iron overload (Jingyi Guo et al. 2021). ρ^0 cells appear to produce more lipid peroxidation, possibly due to mitochondrial dysfunction (Takashi et al. 2020). Moreover, doxorubicin can intercalate into mtDNA and induce ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes (Abe et al. 2022). Silencing the twinkle mtDNA helicase (TWNK) decreases the accumulation of doxorubicin in mitochondria and prevents doxorubicin-induced ferroptosis (Abe et al. 2022). However, the exact role of mtDNA-mediated mitochondrial function in ferroptosis remains unclear.

The release of double-stranded mtDNA from mitochondria to the cytosol can trigger inflammatory responses by activating the DNA-sensing cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (CGAS)-cGAMP-stimulator of interferon response cGAMP interactor 1 (STING1) pathway. In addition to initiating a type I interferon response, activation of STING1 also promotes autophagy in an interferon response-independent manner (Gui et al. 2019). An antiviral compound zalcitabine induces mtDNA stress and causes ferroptosis in human pancreatic cancer cells (Li et al. 2020). Mechanistically,

mtDNA stress activates the STING1 pathway, which promotes autophagydependent ferroptosis (Li et al. 2020). Additionally, the fatty acid ethanolamide oleoylethanolamide inhibits mtDNA stress, thereby alleviating ferroptosis in hyperlipidemia-mediated vascular calcification (Chen et al. 2023d).

12.2.7 Mitochondrial Proteases

OMA1 zinc metallopeptidase is an inner membrane protease that can be activated in response to mitochondrial stress, including mitochondrial depolarization and oxidative stress. In the presence of mitochondrial dysfunction, OMA1 cleaves DAP3 binding cell death enhancer 1 (DELE1), leading to the accumulation of DELE1 in the cytosol. This accumulation activates the downstream eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 1 (EIF2AK1/HRI), thereby inducing the integrated stress response (Guo et al. 2020). The OMA1-dependent integrated stress response plays a protective role against ferroptosis-induced cardiomyopathy by promoting the expression of GPX4 (Ahola et al. 2022).

12.2.8 Mitophagy and Ferroptosis

Mitophagy refers to the selective removal of mitochondria by autophagy. As a quality control mechanism, mitophagy eliminates defective mitochondria that are detrimental to cellular homeostasis. Initial studies showed that upon mitophagy, cells become more resistant to ferroptosis induced by cystine starvation or erastin, suggesting that mitochondria are essential for the initiation of ferroptosis (Gao et al. 2019). However, increasing evidence shows that mitophagy may function to promote ferroptotic cell death. First, several mitophagy agonists have been reported to promote autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. For instance, mitochondrial complex I inhibitor BAY 87-2243 triggers ferroptosis in melanoma cells by inducing mitophagy-dependent ROS production (Basit et al. 2017). Activation of mitophagy by carbonyl cyanide-m-chlorophenyl hydrazine (CCCP) also increases ferroptosis in osteoblasts (Wang et al. 2022). The organophosphorus flame retardant TDCPP induces neurotoxicity through the activation of mitophagy-related ferroptosis in vivo and in vitro (Qian et al. 2022). Additionally, the co-treatment of the ferroptosis inducer erastin and celastrol induces mitochondrial dysfunction and subsequent mitophagy through the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase 14 (MAPK14/p38)-mediated mitochondrial fission (Liu et al. 2021). Secondly, FUN14 domain-containing 1 (FUNDC1), a mitophagy receptor that interacts with microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (MAP1LC3) to mediate mitophagy, is required for ferroptosis (Peng et al. 2022). Thus, FUNDC1 deletion protects against paraquat-induced cardiotoxicity by inhibiting ferroptosis (Peng et al. 2022). Thirdly, mitophagy-dependent ferroptosis can also be regulated by amyloid-beta precursor protein (APP) (Li et al. 2022a), myoferlin (MYOF) (Rademaker et al. 2022), and FTMT (Wang et al. 2022) under different conditions. APP, extensively studied for its role in Alzheimer's disease, induces mitophagy-dependent ferroptosis in pericytes through the CD36-PTEN-induced kinase 1 (PINK1)-parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (PRKN) pathway, which may contribute to blood-brain barrier dys-function induced by APP (Li et al. 2022a). Pharmacological targeting of MYOF, an emerging oncoprotein, triggers mitophagy-dependent ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells (Rademaker et al. 2022). Silencing of FTMT, a mitochondrial iron storage protein, induces mitophagy-dependent ferroptosis in human osteoblast cells through the activation of the ROS-PINK1-PRKN pathway (Wang et al. 2022), indicating a close connection between mitochondrial iron and mitophagy. Lastly, inhibition of O-GlcNAcylation modification increases mitophagy, resulting in an accumulation of intracellular labile iron that enhances ferroptosis (Yu et al. 2022). Given the complex role of mitochondria in ferroptosis, caution should be exercised when drawing conclusions about whether mitophagy mediates ferroptosis.

12.2.9 Mitochondrial Crosstalk between Ferroptosis and Apoptosis

Mitochondria play a central role in apoptotic cell death. Various stimuli induce apoptosis by triggering mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP). BH3 interacting domain death agonist (BID), cleaved by caspase 8 (CASP8), translocates to mitochondria where it induces MOMP through the activation of BAX and/or BCL2 antagonist/killer 1 (BAK1). Following MOMP, mitochondrial pro-apoptotic proteins, such as cytochrome c and apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria associated 1 (AIFM1, also known as AIF), are released from mitochondria to activate apoptosis. AIFM1 induces caspase-independent apoptosis by causing chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation in the cell nucleus. Interestingly, BID and AIFM1 have also been implicated in certain contexts of ferroptosis induction. The ferroptosis inducer RSL3 induces mitochondrial fragmentation and MOMP in neuronal HT22 cells and MEFs (Jelinek et al. 2018). Unexpectedly, pharmacological and genetic inhibition of BID prevents cells from succumbing to ferroptosis induced by RSL3 (Jelinek et al. 2018; Neitemeier et al. 2017). Deficiency of GPX4 increases lipid peroxidation and induces nuclear translocation of AIFM1 in MEFs (Seiler et al. 2008). Importantly, knockdown of AIFM1 limits GPX4-deficient or GPX4 inhibitor-induced ferroptotic cell death (Seiler et al. 2008; Jelinek et al. 2018). Moreover, BCL2 like 11 (BCL2L11/BIM) and BAX may also act upstream of SLC7A11 and GPX4 to enhance ferroptosis in certain circumstances (Tang et al. 2022). However, the mechanism of mitochondrial pro-apoptotic proteins in ferroptosis is still not fully understood. Nevertheless, combining ferroptosis inducers with apoptosis-inducing drugs could be an innovative approach in cancer therapy (Lee et al. 2020a).

12.3 Role of Lipid Droplets (LDs) in Ferroptosis

LDs (lipid droplets) are dynamic organelles involved in the storage of neutral lipids, primarily triacylglycerides and cholesterol esters. The biogenesis and degradation of LDs are closely linked to cellular lipid metabolism and play a key role in buffering toxic lipid species (Olzmann and Carvalho 2019). In ferroptotic cells triggered by erastin and RSL3, LDs exhibit increased viscosity and polarity (Dong et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2021), suggesting a connection between ferroptosis and LDs. Growing evidence shows that LDs function as negative regulators of ferroptosis (Bai et al. 2019). The formation of LDs is increased during the early stages of treatment with ferroptosis inducers, potentially serving as a negative feedback mechanism (Bai et al. 2019). Similarly, tumor protein D52 (TPD52)-mediated lipid storage prevents ferroptotic cell death (Bai et al. 2019). In contrast, the induction of ferroptosis is partially dependent on RAB7A, a protein required for the autophagic breakdown of LDs (lipophagy) (Bai et al. 2019). Mechanistically, lipophagy enhances intracellular polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) and subsequent lipid peroxidation. Additionally, progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (PGRMC1), a heme-binding protein, promotes ferroptosis through lipophagy in paclitaxel-tolerant persister cancer cells (You et al. 2021). Thus, the activation of lipophagy-dependent ferroptosis might be an attractive strategy to eliminate resistant cancer cells.

12.4 Role of Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) in Ferroptosis

ER plays a critical role in ferroptosis by regulating lipid peroxidation, ER stress, lipid synthesis, protein trafficking, and ion transport.

12.4.1 Lipid Peroxidation in ER

ER is a continuous membrane system surrounding the perinuclear space and closely associated with other organelles, such as the Golgi, mitochondria, peroxisomes, and lysosomes. In ferroptosis, the ER plays a significant role as an important source of lipid peroxidation. First, ferrostatin-1 and its analogs (ferrostatins) are distributed in the ER, lysosomes, and mitochondria, but it appears that ER-localized ferrostatins are crucial for effective suppression of ferroptosis, although direct evidence is still lacking (Gaschler et al. 2018). Second, deuterated polyunsaturated fatty acids at their bis-allylic sites (D-PUFAs) act as ferroptosis inhibitors by accumulating in the ER membrane (von Krusenstiern et al. 2023), indicating that the ER is an important regulatory organelle for ferroptosis induction. Third, FINO2, a lipophilic ferroptosis inducer, localizes to the ER and Golgi (von Krusenstiern et al. 2023). Moreover, ferroptosis induced by various inducers (including RSL3, FIN56, and FINO2) leads to lipid peroxidation in the ER (von Krusenstiern et al. 2023). Fourth, GSH levels in the ER decrease during erastin-induced ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2023b), which may contribute to increased lipid peroxidation in the ER. Fifth, iron overload in the ER of

cardiomyocytes induces ferroptosis during ischemia-reperfusion injury (Miyamoto et al. 2022). These findings indicate that lipid peroxidation in ER can cause ferroptosis.

12.4.2 ER Stress

ER is the principal organelle responsible for protein folding and maturation. The ER stress response is activated when protein folding in the ER is disrupted, triggered by various stimuli including oxidative stress. Accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER can lead to ER stress. While adaptive responses to ER stress aim to restore ER homeostasis, excessive ER stress can induce cell death. The transcription factor activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) plays a crucial role in the response to ER stress and is upregulated in various stress states, including ER stress. During ferroptosis, ER stress can increase ER viscosity and alter pH (Silswal and Koner 2023; Song et al. 2022; Hao et al. 2021). Treatment with erastin induces phosphorylation of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A (EIF2A) and subsequent upregulation of ATF4 in HT-1080 cells (Dixon et al. 2014). However, the role of ER stress-induced ATF4 in ferroptosis is controversial. ATF4 can upregulate the expression of HSPA5, which stabilizes GPX4, or transcriptionally activate the expression of SLC7A11, driving resistance to ferroptosis in cancer cells (Zhu et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2017a). Constituently, ER stress may activate endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT)-III, which promotes membrane repair in ferroptosis (Dai et al. 2020b). Accordingly, ER stress induced by the flavonoid resveratrol protects cells forms ferroptosis in MIN6 cells (Zhang et al. 2022b). In contrast, ATF4 triggers the transcriptional activation of GSH-degrading enzyme ChaC glutathione specific gamma-glutamylcyclotransferase 1 (CHAC1), which accelerates ferroptosis by degradation of GSH (Wang et al. 2019a; Chen et al. 2017b). Furthermore, ER stress contributes to ferroptosis induced by artesunate or erastin through the activation of autophagy or ferritinophagy (Lee et al. 2020b; He et al. 2022). The physical and biochemical connections between the ER and mitochondria can also influence ferroptosis. Dysfunction of the mitochondriaassociated ER membrane may contribute to arsenic-induced pulmonary ferroptosis (Li et al. 2022b). These findings suggest a dual role of ER stress in the regulation of ferroptotic cell death.

12.4.3 ER-resident Proteins

Solute carrier family 39 member 7 (SLC39A7, also known as ZIP7) is an ER-located zinc transporter that plays an essential role in ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2021a). The potential involvement of zinc in ferroptosis has been investigated, revealing that exogenous zinc promotes ferroptosis, while TPEN, a zinc chelator, inhibits ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2021a). Mechanically, inhibition of the ZIP7 protects cells against ferroptosis through activation of ER stress (Chen et al. 2021a). The induction

of the homocysteine inducible ER protein with ubiquitin like domain 1 (HERPUD1) by ER stress may be responsible for the protective effects of zinc chelation on ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2021a). Given that iron and copper ions are required for ferroptosis (Xue et al. 2023), the process of ferroptosis likely involves the coordinated action of these metal elements.

STING1, a transmembrane protein located on the ER, acts as an adaptor protein for the interferon response and a positive regulator of autophagy. The CGAS-STING1 pathway is activated in response to cytosolic DNA, leading to robust innate immune responses. In ferroptotic pancreatic cells, the release of oxidized nucleobase 8-hydroxyguanine (8-OHG) triggers the activation of STING1 (Dai et al. 2020a). STING1-dependent inflammation promotes pancreatic tumorigenesis by enhancing macrophage activation and infiltration (Dai et al. 2020a). Furthermore, zalcitabine induces mtDNA stress, leading to the activation of STING1-mediated autophagy and subsequent induction of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer (Li et al. 2020). However, lipid peroxidation induced by GPX4 knockout inhibits STING1 function through carbonylation in myeloid cells (Jia et al. 2020). It appears that lipid peroxidation directly inhibits STING1 activity, while lipid peroxidation products (such as 8-OHG) or lipid peroxidation-induced mtDNA stress can activate the STING1 pathway, promoting autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Additionally, Mn²⁺ facilitates ferroptosis by activating CGAS-STING1 signaling in tumor cells, which downregulates DHODH function (Zhang et al. 2022a).

Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) is an ER membrane-bound enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting step of monounsaturated fatty acids synthesis (MUFA). Distinct from PUFA, MUFA suppresses ferroptosis possibly due to its ability to compete with PUFA to incorporate into phospholipids. Thus, SCD acts as a negative regulator of ferroptosis (Magtanong et al. 2019; Tesfay et al. 2019). Signaling pathway that regulates SCD may be linked to ferroptosis in various kinds of cancer. Firstly, sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1 (SREBP1) is one of the key transcription factors of SCD and contributes to ferroptosis resistance (Yi et al. 2020; Zhao et al. 2020). In several types of cancer cells, constitutive activation of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha (PIK3CA/ PI3K)-AKT-mechanistic target of rapamycin kinase (MTOR) signaling or loss of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) decreases ferroptosis sensitivity by promoting SREBP1-mediated transcription of SCD (Yi et al. 2020; Zhao et al. 2020). Moreover, co-mutation of serine/threonine kinase 11 (STK11) and Kelch like ECH associated protein 1 (KEAP1) may result in elevated expression of SCD in lung adenocarcinoma (Wohlhieter et al. 2020). F-Box and WD repeat domain containing 7 (FBW7) inhibits the expression of SCD, while hypoxia and nutrient starvation microenvironment upregulate SCD, thus affecting ferroptosis sensitivity in pancreatic cancer (Ye et al. 2021; Gao et al. 2021). Combined treatment with SCD inhibitors and ferroptosis inducers provides a potential anticancer therapeutic strategy. Collectively, these findings suggest an optimal strategy for treating cancers by inhibition of anti-ferroptotic SCD.

12.4.4 ER-phagy

ER-phagy, also known as reticulophagy, is a selective autophagy process that targets the degradation of the ER. One of the key regulators of ER-phagy is reticulophagy regulator 1 (RETREG1/FAM134B), an ER-phagy receptor that interacts with LC3 to facilitate ER degradation through autophagy (Khaminets et al. 2015). In hepatocellular carcinoma cells, sorafenib induces ER-phagy (Liu et al. 2022c). However, when FAM134B is knocked down, ER-phagy is blocked, leading to increased cell sensitivity to sorafenib-induced ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022c). These findings suggest that ER-phagy may act as a protective mechanism inhibiting sorafenib-induced ferroptosis.

12.5 Role of Lysosomes in Ferroptosis

Lysosomes are organelles surrounded by a single membrane and contain an acidic environment with a pH ranging from 4.5 to 5. They are often referred to as "suicide bags" due to their role in releasing various digestive enzymes during accidental or unregulated cellular processes. Lysosomes not only contribute to apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagic cell death but also play a role in initiating ferroptotic signaling.

12.5.1 Lysosomal Cathepsins

Lysosomes contain a variety of hydrolases that can be released into the cytosol when lysosomes are disrupted due to severe cellular stimuli. Inhibition of lysosomal function by various inhibitors, such as bafilomycin A1, ammonium chloride, and pepstatin A, can block ferroptotic cell death induced by erastin or cystine starvation (Torii et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2016). Among the numerous lysosomal hydrolases, cathepsins, a group of proteases involved in protein turnover, have been extensively studied. Pharmacological inhibition of cathepsins, specifically by CA-074Me, limits erastin-induced ferroptosis (Kuang et al. 2020; Nagakannan et al. 2021), highlighting the essential role of cathepsins in ferroptosis. In particular, the release of lysosomal cathepsin B (CTSB) is a critical step during the execution of ferroptotic cell death (Gao et al. 2018; Kuang et al. 2020; Nagakannan et al. 2021). Ferroptosis inducers enhance the expression of CTSB in human pancreatic cancer cells through the activation of the MEK-ERK-signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway (Gao et al. 2018). He released CTSB that not only induces DNA damage (Kuang et al. 2020), but also cleaves histone H3, contributing to the execution of ferroptotic cell death (Nagakannan et al. 2021). It appears that lipid peroxidation serves as an upstream activator of the release of lysosomal CTSB. These findings underscore the critical role of lysosomal cathepsin release as a pivotal step in ferroptosis.

12.5.2 Lysosomal Iron and ROS

Lysosomes have the capacity to accumulate significant amounts of iron through the degradation of ferritin or other organelles. The presence of Fe^{2+} in lysosomes can generate reactive hydroxyl radicals, which can compromise lysosomal membrane integrity and induce ferroptosis. For example, a lysosome-targeted ROS inducer can accelerate the iron-mediated Fenton reaction, leading to ferroptosis in cancer cells (Chen et al. 2022b). Additionally, dichloroacetate induces ferroptosis in colorectal cancer cells by increasing and sequestering iron within lysosomes (Sun et al. 2021a). Knockdown of the lysosomal protein prosaposin (PSAP) results in the accumulation of iron in lipofuscin, leading to ferroptosis in neurons (Tian et al. 2021). However, lysosomal stress may also have a suppressive effect on ferroptosis through the upregulation of superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) mediated by the transcription factor EB (TFEB) (Li et al. 2019). The specific mechanisms by which lysosome stress induces either protective or damaging responses in the context of ferroptosis are still unclear.

12.5.3 Lysosomal Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide is generated endogenously from L-arginine by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in a wide variety of organisms. It acts as a signaling molecule in various physiological and pathological conditions. Non-thermal plasma (NTP) is a promising technology for generating reactive species. Non-thermal plasma-activated Ringer's lactate (PAL) induces ferroptosis in malignant mesothelioma cells by increasing lysosomal nitric oxide levels (Jiang et al. 2021). This leads to the subsequent accumulation of nitric oxide in lysosomes, which may induce lysosomal membrane permeabilization and lysosomal lipid peroxidation (Jiang et al. 2021).

12.5.4 Lysosome in Autophagy

Autophagy is a proteolytic degradation pathway that relies on the lysosome's degradative capabilities. During autophagy, autophagosomes merge with lysosomes to form autolysosomes, where the sequestered contents are degraded by lysosomal hydrolases. This highly conserved process is executed by a set of autophagy-related (ATG) genes and proteins. Several ATGs, including ATG3, ATG5, BECN1 (also known as ATG6), ATG7, and ATG13, are essential for ferroptosis in specific contexts (Hou et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2016; Park and Chung 2019). Ferroptosis has been sometimes recognized as an autophagic cell death process (Gao et al. 2016; Zhou et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2022b; Chen et al. 2023a). Besides the discussed mitophagy, lipophagy, and ER-phagy, the autophagic degradation of ferroptosis modulators or organelles can also impact ferroptosis sensitivity. First, autophagic degradation of ferritin (ferritinophagy) (Hou et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2016) and solute carrier family 40 member 1 (SLC40A1) (Li et al. 2021b) promote, while autophagic

degradation of TFRC (Xiong et al. 2021) inhibits, ferroptosis by regulating intracellular Fe²⁺ levels. Second, autophagic degradation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator like (ARNTL/BMAL1, known as clockophagy) (Yang et al. 2019) facilitates ferroptosis by increasing intracellular free fatty acid levels. Third, autophagy- or chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA)-mediated GPX4 degradation results in the accumulation of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Wu et al. 2019; Xue et al. 2023; Sun et al. 2021b). Fourth, hippocalcin like 1 (HPCAL1) acts as a specific autophagy receptor for ferroptosis by mediating the autophagic degradation of cadherin 2 (CDH2) (Chen et al. 2023c). HPCAL1-mediated CDH2 degradation decreases membrane tension to favor lipid peroxidation (Chen et al. 2023c). These findings demonstrate the critical role of autophagy as a common regulatory mechanism in mediating ferroptosis. However, the extent of interdependency between autophagy and lysosomal function in ferroptosis-related diseases is still unclear. Further research is needed to elucidate their interconnectedness.

12.6 Role of Ribosome in Ferroptosis

The ribosome is the main organelle responsible for protein translation, converting the genetic code into amino acid sequences. In addition to free ribosomes, a portion of ribosomes is attached to the ER membranes. Ribosome-mediated protein translation tightly regulates ferroptosis. Treatment with the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX) or knockdown of ribosomal protein L8 (RPL8) inhibits erastin-induced ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012), suggesting that de novo protein synthesis may be required for the induction of ferroptosis. Interestingly, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (EIF4E), a key component of protein synthesis, promotes ferroptosis by limiting the metabolism of 4-hydroxynonenal (4HNE) mediated by aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member B1 (ALDH1B1) in a translation-independent manner (Chen et al. 2022a). The translational regulation of GPX4 has been a focus of research. Firstly, the protein synthesis of GPX4 can be regulated by the availability of selenium or cyst(e)ine. Selenium is utilized in the translation of certain selenoproteins, including GPX4. LDL receptor-related protein 8 (LRP8) acts as a receptor for the uptake of the selenium-rich protein selenoprotein P (SELENOP/SEPP1), and its breakdown by the lysosome releases selenium. Thus, LRP8 inhibits ferroptosis by enhancing cellular selenium levels and subsequent GPX4 protein translation (Li et al. 2022d). Cystine or cysteine promotes GPX4 protein translation by activating the mTOR complex 1 (MTORC1)-eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1 (EIF4EBP1) signaling pathway (Zhang et al. 2021). Accordingly, inhibition of SLC7A11 mediated-cystine uptake decreases not only GSH synthesis, but also GPX4 protein levels (Zhang et al. 2021). Secondly, a specific selenocysteine tRNA is required for the insertion of selenocysteine into GPX4. Isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP), a product of the mevalonate (MVA) pathway, enhances GPX4 synthesis by promoting the maturation of selenocysteine tRNA. Thus, disruption of the MVA pathway by statins can

downregulate GPX4 protein synthesis, thereby increasing ferroptosis sensitivity (Viswanathan et al. 2017).

12.7 Role of Peroxisomes in Ferroptosis

The discovery of various ROS-producing enzymes (e.g., urate oxidase/UOX or xanthine dehydrogenase/XDH) and ROS-metabolizing enzymes (e.g., catalase/ CAT and SOD1) in peroxisomes supports the key role of peroxisomes in both the production and scavenging of ROS. The involvement of peroxisomal biogenesis proteins in ether phospholipid (ePL) biosynthesis has established a direct relationship between peroxisomes and ferroptosis (Zou et al. 2020). ePL is a unique class of phospholipids characterized by an ether bond at the sn-1 position of the glycerol backbone. Similar to PUFA-phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) (Kagan et al. 2017), excessive oxidation of PUFA-ePL also leads to ferroptosis. Knockdown of peroxisomal biogenesis factors family proteins (e.g., PEX3 and PEX10) reduces the abundance of peroxisomes and protects cells from ferroptosis (Zou et al. 2020; Cui et al. 2021). Additionally, several peroxisomal enzymes such as fatty acyl-CoA reductase 1 (FAR1) and alkylglycerone phosphate synthase (AGPS), as well as **ER-resident** enzymes like 1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate O-acyltransferase 3 (AGPAT3) and transmembrane protein 164 (TMEM164), which catalyze the biosynthesis of ePL and PUFA-ePL, promote ferroptosis in a context-dependent manner (Zou et al. 2020; Cui et al. 2021; Reed et al. 2023). The positive role of TMEM164 in autophagy highlights another mechanism that promotes ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2023). Conversely, deficiency of these enzymes may decrease sensitivity to ferroptosis (Zou et al. 2020; Cui et al. 2021; Reed et al. 2023). Thus, peroxisomedriven accumulation of PUFA-ePL increases susceptibility to ferroptotic cell death. However, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPARD/PPAR\delta) inhibits ferroptosis by upregulating the expression of peroxisomal CAT, which helps quench hydrogen peroxide in peroxisomes (Hwang et al. 2021). Collectively, these results emphasize a critical role of peroxisome in modulating ferroptosis (Tang and Kroemer 2020).

12.8 Role of Golgi in Ferroptosis

The Golgi apparatus functions to process, sort, and transport proteins synthesized by the ER. Golgi stress induced by compounds like brefeldin A and golgicide A can trigger ferroptosis (Alborzinia et al. 2018). However, it is worth noting that brefeldin A can also induce ER stress, which actually protects cells from erastin-induced ferroptosis (Lin et al. 2021a). Therefore, it appears that Golgi stress leads to ferroptosis only when a death threshold is reached. Additionally, UbiA prenyltransferase domain containing 1 (UBIAD1), which catalyzes CoQ10 biosynthesis in the Golgi, has been found to attenuate ischemic/reperfusion-mediated ferroptosis in neuronal cells by restoring impaired mitochondria and Golgi (Huang et al. 2022). Although there is currently limited evidence linking Golgi stress to ferroptosis, further research is needed to explore the specific mechanisms in detail.

12.9 Conclusions and Perspectives

Research in the field of ferroptosis is rapidly expanding and has been investigated in almost every organ system of the body (Tang et al. 2021). When functioning properly, ferroptosis significantly contributes to human health, including tumor suppression and immune surveillance (Jiang et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2019b; Chen et al. 2021d). Induction of ferroptosis has emerged as a promising strategy for antitumor therapy (Chen et al. 2021c). As discussed in this review, our understanding of the role of organelles in the ferroptosis process is still in its early stages. Current evidence suggests that most organelles play a significant role in ferroptosis, although their contributions may vary (Chen et al. 2021e). The origins and dynamic changes of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis are not yet fully understood. While some studies have suggested a direct involvement of specific organelles such as mitochondria and the ER in lipid peroxidation, further research is needed to elucidate the specific contributions of organelles in lipid peroxidation using transgenic animal models or in clinical settings (Lin et al. 2021b). The regulatory functions of different organelles in ferroptosis provide promising opportunities for the treatment of ferroptosis-related diseases. However, our understanding of how organelles contribute to specific ferroptosis-related diseases is limited. Exploring the role of ferroptosis in the spectrum of human diseases may lead to unprecedented opportunities for the clinical application of ferroptosis-based therapies or biomarkers (Chen et al. 2021b). Additionally, developing organ-specific ferroptosis inducers or inhibitors poses a challenge in therapeutically targeting specific organs. Moving forward, it is important to expand our understanding of the crosstalk between different organelles, as this may uncover a more complex regulatory network involved in ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2022a).

References

- Abe K, Ikeda M, Ide T, Tadokoro T, Miyamoto HD, Furusawa S, Tsutsui Y, Miyake R, Ishimaru K, Watanabe M, Matsushima S, Koumura T, Yamada KI, Imai H, Tsutsui H (2022) Doxorubicin causes ferroptosis and cardiotoxicity by intercalating into mitochondrial DNA and disrupting Alas1-dependent heme synthesis. Sci Signal 15(758):eabn8017. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scisignal.abn8017
- Ahola S, Rivera Mejias P, Hermans S, Chandragiri S, Giavalisco P, Nolte H, Langer T (2022) OMA1-mediated integrated stress response protects against ferroptosis in mitochondrial cardiomyopathy. Cell Metab 34(11):1875–1891. e1877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2022.08.017
- Alborzinia H, Ignashkova TI, Dejure FR, Gendarme M, Theobald J, Wolfl S, Lindemann RK, Reiling JH (2018) Golgi stress mediates redox imbalance and ferroptosis in human cells. Commun Biol 1:210. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0212-6

- Alvarez SW, Sviderskiy VO, Terzi EM, Papagiannakopoulos T, Moreira AL, Adams S, Sabatini DM, Birsoy K, Possemato R (2017) NFS1 undergoes positive selection in lung tumours and protects cells from ferroptosis. Nature 551(7682):639–643. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24637
- Bai Y, Meng L, Han L, Jia Y, Zhao Y, Gao H, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D, Dai E (2019) Lipid storage and lipophagy regulates ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 508(4):997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.12.039
- Basit F, van Oppen LM, Schockel L, Bossenbroek HM, van Emst-de Vries SE, Hermeling JC, Grefte S, Kopitz C, Heroult M, Hgm Willems P, Koopman WJ (2017) Mitochondrial complex I inhibition triggers a mitophagy-dependent ROS increase leading to necroptosis and ferroptosis in melanoma cells. Cell Death Dis 8(3):e2716. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.133
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Chen D, Fan Z, Rauh M, Buchfelder M, Eyupoglu IY, Savaskan N (2017a) ATF4 promotes angiogenesis and neuronal cell death and confers ferroptosis in a xCT-dependent manner. Oncogene 36(40):5593–5608. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.146
- Chen MS, Wang SF, Hsu CY, Yin PH, Yeh TS, Lee HC, Tseng LM (2017b) CHAC1 degradation of glutathione enhances cystine-starvation-induced necroptosis and ferroptosis in human triple negative breast cancer cells via the GCN2-eIF2alpha-ATF4 pathway. Oncotarget 8(70): 114588–114602. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.23055
- Chen Y, Mi Y, Zhang X, Ma Q, Song Y, Zhang L, Wang D, Xing J, Hou B, Li H, Jin H, Du W, Zou Z (2019) Dihydroartemisinin-induced unfolded protein response feedback attenuates ferroptosis via PERK/ATF4/HSPA5 pathway in glioma cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38(1):402. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1413-7
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D (2020) Iron Metabolism in Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 590226. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.590226
- Chen PH, Wu J, Xu Y, Ding CC, Mestre AA, Lin CC, Yang WH, Chi JT (2021a) Zinc transporter ZIP7 is a novel determinant of ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 12(2):198. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-021-03482-5
- Chen X, Comish PB, Tang D, Kang R (2021b) Characteristics and Biomarkers of Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:637162. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.637162
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021c) Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 18(5):280–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021d) Ferroptosis in infection, inflammation, and immunity. J Exp Med 218(6). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20210518
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021e) Organelle-specific regulation of ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ 28(10):2843–2856. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00859-z
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021f) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022a) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Chen Y, Yang Z, Wang S, Ma Q, Li L, Wu X, Guo Q, Tao L, Shen X (2022b) Boosting ROS-Mediated Lysosomal membrane permeabilization for cancer ferroptosis therapy. Adv Healthc Mater:e2202150. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202202150
- Chen F, Cai X, Kang R, Liu J, Tang D (2023a) Autophagy-dependent ferroptosis in cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2022.0202
- Chen Q, Wang Y, Yue T, Wei H, Li S, Dong B (2023b) Fluorescence imaging of intracellular glutathione levels in the endoplasmic reticulum to reveal the inhibition effect of Rutin on ferroptosis. Anal Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.2c04209

- Chen X, Song X, Li J, Zhang R, Yu C, Zhou Z, Liu J, Liao S, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2023c) Identification of HPCAL1 as a specific autophagy receptor involved in ferroptosis. Autophagy 19(1):54–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2059170
- Chen Z, Sun X, Li X, Liu N (2023d) Oleoylethanolamide alleviates hyperlipidaemia-mediated vascular calcification via attenuating mitochondrial DNA stress triggered autophagy-dependent ferroptosis by activating PPARalpha. Biochem Pharmacol 208:115379. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bcp.2022.115379
- Cui W, Liu D, Gu W, Chu B (2021) Peroxisome-driven ether-linked phospholipids biosynthesis is essential for ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00769-0
- Dai E, Han L, Liu J, Xie Y, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Bai L, Tang D (2020a) Ferroptotic damage promotes pancreatic tumorigenesis through a TMEM173/STING-dependent DNA sensor pathway. Nat Commun 11(1):6339. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20154-8
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020b) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110
- Deng HF, Yue LX, Wang NN, Zhou YQ, Zhou W, Liu X, Ni YH, Huang CS, Qiu LZ, Liu H, Tan HL, Tang XL, Wang YG, Ma ZC, Gao Y (2020) Mitochondrial iron overload-mediated inhibition of Nrf2-HO-1/GPX4 assisted ALI-induced nephrotoxicity. Front Pharmacol 11: 624529. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.624529
- Deshwal S, Onishi M, Tatsuta T, Bartsch T, Cors E, Ried K, Lemke K, Nolte H, Giavalisco P, Langer T (2023) Mitochondria regulate intracellular coenzyme Q transport and ferroptotic resistance via STARD7. Nat Cell Biol 25(2):246–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-022-01071-y
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Dixon SJ, Patel DN, Welsch M, Skouta R, Lee ED, Hayano M, Thomas AG, Gleason CE, Tatonetti NP, Slusher BS, Stockwell BR (2014) Pharmacological inhibition of cystine-glutamate exchange induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and ferroptosis. Elife 3:e02523. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.02523
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Grocin AG, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourao A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Dong B, Song W, Lu Y, Sun Y, Lin W (2021) Revealing the viscosity changes in lipid droplets during ferroptosis by the real-time and in situ near-infrared imaging. ACS Sens 6(1):22–26. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.0c02015
- Du J, Wang T, Li Y, Zhou Y, Wang X, Yu X, Ren X, An Y, Wu Y, Sun W, Fan W, Zhu Q, Wang Y, Tong X (2019) DHA inhibits proliferation and induces ferroptosis of leukemia cells through autophagy dependent degradation of ferritin. Free Radic Biol Med 131:356–369. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.12.011
- Du J, Zhou Y, Li Y, Xia J, Chen Y, Chen S, Wang X, Sun W, Wang T, Ren X, Wang X, An Y, Lu K, Hu W, Huang S, Li J, Tong X, Wang Y (2020) Identification of Frataxin as a regulator of ferroptosis. Redox Biol 32:101483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101483
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, Gu S, Gao F, Zhu N, Yin X, Cheng Q, Zhang P, Dai W, Chen J, Yang F, Yang HT, Linkermann A, Gu W, Min J, Wang F (2019) Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(7):2672–2680. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116

- Fang H, Chen Y, Geng S, Yao S, Guo Z, He W (2022) Super-Resolution Imaging of Mitochondrial HCIO during Cell Ferroptosis Using a Near-Infrared Fluorescent Probe. Anal Chem 94(51): 17904–17912. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.2c03887
- Feng Y, Xu J, Shi M, Liu R, Zhao L, Chen X, Li M, Zhao Y, Chen J, Du W, Liu P (2022) COX7A1 enhances the sensitivity of human NSCLC cells to cystine deprivation-induced ferroptosis via regulating mitochondrial metabolism. Cell Death Dis 13(11):988. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-022-05430-3
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Radmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Forster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Fuhrmann DC, Mondorf A, Beifuss J, Jung M, Brune B (2020) Hypoxia inhibits ferritinophagy, increases mitochondrial ferritin, and protects from ferroptosis. Redox Biol 36:101670. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101670
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q, Zhang W, Xiang J, Jiang X (2016) Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. Cell Res 26(9):1021–1032. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.95
- Gao H, Bai Y, Jia Y, Zhao Y, Kang R, Tang D, Dai E (2018) Ferroptosis is a lysosomal cell death process. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503(3):1550–1556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2018.07.078
- Gao M, Yi J, Zhu J, Minikes AM, Monian P, Thompson CB, Jiang X (2019) Role of mitochondria in ferroptosis. Mol Cell 73(2):354–363 e353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.10.042
- Gao J, Zhang Z, Liu Y, Zhang Z, Wang M, Gong A, Xia L, Liao X, Wang D, Zhu H (2021) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 potentiates hypoxic plus nutrient-deprived pancreatic cancer cell ferroptosis resistance. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2021:6629804. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/ 6629804
- Gaschler MM, Hu F, Feng H, Linkermann A, Min W, Stockwell BR (2018) Determination of the Subcellular Localization and Mechanism of Action of Ferrostatins in Suppressing Ferroptosis. ACS Chem Biol 13(4):1013–1020. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00199
- Gui X, Yang H, Li T, Tan X, Shi P, Li M, Du F, Chen ZJ (2019) Autophagy induction via STING trafficking is a primordial function of the cGAS pathway. Nature 567(7747):262–266. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1006-9
- Guo X, Aviles G, Liu Y, Tian R, Unger BA, Lin YT, Wiita AP, Xu K, Correia MA, Kampmann M (2020) Mitochondrial stress is relayed to the cytosol by an OMA1-DELE1-HRI pathway. Nature 579(7799):427–432. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2078-2
- Guo J, Duan L, He X, Li S, Yi W, Xiang G, Bao F, Yang L, Shi H, Gao M, Zheng L, Huili H, Liu X (2021) A Combined model of human iPSC-derived liver organoids and hepatocytes reveals ferroptosis in DGUOK mutant mtDNA depletion syndrome. Advanced Science. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/advs.202004680
- Hao L, Zhong YM, Tan CP, Mao ZW (2021) Quantitative tracking of endoplasmic reticulum viscosity during ferroptosis by an iridium complex via TPPLM. Chem Commun (Camb) 57(41): 5040–5042. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1cc01062j
- He Z, Shen P, Feng L, Hao H, He Y, Fan G, Liu Z, Zhu K, Wang Y, Zhang N, Hu X, Fu Y, Wu J (2022) Cadmium induces liver dysfunction and ferroptosis through the endoplasmic stressferritinophagy axis. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 245:114123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022. 114123
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366

- Huang Y, Liu J, He J, Hu Z, Tan F, Zhu X, Yuan F, Jiang Z (2022) UBIAD1 alleviates ferroptotic neuronal death by enhancing antioxidative capacity by cooperatively restoring impaired mitochondria and Golgi apparatus upon cerebral ischemic/reperfusion insult. Cell Biosci 12(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-022-00776-9
- Huo H, Zhou Z, Qin J, Liu W, Wang B, Gu Y (2016) Erastin disrupts mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mptp) and induces apoptotic death of colorectal cancer cells. PLoS One 11(5): e0154605. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154605
- Hwang JS, Kim E, Lee HG, Lee WJ, Won JP, Hur J, Fujii J, Seo HG (2021) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta rescues xCT-deficient cells from ferroptosis by targeting peroxisomes. Biomed Pharmacother 143:112223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021. 112223
- Jang S, Chapa-Dubocq XR, Tyurina YY, St Croix CM, Kapralov AA, Tyurin VA, Bayir H, Kagan VE, Javadov S (2021) Elucidating the contribution of mitochondrial glutathione to ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Redox Biol 45:102021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.102021
- Jelinek A, Heyder L, Daude M, Plessner M, Krippner S, Grosse R, Diederich WE, Culmsee C (2018) Mitochondrial rescue prevents glutathione peroxidase-dependent ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 117:45–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.01.019
- Jennis M, Kung CP, Basu S, Budina-Kolomets A, Leu JI, Khaku S, Scott JP, Cai KQ, Campbell MR, Porter DK, Wang X, Bell DA, Li X, Garlick DS, Liu Q, Hollstein M, George DL, Murphy ME (2016) An African-specific polymorphism in the TP53 gene impairs p53 tumor suppressor function in a mouse model. Genes Dev 30(8):918–930. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.275891.115
- Jia M, Qin D, Zhao C, Chai L, Yu Z, Wang W, Tong L, Lv L, Wang Y, Rehwinkel J, Yu J, Zhao W (2020) Redox homeostasis maintained by GPX4 facilitates STING activation. Nat Immunol 21(7):727–735. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0699-0
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang SJ, Su T, Hibshoosh H, Baer R, Gu W (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520(7545):57–62. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature14344
- Jiang L, Zheng H, Lyu Q, Hayashi S, Sato K, Sekido Y, Nakamura K, Tanaka H, Ishikawa K, Kajiyama H, Mizuno M, Hori M, Toyokuni S (2021) Lysosomal nitric oxide determines transition from autophagy to ferroptosis after exposure to plasma-activated Ringer's lactate. Redox Biol 43:101989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.101989
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayir H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Karmi O, Sohn YS, Zandalinas SI, Rowland L, King SD, Nechushtai R, Mittler R (2021) Disrupting CISD2 function in cancer cells primarily impacts mitochondrial labile iron levels and triggers TXNIP expression. Free Radic Biol Med 176:92–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2021.09.013
- Kerins MJ, Milligan J, Wohlschlegel JA, Ooi A (2018) Fumarate hydratase inactivation in hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer is synthetic lethal with ferroptosis induction. Cancer Sci 109(9):2757–2766. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13701
- Khaminets A, Heinrich T, Mari M, Grumati P, Huebner AK, Akutsu M, Liebmann L, Stolz A, Nietzsche S, Koch N, Mauthe M, Katona I, Qualmann B, Weis J, Reggiori F, Kurth I, Hubner CA, Dikic I (2015) Regulation of endoplasmic reticulum turnover by selective autophagy. Nature 522(7556):354–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14498
- Kim EH, Shin D, Lee J, Jung AR, Roh JL (2018) CISD2 inhibition overcomes resistance to sulfasalazine-induced ferroptotic cell death in head and neck cancer. Cancer Lett 432:180– 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.06.018
- Kim H, Lee JH, Park JW (2020) Down-regulation of IDH2 sensitizes cancer cells to erastin-induced ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 525(2):366–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2020.02.093

- Kroemer G, Jaattela M (2005) Lysosomes and autophagy in cell death control. Nat Rev Cancer 5(11):886–897. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1738
- Kuang F, Liu J, Li C, Kang R, Tang D (2020) Cathepsin B is a mediator of organelle-specific initiation of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 533(4):1464–1469. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2020.10.035
- Kusminski CM, Holland WL, Sun K, Park J, Spurgin SB, Lin Y, Askew GR, Simcox JA, McClain DA, Li C, Scherer PE (2012) MitoNEET-driven alterations in adipocyte mitochondrial activity reveal a crucial adaptive process that preserves insulin sensitivity in obesity. Nat Med 18(10): 1539–1549. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2899
- Lee YS, Kalimuthu K, Park YS, Luo X, Choudry MHA, Bartlett DL, Lee YJ (2020a) BAX-dependent mitochondrial pathway mediates the crosstalk between ferroptosis and apoptosis. Apoptosis 25(9-10):625–631. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-020-01627-z
- Lee YS, Kalimuthu K, Seok Park Y, Makala H, Watkins SC, Choudry MHA, Bartlett DL, Tae Kwon Y, Lee YJ (2020b) Ferroptotic agent-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress response plays a pivotal role in the autophagic process outcome. J Cell Physiol 235(10):6767–6778. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29571
- Li L, Sun S, Tan L, Wang Y, Wang L, Zhang Z, Zhang L (2019) Polystyrene Nanoparticles Reduced ROS and Inhibited Ferroptosis by Triggering Lysosome Stress and TFEB Nucleus Translocation in a Size-Dependent Manner. Nano Lett 19(11):7781–7792. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.nanolett.9b02795
- Li C, Zhang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2020) Mitochondrial DNA stress triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptotic death. Autophagy:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627. 2020.1739447
- Li B, Wei S, Yang L, Peng X, Ma Y, Wu B, Fan Q, Yang S, Li X, Jin H, Tang S, Huang M, Li H, Liu J (2021a) CISD2 promotes resistance to sorafenib-induced ferroptosis by regulating autophagy in hepatocellular carcinoma. Front Oncol 11:657723. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc. 2021.657723
- Li J, Liu J, Xu Y, Wu R, Chen X, Song X, Zeh H, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Wang X, Tang D (2021b) Tumor heterogeneity in autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy:1–14. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2021.1872241
- Li J, Li M, Ge Y, Chen J, Ma J, Wang C, Sun M, Wang L, Yao S, Yao C (2022a) beta-amyloid protein induces mitophagy-dependent ferroptosis through the CD36/PINK/PARKIN pathway leading to blood-brain barrier destruction in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Biosci 12(1):69. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13578-022-00807-5
- Li MD, Fu L, Lv BB, Xiang Y, Xiang HX, Xu DX, Zhao H (2022b) Arsenic induces ferroptosis and acute lung injury through mtROS-mediated mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membrane dysfunction. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 238:113595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2022.113595
- Li Y, Xu B, Ren X, Wang L, Xu Y, Zhao Y, Yang C, Yuan C, Li H, Tong X, Wang Y, Du J (2022c) Inhibition of CISD2 promotes ferroptosis through ferritinophagy-mediated ferritin turnover and regulation of p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway. Cell Mol Biol Lett 27(1):81. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s11658-022-00383-z
- Li Z, Ferguson L, Deol KK, Roberts MA, Magtanong L, Hendricks JM, Mousa GA, Kilinc S, Schaefer K, Wells JA, Bassik MC, Goga A, Dixon SJ, Ingolia NT, Olzmann JA (2022d) Ribosome stalling during selenoprotein translation exposes a ferroptosis vulnerability. Nat Chem Biol 18(7):751–761. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-022-01033-3
- Li R, Zhang X, Lingui G, Ye Yuan X, Luo WS, Xie Z (2023) CDGSH iron sulfur domain 2 overexpression alleviates neuronal ferroptosis and brain injury by inhibiting lipid peroxidation via AKT/mTOR pathway following intracerebral hemorrhage in mice. Journal of Neurochemistry 164(2)
- Liang NN, Zhao Y, Guo YY, Zhang ZH, Gao L, Yu DX, Xu DX, Xu S (2022) Mitochondriaderived reactive oxygen species are involved in renal cell ferroptosis during

lipopolysaccharide-induced acute kidney injury. Int Immunopharmacol 107:108687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2022.108687

- Lin CC, Ding CC, Sun T, Wu J, Chen KY, Zhou P, Chi JT (2021a) The regulation of ferroptosis by MESH1 through the activation of the integrative stress response. Cell Death Dis 12(8):727. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-021-04018-7
- Lin Z, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021b) Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Adv Biol (Weinh) 5(8):e2100396. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.202100396
- Lipper CH, Stofleth JT, Bai F, Sohn YS, Roy S, Mittler R, Nechushtai R, Onuchic JN, Jennings PA (2019) Redox-dependent gating of VDAC by mitoNEET. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(40): 19924–19929. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1908271116
- Liu M, Fan Y, Li D, Han B, Meng Y, Chen F, Liu T, Song Z, Han Y, Huang L, Chang Y, Cao P, Nakai A, Tan K (2021) Ferroptosis inducer erastin sensitizes NSCLC cells to celastrol through activation of the ROS-mitochondrial fission-mitophagy axis. Mol Oncol 15(8):2084–2105. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12936
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2022a) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 289(22):7038–7050. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Liu J, Liu Y, Wang Y, Li C, Xie Y, Klionsky DJ, Kang R, Tang D (2022b) TMEM164 is a new determinant of autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15548627.2022.2111635
- Liu Z, Ma C, Wang Q, Yang H, Lu Z, Bi T, Xu Z, Li T, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Liu J, Wei X, Li J (2022c) Targeting FAM134B-mediated reticulophagy activates sorafenib-induced ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 589:247–253. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2021.12.019
- Liu J, Liu Y, Wang Y, Li C, Xie Y, Klionsky DJ, Kang R, Tang D (2023) TMEM164 is a new determinant of autophagy-dependent ferroptosis. Autophagy 19(3):945–956. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2022.2111635
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, Ward CC, Cho K, Patti GJ, Nomura DK, Olzmann JA, Dixon SJ (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(3):420–432 e429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021a) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021b) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Mari M, Morales A, Colell A, Garcia-Ruiz C, Fernandez-Checa JC (2009) Mitochondrial glutathione, a key survival antioxidant. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(11):2685–2700. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ARS.2009.2695
- Miyamoto HD, Ikeda M, Ide T, Tadokoro T, Furusawa S, Abe K, Ishimaru K, Enzan N, Sada M, Yamamoto T, Matsushima S, Koumura T, Yamada KI, Imai H, Tsutsui H (2022) Iron overload via heme degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum triggers ferroptosis in *Myocardial ischemia*reperfusion injury. JACC Basic Transl Sci 7(8):800–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts.2022. 03.012
- Nagakannan P, Islam MI, Conrad M, Eftekharpour E (2021) Cathepsin B is an executioner of ferroptosis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1868(3):118928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamcr.2020.118928
- Neitemeier S, Jelinek A, Laino V, Hoffmann L, Eisenbach I, Eying R, Ganjam GK, Dolga AM, Oppermann S, Culmsee C (2017) BID links ferroptosis to mitochondrial cell death pathways. Redox Biol 12:558–570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.03.007
- Niu B, Lei X, Xu Q, Ju Y, Xu D, Mao L, Li J, Zheng Y, Sun N, Zhang X, Mao Y, Li X (2022) Protecting mitochondria via inhibiting VDAC1 oligomerization alleviates ferroptosis in
acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury. Cell Biol Toxicol 38(3):505–530. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10565-021-09624-x

- Ogor P, Yoshida T, Koike M, Kakizuka A (2021) VCP relocalization limits mitochondrial activity, GSH depletion and ferroptosis during starvation in PC3 prostate cancer cells. Genes Cells 26(8): 570–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/gtc.12872
- Oh SJ, Ikeda M, Ide T, Hur KY, Lee MS (2022) Mitochondrial event as an ultimate step in ferroptosis. Cell Death Discov 8(1):414. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-022-01199-8
- Olzmann JA, Carvalho P (2019) Dynamics and functions of lipid droplets. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(3):137–155. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0085-z
- Park E, Chung SW (2019) ROS-mediated autophagy increases intracellular iron levels and ferroptosis by ferritin and transferrin receptor regulation. Cell Death Dis 10(11):822. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-2064-5
- Pedrera L, Espiritu RA, Ros U, Weber J, Schmitt A, Stroh J, Hailfinger S, von Karstedt S, Garcia-Saez AJ (2020) Ferroptotic pores induce Ca(2+) fluxes and ESCRT-III activation to modulate cell death kinetics. Cell Death Differ. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00691-x
- Peng H, Fu S, Wang S, Xu H, Dhanasekaran M, Chen H, Shao C, Chen Y, Ren J (2022, 1868) Ablation of FUNDC1-dependent mitophagy renders myocardium resistant to paraquat-induced ferroptosis and contractile dysfunction. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis (9):166448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2022.166448
- Petrat F, de Groot H, Rauen U (2001) Subcellular distribution of chelatable iron: a laser scanning microscopic study in isolated hepatocytes and liver endothelial cells. Biochem J 356(Pt 1): 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1042/0264-6021:3560061
- Qian B, Jiang RJ, Song JL, Wang CQ (2022) Organophosphorus flame retardant TDCPP induces neurotoxicity via mitophagy-related ferroptosis in vivo and in vitro. Chemosphere 308(Pt 2): 136345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.136345
- Rademaker G, Boumahd Y, Peiffer R, Anania S, Wissocq T, Liegeois M, Luis G, Sounni NE, Agirman F, Maloujahmoum N, De Tullio P, Thiry M, Bellahcene A, Castronovo V, Peulen O (2022) Myoferlin targeting triggers mitophagy and primes ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Redox Biol 53:102324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102324
- Reed A, Ware T, Li H, Fernando Bazan J, Cravatt BF (2023) TMEM164 is an acyltransferase that forms ferroptotic C20:4 ether phospholipids. Nat Chem Biol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-022-01253-7
- Seiler A, Schneider M, Forster H, Roth S, Wirth EK, Culmsee C, Plesnila N, Kremmer E, Radmark O, Wurst W, Bornkamm GW, Schweizer U, Conrad M (2008) Glutathione peroxidase 4 senses and translates oxidative stress into 12/15-lipoxygenase dependent- and AIF-mediated cell death. Cell Metab 8(3):237–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.005
- Shin D, Lee J, You JH, Kim D, Roh JL (2020) Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase regulates cystine deprivation-induced ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. Redox Biol 30:101418. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101418
- Shoshan-Barmatz V, Keinan N, Zaid H (2008) Uncovering the role of VDAC in the regulation of cell life and death. J Bioenerg Biomembr 40(3):183–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10863-008-9147-9
- Silswal A, Koner AL (2023) Tracking endoplasmic reticulum viscosity during ferroptosis and autophagy using a molecular rotor probe. Chem Commun (Camb) 59(13):1769–1772. https:// doi.org/10.1039/d2cc06146e
- Song X, Liu J, Kuang F, Chen X, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Kroemer G, Xie Y, Tang D (2021) PDK4 dictates metabolic resistance to ferroptosis by suppressing pyruvate oxidation and fatty acid synthesis. Cell Rep 34(8):108767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108767
- Song W, Zhang W, Yue L, Lin W (2022) Revealing the Effects of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress on Ferroptosis by Two-Channel Real-Time Imaging of pH and Viscosity. Anal Chem 94(17): 6557–6565. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.2c00387

- Sun J, Cheng X, Pan S, Wang L, Dou W, Liu J, Shi X (2021a) Dichloroacetate attenuates the stemness of colorectal cancer cells via trigerring ferroptosis through sequestering iron in lysosomes. Environ Toxicol 36(4):520–529. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.23057
- Sun Y, Berleth N, Wu W, Schlutermann D, Deitersen J, Stuhldreier F, Berning L, Friedrich A, Akgun S, Mendiburo MJ, Wesselborg S, Conrad M, Berndt C, Stork B (2021b) Fin56-induced ferroptosis is supported by autophagy-mediated GPX4 degradation and functions synergistically with mTOR inhibition to kill bladder cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 12(11):1028. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41419-021-04306-2
- Suzuki S, Venkatesh D, Kanda H, Nakayama A, Hosokawa H, Lee E, Miki T, Stockwell BR, Yokote K, Tanaka T, Prives C (2022) GLS2 Is a Tumor Suppressor and a Regulator of Ferroptosis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cancer Res 82(18):3209–3222. https://doi.org/10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-21-3914
- Ta N, Qu C, Wu H, Zhang D, Sun T, Li Y, Wang J, Wang X, Tang T, Chen Q, Liu L (2022) Mitochondrial outer membrane protein FUNDC2 promotes ferroptosis and contributes to doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 119(36):e2117396119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2117396119
- Tadokoro T, Ikeda M, Ide T, Deguchi H, Ikeda S, Okabe K, Ishikita A, Matsushima S, Koumura T, Yamada KI, Imai H, Tsutsui H (2020) Mitochondria-dependent ferroptosis plays a pivotal role in doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. JCI. Insight 5(9). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.132747
- Takashi Y, Tomita K, Kuwahara Y, Roudkenar MH, Roushandeh AM, Igarashi K, Nagasawa T, Nishitani Y, Sato T (2020) Mitochondrial dysfunction promotes aquaporin expression that controls hydrogen peroxide permeability and ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 161:60–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.09.027
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020) Peroxisome: the new player in ferroptosis. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):273. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00404-3
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tang Q, Chen H, Mai Z, Sun H, Xu L, Wu G, Tu Z, Cheng X, Wang X, Chen T (2022) Bim- and Bax-mediated mitochondrial pathway dominates abivertinib-induced apoptosis and ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 180:198–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.01.013
- Terzi EM, Sviderskiy VO, Alvarez SW, Whiten GC, Possemato R (2021) Iron-sulfur cluster deficiency can be sensed by IRP2 and regulates iron homeostasis and sensitivity to ferroptosis independent of IRP1 and FBXL5. Sci Adv 7(22). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abg4302
- Tesfay L, Paul BT, Konstorum A, Deng Z, Cox AO, Lee J, Furdui CM, Hegde P, Torti FM, Torti SV (2019) Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase 1 Protects Ovarian Cancer Cells from Ferroptotic Cell Death. Cancer Res 79(20):5355–5366. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0369
- Tian R, Abarientos A, Hong J, Hashemi SH, Yan R, Drager N, Leng K, Nalls MA, Singleton AB, Xu K, Faghri F, Kampmann M (2021) Genome-wide CRISPRi/a screens in human neurons link lysosomal failure to ferroptosis. Nat Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00862-0
- Torii S, Shintoku R, Kubota C, Yaegashi M, Torii R, Sasaki M, Suzuki T, Mori M, Yoshimoto Y, Takeuchi T, Yamada K (2016) An essential role for functional lysosomes in ferroptosis of cancer cells. Biochem J 473(6):769–777. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20150658
- Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Dhruv HD, Gill S, Eichhoff OM, Seashore-Ludlow B, Kaffenberger SD, Eaton JK, Shimada K, Aguirre AJ, Viswanathan SR, Chattopadhyay S, Tamayo P, Yang WS, Rees MG, Chen S, Boskovic ZV, Javaid S, Huang C, Wu X, Tseng YY, Roider EM, Gao D, Cleary JM, Wolpin BM, Mesirov JP, Haber DA, Engelman JA, Boehm JS, Kotz JD, Hon CS, Chen Y, Hahn WC, Levesque MP, Doench JG, Berens ME, Shamji AF, Clemons PA, Stockwell BR, Schreiber SL (2017) Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. Nature 547(7664):453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23007
- von Krusenstiern AN, Robson RN, Qian N, Qiu B, Hu F, Reznik E, Smith N, Zandkarimi F, Estes VM, Dupont M, Hirschhorn T, Shchepinov MS, Min W, Woerpel KA, Stockwell BR (2023) Identification of essential sites of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41589-022-01249-3

- Wang YQ, Chang SY, Wu Q, Gou YJ, Jia L, Cui YM, Yu P, Shi ZH, Wu WS, Gao G, Chang YZ (2016) The protective role of mitochondrial ferritin on erastin-induced ferroptosis. Front Aging Neurosci 8:308. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00308
- Wang N, Zeng GZ, Yin JL, Bian ZX (2019a) Artesunate activates the ATF4-CHOP-CHAC1 pathway and affects ferroptosis in Burkitt's Lymphoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 519(3):533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.09.023
- Wang W, Green M, Choi JE, Gijon M, Kennedy PD, Johnson JK, Liao P, Lang X, Kryczek I, Sell A, Xia H, Zhou J, Li G, Li J, Li W, Wei S, Vatan L, Zhang H, Szeliga W, Gu W, Liu R, Lawrence TS, Lamb C, Tanno Y, Cieslik M, Stone E, Georgiou G, Chan TA, Chinnaiyan A, Zou W (2019b) CD8(+) T cells regulate tumour ferroptosis during cancer immunotherapy. Nature 569(7755):270–274. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1170-y
- Wang KN, Liu LY, Mao D, Xu S, Tan CP, Cao Q, Mao ZW, Liu B (2021) A Polarity-Sensitive Ratiometric Fluorescence Probe for Monitoring Changes in Lipid Droplets and Nucleus during Ferroptosis. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 60(27):15095–15100. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie. 202104163
- Wang X, Ma H, Sun J, Zheng T, Zhao P, Li H, Yang M (2022) Mitochondrial ferritin deficiency promotes osteoblastic ferroptosis via mitophagy in Type 2 diabetic osteoporosis. Biol Trace Elem Res 200(1):298–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-021-02627-z
- Wohlhieter CA, Richards AL, Uddin F, Hulton CH, Quintanal-Villalonga A, Martin A, de Stanchina E, Bhanot U, Asher M, Shah NS, Hayatt O, Buonocore DJ, Rekhtman N, Shen R, Arbour KC, Donoghue M, Poirier JT, Sen T, Rudin CM (2020) Concurrent mutations in STK11 and KEAP1 promote ferroptosis protection and SCD1 dependence in lung cancer. Cell Rep 33(9):108444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108444
- Wu Z, Geng Y, Lu X, Shi Y, Wu G, Zhang M, Shan B, Pan H, Yuan J (2019) Chaperone-mediated autophagy is involved in the execution of ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(8): 2996–3005. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1819728116
- Wu S, Mao C, Kondiparthi L, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2022) A ferroptosis defense mechanism mediated by glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 2 in mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 119(26):e2121987119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2121987119
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xiong Q, Li X, Li W, Chen G, Xiao H, Li P, Wu C (2021) WDR45 mutation impairs the autophagic degradation of transferrin receptor and promotes ferroptosis. Front Mol Biosci 8:645831. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.645831
- Xue Q, Yan D, Chen X, Li X, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Chen X, Tang D, Liu J (2023) Copper-dependent autophagic degradation of GPX4 drives ferroptosis. Autophagy:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2023.2165323
- Yagoda N, von Rechenberg M, Zaganjor E, Bauer AJ, Yang WS, Fridman DJ, Wolpaw AJ, Smukste I, Peltier JM, Boniface JJ, Smith R, Lessnick SL, Sahasrabudhe S, Stockwell BR (2007) RAS-RAF-MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels. Nature 447(7146):864–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05859
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1-2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yang M, Chen P, Liu J, Zhu S, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2019) Clockophagy is a novel selective autophagy process favoring ferroptosis. Sci Adv 5(7): eaaw2238. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw2238

- Yang Y, Luo M, Zhang K, Zhang J, Gao T, Connell DO, Yao F, Mu C, Cai B, Shang Y, Chen W (2020) Nedd4 ubiquitylates VDAC2/3 to suppress erastin-induced ferroptosis in melanoma. Nat Commun 11(1):433. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14324-x
- Ye Z, Zhuo Q, Hu Q, Xu X, Mengqi L, Zhang Z, Xu W, Liu W, Fan G, Qin Y, Yu X, Ji S (2021) FBW7-NRA41-SCD1 axis synchronously regulates apoptosis and ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Redox Biol 38:101807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101807
- Yi J, Zhu J, Wu J, Thompson CB, Jiang X (2020) Oncogenic activation of PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling suppresses ferroptosis via SREBP-mediated lipogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(49):31189–31197. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017152117
- You JH, Lee J, Roh JL (2021) PGRMC1-dependent lipophagy promotes ferroptosis in paclitaxeltolerant persister cancer cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 40(1):350. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-02168-2
- Yu F, Zhang Q, Liu H, Liu J, Yang S, Luo X, Liu W, Zheng H, Liu Q, Cui Y, Chen G, Li Y, Huang X, Yan X, Zhou J, Chen Q (2022) Dynamic O-GlcNAcylation coordinates ferritinophagy and mitophagy to activate ferroptosis. Cell Discov 8(1):40. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41421-022-00390-6
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) CISD1 inhibits ferroptosis by protection against mitochondrial lipid peroxidation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(2):838–844. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.034
- Zhang Y, Swanda RV, Nie L, Liu X, Wang C, Lee H, Lei G, Mao C, Koppula P, Cheng W, Zhang J, Xiao Z, Zhuang L, Fang B, Chen J, Qian SB, Gan B (2021) mTORC1 couples cyst(e)ine availability with GPX4 protein synthesis and ferroptosis regulation. Nat Commun 12(1):1589. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21841-w
- Zhang S, Kang L, Dai X, Chen J, Chen Z, Wang M, Jiang H, Wang X, Bu S, Liu X, Zhang G, Tang H (2022a) Manganese induces tumor cell ferroptosis through type-I IFN dependent inhibition of mitochondrial dihydroorotate dehydrogenase. Free Radic Biol Med 193(Pt 1):202–212. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.10.004
- Zhang X, Jiang L, Chen H, Wei S, Yao K, Sun X, Yang G, Jiang L, Zhang C, Wang N, Wang Y, Liu X (2022b) Resveratrol protected acrolein-induced ferroptosis and insulin secretion dysfunction via ER-stress- related PERK pathway in MIN6 cells. Toxicology 465:153048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2021.153048
- Zhao Y, Li M, Yao X, Fei Y, Lin Z, Li Z, Cai K, Zhao Y, Luo Z (2020) HCAR1/MCT1 regulates tumor ferroptosis through the lactate-mediated AMPK-SCD1 activity and its therapeutic implications. Cell Rep 33(10):108487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108487
- Zhou B, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Tang D (2020) Ferroptosis is a type of autophagydependent cell death. Semin Cancer Biol 66:89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019. 03.002
- Zhou X, Zhuo M, Zhang Y, Shi E, Ma X, Li H (2021) miR-190a-5p regulates cardiomyocytes response to ferroptosis via directly targeting GLS2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 566:9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.05.100
- Zhu S, Zhang Q, Sun X, Zeh HJ 3rd, Lotze MT, Kang R, Tang D (2017) HSPA5 regulates ferroptotic cell death in cancer cells. Cancer Res 77(8):2064–2077. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-16-1979
- Zou Y, Henry WS, Ricq EL, Graham ET, Phadnis VV, Maretich P, Paradkar S, Boehnke N, Deik AA, Reinhardt F, Eaton JK, Ferguson B, Wang W, Fairman J, Keys HR, Dancik V, Clish CB, Clemons PA, Hammond PT, Boyer LA, Weinberg RA, Schreiber SL (2020) Plasticity of ether lipids promotes ferroptosis susceptibility and evasion. Nature 585(7826):603–608. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2732-8



Ferroptosis: A Promising Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases

13

Amir Ajoolabady, Domenico Pratico, Nils Henninger, Jaakko Tuomilehto, Daniel J. Klionsky, and Jun Ren

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) refer to a group of conditions that affect the heart and blood vessels and are a leading cause of death worldwide. Ferroptosis is an iron-dependent regulated cell death process that occurs due to unlimited lipid peroxidation and subsequent plasma membrane rupture. Impaired ferroptosis has been linked to the pathophysiology of various CVDs, including

A. Ajoolabady

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama, USA

D. Pratico Alzheimer's Center at Temple, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

N. Henninger Department of Neurology, University of Massachusetts, Worcester, MA, USA

Department of Psychiatry, University of Massachusetts, Worcester, MA, USA

J. Tuomilehto Public Health Promotion Unit, Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, Helsinki, Finland

Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Diabetes Research Group, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

D. J. Klionsky (🖂) Life Sciences Institute, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Department of Molecular, Cellular, and Developmental Biology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA e-mail: klionsky@umich.edu

J. Ren (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai Institute of Cardiovascular Diseases, Shanghai, China

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_13

cardiomyopathies, myocardial infarction and ischemia, coronary atherosclerosis, and heart failure. Excessive iron accumulation can trigger phospholipid hydroperoxide accumulation in the cell membrane and ferroptosis, ultimately causing CVD. Conversely, iron deficiency, which often develops under conditions of malnutrition, negatively affects cardiac metabolism and function in humans. This chapter delves into the role of ferroptosis in the pathophysiology of CVD and explores therapeutic targets and compounds for preventing ferroptosis-related CVD.

13.1 Introduction

Proper function of the cardiovascular system requires a fine-tuned homeostasis of many trace elements including iron. Ferroptosis refers to highly regulated irondependent cell death, which is implicated in the pathophysiology of a broad range of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) such as in cardiomyopathies, myocardial infarction and ischemia, coronary atherosclerosis, and heart failure (Del Re et al. 2019; Ajoolabady et al. 2021). Iron deficiency frequently develops under malnutrition and negatively impacts cardiac metabolism and function in humans (Bi et al. 2021). Conversely, iron overload is associated with intracellular oxidative stress, contributing to cardiovascular pathologies (Bi et al. 2021; Berdoukas et al. 2015). In cardiomyocytes, excessive iron triggers ferroptosis via phospholipid hydroperoxide accumulation in the cell membrane, ultimately causing CVD (Fang et al. 2019). In this chapter, we discuss the role of ferroptosis and its underpinning mechanisms in the pathophysiology of CVD, as well as highlighting potential pre-clinical targets and therapeutic compounds for the prevention of ferroptosis in CVD.

13.2 Role and Signaling Pathways of Ferroptosis in CVD and Potential Therapeutic Targets

13.2.1 Myocardial Infarction and Heart Ischemia

Multiple pieces of evidence have identified ferroptosis in the pathogenesis of myocardial infarction (MI) and ischemia (Zhao et al. 2021). During acute and subacute stages of MI, *GPX4* downregulation leads to lipid peroxidation and induction of ferroptosis in H9c2 cardiomyocytes under conditions of hypoxia-reperfusion (H/R) (Park et al. 2019). Meanwhile, cysteine deprivation aggravates ferroptosis due in part to effects on glutathione (GSH) synthesis (Park et al. 2019). Moreover, upregulation of the long noncoding RNA (lncRNA) *Erdr1y/Gm47283* in a murine model of MI blocks microRNA *Mir706*, leading to upregulation of *Ptgs2* mRNA, induction of ferroptosis, and ultimately, exacerbation of MI (Gao et al. 2022). Conversely, inhibition of *Erdr1y* lncRNA and/or overexpression of *Mir706* alleviate myocardial injury in this model (Gao et al. 2022). Hence, modulation of the *Erdr1y*

IncRNA-*Mir706*-PTGS2 axis may alleviate ferroptosis and cardiac injury. In most cell types, SLC11A2/DMT1 takes up non-heme iron and its upregulation in cardiomyocytes triggers ferroptosis (Song et al. 2021). In line with this, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) of human umbilical cord release exosomes containing *MIR23A-3p* that target/block *SLC11A2*, resulting in the inhibition of ferroptosis and alleviation of myocardial injury (Song et al. 2021). Therefore, MSCs-exosomes through activation of the *MIR23A-3p*-SLC11A2 pathway may confer protection against ferroptosis upon MI.

A large body of evidence highlights the importance of ferroptosis in the onset and development of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury. In vitro, cardiac myocyte ischemia induces ALOX15-mediated peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids/PUFAs, resulting in ferroptosis induction and cell damage. These findings suggest that targeted inhibition of ALOX15 might be a promising strategy to combat ferroptosis during I/R injury (Ma et al. 2022b). In H9c2 cells exposed to H/R, Mir190a-5p reduces reactive oxygen species (ROS), malondialdehyde, and Fe^{2+} accumulation by sponging *Gls2* mRNA, thus antagonizing ferroptosis (Zhou et al. 2021). These findings indicate that the *Mir190a-5p*-GLS2 axis could serve as a potential target for the prevention of ferroptosis and myocardial damage. Besides, inducing *Fndc5* overexpression or administration of its cleaved form (namely irisin) attenuates ferroptosis and mitochondrial impairment through activation of the NFE2L2/NRF2-HMOX1 signaling cascade in hypoxic cardiomyocytes (Cao et al. 2022a). Therefore, inducible activation of the FNDC5-NFE2L2-HMOX1 signaling axis may represent a promising strategy to block ferroptosis under H/R settings in cardiomyocytes. Moreover, myocardial I/R injury is accompanied by generation of oxidized phosphatidylcholines (OxPCs) which elicit ferroptosis and cardiac dysfunction in rats (Stamenkovic et al. 2021). Mechanistically, OxPCs-induced ferroptosis involves a dramatic reduction of GPX4 activity in rat cardiomyocytes. Additionally, OxPCs contribute to ferroptosis by dampening calcium transients and mitochondrial bioenergetics (Stamenkovic et al. 2021). Neutralizing antibodies against OxPCs blocks ferroptosis during the perfusion stage. Both in vivo and in vitro, myocardial I/R upregulates Elavl1 via FOXC1. ELAVL1 then binds and stabilizes *Becn1* mRNA, inciting autophagy-dependent ferroptosis and myocardial injury (Chen et al. 2021), which can be rescued by *Elavl1* knockout. These observations indicate that the FOXC1-ELAVL1-BECN1 signaling cascade plays an essential role in autophagy-mediated ferroptosis in the context of myocardial I/R injury. Furthermore, upon myocardial I/R injury, bone marrow MSCs-exosomes containing *Mir9-3hg* lncRNA reduces ferroptosis by promoting cell proliferation, GSH content, and by reducing ROS and iron overload in mice and HL-1 cardiomyocytes (Zhang et al. 2022a). From the mechanistic point of view, Mir9-3hg lncRNA binds and inhibits PUM2, thereby activating Prdx6 transcription, mitigating ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022a). Thus, the Mir9-3hg lncRNA-PUM2-PRDX6 pathway renders protection against ferroptosis and myocardial I/R injury. Similar to *Mir9-3hg* lncRNA, MTOR protects against ferroptosis and iron overload by suppressing mitochondrial ROS in mice subject to myocardial I/R (Baba et al. 2018). In early reperfusion, upregulation of ATF3 leads to regression of ferroptosis and myocardial I/R injury (Liu et al. 2022a). The underlying mechanism appears to be linked to binding of ATF3 to the *FANCD2* promoter, leading to its transactivation and thus inhibition of ferroptosis in AC16 human cardiomyocytes (Liu et al. 2022a). Conversely, *ATF3* ablation retrieves ferroptosis and aggravates I/R injury. These findings imply that the ATF3-FANCD2 axis could serve as a potential target for prevention of ferroptosis in ischemic hearts.

KMT2B induces histone H3 methylation and upregulation of Rfk to activate TNF/TNF- α -CYBB/NOX2 signaling, resulting in ferroptosis and cardiac injury in a rat myocardial I/R model and H9c2 cardiomyocytes (Cao et al. 2022b). Hence, *Kmt2b* ablation significantly curbs ferroptosis and infarct size (Cao et al. 2022b). In this sense, targeted inhibition of KMT2B-RFK-TNF-CYBB/NOX2 signaling or genetic ablations of its key components might suppress ferroptosis upon myocardial I/R. Furthermore, NFE2L2 upregulates SLC40A1, thereby limiting iron overload and ferroptosis, ultimately alleviating myocardial I/R injury in diabetic rats and H9c2 cardiomyocytes (Tian et al. 2022). These observations indicate that the NFE2L2-SLC40A1 axis endows protection against ferroptosis under conditions of diabetic myocardial I/R injury. Finally, it is worth mentioning that ferroptosis genes including *CAT*, *HMOX1*, *RTN3*, *GPX4*, and *SLC25A1* are correlated with other biochemical risk factors in patients with coronary artery disease/CAD expression of oxidative stress, suggesting a cardinal role for ferroptosis in the progression of this disease (Ozuynuk et al. 2022) (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.2.2 Cardiomyopathy

Ferroptosis is thought to be critical in the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy (Li et al. 2022a). In the $cox10^{-/-}$ mouse model of mitochondrial cardiomyopathy, the mitochondrial peptidase OMA1 induces mitochondrial fragmentation and integrated stress response/ISR via activation of OMA1-DELE1-ATF4 signaling, resulting in improved GSH metabolism and inhibition of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Ahola et al. 2022). Therefore, the OMA1-DELE1-ATF4 axis plays a protective role against ferroptosis. In contrast, palmitic acid (PA) downregulates Hsfl and Gpx4 in a dose- and time-dependent manner, leading to lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in mice and H9c2 cardiomyoblasts in vitro (Wang et al. 2021). However, inducing Hsfl expression alleviates these effects, renormalizes iron metabolism, and upregulates Gpx4 (Wang et al. 2021). These findings indicate an anti-ferroptotic role of HSF1 in PA-induced cardiomyopathy. In an in vitro model of doxorubicin (DOX)-induced cardiomyopathy, Carm1/Prmt4 overexpression triggers ferroptosis and aggravates cardiomyocyte injury (Wang et al. 2022b). Mechanistically, PRMT4 methylates NFE2L2 thus dampening its nuclear translocation and reducing Gpx4 transcription, ultimately, resulting in ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2022b). Therefore, NFE2L2 activation, administration of Fer-1, and genetic ablation or pharmacological inhibition of CARM1/Carm1 have all been shown to alleviate ferroptosis and cardiomyopathy in vitro (Wang et al. 2022b). These data suggest that forcible



Fig. 13.1 Signaling cascades inducing ferroptosis in CVD. The underpinning mechanisms of ferroptosis in various CVDs constitute complex signaling pathways demanding immense work by scientists in the field to develop proper therapeutic strategies

inhibition of CARM1-NFE2L2-GPX4 signaling could be a potent approach for suppression of ferroptosis and alleviation of DOX-induced cardiomyopathy.

Similarly, the presence of ferroptosis in the pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy has also been reported. Also, in db/db mice and glucose-challenged cardiomyocytes, the lncRNA *Zfas1* binds and inhibits *Mir150-5p*, leading to downregulation of *Ccnd2*, ferroptosis, and progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy, all of which can be alleviated by inhibition of *Zfas1* (Ni et al. 2021). Furthermore, ferroptosis contributes to obesity-associated cardiomyopathy. In obese mice, exosomes derived from adipose tissue macrophages impair mitochondria, provoking upregulation of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal (lipid peroxides) in cardiomyocytes (Zhao et al. 2022). *Mir140-5p* in these exosomes targets and sponges *Slc7a11*, causing loss of GSH and induction of ferroptosis (Zhao et al.



Fig. 13.2 Signaling cascades resisting ferroptosis in CVD. Despite the complexity of ferroptosis in CVD, a glimpse of hope exists due to the promising potential of anti-ferroptosis mechanisms in cardiomyocytes capable of alleviating CVD

2022). Inhibition of exosomal *Mir140-5p* can retard ferroptosis and cardiac injury in obesity-associated cardiomyopathy (Zhao et al. 2022). These findings indicate the possible role of the *Mir140-5p*-SLC7A11-GSH signaling cascade as a promising target for neutralization of ferroptosis and mitigation of obesity-induced cardiomyopathy.

Likewise, in septic cardiomyopathy, *ica1* knockout overtly augments cardiac function through suppression of inflammatory cytokines, oxidative stress, and ferroptosis in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-challenged mice (Kong et al. 2022). The underlying mechanism appears to involve *Ica1* upregulation to turn on STING1 signaling, resulting in lipid peroxidation, ferroptosis, and cardiotoxicity (Kong et al. 2022). Moreover, septic patients exhibit increased ICA1 levels in plasma and mononuclear cells (Kong et al. 2022). Therefore, the ICA1-STING1 pathway may serve as a key target for inhibition of ferroptosis and septic cardiomyopathy. In mice

with sepsis/LPS-induced cardiac injury and H9c2 cardiomyocytes, *tmem43* ablation aggravates ferroptosis and iron overload (Chen et al. 2022b). Conversely, inducing *Tmem43* overexpression blocks lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis, thereby ameliorating cardiac dysfunction and injury (Chen et al. 2022b). Mechanistically, LPS elicits ferroptosis through upregulation of *Trp53/p53* and ferritin as well as downregulation of *Slc7a11* and *Gpx4* (Chen et al. 2022b). TMEM43 overexpression reverses these effects and protects against sepsis-induced cardiac injury (Chen et al. 2022b), indicating a possible role of TMEM43 as a novel target for ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.2.3 Cardiotoxicity

Proper use of anti-cancer drugs is frequently limited by their cardiotoxic side effects (Yarmohammadi et al. 2021). Substantial evidence implicates ferroptosis in druginduced cardiotoxicity. For instance, histamine deficiency or inhibition of its receptor, HRH1/H1R, ignites ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes, to exacerbate DOX-induced cardiotoxicity in mice and cultured hiPSC-CMs and HL-1 models (Zhu et al. 2022). Mechanistically, disruption of histamine-HRH1/H1R signaling inactivates STAT3, leading to *Slc7a11* downregulation and ferroptosis, which can be rescued by histamine administration (Zhu et al. 2022). Thus, forcible activation of HRH1/H1R-STAT3-SLC7A11 signaling (e.g., using histamine) alleviates DOX-induced cardiotoxicity.

Binding of APELA peptide hormone to its receptor, APLNR, provokes pronounced activation of KLF15-GPX4 signaling and upregulation of GSH, SLC7A11, and NFE2L2, to alleviate ROS production, ferroptosis, and DOX-induced cardiotoxicity in rat aortic fibroblasts (Zhang et al. 2022b). These findings favor the idea that APELA could be a promising target for abrogation of cardiotoxic ferroptosis. The outer mitochondrial membrane-located protein FUNDC2 interacts with and destabilizes SLC25A11 in the inner membrane, resulting in the reduction of mitochondrial GSH, which fosters ferroptosis (Ta et al. 2022). Additionally, FUNDC2 is capable of modulating GPX4 stability (Ta et al. 2022). Hence, the FUNDC2-SLC25A11-GPX4 signaling pathway is a major contributor to mitochondria-initiated ferroptosis. In mice and H9c2 cells, the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRIM21 ubiquitinates SQSTM1/p62 and interferes with the SQSTM1-KEAP1-NFE2L2 signaling cascade, causing lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Hou et al. 2021). Genetic ablation of Trim21 rescues DOX-induced cardiotoxicity (Hou et al. 2021). These data imply that targeted inhibition of the TRIM21-SQSTM1-KEAP1-NFE2L2 axis may rescue ferroptosis and cardiotoxicity under DOX challenge. In rat neonatal and AC16 cardiomyocytes, DOX exposure initiates Mettl14 upregulation, which in turn, methylates and activates lncRNA Kcnq1ot1, leading to the inhibition of Mir7-5p and subsequent upregulation

of TFRC/TFR1, iron overload, lipid peroxidation, and ultimately, induction of ferroptosis (Zhuang et al. 2021). Importantly, IGF2BP1 enhances the stability of the lncRNA *Kcnq1ot1* thus inducing its activation and subsequent blockade of *Mir7-5p* (Zhuang et al. 2021). Therefore, the METTL14-*Kcnq1ot1* lncRNA-*Mir7-5p*-TFRC cascade plays an indispensable role in DOX-induced ferroptosis. Hence, targeted inhibition of METTL14-*Kcnq1ot1* lncRNA-*Mir7-5p*-TFRC may abate cardiotoxicity.

Under DOX exposure, Marchf5 downregulation leads to upregulation of Chac1 that overtly degrades GSH and downregulates Gpx4, thereby favoring lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in rat neonatal cardiomyocytes (Kitakata et al. 2021). This finding suggests that the MARCHF5-CHAC1-GSH axis incites ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes, which may be a novel target for maneuvering ferroptosis and DOX cardiotoxicity. Triptolide is another anti-cancer medication with its clinical application limited by its cardiotoxicity (Liu et al. 2022c). Cardiotoxic effects of triptolide are partially attributed to induction of ferroptosis through accumulation of lipid peroxides (e.g., malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal), Fe²⁺ overload, GSH reduction, ferritin degradation, and ROS generation, as well as blockade of the NFE2L2-HMOX1 axis in human AC16 cardiomyocytes (Liu et al. 2022c). Importantly, activation of the TF-TRFC-SLC11A2 pathway accounts for triptolideinduced Fe²⁺ overload (Liu et al. 2022c). Furthermore, triptolide interrupts the SLC7A11-GPX4 axis through a direct binding with SLC7A11 (Liu et al. 2022c). Likewise, herceptin (trastuzumab) renders cardiotoxicity and heart failure (HF) through elevation of mitochondrial/intracellular ROS and downregulation of Gpx and Slc7a11, resulting in ferroptosis in H9c2 cardiomyocytes (Sun et al. 2022a). Administration of the iron chelator deferoxamine, or Fer-1, reverses these effects (Sun et al. 2022a). Conceivably, safe treatment of ERBB2/HER2⁺ breast cancer with herceptin could be improved by blocking ferroptosis. Imatinib mesylate-associated cardiotoxicity is linked to ROS production, iron overload, NFE2L2 downregulation, and ultimately, induction of ferroptosis in mice and H9c2 cardiomyocytes (Song et al. 2022). Conversely, findings from our group indicated that paraquat triggers cardiotoxicity and contractile dysfunction through downregulation of SLC7A11, GPX4, and ferritin, and activation of a FUNDC1-MAPK/JNK-NCOA4 axis, ultimately, leading to lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in mice (Peng et al. 2022). Not surprisingly, *fundc1* ablation confers resistance against ferroptosis and alleviates myocardial toxicity and dysfunction (Peng et al. 2022). This study illustrates that inhibition of FUNDC1-MAPK/sJNK-NCOA4 signaling could avert ferroptosis and cardiotoxicity upon paraquat exposure (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.2.4 Cardiac Remodeling and Hypertrophy

Strong evidence support the role of ferroptosis in cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy (Wu et al. 2021). In mice, when a high-fat diet (HFD) is fed, *Fundc1* deficiency elicits ACSL4-induced ferroptosis and cardiac remodeling (Pei et al. 2021). Therefore, targeted inhibition of the FUNDC1-ACSL4 axis might reverse cardiac remodeling owing to the handicap of ferroptosis. In the early stage of angiotensin II-mediated cardiac hypertrophy, *Slc7a11* downregulation triggers ferroptosis, thereby promoting interstitial fibrosis, cardiac hypertrophy, and cardiac contractile dysfunction (Zhang et al. 2022c). Thus, suppression of ferroptosis using Fer-1 or upregulation of *Slc7a11* reverts these effects (Zhang et al. 2022c). Given the antiferroptotic role of SLC7A11, it could be a promising target for retardation of cardiac hypertrophy. Pressure overload leads to downregulation of Irf3, resulting in endothelial ferroptosis and cardiac injury in rats (Shi et al. 2022). Mechanistically, Irf3 downregulation culminates in SLC7A11 downregulation and enhanced ALOX12 activity, leading to lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in rat microvascular endothelial cells (Shi et al. 2022). However, docosahexaenoic acid treatment interrupts ferroptosis through upregulation of IRF3, thereby protecting against endothelial damage and cardiac hypertrophy (Shi et al. 2022). Based on these findings, the IRF3-SLC7A11-ALOX12 axis should play a cardinal role in cardiac hypertrophy and ferroptosis, and thus its targeting merits attention. Moreover, in a mouse model of angiotensin II-mediated hypertension, reduction of APELA elicits ferroptosis, myocardial fibrosis, and hypertrophy due to induction of ferroptosis in microvascular endothelial cells (Zhang et al. 2022d). APELA addition or ferroptosis inhibition using Fer-1 retards myocardial dysfunction and remodeling owing to the attenuation of iron overload and lipid peroxidation, and activation of GPX4 (Zhang et al. 2022d). These data indicate that APELA antagonizes ferroptosis upon hypertension, therefore, resulting in alleviated cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.2.5 Atherosclerosis

Increasing clinical and experimental evidence has delineated a critical role of ferroptosis in atherosclerosis (Ouyang et al. 2021). During atherosclerosis, *PDSS2* overexpression prevents ROS generation and ferroptosis through activation of NFE2L2 signaling, thereby alleviating atherosclerosis in vivo and reducing ferroptosis in human coronary artery endothelial cells/HCAECs (Yang et al. 2021). Consistent with, atherosclerotic patients exhibit reduced levels of PDSS2 and NFE2L2 in plasma as compared to healthy controls (Yang et al. 2021). Hence, the PDSS2-NFE2L2 pathway appears to play an anti-ferroptotic role and inducing its activation might alleviate atherosclerosis. Moreover, *Nod1* deficiency reduces iron level in murine spleen, liver, and heart. In line with this, splenic deficiency of *Nod1*

induces ferroptosis and CXCR2 signaling in ADGRE1/F4/80⁺ macrophages, leading to their recruitment to atherosclerotic plaques (Fernández-García et al. 2022). Tangibly, *Nod1* upregulation inhibits ferroptosis by restraining macrophage migration and raising GPX4 and anti-ferroptosis proteins in macrophages, ultimately, resulting in alleviation of atherosclerotic plaques (Fernández-García et al. 2022). These data indicate that NOD1 is a favorable target for retardation of plaque growth through inhibition of ferroptosis in macrophages/splenic cells.

In addition, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs)-released extracellular vesicles induce attenuation of ROS, iron content, GSH consumption, and lipid peroxidation, thereby favoring ferroptosis in aortic endothelial cells and atherosclerotic mice (Li et al. 2021). Mechanistically, EPCs-exosomes contain *Mir199a-3p* that is transferred into endothelial cells and then targets/inhibits Sp1 mRNA, leading to mitigation of ferroptosis and atherosclerosis (Li et al. 2021). Hence, inducing activation of Mir199a-3p-SP1 signaling via administration of EPCs-exosomes might regress atherosclerosis. Conversely, ferroptosis contributes to the development of diabetic atherosclerosis. In this regard, HMOX1 upregulation promotes ferroptosis by inducing ROS generation, Fe²⁺ overload, and lipid peroxidation, thus promoting diabetic atherosclerosis in human endothelial cells (Meng et al. 2021). Hence, inhibition of ferroptosis using ferrostatin-1 (Fer-1) or genetic ablation of HMOX1 ameliorates diabetic atherosclerosis, indicating that HMOX1 could be a potential target for suppression of ferroptosis in diabetic atherosclerosis (Meng et al. 2021). Importantly, in hyperlipidemic $Jak2^{V617F}$ mice, increased hematocrit induces ferroptosis in plaque macrophages through excessive phagocytosis of red blood cells, thereby leading to macrophage ferroptosis and aggravation of atherosclerosis (Liu et al. 2022b) (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.2.6 Heart Failure

HF entails ferroptosis in the frontline of its pathogenesis (Yang et al. 2022b). In mouse cardiomyocytes, *Fth1* deficiency induces *Slc7a11* downregulation, leading to ferroptosis and development of HF (Fang et al. 2020). However, specific overexpression of *Slc7a11* in cardiomyocytes increases GSH levels and retards ferroptosis (Fang et al. 2020). In rat HF, activation of TLR4-NOX4 signaling contributes to ferroptosis. However, ablation of *Tlr4* or *Nox4* averts ventricular remodeling and ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2019). Hence, the TLR4-NOX4 axis favors ferroptosis and thus could be a potential target for its suppression upon HF. In diabetic mice, cardiomyocyte upregulation of *Nr2f2* aggravates HF by inducing ferroptosis, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress through activation of PPARGC1A/PGC-1\alpha signaling (Miao et al. 2022). Unsurprisingly, in vitro ablation of *Nr2f2* blocks ferroptosis and rescues HF (Miao et al. 2022). These findings

delineate the NR2F2-PPARGC1A signaling cascade as a potential target to foil ferroptosis upon diabetic HF. Under pressure overload stress, a circular RNA, *circSnx12*, binds and sponges *Mir224-5p* thus activating *Fth1* mRNA, leading to hinderance of iron overload and ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes (Zheng et al. 2021). In this sense, induction of *Mir224-5p* upregulation and downregulation of *circSnx12* ignites ferroptosis due to intracellular overload of Fe²⁺ (Zheng et al. 2021). Therefore, augmentation of the *circSnx12-Mir224-5p*-FTH1 pathway might be a potent strategy to curtail elevated ferroptosis upon HF.

Furthermore, in the early stage of chronic HF, *Map3k11/Mlk3* initiates NFKB-NLRP3 signaling, culminating in inflammation, pyroptosis, and cardiac fibrosis in mice (Wang et al. 2020). Surprisingly, in the advanced stages, MAP3K11 activates the MAPK/JNK-TRP/p53 axis, leading to oxidative stress, ferroptosis, and myocardial fibrosis. Interestingly, inducing *Mir351* upregulation blocks ferroptosis and pyroptosis by suppressing *Map3k11* expression, thereby improving cardiac function (Wang et al. 2020). In compliance with these findings, inducing activation of the *Mir351*-MAP3K11 cascade might be a potential approach for regression of ferroptosis upon HF (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2).

13.3 Concluding Remarks and Therapeutic Directions

To date, multiple lines of evidence have substantiated a vital role for ferroptosis in the pathophysiology of CVD. Ferroptosis functions either as an underscoring mechanism or as a contributing factor for the pathogenesis of CVD. Either way would involve commencement of complicated signaling pathways and gene expression modulations, altering antioxidant capacity, lipid peroxidation status, and iron metabolism in cardiomyocytes, ultimately culminating in massive ROS generation, iron overload, and the induction of ferroptosis. Owing to the complexity of ferroptosis mechanisms and gene expression patterns, the intervention of ferroptosis in various types of CVD requires targeted inhibition or activation of several signaling cascades along with robust modulation of multiple genes. Hence, despite the advances in targeted therapy of ferroptosis in pre-clinical studies using natural or pharmaceutical compounds (Table 13.1), clinical inertia still runs deeper than achieving desirable therapeutics for targeting ferroptosis in CVD. Nonetheless, future discoveries may reveal master key mechanisms encompassing the large portion of ferroptosis incidence and origination in CVD and, thereby, facilitating and simplifying pharmacological or genetic intervention of ferroptosis. Moreover, advances in drug development and targeted therapy approaches are pending to match the clinical demands. However, parallel advances in biotechnology and nanotechnology techniques might be game changers in our combat against ferroptosis in the context of CVD.

Compound	Description	Mechanism of action	Ref
Atorvastatin	A type of statins medication	Inhibits oxidative stress, Fe^{2+} overload, lipid peroxidation, and ferroptosis through upregulation of <i>Gsh</i> , <i>Slc7a11</i> , and <i>Gpx4</i> , thereby augmenting cardiac function and alleviating its remodeling in mice and H9c2 cells	Ning et al. (2021)
Berberine	A protoberberine alkaloids	Suppresses lipid peroxidation, ROS generation, and ferroptosis in murine neonatal cardiomyocytes and H9c2 cardiomyoblast cells under RSL3 and erastin treatment	Yang et al. (2022a)
Britanin	Sesquiterpene compound	Inhibits ferroptosis due to activation of AMPK-GSK3B-NFE2L2 axis and upregulation of <i>Gpx4</i> , resulting in alleviation of myocardial I/R injury and reduction of infarct size in rat and H9c2 cells	Lu et al. (2022)
Canagliflozin	Anti-diabetic C-glycosyl compound	Blocks ferroptosis by reducing iron overload and lipid peroxidation, thereby ameliorating HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) in rats	Ma et al. (2022a)
Curcumin	A natural phenolic compound	Neutralizes ferroptosis by promoting NFE2L2 nuclear transfer and upregulation of <i>GPX4</i> and <i>HMOX1</i> , leading to alleviation of glucose- induced cardiomyopathy in diabetic rabbit	Wei et al. (2022)
Dexrazoxane	Bisdioxopiperazine	Prevents ferroptosis through downregulation of HMGB1, resulting in DOX detoxification in rats and H9c2 cells	Zhang et al. (2021)
Etomidate	Anesthetic agent	Alleviates myocardial I/R injury, cardiac dysfunction, and fibrosis via upregulation of the NFE2L2- HMOX1 axis and inhibition of ferroptosis in rats	Lv et al. (2021)
Ferulic acid	Synthesized in plants	Blunts ferroptosis by plummeting ROS and malondialdehyde levels, elevation of GPX4, CAT, and SOD1, as well as activation of PRKAA2/ AMPKα2 signaling upon myocardial I/R injury	Liu et al. (2022e)
Icariin	A type of chemical flavonoid	Protects against H/R-induced ferroptosis and oxidative stress through upregulation and activation of NFE2L2-HMOX1 signaling in H9c2 cells	Liu et al. (2021)

 Table 13.1
 Pre-clinical therapeutics for suppression of ferroptosis in CVD

(continued)

Compound	Description	Mechanism of action	Ref
LCZ696	A type of neprilysin inhibitors medication	Reduces ROS and lipid peroxides, increases GPX4, and ceases ferroptosis through activation of AKT1-SIRT3-SOD2 signaling, alleviation of DOX cardiotoxicity, and augmentation of ventricular function in Wistar rats and H9c2 cells	Liu et al. (2022d)
Melatonin	A natural hormone found in animals and plants	Averts DOX-induced ferroptosis and myocardial injury via downregulation of <i>Yap1</i> in SD rats and H9c2 cardiomyocytes	Sun et al. (2022b)
Puerarin	Natural isoflavone glycoside	Hinders lipid peroxidation, ROS generation, and ferroptosis, thereby alleviating HF in rats and H9c2 myocytes	Liu et al. (2018)
Resveratrol	Natural nonflavonoid polyphenol	Suppresses oxidative stress, Fe ²⁺ overload, and inhibits ferroptosis due to downregulation of <i>Tfrc</i> and upregulation of <i>Gpx4</i> and <i>Fth1</i> in myocardial I/R rats and in vitro H9c2 cells	Li et al. (2022b)
Ruscogenin	Natural anti-inflammatory steroid	Significantly mitigates myocardial ischemia and infarct size by suppressing oxidative stress and ferroptosis through upregulation of <i>Gpx4</i> , downregulation of <i>Ftl/Flc</i> and <i>Acsl4</i> , and upregulation of BCAT1 and BCAT2, leading to activation of KEAP1-NFE2L2-HMOX1 signaling in mice	Fu et al. (2022a)
		Alleviates MI and infarct size, and inhibits oxidative stress and ferroptosis through downregulation of <i>Acsl4</i> and upregulation of <i>Gpx4</i> , <i>Bcat1</i> and <i>Bcat2</i> , resulting in activation of the KEAP1-NFE2L2- HMOX1 axis in mice and in vitro	Fu et al. (2022b)
Salidroside	Phenylpropanoid glycoside derived from <i>Rhodiola rosea</i>	Ameliorates cardiac dysfunction and fibrosis via inhibition of ferroptosis through reduction of Fe ²⁺ and ROS levels, GPX4 upregulation, and retardation of lipid peroxidation, as well as activation of AMPK signaling in mice under DOX treatment	Chen et al. (2022a)
Salvianolic acid B	Natural anti-oxidant derived from Salvia miltiorrhiza Bunge	In a dose-dependent pattern mitigates iron overload, ferroptosis, lipid peroxidation, and mitochondrial injury, mainly through upregulation of NFE2L2 signaling in MI rats	Shen et al. (2022)

Table 13.1	(continued)
------------	-------------

303

(continued)

Compound	Description	Mechanism of action	Ref
Tanshinone IIA	A natural compound in Salvia miltiorrhiza plant	Markedly reduces ROS production and lipid peroxidation, restores GSH level, and upregulates NFE2L2, thereby regressing atherosclerotic ferroptosis in human coronary artery endothelial cells	He et al. (2021)
Tongxinluo	Traditional Chinese medicine used for the treatment of atherosclerosis	Shuts off oxidative stress and ferroptosis, hence, improving microvascular barrier, leading to retardation of chronic pulmonary dysfunction and its impact on atherosclerosis development in mice and in vitro	Wang et al. (2022a)
Xanthohumol	A flavonoid derived from Humulus lupulus	Rescues from ferroptosis through reduction of lipid peroxidation, ROS generation, Fe ²⁺ overload, and modulation of GPX4 and NFE2L2 levels in cardiomyocytes	Lin et al. (2022)

Table 13.1 (continued)

Conflict of Interest Statement None of the authors declare any conflict of interest.

References

- Ahola S, Mejías PR, Hermans S, Chandragiri S, Giavalisco P, Nolte H, Langer T (2022) OMA1mediated integrated stress response protects against ferroptosis in mitochondrial cardiomyopathy. Cell Metab 34(11):1875–1891.e1877
- Ajoolabady A, Aslkhodapasandhokmabad H, Libby P, Tuomilehto J, Lip GY, Penninger JM, Richardson DR, Tang D, Zhou H, Wang S (2021) Ferritinophagy and ferroptosis in the management of metabolic diseases. Trends Endocrinol Metab 32(7):444–462
- Baba Y, Higa JK, Shimada BK, Horiuchi KM, Suhara T, Kobayashi M, Woo JD, Aoyagi H, Marh KS, Kitaoka H (2018) Protective effects of the mechanistic target of rapamycin against excess iron and ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Am J Phys Heart Circ Phys 314(3):H659–H668
- Berdoukas V, Coates TD, Cabantchik ZI (2015) Iron and oxidative stress in cardiomyopathy in thalassemia. Free Radic Biol Med 88:3–9
- Bi Y, Ajoolabady A, Demillard LJ, Yu W, Hilaire ML, Zhang Y, Ren J (2021) Dysregulation of iron metabolism in cardiovascular diseases: from iron deficiency to iron overload. Biochem Pharmacol 190:114661
- Cao G, Yang C, Jin Z, Wei H, Xin C, Zheng C, Xu J, Huang Q, Zhang Z, Hu T (2022a) FNDC5/ irisin reduces ferroptosis and improves mitochondrial dysfunction in hypoxic cardiomyocytes by Nrf2/HO-1 axis. Cell Biol Int 46(5):723–736
- Cao Y, Luo F, Peng J, Fang Z, Liu Q, Zhou S (2022b) KMT2B-dependent RFK transcription activates the TNF-α/NOX2 pathway and enhances ferroptosis caused by myocardial ischemiareperfusion. J Mol Cell Cardiol 173:75–91
- Chen X, Xu S, Zhao C, Liu B (2019) Role of TLR4/NADPH oxidase 4 pathway in promoting cell death through autophagy and ferroptosis during heart failure. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 516(1):37–43

- Chen H-Y, Xiao Z-Z, Ling X, Xu R-N, Zhu P, Zheng S-Y (2021) ELAVL1 is transcriptionally activated by FOXC1 and promotes ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury by regulating autophagy. Mol Med 27(1):1–14
- Chen H, Zhu J, Le Y, Pan J, Liu Y, Liu Z, Wang C, Dou X, Lu D (2022a) Salidroside inhibits doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy by modulating a ferroptosis-dependent pathway. Phytomedicine 99:153964
- Chen Z, Cao Z, Gui F, Zhang M, Wu X, Peng H, Yu B, Li W, Ai F, Zhang J (2022b) TMEM43 protects against sepsis-induced cardiac injury via inhibiting ferroptosis in mice. Cells 11(19): 2992
- Del Re DP, Amgalan D, Linkermann A, Liu Q, Kitsis RN (2019) Fundamental mechanisms of regulated cell death and implications for heart disease. Physiol Rev 99(4):1765–1817
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, Gu S, Gao F, Zhu N, Yin X (2019) Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(7):2672–2680
- Fang X, Cai Z, Wang H, Han D, Cheng Q, Zhang P, Gao F, Yu Y, Song Z, Wu Q (2020) Loss of cardiac ferritin H facilitates cardiomyopathy via Slc7a11-mediated ferroptosis. Circ Res 127(4): 486–501
- Fernández-García V, González-Ramos S, Avendaño-Ortiz J, Martín-Sanz P, Delgado C, Castrillo A, Boscá L (2022) NOD1 splenic activation confers ferroptosis protection and reduces macrophage recruitment under pro-atherogenic conditions. Biomed Pharmacother 148:112769
- Fu F, Lai Q, Hu J, Zhang L, Zhu X, Kou J, Yu B, Li F (2022a) Ruscogenin alleviates myocardial ischemia-induced ferroptosis through the activation of BCAT1/BCAT2. Antioxidants 11(3):583
- Fu F, Lai Q, Hu J, Zhang L, Zhu X, Kou J, Yu B, Li F (2022b) Ruscogenin alleviates myocardial ischemia-induced Ferroptosis through the activation of BCAT1/BCAT2. Antioxidants 11:583. S Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published...
- Gao F, Zhao Y, Zhang B, Xiao C, Sun Z, Gao Y, Dou X (2022) Suppression of IncRNA Gm47283 attenuates myocardial infarction via miR-706/Ptgs2/ferroptosis axis. Bioengineered 13(4): 10786–10802
- He L, Liu Y-Y, Wang K, Li C, Zhang W, Li Z-Z, Huang X-Z, Xiong Y (2021) Tanshinone IIA protects human coronary artery endothelial cells from ferroptosis by activating the NRF2 pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 575:1–7
- Hou K, Shen J, Yan J, Zhai C, Zhang J, Pan J-A, Zhang Y, Jiang Y, Wang Y, Lin RZ (2021) Loss of TRIM21 alleviates cardiotoxicity by suppressing ferroptosis induced by the chemotherapeutic agent doxorubicin. EBioMedicine 69:103456
- Kitakata H, Endo J, Matsushima H, Yamamoto S, Ikura H, Hirai A, Koh S, Ichihara G, Hiraide T, Moriyama H (2021) MITOL/MARCH5 determines the susceptibility of cardiomyocytes to doxorubicin-induced ferroptosis by regulating GSH homeostasis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 161: 116–129
- Kong C, Ni X, Wang Y, Zhang A, Zhang Y, Lin F, Li S, Lv Y, Zhu J, Yao X (2022) ICA69 aggravates ferroptosis causing septic cardiac dysfunction via STING trafficking. Cell Death Discov 8(1):1–13
- Li L, Wang H, Zhang J, Chen X, Zhang Z, Li Q (2021) Effect of endothelial progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles on endothelial cell ferroptosis and atherosclerotic vascular endothelial injury. Cell Death Discov 7(1):1–11
- Li D, Pi W, Sun Z, Liu X, Jiang J (2022a) Ferroptosis and its role in cardiomyopathy. Biomed Pharmacother 153:113279
- Li T, Tan Y, Ouyang S, He J, Liu L (2022b) Resveratrol protects against myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury via attenuating ferroptosis. Gene 808:145968
- Lin J-H, Yang K-T, Lee W-S, Ting P-C, Luo Y-P, Lin D-J, Wang Y-S, Chang J-C (2022) Xanthohumol protects the rat myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury-induced ferroptosis. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2022
- Liu B, Zhao C, Li H, Chen X, Ding Y, Xu S (2018) Puerarin protects against heart failure induced by pressure overload through mitigation of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 497(1): 233–240

- Liu XJ, Lv YF, Cui WZ, Li Y, Liu Y, Xue YT, Dong F (2021) Icariin inhibits hypoxia/reoxygenation-induced ferroptosis of cardiomyocytes via regulation of the Nrf2/HO-1 signaling pathway. FEBS Open Bio 11(11):2966–2976
- Liu H, Mo H, Yang C, Mei X, Song X, Lu W, Xiao H, Yan J, Wang X, Yan J (2022a) A novel function of ATF3 in suppression of ferroptosis in mouse heart suffered ischemia/reperfusion. Free Radic Biol Med 189:122–135
- Liu W, Östberg N, Yalcinkaya M, Dou H, Endo-Umeda K, Tang Y, Hou X, Xiao T, Fidler TP, Abramowicz S (2022b) Erythroid lineage Jak2 V617F expression promotes atherosclerosis through erythrophagocytosis and macrophage ferroptosis. J Clin Invest 132(13)
- Liu X, Chen C, Han D, Zhou W, Cui Y, Tang X, Xiao C, Wang Y, Gao Y (2022c) SLC7A11/GPX4 inactivation-mediated ferroptosis contributes to the pathogenesis of triptolide-induced cardiotoxicity. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2022:1
- Liu X, Li D, Pi W, Wang B, Xu S, Yu L, Yao L, Sun Z, Jiang J, Mi Y (2022d) LCZ696 protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity by inhibiting ferroptosis via AKT/SIRT3/SOD2 signaling pathway activation. Int Immunopharmacol 113:109379
- Liu X, Qi K, Gong Y, Long X, Zhu S, Lu F, Lin K, Xu J (2022e) Ferulic acid alleviates myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury via upregulating AMPKα2 expression-mediated ferroptosis depression. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 79(4):489–500
- Lu H, Xiao H, Dai M, Xue Y, Zhao R (2022) Britanin relieves ferroptosis-mediated myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion damage by upregulating GPX4 through activation of AMPK/GSK3β/ Nrf2 signalling. Pharm Biol 60(1):38–45
- Lv Z, Zhang X, Zhang X, Zhang J, Liu R (2021) Etomidate attenuates the ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion rat model via Nrf2/HO-1 pathway. Shock 56(3):440–449
- Ma S, He L-L, Zhang G-R, Zuo Q-J, Wang Z-L, Zhai J-L, Zhang T-T, Wang Y, Ma H-J, Guo Y-F (2022a) Canagliflozin mitigates ferroptosis and ameliorates heart failure in rats with preserved ejection fraction. Naunyn-Schmiedeb Arch Pharmacol 395:1–18
- Ma X-H, Liu J-H-Z, Liu C-Y, Sun W-Y, Duan W-J, Wang G, Kurihara H, He R-R, Li Y-F, Chen Y (2022b) ALOX15-launched PUFA-phospholipids peroxidation increases the susceptibility of ferroptosis in ischemia-induced myocardial damage. Signal Transduct Target Ther 7(1):1–13
- Meng Z, Liang H, Zhao J, Gao J, Liu C, Ma X, Liu J, Liang B, Jiao X, Cao J (2021) HMOX1 upregulation promotes ferroptosis in diabetic atherosclerosis. Life Sci 284:119935
- Miao W, Chen M, Chen M, Cui C, Zhu Y, Luo X, Wu B (2022) Nr2f2 overexpression aggravates ferroptosis and mitochondrial dysfunction by regulating the PGC-1α signaling in diabetes-induced heart failure mice. Mediat Inflamm 2022:1
- Ni T, Huang X, Pan S, Lu Z (2021) Inhibition of the long non-coding RNA ZFAS1 attenuates ferroptosis by sponging miR-150-5p and activates CCND2 against diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Cell Mol Med 25(21):9995–10007
- Ning D, Yang X, Wang T, Jiang Q, Yu J, Wang D (2021) Atorvastatin treatment ameliorates cardiac function and remodeling induced by isoproterenol attack through mitigation of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 574:39–47
- Ouyang S, You J, Zhi C, Li P, Lin X, Tan X, Ma W, Li L, Xie W (2021) Ferroptosis: the potential value target in atherosclerosis. Cell Death Dis 12(8):782
- Ozuynuk AS, Erkan AF, Coban N, Unaltuna N (2022) Examining the expression levels of ferroptosis-related genes in angiographically determined coronary artery disease patients. Mol Biol Rep:1–10
- Park T-J, Park JH, Lee GS, Lee J-Y, Shin JH, Kim MW, Kim YS, Kim J-Y, Oh K-J, Han B-S (2019) Quantitative proteomic analyses reveal that GPX4 downregulation during myocardial infarction contributes to ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. Cell Death Dis 10(11):1–15
- Pei Z, Liu Y, Liu S, Jin W, Luo Y, Sun M, Duan Y, Ajoolabady A, Sowers JR, Fang Y (2021) FUNDC1 insufficiency sensitizes high fat diet intake-induced cardiac remodeling and contractile anomaly through ACSL4-mediated ferroptosis. Metabolism 122:154840

- Peng H, Fu S, Wang S, Xu H, Dhanasekaran M, Chen H, Shao C, Chen Y, Ren J (2022) Ablation of FUNDC1-dependent mitophagy renders myocardium resistant to paraquat-induced ferroptosis and contractile dysfunction. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Mol Basis Dis 1868(9):166448
- Shen Y, Shen X, Wang S, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Ding Y, Shen J, Zhao J, Qin H, Xu Y (2022) Protective effects of Salvianolic acid B on rat ferroptosis in myocardial infarction through upregulating the Nrf2 signaling pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 112:109257
- Shi P, Song C, Qi H, Ren J, Ren P, Wu J, Xie Y, Zhang M, Sun H, Cao Y (2022) Up-regulation of IRF3 is required for docosahexaenoic acid suppressing ferroptosis of cardiac microvascular endothelial cells in cardiac hypertrophy rat. J Nutr Biochem 104:108972
- Song Y, Wang B, Zhu X, Hu J, Sun J, Xuan J, Ge Z (2021) Human umbilical cord blood–derived MSCs exosome attenuate myocardial injury by inhibiting ferroptosis in acute myocardial infarction mice. Cell Biol Toxicol 37(1):51–64
- Song C, Li D, Zhang J, Zhao X (2022) Role of ferroptosis in promoting cardiotoxicity induced by Imatinib Mesylate via down-regulating Nrf2 pathways in vitro and in vivo. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 435:115852
- Stamenkovic A, O'Hara KA, Nelson DC, Maddaford TG, Edel AL, Maddaford G, Dibrov E, Aghanoori M, Kirshenbaum LA, Fernyhough P (2021) Oxidized phosphatidylcholines trigger ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes during ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Phys Heart Circ Phys 320(3):H1170–H1184
- Sun L, Wang H, Yu S, Zhang L, Jiang J, Zhou Q (2022a) Herceptin induces ferroptosis and mitochondrial dysfunction in H9c2 cells. Int J Mol Med 49(2):1–8
- Sun X, Sun P, Zhen D, Xu X, Yang L, Fu D, Wei C, Niu X, Tian J, Li H (2022b) Melatonin alleviates doxorubicin-induced mitochondrial oxidative damage and ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes by regulating YAP expression. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 437:115902
- Ta N, Qu C, Wu H, Zhang D, Sun T, Li Y, Wang J, Wang X, Tang T, Chen Q (2022) Mitochondrial outer membrane protein FUNDC2 promotes ferroptosis and contributes to doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 119(36):e2117396119
- Tian H, Xiong Y, Zhang Y, Leng Y, Tao J, Li L, Qiu Z, Xia Z (2022) Activation of NRF2/FPN1 pathway attenuates myocardial ischemia–reperfusion injury in diabetic rats by regulating iron homeostasis and ferroptosis. Cell Stress Chaperones 27(2):149–164
- Wang J, Deng B, Liu Q, Huang Y, Chen W, Li J, Zhou Z, Zhang L, Liang B, He J (2020) Pyroptosis and ferroptosis induced by mixed lineage kinase 3 (MLK3) signaling in cardiomyocytes are essential for myocardial fibrosis in response to pressure overload. Cell Death Dis 11(7):1–19
- Wang N, Ma H, Li J, Meng C, Zou J, Wang H, Liu K, Liu M, Xiao X, Zhang H (2021) HSF1 functions as a key defender against palmitic acid-induced ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 150:65–76
- Wang Y, Kuang X, Yin Y, Han N, Chang L, Wang H, Hou Y, Li H, Li Z, Liu Y (2022a) Tongxinluo prevents chronic obstructive pulmonary disease complicated with atherosclerosis by inhibiting ferroptosis and protecting against pulmonary microvascular barrier dysfunction. Biomed Pharmacother 145:112367
- Wang Y, Yan S, Liu X, Deng F, Wang P, Yang L, Hu L, Huang K, He J (2022b) PRMT4 promotes ferroptosis to aggravate doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy via inhibition of the Nrf2/GPX4 pathway. Cell Death Differ:1–14
- Wei Z, Shaohuan Q, Pinfang K, Chao S (2022) Curcumin attenuates ferroptosis-induced myocardial injury in diabetic cardiomyopathy through the Nrf2 pathway. Cardiovasc Ther 2022:1
- Wu X, Li Y, Zhang S, Zhou X (2021) Ferroptosis as a novel therapeutic target for cardiovascular disease. Theranostics 11(7):3052
- Yang K, Song H, Yin D (2021) PDSS2 inhibits the ferroptosis of vascular endothelial cells in atherosclerosis by activating Nrf2. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 77(6):767
- Yang K-T, Chao T-H, Wang I-C, Luo Y-P, Ting P-C, Lin J-H, Chang J-C (2022a) Berberine protects cardiac cells against ferroptosis. Tzu Chi Med J 34(3):310

- Yang X, Kawasaki NK, Min J, Matsui T, Wang F (2022b) Ferroptosis in heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 173:141
- Yarmohammadi F, Hayes AW, Karimi G (2021) The role of ferroptosis in organ toxicity. Hum Exp Toxicol 40(12_suppl):S851–S860
- Zhang H, Wang Z, Liu Z, Du K, Lu X (2021) Protective effects of dexazoxane on rat ferroptosis in doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy through regulating HMGB1. Front Cardiovasc Med 8
- Zhang J-K, Zhang Z, Guo Z-A, Fu Y, Chen X-J, Chen W-J, Wu H-F, Cui X-J (2022a) The BMSCderived exosomal lncRNA Mir9-3hg suppresses cardiomyocyte ferroptosis in ischemiareperfusion mice via the Pum2/PRDX6 axis. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 32(2):515–527
- Zhang M-W, Li X-T, Zhang Z-Z, Liu Y, Song J-W, Liu X-M, Chen Y-H, Wang N, Guo Y, Liang L-R (2022b) Elabela blunts doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress and ferroptosis in rat aortic adventitial fibroblasts by activating the KLF15/GPX4 signaling. Cell Stress Chaperones:1–13
- Zhang X, Zheng C, Gao Z, Chen H, Li K, Wang L, Zheng Y, Li C, Zhang H, Gong M (2022c) SLC7A11/xCT prevents cardiac hypertrophy by inhibiting ferroptosis. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 36(3):437–447
- Zhang Z, Tang J, Song J, Xie M, Liu Y, Dong Z, Liu X, Li X, Zhang M, Chen Y (2022d) Elabela alleviates ferroptosis, myocardial remodeling, fibrosis and heart dysfunction in hypertensive mice by modulating the IL-6/STAT3/GPX4 signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 181:130–142
- Zhao W-k, Zhou Y, Xu T-T, Wu Q (2021) Ferroptosis: opportunities and challenges in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2021:1
- Zhao X, Si L, Bian J, Pan C, Guo W, Qin P, Zhu W, Xia Y, Zhang Q, Wei K (2022) Adipose tissue macrophage-derived exosomes induce ferroptosis via glutathione synthesis inhibition by targeting SLC7A11 in obesity-induced cardiac injury. Free Radic Biol Med 182:232–245
- Zheng H, Shi L, Tong C, Liu Y, Hou M (2021) circSnx12 is involved in ferroptosis during heart failure by targeting miR-224-5p. Front Cardiovasc Med:318
- Zhou X, Zhuo M, Zhang Y, Shi E, Ma X, Li H (2021) miR-190a-5p regulates cardiomyocytes response to ferroptosis via directly targeting GLS2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 566:9–15
- Zhu X, Wang X, Zhu B, Ding S, Shi H, Yang X (2022) Disruption of histamine/H1R-STAT3-SLC7A11 axis exacerbates doxorubicin-induced cardiac ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 192: 98–114
- Zhuang S, Ma Y, Zeng Y, Lu C, Yang F, Jiang N, Ge J, Ju H, Zhong C, Wang J (2021) METTL14 promotes doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte ferroptosis by regulating the KCNQ1OT1-miR-7-5p-TFRC axis. Cell Biol Toxicol:1–21



Ferroptosis in Central Nervous System 1 Hypoxia–Ischemia

Namood-e Sahar and Eric S. Peeples

Abstract

Millions of people suffer from acute hypoxic–ischemic brain injuries (HIBIs) such as stroke and neonatal HIBI worldwide each year, resulting in significant mortality and lifelong morbidity. Therapeutic options for HIBI remain limited, but many investigators are actively seeking out novel therapies based on our evolving understanding of the pathophysiology. Ferroptotic cell death has recently been demonstrated to play a significant part in the complex cellular injury resulting after HIBI. This chapter will discuss the current literature evaluating the role of ferroptosis-related reactive oxygen species release and lipid peroxidation in the pathophysiology of HIBI. Based on the current mechanistic understanding, several investigators have begun to develop interventions for HIBI that target the ferroptosis pathways. As such, this chapter will also discuss many of the ferroptosis inhibitors that have shown neuroprotective effects in cell culture and animal models of HIBI.

14.1 Introduction

Hypoxic–ischemic brain injury (HIBI) affects nearly nine million people worldwide each year, ranging in ages from the over 1.1 million newborns suffering from hypoxia–ischemia-related neonatal encephalopathy to approximately 7.6 million older children and adults suffering from ischemic stroke (Lee et al. 2013; World Stroke Organization 2022). Regardless of the patient's age, however, HIBI results in high mortality and nearly 50% of survivors suffer significant neurologic and/or

N.-e. Sahar · E. S. Peeples (⊠)

Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, USA e-mail: eric.peeples@unmc.edu

e-mail. enc.peepies@uninc.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_14

developmental impairment (Jacobs et al. 2013; Donkor 2018). These impairments range from alterations in mental health, mobility, or disrupted cognition in adults to lifelong sequelae of neonatal HIBI such as epilepsy and impairments in neurodevelopment such as cerebral palsy and cognitive deficits. Therapeutic options for HIBI remain incredibly limited, but many investigators are actively seeking out novel therapies based on our evolving understanding of the pathophysiology. In addition to the immediate cellular injury, there is delayed secondary injury driven by various molecular pathways leading to neuronal death, astrocytic gliosis, and microglial activation, more commonly affecting gray matter (Huang and Castillo 2008; Loane and Faden 2010). These pathways include both immediate/irreversible cell death as well as various types of regulated cell death.

Regulated cell death is a means to ensure tissue homeostasis, allowing for a physiologic balance between cell division and proliferation. Many forms of regulated cell death are triggered as an adaptive response in stress and trauma to preserve equilibrium (Galluzzi et al. 2018) and potentially provide effective targets for cell death modulation through pharmacologic manipulation of genes, proteins, or enzymes involved in the pathways. In addition to apoptosis, necrosis, pyroptosis, and necroptosis, another form of cell death occurring due to distress in the cellular microenvironment is ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012). Ferroptosis is a form of cell death involving iron- and reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent lipid peroxidation. The cell injury resulting from lipid peroxidation has been studied for many years (Maellaro et al. 1990), but the term "ferroptosis" was first described in 2012 by Dixon and colleagues (Dixon et al. 2012), supported in large part by the discovery of a non-apoptotic iron-dependent method of cell death induced by erastin, RSL3, and other small molecules (Dolma et al. 2003; Yang and Stockwell 2008). Ferroptosis can be activated through several different mechanisms, but ultimately results in the development of lipid oxidation-dependent pores that can lead to osmotic rupture of membranes and may propagate ferroptosis to adjacent cells via calcium flux (Hiller and Broz 2021; Pedrera et al. 2021). The structural integrity of nuclei, including chromatin, is preserved in ferroptosis; however, mitochondrial abnormalities such as loss of cristae, shrinkage, and increased density of the mitochondrial membrane are common (Xie et al. 2016).

To develop novel interventional therapies and enhance the translation of these therapies to patients suffering from HIBI, investigators must understand the different mechanisms of brain cell injury. To this aim, this chapter will provide an account of ferroptosis mechanism, regulation, and targets that are involved in the pathogenesis of HIBI. Although there are some differences in pathophysiology between the different etiologies and forms of HIBI, to maximize applicability the chapter will cover HIBI across the spectra of age and etiologies but will specify whenever possible if the data reviewed were obtained within a specific injury group.

14.1.1 Triggers of Ferroptosis

As indicated by the term ferroptosis (from the Latin word *ferrum* for iron), this unique method of cell death is usually iron-regulated. This process initiates with the transport of iron across the cell membrane by the transferrin receptor system (including transferring receptor 1, TRF1) and reduction from Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+} before being transported to the intracellular iron pool (Gao et al. 2015; Hou et al. 2016). Aberrant accumulation of free iron activates the Fenton reaction where the pools of free intracellular iron form toxic reactive species and facilitate lipid peroxidation leading to cell death (Dixon et al. 2012).

In order to result in ferroptosis, the reactive species generated by the Fenton reaction require substrate, which generally comes in the form of esterified plasma membrane polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) (Gaschler and Stockwell 2017). The free PUFAs are modified by Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) into PUFA-containing phosphatidylethanolamines in order to incorporate them into membranes (Doll et al. 2017). These esterified PUFAs are highly susceptible to oxidation, and without ACSL4 and LPCAT3, cells become highly resistant to ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017; Kagan et al. 2017). In addition to the Fenton reaction, iron also plays a role in ferroptosis through the iron-dependent lipoxygenases (LOXs) that are responsible for ultimately altering the esterified PUFAs into lipid peroxides to compel cytotoxic lipid peroxidation (Shah et al. 2018), resulting in a porous or thin membrane and ultimately cell death (Agmon et al. 2018).

14.1.2 Suppressors of Ferroptosis

Counter to the pathways above, cells also contain balancing pathways to protect against ferroptotic injury. Glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) is a selenocysteine-dependent enzyme that helps to decrease lipid peroxides, thereby reducing the propagation of lipid peroxidation. The reduction of lipid peroxides by GPX4 relies on the antioxidant glutathione (GSH) as a cofactor, and the depletion of GSH or GPX4 can trigger ferroptosis (Shah et al. 2017). GSH is a tripeptide containing cysteine, glycine, and glutamic acid, and the intracellular availability of cysteine is important for GSH synthesis (Forman et al. 2009). Cystine, the oxidized form, is transported into the cell through the cystine/glutamate antiporter (system Xc-) and reduced to cysteine for the synthesis of GSH. This heteromeric system Xc- transporter is regulated by multiple genes and modulates sensitivity to ferroptotic cell death (Jyotsana et al. 2022). In fact, both of the classic ferroptosis-inducing chemicals, 1S,3R-RAS selective lethal 3 (RSL-3) and erastin, target this system Xc-/GPX4 pathway.

Lastly, given that the lipid peroxidation is induced through reactive oxygen species, antioxidants such as α -tocopherol and CoQ10 (which can be generated endogenously through the NADPH-FSP1-CoQ10 axis) can prevent the peroxidation of PUFAs and inhibit ferroptosis (Imai et al. 2017; Santoro 2020).

14.2 Ferroptosis in Non-HI Brain Disorders

There is growing evidence that ferroptosis plays a significant role in both acute and chronic brain disorders, including tauopathies and traumatic injury. Tau protein, vital in tauopathies, assists in neuronal iron efflux, and as such Tau can prevent ferroptosis by promoting iron export (Tuo et al. 2017). In tauopathies, there is neuronal iron accumulation due to inhibition of ferroxidase and ferroportin activity, both of which are required to export iron from the cell. Devoid of efficient iron removal systems, iron collects in neurons and stimulates the generation of ROS. The ROS accumulation in cells results in GSH depletion and induces ferroptosis (Lei et al. 2012). As an example, one of the secondary tauopathies, Alzheimer's disease, has been shown to have components such as iron dyshomeostasis, impaired glutathione metabolism, and lipid peroxidation (Ashraf et al. 2020). Deferiprone, a brainpenetrant iron chelator, has been shown to improve neuronal survival and hence the phenotype in tauopathies (Rao et al. 2020).

Similarly, some acute central nervous system injuries like traumatic brain injury (TBI) are also driven in large part by oxidative stress. Mechanisms which activate ferroptosis, including ROS production, GPX system inactivation, and dysregulated iron metabolism, have been reported in TBI (Tang et al. 2021). As such, the ferroptosis inhibitor and radical-trapping synthetic antioxidant ferrostatin-1 may significantly attenuate injury lesions in TBI (Xie et al. 2019). In addition, baicalein (12/15-lipoxygenase inhibitor) has also been shown to reduce ferroptosis in TBI and improve prognosis (Kenny et al. 2019).

In-depth discussion of the role of ferroptosis in non-HI brain disorders, however, is outside of the scope of this chapter. More information can be found in any of several reviews that have been written on ferroptosis in those disorders (Shen et al. 2020; Tang et al. 2020; Jakaria et al. 2021).

14.3 Ferroptosis after HIBI

14.3.1 HIBI Pathophysiology

The brain is highly metabolically active and is therefore particularly sensitive to hypoxia-ischemia. Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), glycogen, glucose, and phosphocreatine show a rapid decrease within first ten minutes after ischemia (Wagner 4th and Lanier 1994). HIBI arises due to disruption of blood flow and nutrients and oxygen delivery to the brain cells and generally consists of three main phases of injury. The primary phase, which occurs during the first few minutes to hour immediately after injury, is characterized by necrotic cell death and cytotoxic edema. In this initial phase, there is dysregulation of transmembrane ion exchange due to lack of ATP. Consequently, intracellular concentrations of sodium and calcium ions increase, triggering edema and accumulation of ROS and excitatory glutamate (Bernardo-Castro et al. 2020). During the secondary stage, injury continues to progress, resulting in increased blood–brain barrier permeability, inflammatory activation of microglia and astrocytes, and organelle dysfunction (Johnston et al. 2001; Perlman 2006; Vannucci 2000; Bernardo-Castro et al. 2020). The secondary phase is also characterized by regulated cell death, including ferroptosis.

Generalized HIBI may be seen in older children and adults due to interruption of cerebral oxygen delivery and blood circulation during cardiac arrest (Sekhon et al. 2017). Neonatal HIBI can also be acquired postnatally due to cardiac arrest but is most commonly the result of perinatal injuries such as placental abruption, umbilical cord compression or injury, or severe maternal hypoxia or cardiac compromise (Fatemi et al. 2009; Fajersztajn and Veras 2017; Li et al. 2017). As compared to adults, the neonatal brain has an increased oxygen demand (Blomgren et al. 2003) and lower levels of endogenous antioxidants (Lafemina et al. 2006). Additionally, there are higher levels of PUFAs, especially in the preterm brain, and the PUFA content renders preterm neonates more susceptible to lipid peroxidation injury during ischemia, even more than term newborns (Millar et al. 2017). Altogether, these factors make the newborn brain particularly susceptible to ferroptosis.

Focal HIBI, such as that resulting from stroke, can occur across the age spectrum, though the risk increases significantly with age and results in high mortality or chronic disability regardless of the age of injury. Similar to generalized HIBI, ischemic stroke results in the interruption of blood and nutrients to the brain, resulting in iron accumulation (Park et al. 2011; DeGregorio-Rocasolano et al. 2018), oxidative stress, and inflammation (George and Steinberg 2015).

The remainder of this section will review the literature demonstrating the association between HIBI and the different aspects of ferroptotic cell death: ROS generation, ACSL4- and LOX-mediated lipid peroxidation, iron accumulation, antioxidants, and inflammation.

14.3.2 ROS Generation after HIBI

HIBI is associated with various pathological processes, including excessive ROS generation and subsequent lipid peroxidation. The molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis involve the redox imbalance between pro- and antioxidant processes. The rapid increased ROS generation during the primary phase of HIBI disrupts the barrier function of the cell membrane (Chan 2001; El Bana et al. 2016) and leads to microglial activation and neuroinflammation (Liu et al. 2017). ROS production is not restricted to the primary phase, however, as the rapid reperfusion that occurs as part of the latent phase has also been associated with significant ROS release after HIBI (Rodrigo et al. 2013). As such, preserving cellular homeostasis by inhibiting ROS may result in neuroprotection after HIBI (Bonfante et al. 2020), but matching the timing of the intervention to the timing of peak ROS release will be important in optimizing therapeutic benefit.

ROS in the cell are generated through multiple pathways, including NADPH oxidase family (NOX)-mediated, nitric oxide synthase (NOS)-mediated, and calcium-mediated pathways. NOX enzymes generate ROS, including

hydroperoxides (Bedard & Krause 2007), and catalyze oxidative injury in HIBI (Choi et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2015). NOX is overexpressed in injured brain tissue after HIBI, resulting in the death of vulnerable striatal neurons (Yoshioka et al. 2011). NOS has a more complex role after HIBI (Liu et al. 2015), which appears to be mostly dependent on the specific type of NOS being expressed. Endothelial NOS (eNOS) may play a neuroprotective role primarily through the regulation of the vascular bed (Huang et al. 1996; Zhang and Iadecola 1994), while both the calcium-independent inducible NOS (iNOS) and calcium-dependent neuronal NOS (nNOS) release nitric oxide, resulting in significant mitochondrial injury (Chen et al. 2017; Sims and Anderson 2002; Zhao et al. 2000). Mitochondria also participate in intracellular oxidant production by taking up cellular calcium load during reperfusion, resulting in a surge in ROS production (Siesjö et al. 1999). Given the multiple pathways involved in the generation of ROS after HIBI, it is not surprising that interventions focused on individual ROS-generating pathways have not always shown promise for neuroprotection (Doverhag et al. 2008; Muramatsu et al. 2000).

14.3.3 ACSL4- and LOX-Mediated Lipid Peroxidation after HIBI

The ACSL4 enzyme is widely expressed in brain tissues and is involved in the linkage of long-chain fatty acids with CoA for the synthesis of PUFA-containing phospholipids. Consistent with its role in the pathway that generates oxidationsensitive PUFA-containing phospholipids, overexpression of ACSL4 has been shown to sensitize cells for ferroptosis and ACSL4 deletion renders cells resistant to ferroptotic cell death (Doll et al. 2017; Cui et al. 2021). After ACSL4 adds CoA to the PUFA, the enzyme lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) then synthesizes the PUFA-CoA to its corresponding phospholipid-PUFA (Kagan et al. 2017). Although the ACSL4 inhibitor rosiglitazone has been shown to reduce injury and protect neurological function after HIBI (Sayan-Ozacmak et al. 2012; Han et al. 2015), little is known about the overall contribution of ACSL4 and LPCAT3 to HIBI.

The classical hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) transcription factor dimer consisting of HIF1 α and HIF1 β is known to regulate more than 200 genes implicated in hypoxia (Ratan 2020). Pro-ferroptotic ACSL4 expression can be suppressed by HIF1 α to inhibit neuronal cell loss and microglial cytokine production (Cui et al. 2021). Conversely, the HIF-regulating proline hydroxylases (PHDs) inhibit HIF1 α , and as such have been shown to increase ferroptosis. PHD inhibition through administration of specific PHD inhibitors or iron chelators can protect against ferroptosis and suppress the pro-ferroptotic gene activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) (Appelhoff et al. 2004; Karuppagounder et al. 2016; Siddiq et al. 2005).

LOXs—specifically 12/15-lipoxygenase—are essential enzymes catalyzing oxidation of PUFA-containing phospholipids as one of the final steps in lipid peroxidation and ultimately ferroptosis. These enzymes are overexpressed, especially in neurons, following cerebral ischemia (van Leyen et al. 2006; Yigitkanli et al. 2013). Inhibiting the LOX pathway through baicalein administration protects against neuronal oxidative stress in a middle cerebral artery occlusion model of HIBI (van Leyen et al. 2006). The LOX enzymes are facilitated in part by several supporting molecules, including the scaffolding protein phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1 (PEBP1) (Wenzel et al. 2017). During HIBI, PEBP1 is elevated in the injured tissue. PEBP1 overexpression increased infarct size and neuronal inflammation, which can be prevented by increasing Ser153 phosphorylation of PEBP1 (Wang et al. 2017). Another protein that may facilitate LOX function is spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1 (SSAT1) which is also upregulated following HIBI and interacts with arachidonate 15-LOX (ALOX15) (Zhao et al. 2022). SSAT1 knockdown decreases ROS and cortical iron concentration after HIBI, and activation of the SSAT1/ALOX15 axis exacerbates neuronal ferroptosis (Zhao et al. 2022).

14.3.4 Iron Accumulation after HIBI

One of the primary ROS-generating pathways in ferroptosis is iron-mediated ROS production. Iron homeostasis is vital in the normal function of the brain, but excess iron accumulation and redistribution is a key component of ferroptosis and has been implicated in exacerbation of HIBI. An increase in the level of unbound iron has been reported in adult animal models of cerebral HI (Chi et al. 2000) and blood plasma from human neonates (Dorrepaal et al. 1996). This abundant metal is present in the body in two forms: transferrin-bound and non-transferrin-bound iron (McCarthy and Kosman 2015). Microglia and infiltrating macrophages can engulf iron and metabolize it into unbound ferrous/ferric iron, which can induce the formation of ROS through the non-enzymatic Fenton reaction and eventually lead to ferroptosis (Conrad and Pratt 2019; Liu et al. 2022). Moreover, the enzymes responsible for oxidation of PUFAs, including the LOXs and P450 oxidoreductase (POR), also use iron for catalyzing peroxidation (Yosca et al. 2013; Dufrusine et al. 2019).

Ferritin, a key factor in iron homeostasis, stores iron and protects cells from redox-active free iron overload. Ferritin is downregulated after middle cerebral artery occlusion (Chen et al., 2021; Wang et al. 2016). The decrease in ferritin promotes p53 expression, suppressing SLC7A11 and triggering ferroptosis in hip-pocampal neurons, and overexpressing ferritin reverses the ferroptotic effects and results in improved locomotor and cognitive competence (Chen et al. 2021a, b). In addition to cytoplasmic ferritin, the elevated expression of mitochondrial ferritin (FtMt) in neuronal cells increases erastin-induced ferroptosis. As such, FtMt-knockout mice experience severe neurological deficits with labile iron pools and ROS following HIBI and, conversely, FtMt overexpression reverses ferroptotic activation and therefore protects against HIBI-induced cell death (Wang et al. 2016). Lastly, intracellular free iron can be reduced by iron efflux driven by factors like Tau protein or through the administration of iron chelators. Due to the iron efflux effects, increased Tau protein may improve outcome in age-related ischemic stroke (Tuo et al. 2017). Similarly, in transient focal brain ischemia, administration of the

iron chelators deferoxamine or 2,2-dipyridyl results in reduced ROS generation, perfusion deficits, astrocyte activation, cerebral infarct volume, and swelling in the basal ganglia (Xing et al. 2009; Demougeot et al. 2004).

14.3.5 Antioxidants and Ferroptosis after HIBI

Most cells throughout the human body contain intrinsic antioxidant systems to prevent or resist the pro-ferroptotic processes noted above. Exhaustion or suppression of these antioxidant defense systems, however, can exacerbate lipid peroxidation, thereby facilitating ferroptotic cell death. In fact, although erastin also increases ROS by binding to mitochondrial voltage-dependent anion channel 2, both of the classic ferroptosis inducers used in preclinical studies—erastin and RSL3—act in large part through inhibition of the GPX4-GSH antioxidant system (Han et al. 2020; Kuang et al. 2020).

GPX4 is a selenocysteine-containing phospholipid hydroperoxidase that is a key mediator in ferroptosis. A decrease in GPX4 activity has been documented after HIBI (Zhu et al. 2021), exacerbating ferroptosis (Lan et al. 2020), and GPX4 overexpression is associated with decreased tissue injury after neonatal HIBI (Sheldon et al. 2004). GPX4 catalyzes the reduction of fatty acids hydroperoxide groups through the reducing substrate GSH. GSH is therefore vital in maintaining GPX4's antioxidant function. GSH is itself a free radical scavenger (Galano and Alvarez-Idaboy 2011), and its levels diminish during HIBI. Restoring GSH concentration, or treatment with its derivative glutathione monoethyl ester, ameliorates HIBI-induced lipid peroxidation in the hippocampus (Li et al. 2019; Anderson et al. 2004), potentially in part due to elevated expression of claudin-5 junction protein, thereby protecting against blood–brain barrier disruption (Song et al. 2015). N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) administration can also aid in maintaining cellular GSH levels after injury, resulting in a decrease in HIBI-related neuronal death (Won et al. 2015).

The amino acid trio cysteine, glycine, and glutamic acid form the tripeptide GSH, and the availability of cysteine and glutamate-cysteine ligase in cells is rate-limiting substrates for GSH production (Forman et al. 2009). The system Xc^- is responsible for cystine import and is known to exhibit increased activity in neural stem cells after hypoxia in vitro (Sims et al. 2012). Solute carrier family 3 member 2 (SLC3A2) and SLC7A11 are subunits of the system Xc^- heterodimer transporter and are therefore crucial genes upstream of GPX4. Through the transporter, the cell exchanges intracellular glutamate (an excitatory neurotransmitter) for extracellular cystine (Koppula et al. 2018). The association between HIBI and regulation of Xc^- transporter is complex, however, as the increase in activity of system Xc^- after HIBI results in a balance of excitatory cell death due to glutamate toxicity (Fogal et al. 2007; Hsieh et al. 2017; Soria et al. 2014) and inhibition of ferroptosis due to increased cystine intake (Lan et al. 2020).

Transcription of both SLC3A2 and SLC7A11 is induced by activated transcription factors (ATFs) such as ATF4 (Lewerenz et al. 2013) which is a stress-induced

transcription factor. ATF4 also induces expression of several cell death-related genes, such as Chac1, Trib3, CHOP, and cysteinyl tRNA synthetase (Ratan 2020). Hence, ATF4 is thought of as a pro-death transcriptional activator that propagates death responses to neuronal oxidative stress in vitro and to stroke in vivo, and ATF4 knockout animals have been shown to be less susceptible to HIBI (Lange et al. 2008). Nrf2 is another transcription factor that is constitutively degraded by Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) (Fan et al. 2017). Inhibiting Keap1 stabilizes Nrf2 and results in the activation of genes involved in glutathione synthesis (Kraft et al. 2004). Nrf2 knockout has been shown to increase brain infarct size in a mouse model of neonatal HIBI, and several Nrf2 inducers have demonstrated neuroprotective effects after ischemic stroke (Liu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2020).

14.3.6 Inflammation and Ferroptosis after HIBI

After HIBI, the injured brain releases high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) and peroxiredoxins which act as danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and are potent inducers of cytokine production and systemic immune response (Liesz et al. 2015; Shichita et al. 2012). Release of DAMPs, including HMGB1, is common in cells undergoing ferroptosis (Wen et al. 2019). HMGB1 is a potent inducer of TLR4 expression, which is increased after HIBI. TLR4 inhibition by TAK-242 results in downregulation of ferroptosis-related genes ATP5G3, PTGS2, CS, IREB2, and RPL8, and increased expression of SLC7A11 and GPX4 after HIBI both in vitro and in vivo (Zhu et al. 2021). Additionally, TLR4 has been shown to play a key role in the inflammation after ischemic stroke (Caso et al. 2007).

14.4 Pharmacological Inhibition of Ferroptosis after HIBI

To counteract oxidative stress, therapeutic hypothermia has used clinically to prevent neuronal cell death after neonatal HIBI (Jacobs et al. 2013). Despite the benefits of hypothermia, outcomes for these patients remain poor, which is why many investigators continue to evaluate supplemental therapies that could target ferroptotic cell death (Fig. 14.1).

GPX4 and other selenoproteins activate the adaptive transcriptional response against ferroptosis and improve functional recovery following stroke. Increasing selenoprotein production by pharmacological supplementation of the substrate selenium has been shown to induce the transcription of selenoprotein mRNAs, including GPX4, and results in decreased cell death and enhanced recovery after stroke (Alim Additionally, et al. 2019). organic selenium compounds such as methylselenocysteine and selenocystamine have also been reported to boost GPX4 activity and protect primary neurons from experimental ischemia (Tuo et al. 2021).

In addition to promoting GPX4 production by improving substrate availability, GPX4 production can also be upregulated by other methods. For example, carvacrol, a monoterpenic phenol that increases GPX4, also inhibits neuronal ferroptosis in



Fig. 14.1 Mechanistic pathways of ferroptotic cell death and examples of targets for pharmacologic modulation of ferroptosis. The classic ferroptosis-inducing chemicals 1S,3R-RAS selective lethal 3 (RSL-3) and erastin are shown in red, and several examples of potential ferroptosisattenuating interventions are shown in green. ACSL4, acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4; Epo, erythropoietin; IREB2, iron-responsive element binding protein 2; FSP1, ferroptosis suppressor protein (also known as apoptosis-inducing factor 2 or AIFM2); GSH, glutathione; GS-SG, glutathione disulfide; GPX4, glutathione peroxidase 4; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SLC3A2, solute carrier family 3 member 2; SLC7A11, solute carrier family 7 member 11; TFR-1, transferrin receptor 1; UBIAD1, UbiA prenyltransferase domain containing 1. Figure created with BioRender.com

animal model of cerebral ischemia (Guan et al. 2019). Similarly, rehmannioside A activates SLC7A11/GPX4 and PI3K/AKT/NRF2 signaling pathways in a rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model, reducing brain infarct volume and improving spatial learning in rats (Fu et al. 2022). Galangin, kaempferol, and neuregulin1 β are other natural compounds which also inhibit ferroptotic cell death through the SLC7A11/GPX4 axis during brain HI (Guan et al. 2021; Yuan et al. 2021; Zhai et al. 2022). Similar to the interventions above, baicalein promotes SLC7A11/GPX4 expression, but its neuroprotective effects after HIBI are also associated with reduced lipid peroxidation through ACSL4 suppression and increased levels of the negative

regulator of ferroptosis ACSL3 (Li et al. 2022). Rosiglitazone, liproxstatin-1, and ferrostatin-1 also decrease lipid peroxidation by inhibition of ACSL4, resulting in reduced lipid peroxidation and infarct volume, while promoting white matter integrity and cognitive function after HIBI (Chen et al., 2021; Tuo et al. 2017; Sayan-Ozacmak et al. 2012; Han et al. 2015).

Although concentrations of CoQ10 may not be reduced in the brain after HIBI (Tsukahara et al. 1999), exogenous CoQ10 administration has been shown to attenuate functional deficits and cerebral infarction in an animal model of adult stroke (Nasoohi et al. 2019). Similarly, the combination of CoQ10 and lipidlowering statins produced enhanced neuroprotection above that of either intervention alone (Abd El-Aal et al. 2017). Another antioxidant, UBIAD1, is involved in the production of CoQ10 in Golgi membranes and regulates ischemic ferroptosis by repairing mitochondrial and other organelle functions in damaged brain tissue (Huang et al. 2022). N-acetylcysteine (NAC), vitamin D, and melatonin are all used clinically for other indications but are currently being evaluated in ferroptosis due to their free radical scavenging abilities. Each of them has shown therapeutic potential for brain ischemia, especially in neonates (Alonso-Alconada et al. 2013; Stessman and Peeples 2018; Adams et al. 2021). Neuroprotective effects of exogenous melatonin have been observed after HIBI in rats, with the protective effects being attributed to AKT/GPX4 pathways (Gou et al. 2020) and/or the suppression of ferritin (Rui et al. 2021; Gao et al. 2023).

To reduce the accumulation of ferroptosis-inducing free iron, certain iron chelators have been tested in vitro and in vivo to alleviate HIBI-related tissue injury. In this regard, intranasal administration of deferoxamine, a bacterial siderophore that chelates iron, protected against stroke damage following MCAO in rats (Hanson et al. 2009). Carthamin yellow, a flavonoid, has also shown anti-ferroptotic activity in MCAO rats by lowering iron and reactive oxygen species accumulation and reversing ACSL4 expression levels in the brain (Guo et al. 2021). Lastly, N-omega-nitro-L-arginine (NLA) administration after HIBI reduces plasma concentrations of free iron, resulting in suppressed nitric oxide formation and lower brain malondialdehyde concentrations (Dorrepaal et al. 1997).

14.5 Conclusions

"Ferroptosis" is a relatively new term coined to describe the deteriorating cell functions primarily characterized by imbalance in metabolic pathways mediated by triggers like free iron accumulation and disruption of antioxidant GSH system and resulting in lipid peroxidation. Since its inception in the last decade, researchers have demonstrated the involvement of ferroptosis in many different neurodegenerative diseases and specifically in both neonatal and adult HIBI. Despite the growing preclinical data outlined in this chapter, there are minimal human data in this field to date. That said, therapeutic targeting of ferroptosis pathways has shown some early promise in providing neuroprotective benefits.

References

- Abd El-Aal SA, Abd El-Fattah MA, El-Abhar HS (2017) CoQ10 augments rosuvastatin neuroprotective effect in a model of global ischemia *via* inhibition of NF-κB/JNK3/Bax and activation of Akt/FOXO3A/Bim cues. Front Pharmacol 8:735. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar. 2017.00735
- Adams LE, Moss HG, Lowe DW, Brown T, Wiest DB, Hollis BW, Singh I, Jenkins DD (2021) NAC and vitamin D restore CNS glutathione in endotoxin-sensitized neonatal hypoxic-ischemic rats. Antioxidants 10(3):489. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10030489
- Agmon E, Solon J, Bassereau P, Stockwell BR (2018) Modeling the effects of lipid peroxidation during ferroptosis on membrane properties. Sci Rep 8(1):5155. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23408-0
- Alim I, Caulfield JT, Chen Y, Swarup V, Geschwind DH, Ivanova E, Seravalli J, Ai Y, Sansing LH, Ste Marie EJ, Hondal RJ, Mukherjee S, Cave JW, Sagdullaev BT, Karuppagounder SS, Ratan RR (2019) Selenium drives a transcriptional adaptive program to block ferroptosis and treat stroke. Cell 177(5):1262–1279.e25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.032
- Alonso-Alconada D, Alvarez A, Arteaga O, Martínez-Ibargüen A, Hilario E (2013, April 29) Neuroprotective effect of melatonin: a novel therapy against perinatal hypoxia-ischemia. Int J Mol Sci 14(5):9379–9395. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14059379
- Anderson MF, Nilsson M, Eriksson PS, Sims NR (2004) Glutathione monoethyl ester provides neuroprotection in a rat model of stroke. Neurosci Lett 354(2):163–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neulet.2003.09.067
- Appelhoff RJ, Tian YM, Raval RR, Turley H, Harris AL, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ, Gleadle JM (2004) Differential function of the prolyl hydroxylases PHD1, PHD2, and PHD3 in the regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor. J Biol Chem 279(37):38458–38465. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M406026200
- Ashraf A, Jeandriens J, Parkes HG, So PW (2020) Iron dyshomeostasis, lipid peroxidation and perturbed expression of cystine/glutamate antiporter in Alzheimer's disease: evidence of ferroptosis. Redox Biol 32:101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101494
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87(1):245–313. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00044.2005
- Bernardo-Castro S, Sousa JA, Brás A, Cecília C, Rodrigues B, Almendra L, Machado C, Santo G, Silva F, Ferreira L, Santana I, Sargento-Freitas J (2020) Pathophysiology of blood–brain barrier permeability throughout the different stages of ischemic stroke and its implication on hemorrhagic transformation and recovery. Front Neurol 11:594672. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur. 2020.594672
- Blomgren K, Zhu C, Hallin U, Hagberg H (2003) Mitochondria and ischemic reperfusion damage in the adult and in the developing brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304(3):551–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-291x(03)00628-4
- Bonfante S, Della Giustina A, Danielski LG, Denicol T, Joaquim L, Biehl E, Scopel G, de Carli RJ, Hubner M, Cardoso T, Tuon T, Generoso J, Barichello T, Terra S, Petronilho F (2020) Stanniocalcin-1 ameliorates cerebral ischemia by decrease oxidative stress and blood brain barrier permeability. Microvasc Res 128:103956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mvr.2019.103956
- Caso JR, Pradillo JM, Hurtado O, Lorenzo P, Moro MA, Lizasoain I (2007) Toll-like receptor 4 is involved in brain damage and inflammation after experimental stroke. Circulation 115(12): 1599–1608. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.603431
- Chan PH (2001) Reactive oxygen radicals in signaling and damage in the ischemic brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21(1):2–14. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004647-200101000-00002
- Chen ZQ, Mou RT, Feng DX, Wang Z, Chen G (2017) The role of nitric oxide in stroke. Med Gas Res 7(3):194–203. https://doi.org/10.4103/2045-9912.215750
- Chen W, Jiang L, Hu Y, Tang N, Liang N, Li XF, Chen YW, Qin H, Wu L (2021a) Ferritin reduction is essential for cerebral ischemia-induced hippocampal neuronal death through p53/

SLC7A11-mediated ferroptosis. Brain Res 1752:147216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres. 2020.147216

- Chen J, Yang L, Geng L, He J, Chen L, Sun Q, Zhao J, Wang X (2021b) Inhibition of acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family Member 4 facilitates neurological recovery after stroke by regulation ferroptosis. Front Cell Neurosci 15:632354. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2021.632354
- Chi SI, Wang CK, Chen JJ, Chau LY, Lin TN (2000) Differential regulation of H- and L-ferritin messenger RNA subunits, ferritin protein and iron following focal cerebral ischemiareperfusion. Neuroscience 100(3):475–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(00)00317-1
- Choi DH, Kim JH, Lee KH, Kim HY, Kim YS, Choi WS, Lee J (2015) Role of neuronal NADPH oxidase 1 in the peri-infarct regions after stroke. PLoS One 10(1):e0116814. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0116814
- Conrad M, Pratt DA (2019) The chemical basis of ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 15(12):1137–1147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0408-1
- Cui Y, Zhang Y, Zhao X, Shao L, Liu G, Sun C, Xu R, Zhang Z (2021) ACSL4 exacerbates ischemic stroke by promoting ferroptosis-induced brain injury and neuroinflammation. Brain Behav Immun 93:312–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2021.01.003
- DeGregorio-Rocasolano N, Martí-Sistac O, Ponce J, Castelló-Ruiz M, Millán M, Guirao V, García-Yébenes I, Salom JB, Ramos-Cabrer P, Alborch E, Lizasoain I, Castillo J, Dávalos A, Gasull T (2018) Iron-loaded transferrin (Tf) is detrimental whereas iron-free Tf confers protection against brain ischemia by modifying blood Tf saturation and subsequent neuronal damage. Redox Biol 15:143–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.11.026
- Demougeot C, Van Hoecke M, Bertrand N, Prigent-Tessier A, Mossiat C, Beley A, Marie C (2004) Cytoprotective efficacy and mechanisms of the liposoluble iron chelator 2,2'-dipyridyl in the rat photothrombotic ischemic stroke model. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 311(3):1080–1087. https://doi. org/10.1124/jpet.104.072744
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042
- Doll, S., Proneth, B., Tyurina, Y. Y., Panzilius, E., Kobayashi, S., Ingold, I., Irmler, M., Beckers, J., Aichler, M., Walch, A., Prokisch, H., Trümbach, D., Mao, G., Qu, F., Bayir, H., Füllekrug, J., Scheel, C. H., Wurst, W., Schick, J. A., . . . Conrad, M. (2017). ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol, 13(1), 91–98. doi:https://doi. org/10.1038/nchembio.2239
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3(3):285–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1535-6108(03)00050-3
- Donkor ES (2018) Stroke in the 21st century: a snapshot of the burden, epidemiology, and quality of life. Stroke Res Treat 2018:3238165. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3238165
- Dorrepaal CA, Berger HM, Benders MJ, van Zoeren-Grobben D, Van de Bor M, Van Bel F (1996) Nonprotein-bound iron in postasphyxial reperfusion injury of the newborn. Pediatrics 98(5): 883–889. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.98.5.883
- Dorrepaal CA, van Bel F, Moison RM, Shadid M, van de Bor M, Steendijk P, Berger HM (1997) Oxidative stress during post-hypoxic-ischemic reperfusion in the newborn lamb: the effect of nitric oxide synthesis inhibition. Pediatr Res 41(3):321–326. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-199703000-00003
- Doverhag C, Keller M, Karlsson A, Hedtjarn M, Nilsson U, Kapeller E, Sarkozy G, Klimaschewski L, Humpel C, Hagberg H, Simbruner G, Gressens P, Savman K (2008) Pharmacological and genetic inhibition of NADPH oxidase does not reduce brain damage in different models of perinatal brain injury in newborn mice. Neurobiol Dis 31(1):133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2008.04.003
- Dufrusine B, Di Francesco A, Oddi S, Scipioni L, Angelucci CB, D'Addario C, Serafini M, Häfner AK, Steinhilber D, Maccarrone M, Dainese E (2019) Iron-dependent trafficking of

5-lipoxygenase and impact on human macrophage activation. Front Immunol 10:1347. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01347

- El Bana SM, Maher SE, Gaber AF, Aly SS (2016) Serum and urinary malondialdehyde (MDA), uric acid, and protein as markers of perinatal asphyxia. Electron Physician 8(7):2614–2619. https://doi.org/10.19082/2614
- Fajersztajn L, Veras MM (2017) Hypoxia: from placental development to fetal programming. Birth Defects Res 109(17):1377–1385. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdr2.1142
- Fan Z, Wirth AK, Chen D, Wruck CJ, Rauh M, Buchfelder M, Savaskan N (2017) Nrf2-Keap1 pathway promotes cell proliferation and diminishes ferroptosis. Oncogenesis 6(8):e371. https:// doi.org/10.1038/oncsis.2017.65
- Fatemi A, Wilson MA, Johnston MV (2009) Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy in the term infant. Clin Perinatol 36(4):835-vii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clp.2009.07.011
- Fogal B, Li J, Lobner D, McCullough LD, Hewett SJ (2007) System x(c)- activity and astrocytes are necessary for interleukin-1beta-mediated hypoxic neuronal injury. J Neurosci 27(38): 10094–10105. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2459-07.2007
- Forman HJ, Zhang H, Rinna A (2009) Glutathione: overview of its protective roles, measurement, and biosynthesis. Mol Asp Med 30(1–2):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2008.08.006
- Fu C, Wu Y, Liu S, Luo C, Lu Y, Liu M, Wang L, Zhang Y, Liu X (2022) Rehmannioside a improves cognitive impairment and alleviates ferroptosis via activating PI3K/AKT/Nrf2 and SLC7A11/GPX4 signaling pathway after ischemia. J Ethnopharmacol 289:115021. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jep.2022.115021
- Galano A, Alvarez-Idaboy JR (2011) Glutathione: mechanism and kinetics of its non-enzymatic defense action against free radicals. RSC Adv 1(9):1763–1771. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c1ra00474c
- Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Aaronson, S. A., Abrams, J. M., Adam, D., Agostinis, P., Alnemri, E. S., Altucci, L., Amelio, I., Andrews, D. W., Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, M., Antonov, A. V., Arama, E., Baehrecke, E. H., Barlev, N. A., Bazan, N. G., Bernassola, F., Bertrand, M. J. M., Bianchi, K., . . . Kroemer, G. (2018). Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. Cell Death Differ, 25(3), 486–541. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Gao Y, Wang T, Cheng Y, Wu Y, Zhu L, Gu Z, Wu Y, Cai L, Wu Y, Zhang Y, Gao C, Li L, Li J, Li Q, Wang Z, Wang Y, Wang F, Luo C, Tao L (2023) Melatonin ameliorates neurological deficits through MT2/IL-33/ferritin H signaling-mediated inhibition of neuroinflammation and ferroptosis after traumatic brain injury. Free Radic Biol Med 199:97–112. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.freeradbiomed.2023.02.014
- Gaschler MM, Stockwell BR (2017) Lipid peroxidation in cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482(3):419–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.086
- George PM, Steinberg GK (2015) Novel stroke therapeutics: unraveling stroke pathophysiology and its impact on clinical treatments. Neuron 87(2):297–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron. 2015.05.041
- Gou Z, Su X, Hu X, Zhou Y, Huang L, Fan Y, Li J, Lu L (2020) Melatonin improves hypoxicischemic brain damage through the Akt/Nrf2/Gpx4 signaling pathway. Brain Res Bull 163:40– 48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2020.07.011
- Guan X, Li X, Yang X, Yan J, Shi P, Ba L, Cao Y, Wang P (2019) The neuroprotective effects of carvacrol on ischemia/reperfusion-induced hippocampal neuronal impairment by ferroptosis mitigation. Life Sci 235:116795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.116795
- Guan X, Li Z, Zhu S, Cheng M, Ju Y, Ren L, Yang G, Min D (2021) Galangin attenuated cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury by inhibition of ferroptosis through activating the SLC7A11/GPX4 axis in gerbils. Life Sci 264:118660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118660
- Guo H, Zhu L, Tang P, Chen D, Li Y, Li J, Bao C (2021) Carthamin yellow improves cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury by attenuating inflammation and ferroptosis in rats. Int J Mol Med 47(4):52. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2021.4885
- Han L, Cai W, Mao L, Liu J, Li P, Leak RK, Xu Y, Hu X, Chen J (2015) Rosiglitazone promotes white matter integrity and long-term functional recovery after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke 46(9):2628–2636. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.010091. Epub August 4, 2015
- Han C, Liu Y, Dai R, Ismail N, Su W, Li B (2020) Ferroptosis and its potential role in human diseases. Front Pharmacol 11:239. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00239
- Hanson LR, Roeytenberg A, Martinez PM, Coppes VG, Sweet DC, Rao RJ, Marti DL, Hoekman JD, Matthews RB, Frey WH 2nd, Panter SS (2009) Intranasal deferoxamine provides increased brain exposure and significant protection in rat ischemic stroke. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 330(3): 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.108.149807
- Hiller S, Broz P (2021) Active membrane rupture spurs a range of cell deaths. Nature 591(7848): 36–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-00297-4
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Hsieh CH, Lin YJ, Chen WL, Huang YC, Chang CW, Cheng FC, Liu RS, Shyu WC (2017) HIF-1α triggers long-lasting glutamate excitotoxicity via system x_c⁻ in cerebral ischaemia-reperfusion. J Pathol 241(3):337–349. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4838
- Huang BY, Castillo M (2008) Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury: imaging findings from birth to adulthood. Radiographics 28(2):417–439; quiz 617. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.282075066
- Huang Z, Huang PL, Ma J, Meng W, Ayata C, Fishman MC, Moskowitz MA (1996) Enlarged infarcts in endothelial nitric oxide synthase knockout mice are attenuated by nitro-L-arginine. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 16(5):981–987. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004647-199609000-00023
- Huang Y, Liu J, He J, Hu Z, Tan F, Zhu X, Yuan F, Jiang Z (2022) UBIAD1 alleviates ferroptotic neuronal death by enhancing antioxidative capacity by cooperatively restoring impaired mitochondria and Golgi apparatus upon cerebral ischemic/reperfusion insult. Cell Biosci 12(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-022-00776-9
- Imai H, Matsuoka M, Kumagai T, Sakamoto T, Koumura T (2017) Lipid peroxidation-dependent cell death regulated by GPx4 and ferroptosis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 403:143–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/82_2016_508
- Jacobs SE, Berg M, Hunt R, Tarnow-Mordi WO, Inder TE, Davis PG (2013) Cooling for newborns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013(1):CD003311. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003311.pub3
- Jakaria M, Belaidi AA, Bush AI, Ayton S (2021) Ferroptosis as a mechanism of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 159(5):804–825. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.15519
- Johnston MV, Trescher WH, Ishida A, Nakajima W (2001) Neurobiology of hypoxic-ischemic injury in the developing brain. Pediatr Res 49(6):735–741. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200106000-00003
- Jyotsana N, Ta KT, DelGiorno KE (2022) The role of cystine/glutamate antiporter SLC7A11/xCT in the pathophysiology of cancer. Front Oncol 12:858462. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022. 858462
- Kagan, V. E., Mao, G., Qu, F., Angeli, J. P., Doll, S., Croix, C. S., Dar, H. H., Liu, B., Tyurin, V. A., Ritov, V. B., Kapralov, A. A., Amoscato, A. A., Jiang, J., Anthonymuthu, T., Mohammadyani, D., Yang, Q., Proneth, B., Klein-Seetharaman, J., Watkins, S., . . . Bayır, H. (2017). Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol, 13(1), 81–90. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Karuppagounder, S. S., Alim, I., Khim, S. J., Bourassa, M. W., Sleiman, S. F., John, R., Thinnes, C. C., Yeh, T. L., Demetriades, M., Neitemeier, S., Cruz, D., Gazaryan, I., Killilea, D. W., Morgenstern, L., Xi, G., Keep, R. F., Schallert, T., Tappero, R. V., Zhong, J., . . . Ratan, R. R. (2016). Therapeutic targeting of oxygen-sensing prolyl hydroxylases abrogates ATF4-

dependent neuronal death and improves outcomes after brain hemorrhage in several rodent models. Sci Transl Med, 8(328), 328ra29. doi:https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aac6008

- Kenny EM, Fidan E, Yang Q, Anthonymuthu TS, New LA, Meyer EA, Wang H, Kochanek PM, Dixon CE, Kagan VE, Bayir H (2019) Ferroptosis contributes to neuronal death and functional outcome after traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Med 47(3):410–418. https://doi.org/10.1097/ CCM.000000000003555
- Koppula P, Zhang Y, Zhuang L, Gan B (2018) Amino acid transporter SLC7A11/xCT at the crossroads of regulating redox homeostasis and nutrient dependency of cancer. Cancer Commun 38(1):12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40880-018-0288-x
- Kraft AD, Johnson DA, Johnson JA (2004) Nuclear factor E2-related factor 2-dependent antioxidant response element activation by tert-butylhydroquinone and sulforaphane occurring preferentially in astrocytes conditions neurons against oxidative insult. J Neurosci 24(5):1101–1112. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3817-03.2004
- Kuang F, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2020) Oxidative damage and antioxidant defense in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:586578. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.586578
- Lafemina MJ, Sheldon RA, Ferriero DM (2006) Acute hypoxia-ischemia results in hydrogen peroxide accumulation in neonatal but not adult mouse brain. Pediatr Res 59(5):680–683. https://doi.org/10.1203/01.pdr.0000214891.35363.6a
- Lan B, Ge JW, Cheng SW, Zheng XL, Liao J, He C, Rao ZQ, Wang GZ (2020) Extract of Naotaifang, a compound Chinese herbal medicine, protects neuron ferroptosis induced by acute cerebral ischemia in rats. J Integr Med 18(4):344–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joim. 2020.01.008
- Lange PS, Chavez JC, Pinto JT, Coppola G, Sun CW, Townes TM, Geschwind DH, Ratan RR (2008) ATF4 is an oxidative stress-inducible, prodeath transcription factor in neurons in vitro and in vivo. J Exp Med 205(5):1227–1242. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20071460
- Lee AC, Kozuki N, Blencowe H, Vos T, Bahalim A, Darmstadt GL, Niermeyer S, Ellis M, Robertson NJ, Cousens S, Lawn JE (2013) Intrapartum-related neonatal encephalopathy incidence and impairment at regional and global levels for 2010 with trends from 1990. Pediatr Res 74(Suppl. 1):50–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2013.206
- Lei P, Ayton S, Finkelstein DI, Spoerri L, Ciccotosto GD, Wright DK, Wong BX, Adlard PA, Cherny RA, Lam LQ, Roberts BR, Volitakis I, Egan GF, McLean CA, Cappai R, Duce JA, Bush AI (2012) Tau deficiency induces parkinsonism with dementia by impairing APP-mediated iron export. Nat Med 18(2):291–295. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2613
- Lewerenz J, Hewett SJ, Huang Y, Lambros M, Gout PW, Kalivas PW, Massie A, Smolders I, Methner A, Pergande M, Smith SB, Ganapathy V, Maher P (2013) The cystine/glutamate antiporter system x(c)(-) in health and disease: from molecular mechanisms to novel therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(5):522–555. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2011.4391
- Li B, Concepcion K, Meng X, Zhang L (2017) Brain-immune interactions in perinatal hypoxicischemic brain injury. Prog Neurobiol 159:50–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017. 10.006
- Li Y, Feng D, Wang Z, Zhao Y, Sun R, Tian D, Liu D, Zhang F, Ning S, Yao J, Tian X (2019) Ischemia-induced ACSL4 activation contributes to ferroptosis-mediated tissue injury in intestinal ischemia/reperfusion. Cell Death Differ 26(11):2284–2299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-019-0299-4
- Li M, Meng Z, Yu S, Li J, Wang Y, Yang W, Wu H (2022) Baicalein ameliorates cerebral ischemiareperfusion injury by inhibiting ferroptosis via regulating GPX4/ACSL4/ACSL3 axis. Chem Biol Interact 366:110137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2022.110137
- Liesz A, Dalpke A, Mracsko E, Antoine DJ, Roth S, Zhou W, Yang H, Na SY, Akhisaroglu M, Fleming T, Eigenbrod T, Nawroth PP, Tracey KJ, Veltkamp R (2015) DAMP signaling is a key pathway inducing immune modulation after brain injury. J Neurosci 35(2):583–598. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2439-14.2015
- Liu H, Li J, Zhao F, Wang H, Qu Y, Mu D (2015) Nitric oxide synthase in hypoxic or ischemic brain injury. Rev Neurosci 26(1):105–117. https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2014-0041

- Liu R, Pan MX, Tang JC, Zhang Y, Liao HB, Zhuang Y, Zhao D, Wan Q (2017) Role of neuroinflammation in ischemic stroke. Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 4(8):158–166. https:// doi.org/10.20517/2347-8659.2017.09
- Liu L, Locascio LM, Doré S (2019) Critical role of Nrf2 in experimental ischemic stroke. Front Pharmacol 10:153. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.00153
- Liu S, Gao X, Zhou S (2022) New target for prevention and treatment of neuroinflammation: microglia iron accumulation and ferroptosis. ASN Neuro 14:17590914221133236. https://doi. org/10.1177/17590914221133236
- Loane DJ, Faden AI (2010) Neuroprotection for traumatic brain injury: translational challenges and emerging therapeutic strategies. Trends Pharmacol Sci 31(12):596–604. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tips.2010.09.005
- Maellaro E, Casini AF, Del Bello B, Comporti M (1990) Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant systems in the liver injury produced by glutathione depleting agents. Biochem Pharmacol 39(10):1513–1521. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(90)90515-m
- McCarthy RC, Kosman DJ (2015) Iron transport across the blood–brain barrier: development, neurovascular regulation and cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Cell Mol Life Sci 72(4):709–727. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1771-4
- Millar LJ, Shi L, Hoerder-Suabedissen A, Molnár Z (2017) Neonatal hypoxia ischaemia: mechanisms, models, and therapeutic challenges. Front Cell Neurosci 11:78. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fncel.2017.00078
- Muramatsu K, Sheldon RA, Black SM, Täuber M, Ferriero DM (2000) Nitric oxide synthase activity and inhibition after neonatal hypoxia ischemia in the mouse brain. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 123(2):119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-3806(00)00088-2
- Nasoohi S, Simani L, Khodagholi F, Nikseresht S, Faizi M, Naderi N (2019) Coenzyme Q10 supplementation improves acute outcomes of stroke in rats pretreated with atorvastatin. Nutr Neurosci 22(4):264–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/1028415X.2017.1376928
- Park UJ, Lee YA, Won SM, Lee JH, Kang SH, Springer JE, Lee YB, Gwag BJ (2011) Bloodderived iron mediates free radical production and neuronal death in the hippocampal CA1 area following transient forebrain ischemia in rat. Acta Neuropathol 121(4):459–473. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00401-010-0785-8
- Pedrera L, Espiritu RA, Ros U, Weber J, Schmitt A, Stroh J, Hailfinger S, von Karstedt S, García-Sáez AJ (2021) Ferroptotic pores induce Ca²⁺ fluxes and ESCRT-III activation to modulate cell death kinetics. Cell Death Differ 28(5):1644–1657. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00691-x
- Perlman JM (2006) Summary proceedings from the neurology group on hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatrics 117(3 Pt. 2):S28–S33. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-0620E
- Rao SS, Portbury SD, Lago L, McColl G, Finkelstein DI, Bush AI, Adlard PA (2020) The iron chelator deferiprone improves the phenotype in a mouse model of tauopathy. J Alzheimers Dis 77(2):753–771. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200551
- Ratan RR (2020) The chemical biology of ferroptosis in the central nervous system. Cell Chem Biol 27(5):479–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.007
- Rodrigo R, Fernández-Gajardo R, Gutiérrez R, Matamala JM, Carrasco R, Miranda-Merchak A, Feuerhake W (2013) Oxidative stress and pathophysiology of ischemic stroke: novel therapeutic opportunities. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 12(5):698–714. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1871527311312050015
- Rui, T., Wang, H., Li, Q., Cheng, Y., Gao, Y., Fang, X., Ma, X., Chen, G., Gao, C., Gu, Z., Song, S., Zhang, J., Wang, C., Wang, Z., Wang, T., Zhang, M., Min, J., Chen, X., Tao, L., . . . Luo, C. (2021). Deletion of ferritin H in neurons counteracts the protective effect of melatonin against traumatic brain injury-induced ferroptosis. J Pineal Res, 70(2), e12704. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1111/jpi.12704
- Santoro MM (2020) The antioxidant role of non-mitochondrial CoQ10: mystery solved! Cell Metab 31(1):13–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.12.007

- Sayan-Ozacmak H, Ozacmak VH, Barut F, Jakubowska-Dogru E (2012) Rosiglitazone treatment reduces hippocampal neuronal damage possibly through alleviating oxidative stress in chronic cerebral hypoperfusion. Neurochem Int 61(3):287–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2012. 05.011
- Sekhon MS, Ainslie PN, Griesdale DE (2017) Clinical pathophysiology of hypoxic ischemic brain injury after cardiac arrest: a "two-hit" model. Crit Care 21(1):90. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13054-017-1670-9
- Shah R, Margison K, Pratt DA (2017) The potency of diarylamine radical-trapping antioxidants as inhibitors of ferroptosis underscores the role of autoxidation in the mechanism of cell death. ACS Chem Biol 12(10):2538–2545. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.7b00730
- Shah R, Shchepinov MS, Pratt DA (2018) Resolving the role of lipoxygenases in the initiation and execution of ferroptosis. ACS Cent Sci 4(3):387–396. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 7b00589
- Sheldon RA, Jiang X, Francisco C, Christen S, Vexler ZS, Täuber MG, Ferriero DM (2004) Manipulation of antioxidant pathways in neonatal murine brain. Pediatr Res 56(4):656–662. https://doi.org/10.1203/01.PDR.0000139413.27864.50
- Shen L, Lin D, Li X, Wu H, Lenahan C, Pan Y, Xu W, Chen Y, Shao A, Zhang J (2020) Ferroptosis in acute central nervous system injuries: the future direction? Front Cell Dev Biol 8:594. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00594
- Shichita T, Hasegawa E, Kimura A, Morita R, Sakaguchi R, Takada I, Sekiya T, Ooboshi H, Kitazono T, Yanagawa T, Ishii T, Takahashi H, Mori S, Nishibori M, Kuroda K, Akira S, Miyake K, Yoshimura A (2012) Peroxiredoxin family proteins are key initiators of postischemic inflammation in the brain. Nat Med 18(6):911–917. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2749
- Siddiq A, Ayoub IA, Chavez JC, Aminova L, Shah S, LaManna JC, Patton SM, Connor JR, Cherny RA, Volitakis I, Bush AI, Langsetmo I, Seeley T, Gunzler V, Ratan RR (2005) Hypoxiainducible factor prolyl 4-hydroxylase inhibition. A target for neuroprotection in the central nervous system. J Biol Chem 280(50):41732–41743. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M504963200
- Siesjö BK, Elmér E, Janelidze S, Keep M, Kristián T, Ouyang YB, Uchino H (1999) Role and mechanisms of secondary mitochondrial failure. Acta Neurochir Suppl 73:7–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-7091-6391-7_2
- Sims NR, Anderson MF (2002) Mitochondrial contributions to tissue damage in stroke. Neurochem Int 40(6):511–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-0186(01)00122-x
- Sims B, Clarke M, Francillion L, Kindred E, Hopkins ES, Sontheimer H (2012) Hypoxic preconditioning involves system Xc- regulation in mouse neural stem cells. Stem Cell Res 8(2):285–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2011.09.002
- Song J, Park J, Oh Y, Lee JE (2015) Glutathione suppresses cerebral infarct volume and cell death after ischemic injury: involvement of FOXO3 inactivation and Bcl2 expression. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2015:426069. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/426069
- Soria FN, Pérez-Samartín A, Martin A, Gona KB, Llop J, Szczupak B, Chara JC, Matute C, Domercq M (2014) Extrasynaptic glutamate release through cystine/glutamate antiporter contributes to ischemic damage. J Clin Investig 124(8):3645–3655. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI71886
- Stessman LE, Peeples ES (2018) Vitamin D and its role in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Neonatology 113(4):305–312. https://doi.org/10.1159/000486819
- Tang S, Gao P, Chen H, Zhou X, Ou Y, He Y (2020) The role of iron, its metabolism and ferroptosis in traumatic brain injury. Front Cell Neurosci 14:590789. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020. 590789
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tsukahara Y, Wakatsuki A, Okatani Y (1999) Antioxidant role of endogenous coenzyme Q against the ischemia and reperfusion-induced lipid peroxidation in fetal rat brain. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 78(8):669–674. https://doi.org/10.1080/j.1600-0412.1999.780802.x

- Tuo, Q. Z., Lei, P., Jackman, K. A., Li, X. L., Xiong, H., Li, X. L., Liuyang, Z. Y., Roisman, L., Zhang, S. T., Ayton, S., Wang, Q., Crouch, P. J., Ganio, K., Wang, X. C., Pei, L., Adlard, P. A., Lu, Y. M., Cappai, R., Wang, J. Z., . . . Bush, A. I. (2017). Tau-mediated iron export prevents ferroptotic damage after ischemic stroke. Mol Psychiatry, 22(11), 1520–1530. doi:https://doi. org/10.1038/mp.2017.171
- Tuo QZ, Masaldan S, Southon A, Mawal C, Ayton S, Bush AI, Lei P, Belaidi AA (2021) Characterization of selenium compounds for anti-ferroptotic activity in neuronal cells and after cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury. Neurotherapeutics 18(4):2682–2691. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13311-021-01111-9
- van Leyen K, Kim HY, Lee SR, Jin G, Arai K, Lo EH (2006) Baicalein and 12/15-lipoxygenase in the ischemic brain. Stroke 37(12):3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000249004. 25444.a5
- Vannucci RC (2000) Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Am J Perinatol 17(3):113–120. https:// doi.org/10.1055/s-2000-9293
- Wagner SR 4th, Lanier WL (1994) Metabolism of glucose, glycogen, and high-energy phosphates during complete cerebral ischemia. A comparison of normoglycemic, chronically hyperglycemic diabetic, and acutely hyperglycemic nondiabetic rats. Anesthesiology 81(6):1516–1526. https://doi.org/10.1097/0000542-199412000-00028
- Wang YQ, Chang SY, Wu Q, Gou YJ, Jia L, Cui YM, Yu P, Shi ZH, Wu WS, Gao G, Chang YZ (2016) The protective role of mitochondrial ferritin on erastin-induced ferroptosis. Front Aging Neurosci 8:308. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00308
- Wang Z, Bu J, Yao X, Liu C, Shen H, Li X, Li H, Chen G (2017) Phosphorylation at S153 as a functional switch of phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein 1 in cerebral ischemiareperfusion injury in rats. Front Mol Neurosci 10:358. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017. 00358
- Wen Q, Liu J, Kang R, Zhou B, Tang D (2019) The release and activity of HMGB1 in ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 510(2):278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.01.090
- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, Mao G, Tyurin VA, Anthonymuthu TS, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Kenny EM, Yang Q, Rosenbaum JC, Sparvero LJ, Emlet DR, Wen X, Minami Y, Qu F et al (2017) PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. Cell 171(3):628–641. e26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.044
- Won SJ, Kim JE, Cittolin-Santos GF, Swanson RA (2015) Assessment at the single-cell level identifies neuronal glutathione depletion as both a cause and effect of ischemia-reperfusion oxidative stress. J Neurosci 35(18):7143–7152. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4826-14. 2015
- World Stroke Organization (2022). https://www.world-stroke.org/news-and-blog/news/wso-global-stroke-fact-sheet-2022
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xie BS, Wang YQ, Lin Y, Mao Q, Feng JF, Gao GY, Jiang JY (2019) Inhibition of ferroptosis attenuates tissue damage and improves long-term outcomes after traumatic brain injury in mice. CNS Neurosci Ther 25(4):465–475. https://doi.org/10.1111/cns.13069
- Xing Y, Hua Y, Keep RF, Xi G (2009) Effects of deferoxamine on brain injury after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats with hyperglycemia. Brain Res 1291:113–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.brainres.2009.07.032
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yigitkanli K, Pekcec A, Karatas H, Pallast S, Mandeville E, Joshi N, Smirnova N, Gazaryan I, Ratan RR, Witztum JL, Montaner J, Holman TR, Lo EH, van Leyen K (2013) Inhibition of 12/ 15-lipoxygenase as therapeutic strategy to treat stroke. Ann Neurol 73(1):129–135. https://doi. org/10.1002/ana.23734

- Yosca TH, Rittle J, Krest CM, Onderko EL, Silakov A, Calixto JC, Behan RK, Green MT (2013) Iron(IV)hydroxide pK(a) and the role of thiolate ligation in C-H bond activation by cytochrome P450. Science NY 342(6160):825–829. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244373
- Yoshioka H, Niizuma K, Katsu M, Okami N, Sakata H, Kim GS, Narasimhan P, Chan PH (2011) NADPH oxidase mediates striatal neuronal injury after transient global cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31(3):868–880. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2010.166
- Yuan Y, Zhai Y, Chen J, Xu X, Wang H (2021) Kaempferol ameliorates oxygen-glucose deprivation/reoxygenation-induced neuronal ferroptosis by activating Nrf2/SLC7A11/GPX4 axis. Biomol Ther 11(7):923. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11070923
- Zhai QY, Ren YQ, Ni QS, Song ZH, Ge KL, Guo YL (2022) Transplantation of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells-derived neural stem cells pretreated with Neuregulin1β ameliorate cerebral ischemic reperfusion injury in rats. Biomol Ther 12(3):428. https://doi.org/10.3390/ biom12030428
- Zhang F, Iadecola C (1994) Reduction of focal cerebral ischemic damage by delayed treatment with nitric oxide donors. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 14(4):574–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm. 1994.71
- Zhang W, Dong X, Dou S, Yang L (2020) Neuroprotective role of Nrf2 on hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in neonatal mice. Synapse 74(11):e22174. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.22174
- Zhao X, Haensel C, Araki E, Ross ME, Iadecola C (2000) Gene-dosing effect and persistence of reduction in ischemic brain injury in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. Brain Res 872(1–2):215–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(00)02459-8
- Zhao J, Wu Y, Liang S, Piao X (2022) Activation of SSAT1/ALOX15 axis aggravates cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury via triggering neuronal ferroptosis. Neuroscience 485:78–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2022.01.017
- Zhu K, Zhu X, Sun S, Yang W, Liu S, Tang Z, Zhang R, Li J, Shen T, Hei M (2021) Inhibition of TLR4 prevents hippocampal hypoxic-ischemic injury by regulating ferroptosis in neonatal rats. Exp Neurol 345:113828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2021.113828



15

Involvement of Ferroptosis in Lupus Nephritis

Keiko Hosohata

Abstract

Lupus nephritis (LN) is one of the most common severe organ manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). LN is often associated with a poor prognosis, a higher risk of progression to end-stage renal disease, the need for replacement therapy, and mortality. LN is considered to start in the glomeruli with the massive deposition of immune complexes and then locally produced inflammatory mediators recruit leukocytes. In LN, glomerular injury results in increased leakage of transferrin-bound and non-transferrin-bound iron, leading to tubular iron accumulation that triggers ferroptosis, a recently recognized form of nonapoptotic cell death. At the same time, loss of glomerular permeability causes tubulointerstitial injury, which is sustained by an intrinsic tubular cell inflammatory phenotype and infiltrating immune cells, mediated by reactive oxygen species (ROS). Ferroptosis is also triggered by ROS due to iron overload, in addition to lipid peroxidation accumulation, or inhibition of phospholipid hydroperoxidase glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4). The kidney in particular has higher rates of O₂ consumption in its mitochondria than other organs; therefore, it is susceptible to imbalances between ROS and antioxidants. In this chapter, we summarize the role of ferroptosis in the etiopathology of LN.

K. Hosohata (🖂)

Education and Research Center for Clinical Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Osaka Medical and Pharmaceutical University, Osaka, Japan e-mail: hosohata@gly.oups.ac.jp

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_15

15.1 Introduction

Lupus nephritis (LN), glomerulonephritis with severe proteinuria, is a serious complication of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Jarval and Vikrant 2017). Approximately 200 of every 100,000 people develop SLE in Europe (Barber et al. 2021), and it is more common in women; however, men who develop SLE may have a more severe form (Barber et al. 2021). A meta-analysis in the USA showed a higher incidence and prevalence of SLE in minority populations and women across all registries (Izmirly et al. 2021). A population-based registry of individuals with SLE residing in San Francisco County showed a higher age-standardized prevalence of SLE in women among ethnic minorities: in Blacks (458.1 per 100,000 persons), in Hispanics (177.9 per 100,000 persons), in Asians (149.7 per 100,000 persons), and in Whites (109.8 per 100,000 persons) (Dall'Era et al. 2017). In the UK, people of Black Caribbean ethnicity had the highest incidence and prevalence of SLE, although the incidence of SLE has been declining, the prevalence has been increasing in the UK in recent years (Rees et al. 2016). It has been suggested that 40-60% of SLE patients are at risk of developing LN during their lifetime, causing irreversible nephron loss (Murphy and Isenberg 2019).

LN is almost twice as prevalent in children than in adults and is associated with long-term morbidity (Huang et al. 2022). The clinical features of LN in childhood are similar across regions, whereas the prevalence of LN, disease severity, comorbidities, and outcomes might vary in developing and developed countries (Pereira et al. 2011). A large population-based registry from North America, including 184 children with SLE, showed that LN was more prevalent in African Americans, Asian/Pacific Islanders, and Hispanic patients, that African Americans had increased neurological manifestations, and that both African Americans and Asian/Pacific Islanders had increased hematological manifestations compared with Whites (Maningding et al. 2020).

In 5–30% of patients with LN, end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) still develops within 10 years of diagnosis. The gold standard for the diagnosis and classification of LN is the percutaneous kidney biopsy. The treatment response in LN is defined clinically and generally stratified into complete (CR), partial (PR), and no response. There is no consensus definition of CR in LN across guidelines, and proteinuria is the most important clinical variable used for definition of response. Generally, a reduction in protein excretion to <0.5 g/d based on a 24-hour urine collection with normal serum creatinine or serum creatinine level within 15% of previous baseline values is considered a CR (Parikh et al. 2020).

15.2 Glomerular and Tubular Injury in LN

15.2.1 Glomerular Injury in LN

LN is considered to start in the glomeruli with the massive deposition of immune complexes, composed of antinuclear, anti-C1q, and cross-reactive anti-glomerular autoantibodies (Trouw et al. 2004). Macrophages are abundant in glomerular lesions in LN [21], and their numbers are associated with clinical and histopathological parameters related to disease (Bos et al. 2022). Several studies showed that the number of CD68+ macrophages in tissue is associated with LN disease parameters (increased anti-dsDNA levels, complement depletion, high SLEDAI, high proteinuria) and is also predictive of kidney outcome (Hill et al. 2001). After immune complex deposition along the microvascular structures of the kidney locally produced inflammatory mediators recruit leukocytes. The antigen-presenting cells (APCs) present self-antigens from various sources to T lymphocytes, generating autoreactive T cells with a low activation threshold. These CD4 T lymphocytes in turn instruct B cells to produce autoantibodies of different specificities. In situgenerated or circulating immune complex deposits in the glomeruli are the most plausible culprits. This leads to progressive glomerular pathology and secretion of chemokines, cytokines, and matrix proteins, resulting in immune cell infiltration and glomerular damage. Loss of glomerular permeability causes tubulointerstitial injury that is sustained by an intrinsic tubular cell inflammatory phenotype and infiltrating immune cells. The renal tubules play an important role in the maintenance of body fluid homeostasis and defense of the body against toxic reactions via the absorption and secretion of various xenobiotics and endogenous compounds. Then, tubulointerstitial injury eventually leads to kidney injury (Fig. 15.1).

15.2.2 Tubular Injury in LN

Renal tubulointerstitial injury in LN is considered to be of great value to evaluate the degree of renal damage and to guide management and determine prognosis (Parikh et al. 2014). Previous studies have reported that patients with LN with tubulointerstitial inflammation had the greatest risk for progression to renal failure, whereas there was no relationship between the probability of remission and tubulointerstitial inflammation (Chang et al. 2011; Alsuwaida 2013). A constant feature of LN is the concomitant presence of tubulointerstitial inflammation (Theilig 2010). Importantly, tubulointerstitial inflammation, fibrosis, and tubular atrophy are strongly correlated with poor renal outcomes independent of the extent of glomerular damage (Broder et al. 2018). The enhanced glomerular permeability along with glomerular injury leads to overabsorption of many proteins via proximal tubular epithelial cells, which trigger tubulointerstitial inflammation, scarring, and renal function deterioration (Abbate and Remuzzi 1999). Immune complex deposits are observed in the tubular basement membrane in many patients with LN, and the quantity of immune complex deposition correlates with the severity of



Fig. 15.1 In lupus nephritis (LN), glomerular damage leads increased permeability to all proteins, including transferrin-bound and non-transferrin-bound iron. Transferrin-bound and non-transferrin-bound iron are reabsorbed by the proximal tubular cells via TFR1, ZIP8/14, and MCEC. This can overwhelm the heavy chain ferritin (FtH) iron binding capacity, leading to release of labile iron and render the PTEC susceptible to ROS-mediated injury and lipid peroxidation

tubulointerstitial inflammation (Chang et al. 2011). Tubulointerstitial inflammation may be less responsive to current immunosuppressive treatment than glomerular proliferative changes (Yung et al. 2005). Proximal tubular cells are susceptible to injury by autoantibodies, including anti-dsDNA antibodies. When proximal renal tubular cells are exposed to an identical anti-dsDNA IgG concentration, cellular hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) is increased, activating the reactive oxidative species (ROS)-sensitive transcription factors NF-kB, ERK, MAPK, and the downstream JNK signaling pathway (Yung et al. 2005). This has been shown to result in IL-6, CXCL8, CCL2, and soluble fibronectin secretion and a downstream increase in profibrotic TGF-β1 and collagen synthesis (Yung et al. 2017).

15.2.3 Involvement of Oxidative Stress in Tubular Injury in LN

Proximal renal tubular cells are metabolically active compared to other renal cells. They reabsorb approximately 80% of the glomerular filtrate, including glucose, ions, and nutrients, and they contain more mitochondria than any other renal cells to provide sufficient energy to enable them to remove waste from the blood, reabsorb nutrients, regulate the balance of electrolytes and fluid, maintain acid–base homeostasis, and regulate blood pressure (Bhargava and Schnellmann 2017). β -oxidation is the most efficient mechanism to produce ATP in renal proximal tubules, so high consumption of oxygen is observed in proximal tubules, and they are thus more

susceptible than other cell types to changes in oxygen levels (Forbes 2016). A decrease in oxygen levels can lead to impaired β -oxidation and a reduction in ATP production.

A redox imbalance is observed in patients with active LN, and it is considered to be involved in lipid peroxidation of the glomerular basal membrane, which impairs renal tubular function (Bona et al. 2020). High ROS levels were observed in the serum from patients with active LN (Moroni et al. 2010). Oxidative stress is a phenomenon caused by an imbalance between production and removal of ROS in cells and tissues (Pizzino et al. 2017). ROS are induced by exogenous and endogenous sources. The sensitive balance between the production and elimination of ROS dictates the normal function of cells. However, when cells are unable to keep redox homeostasis via the detoxification of these reactive species and/or repair the damage, oxidative stress appears. Accumulation of cellular ROS can affect cellular contents such as lipids, proteins, and DNA. Commonly, ROS are defined as superoxide anion radical $(O_2^{\bullet-})$, hydroxyl radical (HO[•]), H₂O₂, and singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})$, which have highly reactive properties; they are generated as metabolic by-products by biological systems (Navarro-Yepes et al. 2014). ROS are involved in the maintenance of redox homeostasis and various cellular signaling pathways. ROS are generated from diverse sources including the mitochondrial respiratory chain, enzymatic activation of cytochrome p450, and NADPH oxidases, further suggesting their involvement in a complex array of cellular processes (Bae et al. 2011). Excessive generation of ROS is harmful to cells, because they cause the oxidation of lipids, proteins, and DNA. In particular, O2^{•-}, HO[•], and H₂O₂ are detrimental to tissues. Mitochondria possess various cellular functions and produce ATP, thereby supplying the energy source for basal cell functions (Bhargava and Schnellmann 2017). As a result, mitochondria are the main source of ROS by production of highly reactive and toxic hydroxyl radicals (Fleury et al. 2002).

Nitric oxide (NO) and its derivate reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are also produced in peroxisomes. Peroxisomes can regulate ROS and NO/RNS levels in their role as signaling molecules (Sandalio et al. 2023). There is a close relationship between ROS and RNS. Major RNS include nitric oxide ('NO), dinitrogen trioxide (N_2O_3) , peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), nitrogen dioxide ('NO₂), and other oxides of nitrogen. $O_2^{\bullet-}$ can also react with nitric oxide (NO^{\bullet}) to produce peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). The most reactive and damaging are HO[•] and ONOO⁻. In particular, these reactants are abundantly produced in mitochondria where molecular oxygen (O_2) is reduced to O_2^{\bullet} by electrons that escape from the respiratory chain, mainly at mitochondrial complexes I and III. The degradation of ONOO⁻ yields highly oxidizing intermediates, such as nitrogen dioxide (NO_2^{\bullet}) and the hydroxyl radical (OH^{\bullet}) ; finally, stable nitrite (NO_3^{-}) is generated. In the kidney, NO synthase (NOS) is expressed at various sites (Bachmann et al. 1995), and especially, higher 'NO levels are observed in the medulla (Kim et al. 2016). Generally, NO behaves as a vasodilator and contributes to lowering vascular tone in the kidney (Navar et al. 1996). In contrast, 'NO is produced at the macula densa and is involved in renin secretion and tubuloglomerular feedback via vasoconstriction of afferent arteries (Castrop et al. 2004) (Fig. 15.2).



Fig. 15.2 Summary of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) interactions. Hydroxyl radical (HO') and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) are especially abundantly produced in mitochondria where molecular oxygen (O₂) is reduced to superoxide anion radical (O₂⁻) by electrons that escape from the respiratory chain. By the cytosolic and mitochondrial superoxide dismutases (SODs), O₂⁻ is dismutated to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), which is in turn converted into innocuous products by glutathione peroxidase (GPx). Under the presence of myeloperoxidase (MPO), H₂O₂ is converted to HOCl and H₂O. GR, glutathione reductase; GSH, glutathione; GSSG, glutathione disulfide; H₂O₂, hydrogen peroxide; NOX, NADPH oxidase; NO, nitric oxide; ONOO⁻, peroxynitrite; O₂, oxygen; O₂^{-,} superoxide anion radical; XO, xanthine oxidase

Reactive carbonyl species (RCS) are generated predominantly through the oxidative degradation of lipid peroxides (LOOH), most of which are formed by the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) by ROS, such as OH in particular, or in the reaction mediated by lipoxygenases (Sandalio et al. 2023).

15.3 Role of Iron in LN

15.3.1 Iron in the Physiological Condition

Iron is an essential element for diverse biological processes, from enzyme activity regulation, immune function, and oxygen transport to mitochondrial function and DNA synthesis and repair. In humans, most iron is used for heme and hemoglobin synthesis (Camaschella 2019), which act as the carriers of oxygen to tissues throughout the human body. Iron has two states, the reduced form (Fe (II) or "ferrous") and the oxidized form (Fe (III) or "ferric"), which are present and altered by redox reactions. Therefore, iron is an essential cofactor in reactions involving ROS and handling oxidative stress. Dietary iron is not readily absorbed because it is insoluble at intestinal pH and requires promotion of compounds found in food, and there are no specific iron excretion mechanisms in the body. Duodenal enterocytes

are the major site of dietary iron uptake (Choi et al. 2012). Iron is mainly regulated by the liver, reticuloendothelial system, and several mediators. Several organs also have unique local iron regulation (van Swelm et al. 2020). In particular, overload of iron is detrimental and affects several parenchymal organs (Cabantchik 2014). In this condition, commonly affected organs are the endocrine glands, heart, and liver. The kidney can also be damaged by iron.

Under physiological conditions, there is little transferrin-bound and nontransferrin-bound iron, which is filtered by the glomerular assembly and then reabsorbed and cycled by the proximal tubular cells. At a cellular level, under physiological conditions, iron entry occurs through the cell membrane by the transferrin receptor. After iron enters the cell, excess iron is usually stored in ferritin. Ferritin is an essentially intracellular protein that serves to store iron safely. It is also present at very low concentrations in serum, likely via secretion by macrophages (Cohen et al. 2010). Normal values usually range from 30 to 200 μ g/L or 300 μ g/L in females and males, respectively. The function of secreted extracellular ferritin remains largely unknown. Excess iron is also carried to the mitochondria for heme synthesis and formation of proteins containing iron-sulfur (Fe-S) clusters (Maio and Rouault 2020). In these clusters, both iron and sulfur can donate or accept electrons and form a crucial component of many enzymes in the body. Abnormal distribution and excess content of iron in cells promotes the Fenton reaction which produces the hydroxyl radical (HO[•]) and other ROS, leading to cell and tissue damage (Lai et al. 2021). Thus, there is a close association between iron overload and ROS, indicating that tissue-iron accumulation causes ROS damage and its related toxicities.

15.3.2 Iron in Pathological Condition

In LN, glomerular injury results in increased leakage of transferrin-bound and nontransferrin-bound iron, which can be reabsorbed by the proximal renal tubular cells via TfR1, ZIP8/14, and MCEC. Iron has been shown to accumulate within lysosomes in the proximal tubules in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Nankivell et al. 1992). In renal biopsies of primary glomerulopathies such as focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, anti-glomerular basement membrane disease, and IgA nephropathy, as well as secondary ones such as LN, iron was deposited in a granular pattern in both proximal and distal tubules (van Raaij et al. 2018). Tubular iron accumulation is also a feature in animal models of LN (Theut et al. 2020).

15.4 Role of Ferroptosis in LN

15.4.1 Ferroptosis

Under physiological or pathological conditions, cell death is an unavoidable and important link in development, growth, aging, and regeneration. Traditionally, cell death has been classified into apoptosis and necrosis. Recently, in addition to necrosis and apoptosis, there are also other new programmed cell death forms, such as autophagy, necrosis, and necrotic apoptosis, which have unique biological processes and pathophysiological characteristics. In 2012, a new concept of cell death, "ferroptosis," was developed. Ferroptosis is a new type of cell death that is usually accompanied by a large amount of iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation during the cell death process (Dixon et al. 2012). Ferroptosis occurs iron-dependently and shows a non-apoptotic form, and its molecular features have been recognized as distinct (Dixon et al. 2012). Ferroptosis differs from apoptosis, autophagy, and necroptosis, and its morphological characteristics are largely observed in mitochondria. Morphologically, in ferroptotic cells, shrinking mitochondria are observed, which leads to increased density of the mitochondrial membrane, rupture or vanishing of mitochondrial cristae, and a ruptured outer membrane, whereas the cell membrane remains intact, the nucleus is normal in size, and there is no concentration of chromatin (Xie et al. 2016).

15.4.2 Involvement of Iron in Ferroptosis

During development or normal homeostatic tissue turnover, ferroptosis could be triggered by the accumulation of 1) iron (Li et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2020; Wlazlo et al. 2021; Liu et al. 2021), 2) PUFAs (Yang and Stockwell 2016; Yang et al. 2016; Kagan et al. 2017; Dubin et al. 2017), or by 3) depletion of the antioxidant glutathione (GSH) (Tang et al. 2022), decreased function of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), which mediates the reduction of lipid peroxides (Maiorino et al. 2018), or activation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (Wen et al. 2021). Lipid peroxidation is an important biological reaction. In particular, PUFAs are easily peroxidized by free radicals and enzymes. PUFAs are subject to lipid peroxidation, and the peroxidated PUFAs drive ferroptosis. Of the PUFArelated phospholipids, phosphatidylethanolamines (PEs) with arachidonoyl (AA) or its derivative adrenaline adrenoyl (AdA) moieties are important substrates of oxidation in ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). Inside the cells, superoxide dismutase (SOD)1 is the most abundant among antioxidant enzymes and can transform $O_2^{\bullet-}$ to H_2O (Fridovich 1986). On the other hand, the effect of exogenous SOD1 is limited due to its low cell membrane permeability. Further decomposition of H₂O₂ to H₂O and O₂ is catalyzed by other antioxidative enzymes within mitochondria, such as glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and peroxiredoxin (PRx)/thioredoxin (TRx) (Mailloux 2015). GPX4 is the only enzyme that can decrease lipid hydroperoxides within biological membranes (Brigelius-Flohe and Maiorino 2013). In addition, GPX4 consumes glutathione as an essential cofactor for its enzymatic activity (Brigelius-Flohe and Maiorino 2013). GPX4 decreases hydroperoxides of PUFAs (PUFA-OOH) and phospholipids (PL-OOH) (Imai and Nakagawa 2003). Esterification of PUFAs into phospholipids requires acyl-CoA synthase-catalyzed formation of PUFA-CoA. The depletion of GSH reduces GPX4 activity, leading to the production of excess lipid ROS (Xie et al. 2016).

15.4.3 Involvement of ROS in Ferroptosis

The rates of O_2 consumption are higher in kidney mitochondria than in those of other organs (Cancherini et al. 2003), and H_2O_2 release accounts for 0.1–0.2% of the total consumed oxygen (Tahara et al. 2009). Oxidative stress is an imbalance between ROS production and its removal due to overproduction of ROS and/or a decrease in antioxidant defense activity (Pizzino et al. 2017). ROS are induced by exogenous and endogenous sources. Accumulation of cellular ROS can affect cellular contents such as lipids, proteins, and DNA. Major ROS are superoxide anion radical $(O_2^{\bullet-})$, HO', H_2O_2 , and singlet oxygen (1O_2), which have highly reactive properties. It has been demonstrated that excessive generation of ROS is harmful to cells, because they cause the oxidation of lipids, proteins, and DNA (Bae et al. 2011). In particular, $O_2^{\bullet-}$, HO[•], and H₂O₂ are detrimental to tissues. Decreased antioxidant capacity and chronic inflammation commonly occur in patients with chronic kidney disease. ROS can react with PUFAs of lipid membranes (Yang and Stockwell 2016; Yang et al. 2016; Kagan et al. 2017; Dubin et al. 2017), PUFAs are subject to lipid peroxidation, and the peroxidated PUFAs drive ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016). Of the PUFArelated phospholipids, phosphatidylethanolamines (PEs) with arachidonoyl (AA) or its derivative adrenaline adrenovl (AdA) moieties are important substrates of oxidation in ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017).

Among the ROS, the superoxide anion radical (O_2^{-}) is a key redox signaling molecule prominently generated by the NADPH oxidase (Nox) enzyme family and by the mitochondrial electron transport chain (Pecchillo Cimmino et al. 2023; Xie et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2022). Nox is present in the renal cortex, medulla, and blood vessels (Gill and Wilcox 2006). Among the members of the Nox family, the Nox2 isoform of NAD(P)H primarily generates O_2^- (Araujo and Wilcox 2014; Huang et al. 2017). On the other hand, the Nox4 isoform of NAD(P)H oxidase primarily produces H_2O_2 (Brown et al. 2014; Huang et al. 2017). ROS have been shown to trigger an inflammatory response through the activation of the tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) pathway (Gloire et al. 2006). TNF- α binds to its cellular TNFR1 receptor, which triggers signaling cascades that activate nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) and AP-1 transcription factors. TNF- α promotes monocyte chemotaxis toward mesangial cells by regulating the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) via a Rho-kinase/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent pathway (Matoba et al. 2010). In addition, ROS activates p38MAPK and nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), leading to proinflammatory cytokine release and the accumulation of inflammatory cells in the kidney (Bao et al. 2007). Thus, sustained inflammatory responses may contribute to the progression of renal injury.

15.5 Biomarkers in LN

15.5.1 Current Biomarkers in LN

Many candidate LN biomarkers have been evaluated in several cohorts (Hosohata 2021). Most of these potential LN biomarkers have been assessed in cross-sectional studies, with few reports of markers prospectively evaluated. In kidney biopsies of LN patients, increased expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), which belongs to the C-C chemokine family, on epithelial or endothelial cells and infiltrating mononuclear leukocytes in the tubulointerstitial regions has been reported (Abozaid et al. 2020). In addition, TNF-like weaker inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), and uric acid exhibited good ability to differentiate LN patients from non-renal SLE patients. TWEAK is another TNF-superfamily member with clinical potential. NGAL is a low-molecular-weight protein that is produced and secreted by neutrophil leukocytes (Mishra et al. 2003). Because lipid peroxidation is aberrantly activated in LN, the activation of ferroptosis is suggested, and LTF, CYBB, CCL5, GOS2, and AKR1C1, especially CYBB, might be good biomarkers of ferroptosis in LN (Wang et al. 2022).

NGAL is produced by the proximal tubules and is secreted into the urine in a variety of renal diseases, including acute kidney injury and CKD. However, NGAL is also synthesized by various types of tissues, such as the kidney, lung, stomach, and colon (Mishra et al. 2003). Therefore, its levels increase not only with kidney injury, but also with bacterial infection and chronic and systemic diseases without bacterial infection (Tornblom et al. 2020).

15.5.2 Future Biomarkers in LN

Several studies have shown the association between oxidative stress and renal injury involved in glomerular damage. However, tubular injury also affects glomerular filtration function via tubuloglomerular feedback (Wang et al. 2018). Thus, it is possible that biomarkers for renal tubular injury such as KIM-1 and vanin-1 could reflect renal damage in LN patients.

KIM-1 was isolated from the rat kidney and T cells as a protein with different functions (Ichimura et al. 1998). Functionally, KIM-1 regulates the immune response by modulating cytokine production, and, thus, it is also called T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-containing molecule-1 (TIM-1). KIM-1 and TIM-1 have the same sequence of amino acids. KIM-1 is also known as hepatitis A virus cellular receptor-1 (HAVCR1) (Ichimura et al. 1998). The HAVCR-1 polypeptide is an attachment receptor for HAV, which suggests that it is also a functional receptor that mediates HAV infection (Kaplan et al. 1996). KIM-1 is a type 1 membrane protein containing a unique Ig-like domain and a mucin domain in its extracellular portion (Ichimura et al. 1998). KIM-1 is not detected in the normal kidney; however, it is strongly induced by damage to tubular epithelial cells (Kaplan

et al. 1996). The extracellular domain of KIM-1 is divided in a protease-dependent manner and secreted into the urine (Bailly et al. 2002). The biological function of KIM-1 currently remains unclear; however, it was identified as a phosphatidylserine receptor that is responsible for the phagocytosis and processing of apoptotic cells (Brooks et al. 2015). KIM-1 has the ability to specifically recognize the phosphatidylserine of apoptotic cell surface-specific epitopes and oxidized lipoproteins expressed by apoptotic tubular epithelial cells (Ichimura et al. 2008). Thus, KIM-1-expressing kidney epithelial cells actively phagocytose apoptotic and necrotic cells.

Vanin-1 was originally characterized as a membrane molecule expressed by a subset of thymic stromal cells and is considered to be involved in the homing of bone marrow precursor cells into the thymus in rats (Aurrand-Lions et al. 1996). Vanin-1 is a prototypic member of a family containing at least three genes in humans (i.e., VNN1, VNN2, and VNN3), two in mice (vanin-1 and vanin-3), and one Drosophila homologue (Galland et al. 1998; Granjeaud et al. 1999). Vanin-1 is anchored at the surface of epithelial cells by a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol moiety, with an ectoenzyme as a pantetheinase that catalyzes the hydrolysis of pantetheine to produce pantothenic acid (vitamin B5) and cysteamine (Pitari et al. 2000). In turn, cysteamine, which is the decarboxylated derivative of the amino acid cysteine, can be oxidized to cystamine. Cysteamine and cystamine are important sensors of oxidative stress, maintaining the thiol-disulfide equilibrium through protein disulfide exchange (Ferreira et al. 2015). Thus, vanin-1 promotes inflammation, similar to several other mediators of oxidative stress. Vanin-1 mRNA is strongly expressed in the kidney; however, its expression has a broad tissue distribution (Pitari et al. 2000). In the early phase of a variety of renal diseases, the urinary excretion of vanin-1 was elevated before traditional biomarkers in rats with nephrotoxicant- and drug-induced renal tubular injury (Hosohata et al. 2011; Hosohata et al. 2012, 2014; Hosohata et al. 2016b; Washino et al. 2018; Hosohata et al. 2018, 2019; Hosohata et al. 2021a), as well as in patients with AKI and CKD (Hosohata et al. 2016a; Washino et al. 2019; Hosohata et al. 2020; Hosohata et al. 2021b). AKI is often detected with urinary tract obstruction, which inhibits urinary flow and increases intratubular pressure. A strong correlation has been reported between vanin-1 and the severity of urinary tract obstruction.

15.6 Perspective in LN

Renal iron accumulation is associated with increased damage and inflammation in LN. Ferroptosis is considered to be involved in LN as an integral component in the vicious cycle of immune dysfunction, inflammation, and tissue damage (Hosohata et al. 2022). Renal tubular ferroptosis is a pathological feature in both human and murine LN, thus identifying a novel medication target to treat a disease still managed mainly by immunosuppression. The mechanism by which iron mediates and perpetuates tubulointerstitial inflammation following glomerular injury is important in terms of development of LN biomarkers and/or treatment of LN. This chapter

shows that ferroptosis has important prospects in the progression of LN. However, further studies are needed to fill the knowledge gaps of the relationship between ferroptosis and LN, shed more light on the pathogenesis of LN, and provide a new perspective on ferroptosis-based immunotherapy for LN.

References

- Abbate M, Remuzzi G (1999) Proteinuria as a mediator of tubulointerstitial injury. Kidney Blood Press Res 22(1–2):37–46. https://doi.org/10.1159/000025907
- Abozaid MA, Ahmed GH, Tawfik NM, Sayed SK, Ghandour AM, Madkour RA (2020) Serum and urine monocyte chemoattractant Protein-1 as a markers for lupus nephritis. Egypt J Immunol 27(1):97–107
- Alsuwaida AO (2013) Interstitial inflammation and long-term renal outcomes in lupus nephritis. Lupus 22(14):1446–1454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203313507986
- Araujo M, Wilcox CS (2014) Oxidative stress in hypertension: role of the kidney. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(1):74–101. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2013.5259
- Aurrand-Lions M, Galland F, Bazin H, Zakharyev VM, Imhof BA, Naquet P (1996) Vanin-1, a novel GPI-linked perivascular molecule involved in thymus homing. Immunity 5(5):391–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80496-3
- Bachmann S, Bosse HM, Mundel P (1995) Topography of nitric oxide synthesis by localizing constitutive NO synthases in mammalian kidney. Am J Phys 268(5 Pt 2):F885–F898. https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.1995.268.5.F885
- Bae YS, Oh H, Rhee SG, Yoo YD (2011) Regulation of reactive oxygen species generation in cell signaling. Mol Cells 32(6):491–509. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10059-011-0276-3
- Bailly V, Zhang Z, Meier W, Cate R, Sanicola M, Bonventre JV (2002) Shedding of kidney injury molecule-1, a putative adhesion protein involved in renal regeneration. J Biol Chem 277(42): 39739–39748. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M200562200
- Bao W, Behm DJ, Nerurkar SS, Ao Z, Bentley R, Mirabile RC, Johns DG, Woods TN, Doe CP, Coatney RW, Ohlstein JF, Douglas SA, Willette RN, Yue TL (2007) Effects of p38 MAPK inhibitor on angiotensin II-dependent hypertension, organ damage, and superoxide anion production. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 49(6):362–368. https://doi.org/10.1097/FJC. 0b013e318046f34a
- Barber MRW, Drenkard C, Falasinnu T, Hoi A, Mak A, Kow NY, Svenungsson E, Peterson J, Clarke AE, Ramsey-Goldman R (2021) Global epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol 17(9):515–532. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-021-00668-1
- Bhargava P, Schnellmann RG (2017) Mitochondrial energetics in the kidney. Nat Rev Nephrol 13(10):629–646. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2017.107
- Bona N, Pezzarini E, Balbi B, Daniele SM, Rossi MF, Monje AL, Basiglio CL, Pelusa HF, Arriaga SMM (2020) Oxidative stress, inflammation and disease activity biomarkers in lupus nephropathy. Lupus 29(3):311–323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203320904784
- Bos EMJ, Sangle SR, Wilhelmus S, Wolterbeek R, Jordan N, D'Cruz D, Isenberg D, Cook HT, Bruijn JA, Bajema IM (2022) Use of glomerular CD68+ cells as a surrogate marker for endocapillary hypercellularity in lupus nephritis. Kidney Int Rep 7(4):841–847. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ekir.2021.12.030
- Brigelius-Flohe R, Maiorino M (2013) Glutathione peroxidases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1830(5): 3289–3303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.11.020
- Broder A, Mowrey WB, Khan HN, Jovanovic B, Londono-Jimenez A, Izmirly P, Putterman C (2018) Tubulointerstitial damage predicts end stage renal disease in lupus nephritis with preserved to moderately impaired renal function: a retrospective cohort study. Semin Arthritis Rheum 47(4):545–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.07.007

- Brooks CR, Yeung MY, Brooks YS, Chen H, Ichimura T, Henderson JM, Bonventre JV (2015) KIM-1-/TIM-1-mediated phagocytosis links ATG5-/ULK1-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells to antigen presentation. EMBO J 34(19):2441–2464. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj. 201489838
- Brown DI, Lassegue B, Lee M, Zafari R, Long JS, Saavedra HI, Griendling KK (2014) Poldip2 knockout results in perinatal lethality, reduced cellular growth and increased autophagy of mouse embryonic fibroblasts. PLoS One 9(5):e96657. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0096657
- Cabantchik ZI (2014) Labile iron in cells and body fluids: physiology, pathology, and pharmacology. Front Pharmacol 5:45. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2014.00045
- Camaschella C (2019) Iron deficiency. Blood 133(1):30–39. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-05-815944
- Cancherini DV, Trabuco LG, Reboucas NA, Kowaltowski AJ (2003) ATP-sensitive K+ channels in renal mitochondria. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 285(6):F1291–F1296. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajprenal.00103.2003
- Castrop H, Schweda F, Mizel D, Huang Y, Briggs J, Kurtz A, Schnermann J (2004) Permissive role of nitric oxide in macula densa control of renin secretion. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 286(5): F848–F857. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00272.2003
- Chang A, Henderson SG, Brandt D, Liu N, Guttikonda R, Hsieh C, Kaverina N, Utset TO, Meehan SM, Quigg RJ, Meffre E, Clark MR (2011) In situ B cell-mediated immune responses and tubulointerstitial inflammation in human lupus nephritis. J Immunol 186(3):1849–1860. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001983
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Choi J, Masaratana P, Latunde-Dada GO, Arno M, Simpson RJ, McKie AT (2012) Duodenal reductase activity and spleen iron stores are reduced and erythropoiesis is abnormal in Dcytb knockout mice exposed to hypoxic conditions. J Nutr 142(11):1929–1934. https://doi.org/10. 3945/jn.112.160358
- Cohen LA, Gutierrez L, Weiss A, Leichtmann-Bardoogo Y, Zhang DL, Crooks DR, Sougrat R, Morgenstern A, Galy B, Hentze MW, Lazaro FJ, Rouault TA, Meyron-Holtz EG (2010) Serum ferritin is derived primarily from macrophages through a nonclassical secretory pathway. Blood 116(9):1574–1584. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-11-253815
- Dall'Era M, Cisternas MG, Snipes K, Herrinton LJ, Gordon C, Helmick CG (2017) The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in San Francisco County, California: the California lupus surveillance project. Arthritis Rheumatol 69(10):1996–2005. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.40191
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Dubin RF, Deo R, Bansal N, Anderson AH, Yang P, Go AS, Keane M, Townsend R, Porter A, Budoff M, Malik S, He J, Rahman M, Wright J, Cappola T, Kallem R, Roy J, Sha D, Shlipak MG, Investigators CS (2017) Associations of conventional echocardiographic measures with incident heart failure and mortality: the chronic renal insufficiency cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 12(1):60–68. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.02700316
- Ferreira DW, Naquet P, Manautou JE (2015) Influence of Vanin-1 and catalytic products in liver during Normal and oxidative stress conditions. Curr Med Chem 22(20):2407–2416. https://doi. org/10.2174/092986732220150722124307
- Fleury C, Mignotte B, Vayssiere JL (2002) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in cell death signaling. Biochimie 84(2–3):131–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0300-9084(02)01369-x

- Forbes JM (2016) Mitochondria-power players in kidney function? Trends Endocrinol Metab 27(7):441–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2016.05.002
- Fridovich I (1986) Biological effects of the superoxide radical. Arch Biochem Biophys 247(1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(86)90526-6
- Galland F, Malergue F, Bazin H, Mattei MG, Aurrand-Lions M, Theillet C, Naquet P (1998) Two human genes related to murine vanin-1 are located on the long arm of human chromosome 6. Genomics 53(2):203–213. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1998.5481
- Gill PS, Wilcox CS (2006) NADPH oxidases in the kidney. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(9–10): 1597–1607. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2006.8.1597
- Gloire G, Legrand-Poels S, Piette J (2006) NF-kappaB activation by reactive oxygen species: fifteen years later. Biochem Pharmacol 72(11):1493–1505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2006. 04.011
- Granjeaud S, Naquet P, Galland F (1999) An ESTs description of the new Vanin gene family conserved from fly to human. Immunogenetics 49(11–12):964–972. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s002510050580
- Hill GS, Delahousse M, Nochy D, Remy P, Mignon F, Mery JP, Bariety J (2001) Predictive power of the second renal biopsy in lupus nephritis: significance of macrophages. Kidney Int 59(1): 304–316. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00492.x
- Hosohata K (2021) Biomarkers of high salt intake. Adv Clin Chem 104:71–106. https://doi.org/10. 1016/bs.acc.2020.09.002
- Hosohata K, Ando H, Fujiwara Y, Fujimura A (2011) Vanin-1: a potential biomarker for nephrotoxicant-induced renal injury. Toxicology 290(1):82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox. 2011.08.019
- Hosohata K, Ando H, Fujimura A (2012) Urinary vanin-1 as a novel biomarker for early detection of drug-induced acute kidney injury. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 341(3):656–662. https://doi.org/10. 1124/jpet.112.192807
- Hosohata K, Ando H, Fujimura A (2014) Early detection of renal injury using urinary vanin-1 in rats with experimental colitis. J Appl Toxicol 34(2):184–190. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2849
- Hosohata K, Washino S, Kubo T, Natsui S, Fujisaki A, Kurokawa S, Ando H, Fujimura A, Morita T (2016a) Early prediction of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by urinary vanin-1 in patients with urothelial carcinoma. Toxicology 359-360:71–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2016.06.011
- Hosohata K, Yoshioka D, Tanaka A, Ando H, Fujimura A (2016b) Early urinary biomarkers for renal tubular damage in spontaneously hypertensive rats on a high salt intake. Hypertens Res 39(1):19–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2015.103
- Hosohata K, Jin D, Takai S, Iwanaga K (2018) Vanin-1 in renal pelvic urine reflects kidney injury in a rat model of hydronephrosis. Int J Mol Sci 19(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19103186
- Hosohata K, Jin D, Takai S, Iwanaga K (2019) Involvement of Vanin-1 in ameliorating effect of oxidative renal tubular injury in dahl-salt sensitive rats. Int J Mol Sci 20(18). https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms20184481
- Hosohata K, Matsuoka H, Iwanaga K, Kumagai E (2020) Urinary vanin-1 associated with chronic kidney disease in hypertensive patients: a pilot study. J Clin Hypertens 22(8):1458–1465. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.13959
- Hosohata K, Jin D, Takai S (2021a) In vivo and in vitro evaluation of urinary biomarkers in ischemia/reperfusion-induced kidney injury. Int J Mol Sci 22(21). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms222111448
- Hosohata K, Matsuoka H, Kumagai E (2021b) Association of urinary vanin-1 with kidney function decline in hypertensive patients. J Clin Hypertens 23(7):1316–1321. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jch.14295
- Hosohata K, Harnsirikarn T, Chokesuwattanaskul S (2022) Ferroptosis: a potential therapeutic target in acute kidney injury. Int J Mol Sci 23(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23126583
- Huang W, Cane MC, Mukherjee R, Szatmary P, Zhang X, Elliott V, Ouyang Y, Chvanov M, Latawiec D, Wen L, Booth DM, Haynes AC, Petersen OH, Tepikin AV, Criddle DN, Sutton R (2017) Caffeine protects against experimental acute pancreatitis by inhibition of inositol

1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor-mediated Ca2+ release. Gut 66(2):301–313. https://doi.org/10. 1136/gutjnl-2015-309363

- Huang X, Jia N, Xiao F, Sun C, Zhu J, Lai J, Cui X (2022) Differences in the clinical manifestations and mortality of systemic lupus erythematosus onset in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 183(1):116–126. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000518321
- Ichimura T, Bonventre JV, Bailly V, Wei H, Hession CA, Cate RL, Sanicola M (1998) Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), a putative epithelial cell adhesion molecule containing a novel immunoglobulin domain, is up-regulated in renal cells after injury. J Biol Chem 273(7): 4135–4142. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.7.4135
- Ichimura T, Asseldonk EJ, Humphreys BD, Gunaratnam L, Duffield JS, Bonventre JV (2008) Kidney injury molecule-1 is a phosphatidylserine receptor that confers a phagocytic phenotype on epithelial cells. J Clin Invest 118(5):1657–1668. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI34487
- Imai H, Nakagawa Y (2003) Biological significance of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PHGPx, GPx4) in mammalian cells. Free Radic Biol Med 34(2):145–169. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(02)01197-8
- Izmirly PM, Parton H, Wang L, McCune WJ, Lim SS, Drenkard C, Ferucci ED, Dall'Era M, Gordon C, Helmick CG, Somers EC (2021) Prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in the United States: estimates from a meta-analysis of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Lupus Registries. Arthritis Rheumatol 73(6):991–996. https://doi.org/10.1002/art. 41632
- Jaryal A, Vikrant S (2017) Current status of lupus nephritis. Indian J Med Res 145(2):167–178. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijmr.IJMR_163_16
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayir H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kaplan G, Totsuka A, Thompson P, Akatsuka T, Moritsugu Y, Feinstone SM (1996) Identification of a surface glycoprotein on African green monkey kidney cells as a receptor for hepatitis a virus. EMBO J 15(16):4282–4296
- Kim YS, Ha Y, Sim J, Suh M, Lee Y (2016) Location-dependent sensing of nitric oxide and calcium ions in living rat kidney using an amperometric/potentiometric dual microsensor. Analyst 141(1):297–304. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5an01804h
- Lai C, Shi X, Li L, Cheng M, Liu X, Liu S, Li B, Yi H, Qin L, Zhang M, An N (2021) Enhancing iron redox cycling for promoting heterogeneous Fenton performance: a review. Sci Total Environ 775:145850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145850
- Li S, Zhou Y, Huang Q, Fu X, Zhang L, Gao F, Jin Z, Wu L, Shu C, Zhang X, Xu W, Shu J (2021) Iron overload in endometriosis peritoneal fluid induces early embryo ferroptosis mediated by HMOX1. Cell Death Discov 7(1):355. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-021-00751-2
- Liu J, Song X, Kuang F, Zhang Q, Xie Y, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021) NUPR1 is a critical repressor of ferroptosis. Nat Commun 12(1):647. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-20904-2
- Mailloux RJ (2015) Teaching the fundamentals of electron transfer reactions in mitochondria and the production and detection of reactive oxygen species. Redox Biol 4:381–398. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.redox.2015.02.001
- Maio N, Rouault TA (2020) Outlining the complex pathway of mammalian Fe-S cluster biogenesis. Trends Biochem Sci 45(5):411–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2020.02.001
- Maiorino M, Conrad M, Ursini F (2018) GPx4, lipid peroxidation, and cell death: discoveries, rediscoveries, and open issues. Antioxid Redox Signal 29(1):61–74. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars. 2017.7115
- Maningding E, Dall'Era M, Trupin L, Murphy LB, Yazdany J (2020) Racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence and time to onset of manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus: the

California lupus surveillance project. Arthritis Care Res 72(5):622–629. https://doi.org/10.1002/ acr.23887

- Matoba K, Kawanami D, Ishizawa S, Kanazawa Y, Yokota T, Utsunomiya K (2010) Rho-kinase mediates TNF-alpha-induced MCP-1 expression via p38 MAPK signaling pathway in mesangial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 402(4):725–730. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbrc.2010.10.093
- Mishra J, Ma Q, Prada A, Mitsnefes M, Zahedi K, Yang J, Barasch J, Devarajan P (2003) Identification of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as a novel early urinary biomarker for ischemic renal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 14(10):2534–2543. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.asn. 0000088027.54400.c6
- Moroni G, Novembrino C, Quaglini S, De Giuseppe R, Gallelli B, Uva V, Montanari V, Messa P, Bamonti F (2010) Oxidative stress and homocysteine metabolism in patients with lupus nephritis. Lupus 19(1):65–72. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203309346906
- Murphy G, Isenberg DA (2019) New therapies for systemic lupus erythematosus past imperfect, future tense. Nat Rev Rheumatol 15(7):403–412. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-019-0235-5
- Nankivell BJ, Boadle RA, Harris DC (1992) Iron accumulation in human chronic renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis 20(6):580–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0272-6386(12)70222-6
- Navar LG, Inscho EW, Majid SA, Imig JD, Harrison-Bernard LM, Mitchell KD (1996) Paracrine regulation of the renal microcirculation. Physiol Rev 76(2):425–536. https://doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.1996.76.2.425
- Navarro-Yepes J, Zavala-Flores L, Anandhan A, Wang F, Skotak M, Chandra N, Li M, Pappa A, Martinez-Fong D, Del Razo LM, Quintanilla-Vega B, Franco R (2014) Antioxidant gene therapy against neuronal cell death. Pharmacol Ther 142(2):206–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.pharmthera.2013.12.007
- Parikh SV, Nagaraja HN, Hebert L, Rovin BH (2014) Renal flare as a predictor of incident and progressive CKD in patients with lupus nephritis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 9(2):279–284. https:// doi.org/10.2215/CJN.05040513
- Parikh SV, Almaani S, Brodsky S, Rovin BH (2020) Update on lupus nephritis: core curriculum 2020. Am J Kidney Dis 76(2):265–281. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.10.017
- Pecchillo Cimmino T, Ammendola R, Cattaneo F, Esposito G (2023) NOX dependent ROS generation and cell metabolism. Int J Mol Sci 24:3. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24032086
- Pereira T, Abitbol CL, Seeherunvong W, Katsoufis C, Chandar J, Freundlich M, Zilleruelo G (2011) Three decades of progress in treating childhood-onset lupus nephritis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 6(9):2192–2199. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.00910111
- Pitari G, Malergue F, Martin F, Philippe JM, Massucci MT, Chabret C, Maras B, Dupre S, Naquet P, Galland F (2000) Pantetheinase activity of membrane-bound Vanin-1: lack of free cysteamine in tissues of Vanin-1 deficient mice. FEBS Lett 483(2–3):149–154. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0014-5793(00)02110-4
- Pizzino G, Irrera N, Cucinotta M, Pallio G, Mannino F, Arcoraci V, Squadrito F, Altavilla D, Bitto A (2017) Oxidative stress: harms and benefits for human health. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2017:8416763. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8416763
- Rees F, Doherty M, Grainge M, Davenport G, Lanyon P, Zhang W (2016) The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in the UK, 1999-2012. Ann Rheum Dis 75(1): 136–141. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206334
- Sandalio LM, Collado-Arenal AM, Romero-Puertas MC (2023) Deciphering peroxisomal reactive species interactome and redox signalling networks. Free Radic Biol Med 197:58–70. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2023.01.014
- Tahara EB, Navarete FD, Kowaltowski AJ (2009) Tissue-, substrate-, and site-specific characteristics of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation. Free Radic Biol Med 46(9):1283–1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.02.008
- Tang X, Li X, Zhang D, Han W (2022) Astragaloside-IV alleviates high glucose-induced ferroptosis in retinal pigment epithelial cells by disrupting the expression of miR-138-5p/ Sirt1/Nrf2. Bioengineered 13(4):8240–8254. https://doi.org/10.1080/21655979.2022.2049471

- Theilig F (2010) Spread of glomerular to tubulointerstitial disease with a focus on proteinuria. Ann Anat 192(3):125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2010.03.003
- Theut LR, Dsouza DL, Grove RC, Boesen EI (2020) Evidence of renal iron accumulation in a male mouse model of lupus. Front Med 7:516. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2020.00516
- Tornblom S, Nisula S, Petaja L, Vaara ST, Haapio M, Pesonen E, Pettila V, group Fs (2020) Urine NGAL as a biomarker for septic AKI: a critical appraisal of clinical utility-data from the observational FINNAKI study. Ann Intensive Care 10 (1):51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13613-020-00667-7
- Trouw LA, Groeneveld TW, Seelen MA, Duijs JM, Bajema IM, Prins FA, Kishore U, Salant DJ, Verbeek JS, van Kooten C, Daha MR (2004) Anti-C1q autoantibodies deposit in glomeruli but are only pathogenic in combination with glomerular C1q-containing immune complexes. J Clin Invest 114(5):679–688. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI21075
- van Raaij S, van Swelm R, Bouman K, Cliteur M, van den Heuvel MC, Pertijs J, Patel D, Bass P, van Goor H, Unwin R, Srai SK, Swinkels D (2018) Tubular iron deposition and iron handling proteins in human healthy kidney and chronic kidney disease. Sci Rep 8(1):9353. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27107-8
- van Swelm RPL, Wetzels JFM, Swinkels DW (2020) The multifaceted role of iron in renal health and disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 16(2):77–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41581-019-0197-5
- Wang J, Zhong J, Yang HC, Fogo AB (2018) Cross talk from tubules to glomeruli. Toxicol Pathol 46(8):944–948. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623318796784
- Wang W, Lin Z, Feng J, Liang Q, Zhao J, Zhang G, Chen R, Fu R (2022) Identification of ferroptosis-related molecular markers in glomeruli and tubulointerstitium of lupus nephritis. Lupus 31(8):985–997. https://doi.org/10.1177/09612033221102076
- Washino S, Hosohata K, Jin D, Takai S, Miyagawa T (2018) Early urinary biomarkers of renal tubular damage by a high-salt intake independent of blood pressure in normotensive rats. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 45(3):261–268. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1681.12871
- Washino S, Hosohata K, Oshima M, Okochi T, Konishi T, Nakamura Y, Saito K, Miyagawa T (2019) A novel biomarker for acute kidney injury, Vanin-1, for obstructive nephropathy: a prospective cohort pilot study. Int J Mol Sci 20(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20040899
- Wen Y, Chen H, Zhang L, Wu M, Zhang F, Yang D, Shen J, Chen J (2021) Glycyrrhetinic acid induces oxidative/nitrative stress and drives ferroptosis through activating NADPH oxidases and iNOS, and depriving glutathione in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Free Radic Biol Med 173:41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.07.019
- Wlazlo E, Mehrad B, Morel L, Scindia Y (2021) Iron metabolism: An under investigated driver of renal pathology in lupus nephritis. Front Med (Lausanne) 8:643686. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmed.2021.643686
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xie Y, Zhu S, Song X, Sun X, Fan Y, Liu J, Zhong M, Yuan H, Zhang L, Billiar TR, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2017) The tumor suppressor p53 limits Ferroptosis by blocking DPP4 activity. Cell Rep 20(7):1692–1704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017. 07.055
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2016) Ferroptosis: death by lipid peroxidation. Trends Cell Biol 26(3): 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.10.014
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yung S, Tsang RC, Sun Y, Leung JK, Chan TM (2005) Effect of human anti-DNA antibodies on proximal renal tubular epithelial cell cytokine expression: implications on tubulointerstitial inflammation in lupus nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 16(11):3281–3294. https://doi.org/10. 1681/ASN.2004110917

- Yung S, Ng CY, Au KY, Cheung KF, Zhang Q, Zhang C, Yap DY, Chau MK, Chan TM (2017) Binding of anti-dsDNA antibodies to proximal tubular epithelial cells contributes to renal tubulointerstitial inflammation. Clin Sci 131(1):49–67. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20160421
- Zhang P, Chen L, Zhao Q, Du X, Bi M, Li Y, Jiao Q, Jiang H (2020) Ferroptosis was more initial in cell death caused by iron overload and its underlying mechanism in Parkinson's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 152:227–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.03.015



Ferroptosis and Infectious Diseases

16

Yang Zhang and Jen-Tsan Chi

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a newly recognized form of regulated cell death characterized by oxidative stress, iron dependency, and lipid peroxidation. The importance of ferroptosis has been appreciated in various pathological conditions, such as cancer, neurodegeneration, and ischemia injury. Interestingly, there is emerging evidence that ferroptosis may play an important and multifaceted role in the infection of various pathogens, including bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Here, we wish to summarize the several distinct ways that ferroptosis may play in hostpathogen interactions. First, the infected host cells may undergo ferroptosis, which may trigger damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecules to be recognized by immune cells for clearance and immune activation. Second, certain pathogens may modulate ferroptosis response by interacting with ferroptosis machinery to promote their propagation. Third, ferroptosis may also contribute to organ injuries during uncontrolled infection and sepsis. Importantly, since multiple compounds are available to enhance or inhibit ferroptosis, it is possible to modulate ferroptosis for therapeutic gain. Therefore, a detailed understanding will allow us to modulate ferroptosis to eliminate pathogens and ameliorate the acute and chronic adverse outcomes of infectious diseases.

Y. Zhang · J.-T. Chi (⊠)

Department of Molecular Genetics and Microbiology, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, USA

Center for Advanced Genomic Technologies, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA e-mail: jentsan.chi@duke.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_16

16.1 Introduction

The fate of life vs. death is one of the most fundamental decisions for all organisms. Cell death is part of the process involved in organogenesis and regeneration. Dysregulation of such life vs. death fate is strongly associated with various pathologic processes, such as cancer, heart disease, stroke, and infectious diseases. Cell death was initially thought to be a non-programmed, spontaneous event in response to injury or extreme stress, but many studies have revealed that this is a highly regulated process via different pathways (Nössing and Ryan 2022; Galluzzi et al. 2014; Christgen et al. 2022; Tang et al. 2019). Apoptosis and necrosis were thought to be the main forms of cell death. Apoptosis during development or homeostatic cell turnover is a "quiet" form of cell death as it avoids activation of inflammatory immune reactions. In contrast, necrosis and other cell deaths are immunologically active and associated with the release of inflammatory stimuli into the surrounding environment to recruit various immune cells and inflammatory reactions. Recently, several additional programmed cell death (PCD) have been described, including pyroptosis, necroptosis, NETosis, alkaliptosis (Song et al. 2018), and ferroptosis. For example, pyroptosis of host cells is triggered by membrane pores formed by gasdermins during pathogenic infection. Pyroptosis is characterized by inflammasome formation, caspase activation, and proinflammatory cytokine release (Christgen et al. 2020; Swanson et al. 2019). Necroptosis involves the activation of receptor-interacting protein (RIP) RIP1 and RIPK3, and subsequent phosphorylation of the pseudokinase mixed lineage kinase domain-like (MLKL) that polymerizes to form a membrane pore (Sun et al. 2012). NETosis mainly occurs in neutrophils that are associated with the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) comprising modified chromatin decorated with various bactericidal proteins from neutrophils' granules and cytoplasm. NETosis is triggered by an excessive amount of reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by NADPH oxidase (Vorobjeva and Chernyak 2020). In contrast, alkaliptosis is a novel cell death resulting from intracellular alkalinization after the downregulation of carbonic anhydrase IX (CA9) and loss of the ability to maintain pH homeostasis (Kuang et al. 2020).

16.2 The Hallmarks of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a recently recognized form of cell death first described in 2012 (Dixon et al. 2012). Although the term and concept of ferroptosis were recently proposed, similar oxidative stress-induced cell death has been described before (Eagle et al. 1961; Dolma et al. 2003; Yagoda et al. 2007; Yang and Stockwell 2008). During the past decade, the research of ferroptosis has been broadly expended to different systems and diseases. We will mainly review the characteristics and mechanisms of ferroptosis in infectious diseases. Ferroptosis has been demonstrated in the pathogenesis of several acute and chronic diseases such as acute kidney injury, hepatic fibrosis, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and cancers (Jiang et al. 2021; Dixon and Stockwell 2019; Du et al. 2023). There is some evidence showing that



Fig. 16.1 Hallmarks of ferroptosis and crosstalk between ferroptosis regulators and pathogens. (a) Ferroptosis is an iron-dependent cell death that is characterized by the accumulation of ROS and lipid peroxidation. GPX4-dependent pathway serves as the most dominant antioxidant system. On the one hand, pathogens can suppress the expression level of system Xc- or GPX4 triggering ferroptosis which is further leading to tissue injury or pathogens dissemination. On the other hand, some of the pathogens can alter iron homeostasis and accumulation of lipid ROS which eventually regulate iron-dependent cell death in host cells. (b) Ferroptosis has also occurred in macrophages upon some pathogen infections, such as Mtb and PAO. (c) Under pathogen infection, especially some viruses, T cells can undergo ferroptosis as well

targeting ferroptosis may be a potential efficiency therapeutic strategy, especially in cancers. However, much remains unknown about the role of ferroptosis in other diseases. Here, we focus on infectious diseases and reviews on ferroptosis on these themes.

Ferroptosis is characterized by iron-dependent oxidative damage, accumulation of ROS, and lipid peroxidation (Fig. 16.1a). This would further lead to plasma membrane ruptures (Chen et al. 2020b; Ursini and Maiorino 2020). Morphologically, ferroptotic cells manifest as reduced mitochondrial volume, increased bilayer membrane density, and reduced mitochondrial cristae (Xie et al. 2016). Mechanically, ferroptosis can be mediated by the glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4)dependent pathway and GPX4-independent pathway. In addition, iron oxidizes lipids in a Fenton-like manner that will result in the accumulation of ROS promoting ferroptosis (Yang and Stockwell 2008; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). Recently, zinc and zinc transporter have been shown to promote ferroptosis independent of iron (Chen and Chi 2021; Chen et al. 2021a). Genetically, ferroptosis is regulated by multiple genes, including SLC7A11, GPXs, ferroptosis suppressor protein (FSP1), related regulator of those genes, such as tumor protein 53 (p53) and erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2). Genetic changes in iron homeostasis and lipid peroxidation metabolism are reported to be involved in ferroptosis (Li et al. 2020). These distinct features of ferroptosis make it different from other types of cell deaths.

16.3 Induction and Inhibitions of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis occurs when intracellular lipid ROS accumulation exceeds the antioxidation capacity (Gao et al. 2022). As a redox defense, there are three types of antioxidants against ferroptosis: the glutathione (GSH)/GPX4 antioxidant system, apoptosis-inducing factor mitochondria-associated 2 [AIFM2/FSP1]-mediated coenzyme Q pathway and GTP cyclohydrolase 1-regulated tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4, THB) synthesis pathway. GSH/GPX4 system is the most well-established and most dominant mechanism in ferroptosis.

System Xc- effects as cystine and glutamate transporter located in cell membrane which is composed of two subunits encoded by *solute carrier family 7 member 11* (*SLC7A11*) and *solute carrier family 3 member 2* (*SLC3A2*) (Fig. 16.1a). Cystine and glutamate are utilized to synthesize GSH. GSH reduces ROS and reactive nitrogen under the action of GPXs. Ferroptosis can be induced by system Xc-inhibition which resulted in reduced GSH/GPXs activities and further leads to lipid ROS accumulation. System Xc- can be regulated by different mechanisms through protein–protein interaction, gene expression, and protein stabilization (Chen et al. 2021c). For example, P53 was established to be another inducer of ferroptosis by regulating the expression of SLC7A11 (Jiang et al. 2015). One of the classic ferroptosis with reduced GSH levels by directly inhibiting system Xc- (Chen et al. 2021c). Similarly, ferroptosis of different cancer cells (Tang et al. 2016; Tang et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2019b) can be induced by cystine deprivation that also lead to the cysteine/glutathione deletion, compromised GPX4 activities, and ferroptosis.

Among GPXs, GPX4 serves as the key GSH-dependent regulator of ferroptosis by neutralizing lipid peroxidation. GPX4 converts GSH into oxidized glutathione (GSSG) and reduces cytotoxic lipid peroxides (L-OOH) to the L-OH. Inhibition of GPX4 is another inducer for lipid peroxides that drive to ferroptosis. Accordingly, RSL3, DPI7, and DPI10 are the examples of ferroptosis inducers which act as GPX4 inhibitors resulting in accumulation of lipid peroxides (Yang et al. 2014). In addition, selenocysteine is essentially needed for the synthesis of GPX4. The mevalonate (MVA) pathway can regulate the maturation of selenocysteine tRNA which results in altered GPX4 synthesis. Therefore, inhibition of MVA pathway can induce ferroptosis through GPX4 regulation as well (Kryukov et al. 2003).

Apart from those above, AIFM2/FSP1-mediated CoQ production and GTP cyclohydrolase 1-regulated tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis plays an alternative role in the regulation of ferroptosis (Bersuker et al. 2019; Kraft et al. 2019). FIN56 and FINO2 are another classic ferroptosis inducers which act through those alternative pathways. FIN56 can not only promote GPX4 degradation but also deplete endogenous antioxidant coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) that results in lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. FINO2 induces ferroptosis due to oxidation of labile iron and the inactivation of GPX4 (Liang et al. 2019). There are also other regulators which contribute to ferroptosis in cancer cells (Ding et al. 2020). Further study showed that an increased cell density, adhesion, and connection can rescue the cancer cells

from ferroptosis through Hippo pathway or the activation of the integrin pathway (Brown et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2019a).

16.4 Iron Metabolism

Iron has been extremely precious for life during evolution, especially for organism to utilize the increased oxygen in the atmosphere. As the most abundant heavy metals, the adult human body contains as much as 2.5–4 g of iron (Ganz 2019). In mammals, iron can be uptake by DMT1 (SLC11A2), an iron transporter, expressed in duodenal mucosal cells (Yanatori and Kishi 2019). Iron solubility is altered with different pH. At neutral pH, Fe(II) is much more soluble than Fe(III), which makes Fe (II) easier to exchange through cell membrane via transporters. Fe(II) can initiate Fenton reaction and produce lipid ROS promoting lipid peroxidase and ferroptosis.

It has been well known that iron is a major player in oxidative stress resulting in cell death, especially ferroptosis. Iron-mediated ROS by Fenton reaction are responsible for lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Moreover, iron chelators have been revealed to be efficient ferroptosis inhibitor by deferent groups in vitro and in vivo (Vlahakos et al. 2012; Dixon et al. 2012).

Iron can be transported into cells after binding to transferrin and stored in ferritin as Fe(III). Given the importance of iron in ferroptosis, it is not surprising that several regulators of iron metabolism may impact the sensitivity of ferroptosis. Researchers have found that ferroptosis can be regulated by multiple mechanisms, such as transcriptional regulation (e.g., HIF-1), ATM kinase, posttranscriptional (e.g., IRP-1/2), ubiquitin-proteasomal (e.g., FBXL-5), and hormonal (e.g., hepcidin) (Hirota 2019; Moroishi et al. 2011; Iwai 2019; Ganz and Nemeth 2012; Chen et al. 2020a).

16.5 Lipid Peroxides and Lipid Peroxidation

Ferroptosis inhibitors such as iron chelators, ferrostatin-1 (Fer-1), liproxstatin-1, and vitamin E can rescue cell death by inhibiting the formation of lipid peroxide. Lipid peroxidation is identified by the formation of L-OOH and their decomposition leading to a series of products including reactive electrophiles. Rapid production of free radicals has occurred in minutes from L-OOH. This process is composed of three phases: 1) initiation phase—formation of the first lipid radical initiating the peroxidative chain reaction; 2) propagation phase—a peroxidative chain reaction with continued free radicals production; and 3) termination—arrest of the chain reaction by radical–radical interaction (Yin et al. 2011; Ursini and Maiorino 2020). Electrophiles and other toxic products are produced during lipid peroxidation, which can serve as biomarkers of ferroptosis. Among them, malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) are the toxic lipids to induce cell death (Ayala et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2022a) and often used as markers for ferroptosis (Dixon and Stockwell 2019).

16.6 Ferroptosis and Infectious Diseases

Given that the infection of host cells by pathogens is known to affect various biological processes regulating ferroptosis, it is not surprising that the ferroptosis plays a role during different stages of the pathogens. Similarly, pathogens may also affect the ferroptosis of host cells to enhance their survival and dissemination. Understanding such complicated and multifaceted role of ferroptosis in the host–pathogen interaction may identify novel means to control the acute dissemination and tissue injuries and prevent/treat the long-term consequences of infection, including malignant transformation and resulting tumors.

16.7 Bacterial Infections

16.7.1 Mycobacterial tuberculosis (Mtb)

Mycobacterial tuberculosis (Mtb) infection resulted in tuberculosis which remains a major global public health problem. Macrophages are the first-line responders against Mtb infections. Previous studies have shown that Mtb growth within macrophages is limited when macrophages undergo programmed cell death such as apoptosis and autophagy (Molloy et al. 1994; Oddo et al. 1998; Riendeau and Kornfeld 2003). The dead macrophages can then undergo efferocytosis by uninfected macrophages (Martin et al. 2012). On the other hand, non-programmed death of Mtb-infected macrophages results in bacterial release into the extracellular environment and enhances the spread of Mtb. Therefore, targeting such death mechanism may suppress the spread of Mtb as a potential therapeutic approach (Pan et al. 2005; Kiran et al. 2016).

Cell deaths including necroptosis, pyroptosis, ferroptosis, ETosis, parthanatos, and PANoptosis are reported to be involved in Mtb infection (Nisa et al. 2022). For example, Mtb necrotizing toxin (TNT) is the major cytotoxicity factor in macrophages that depletes the host nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) and activates RIPK3 and MLKL leading to necroptosis of Mtb-infected macrophages (Pajuelo et al. 2018). Pyroptosis also serves as an efficient antimicrobial defense pathway as the IL-1b-, IL-18-, and IL-1R-deficient mice exacerbated pathological stages upon Mtb infection (Labbe and Saleh 2008; Rastogi and Briken 2022).

Recently several studies implicated ferroptosis as a major death mechanism in Mtb infection and as a potential target for host-directed therapy of tuberculosis (Amaral et al. 2019; Shi et al. 2023) (Yaqoob et al. 2022; Luo et al. 2022). First, Eduardo and their colleagues found Mtb-infected macrophages exhibited several hallmarks of ferroptosis, including reduced glutathione and Gpx4, increased free iron, mitochondrial superoxide, and lipids peroxidation (Amaral and Namasivayam 2021). Importance of such an observation is shown that ferroptosis inhibitor ferrostatin-1 (Fer-1) can limit the death in Mtb-infected macrophages and bacterial burden in mice (Amaral and Namasivayam 2021). Another group pointed out that

the transcription factor BACH-1 downregulates the expression of GPX4 and enhances Mtb-induced ferroptosis in macrophages (Nishizawa et al. 2020; Amaral et al. 2020) (Fig. 16.1a, b).

Second, Mtb infection is associated with dysregulated iron metabolism. TB infection leads to iron overload in microphages that contribute to an excessive inflammatory response during Mtb infection (Boelaert et al. 2007; Reddy et al. 2018). The iron overload associated with ferritin heavy chain (FtH) deficiency leads to increased bacterial burden and increased mortality rate in Mtb-infected mice. Importantly, increased iron levels are also noted in human TB lung tissue (Reddy et al. 2018) (Fig. 16.1a, b). Other groups also revealed that ferritin degradation through the ferritinophagy triggers ferroptosis as well (Mancias et al. 2014). More recently, another group also revealed that Hmox1a, a paralog of mammalian iron regulator heme oxygenase 1 (HMOX1) in Zebrafish, protects host against *Mycobacterium marinum* infection by reducing infection-induced iron accumulation and reduced ferroptosis (Luo et al. 2022).

Third, Rv1324, a specific virulence factor secreted by Mtb, was reported as an antioxidant to enhance bacterial persistence in macrophages and further induce ferroptosis with reduced GPX4/GSH and increased lipid peroxidation in mouse lung tissue under M. Smegmatis infection (Shi et al. 2023) (Fig. 16.1a, b). Together, these findings highpoint the role of ferroptosis in Mtb infection-induced cell death. The molecular process by which Mtb promotes macrophages' ferroptosis and the crosstalk of different cell death pathways would need to be further explored. This will contribute to our effort to eradicate human tuberculosis by modulating cell death pathways.

16.7.2 Pseudomonas aeruginosa

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen in immunosuppressed proinflammatory host and environments. Reported studies have shown that *P. aeruginosa* can release some virulence factors that can induce ferroptosis in host cells. For example, 15-lipoxygenase (pLoxA), a toxin derived from *P. aeruginosa* strain PAO1, can selectively oxidize the host's phospholipids and generate 15-hyddroperoxy-arachidonoyl-PE (15-HpETE-PE) which further induce ferroptosis in host cells (Dar et al. 2019). Such increased ferroptosis associated with GSH/GPX4 reduction dramatically boosts the injury caused by total body irradiation within the gut in mice (Fig. 16.1a). Moreover, pharmacological inhibition of the pLoxA by baicalein significantly reduced the ferroptosis of intestinal epithelial cells and mouse mortality (Dar et al. 2022).

ExoU, another lytic phospholipase toxin released from *P. aeruginosa* can trigger ferroptotic-like death associated with increased phospholipid peroxidation in macrophages and in non-immune cells as well (Fig. 16.1a, b). Importantly, one of the ferroptosis inhibitor, ferrostatin-1, can delay such ExoU-induced cell death and improve bacterial clearance in mice, suggesting blocking ferroptosis would be a

potential therapeutic target in the pathogenesis of *P. aeruginosa* infection (Bagayoko et al. 2021).

Other than lipase-like toxin, *P. aeruginosa* also expresses elastase, similar to neutrophil elastase, which can modify transferrin forming catalytic iron complexes and generating hydroxyl radicals (Britigan and Edeker 1991) and contribute to ferroptosis of host cells.

Apart from the virulence factors from *P. aeruginosa*, another study states that PAO degrades GPX4 though autophagy that further induce ferroptosis in epithelial cells. In contrast, host macrophages-produced NO• can prevent the epithelial cells from PAO-induced ferroptosis. Inhibition of NO• by pharmacological targeting of iNOS attenuated its anti-ferroptosis function though reduced lipid peroxidation(Dar et al. 2021). This finding shows that evidence of a potential new target against *P. aeruginosa*-induced ferroptosis in epithelial cells.

16.7.3 Salmonella

Several studies indicate ferroptosis may be involved in the pathologic process of Salmonella infections. Schauser et al. reported a non-caspase-dependent cell death in intestinal epithelial cell upon *S. typhimurium* infection (Schauser et al. 2005), which is suggestive of ferroptosis process may be involved. Further study revealed that the GPX4 level was used by the function of SipA, a factor released from *S. typhimurium* (Agbor et al. 2014), implying a potential to sensitize the host cells to ferroptosis (Fig. 16.1a).

Further evidence of the involvement of ferroptosis is from reported treatment with antioxidant in *S. typhimurium*-infected rats. Researchers reported that dichloromethane, a gradient from plants, can improve the infection-associated mortality, and these benefits may mediate through ferroptosis inhibition since they are associated with increased levels of glutathione and enhanced superoxide dismutase and catalase (Fankem et al. 2019; Jain et al. 2009).

16.7.4 Chlamydia trachomatis

A recent study reported the late stage of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection cycle triggers several hallmarks of ferroptosis including the reduced level of SLC7A11, glutathione, and increased lipid peroxidation (Chen et al. 2021b). In addition, ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 can abolish *C. Trachomatis*-induced cell death and block bacteria dissemination (Chen et al. 2021b), implying the importance of ferroptosis in the dissemination of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in multiple cell lines (Azenabor and Mahony 2000). Further investigation is expected to explore the importance of ferroptosis in the pathogenesis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection.

16.7.5 Polymicrobial-Induced Sepsis

Sepsis is a potentially life-threatening condition that occurs when the host's defense against an infection damages its own homeostasis. The activated immune response during sepsis can lead to tissue damage and multiple organ failure. Moreover, during COVID-19 pandemic, sepsis is a major contributor to the poor prognosis (Lei et al. 2022). Similar to other forms of cell death, ferroptosis can be a double-edged sword in sepsis. First, it helps immune cells to eliminate pathogens and infected host cells. On the other hand, the ferroptosis of immune cells and non-immune cells can promote bacterial invasion and damage in the infected organs affected by sepsis.

In the multiple organ injuries induced by sepsis, ferroptosis was noted in cardiomyocytes and pharmacological inhibition of ferroptosis significantly attenuated cardiac injury in cell culture and murine models of LPS-induced sepsis (Dai et al. 2020a; Dai et al. 2020b; Xiao et al. 2021). Similarly, ferroptosis is also found to be relevant in the sepsis-induced acute lung injury and ferrostatin-1 can rescue lung damage during sepsis (Liu et al. 2020; Xu et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2022c; He et al. 2022; Li et al. 2022). Furthermore, sepsis-associated acute renal injury is reported to be induced by ferroptosis via iron overload and mitochondrial-derived ROS (Liang et al. 2022b; Yao et al. 2022) (Fig. 16.1a). Inhibition of mitochondrial-derived antioxidant NADPH oxidase (NOX) can protect renal cells from sepsis-induced ferroptosis. Apart from the above tissue injuries, ferroptosis is being identified as a role in other organ damages that happened during sepsis such as neuron, liver, and immune system (Tauber et al. 2021; Xie et al. 2022; Wei et al. 2020).

Although the pathologic process of sepsis requires multiple mediators, several ferroptosis inhibitors, such as vitamin E, deferoxamine, N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) can rescue the mice from lethal sepsis that is revealed by different groups (Valnier Steckert et al. 2014; Vlahakos et al. 2012; Ritter et al. 2004). These studies indicate that the role of ferroptosis and its regulatory effectors such as GPX4-dependent and GPX4-independent molecules would be potential target for tissue damage during sepsis.

16.8 Viral Infections

16.8.1 Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis

The role of ferroptosis during viral infection has been also explored. Previously, researchers tried to uncover the relevance of GPX4 in T-cell development by using T-cell-specific *Gpx4*-deficient mice. During the process of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection, both antigen-specific GPX4 null CD8+ and CD4+ T cells failed to expand and underwent to ferroptosis with accumulated membrane lipid peroxides. In addition, vitamin E rescued the phenotype induced by LCMV. These results indicate the important role of GPX4 and ferroptosis protection in the T-cell expansion during LCMV infection (Matsushita et al.

2015). Ferroptosis protection can also promote the longevity of virus-specific memory CD4+ T cells via mTORC2-AKT-GSK3 β pathway (Wang et al. 2022). During LCMV infection, follicular helper T cells (Tfh cells) also show features of ferroptosis such as higher lipid ROS and lipid peroxidation regulated by GPX4 activity (Yao et al. 2021) (Fig. 16.1c).

16.8.2 Epstein-Barr Virus

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) can infect B cells and drive the transformation of infected B cells to become Burkitt lymphoma and posttransplant lymphoproliferative (PTLD). Such transformation progress was found to generate lipid ROS that may sensitize ferroptosis in the Burkitt-like phase of B cells (Burton et al. 2022). Therefore, the induction of ferroptosis may have therapeutic value in preventing or treating EBV-mediated transformation (Burton et al. 2022). In nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells (NPC), acute EBV infection conferred ferroptosis resistance, which may play a part in the EBV-mediated transformation of NPC cells. Such resistance is mediated by activating NRF2 via p62-mediated KEAP1 degradation and upregulation of SLC7A11 and GPX4 expression (Yuan et al. 2022). These results indicate the importance of the ferroptosis in the EBV infection and transformation (Fig. 16.1a).

16.9 Enterovirus and Coronaviruses

Coxsackie virus is one of human enteroviruses which can cause common diseases such as hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD) and herpangina. During the process of virus replication, assembly, and release, membrane rearrangement is required. Acyl-coenzyme A synthetase long-chain family member (ACSL4) is involved in membrane synthesis and also a common host factor in RNA virus replication. During the infection of coxsackie A6, ACSL4 was found to be essential in viral replication organelle formation. ASCL4-deficient cells exhibited reduced ferroptosis accompanied by reduced virus titers upon Coxsackie virus A6 and SARS-CoV-2 infection (Fig. 16.1a). Two FDA-approved ACSL4 inhibitors, rosiglitazone and pioglitazoneare, can reduce the viral load of human enteroviruses and coronaviruses suggesting ACSL4 as a promising therapeutic target via ferroptosis (Kung et al. 2022). CVB3, another common type of coxsackie virus in myocarditis, can cause ferroptosis with an accumulation of lipid peroxides via Sp1/FRC/Fe axis (Yi et al. 2022).

Ferroptosis is reported to be involved in the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 infection as well. First, SARS-CoV-2-infected cells express high level of ROS and reduced level of GPX4 which are the hallmarks of ferroptosis. Ferroptosis inhibitors rescued the GPX4 expression and mitigated the increased ROS during viral infection. Second, the infection increased free iron and hyperferritinemia contributes to the ROS-induced oxidative damage, inflammation, and ferroptosis (Cavezzi et al. 2020) (Fig. 16.1a). Study has shown that ferritin serum levels are correlated to disease severity in COVID-19 patients (Colafrancesco et al. 2020). Another piece of evidence is iron chelator that can reduce tissue injuries in COVID-19 patients which indicate ferroptosis may be involved in such pathological process (Habib et al. 2021). Third, the envelope (E) protein of SARS-CoV-2 can induce ferroptosis in host cells by inhibiting an epigenetic reader, bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) through regulating ferroptosis-related genes such as system Xct (Sui et al. 2019; Tang et al. 2022; Du et al. 2023). Last, ferroptosis also contributes to the pathologic processes and tissue injuries of liver and brain during SARS-CoV-2 infection (Chen et al. 2022c; Zhang et al. 2022b).

16.9.1 Human Immunodeficiency Virus

Ferroptosis is also relevant in HIV infection. HIV-infected individuals exhibit hallmarks of ferroptosis, such as decreased GSH and increased ROS. In addition, NAC treatment inhibits HIV replication in infected T cells and monocytic cells (Kalebic et al. 1991). Moreover, antiretroviral therapy can trigger ferroptosis in both CD4+ immune cells upon HIV-1 infection and cancer cells (Li et al. 2021; Xiao et al. 2022). Ferroptosis may be also involved in the HIV-associated neurodegeneration as the disease processes is characterized by enhanced lysosomal ferritinophagy that releases excessive amounts of iron, Ca2+, and cathepsin B (Sfera et al. 2022). In addition, HIV-1 gp120 protein can also induce ferroptosis via activating iron-responsive element-binding protein 2 (IRP-2) and affecting labile iron pools (Shimizu et al. 2007) (Fig. 16.1a).

16.9.2 Hepatitis Virus

Ferroptosis is also important in various hepatitis virus. Hepatitis B virus (HBV) X protein can sensitive hepatocytes to ferroptosis by suppression of *SLC7A11* (Liu et al. 2021). In HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma, ubiquitin-like modifier activating enzyme 1 (UBA1) was overexpressed and associated with poor outcomes. The underlying mechanism for such association may be through the ability of UBA1 to regulate ferroptosis by affecting Fe2+ and malondialdehyde levels via Nrf2 (Shan et al. 2020). This finding indicates that ferroptosis may exert tumor suppressive capacity of HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Fig. 16.1a). In addition, HBV-infected hepatocytes and M1-type macrophages may also undergo ferroptosis (Fig. 16.1b). The hepatocyte-enriched miR-222 promotes liver fibrosis through inhibiting ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022a). In contrast, miR-142-3p promoted ferroptosis of macrophages through suppressing *SLC3A2* (Hu et al. 2022).

Apart from HBV, hepatitis A virus 3C protease (3Cpro)-induced cell death exhibits features of ferroptosis that can be blocked by ferroptosis inhibitors (Komissarov et al. 2021). In hepatitis C, increased lipid peroxidation is shown to suppress HCV replicase activity in human hepatoma cells and primary hepatocytes.

The reduced HCV replicase activity then contributes to the viral persistence in damaged liver tissue. Further study indicated that ferroptosis-like lipid peroxidation of host cells suppresses HCV replication and the iron chelator deferoxamine abolished lipid peroxidation and promoted HCV replication (Yamane et al. 2022). Moreover, low dose of erastin can disrupt HCV replicase function and enhancing the efficiency of oral HCV antivirals to promote viral clearance. Mechanically, fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2) is a key determinant factor to sensitize the HCV-infected hepatoma cells to ferroptosis (Yamane et al. 2022) (Fig. 16.1a). Murine hepatitis virus strain A59 (MHV-A59) can upregulate ACSL1 and promote ferroptosis via NF-kB activation in macrophages (Xia et al. 2021) (Fig. 16.1a, b). Therefore, the ferroptosis inhibition can be a therapeutic strategy to protect hosts from MHV-A59 infection.

16.9.3 Other Viruses

The infection of HSV-1 and Zika virus also exhibit features of ferroptosis. For example, in the brain of HSV-1 infected brain, ferroptosis features were observed in the astrocytes and microglia cells via KEAP1-mediated NRF2 modification (Xu et al. 2022). Therefore, both ferroptosis inhibitor and a proteasome inhibitor suppressing Nrf2 degradation alleviated HSV-1 encephalitis (Xu et al. 2022), indicating the importance of ferroptosis in such disease processes. Zika virus is a neurotropic flavivirus and can induce brain damage. RNA-seq of the brain from a more recent study indicated the activation of ferroptosis pathways in Zika virus-induced mice (Yan et al. 2023).

16.10 Parasite Infections

16.10.1 Plasmodium

Iron is an essential nutrient for not only humans but also malaria parasites of different Plasmodium species (Drakesmith and Prentice 2012; Zhang et al. 2018). Therefore, it is not surprising that the ferroptosis plays an important role in the Plasmodium infection. During the blood stage of the malaria parasite life cycle, the cleavage of hemoglobin leads to increased oxidative stress due to the release of free heme. Consistently, Plasmodium-infected RBCs exhibit an accumulation of lipid peroxidation accompanied by reduced antioxidants GSH (Das and Nanda 1999; Jonscher et al. 2019). The oxidation of Fe2-heme causes the production of ROS via Fenton reaction which further results in lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in RBCs (Xie et al. 2020; Vaid et al. 2010). Apart from this, researchers found that non-synonymous SNP rs1800371 of p53 alters the regulation of ferroptosis-related genes, such as GLS2 and SLC7A11 (Singh et al. 2020). In liver stage, a recent work showed that *P. yoelii*-infected hepatocytes underwent lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis is also
involved in the cerebral malaria-associated neuronal damage with increased MDA and iron levels (Liang et al. 2022a). Therefore, there seems to be a strong role in the ferroptosis during Plasmodium infection (Fig. 16.1a).

16.10.2 Leishmania Major

Another ferroptosis-associated parasite is *Leishmania major* responsible for leishmaniasis. Proper regulation of lipid peroxidation in T cells is found to be essential to against *L. major* in the adaptive immune response. GPX4 deficiency in T cells triggered ferroptosis of both antigen-specific CD8(+) and CD4(+) T cells that abolish the expression of these T cells and reduced protection against *L. major* parasite infections, which were rescued with treatment of vitamin E that protect ferroptosis (Matsushita et al. 2015) (Fig. 16.1c). Therefore, the ferroptosis of the T cells may impair the immune response against *L. major*.

16.10.3 Fungi

Ferroptosis is also relevant during fungal infection. Both *Candida albicans* and *Aspergillus fumigatus* increase the levels of lipid peroxidation (Gross et al. 2000), implying a relevant role of ferroptosis in fungal infections. A recent study showed that novel polysaccharide (AUM-1) from marine *Aureobasidium melanogenum* acts as a ferroptosis-related immunomodulator by affecting the expression of GSH/GPX4 in RAW 264.7 cells (Lin et al. 2022). In plants, ferroptosis may play a role in the protection of rice against *Magnaporthe oryzae* (Caseys 2019; Shen et al. 2020; Dangol et al. 2019). *M. oryzae* infection modulates the expression of genes encoding proteins in the maintenance of iron homeostasis (Sánchez-Sanuy et al. 2022). OsNLP2 has been revealed as a negative regulator of ferroptotic cell death and defense responses in rice-infected *M. oryzae* (Chen et al. 2022b).

16.11 Conclusion and Perspectives

As summarized before, ferroptosis is an iron-dependent non-apoptotic programmed cell death involved in the host defense against different pathogens. As described above, multiple functions of ferroptosis in infectious diseases effects as a double-edged sword. Ferroptosis can diminish the pathogen within the immune cells. At meantime, DAMPs from ferroptotic cells can active immune response and facilitate the host control of infections. On the other hand, ferroptosis of host cell death may play a role in the pathogen dissemination by releasing pathogens and other pro-pathogen factors. Furthermore, the ferroptosis is a tumor suppression mechanism that can be of therapeutic approach to prevent or treat virus-induced oncogenesis. Reciprocally, during the continuous arm race between pathogens and hosts, pathogens may also manipulate the machinery involved in the ferroptosis to enhance

their survival and dissemination. Understanding the molecular basis of such hostpathogens may allow us to induce or inhibit ferroptosis to control infection and mitigate the organ injuries and oncogenesis from the infections as novel therapeutic approaches.

However, comparing to other cell deaths such as pyroptosis, study of ferroptosis is still needed to be fully expanded. For example, the specific markers or specific DAMPs generated by ferroptosis remain to be studied. Most cell death form a protein pore leading the membrane damage, there is still unclear whether ferroptotic cells have a pore or not. Regarding to infectious disease, most of the studies have been shown pyroptosis that plays a vital role in the host defense against pathogen infection. Ferroptosis also shares some similarities with other types of cell death, the crosstalk between them needed fully explored. The function of ferroptosis within immune systems is still not clear. Undoubtedly, there are several questions to be solved in the further studies. We believe that with the increasing understanding of the mechanisms between ferroptosis and infectious diseases, the regulation of ferroptosis would serve as potential therapeutic targets in balancing between host defense and inflammation during pathogen infections, which would further benefit the control of the threatening infectious diseases.

References

- Agbor TA, Demma Z, Mrsny RJ, Castillo A, Boll EJ, McCormick BA (2014) The oxido-reductase enzyme glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) governs S almonella T yphimurium-induced neutrophil transepithelial migration. Cell Microbiol 16(9):1339–1353
- Amaral EP, Namasivayam S (2021) Emerging role for ferroptosis in infectious diseases. In: Florez AF, Alborzinia H (eds) Ferroptosis: mechanism and diseases. Springer, Cham, pp 59–79
- Amaral EP, Costa DL, Namasivayam S, Riteau N, Kamenyeva O, Mittereder L, Mayer-Barber KD, Andrade BB, Sher A (2019) A major role for ferroptosis in Mycobacterium tuberculosis– induced cell death and tissue necrosis. J Exp Med 216(3):556–570
- Amaral EP, Namasivayam S, Costa DL, Fisher L, Bomfim CCB, Andrade BB, Sher A (2020) The transcription factor BACH1 promotes tissue damage and host susceptibility in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection by reducing expression of Gpx4, a major negative regulator of ferroptosis, vol 204. Am Assoc Immnol, p 227.16
- Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S (2014) Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2014:1
- Azenabor AA, Mahony JB (2000) Generation of reactive oxygen species and formation of membrane lipid peroxides in cells infected with Chlamydia trachomatis. Int J Infect Dis 4(1): 46–50
- Bagayoko S, Leon-Icaza SA, Pinilla M, Hessel A, Santoni K, Péricat D, Bordignon P-J, Moreau F, Eren E, Boyancé A (2021) Host phospholipid peroxidation fuels ExoU-dependent cell necrosis and supports Pseudomonas aeruginosa-driven pathology. PLoS Pathog 17(9):e1009927
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692
- Boelaert JR, Vandecasteele SJ, Appelberg R, Gordeuk VR (2007) The effect of the host's iron status on tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 195(12):1745–1753

- Britigan BE, Edeker B (1991) Pseudomonas and neutrophil products modify transferrin and lactoferrin to create conditions that favor hydroxyl radical formation. J Clin Invest 88(4): 1092–1102
- Brown CW, Amante JJ, Goel HL, Mercurio AM (2017) The α6β4 integrin promotes resistance to ferroptosis. J Cell Biol 216(12):4287–4297
- Burton EM, Voyer J, Gewurz BE (2022) Epstein–Barr virus latency programs dynamically sensitize B cells to ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 119(11):e2118300119
- Caseys C (2019) Ferroptosis: a companion of ROS in fighting Magnaporthe in rice, vol 31. American Society of Plant Biologists, p 13
- Cavezzi A, Troiani E, Corrao S (2020) COVID-19: hemoglobin, iron, and hypoxia beyond inflammation. A narrative review. Clinics and Practice 10(2):1271
- Chen PH, Chi JT (2021) Unexpected zinc dependency of ferroptosis: what is in a name? Oncotarget 12(12):1126–1127. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.27951
- Chen P-H, Wu J, Ding C-KC, Lin C-C, Pan S, Bossa N, Xu Y, Yang W-H, Mathey-Prevot B, Chi J-T (2020a) Kinome screen of ferroptosis reveals a novel role of ATM in regulating iron metabolism. Cell Death Differ 27(3):1008–1022
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D (2020b) Iron metabolism in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 590226
- Chen PH, Wu J, Xu Y, Ding CC, Mestre AA, Lin CC, Yang WH, Chi JT (2021a) Zinc transporter ZIP7 is a novel determinant of ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 12(2):198. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-021-03482-5
- Chen W, Su X, Luo H, Mai Z, Yu X, Zeng L, Pan Y, Liao Y, Xu Q, Zhao W (2021b) P131 Chlamydia trachomatis induces ferroptosis to promote its own dissemination by inhibiting SLC7A11/GPx4 signaling. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021c) Ferroptosis in infection, inflammation, and immunity. J Exp Med 218(6):e20210518
- Chen X, Huang J, Yu C, Liu J, Gao W, Li J, Song X, Zhou Z, Li C, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2022a) A noncanonical function of EIF4E limits ALDH1B1 activity and increases susceptibility to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):6318. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-34096-w
- Chen Y, Wang J, Nguyen NK, Hwang BK, Jwa NS (2022b) The NIN-like protein OsNLP2 negatively regulates ferroptotic cell death and immune responses to Magnaporthe oryzae in rice. Antioxidants 11(9):1795
- Chen Y, Xu Y, Zhang K, Shen L, Deng M (2022c) Ferroptosis in COVID-19-related liver injury: a potential mechanism and therapeutic target. Front Cell Dev Biol 12:1058
- Christgen S, Place DE, Kanneganti T-D (2020) Toward targeting inflammasomes: insights into their regulation and activation. Cell Res 30(4):315–327
- Christgen S, Tweedell RE, Kanneganti T-D (2022) Programming inflammatory cell death for therapy. Pharmacol Ther 232:108010
- Colafrancesco S, Alessandri C, Conti F, Priori R (2020) COVID-19 gone bad: a new character in the spectrum of the hyperferritinemic syndrome? Autoimmun Rev 19(7):102573
- Dai E, Han L, Liu J, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Wang J, Tang D (2020a) Autophagy-dependent ferroptosis drives tumor-associated macrophage polarization via release and uptake of oncogenic KRAS protein. Autophagy 16(11):2069–2083. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2020.1714209
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020b) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110
- Dangol S, Chen Y, Hwang BK, Jwa N-S (2019) Iron-and reactive oxygen species-dependent ferroptotic cell death in rice-Magnaporthe oryzae interactions. Plant Cell 31(1):189–209
- Dar HH, Tyurina YY, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava I, Ting H-C, Tyurin VA, Krieger J, Croix CMS, Watkins S, Bayir E (2019) Pseudomonas aeruginosa utilizes host polyunsaturated

phosphatidylethanolamines to trigger theft-ferroptosis in bronchial epithelium. J Clin Invest 128(10):4639-4653

- Dar HH, Anthonymuthu TS, Ponomareva LA, Souryavong AB, Shurin GV, Kapralov AO, Tyurin VA, Lee JS, Mallampalli RK, Wenzel SE (2021) A new thiol-independent mechanism of epithelial host defense against Pseudomonas aeruginosa: iNOS/NO• sabotage of theft-ferroptosis. Redox Biol 45:102045
- Dar HH, Epperly MW, Tyurin VA, Amoscato AA, Anthonymuthu TS, Souryavong AB, Kapralov AA, Shurin GV, Samovich SN, Croix CMS (2022) P. aeruginosa augments irradiation injury via 15-lipoxygenase–catalyzed generation of 15-HpETE-PE and induction of theft-ferroptosis. JCI insight 7(4):e156013
- Das BS, Nanda NK (1999) Evidence for erythrocyte lipid peroxidation in acute falciparum malaria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 93(1):58–62
- Ding C-KC, Rose J, Sun T, Wu J, Chen P-H, Lin C-C, Yang W-H, Chen K-Y, Lee H, Xu E (2020) MESH1 is a cytosolic NADPH phosphatase that regulates ferroptosis. Nat Metab 2(3):270–277
- Dixon SJ, Stockwell BR (2019) The hallmarks of ferroptosis. Annu Rev Cancer Biol 3(1):35–54. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-030518-055844
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3(3):285–296
- Drakesmith H, Prentice AM (2012) Hepcidin and the iron-infection axis. Science 338(6108): 768–772
- Du K, Maeso-Díaz R, Oh SH, Wang E, Chen T, Pan C, Xiang K, Dutta RK, Wang XF, Chi JT, Diehl AM (2023) Targeting YAP-mediated hepatic stellate cell death susceptibility and senescence for treatment of liver fibrosis. Hepatology 77:1998. https://doi.org/10.1097/hep. 0000000000000326
- Eagle H, Piez KA, Oyama VI (1961) The biosynthesis of cystine in human cell cultures. J Biol Chem 236(5):1425–1428
- Fankem GO, Tagne MAF, Noubissi PA, Fondjo AF, Kamtchouing I, Ngwewondo A, Wambe H, Mukam JN, Kamgang RJ (2019) Antioxidant activity of dichloromethane fraction of Dichrocephala integrifolia in salmonella typhi-infected rats. J Integr Med 17(6):438–445
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Krautwald S, Kroemer G, Linkermann A (2014) Molecular mechanisms of regulated necrosis. In: Seminars in cell & developmental biology, vol 35. Elsevier, pp 24–32
- Ganz T (2019) Erythropoietic regulators of iron metabolism. Free Radic Biol Med 133:69-74
- Ganz T, Nemeth E (2012) Hepcidin and iron homeostasis. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1823(9):1434–1443
- Gao J, Wang Q, Tang Y-D, Zhai J, Hu W, Zheng C (2022) When ferroptosis meets pathogenic infections. Trends in Microbiol 31(5):468–479
- Gross N, Hultenby K, Mengarelli S, Camner P, Jarstrand C (2000) Lipid peroxidation by alveolar macrophages challenged with Cryptococcus neoformans, Candida albicans or Aspergillus fumigatus. Med Mycol 38(6):443–449
- Habib HM, Ibrahim S, Zaim A, Ibrahim WH (2021) The role of iron in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 and possible treatment with lactoferrin and other iron chelators. Biomed Pharmacother 136: 111228
- He R, Liu B, Xiong R, Geng B, Meng H, Lin W, Hao B, Zhang L, Wang W, Jiang W (2022) Itaconate inhibits ferroptosis of macrophage via Nrf2 pathways against sepsis-induced acute lung injury. Cell Death Discov 8(1):1–11

- Hirota K (2019) An intimate crosstalk between iron homeostasis and oxygen metabolism regulated by the hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs). Free Radic Biol Med 133:118–129
- Hu Z, Yin Y, Jiang J, Yan C, Wang Y, Wang D, Li L (2022) Exosomal miR-142-3p secreted by hepatitis B virus (HBV)-hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells promotes ferroptosis of M1-type macrophages through SLC3A2 and the mechanism of HCC progression. J Gastrointest Oncol 13(2):754
- Iwai K (2019) Regulation of cellular iron metabolism: iron-dependent degradation of IRP by SCFFBXL5 ubiquitin ligase. Free Radic Biol Med 133:64–68
- Jain S, Yadav PP, Gill V, Vasudeva N, Singla N (2009) Terminalia arjuna a sacred medicinal plant: phytochemical and pharmacological profile. Phytochem Rev 8(2):491–502
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang S-J, Su T, Hibshoosh H, Baer R, Gu W (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520(7545):57–62
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8
- Jonscher E, Flemming S, Schmitt M, Sabitzki R, Reichard N, Birnbaum J, Bergmann B, Höhn K, Spielmann T (2019) PfVPS45 is required for host cell cytosol uptake by malaria blood stage parasites. Cell Host and Microbe 25(1):166–173.e165
- Kain HS, Glennon EK, Vijayan K, Arang N, Douglass AN, Fortin CL, Zuck M, Lewis AJ, Whiteside SL, Dudgeon DR (2020) Liver stage malaria infection is controlled by host regulators of lipid peroxidation. Cell Death Differ 27(1):44–54
- Kalebic T, Kinter A, Poli G, Anderson ME, Meister A, Fauci AS (1991) Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus expression in chronically infected monocytic cells by glutathione, glutathione ester, and N-acetylcysteine. Proc Natl Acad Sci 88(3):986–990
- Kiran D, Podell BK, Chambers M, Basaraba RJ (2016) Host-directed therapy targeting the Mycobacterium tuberculosis granuloma: a review. In: Seminars in immunopathology, vol 2. Springer, pp 167–183
- Komissarov AA, Karaseva MA, Roschina MP, Shubin AV, Lunina NA, Kostrov SV, Demidyuk IV (2021) Individual expression of hepatitis A virus 3C protease induces ferroptosis in human cells in vitro. Int J Mol Sci 22(15):7906
- Kraft VA, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Müller C, Zandkarimi F, Merl-Pham J, Bao X, Anastasov N, Kössl J (2019) GTP cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract ferroptosis through lipid remodeling. ACS Cent Sci 6(1):41–53
- Kryukov GV, Castellano S, Novoselov SV, Lobanov AV, Zehtab O, Guigó R, Gladyshev VNJS (2003) Characterization of mammalian selenoproteomes. Science 300(5624):1439–1443
- Kuang F, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2020) Oxidative damage and antioxidant defense in Ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:586578. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.586578
- Kung Y-A, Chiang H-J, Li M-L, Gong Y-N, Chiu H-P, Hung C-T, Huang P-N, Huang S-Y, Wang P-Y, Hsu T-A (2022) Acyl-coenzyme a synthetase long-chain family member 4 is involved in viral replication organelle formation and facilitates virus replication via ferroptosis. MBio 13(1): e02717–e02721
- Labbe K, Saleh M (2008) Cell death in the host response to infection. Cell Death Differ 15(9): 1339–1349
- Lei X, Zhao G, Guo R, Cui N (2022) Ferroptosis in sepsis: the mechanism, the role and the therapeutic potential. Front Immunol 13:956361
- Li J, Cao F, Yin H-l, Huang Z-j, Lin Z-t, Mao N, Sun B, Wang G (2020) Ferroptosis: past, present and future. Cell Death Dis 11(2):1–13
- Li C, Zhang Y, Liu J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021) Mitochondrial DNA stress triggers autophagy-dependent ferroptotic death. Autophagy 17(4):948–960
- Li J, Li M, Li L, Ma J, Yao C, Yao S (2022) Hydrogen sulfide attenuates ferroptosis and stimulates autophagy by blocking mTOR signaling in sepsis-induced acute lung injury. Mol Immunol 141: 318–327
- Liang C, Zhang X, Yang M, Dong X (2019) Recent progress in ferroptosis inducers for cancer therapy. Adv Mater 31(51):1904197

- Liang J, Shen Y, Wang Y, Huang Y, Wang J, Zhu Q, Tong G, Yu K, Cao W, Wang Q (2022a) Ferroptosis participates in neuron damage in experimental cerebral malaria and is partially induced by activated CD8+ T cells. Mol Brain 15(1):1–12
- Liang N-N, Zhao Y, Guo Y-Y, Zhang Z-H, Gao L, Yu D-X, Xu D-X, Xu S (2022b) Mitochondriaderived reactive oxygen species are involved in renal cell ferroptosis during lipopolysaccharideinduced acute kidney injury. Int Immunopharmacol 107:108687
- Lin Y, Yang J, Luo L, Zhang X, Deng S, Chen X, Li Y, Bekhit AE-DA, Xu B, Huang R (2022) Ferroptosis related immunomodulatory effect of a novel extracellular polysaccharides from marine fungus Aureobasidium melanogenum. Mar Drugs 20(5):332
- Liu P, Feng Y, Li H, Chen X, Wang G, Xu S, Li Y, Zhao L (2020) Ferrostatin-1 alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury via inhibiting ferroptosis. Cell Mol Biol Lett 25(1):1–14
- Liu G-Z, Xu X-W, Tao S-H, Gao M-J, Hou Z-H (2021) HBx facilitates ferroptosis in acute liver failure via EZH2 mediated SLC7A11 suppression. J Biomed 28(1):1–13
- Luo K, Stocker R, Britton WJ, Kikuchi K, Oehlers SH (2022) Haem oxygenase limits Mycobacterium marinum infection-induced detrimental ferrostatin-sensitive cell death in zebrafish. FEBS J 289(3):671–681
- Mancias JD, Wang X, Gygi SP, Harper JW, Kimmelman AC (2014) Quantitative proteomics identifies NCOA4 as the cargo receptor mediating ferritinophagy. Nature 509(7498):105–109
- Martin CJ, Booty MG, Rosebrock TR, Nunes-Alves C, Desjardins DM, Keren I, Fortune SM, Remold HG, Behar SM (2012) Efferocytosis is an innate antibacterial mechanism. Cell Host and Microbe 12(3):289–300
- Matsushita M, Freigang S, Schneider C, Conrad M, Bornkamm GW, Kopf M (2015) T cell lipid peroxidation induces ferroptosis and prevents immunity to infection. J Exp Med 212(4): 555–568
- Molloy A, Laochumroonvorapong P, Kaplan G (1994) Apoptosis, but not necrosis, of infected monocytes is coupled with killing of intracellular bacillus Calmette-Guérin. J Exp Med 180(4): 1499–1509
- Moroishi T, Nishiyama M, Takeda Y, Iwai K, Nakayama K (2011) The FBXL5-IRP2 axis is integral to control of iron metabolism in vivo. Cell Metab 14(3):339–351
- Nisa A, Kipper FC, Panigrahy D, Tiwari S, Kupz A, Subbian S (2022) Different modalities of host cell death and their impact on Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Am J Phys Cell Phys 323(5):C1444–C1474
- Nishizawa H, Matsumoto M, Shindo T, Saigusa D, Kato H, Suzuki K, Sato M, Ishii Y, Shimokawa H, Igarashi K (2020) Ferroptosis is controlled by the coordinated transcriptional regulation of glutathione and labile iron metabolism by the transcription factor BACH1. J Biol Chem 295(1):69–82
- Nössing C, Ryan KM (2022) 50 years on and still very much alive: 'apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics'. Br J Cancer 128:1–6
- Oddo M, Renno T, Attinger A, Bakker T, MacDonald HR, Meylan PR (1998) Fas ligand-induced apoptosis of infected human macrophages reduces the viability of intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Immunol 160(11):5448–5454
- Pajuelo D, Gonzalez-Juarbe N, Tak U, Sun J, Orihuela CJ, Niederweis M (2018) NAD+ depletion triggers macrophage necroptosis, a cell death pathway exploited by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Cell Rep 24(2):429–440
- Pan H, Yan B-S, Rojas M, Shebzukhov YV, Zhou H, Kobzik L, Higgins DE, Daly MJ, Bloom BR, Kramnik I (2005) Ipr1 gene mediates innate immunity to tuberculosis. Nature 434(7034): 767–772
- Rastogi S, Briken V (2022) Interaction of mycobacteria with host cell inflammasomes. Front Immunol 13:791136–791136
- Reddy VP, Chinta KC, Saini V, Glasgow JN, Hull TD, Traylor A, Rey-Stolle F, Soares MP, Madansein R, Rahman MA (2018) Ferritin H deficiency in myeloid compartments dysregulates

host energy metabolism and increases susceptibility to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Front Immunol 9:860

- Riendeau CJ, Kornfeld H (2003) THP-1 cell apoptosis in response to Mycobacterial infection. Infect Immun 71(1):254–259
- Ritter C, Andrades ME, Reinke A, Menna-Barreto S, Moreira JCF, Dal-Pizzol F (2004) Treatment with N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine protects rats against oxidative stress and improves survival in sepsis. Crit Care Med 32(2):342–349
- Sánchez-Sanuy F, Mateluna-Cuadra R, Tomita K, Okada K, Sacchi GA, Campo S, San Segundo B (2022) Iron induces resistance against the Rice blast fungus Magnaporthe oryzae through potentiation of immune responses. Rice 15(1):68
- Schauser K, Olsen JE, Larsson L-I (2005) Salmonella Typhimurium infection in the porcine intestine: evidence for caspase-3-dependent and-independent programmed cell death. Histochem Cell Biol 123(1):43–50
- Sfera A, Thomas KG, Andronescu CV, Jafri N, Sfera DO, Sasannia S, Del Campo CMZ-M, Maldonado J (2022) Bromodomains in human-immunodeficiency virus-associated neurocognitive disorders: a model of ferroptosis-induced neurodegeneration. Front Neurosci 16:904816
- Shan Y, Yang G, Huang H, Zhou Y, Hu X, Lu Q, Guo P, Hou J, Cao L, Tian F (2020) Ubiquitinlike modifier activating enzyme 1 as a novel diagnostic and prognostic indicator that correlates with ferroptosis and the malignant phenotypes of liver cancer cells. Front Oncol 10:592413
- Shen Q, Liang M, Yang F, Deng YZ, Naqvi NI (2020) Ferroptosis contributes to developmental cell death in rice blast. New Phytol 227(6):1831–1846
- Shi X, Li C, Cheng L, Ullah H, Sha S, Kang J, Ma X, Ma Y (2023) Mycobacterium tuberculosis Rv1324 protein contributes to mycobacterial persistence and causes pathological lung injury in mice by inducing ferroptosis, vol 11. Microbiology Spectrum, pp e02526–e02522
- Shimizu S, Khan MZ, Hippensteel RL, Parkar A, Raghupathi R, Meucci O (2007) Role of the transcription factor E2F1 in CXCR4-mediated neurotoxicity and HIV neuropathology. Neurobiol Dis 25(1):17–26
- Singh KS, Leu JI-J, Barnoud T, Vonteddu P, Gnanapradeepan K, Lin C, Liu Q, Barton JC, Kossenkov AV, George DL (2020) African-centric TP53 variant increases iron accumulation and bacterial pathogenesis but improves response to malaria toxin. Nat Commun 11(1):1–14
- Song X, Zhu S, Xie Y, Liu J, Sun L, Zeng D, Wang P, Ma X, Kroemer G, Bartlett DL, Billiar TR, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2018) JTC801 induces pH-dependent death specifically in cancer cells and slows growth of tumors in mice. Gastroenterology 154(5):1480–1493. https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.12.004
- Sui S, Zhang J, Xu S, Wang Q, Wang P, Pang D (2019) Ferritinophagy is required for the induction of ferroptosis by the bromodomain protein BRD4 inhibitor (+)-JQ1 in cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 10(5):331
- Sun L, Wang H, Wang Z, He S, Chen S, Liao D, Wang L, Yan J, Liu W, Lei X (2012) Mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein mediates necrosis signaling downstream of RIP3 kinase. Cell 148(1–2):213–227
- Swanson KV, Deng M, Ting JP-Y (2019) The NLRP3 inflammasome: molecular activation and regulation to therapeutics. Nat Rev Immunol 19(8):477–489
- Tang X, Wu J, Ding CK, Lu M, Keenan MM, Lin CC, Lin CA, Wang CC, George D, Hsu DS, Chi JT (2016) Cystine deprivation triggers programmed necrosis in VHL-deficient renal cell carcinomas. Cancer Res 76(7):1892–1903. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2328
- Tang X, Ding CK, Wu J, Sjol J, Wardell S, Spasojevic I, George D, McDonnell DP, Hsu DS, Chang JT, Chi JT (2017) Cystine addiction of triple-negative breast cancer associated with EMT augmented death signaling. Oncogene 36(30):4235–4242. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc. 2016.394
- Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G (2019) The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res 29(5):347–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5

- Tang X, Chen W, Liu H, Liu N, Chen D, Tian D, Wang J (2022) Research progress on SLC7A11 in the regulation of cystine/cysteine metabolism in tumors. Oncol Lett 23(2):1–9
- Tauber SC, Djukic M, Gossner J, Eiffert H, Brück W, Nau R (2021) Sepsis-associated encephalopathy and septic encephalitis: an update. Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther 19(2):215–231
- Ursini F, Maiorino M (2020) Lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis: the role of GSH and GPx4. Free Radic Biol Med 152:175–185
- Vaid A, Ranjan R, Smythe WA, Hoppe HC, Sharma P (2010) PfPI3K, a phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase from Plasmodium falciparum, is exported to the host erythrocyte and is involved in hemoglobin trafficking. Blood 115(12):2500–2507
- Valnier Steckert A, Alves de Castro A, Quevedo J, Dal-Pizzol F (2014) Sepsis in the central nervous system and antioxidant strategies with nacetylcysteine, vitamins and statins. Curr Neurovasc Res 11(1):83–90
- Vlahakos D, Arkadopoulos N, Kostopanagiotou G, Siasiakou S, Kaklamanis L, Degiannis D, Demonakou M, Smyrniotis V (2012) Deferoxamine attenuates lipid peroxidation, blocks interleukin-6 production, ameliorates sepsis inflammatory response syndrome, and confers renoprotection after acute hepatic ischemia in pigs. Artif Organs 36(4):400–408
- Vorobjeva N, Chernyak B (2020) NETosis: molecular mechanisms, role in physiology and pathology. Biochemistry 85(10):1178–1190
- Wang Y, Tian Q, Hao Y, Yao W, Lu J, Chen C, Chen X, Lin Y, Huang Q, Xu L (2022) The kinase complex mTORC2 promotes the longevity of virus-specific memory CD4+ T cells by preventing ferroptosis. Nat Immunol 23(2):303–317
- Wei S, Bi J, Yang L, Zhang J, Wan Y, Chen X, Wang Y, Wu Z, Lv Y, Wu R (2020) Serum irisin levels are decreased in patients with sepsis, and exogenous irisin suppresses ferroptosis in the liver of septic mice. Clin Transl Med 10(5):e173
- Wu J, Minikes AM, Gao M, Bian H, Li Y, Stockwell BR, Chen Z-N, Jiang X (2019) Intercellular interaction dictates cancer cell ferroptosis via NF2–YAP signalling. Nature 572(7769):402–406
- Xia H, Zhang Z, You F (2021) Inhibiting ACSL1-related ferroptosis restrains murine coronavirus infection. Viruses 13(12):2383
- Xiao Z, Kong B, Fang J, Qin T, Dai C, Shuai W, Huang H (2021) Ferrostatin-1 alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced cardiac dysfunction. Bioengineered 12(2):9367–9376
- Xiao Q, Yan L, Han J, Yang S, Tang Y, Li Q, Lao X, Chen Z, Xiao J, Zhao H (2022) Metabolismdependent ferroptosis promotes mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation in CD4+ T lymphocytes in HIV-infected immune non-responders. EBioMedicine 86:104382
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379
- Xie SC, Ralph SA, Tilley L (2020) K13, the cytostome, and artemisinin resistance. Trends Parasitol 36(6):533–544
- Xie Z, Xu M, Xie J, Liu T, Xu X, Gao W, Li Z, Bai X, Liu X (2022) Inhibition of Ferroptosis attenuates glutamate excitotoxicity and nuclear autophagy in a CLP septic mouse model. Shock 57(5):694–702
- Xu B, Wang H, Chen Z (2021) Puerarin inhibits ferroptosis and inflammation of lung injury caused by sepsis in LPS induced lung epithelial cells. Front Pediatr 9:9
- Xu X-Q, Xu T, Ji W, Wang C, Ren Y, Xiong X, Zhou X, Lin S-H, Xu Y, Qiu Y (2022) Herpes simplex virus 1-induced Ferroptosis contributes to viral encephalitis. Mbio 14:e0237022
- Yagoda N, von Rechenberg M, Zaganjor E, Bauer AJ, Yang WS, Fridman DJ, Wolpaw AJ, Smukste I, Peltier JM, Boniface J (2007) RAS–RAF–MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels. Nature 447(7146):865–869
- Yamane D, Hayashi Y, Matsumoto M, Nakanishi H, Imagawa H, Kohara M, Lemon SM, Ichi I (2022) FADS2-dependent fatty acid desaturation dictates cellular sensitivity to ferroptosis and permissiveness for hepatitis C virus replication. Cell Chem Biol 29(5):799–810.e794
- Yan Q, Zheng W, Jiang Y, Zhou P, Lai Y, Liu C, Wu P, Zhuang H, Huang H, Li G (2023) Transcriptomic reveals the ferroptosis features of host response in a mouse model of Zika virus infection. J Med Virol 95(1):e28386

Yanatori I, Kishi F (2019) DMT1 and iron transport. Free Radic Biol Med 133:55-63

- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2):317–331
- Yang W-H, Ding C-KC, Sun T, Rupprecht G, Lin C-C, Hsu D, Chi J-T (2019a) The hippo pathway effector TAZ regulates ferroptosis in renal cell carcinoma. Cell Rep 28(10):2501–2508.e2504
- Yang WH, Huang Z, Wu J, Ding C-KC, Murphy SK, Chi J-T (2019b) A TAZ-ANGPTL4-NOX2 axis regulates ferroptotic cell death and chemoresistance in epithelial ovarian cancer. Mol Cancer Res 18(1):79–90. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-19-0691
- Yao Y, Chen Z, Zhang H, Chen C, Zeng M, Yunis J, Wei Y, Wan Y, Wang N, Zhou M (2021) Selenium–GPX4 axis protects follicular helper T cells from ferroptosis. Nat Immunol 22(9): 1127–1139
- Yao W, Liao H, Pang M, Pan L, Guan Y, Huang X, Hei Z, Luo C, Ge M (2022) Inhibition of the NADPH oxidase pathway reduces ferroptosis during septic renal injury in diabetic mice. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2022:1
- Yaqoob C, Shahid S, Khaliq A, Un Nisa Z, Khan IH, Akhtar MW (2022) Designing fusion molecules from antigens of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to enhance Serodiagnostic sensitivity in latent TB infection and active TB state. Int J Pept Res Ther 28(1):30
- Yi L, Hu Y, Wu Z, Li Y, Kong M, Kang Z, Zuoyuan B, Yang Z (2022) TFRC upregulation promotes ferroptosis in CVB3 infection via nucleus recruitment of Sp1. Cell Death Dis 13(7): 592
- Yin H, Xu L, Porter NA (2011) Free radical lipid peroxidation: mechanisms and analysis. Chem Rev 111(10):5944–5972
- Yuan L, Li S, Chen Q, Xia T, Luo D, Li L, Liu S, Guo S, Liu L, Du C (2022) EBV infectioninduced GPX4 promotes chemoresistance and tumor progression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Cell Death Differ 29:1–15
- Zhang D-L, Wu J, Shah BN, Greutélaers KC, Ghosh MC, Ollivierre H, Su X-z, Thuma PE, Bedu-Addo G, Mockenhaupt FP (2018) Erythrocytic ferroportin reduces intracellular iron accumulation, hemolysis, and malaria risk. Science 359(6383):1520–1523
- Zhang Q, Qu Y, Zhang Q, Li F, Li B, Li Z, Dong Y, Lu L, Cai X (2022a) Exosomes derived from hepatitis B virus-infected hepatocytes promote liver fibrosis via miR-222/TFRC axis. Cell Biol Toxicol 39:1–15
- Zhang R, Sun C, Chen X, Han Y, Zang W, Jiang C, Wang J (2022b) COVID-19-related brain injury: the potential role of ferroptosis. J Inflamm Res 15:2181
- Zhang Y, Zheng L, Deng H, Feng D, Hu S, Zhu L, Xu W, Zhou W, Wang Y, Min K (2022c) Electroacupuncture alleviates LPS-induced ARDS through α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptormediated inhibition of Ferroptosis. Front Immunol 1:13



Selenium Metabolic Pathway in Ferroptotic 17 Cell Death

Kalimuthu Kalishwaralal, Ajmani Abhishek, Chenicheri K. Keerthana, Tennyson P. Rayginia, Mundanattu Swetha, Sreekumar U. Aiswarya, Jaison Arivalagan, Smitha V. Bava, Michael A. Firer, and Ruby John Anto

Abstract

Selenoproteins play a crucial role in various complex biological processes, including cell growth, differentiation, apoptosis, and ferroptosis. In response to increased oxidative damage and altered nutrient metabolism known as the Warburg switch, cancer cells adapt via selenoprotein synthesis that are essential for their survival. Especially, selenoprotein thioredoxin reductase 1 (TrxR1) and glutathione peroxidase-4 (GPX4) have significant roles in controlling hydroperoxides and resisting ferroptosis. These selenoproteins offer protection to cancer cells from ferroptosis and oxidative damage by utilizing selenium-related mechanisms to counteract the toxic effects of chemotherapy and radio-therapy. The bioavailability of selenium is often overlooked as a determinant of oxidative defense status and has emerged as a critical factor in cancer cells. Hence, the impact of dietary selenium depletion in the context of anticancer treatment highlighted the need for further investigation into the potential therapeutic applications of selenium or selenoproteins in cancer treatment. This

S. U. Aiswarya · R. J. Anto (🖂)

S. V. Bava Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut, Malappuram, India

M. A. Firer Department of Chemical Engineering, Ariel University, Ariel, Israel

Adelson School of Medicine, Ariel University, Ariel, Israel

K. Kalishwaralal (\boxtimes) \cdot A. Abhishek \cdot C. K. Keerthana \cdot T. P. Rayginia \cdot M. Swetha \cdot

Division of Cancer Research, Rajiv Gandhi Centre for Biotechnology, Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, India

e-mail: kalimuthu@rgcb.res.in; rjanto@rgcb.res.in

J. Arivalagan Proteomics Core Facility, Indiana University–Purdue University Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, USA

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_17

chapter explores the potential application of selenoproteins as therapeutic targets in cancer treatment, with a specific focus on ferroptosis.

17.1 Introduction

Ferroptosis, a form of regulated cell death, is controlled by a selenium-dependent antioxidant glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) in the presence of iron and selenium (Seibt et al. 2019). A reduction in GPX4 activity due to decreased selenium levels can lead to oxidative stress and ferroptosis in cancer (Ingold et al. 2018). GPX4 and other 25 selenoproteins in humans are notably ferroptosis sensitive. Despite their potential role in preventing the progression of cancer, the precise role of other selenoproteins and the thioredoxin system in the ferroptosis pathway is poorly understood (Cai et al. 2020; Kalimuthu et al. 2022). However, due to the antioxidant properties of selenoproteins, they may play a significant role in the regulation of ferroptosis. A pan-cancer study on selenoprotein expression found that the expression of genes belonging to the GPX and TrxR families can vary between different cancer types and even within individual cancer cases (Wu et al. 2021). Few studies in mice models have shown that administering selenomethionine (SeMet) before irradiation can delay tumor formation. On the other hand, continued use of SeMet can lead to uncontrolled growth of tumors (Jeter et al. 2019). The complexity of selenoproteins classified is based on the type and stage of cancer. Hence, further investigation is needed to fully understand their role in carcinogenesis. In addition, selenoproteins play a role in various molecular signaling pathways and can influence the expression of transcription factors (Ghelichkhani et al. 2022).

Ferroptosis may serve as a therapeutic target cancer cells with enhanced sensitivity, as evidenced by the altered regulation of selenoproteins in the cancer cells. Apolipoprotein E receptor 2 LRP8 (also known as ApoER2) can promote resistance to ferroptosis in cancer cells by regulating selenium and selenoprotein levels. In response to limited selenium availability, the levels of GPX4 rapidly decrease in cancer cells leading to ferroptosis (Li et al. 2022). Eagle and group highlight the potential of targeting selenophosphate synthetase 2 (SEPHS2) and selenium detoxification as a therapeutic strategy for acute myeloid leukemia (AML). The authors also observed other selenoproteins that help to suppress programmed cell death caused by iron-dependent lipid peroxidation, i.e., ferroptosis. Few other studies also suggested that selenium depletion may be used as a part of anticancer therapies (Eagle et al. 2022; Jankowski and Rabinowitz 2022). This book chapter points out the possibility to use selenium or selenoprotein levels as a therapeutic strategy against cancer and for regulating the ferroptosis pathway.

17.2 Ferroptosis

Before the term "ferroptosis" was coined, Dolma and group discovered inducers of this form of cell death through a high-throughput screening method in which they evaluated 23,550 compounds for their cell-killing ability on tumorigenic cells induced by multiple oncogenes, including RAS (which is mutated in approximately 25% of cancers, as described by Dixon et al (Dixon et al. 2012)). Human fibroblast cells were transformed into tumor cells through the introduction of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), the catalytic component of telomerase, and the large T (LT) and small T (ST) oncoproteins of SV40 and onco-RAS protein. The researchers found nine compounds that were four times more effective on these tumorigenic cells, with erastin being effective among the identified compounds and exhibiting specificity toward these cells (as an eradicator of RAS and ST cells). The morphological studies suggested that erastin did not result in any changes in nuclear morphology and neither caused DNA fragmentation nor activated caspases, indicating that the compound induces a type of non-apoptotic cell death (Dolma et al. 2003). In 2007, Yagoda and coworkers reported that this form of cell death is reliant on the RAS-RAF-MEK signaling pathway and can be suppressed by antioxidants, suggesting that reactive oxygen species (ROS), particularly lipids, might play a role in inducing cell death (Yagoda et al. 2007).

The researchers discovered that erastin binds to voltage-dependent anion channels (VDACs) and changes the permeability of the outer membrane of the mitochondria. Out of 47,725 compounds tested, two compounds, RSL3 and RSL5, were found to exhibit anticancer activity through a mode of action like erastin, which involves the activation of the RAS-RAF-MEK pathway, binding to VDACs, and the involvement of lipid-derived ROS (Yang and Stockwell 2008). The authors also observed that two iron chelators, including deferoxamine (DFX), can block the effects of RSLs and erastin, indicating a role for intracellular iron in this new form of cell death (Yang and Stockwell 2008). They characterized ferroptosis as being distinct from apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagy in terms of biochemistry, morphology, and genetics (Dixon et al. 2012).

17.3 Characteristics of Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis can be distinguished from other forms of cell death as it does not result in chromatin condensation as seen in apoptosis or cytoplasmic swelling and plasma membrane rupture as seen in necrosis. Additionally, ferroptosis does not involve the formation of double-membrane vacuoles, which is a hallmark of autophagy (Dixon et al. 2012). Biochemically, ferroptosis can be differentiated from apoptosis as it does not involve the activation of caspases, cytochrome c release, or cleavage of PARP-1 (Yagoda et al. 2007). Furthermore, ferroptosis does not result in ATP depletion, a key feature of necrosis (Dixon et al. 2012). To identify the unique genetic network underlying ferroptosis, Dixon and researchers used an shRNA library targeting 1087 genes involved in mitochondrial functions. The results of

this study showed no correlation between shRNAs that protected cells from erastininduced ferroptosis and staurosporine-induced apoptosis, indicating that the genetic networks involved in these two forms of cell death are distinct (Dixon et al. 2012). They also reported six genes that are essential for ferroptosis: RPL8 (ribosomal protein L8), IREB2 (iron response element-binding protein 2), ATP5G3 (ATP synthase F0 complex subunit C3), CS (citrate synthase), TTC35 (tetratricopeptide repeat domain 35), and ACSF2 (acyl-CoA synthetase family member 2). The knockout (KO) of these genes was found to protect cells against ferroptosis, but not against cell death induced by other agents such as staurosporine, rotenone, or rapamycin (Dixon et al. 2012). These findings support the notion that ferroptosis is regulated by a specific genetic network.

17.4 Role of Selenium in Ferroptosis Pathway

The critical role of selenium in the ferroptosis pathway can be understood from the results of various biochemical assays such as western blot and promoter assay. However, the previous studies on ferroptosis suggest that these assays were often not reproducible even when the same cell lines were used in different laboratories. Why do the results differ? The findings of Karlenius and coworkers from gene promoter reporter assay indicate that the results were altered when the laboratory switched to a different vendor of FBS supplier. To investigate this further, they determined the serum selenium concentrations of FBS from various country vendors and their corresponding activity for gene promoter, cell proliferation, and antioxidant enzyme assays. The chemical composition of different batches of sera used for cell culture may vary including selenium concentration, which is not routinely tested before shipping. The significance of redox control systems in regulating a range of biological processes such as gene expression and cell signaling is now widely accepted. Different growth mediums may lead to the activation of different key redox systems in the cells grown which may have various downstream effects. For example, many transcription factors are redox-regulated which in turn regulates the activity of other gene promoters (Shahdadfar et al. 2005; Turanov et al. 2010). The variation in the serum-containing cell culture medium is a key factor in the output of conflicting results for many tests such as gene reporter assays, mRNA quantification, and western blot assay. A recent report suggests that the metabolic environment of tumors in vivo cannot be recreated using currently available cell culture media (Karlenius 2011). To test this, the effect of a new physiological medium called Plasmax was compared with commercial media for animal cell culture. It was found that cancer cells undergo metabolic disturbances because of the unbalanced nutrient composition of commercial media (Gardner et al. 2022; Kalimuthu et al. 2022). The high levels of pyruvate and arginine in this context have specific effects on the regulation of gene expression and the urea cycle. Pyruvate stabilizes HIF-1 α in normal oxygen conditions, leading to a false hypoxia response. Arginine interferes with the normal functioning of the urea cycle enzyme argininosuccinate lyase; however, this effect can be prevented in vitro by Plasmax. Ferroptosis influenced by the varying levels of selenium in serum inhibited the ability of cancer cells to form colonies on commercial media, whereas predetermined selenium in Plasmax was able to restore this ability (Voorde Vande et al. 2019). Recent study on the effects of selenium on cancer stem cells is consistent with the previous reports which indicate that selenium offer resistance to cancer drug (Eagle et al. 2022). Hence, we propose that optimal levels of selenium in the medium could serve as a supplement and can be employed in drug discovery experiments for drug-resistant cancer.

17.5 Ferroptosis-Induced ER Stress

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress is one of the attractive biological phenomena that ensue as part of ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020). The unfolded protein response (UPR) pathway is triggered by three transmembrane proteins, IRE1 (inositol-requiring enzyme 1), ATF6 (activated transcription factor 6), and PERK (protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase) (Moncan et al. 2021). In addition, the presence of seven selenoproteins in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane demonstrates the diversity within this subgroup and their impact on cancer processes such as proliferation, survival, and apoptosis. Recent studies have highlighted the role of selenoproteins in endoplasmic reticulum stress in promoting tumor growth and metastasis in various solid tumors. Although most selenoproteins, including SELENO F, SELENO K, SELENO M, SELENO N, SELENO S, and SELENO T are involved in protein degradation and calcium homeostasis (Fig. 17.1), the exact mechanism through which they protect cancer cells from apoptosis and ferroptosis cell death is still unclear (Varlamova et al. 2022). There is mounting evidence suggesting that the endoplasmic reticulum membrane represents a crucial location where lipid peroxidation occurs, leading to various cellular dysfunctions and pathologies (Varlamova et al. 2022; von Krusenstiern et al. 2023). In fact, GPX4 act as a protector against lipid peroxidation in ER and other subcellular membranes.

The AAA+ ATPase p97 (also known as VCP in metazoans and Cdc48 in lower eukaryotes) regulates the entire autophagy process, from initiation to maturation and autophagy-mediated degradation. This highly abundant protein constitutes about 1% of total cellular protein and is essential for endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation (ERAD). During the ERAD process, the recruitment of VCP/p97 to the ER membrane is necessary for substrate degradation and is facilitated by the selenoproteins SELENO S and SELENO K. The binding of SELENO K to p97 is essential for the recruitment of SELENO S. The binding between SELENO K and SELENO S is not influenced by the redox state of SELENO S and does not involve the Cys173 and Sec188 residues of SELENO S. (Lee et al. 2015). Notably, both SELENO S and SELENO K bind to derlins that are involved in the ERAD complex with an association of p97 (VCP). It is well known that selenoprotein S functions in cell survival by adaptive regulation of ER stress. Selenoprotein K is also one of the ER stress-regulated proteins and plays an important role in resistance against ER stress-mediated apoptosis. This extensive list corresponds with the reports that at



Fig. 17.1 Role of selenoprotein in the proteasomal degradation of misfolded proteins

least some of SELENO S and SELENO K cellular roles are tied to the protein degradation process and lipid storage (Shchedrina et al. 2011).

According to some reports, SELENO K promotes melanoma tumor progression and metastasis. It binds to the DHHC6 (each letter represents amino acids Asp-His-His-Cys) acyltransferase enzyme to catalyze the palmitoylation of the IP3R which is required for ER membrane stability. Although, it has been seen that SELENO K disturbs the IP3R palmitoylation and Ca²⁺ in the ER membrane, however, increasing SELENO K expression may not be in proportionality for IP3R palmitoylation as well as the Ca^{2+} in the ER membrane (Marciel and Hoffmann 2019). Genetic manipulation of the SELENO K gene results in significantly lower levels of storeoperated calcium (Ca^{2+}) entry protein in melanoma cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. According to recent studies, selenium deficiency may be used in cancer treatment (Eagle et al. 2022; Jankowski and Rabinowitz 2022). Recently, few studies have revealed that targeting SELENO K can effectively reduce tumor size by modulating ferroptosis, thereby contributing a favorable establishment for the development of potential therapies for cervical cancer (Abdurahman et al. 2023). Previously, it was believed that proteins that trigger ferroptosis such as RSL3 and ML162 were inhibited by GPX4, TNXRD1 and SELENO K. Recent discovery suggests that GPX4 does not directly inhibit RSL3 and ML162 (Cheff et al. 2023). However, SELENO K and TNXRD1 may directly inhibit those ferroptosis triggerers.

17.6 p62/Keap1/NRF2 Axis Protects against Ferroptosis

Brigelius-Flohe proposed that selenium metabolites like selenols and selenenic acids can modify protein thiols to form selenylsulfides (Se-S), selenotrisulfides (S-Se-S), selenocysteine (SeSec), and selenomethionine (SeMet) (Brigelius-Flohé 2008). Recently, some reports revealed that selenium-containing natural compounds have opened new avenues for selenometabolomics in eukaryotic cells (Hou and Xu 2022; Kayrouz et al. 2022; Abdalla and Mühling 2023). The changes in the levels of these selenometabolites may play an important role in the survival of cancer cells. Selenium metabolites mainly regulate the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) pathway (Fig. 17.2). First, NRF2 protects cells against oncogenic attacks such as ROS and electrophilic carcinogenic species. Conversely, once malignant transformation occurs within a cell, the NRF2-KEAP1 signaling pathway can protect the tumor from oxidative stress and chemo- or radiotherapy-induced cytotoxicity through the cooperation of various cells populations and functions.

The p62-KEAP1-NRF2 pathway is involved in the protection of cancer cells against ferroptosis through the up-regulation of several genes such as quinone oxidoreductase 1 [NQO1], heme oxygenase-1 [HO1], glutathione peroxidase (GPx), thioredoxin reductase (Trx), and ferritin heavy chain 1 [FTH1] that are intricately involved in iron metabolism (Sun et al. 2016). Upon treatment with an electrophilic precursor of methylselenol, methylseleninic acid first activates the



Fig. 17.2 Regulation of the NRF2/Keap1 axis by the action of phytochemicals

transcription factor NRF2, leading to the induction of the gene encoding NOO-1 through direct modification of selenium-KEAP1 (Park et al. 2018). These findings provide a novel mechanism by which methylseleninic acid exhibits a significant ability to induce oxidative/stress-responsive gene expression associated with selenium metabolites. There is documented evidence that inhibition of NRF2 significantly enhances the anticancer effects of ferroptosis inducers in several cancers (Lei et al. 2019). Selenium is an essential micronutrient that is required for the proper functioning of various cellular pathways, including the antioxidant defense system. Recently, the researcher has discovered an unexpected outcome associated with the plant-derived compound known as artesunate. While the mechanism of how artesunate alters KEAP1 protein expression is not yet fully understood, it has been suggested that it may be related to changes in selenium metabolism. However, further research is needed to fully elucidate the relationship between artesunate, KEAP1, and selenium metabolism (Hill et al. 2021). Lee et al. 2003 demonstrated that selenium can maintain the growth of specific human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines in the serum-free medium containing 0.1% of serum (Lee et al. 2003). We propose for the first time that selenium-dependent cell growth and proliferation can be defined as selenium-dependent selenoplasia which is one of several types of metalloplasia. It is in line with other metalloplasia such as cuproplasia which is copper-dependent cell proliferation resulting from the modulation of signaling pathways (Ge et al. 2022). However, the precise signaling mechanism of selenoplasia that underlies cancer formation has not yet been identified and it is the survival, particularly via acquiring resistance to ferroptosis.

17.7 BRF2 Selenoprotein: Cancer Cell

The UGA stop codon is responsible for encoding selenocysteines in the protein molecule. During translation, cellular processes depend on specific machinery to ensure the correct insertion of specific residues. Selenocysteine insertion sequencebinding protein 2 (SBP2) can recognize a specific stem-loop in the mRNA known as the selenocysteine insertion sequence (SECIS) element which allows the recruitment of eEFsec (selenocysteine-specific elongation factor. In addition, eEFsec is responsible for binding SeCystRNA which is an essential step in the process of ensuring that selenoproteins contain SeCys (Howard et al. 2007). It is important to note that the reduced level of GPx4 is the result of the depletion of SBP2 or eEFSec. Some reports demonstrate that SBP2 knockout increases ROS production and leads to ferroptosis and apoptosis (Arimbasseri and Maraia 2016; Jehan et al. 2022). Ultimately, the researcher suggests that the SeCystRNA transcription is a response to control redox reaction. More specifically, RNA polymerase III is a core transcription factor composed of three subunits (TATA-binding protein) TBP, Bdp1, and Brf2). Researchers highlighted a direct link between Brf2 and the overexpression of many cancers including breast and lung cancer. SeCystRNA contributes to the regulation of the selenoprotein level which is the main transcription factor of Brf2 (Jenkins and Gouge 2021). The researchers believe that Brf2 plays the role of a master regulator in



Fig. 17.3 Differential role of selenoproteins in normal cells and cancerous cells and its implication in cell proliferation

the oxidative stress response which is accomplished by regulating SeCystRNA levels in a redox-dependent manner (Fig. 17.3). Cancer cells suppress this regulation and prevent apoptosis by overexpressing Brf2. Notably, this phenomenon occurs even in the presence of activated Nrf2 (Gouge and Vannini 2018; Rashidieh et al. 2021).

17.8 Protein Synthesis

Ferroptosis is related to deregulated redox metabolism. Lee and coworkers were initially interested in examining the potential role of glucose starvation in promoting ferroptosis since it reduces ATP generation and increases the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). However, they made an unexpected discovery that glucose starvation along with other energy stress-inducing conditions prevents cells from ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) response to energy stress depletes ATP and temporarily slows protein synthesis. Also, AMPK along with one of its major downstream targets, rapamycin (mTOR) regulates the rate of cell proliferation. mTOR is a serine/threonine protein kinase that regulates two distinct protein complexes called mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and 2 (mTORC2) by acting as a catalytic component. mTORC1 plays an important role in cancer cell growth and cell division. In addition, activation of p70S6 kinase (p70S6K) and 4E-binding protein (4E-BP) increases protein synthesis and

effectively involves de novo lipid synthesis. It is well known that human eukaryotic initiation factor 4G (eIF4G) is a binding site on eIF4E which is essential for translation initiation (Rehman et al. 2014). However, when 4E-BP is phosphorylated by mTOR, it can no longer bind with eIF4E. Multiple types of stress inhibit mTORC1 activity resulting in phosphorylated 4E-BPs that block the translation initiation factor eIF4E. In contrast, mTORC1 inhibition results in only a 60% decrease in the total translation of proteins. The remaining 40% of protein translation may not necessarily be occurring via the cap-independent mechanism. Over the past decade, researchers have believed that cap-dependent translation is normally mediated by the protein eIF4F. In recent years, researchers have postulated that cap-dependent translation is typically mediated by the eIF4F protein. Surprisingly, the discovery of eIF3d as a new player in cap-dependent mRNA translation has expanded our understanding of the regulation of protein synthesis. The requirement of conserved stem-loop structures in the 5' UTR of mRNAs for eIF3d-mediated translation raises questions about the mechanism of recognition and how these structures block canonical eIF4F binding. The specific role of eIF3d in glucose deprivation-mediated translation raises questions about the presence of other types of switches for stimulus-specific translation reprogramming (Lamper et al. 2020; Jia and Qian 2021). These questions highlight the need for further research to fully understand the complex regulation of protein synthesis and the role of eIF3d in this process. Similarly, the interactions of eIF3 with selenoprotein mRNAs may provide a means to steer mRNAs into specific translation pathways. Further studies will be necessary to determine if eIF3 regulates the translation of selenoprotein mRNAs and how it contributes to the establishment of the selenoprotein expression hierarchy in stressful conditions (Hayek et al. 2022). If potent and selective AMPK inhibitors are developed and used in clinical settings, combining them with other specific inhibitory eIF3d chemotherapy agents may help to kill cancer through the ferroptosis pathway.

The production of ribosomes is a complex process that involves the assembly of ribosomal subunits, the transcription of ribosomal RNA, and the folding and modification of ribosomal proteins. These events are tightly regulated to ensure proper ribosome biogenesis and optimal protein synthesis, making ribosomes a critical component of cell biology (Harish and Caetano-Anollés 2012). Malinouski et al. suggest that deficiency in levels of certain ribosomal proteins may affect the ribosome structure and result in an increased insertion of Selenocysteine(SeSec). This could also happen if the knockdown of these proteins decreases the rate of protein synthesis, which supports the slow SeSec insertion process. The control of selenoprotein expression appears to be regulated globally through ribosome structure and function, but more research is needed to understand the specific mechanism. The same group suggests that the knockdown of ribosomal structural protein ribosomal protein L14 (RPL14) has been shown to increase selenium levels and increase the expression of the genes TrxR1 and selenoprotein S (Seleno S). In addition to that some other proteins were deficient in the expression of a potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily A member 1 (KCNA1). KCNA1 deficiency has been found to also decrease the expression of several selenoproteins, with molecular weights under 25 kilodaltons (kDa). This study found that several genes have an impact on selenium levels in HeLa cells by altering selenoprotein expression. These findings suggest that RPL14 may play a role in regulating selenium metabolism and the expression of related genes (Malinouski et al. 2014).

The recent study suggests that regulating the metabolism of selenoaminoacids in pancreatic cancer cell lines can be achieved through the interaction of diaphanous-related formin 3(DIAPH3) with key proteins involved in selenoaminoacid metabolism. It has been previously reported that ribosomal proteins, including RPL6, play a crucial role in maintaining selenium and selenoprotein levels, and a deficiency in these proteins can affect the ribosome structure, leading to increased Sec insertion and selenoprotein expression. The interaction between DIAPH3 and RPL6 may alter the ribosome structure, leading to increased expression of the selenoprotein TrxR1. It is also possible that this interaction decreases the rate of protein synthesis, indirectly supporting slow Sec insertion and increased TrxR1 expression. TrxR1 may be a potential target for inhibiting the progression of pancreatic cancer (Rong et al. 2021).

17.9 Selenoprotein's Regulation of Multiple Transcription Factors

Selenoproteins are involved in a variety of molecular signaling pathways and may be closely linked to several complex cellular network signaling pathways. The cellular role of selenoproteins in the regulation of many networks at the transcriptional level was to protect antioxidant pathways. Many transcription factors play a significant role in regulating selenoprotein mRNA transcription. According to the report by Stoytcheva and Berry, the common potential promoter of the selenoprotein family is 21 transcription factors (Stoytcheva and Berry 2009). Other transcription factor binding sites for selenoprotein gene subsets were discovered. Experimentally, most of the transcriptional factors are responsible for the different selenoprotein gene expressions. MITF is one of the most important transcriptional regulators of melanocytes and melanoma cancer. Recently, another group published research related to TrxR1 (selenoprotein) and its crucial regulatory role in the redox control and stability of the transcriptional factor MITF (Kline et al. 2022). Some recent studies suggest that the metabolism of seleno-aminoacids is through the interaction of ferroptosis. Indisputably, in the future, studies will reveal the important role of selenoprotein in the ferroptosis pathway as well as in drug-resistant cancer cells to adapt to oxidative stress conditions at the transcription level.

17.10 Conclusion

The incorporation of selenium into the body occurs through the selenocysteine (SeSec) biosynthesis pathway, which is crucial for the production of several selenoproteins, including glutathione peroxidases and thioredoxin reductases.

Selenoproteins regulate several intracellular biological processes including ferroptosis, drug resistance, protein quality control, and lipid production. In addition, selenium uptake during protein synthesis also guides many epigenetic processes. Selenoproteins act as a strategic moderator of cancer redox homeostasis in ferroptosis. Cancer cells are highly susceptible to chemodrugs and another therapeutic regimen which induce the production of free radicals. Interestingly, this susceptibility of cancer cells to free radicals is associated with selenoproteins. This suggests that deficiency of selenium through diet would aid in improving the efficacy of various anticancer therapies.

Acknowledgments Dr. Kalimuthu Kalishwaralal, MK Bhan Young Researcher Fellowship for 2020–2021 (Ref: No, HRD-12/4/2020-AFS-DBT) awarded by DBT, India. We thank Dr. Ramakrishnan Muthuswamy, Associate Professor, Nanjing Forestry University, China, for the help rendered in image generation using Bio Render software.

References

- Abdalla MA, Mühling KH (2023) Selenium exerts an intriguing alteration of primary and secondary plant metabolites: advances, challenges, and prospects. CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci 42:34. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2022.2158270
- Abdurahman A, Li Y, Jia S-Z et al (2023) Knockdown of the SELENOK gene induces ferroptosis in cervical cancer cells. Metallomics 15:mfad019. https://doi.org/10.1093/mtomcs/mfad019
- Arimbasseri AG, Maraia RJ (2016) RNA polymerase III advances: structural and tRNA functional views. Trends Biochem Sci 41:546
- Brigelius-Flohé R (2008) Review) Selenium Compounds and Selenoproteins in Cancer. Chemistry and Biodiversity 5(3):389–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200890039
- Cai LL, Ruberto RA, Ryan MJ et al (2020) Modulation of ferroptosis sensitivity by TXNRD1 in pancreatic cancer cells. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.25.165647
- Cheff DM, Huang C, Scholzen KC, Gencheva R, Ronzetti MH, Cheng Q, Hall MD, Arnér ES (2023) The ferroptosis inducing compounds RSL3 and ML162 are not direct inhibitors of GPX4 but of TXNRD1. Redox Biol 62:102703
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR et al (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149:1060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042
- Dolma S, Lessnick SL, Hahn WC, Stockwell BR (2003) Identification of genotype-selective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells. Cancer Cell 3:285. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00050-3
- Eagle K, Jiang Y, Shi X et al (2022) An oncogenic enhancer encodes selective selenium dependency in AML. Cell Stem Cell 29:386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2022.01.003
- Gardner GL, Moradi F, Moffatt C et al (2022) Rapid nutrient depletion to below the physiological range by cancer cells cultured in Plasmax. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 323:C823. https://doi.org/ 10.1152/ajpcell.00403.2021
- Ge EJ, Bush AI, Casini A et al (2022) Connecting copper and cancer: from transition metal signalling to metalloplasia. Nat Rev Cancer 22:102
- Ghelichkhani F, Gonzalez FA, Kapitonova MA et al (2022) Selenoprotein S: A versatile disordered protein. Arch Biochem Biophys 731:109427
- Gouge J, Vannini A (2018) New tricks for an old dog: Brf2-dependent RNA polymerase III transcription in oxidative stress and cancer. Transcription 9:61
- Harish A, Caetano-Anollés G (2012) Ribosomal history reveals origins of modern protein synthesis. PLoS One 7:e32776. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032776

- Hayek H, Eriani G, Allmang C (2022) eIF3 interacts with Selenoprotein mRNAs. Biomol Ther 12: 1268. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12091268
- Hill KS, McDowell A, McCorkle JR et al (2021) Keap1 is required for artesunate anticancer activity in non-small-cell lung cancer. Cancers (Basel) 13:1885. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers13081885
- Hou W, Xu H (2022) Incorporating selenium into heterocycles and natural products-from chemical properties to pharmacological activities. J Med Chem 65:4436
- Howard MT, Moyle MW, Aggarwal G et al (2007) A recoding element that stimulates decoding of UGA codons by Sec tRNA [Ser]Sec. RNA 13:912. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.473907
- Ingold I, Berndt C, Schmitt S et al (2018) Selenium utilization by GPX4 is required to prevent hydroperoxide-induced ferroptosis. Cell 172:409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.048
- Jankowski CS, Rabinowitz J (2022) A selenium-iron axis dictates cancer cell sensitivity to pharmacologic ascorbate. FASEB J 36. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2022.36.s1.r2913
- Jehan C, Cartier D, Bucharles C et al (2022) Emerging roles of ER-resident selenoproteins in brain physiology and physiopathology. Redox Biol 55:102412
- Jenkins T, Gouge J (2021) Nrf2 in cancer, detoxifying enzymes and cell death programs. Antioxidants 10:1030
- Jeter JM, Bowles TL, Curiel-Lewandrowski C et al (2019) Chemoprevention agents for melanoma: a path forward into phase 3 clinical trials. Cancer 125:18
- Jia L, Qian SB (2021) A versatile eIF3d in translational control of stress adaptation. Mol Cell 81:10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.12.016
- Kalimuthu K, Keerthana CK, Mohan M et al (2022) The emerging role of selenium metabolic pathways in cancer: new therapeutic targets for cancer. J Cell Biochem 123:532
- Karlenius TC (2011) Regulation of the Thioredoxin system under hypoxia and different oxygen conditions. Griffith University
- Kayrouz CM, Huang J, Hauser N, Seyedsayamdost MR (2022) Biosynthesis of seleniumcontaining small molecules in diverse microorganisms. Nature 610:199. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-022-05174-2
- Kline CD, Anderson M, Bassett JW et al (2022) MITF is regulated by redox signals controlled by the Selenoprotein Thioredoxin reductase 1. Cancers (Basel) 14:5011. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers14205011
- Lamper AM, Fleming RH, Ladd KM, Lee ASY (2020) A phosphorylation-regulated eIF3d translation switch mediates cellular adaptation to metabolic stress. Science 1979:370. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.abb0993
- Lee YC, Tang YC, Chen YH et al (2003) Selenite-induced survival of HuH7 hepatoma cells involves activation of focal adhesion kinase-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway and Rac1. J Biol Chem 278:39615. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M304095200
- Lee JH, Park KJ, Jang JK et al (2015) Selenoprotein S-dependent selenoprotein K binding to p97 (VCP) protein is essential for endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. J Biol Chem 290: 29941. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.680215
- Lee YS, Kalimuthu K, Seok Park Y et al (2020) Ferroptotic agent-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress response plays a pivotal role in the autophagic process outcome. J Cell Physiol 235:6767. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29571
- Lei P, Bai T, Sun Y (2019) Mechanisms of ferroptosis and relations with regulated cell death: a review. Front Physiol 10:139. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00139
- Li Z, Ferguson L, Deol KK et al (2022) Ribosome stalling during selenoprotein translation exposes a ferroptosis vulnerability. Nat Chem Biol 18:751. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-022-01033-3
- Malinouski M, Hasan NM, Zhang Y et al (2014) Genome-wide RNAi ionomics screen reveals new genes and regulation of human trace element metabolism. Nat Commun 5:3301. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms4301
- Marciel MP, Hoffmann PR (2019) Molecular mechanisms by which Selenoprotein K regulates immunity and cancer. Biological Trace Element Research 192:60–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S12011-019-01774-8

- Moncan M, Mnich K, Blomme A et al (2021) Regulation of lipid metabolism by the unfolded protein response. J Cell Mol Med 25:1359
- Park JM, Kim DH, Na HK, Surh YJ (2018) Methylseleninic acid induces NAD(P)H: Quinone oxidoreductase-1 expression through activation of NF-E2-related factor 2 in Chang liver cells. Oncotarget 9:3014. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10289
- Rashidieh B, Molakarimi M, Mohseni A et al (2021) Targeting brf2 in cancer using repurposed drugs. Cancers (Basel) 13:3778. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13153778
- Rehman G, Shehzad A, Khan AL, Hamayun M (2014) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in cancer therapy. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 347:457–468
- Rong Y, Gao J, Kuang T et al (2021) DIAPH3 promotes pancreatic cancer progression by activating selenoprotein TrxR1-mediated antioxidant effects. J Cell Mol Med 25:2163. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jcmm.16196
- Seibt TM, Proneth B, Conrad M (2019) Role of GPX4 in ferroptosis and its pharmacological implication. Free Radic Biol Med 133:144
- Shahdadfar A, Frønsdal K, Haug T et al (2005) In vitro expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells: choice of serum is a determinant of cell proliferation, differentiation, gene expression, and transcriptome stability. Stem Cells 23:1357. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0094
- Shchedrina VA, Everley RA, Zhang Y et al (2011) Selenoprotein K binds multiprotein complexes and is involved in the regulation of endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis. J Biol Chem 286: 42937. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.310920
- Stoytcheva ZR, Berry MJ (2009) Transcriptional regulation of mammalian selenoprotein expression. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1790:1429
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R et al (2016) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63:173. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep. 28251
- Turanov AA, Kehr S, Marino SM et al (2010) Mammalian thioredoxin reductase 1: roles in redox homoeostasis and characterization of cellular targets. Biochem J 430:285. https://doi.org/10. 1042/BJ20091378
- Varlamova EG, Goltyaev MV, Turovsky EA (2022) The role of Selenoproteins SELENOM and SELENOT in the regulation of apoptosis, ER stress, and calcium homeostasis in the A-172 human glioblastoma cell line. Biology (Basel) 11:811. https://doi.org/10.3390/ biology11060811
- von Krusenstiern AN, Robson RN, Qian N et al (2023) Identification of essential sites of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 19:719. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-022-01249-3
- Voorde Vande J, Ackermann T, Pfetzer N et al (2019) Improving the metabolic fidelity of cancer models with a physiological cell culture medium. Sci Adv 5:eaau7314. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.aau7314
- Wu W, Li D, Feng X et al (2021) A pan-cancer study of selenoprotein genes as promising targets for cancer therapy. BMC Med Genet 14:78. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-021-00930-1
- Yagoda N, Von Rechenberg M, Zaganjor E et al (2007) RAS-RAF-MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels. Nature 447:865. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature05859
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15: 234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010



Epigenetic and Posttranslational Regulation of Ferroptosis

18

Yilei Zhang, Jingwen Xiong, and Minglin Wang

Abstract

Ferroptosis is tightly controlled by pro-ferroptotic pathways, which involve iron and lipid metabolism, as well as anti-ferroptotic pathways, such as SLC7A11/ GSH/GPX4 and FSP1/CoQ, as mentioned in the relevant chapters. The key molecules involved in these regulatory circuits determine the extent to which ferroptotic cell death ultimately occurs. Therefore, there has been significant attention focused on the detailed regulation of these ferroptosis-related genes at the transcriptional, posttranscriptional, and posttranslational levels in recent years. In this chapter, we will discuss and summarize the epigenetic and posttranslational regulation of genes and proteins involved in ferroptosis. These mechanisms represent major complementary mechanisms in the regulation of ferroptosis and response to therapy. The chapter will cover histone modifications, DNA modifications, and mRNA modifications, which control gene expression levels at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels, as part of the epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis. Additionally, extensive review will be provided on posttranslational modifications, which affect the activity, stability, and localization of ferroptosis-modulating proteins. The rewiring of the epigenome or PTMs through pharmacological interventions can offer therapeutic advantages for various diseases involving ferroptotic cell death.

e-mail: zhangyilei@xjtu.edu.cn

J. Xiong \cdot M. Wang

Y. Zhang (\boxtimes)

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China

Department of Thoracic Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_18

18.1 Introduction

Along with the emerging modulators that have been identified to control ferroptosis, increasing studies focus on the upstream regulation of these key factors, including histone modifications, DNA or mRNA modifications, and posttranslational modifications, which indirectly determine the expression level of molecules contributing to ferroptosis regulation. As such, knowing the epigenetic regulation and posttranslational modification of ferroptosis-related modulators is important for finding new drug targets and exploring potential therapeutic strategies.

The concept of "epigenetics" was firstly proposed by Conrad Waddington to describe heritable changes in gene expression profiles in cells that are not related to changes in DNA sequence (Gonzalez-Recio et al. 2015). Epigenetic regulation includes chromatin remodeling, dynamic changes in DNA modification and histone modifications, as well as noncoding RNA-mediated regulation (Lan et al. 2023). Epigenetic regulation is an essential regulatory mechanism in embryonic development, cell differentiation, and cell characterization maintenance. Epigenetic regulation enriches the manners of regulating gene expression and enhances the ability of the body to adapt to the environment. It has been demonstrated that the reprogramming of gene expression induced by epigenetic regulation contributes to tumorigenesis and cancer progression. Accumulating evidence suggests that epigenetics regulates cell sensitivity to ferroptosis through modulating the expression of ferroptosis-associated genes, including histone modifications like ubiquitination and methylation, DNA methylation, and m6A modifications of RNA (Tang et al. 2021) (Table 18.1 and Fig. 18.1).

Posttranslational modifications (PTMs) refer to the modification of protein after translation. It can change the structure, function, stability, localization, and interaction of proteins, so as to affect intracellular signal transduction, metabolism, immunity, and other life activities. The PTMs of key proteins involved in ferroptosis regulation like phosphorylation and ubiquitination could affect their expression or activity, eventually leading to the changes in ferroptosis sensitivity.

18.2 Epigenetic Regulation of Ferroptosis Modulators

18.2.1 Chromatin Remodeling

Chromatin, the carrier of genetic information in eukaryotes, undergoes structural changes that regulate gene expression. Chromatin remodeling encompasses a variety of processes that alter chromatin from a condensed state to a transcriptionally accessible state. These remodeling outcomes include nucleosome disassembly, nucleosome assembly, histone exchange, and nucleosome sliding. The maintenance of chromatin homeostasis relies on the activity of chromatin-remodeling factors, such as the switching defective/sucrose nonfermenting (SWI/SNF) family remodeling factors, the imitation switch (ISWI) family remodeling factors, and the chromodomain, helicase, DNA-binding (CDH) family remodeling factors, and the

Modification regul	ation		Ferroptosis r	egulation	
Group	Types	Regulators	Targets	Effects	Functional impacts
Epigenetic regulation and modification	Chromatin remodeling	ARIDIA	SLC7A11	Directly promote the recruitment of SWI/SNF to SLC7A11 transcriptional start site and lead to chromatin remodeling.	Activate SLC7A11 transcription induced by NRF2 and RNAPII, enhance cystine uptake and GSH synthesis.
	H2A monoubiquitination	BAP1	SLC7A11	Directly inhibit the histone H2AK119ub on the SLC7A11 promoter.	Downregulate SLC7A11 mRNA level, promote ferroptosis.
		PRC1	SLC7A11	Directly promote the histone H2AK119ub on the SLC7A11 promoter.	Downregulate SLC7A11 mRNA level, promote ferroptosis.
	H2B monoubiquitination	USP7	SLC7A11	Directly inhibit the H2BK120ub on the SLC7A11 promoter.	Downregulate SLC7A11 mRNA level, promote ferroptosis.
	Histone methylation	KDM3B	SLC7A11	Promote the elevation of SLC7A11 promoter activities activated by ATF4.	Upregulate SLC7A11 mRNA level, inhibit ferroptosis.
		KDM4A	SLC7A11	Directly decrease the H3K9me3 levels on the promoter region of SLC7A11.	Upregulate SLC7A11 mRNA level, inhibit osteosarcoma cells ferroptosis
		SUV39H1	DPP4	SUV39H1 deficiency directly decrease the H3K9me3 levels at the DPP4 promoter.	SUV39H1 deficiency upregulates DDP4 mRNA level, induces ferroptosis during ccRCC cell growth.
		HSH	SCD1, FASD2	Regulate Histone methylation levels.	Upregulate SCD1 and FASD2 mRNA level, inhibit ferroptosis.
	Histone hydroxybutyrylation	NA	GPX4	β-hydroxybutyrate indirectly promotes H3K9bhb enrichment in promotor regions of GPX4.	Upregulate GPX4 mRNA level, inhibit ferroptosis.
	DNA methylation	DNMT3a	GPX4	Promote GPX4 promoter methylation	Downregulate GPX4 mRNA level, induce ferroptosis.
					(continued)

 Table 18.1
 Epigenetic and posttranslational regulation of ferroptosis

Modification regula	ation		Ferroptosis r	egulation	
Group	Types	Regulators	Targets	Effects	Functional impacts
	m6A modification	IGF2BP1	SLC7A11	Suppress SLC7A11 mRNA deadenylation in an m6A dependent	Upregulate SLC7A11 expression level and promote ferroptosis.
				manner	
		YTHDF2	SLC7A11	Promote SLC7A11 mRNA degradation in an m6A dependent manner	Downregulate SLC7A11 expression level and promote ferrontosis
		VTHDC2	SI C7A11	Dromote SI C7A11 decay in an m6A	Downramilata SI C7 A11 avnrassion
		1 111002		dependent manner	level and promote ferroptosis.
		FTO	SLC7A11	Remove m6A modification	Downregulate SLC7A11 expression
					level and promote ferroptosis.
		ALKBH5	SLC7A11	Remove m6A modification	Downregulate SLC7A11 expression
					level and promote ferroptosis.
		NKAP	SLC7A11	Promote SLC7A11 mRNA splicing and	Upregulate SLC7A11 expression level
				maturation in an m6A dependent	and promote ferroptosis.
				manner	
		YTHDF1	SLC7A11	Destabilized SLC7A11 mRNA in an	Upregulate free iron levels, induce
				m6A-dependent manner	ferroptosis
		MIR-4443	FSP1	Decrease the m6A enrichment of FSP1	Upregulate FSP1 levels, inhibit
				ally clevale ule 1.3F1 I IIINNA ICVEIS	STRUTUTION STRUTUTION
	N4-acetylcytidine	NAT10	FSP1	Improve the stability of FSP1 mRNA	Upregulate FSP1 protein levels, inhibit
	modification			through N4- acetylation of the FSP1	ferroptosis
				mKNA and enhance the FSPI	
				expression	
Post-	Phosphorylation	mTORC2	SLC7A11	Phosphorylate SLC7A11 at serine 26	Inhibit the transporter activity induce
translational		AKT			ferroptosis
modification		ΡΚСΠβ	ACSL4	Phosphorylate ACSL4 at Thr-328	Increase ACSL4 activity and enhanced
					incorporation of PUFA into membrane
					phospholipids then promotes ferroptosis

Table 18.1 (continued)

	UFMylation	NA	SLC7A11	Covalent attachment UFM1 to SLC7A11	Stabilize the protein level, inhibit ferroptosis
	Ubiquitination	TRIM26		Ubiquitinate SLC7A11	Promote SLC7A11 protein degradation,
		SOCS2		Transfer the attached ubiquitin to SLC7A11 and promoted K48-linked polyubianitination	induce ferroptosis
		OTUB1		Deubiquitinate SLC7A11	Stabilize the protein level and increase the SLC7A11 protein half-life, inhibit ferroptosis
		NA	GPX4	Ubiquitinate GPX4	Promote the GPX4 degradation, induce ferroptosis
		NA	ACSL4	Phosphorylate ACSL4 at Thr-328	Increase ACSL4 activity and enhanced incorporation of PUFA into membrane phospholipids then promotes ferroptosis
	Alkylation	NA	GPX4	Alkylate the catalytic selenocysteine residue of GPX4	Lead to inhibition of its activity and induction of ferroptosis
	Succination	NA	-	Catalaze succination of GPX4 at C93	Decrease GPX4 activity and increased susceptibility to ferroptosis
	Myristoylation	NMT	FSPI	Transfer the myristoyl group from myristoyl-CoA to the N-terminal glycine residue of FSP1	Localize to the mitochondria and interacts with CoQ10 to scavenge lipid peroxyl radicals and prevent lipid peroxidation, thereby inhibiting ferroptosis.
Abbreviations: ARII Ubiquitin-specific p homolog 1, LSH Ly, YTH N6-methylade homolog 5, NKAP N tic target of rapamyc	<i>DIA</i> AT-rich interactive rotease 7, <i>KDM3B</i> Lys mphoid-specific helicass nosine RNA-binding protein UF-kB activating protein in complex 2, <i>AKT</i> Prot burbressor of cvtokine s	domain-contai ine-specific den 2, DNMT3a DN otein 2, YTHD6 1, YTHDF1 YTT ein kinase B, P-	ning protein 1 methylase 3B, A methyltrans 22 YTH doma 1 N6-methyla <i>KCIIβ</i> Protein <i>UB1</i> Ubiquitiri	A, <i>BAP1</i> BRCA1-associated protein 1, <i>PRC</i> <i>KDM4A</i> Lysine-specific demethylase 4A, ferase 3A, <i>IGF2BP1</i> Insulin-like growth fac in-containing protein 2, <i>FTO</i> Fat mass and c denosine RNA-binding protein 1, <i>NAT10</i> N- kinase C II beta, <i>UFM1</i> Ubiquitin-fold modi thioesterase OTUB1, <i>NMT</i> N-mvristovltrat	1 Polycomb repressive complex 1, USP7 SUV39H1 Suppressor of variegation 3-9 tor 2, mRNA-binding protein 1, YTHDF2 besity-associated protein, ALKBH5 AlkB acetyltransferase 10, mTORC2 Mechanis- fier 1, TRIM26 Tripartite motif-containing isferase, SLC7A11 Solute carrier family 7
. .)	•	• •	•

member 11, DPP4 Dipeptidyl peptidase 4, SCD1 Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1, FASD2 Fatty acid synthase dehydratase 2, GPX4 Glutathione peroxidase 4, FSP1

Ferroptosis suppressor protein 1, ACSL4 Long-chain-fatty-acid-CoA ligase 4, NA not available



Fig. 18.1 Mechanisms and regulations of ferroptosis

inositol requiring 80 (INO80) family remodeling factors (Clapier and Cairns 2009). Chromatin remodeling not only governs gene expression but also plays a critical role in DNA replication, repair, and other cellular processes.

AT-rich interaction domain 1A (ARID1A), a frequently mutated gene in various cancer types, encodes a subunit of the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex (Wu et al. 2009). Ogiwara et al. reported that ARID1A-deficient cancer cells exhibited sensitivity to glutathione (GSH) inhibition compared to ARID1A-proficient cells. They found that the mRNA expression of SLC7A11, a key component of the cystine/glutamate antiporter system xc-, was downregulated in ARID1A-deficient cells. Further investigation revealed that ARID1A localized to the transcription start site (TSS) of SLC7A11, and the catalytic subunit of the SWI/SNF complex, BRG1, also occupied the SLC7A11 TSS in an ARID1Adependent manner. Moreover, the recruitment of RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) and the transcription factor NRF2 to the SLC7A11 TSS were significantly impaired in ARID1A knockout cells. These findings suggest that the recruitment of the SWI/SNF complex to the SLC7A11 TSS leads to chromatin remodeling, facilitating SLC7A11 transcription through RNAPII and NRF2. Given that upregulation of SLC7A11 enhances cystine uptake, promotes glutathione synthesis, and confers resistance to GSH inhibition in ARID1A wild-type cells, it is tempting to speculate that ARID1A-mediated SLC7A11 expression may contribute to ferroptosis resistance. However, further investigation is warranted to elucidate the precise role of ARID1A-mediated SLC7A11 expression in ferroptosis (Ogiwara et al. 2019).

18.2.2 Histone Modification

The basic unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, which consists of an octamer comprising four core histones (H3, H4, H2A, H2B). This octamer includes an H3– H4 tetramer and two H2A–H2B dimers, surrounded by 147 pairs of DNA base pairs. The core histones form a compact spherical core particle, while their N-terminal tails extend outward from the core. Histone modifications primarily occur on these N-terminal tails. Over 10 different covalent modifications have been identified on specific amino acid residues of the core histones, including methylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, phosphorylation, sumoylation, carbonylation, and glycosylation (Chan and Maze 2020). These histone modifications significantly impact chromatin structure, compaction, and accessibility, ultimately influencing gene transcriptional activity. In the context of ferroptosis, we will delve into the histone modifications that regulate ferroptosis-related genes and explore their impact on the occurrence of ferroptotic cell death.

18.2.2.1 Histone Ubiquitination

Histone ubiquitination plays a crucial role in the regulation of the transcriptional state of the genome. It involves the addition of mono-ubiquitin moieties to histone proteins, particularly H2A and H2B. Notably, ubiquitination can occur at lysine 119 (K119ub) in H2A or lysine 120 (K120ub) in H2B, leading to significant effects on nucleosome dynamics and influencing the activation or repression of gene transcription. Moreover, histone ubiquitination can also modulate gene expression by promoting histone methylation. The process of histone ubiquitination is primarily mediated by ubiquitin-activating enzymes (E1), ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2), and ubiquitin ligases (E3). Conversely, the removal of histone ubiquitination is facilitated by deubiquitinating enzymes, such as the polycomb repressive deubiquitinase (PR-DUB) complexes and ubiquitin-specific peptidases (USPs), which are responsible for erasing mono-ubiquitination marks from histones.

In a study by Zhang et al., it was revealed that BRCA1-associated protein 1 (BAP1), a key deubiquitinase within the polycomb repressive deubiquitinase (PR-DUB) complex, plays a role in epigenetically reducing the level of H2A mono-ubiquitination (H2Aub) on the SLC7A11 gene. This reduction in H2Aub leads to the suppression of SLC7A11 expression, ultimately promoting increased sensitivity to ferroptosis in kidney cancer cells (Zhang et al. 2018). Additionally, the polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1) has been identified as the responsible entity for mono-ubiquitinating H2A at Lys-119 on the SLC7A11 promoter. Interestingly, PRC1-mediated H2Aub also contributes to the repression of SLC7A11 expression,

enhancing ferroptosis susceptibility. These findings suggest a potential synergistic repression of SLC7A11 expression by BAP1 and PRC1 through dynamic regulation of H2Aub levels on the SLC7A11 promoter (Zhang et al. 2019). At the genomic level, H2Aub is typically associated with transcriptional repression. However, the exact mechanism by which H2Aub regulates SLC7A11 expression requires further elucidation, including the identification of specific factors involved in H2Aub regulation and SLC7A11 transcription.

On the contrary, mono-ubiquitination of histone H2B on lysine 120 (H2Bub1) is generally associated with transcriptional activation and leads to an open chromatin state that facilitates gene transcription. Wang et al. discovered that the deubiquitinase USP7 plays a crucial role in regulating ferroptosis by mediating the deubiquitination of H2B on the SLC7A11 gene. Mechanistically, p53 promotes the nuclear translocation of USP7, which in turn reduces the levels of H2Bub and suppresses SLC7A11 expression. The study also demonstrated that erastin treatment results in the removal of H2Bub1 and repression of SLC7A11 expression by enhancing the interaction between p53 and USP7, ultimately sensitizing cells to erastin-induced ferroptosis (Wang et al. 2019).

18.2.2.2 Histone Methylation

Histone methylation modifications primarily occur on lysine and arginine residues of histones H3 and H4. These modifications are regulated by methyltransferases and demethylases. Lysine can undergo mono-, di-, and trimethylation, and the effects of lysine methylation vary depending on the specific methylation site, while arginine methylation is generally associated with transcriptional activation. Methylated histones can be recognized by readers of histone methylation, leading to downstream signaling and functional alterations. It has been established that histone methylation plays an epigenetic role in regulating ferroptosis-related genes involved in cystine metabolism and lipid metabolism.

KDM3B belongs to the JMJD family of proteins and contains the JmjC domain. It exhibits specific demethylation activity on monomethyl and dimethyl histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9) residues and possesses arginine demethylase activity on histore H4 arginine 3 symmetric dimethylarginine (H4R3me2s) residues (Li et al. 2018). Studies have shown that KDM3B can protect cells from erastin-induced ferroptosis. Overexpression of KDM3B in HT-1080 cells leads to upregulation of SLC7A11, while knockdown of KDM3B attenuates the ATF4-induced elevation of SLC7A11, suggesting that KDM3B may function as a coregulator of ATF4 in the regulation of SLC7A11 (Wang et al. 2020). Similarly, KDM4A, another demethylase from the JMJD family, removes di- and trimethyl marks from H3K9 and H3K36 residues and regulates SLC7A11 gene expression by targeting H3K9 demethylation in the promoter region of SLC7A11 (Dixon et al. 2012). Knockdown of KDM4A in osteosarcoma cells leads to downregulation of SLC7A11 expression and reduced glutathione (GSH) levels, resulting in increased sensitivity to ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2021). These findings indicate that histone methylation can suppress SLC7A11 expression and promote ferroptosis, while reducing the levels of methylated histones through demethylases such as KDM3B and KDM4A significantly upregulates SLC7A11 and confers resistance to ferroptosis. Targeting histone demethylases could be a potential strategy to induce ferroptosis in disease therapy, including anticancer treatments.

Suppressor of variegation 3–9 homolog 1 (SUV39H1) encodes a histone 3 lysine 9 methyltransferase. In clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC), Wang et al. demonstrated that SUV39H1 deficiency leads to increased levels of intracellular lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial superoxide, and iron. Further investigation revealed that SUV39H1 deficiency promotes the expression of dipeptidyl-peptidase-4 (DPP4), a serine exopeptidase primarily located at the plasma membrane, which cleaves X-proline dipeptides from the N-terminus of polypeptides. DPP4 forms a complex with NOX1, known as the DPP4-NOX1 complex, which enhances lipid peroxidation and accelerates lipid peroxidationinduced ferroptosis. Consequently, depletion of SUV39H1 upregulates DPP4 expression and promotes ferroptosis by reducing H3K9me3 levels at the DPP4 promoter (Wang et al. 2021).

Lymphoid-specific helicase (LSH), a member of the sucrose nonfermenting 2 (SNF2) family of chromatin-remodeling ATPases, is known for its role in establishing proper DNA methylation levels and patterns. However, according to Jiang et al., LSH only minimally affects the levels of H3K4Me3, H3K27Me3, and H3K9Me3 modifications. Interestingly, in cells overexpressing LSH, these subtle changes in histone modifications lead to the recruitment of WDR76 to the promoters of genes involved in lipid metabolism, such as stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 (SCD1) and fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2). This recruitment results in the upregulation of SCD1 and FADS2 expression. The increased expression of SCD1 and FADS2 leads to a reduction in intracellular lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS) and iron accumulation, ultimately conferring resistance to ferroptosis in LSH-overexpressed cells (Jiang et al. 2017a, b).

18.2.2.3 Histone β-hydroxybutyrylation

Histone β -hydroxybutyrylation (Kbhb) has emerged as a novel epigenetic mark that links metabolism and gene expression in response to stress conditions such as fasting and starvation. β -hydroxybutyrate (β -HB), a ketone body produced by the liver, plays a role as an alternative energy source in extrahepatic tissues and functions as a chromatin regulator through the β -hydroxybutyrylation of lysine residues on histones H3 and H4, thereby modulating gene expression at the transcriptional level (Xie et al. 2016). In the context of ferroptosis, Zheng et al. demonstrated that treatment with β -HB in BxPC-3 cells leads to significant enrichment of H3K9bhb marks in the promoter regions of ferroptosis suppressor genes, such as GPX4, GCLC, ACSL3, and CTH. This enrichment of H3K9bhb marks results in the upregulation of these genes, both in the presence and absence of the ferroptosis inducer homocysteic acid, a glutamate analog. Mechanistically, β -HB maintains H3K9bhb marks within the regulatory regions of ferroptosis suppressor genes, leading to an open chromatin state that promotes gene expression (Zheng et al. 2022b). Consequently, β -HB functions as a ferroptosis inhibitor and suppresses ferroptosis during pancreatic injury following acute liver failure. These findings highlight the significance of β -HB as a signaling metabolite that systemically and epigenetically promotes the expression of ferroptosis suppressor genes through H3K9bhb-mediated chromatin remodeling. They also suggest that maintaining an appropriate physiological concentration of β -HB is crucial in defending against ferroptosis in vivo.

18.2.3 DNA Methylation

As previously mentioned, the SLC7A11/GPX4 axis is a central pathway in protecting cells from ferroptosis. Recent research has demonstrated the significance of modulating GPX4 promoter methylation in the regulation of ferroptosis in various diseases (Ling et al. 2022; Zhang et al. 2020). DNA methylation, a well-known epigenetic modification, involves the addition of methyl groups to the DNA molecule by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), typically resulting in gene repression (Greenberg and Bourc'his 2019). In the context of rheumatoid arthritis, glycine treatment has been shown to decrease GPX4 expression and induce ferroptosis in RA fibroblast-like synoviocytes through S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)-mediated GPX4 promoter methylation (Ling et al. 2022). Similarly, in nucleus pulposus cells, homocysteine-induced oxidative stress and ferroptosis are associated with enhanced GPX4 promoter methylation, which is mediated by increased levels of DNMT3a, a key DNA methyltransferase involved in DNA methylation (Zhang et al. 2020). These findings highlight the critical role of GPX4 promoter methylation as a regulatory mechanism in ferroptosis and provide insights into the development of novel therapeutics for diseases characterized by ferroptosis induction. They emphasize the importance of key methyl donor SAM and methyltransferases such as DNMT3a in the regulation of GPX4 promoter methylation and ferroptosis.

18.3 mRNA Modification

18.3.1 N6-methyladenosine

First identified in the 1970s (Desrosiers et al. 1974), N6-methyladenosine (m6A) is the most abundant epitranscriptomic modification among the more than 100 identified in eukaryotic RNAs (Shi et al. 2019; Roundtree et al. 2017). m6A modifications are typically incorporated into the conserved DRACH sequence (D = A, G, U; R = A, G; H = A, C, U) and are frequently located near stop codons (Shi et al. 2019). The process of m6A modification is facilitated by a methyltransferase complex, known as the "writer," while a demethylase, or "eraser," removes m6A marks (Jia et al. 2011; Mauer et al. 2017). "Reader" proteins recognize m6A-modified RNA and initiate downstream activities. The expression of genes encoding the writer, eraser, and reader proteins modulates m6A levels, thereby controlling RNA stability, splicing, and translation (Pan et al. 2018).

Recent investigations have linked m6A modification to genes involved in the regulation of ferroptosis. One mechanism by which m6A modification regulates

ferroptosis is through the modulation of mRNA stability of key genes involved in cellular redox homeostasis. For instance, in hepatoblastoma cells, the methyltransferase protein METTL3 mediates m6A modification of SLC7A11 mRNA, which is recognized by IGF2 mRNA-binding protein 1 (IGF2BP1), enhancing SLC7A11 mRNA stability and increasing its expression. Mechanistically, IGF2BP1 competitively binds to poly(A)-binding protein 1 (PABPC1), thereby blocking the recruitment of the BTG2/CCR4-NOT complex and suppressing mRNA deadenylation.

However, the effects of m6A modification on SLC7A11 mRNA appear to be inconsistent and dependent on distinct reader proteins. In septic myocardial injury, METTL3 installs m6A modifications on SLC7A11 mRNA, and the reader protein YTHDF2 (YTH N6-methyladenosine RNA-binding protein F2) accelerates its degradation, resulting in reduced SLC7A11 protein levels and the induction of ferroptosis in LPS-induced H9C2 cells (Shen et al. 2023). Similarly, in lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) cells, the reader protein YTHDF1 destabilizes SLC7A11 mRNA in an m6A-dependent manner. YTHDF1 preferentially binds to m6A-modified SLC7A11 mRNA and promotes its decay, rendering the cells more sensitive to ferroptosis (Xu et al. 2022). In thyroid cancer cells, the eraser protein FTO catalyzes the demethylation of m6A on SLC7A11, leading to decreased expression of SLC7A11 and increased sensitivity to ferroptosis (Ji et al. 2022). Similarly, ALKBH5, another eraser protein, reduces the mRNA stability of SLC7A11 by erasing m6A modifications on SLC7A11 mRNA, thereby promoting ferroptosis in colorectal cancer cells (Luo et al. 2023).

Importantly, m6A modification can also impact the splicing and maturation of SLC7A11 mRNA. The m6A modification reader, NF- κ B activating protein (NKAP), can bind to m6A-modified SLC7A11 mRNA and recruit the splicing factor proline and glutamine-rich (SFPQ) to recognize the splice site, leading to splicing events on the SLC7A11 transcript and retention of the last exon in glioblastoma cells (Sun et al. 2022). Consequently, NKAP promotes SLC7A11 expression and acts as a suppressor of ferroptosis in glioblastoma cells.

Additionally, m6A modification has been implicated in the regulation of ferroptosis through the modulation of autophagy and exosomal miRNA signaling pathways. In hepatic stellate cells (HSC), the reader protein YTHDF1 promotes the stability of BECN1 mRNA by recognizing the m6A binding site, thereby activating autophagy and facilitating the degradation of ferritin through autophagy, ultimately leading to ferroptotic cell death (Shen et al. 2021). In non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) cells, exosomal miR-4443 has been shown to promote cell resistance to cisplatin through m6A-mediated regulation of FSP1 and ferroptosis (Song et al. 2021). The study revealed that tumor-derived exosomal miR-4443 downregulates METTL3, reduces m6A enrichment of FSP1, and increases FSP1 mRNA levels, resulting in resistance to cisplatin-induced ferroptosis in NSCLC.

In summary, these studies highlight the significant role of m6A modification in the regulation of ferroptosis and its therapeutic potential for the treatment of ferroptosis-related diseases such as cancer and neurodegeneration. The modulation of m6A modification can influence various aspects of ferroptosis, including mRNA stability, splicing, autophagy, and exosomal miRNA signaling pathways.

18.3.2 N4-acetylcytidine

N-acetyltransferase 10 (NAT10) is a lysine acetyltransferase that acetylates RNA and is responsible for mediating the N4-acetylcytidine (ac4C) modification of mRNA, which plays a crucial role in mRNA stability and translation efficiency (Dalhat et al. 2021; Balmus et al. 2018). The ac4C modification is considered an ancient and conserved form of mRNA modification (Yang et al. 2021; Montgomery et al. 2016). A recent study has shown that NAT10 enhances the stability of FSP1 mRNA through N4-acetylation of the FSP1 mRNA, resulting in increased FSP1 expression in colon cancer cells. The FSP1/CoQ system, which operates independently of the SLC7A11/GSH/GPX4 system, acts as a defense mechanism against ferroptosis. Consequently, the high expression of NAT10 promotes cancer progression by inhibiting ferroptosis in a FSP1-dependent manner (Zheng et al. 2022a). However, the impact of ac4C modification on other ferroptosis-related genes and its broader regulation of ferroptosis in different pathophysiological conditions remain unclear. Further research is needed to elucidate the full extent of ac4C modification's influence on ferroptosis and its implications in various disease contexts.

18.4 Posttranslational Regulation of Ferroptosis Regulators

18.4.1 Phosphorylation

Phosphorylation is a fundamental and highly conserved PTM that involves the covalent addition of a phosphate group to specific amino acid residues, predominantly serine, threonine, or tyrosine, in eukaryotic proteins. This reversible modification plays a pivotal role in regulating various cellular processes, including signal transduction, gene expression, cell division, and cell death. Several studies have highlighted the importance of protein phosphorylation in the regulation of ferroptosis.

In the context of ferroptosis, SLC7A11, a well-established target, is regulated not only at the epigenetic, transcriptional, and translational levels but also through various PTMs. Phosphorylation is the first reported PTM of SLC7A11, and its regulation has been shown to impact the activity and stability of the transporter. For instance, the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2), a serine/ threonine kinase and a core component of altered growth factor receptor signaling in certain cancer types, was identified as the enzyme responsible for phosphorylating serine 26, located in the cytoplasmic region of SLC7A11. This discovery was made using immunoprecipitation combined with mass spectrometry in glioblastoma (GBM) cells (Gu et al. 2017). Inhibition of mTORC2 or the use of a SLC7A11 mutant lacking the serine 26 residue (SLC7A11^{S26A}) led to decreased phosphorylation of SLC7A11 (Gu et al. 2017). Interestingly, AKT, a major substrate of mTORC2 and also known as protein kinase B (PKB), was reported to directly phosphorylate SLC7A11 at the same site, as demonstrated in human breast epithelial cell lines (MCF10A) using a similar method. Consistently, inhibition of AKT or the use of SLC7A11^{S26A} resulted in impaired transporter activity of SLC7A11 and increased sensitivity to ferroptosis-inducing agents (Lien et al. 2017). These findings provide crucial evidence supporting the notion that phosphorylation of SLC7A11 at the Ser26 residue inhibits cystine uptake mediated by SLC7A11, consequently reducing glutathione (GSH) levels and increasing sensitivity to ferroptosis. This highlights an alternative approach to modulate ferroptosis through the manipulation of SLC7A11 phosphorylation.

Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) plays a critical role in ferroptosis by facilitating the incorporation of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) into membrane phospholipids, thereby increasing cellular susceptibility to oxidative damage (Doll et al. 2017). Recent research has revealed that the phosphorylation of ACSL4 by protein kinase C βII (PKCβII) represents an important regulatory mechanism in ferroptosis induction (Zhang et al. 2022b). In this study, PKCβII was found to phosphorylate ACSL4 at serine 659, which enhanced its enzymatic activity, leading to increased incorporation of PUFAs into membrane phospholipids and subsequent PUFA accumulation (Zhang et al. 2022b). This process, in turn, amplified lipid peroxidation and triggered ferroptotic cell death. Furthermore, the authors demonstrated that inhibition of the PKCβII–ACSL4 pathway reduced the effectiveness of immunotherapy by suppressing ferroptosis. These findings suggest that PKCβII enhances the efficacy of immunotherapy by promoting ferroptosis and provides a potential therapeutic strategy for cancer treatment.

18.4.2 Ubiquitination

Ubiquitination is a reversible process that involves the addition of ubiquitin molecules to lysine residues on substrate proteins by E1, E2, and E3 enzymes. Polyubiquitination, in particular, leads to the formation of ubiquitin chains on cytoplasmic proteins, marking them for degradation by the proteasome and thereby affecting their intracellular levels (Popovic et al. 2014). On the other hand, deubiquitinases (DUBs) remove ubiquitin chains from proteins, thereby enhancing protein stability (Ronau et al. 2016). Ubiquitin-mediated regulation of protein homeostasis plays a critical role in various biological processes, including cell differentiation and development, cell cycle and division, immune response, DNA transcription and repair, as well as cell death pathways such as apoptosis and ferroptosis.

The regulation of SLC7A11 protein stability has been investigated in previous studies. It has been observed that SLC7A11 interacts with CD44 variant (CD44v), a membrane-localized protein. High levels of CD44v have been shown to enhance SLC7A11 expression and the synthesis of glutathione (GSH), potentially by
promoting SLC7A11 stability (Ishimoto et al. 2011). One key regulator of SLC7A11 stability is OTUB1, a deubiquitinase belonging to the ovarian tumor (OTU) family. OTUB1 stabilizes the protein level of SLC7A11 and increases its half-life. Further research has demonstrated that OTUB1, CD44v, and SLC7A11 form a trimeric complex, with CD44v promoting SLC7A11 stability by facilitating the interaction between OTUB1 and SLC7A11 (Liu et al. 2019; Gan 2019). Additionally, the E3 ubiquitin ligase tripartite motif-containing protein 26 (TRIM26) has been identified as an inducer of ferroptosis that suppresses the activation of hepatic stellate cells and decreases liver fibrosis through SLC7A11 ubiquitination (Zhu et al. 2021b). Another study has shown that suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 (SOCS2) mediates the ubiquitination of SLC7A11 in hepatocellular carcinoma. Mechanistically, SOCS2 acts as a bridge to transfer attached ubiquitin to SLC7A11, promoting K48-linked polyubiquitination and subsequent protein degradation, although the specific E3 ubiquitin ligase involved in this process is not yet clear (Chen et al. 2023). Furthermore, ubiquitinated SLC7A11 has been observed in carbon tetrachloride (CCl4)-induced acute liver injury (ALI) and long noncoding RNA (LncRNA) HEPFAL-induced ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma (Zhang et al. 2022a; Lin et al. 2022). These studies collectively demonstrate that ubiquitination of SLC7A11 leads to its degradation in a proteasome-dependent manner, ultimately inducing ferroptosis. A comprehensive understanding of SLC7A11 stability regulation could provide valuable insights into potential targets for modulating ferroptosis.

In addition to SLC7A11, independent studies have demonstrated that the protein stability of GPX4 can also be regulated through ubiquitination-mediated degradation. In non-small cell lung cancer cells, treatment with the deubiquitinase (DUB) inhibitor pyridinium sulfur palladium complex (PdPT) leads to the ubiquitination and degradation of GPX4 (Yang et al. 2020). Another study provided further evidence of proteasome-mediated degradation of GPX4. A drug derived from parthenolide called DMOCPTL directly binds to the active site of GPX4, resulting in GPX4 ubiquitination in triple-negative breast cancer cells (Ding et al. 2021). However, the specific E3 enzymes and DUBs involved in the ubiquitination system that regulate GPX4 stability, as well as the detailed molecular mechanism, remain unclear. Further investigation into the molecular mechanisms underlying ubiquitination and its impact on ferroptosis-related modulators may provide novel insights into the regulation of ferroptosis and identify potential therapeutic targets for diseases associated with this form of cell death.

18.4.3 UFMylation

UFMylation is a posttranslational modification (PTM) that involves the covalent attachment of a ubiquitin-like protein called UFM1 (ubiquitin-fold modifier 1) to target proteins (Komatsu et al. 2004). Similar to ubiquitination, this process is mediated by a three-step enzymatic cascade involving the E1 activating enzyme (UBA5), the E2 conjugating enzyme (UFC1), and E3 ligases (such as UFL1)

(Tatsumi et al. 2010). UFMylation has been implicated in various cellular processes, including protein stability, ER stress response, and autophagy.

Recent studies have demonstrated that UFMylation plays a role in modulating the stability of SLC7A11 and its involvement in ferroptosis (Zhu et al. 2021a). These studies have shown that UFM1 targets and modifies SLC7A11. This modification stabilizes the SLC7A11 protein, enhancing its function and promoting cellular resistance to ferroptosis. In contrast, inhibition or knockout of UFM1 leads to downregulation of SLC7A11 protein stability, increasing susceptibility to ferroptosis. UFMylation is a newly identified posttranslational modification that affects the stability of SLC7A11, which plays a crucial role in cellular redox homeostasis and ferroptosis regulation. However, the precise E3 ligase responsible for SLC7A11 UFMylation remains to be fully elucidated, and the existence of enzymes that can reverse UFMylation, similar to DUBs in ubiquitination, is still uncertain. Identification of these enzymes would provide insights into the dynamic nature of UFMylation regulation and its role in regulating ferroptosis. Furthermore, exploration of UFMylation inhibitors and activators for SLC7A11 and investigation of whether other ferroptosis-related proteins undergo similar modifications are areas that require further exploration.

18.4.4 Alkylation

Alkylation is a chemical modification process that involves the transfer of an alkyl group to a target molecule, including proteins. This posttranslational modification can induce conformational changes in proteins, potentially affecting their function, stability, and interactions with other molecules.

Recent studies have demonstrated that GPX4 can be targeted by alkylation, specifically by electrophiles under class II FINs treatment (Eaton et al. 2020; Hassannia et al. 2018; Vučković et al. 2020). These electrophiles can alkylate the catalytic selenocysteine residue of GPX4, leading to the inhibition of its peroxidase activity. Additionally, a study revealed that alkylation of GPX4 resulted in ferroptosis in high-risk neuroblastoma (Hassannia et al. 2018). Therefore, it is possible to modulate cellular susceptibility to ferroptosis by inducing GPX4 alkylation. Further research into the mechanisms of GPX4 alkylation and its biological consequences may uncover novel ferroptosis inducers that target ferroptotic cell death in various pathological contexts associated with ferroptosis resistance.

18.4.5 Succination

Succination is a posttranslational modification that involves the covalent attachment of a succinyl group to a protein, resulting in changes to protein function, stability, and localization. Succination occurs in response to cellular stress, such as elevated levels of fumarate, an intermediate of the Krebs cycle in mitochondria. In the absence of the enzyme, fumarate can bind to the sulfhydryl group of cysteine residues (Blatnik et al. 2008; Manuel and Frizzell 2013).

A recent study has shown that succination of GPX4 can occur in hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer (HLRCC) (Kerins et al. 2018). This modification leads to a decrease in GPX4 activity and an increased susceptibility to ferroptosis. When GPX4 undergoes succination, its ability to neutralize lipid peroxides is compromised, resulting in the accumulation of lipid peroxides, increased lipid peroxidation, and the induction of ferroptosis. Further investigation is necessary to uncover the precise mechanism underlying the regulation of succination on GPX4, as well as to explore other potential candidates involved in the regulation of ferroptosis.

18.4.6 Myristoylation

Myristoylation is a posttranslational modification that involves the covalent attachment of a 14-carbon saturated fatty acid, known as myristic acid, to the N-terminal glycine residue of a protein. This modification occurs during protein translation and plays a crucial role in modulating the function, localization, and protein–protein interactions of the modified protein (Wright et al. 2010; Adam et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2016).

Ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1), also called AIFM2, is a recently discovered glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor that works alongside GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. FSP1 functions by reducing coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) to ubiquinol, which scavenges lipid peroxyl radicals and prevents lipid peroxidation, a critical event in ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019). Studies have demonstrated that FSP1 undergoes myristoylation, which is essential for its inhibitory function against ferroptosis. The myristoylation of FSP1 is mediated by the enzyme *N*-myristoyltransferase (NMT), which transfers the myristoyl group from myristoyl-CoA to the N-terminal glycine residue of FSP1. Inhibition of NMT activity or mutation of the myristoylation site in FSP1 (G2A) abolishes its ferroptosis-inhibitory function. Myristoylation facilitates the proper localization of FSP1 to the plasma membrane, enabling it to efficiently reduce CoQ10 and suppress lipid peroxidation. The myristoylation-mediated plasma membrane localization is crucial for FSP1's ability to inhibit ferroptosis (Bersuker et al. 2019).

18.5 Conclusion

Understanding the impact of posttranslational modifications, including phosphorylation, ubiquitination, UFMylation, alkylation, succination, and myristoylation, on the stability and activity of proteins involved in ferroptosis can provide valuable insights for modulating ferroptosis and developing targeted therapies for various pathological conditions associated with ferroptotic cell death. These modifications can influence protein function, localization, and interactions, thereby affecting the regulation of ferroptosis-related pathways. Exploring the dynamic nature of these posttranslational modifications and their specific roles in ferroptosis regulation may unveil new therapeutic targets and strategies for intervening in ferroptosis-related diseases.

References

- Adam RM, Mukhopadhyay NK, Kim J, Di Vizio D, Cinar B, Boucher K, Solomon KR, Freeman MR (2007) Cholesterol sensitivity of endogenous and myristoylated Akt. Cancer Res 67(13): 6238–6246. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-0288
- Balmus G, Larrieu D, Barros AC, Collins C, Abrudan M, Demir M, Geisler NJ, Lelliott CJ, White JK, Karp NA, Atkinson J, Kirton A, Jacobsen M, Clift D, Rodriguez R, Adams DJ, Jackson SP (2018) Targeting of NAT10 enhances healthspan in a mouse model of human accelerated aging syndrome. Nat Commun 9(1):1700. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03770-3
- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Blatnik M, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (2008) Succination of proteins by fumarate: mechanism of inactivation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in diabetes. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1126:272–275. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1433.047
- Chan JC, Maze I (2020) Nothing is yet set in (hi)stone: novel post-translational modifications regulating chromatin function. Trends Biochem Sci 45(10):829–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibs.2020.05.009
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021) Cellular degradation systems in ferroptosis. Cell Death Differ 28(4):1135–1148. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00728-1
- Chen Q, Zheng W, Guan J, Liu H, Dan Y, Zhu L, Song Y, Zhou Y, Zhao X, Zhang Y, Bai Y, Pan Y, Zhang J, Shao C (2023) SOCS2-enhanced ubiquitination of SLC7A11 promotes ferroptosis and radiosensitization in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell Death Differ 30(1):137–151. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41418-022-01051-7
- Clapier CR, Cairns BR (2009) The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. Annu Rev Biochem 78:273–304. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.062706.153223
- Dalhat MH, Mohammed MRS, Ahmad A, Khan MI, Choudhry H (2021) Remodelin, a N-acetyltransferase 10 (NAT10) inhibitor, alters mitochondrial lipid metabolism in cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 122(12):1936–1945. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.30155
- Desrosiers R, Friderici K, Rottman F (1974) Identification of methylated nucleosides in messenger RNA from Novikoff hepatoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 71(10):3971–3975. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.71.10.3971
- Ding Y, Chen X, Liu C, Ge W, Wang Q, Hao X, Wang M, Chen Y, Zhang Q (2021) Identification of a small molecule as inducer of ferroptosis and apoptosis through ubiquitination of GPX4 in triple negative breast cancer cells. J Hematol Oncol 14(1):19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-01016-8
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trümbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Füllekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239

- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Eaton JK, Furst L, Ruberto RA, Moosmayer D, Hilpmann A, Ryan MJ, Zimmermann K, Cai LL, Niehues M, Badock V, Kramm A, Chen S, Hillig RC, Clemons PA, Gradl S, Montagnon C, Lazarski KE, Christian S, Bajrami B, Neuhaus R, Eheim AL, Viswanathan VS, Schreiber SL (2020) Selective covalent targeting of GPX4 using masked nitrile-oxide electrophiles. Nat Chem Biol 16(5):497–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0501-5
- Gan B (2019) DUBbing ferroptosis in cancer cells. Cancer Res 79(8):1749–1750. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-19-0487
- Gonzalez-Recio O, Toro MA, Bach A (2015) Past, present, and future of epigenetics applied to livestock breeding. Front Genet 6:305. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2015.00305
- Greenberg MVC, Bourc'his D (2019) The diverse roles of DNA methylation in mammalian development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(10):590–607. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41580-019-0159-6
- Gu Y, Albuquerque CP, Braas D, Zhang W, Villa GR, Bi J, Ikegami S, Masui K, Gini B, Yang H, Gahman TC, Shiau AK, Cloughesy TF, Christofk HR, Zhou H, Guan KL, Mischel PS (2017) mTORC2 regulates amino acid metabolism in cancer by phosphorylation of the cystineglutamate antiporter xCT. Mol Cell 67(1):128–138.e127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel. 2017.05.030
- Hassannia B, Wiernicki B, Ingold I, Qu F, Van Herck S, Tyurina YY, Bayır H, Abhari BA, Angeli JPF, Choi SM, Meul E, Heyninck K, Declerck K, Chirumamilla CS, Lahtela-Kakkonen M, Van Camp G, Krysko DV, Ekert PG, Fulda S, De Geest BG, Conrad M, Kagan VE, Vanden Berghe W, Vandenabeele P, Vanden Berghe T (2018) Nano-targeted induction of dual ferroptotic mechanisms eradicates high-risk neuroblastoma. J Clin Invest 128(8):3341–3355. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci99032
- Ishimoto T, Nagano O, Yae T, Tamada M, Motohara T, Oshima H, Oshima M, Ikeda T, Asaba R, Yagi H, Masuko T, Shimizu T, Ishikawa T, Kai K, Takahashi E, Imamura Y, Baba Y, Ohmura M, Suematsu M, Baba H, Saya H (2011) CD44 variant regulates redox status in cancer cells by stabilizing the xCT subunit of system xc(-) and thereby promotes tumor growth. Cancer Cell 19(3):387–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.01.038
- Ji FH, Fu XH, Li GQ, He Q, Qiu XG (2022) FTO prevents thyroid cancer progression by SLC7A11 m6A methylation in a ferroptosis-dependent manner. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 13:857765. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.857765
- Jia G, Fu Y, Zhao X, Dai Q, Zheng G, Yang Y, Yi C, Lindahl T, Pan T, Yang YG, He C (2011) N6-methyladenosine in nuclear RNA is a major substrate of the obesity-associated FTO. Nat Chem Biol 7(12):885–887. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.687
- Jiang Y, He Y, Liu S, Tao Y (2017a) Chromatin remodeling factor lymphoid-specific helicase inhibits ferroptosis through lipid metabolic genes in lung cancer progression. Chin J Cancer 36(1):82. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40880-017-0248-x
- Jiang Y, Mao C, Yang R, Yan B, Shi Y, Liu X, Lai W, Liu Y, Wang X, Xiao D, Zhou H, Cheng Y, Yu F, Cao Y, Liu S, Yan Q, Tao Y (2017b) EGLN1/c-Myc induced lymphoid-specific helicase inhibits ferroptosis through lipid metabolic gene expression changes. Theranostics 7(13): 3293–3305. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.19988
- Kerins MJ, Milligan J, Wohlschlegel JA, Ooi A (2018) Fumarate hydratase inactivation in hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer is synthetic lethal with ferroptosis induction. Cancer Sci 109(9):2757–2766. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13701
- Komatsu M, Chiba T, Tatsumi K, Iemura S, Tanida I, Okazaki N, Ueno T, Kominami E, Natsume T, Tanaka K (2004) A novel protein-conjugating system for Ufm1, a ubiquitin-fold modifier. EMBO J 23(9):1977–1986. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600205

- Lan T, Sun TT, Wei C, Cheng T, Yang F, Zhang JN, Li Q (2023) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis in central nervous system diseases. Mol Neurobiol 60(7):3584–3599. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12035-023-03267-1
- Li S, Ali S, Duan X, Liu S, Du J, Liu C, Dai H, Zhou M, Zhou L, Yang L, Chu P, Li L, Bhatia R, Schones DE, Wu X, Xu H, Hua Y, Guo Z, Yang Y, Zheng L, Shen B (2018) JMJD1B demethylates H4R3me2s and H3K9me2 to facilitate gene expression for development of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Cell Rep 23(2):389–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2018.03.051
- Lien EC, Ghisolfi L, Geck RC, Asara JM, Toker A (2017) Oncogenic PI3K promotes methionine dependency in breast cancer cells through the cystine-glutamate antiporter xCT. Sci Signal 10(510):eaao6604. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aao6604
- Lin F, Chen W, Zhou J, Zhu J, Yao Q, Feng B, Feng X, Shi X, Pan Q, Yu J, Li L, Cao H (2022) Mesenchymal stem cells protect against ferroptosis via exosome-mediated stabilization of SLC7A11 in acute liver injury. Cell Death Dis 13(3):271. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04708-w
- Ling H, Li M, Yang C, Sun S, Zhang W, Zhao L, Xu N, Zhang J, Shen Y, Zhang X, Liu C, Lu L, Wang J (2022) Glycine increased ferroptosis via SAM-mediated GPX4 promoter methylation in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 61(11):4521–4534. https://doi.org/10.1093/ rheumatology/keac069
- Liu T, Jiang L, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) The deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. Cancer Res 79(8):1913–1924. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. Can-18-3037
- Luo J, Yu H, Yuan Z, Ye T, Hu B (2023) ALKBH5 decreases SLC7A11 expression by erasing m6A modification and promotes the ferroptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Clin Transl Oncol 25(7):2265–2276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12094-023-03116-6
- Manuel AM, Frizzell N (2013) Adipocyte protein modification by Krebs cycle intermediates and fumarate ester-derived succination. Amino Acids 45(5):1243–1247. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00726-013-1568-z
- Mauer J, Luo X, Blanjoie A, Jiao X, Grozhik AV, Patil DP, Linder B, Pickering BF, Vasseur JJ, Chen Q, Gross SS, Elemento O, Debart F, Kiledjian M, Jaffrey SR (2017) Reversible methylation of m(6)A(m) in the 5' cap controls mRNA stability. Nature 541(7637):371–375. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature21022
- Montgomery DC, Garlick JM, Kulkarni RA, Kennedy S, Allali-Hassani A, Kuo YM, Andrews AJ, Wu H, Vedadi M, Meier JL (2016) Global profiling of acetyltransferase feedback regulation. J Am Chem Soc 138(20):6388–6391. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b03036
- Ogiwara H, Takahashi K, Sasaki M, Kuroda T, Yoshida H, Watanabe R, Maruyama A, Makinoshima H, Chiwaki F, Sasaki H, Kato T, Okamoto A, Kohno T (2019) Targeting the vulnerability of glutathione metabolism in ARID1A-deficient cancers. Cancer Cell 35(2):177-190 e178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.12.009
- Pan Y, Ma P, Liu Y, Li W, Shu Y (2018) Multiple functions of m(6)A RNA methylation in cancer. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-018-0590-8
- Popovic D, Vucic D, Dikic I (2014) Ubiquitination in disease pathogenesis and treatment. Nat Med 20(11):1242–1253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3739
- Ronau JA, Beckmann JF, Hochstrasser M (2016) Substrate specificity of the ubiquitin and Ubl proteases. Cell Res 26(4):441–456. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.38
- Roundtree IA, Evans ME, Pan T, He C (2017) Dynamic RNA modifications in gene expression regulation. Cell 169(7):1187–1200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.045
- Shen M, Li Y, Wang Y, Shao J, Zhang F, Yin G, Chen A, Zhang Z, Zheng S (2021) N(6)methyladenosine modification regulates ferroptosis through autophagy signaling pathway in hepatic stellate cells. Redox Biol 47:102151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.102151
- Shen H, Xie K, Tian Y, Wang X (2023) N6-methyladenosine writer METTL3 accelerates the sepsis-induced myocardial injury by regulating m6A-dependent ferroptosis. Apoptosis 28(3-4): 514–524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-022-01808-y

- Shi H, Wei J, He C (2019) Where, when, and how: context-dependent functions of RNA methylation writers, readers, and erasers. Mol Cell 74(4):640–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel. 2019.04.025
- Song Z, Jia G, Ma P, Cang S (2021) Exosomal miR-4443 promotes cisplatin resistance in non-small cell lung carcinoma by regulating FSP1 m6A modification-mediated ferroptosis. Life Sci 276: 119399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119399
- Sun S, Gao T, Pang B, Su X, Guo C, Zhang R, Pang Q (2022) RNA binding protein NKAP protects glioblastoma cells from ferroptosis by promoting SLC7A11 mRNA splicing in an m(6)Adependent manner. Cell Death Dis 13(1):73. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04524-2
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Tatsumi K, Sou YS, Tada N, Nakamura E, Iemura S, Natsume T, Kang SH, Chung CH, Kasahara M, Kominami E, Yamamoto M, Tanaka K, Komatsu M (2010) A novel type of E3 ligase for the Ufm1 conjugation system. J Biol Chem 285(8):5417–5427. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M109.036814
- Vučković AM, Bosello Travain V, Bordin L, Cozza G, Miotto G, Rossetto M, Toppo S, Venerando R, Zaccarin M, Maiorino M, Ursini F, Roveri A (2020) Inactivation of the glutathione peroxidase GPx4 by the ferroptosis-inducing molecule RSL3 requires the adaptor protein 14-3-3ɛ. FEBS Lett 594(4):611–624. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.13631
- Wang D, Peng Y, Xie Y, Zhou B, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Antiferroptotic activity of non-oxidative dopamine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 480(4):602–607. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.099
- Wang Y, Yang L, Zhang X, Cui W, Liu Y, Sun QR, He Q, Zhao S, Zhang GA, Wang Y, Chen S (2019) Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis by H2B monoubiquitination and p53. EMBO Rep 20(7):e47563. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201847563
- Wang Y, Zhao Y, Wang H, Zhang C, Wang M, Yang Y, Xu X, Hu Z (2020) Histone demethylase KDM3B protects against ferroptosis by upregulating SLC7A11. FEBS Open Bio 10(4): 637–643. https://doi.org/10.1002/2211-5463.12823
- Wang J, Yin X, He W, Xue W, Zhang J, Huang Y (2021) SUV39H1 deficiency suppresses clear cell renal cell carcinoma growth by inducing ferroptosis. Acta Pharm Sin B 11(2):406–419. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2020.09.015
- Wright MH, Heal WP, Mann DJ, Tate EW (2010) Protein myristoylation in health and disease. J Chem Biol 3(1):19–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12154-009-0032-8
- Wu JI, Lessard J, Crabtree GR (2009) Understanding the words of chromatin regulation. Cell 136(2):200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.009
- Xie Z, Zhang D, Chung D, Tang Z, Huang H, Dai L, Qi S, Li J, Colak G, Chen Y, Xia C, Peng C, Ruan H, Kirkey M, Wang D, Jensen LM, Kwon OK, Lee S, Pletcher SD, Tan M, Lombard DB, White KP, Zhao H, Li J, Roeder RG, Yang X, Zhao Y (2016) Metabolic regulation of gene expression by histone lysine beta-hydroxybutyrylation. Mol Cell 62(2):194–206. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.03.036
- Xu Y, Lv D, Yan C, Su H, Zhang X, Shi Y, Ying K (2022) METTL3 promotes lung adenocarcinoma tumor growth and inhibits ferroptosis by stabilizing SLC7A11 m(6)A modification. Cancer Cell Int 22(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-021-02433-6
- Yang L, Chen X, Yang Q, Chen J, Huang Q, Yao L, Yan D, Wu J, Zhang P, Tang D, Zhong N, Liu J (2020) Broad spectrum deubiquitinase inhibition induces both apoptosis and ferroptosis in cancer cells. Front Oncol 10:949. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00949
- Yang W, Li HY, Wu YF, Mi RJ, Liu WZ, Shen X, Lu YX, Jiang YH, Ma MJ, Shen HY (2021) ac4C acetylation of RUNX2 catalyzed by NAT10 spurs osteogenesis of BMSCs and prevents ovariectomy-induced bone loss. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 26:135–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. omtn.2021.06.022
- Zhang Y, Shi J, Liu X, Feng L, Gong Z, Koppula P, Sirohi K, Li X, Wei Y, Lee H, Zhuang L, Chen G, Xiao ZD, Hung MC, Chen J, Huang P, Li W, Gan B (2018) BAP1 links metabolic

regulation of ferroptosis to tumour suppression. Nat Cell Biol 20(10):1181–1192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0178-0

- Zhang Y, Koppula P, Gan B (2019) Regulation of H2A ubiquitination and SLC7A11 expression by BAP1 and PRC1. Cell Cycle 18(8):773–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2019.1597506
- Zhang X, Huang Z, Xie Z, Chen Y, Zheng Z, Wei X, Huang B, Shan Z, Liu J, Fan S, Chen J, Zhao F (2020) Homocysteine induces oxidative stress and ferroptosis of nucleus pulposus via enhancing methylation of GPX4. Free Radic Biol Med 160:552–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2020.08.029
- Zhang B, Bao W, Zhang S, Chen B, Zhou X, Zhao J, Shi Z, Zhang T, Chen Z, Wang L, Zheng X, Chen G, Wang Y (2022a) LncRNA HEPFAL accelerates ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma by regulating SLC7A11 ubiquitination. Cell Death Dis 13(8):734. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41419-022-05173-1
- Zhang HL, Hu BX, Li ZL, Du T, Shan JL, Ye ZP, Peng XD, Li X, Huang Y, Zhu XY, Chen YH, Feng GK, Yang D, Deng R, Zhu XF (2022b) PKCβII phosphorylates ACSL4 to amplify lipid peroxidation to induce ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-021-00818-3
- Zheng X, Wang Q, Zhou Y, Zhang D, Geng Y, Hu W, Wu C, Shi Y, Jiang J (2022a) N-acetyltransferase 10 promotes colon cancer progression by inhibiting ferroptosis through N4-acetylation and stabilization of ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) mRNA. Cancer Commun (Lond) 42(12):1347–1366. https://doi.org/10.1002/cac2.12363
- Zheng Y, Sun W, Shan C, Li B, Liu J, Xing H, Xu Q, Cui B, Zhu W, Chen J, Liu L, Yang T, Sun N, Li X (2022b) Beta-hydroxybutyrate inhibits ferroptosis-mediated pancreatic damage in acute liver failure through the increase of H3K9bhb. Cell Rep 41(12):111847. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.celrep.2022.111847
- Zhu S, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021a) Targeting NF-kappaB-dependent alkaliptosis for the treatment of venetoclax-resistant acute myeloid leukemia cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 562:55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.05.049
- Zhu Y, Zhang C, Huang M, Lin J, Fan X, Ni T (2021b) TRIM26 induces ferroptosis to inhibit hepatic stellate cell activation and mitigate liver fibrosis through mediating SLC7A11 ubiquitination. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:644901. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.644901



Phospholipid Peroxidation in Health and Disease

19

Shu-Hua Ouyang, Wen-Jun Duan, Wan-Yang Sun, Yan-Ping Wu, Yi-Fang Li, Jie Sun, Xiao-Min Lin, Zi-Xuan Li, and Rong-Rong He

Abstract

Phospholipid peroxidation plays a crucial role in modulating the fluidity, integrity, and stability of cellular and organelle membranes. This process has significant implications in the initiation of ferroptosis, a form of cell death, and has been associated with various pathological processes in diverse diseases. Targeting phospholipid peroxidation represents a promising approach for the development of novel therapeutic interventions. This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the oxidation, reduction, and remodeling processes of phospholipids, along with the methods for detecting phospholipid peroxidation. Furthermore, it examines the impact of phospholipid peroxidation on signal transduction and its involvement in the onset and progression of various diseases. The knowledge presented here offers a solid theoretical foundation for the development of targeted interventions aimed at preventing diseases by modulating phospholipid peroxidation.

19.1 Introduction

Polyunsaturated fatty acid-containing phospholipids (PUFA-PLs) are essential constituents of cellular membranes, playing a critical role in maintaining membrane fluidity necessary for proper cellular functions. However, due to the presence of multiple double bonds within their fatty acyl chains, PUFA-PLs are highly reactive and prone to be modified by reactive oxygen species (ROS) via a nonenzyme

S.-H. Ouyang · W.-J. Duan · W.-Y. Sun · Y.-P. Wu · Y.-F. Li · J. Sun · X.-M. Lin · Z.-X. Li · R.-R. He (\boxtimes)

Guangdong Engineering Research Center of Chinese Medicine & Disease Susceptibility, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

e-mail: rongronghe@jnu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_19

pathway or oxidized by enzymes to form oxidized phospholipids (ox-PLs) (O'Donnell et al. 2019). The relationship between phospholipid peroxidation and cell death has been a topic of investigation since the 1960s (Stockwell and Jiang 2020). In 2012, Dr. Brent R. Stockwell and his research team discovered a novel form of cell death, ferroptosis, which is induced by the accumulation of iron-dependent lipid peroxidation (Dixon et al. 2012). Among its key features is the loss of cell membrane integrity, which results from phospholipid peroxidation of the cell membrane (Doll et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2014). The discovery of ferroptosis has bridged the gap between the accumulation of phospholipid peroxidation products and the organ dysfunction phenotypes observed in human pathology (Yang et al. 2014). Presently, ferroptosis has been implicated in the pathological and physiological processes of several human diseases, including tumors, neurodegenerative disorders, acute kidney injury, drug-induced liver injury, and liver/heart ischemia-reperfusion injury (Jiang et al. 2021; Yan et al. 2021).

Over the past decade, with the rapid increase of research in ferroptosis, phospholipid peroxidation, the key process involved in driving ferroptosis, has led to a surge of interest in the regulation of various diseases. It is now well established that ox-PLs produced by phospholipid peroxidation potentially possess bioactive effects, participating in various biological processes (Bochkov et al. 2010). The oxidation of PUFA-PLs may dramatically alter the biological activity of phospholipids, such as membrane polarity, membrane permeability, phospholipid phase transition and phase separation, and the alteration of these properties (Jiang et al. 2021). Besides destabilizing the phospholipid bilayer structure (Wong-Ekkabut et al. 2007), ox-PLs may also act as cellular signal transduction messengers and thus shaping cell fate or affect membrane-dependent events such as phagocytosis (Bohdanowicz and Grinstein 2013; Lemke 2019). All that highlights the significance of comprehending the intricate interplay between phospholipid peroxidation and its roles in cellular signaling and regulation. In this chapter, we summarize the oxidation, reduction, and remodeling processes of phospholipids, the detection methods that monitor phospholipid peroxidation, the effect of phospholipid peroxidation in the signal transduction, as well as the roles of phospholipid peroxidation in the occurrence and progression of diverse diseases, to provide a theoretical basis for targeted intervention of phospholipid peroxidation as a potential strategy to prevent diseases.

19.2 Oxidation Process of Phospholipids

Phospholipids are typically composed of a hydrophilic head group made up of a phosphate group and a hydrophobic tail composed of fatty acid chains connected through a glycerol backbone, giving them amphipathic properties. The hydrophilic ends of the phospholipids can interact with each other, while the hydrophobic tails also interact with each other, forming a phospholipid bilayer together with proteins, glycolipids, and cholesterol, which is a basic structure of biological membranes (Dowhan 2017). The phosphate group in phospholipids can be modified by organic small molecules such as glycerol, choline, ethanolamine, and serine. Common



Fig. 19.1 Composition of phospholipids. PA phosphatidic acid, PC phosphatidylcholine, PE phosphatidylethanolamine, PG phosphatidylglycerol, PI phosphatidylinositol, PS phosphatidylserine, CL cardiolipin

phospholipids found in biological membranes include phosphatidic acid (PA), phosphatidylcholine (PC), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylinositol (PI), phosphatidylglycerol (PG), and cardiolipin (CL) (Fig. 19.1). Fatty acid chains are attached to the glycerol backbone through ester or ether bonds at the first and second carbon atoms, which are represented as *sn*-1 and *sn*-2 acylated fatty chains (Harayama and Riezman 2018).

PUFA-PLs are crucial components of cellular membranes due to their multiple double bonds within the fatty acyl chains, which provide membrane fluidity necessary for proper cellular functions (Stillwell and Wassall 2003). Additionally, these double bonds render PUFA-PLs more reactive, making them prone to oxidation (Ayala et al. 2014). The degree of unsaturation directly influences the reactivity of these lipids, as the presence of more double bonds correlates with increased susceptibility to oxidation. Oxidized PUFA-PLs serve as signaling molecules that participate in various biological processes (Bochkov et al. 2010).

The oxidation process of phospholipids can be classified into three phases: initiation, propagation, and termination (Yin et al. 2011). During the initiation phase, PUFA-PLs are susceptible to attack by free radicals (nonenzymatic) or oxidation-related enzymes (enzymatic) to abstract a hydrogen atom from diallyl methylene, forming phospholipid radicals (PL·). In the propagation phase, PL· reacts quickly with oxygen molecules, leading to the formation of primary oxidation products, such as phospholipid peroxyl radicals (PLOO·). PLOO· reacts with other PUFA-PL, converting PLOO· into non-radical phospholipid hydroperoxides (PLOOH), generating new carbon-centered radicals that initiate a new peroxidation cycle (Bochkov et al. 2010). During the termination phase, two molecules of PLOO· react to terminate and form non-radical products. As the propagation of phospholipid peroxidation is a stochastic process independent of enzymes (Ashraf and Srivastava 2012), only the initiation phase of phospholipid oxidation is typically discussed when distinguishing between nonenzymatic and enzymatic oxidation (Fig. 19.2).

It is widely accepted that nonenzymatic phospholipid peroxidation arises from the assault on PUFA-PL by hydroxyl radicals (HO \cdot) generated via the Fenton reaction (Lai and Piette 1978). The mitochondrial electron transport chain also can give rise



Fig. 19.2 Three phases of phospholipid peroxidation. PLOO phospholipid peroxyl radical, PLOOH phospholipid hydroperoxide, PLO phospholipid alkoxyl radical, PL phospholipid radical

to various forms of ROS, which subsequently react with phospholipids, producing phospholipid peroxides (Zorov et al. 2014). As opposed to the randomness of the nonenzymatic oxidation pathway (O'Donnell et al. 2019), the enzymatic oxidation of phospholipids is a highly regulated process that is catalyzed by enzymes such as 15-lipoxygenase (15-LOX) (Anthonymuthu et al. 2018) and cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR) (Ai et al. 2021; Zou et al. 2020). There are two distinct mechanisms of enzymatic oxidation of phospholipids: direct or indirect pathway (O'Donnell et al. 2019). Direct enzymatic oxidation of phospholipids predominantly takes place at the sn-2 position of the acylated fatty chain, exhibiting high regioselectivity and stereoselectivity (Bochkov et al. 2010; Kühn et al. 1994). PUFA-PLs, particularly PC and PE-containing arachidonic acid (AA), can be directly catalyzed by 15-LOX generate free phospholipid-15to hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15-HpETE-PL) (Singh and Rao 2019). Indirect enzymatic oxidation of phospholipids is achieved through the coupling of deacylation and reacylation via the eicosanoid and prostaglandin pathways (O'Donnell et al. 2019). This process encompasses: (1) phospholipids being cleaved by phospholipase A_2 (PLA₂) to remove the fatty acyl chain at the *sn*-2 position, generating free fatty acids and lysophospholipids (Lyso-PL) (Frasch and Bratton 2012); (2) free fatty acids being oxidized by lipoxygenase (LOX) or cyclooxygenase (COX) to generating lipid peroxides; (3) fatty acid oxidation product-coenzyme A (CoA) forming ox-PLs through the esterification of lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) (Murphy and Folco 2019; O'Donnell et al. 2019) (Fig. 19.3).

Primary phospholipid peroxidation products formed by the oxidation process can undergo further oxidation, yielding secondary oxidation products through three distinct pathways. The first pathway involves PLOO· and PLOOH incorporating additional oxygen atoms to generate a series of ox-PLs with various functional groups, such as hydroperoxy products (hydroperoxy-PL), hydroxy products (hydroxy-PL), ketone-based products (keto-PL), and epoxy products (epoxy-PL). The second pathway entails the cyclization of PLOO·, leading to the formation of



Fig. 19.3 Direct oxidation of phospholipids by 15-LOX and indirect oxidation of phospholipids

cyclic peroxides, which subsequently undergo internal cyclization and rearrangement to generate bicyclic endoperoxides, including isoprostanes, isothromboxanes (isoTx), and isolevuglandins (isoLG). Alternatively, these cyclic peroxides can oxidatively incorporate additional (non)-cyclic peroxide group molecules, undergoing further oxidation to yield isofurans. The third pathway involves the oxidation, cleavage, or polymerization of PLOOH, resulting in the production of γ -hydroxyl- α , β -unsaturated ox-PLs with terminal aldehyde groups, unsaturated ox-PLs with terminal furan groups, and saturated ox-PLs with terminal carbonyl groups. Oxidation products generated by the first two pathways are non-fragmented ox-PLs, while those produced by the third pathway are fragmented ox-PLs (Bochkov et al. 2010).

19.3 Reduction and Remodeling Process of Phospholipids

To respond to the produced ox-PLs, cells have evolved multiple mechanisms to reduce phospholipid peroxidation and prevent damage caused by the accumulation of phospholipid peroxides. These mechanisms primarily include glutathione peroxidase 4(GPX4)/GSH, ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1)/CoQ10, and GCH1/ BH4 (Stockwell et al. 2020). The GPX4/GSH system functions by reducing phospholipid hydroperoxides to phospholipid alcohols (Seibt et al. 2019). FSP1/CoQ₁₀ and GCH1/BH4 systems use reduced CoQ10 and BH4 as free radical scavengers to eliminate PLOO, thereby preventing ferroptosis (Stockwell et al. 2020; Kraft et al. 2020). Besides these three systems, the phospholipid remodeling system also contributes to limiting the process of phospholipid peroxidation. PLA₂ selectively cleaves oxidized fatty acid chains at the sn-2 position of the glycerol backbone, generating the Lyso-PL, which can further react with AA-CoA under the action of LPCAT3 to synthesize new phospholipids, completing the process of phospholipid remodeling (Wang and Tontonoz 2019). Recently, calcium-independent phospholipase $A_{2}\beta$ (iPLA₂ β) has been reported to play a crucial role in the process of remodeling ox-PLs. Specifically, iPLA₂ β exhibits a high selectivity toward the ferroptosis signal molecule PE-AA-OOH (Sun et al. 2021). Moreover, recent research has highlighted the role of dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), an enzyme localized on the outer face of the mitochondrial inner membrane, in preventing cells from ferroptosis by suppressing mitochondrial lipid peroxidation (Mao et al. 2021). In addition, various endogenous or exogenous free radical scavenging antioxidants, such as Vitamin E and ferrostatin-1, also can eliminate lipid peroxides, thereby inhibiting ferroptosis (Magtanong et al. 2016).

19.4 Detection Methods of Phospholipid Peroxidation

Given the important role of phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis, different types of assays have been developed to monitor the process of phospholipid peroxidation, including fluorescent probe assay, chemiluminescence assay, immunoassay, and oxidative lipidomic analysis based on high-resolution liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS).

19.4.1 Fluorescent Probes

C11-BODIPY^{581/591} is a lipophilic fluorescent probe that has been extensively utilized for the detection of lipid oxidation levels in live cells, particularly to indicate the accumulation of lipid peroxides in ferroptotic cells (Pap et al. 1999). Under normal conditions, this probe exhibits bright red fluorescence. However, upon oxidation of its polyunsaturated butadiene moiety, the peak of its fluorophore fluorescence emission shifts from 590 nm to 510 nm, resulting in a change in fluorescence color from red to green (Drummen et al. 2002) (Fig. 19.4a). The



Fig. 19.4 Most commonly applied fluorescence probes for detecting phospholipid peroxidation. (a) C11-BODIPY^{581/591}; (b) Liperfluo

advantages of this probe include its insensitivity to O_2^- , nitric oxide (NO), ferric ions, and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), its high stability and sensitivity, its low toxicity, and its relatively low cost. Nonetheless, C11-BODIPY^{581/591} is sensitive to various ROS and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) in lipid-soluble membranes, rendering it nonspecific in the detection of phospholipid peroxidation.

When compared to C11-BODIPY^{581/591}, Liperfluo, a probe optimized by Yamanaka (Yamanaka et al. 2012), is considered to be a more specific probe for the monitoring of phospholipid peroxidation. The reaction mechanism of Liperfluo is analogous to the reduction of LOOHs by GPX4. Upon interaction with LOOHs, it produces oxidized Liperfluo with green fluorescence. In an aqueous solution, the oxidized Liperfluo is almost non-fluorescent; however, it produces a strong green fluorescence in highly lipid-soluble sites, such as cell membranes (Fig. 19.4b). While this probe is widely utilized in the field of ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017), it also has some limitations. Specifically, it can only detect the total level of phospholipid peroxidation in cells and cannot differentiate between different categories of lipid peroxides, such as unsaturated fatty acid peroxides and phospholipid peroxides.

19.4.2 Chemiluminescence Assay and Immunoassay for Detecting Phospholipid Peroxidation Products

Phospholipid peroxidation generates a large amount of lipid peroxidation products, among which PLOOHs are the primary products that gradually decompose into a series of complex aldehyde compounds, including malondialdehyde (MDA), 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE), acetaldehyde, and hexanal, through the oxidative process. These reactive aldehyde compounds can attack biological macromolecules such as proteins, forming adducts and causing further damage to cells (Reis and Spickett 2012). The assessment of phospholipid peroxidation level can be achieved by detecting products generated at different stages of phospholipid peroxidation.

MDA is a highly produced product during lipid peroxidation, and the thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay is frequently employed to measure MDA levels (Tsikas 2017). MDA readily reacts with thio-TBA to form a red adduct product, TBARS, whose absorbance (at 532 nm) can be measured to determine the amount of MDA. This method is straightforward and commonly employed in studying the lipid peroxidation level of biological samples. However, its drawback is the lack of specificity of TBA, which may cause false positives during the experimental procedure.

Due to their high reactivity, a significant proportion of MDA and 4-HNE can react with biomolecules such as proteins, DNA, or phospholipids to form large molecular adducts (Aldini et al. 2006). Currently, immunoassays are important analytical tools for detecting MDA and 4HNE protein adducts. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), protein immunoblotting (Western blot), and immunostaining, which utilize MDA and 4-HNE specific antibodies, can detect and quantify MDA and 4-HNE protein adducts based on the principle of antigen-antibody binding (Feng et al. 2020; Hao et al. 2021; Dierge et al. 2021). Despite their high specificity, these methods only provide information on the overall changes of protein adducts and cannot determine the type or precise location of the modified protein.

19.4.3 Oxidative Lipidomic Based on LC-MS

The investigation of biological processes involving ox-PLs presents a substantial challenge due to the intricate chemical structures and the highly variable levels of phospholipid peroxidation products (Bayır et al. 2020). Although various methods such as immunoassay, chemical or fluorescence photometry, and NMR have been used for the analysis of ox-PLs, their effectiveness is often limited in the qualitative and quantitative analysis of complex phospholipid peroxidation products in biological samples. In recent years, LC-ESI-MS/MS has emerged as a preferred method for the qualitative and quantitative analysis of ox-PLs in cells and tissues, providing a powerful tool for the study of phospholipid peroxidation and ferroptosis processes (Spickett and Pitt 2015). LC-MS-based ox-PLs analysis, akin to lipidomics, can be categorized into non-targeted and targeted modes, depending

on the technical process. Non-targeted analysis of ox-PLs typically employs multistage high-resolution mass spectrometry or ion trap mass spectrometry to collect samples and obtain abundant fragment ions containing information on oxidized phospholipid fatty chain species, oxidation types, and oxidation sites for structural identification. For example, Tyurin et al. introduced an analysis method for oxidized PS by utilizing normal-phase LC (NPLC) and high-resolution orbital ion trap (Orbitrap) tandem mass spectrometry, to identify ox-PSs as apoptotic "eat-me" signaling molecules (Tyurin et al. 2014). In a subsequent study, Kagan et al. established an oxidative lipidomic approach using NPLC-MS/MS to identify the oxidation products of PE-AA and PE-AdA, namely PE-AA-OOH and PE-AdA-OOH, which act as execution molecules of ferroptosis, among hundreds of ox-PLs (Kagan et al. 2017).

In addition, LC-MS technology could enrich the information on adducts formed by combining ox-PLs end products with proteins. Chen et al. developed a specific aniline probe m-APA and identified more than 400 carbonylated proteins in RSL3induced ferroptosis cell models (Chen et al. 2018). In another study, Zhang et al. identified thousands of 4-HNE-modified proteins in cell samples by using aminoxyTMT labeling technology combined with LC-MS proteomics (Zhang et al. 2019).

Collectively, LC-MS-based technologies play crucial role in the discovery, identification, and quantification of novel ox-PLs and their derivatives related to ferroptosis.

19.5 The Role of Phospholipid Peroxidation in Cellular Signal Transduction

19.5.1 The Role of Phospholipid Peroxidation in Driving Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a novel type of iron-dependent oxidative cell death, characterized mainly by the inactivation of the intracellular antioxidant defense system, which induces phospholipid peroxidation to induce cell death (Dixon et al. 2012; Stockwell 2022). Phospholipid peroxidation is a hallmark of ferroptosis, and ox-PLs, such as ox-PEs, have emerged as important regulatory molecules involved in ferroptotic cell death signals (Fig. 19.5a). Through the application of LC-MS quantitative redox lipidomics combined with molecular biology studies, Kagan et al. have shown that phospholipid peroxidation during ferroptosis occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum, where PE is specifically oxidized by 15-LOX, particularly PE-containing *sn*-2 fatty acyl chains of AA (C20:4) and AdA (C22:4), generating PE-AA-OOH or PE-AdA-OOH to initiate ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). In this process, phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein 1 (PEBP1) and 15-LOX form a protein complex that enhances the selectivity of 15-LOX for PE and specifically oxidizes the 15th carbon atom of AA-PE to yield the ferroptosis signaling molecule 15-HpETE-PE (Anthonymuthu et al. 2018; Wenzel et al. 2017).



Fig. 19.5 Role of phospholipid peroxidation in cell signal transduction. (a) The role of phospholipid peroxidation in driving ferroptosis; (b) the role of phospholipid peroxidation in autophagy inhibition; (c) the role of phospholipid peroxidation in phagocytic signaling; and (d) the role of protein modification by phospholipid peroxidation products in signal transduction regulation

The induction of ferroptosis is mediated by various enzymes involved in the biosynthesis and remodeling of PUFA-PEs in the cell membrane, including acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and LPCAT3 (Wang and Tontonoz 2019). Recently, Doll et al. conducted a genome-wide CRISPR-based genetic screen and microarray analysis of ferroptosis-resistant cell lines revealing that ACSL4 serves as a critical component for ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular phospholipid composition and further confirming that ox-PEs are responsible for the execution of driving ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017). Additionally, inhibiting LPCAT3, another critical enzyme involved in phospholipid remodeling, has been shown to protect cells from phospholipid peroxidation-induced ferroptotic cell death by counteracting changes in different classes of PUFA-PEs (Reed et al. 2022). Moreover, iPLA₂ β has been reported to preferentially hydrolyze peroxidized phospholipids and eliminate the ferroptotic 15-HpETE-PE death signal (Sun et al. 2021). Collectively, these findings suggest the crucial role of ox-PEs produced by phospholipid peroxidation in conducting the ferroptosis signal.

Although ox-PEs have been identified as the primary lipid signal to trigger ferroptosis, additional evidence suggests that oxidized phosphatidylcholines (ox-PCs) also act as the cellular ferroptosis mediator. It has been reported that myocardial ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury exacerbates the generation of ox-PC, which has been shown to disrupt mitochondrial bioenergetics and calcium transients,

leading to ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes. The neutralization of ox-PCs by monoclonal antibody EO6 that specifically binds to ox-PCs or the ferroptosis inhibitor ferrostatin-1 prevents cell death during reperfusion (Stamenkovic et al. 2021). By the oxidative lipidomics analysis of BMDMs during apoptosis, necroptosis, ferroptosis, and pyroptosis, Wiernicki et al. found that ox-PS and ox-PI, in addition to ox-PE, are the predominant phospholipid peroxidation products in ferroptotic BMDMs (Wiernicki et al. 2020), suggesting their potential roles in conducting the ferroptosis signal.

While a marked increase in ox-PLs is observed at the onset of ferroptosis, and phospholipid peroxidation is implicated in the propagation of cell swelling and ferroptotic cell death (Riegman et al. 2020), the precise mechanisms by which ox-PLs induce ferroptosis require further elucidation.

19.5.2 The Role of Phospholipid Peroxidation in the Autophagy Inhibition

Phospholipid peroxidation is involved in several vital metabolic processes in addition to its role as the lipid death signal in driving ferroptosis. One of these processes is autophagy, which is a highly conserved mechanism for the lysosomal degradation of dysfunctional or unnecessary cellular components. Autophagy is regulated by a set of core autophagy-associated proteins (ATGs), including LC3, which is essential in autophagosome formation. Initially, LC3 is processed by ATG4B in the cytoplasm to form LC3-I. Subsequently, LC3-I binds to PE to create the LC3-PE conjugate (LC3-II), which is recruited to the autophagosome membrane to induce autophagy (Tanida et al. 2008). Recent studies have uncovered evidence of the involvement of phospholipid peroxidation in the inhibition of autophagy. Through functional and oxidative lipidomics analysis, Li et al. showed that phospholipid peroxidation induced by GPX4 inhibition or ALOX15 overexpression inhibited autophagy via stimulating the ATG4B-mediated delipidation of oxidized LC3-PE (Li et al. 2022a) (Fig. 19.5b).

19.5.3 The Role of Phospholipid Peroxidation in Phagocytic Signaling

During apoptosis, the exposure of PS serves as an "eat-me" signal to macrophages for the clearance of apoptotic cells (Segawa and Nagata 2015; Fadok et al. 1992). Normally, PS is restricted to the cytoplasmic leaflets of the plasma membrane via a "flipping" mechanism, but apoptosis induces "scrambling," causing rapid PS exposure on the cell surface, where it is recognized by macrophage receptors, such as CD36 and milk fat globule epidermal growth factor 8 (MFG-E8) (Tait and Smith 1999; Hanayama et al. 2002). Although natural PS is considered the primary ligand recognized by macrophages on apoptotic cells, it has been well-established that oxidized PS (ox-PS) may also serve as an "eat-me" signal during apoptosis (Kagan

et al. 2002; Matsura et al. 2005) (Fig. 19.5c). Recently, through ligand fishing, lipid blotting, and cellular heat transfer assay screening, Luo et al. have identified SAPE-OOH as a key "eat-me" signal on the surface of ferroptotic cell, which promotes its phagocytosis by macrophages through directly binding to TLR2 (Luo et al. 2021) (Fig. 19.5c). However, since ox-PE is a lipid signal that drives ferroptosis, it was also demonstrated in this study that ox-PE is a novel "eat-me" signal that promotes ferroptotic cell clearance by macrophages. Nevertheless, it remains to be further investigated whether ox-PE is involved in phagocytic signaling during late ferroptosis.

19.5.4 The Role of Protein Modification by Phospholipid Peroxidation Products in Signal Transduction Regulation

The process of phospholipid peroxidation generates various oxidation products, including MDA and 4-HNE, with the latter being the most toxic (Catalá 2009). 4-HNE has a preference for modifying certain protein amino acids, such as Cys, His, and Lys, through the formation of covalent adducts with protein nucleophilic side chains, ultimately impacting protein function and disease progression (Castro et al. 2017). The irreversible modification of proteins by reactive lipid aldehydes may be one of the main results of oxidative damage that accompanies neurodegenerative diseases, metabolic diseases, and aging (Castro et al. 2017; Li et al. 2022b). For instance, Tu et al. and Sun et al. observed varying degrees of accumulation of 4-HNE-modified proteins in mouse models of both amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Parkinson's disease (Sun et al. 2021; Tu et al. 2023). Other researchers have reported strong modifications of histones by 4-HNE in adipose tissue of obese mice, both in vitro and in vivo (Hauck et al. 2020). Additionally, an age-associated decrease in proteasome activity has been shown to be positively associated with increased modification of proteins by the lipid aldehyde 4-HNE (Mihalas et al. 2018). The modification of proteins by 4-HNE leads to changes in protein function, which, in turn, results in alterations in cellular signaling. Jia et al. demonstrated that inactivation of GPX4 and the consequent increase in 4-HNE accumulation lead to the carbonylation of amino acids at C88 of the stimulator-of-interferon genes (STING), inhibiting its transport from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the Golgi complex, thereby attenuating the STING DNA sensing pathway and impacting the innate immune process (Jia et al. 2020) (Fig. 19.5d). Similarly, Niu et al. reported that the phospholipid peroxidation end product 4-HNE forms adducts with the chondrogenic transcription factor SOX9, promoting its ubiquitin-dependent degradation, consequently impairing embryonic bone development (Niu et al. 2022).

19.6 Phospholipid Peroxidation and Diseases

Apart from the physiological functions of phospholipid peroxidation in cell signal transduction described above, phospholipid peroxidation has been implicated in the pathological processes of various diseases. Gaining an understanding of the role of phospholipid peroxidation in the progression of diseases could provide a foundation for developing prevention and treatment strategies, as well as identifying and developing targeted drugs.

19.6.1 Neurodegenerative Diseases

In recent years, studies have suggested that ferroptosis driven by membrane lipid peroxidation may be one of the mechanisms of progressive neuronal loss (Jiang et al. 2021; Masaldan et al. 2019). The main features of ferroptosis are iron load and accumulation of lipid peroxides, which are highly consistent with the molecular biology of the brain in clinical neurodegenerative disease patients. The lipid content of the mammalian brain is higher than that of other organs, accounting for 50-60%of brain dry weight (Yoon et al. 2022). The abundant bisallyl structures in brain PUFA-PLs are highly sensitive to free radical oxidation, explaining why the brain is prone to phospholipid peroxidation to generate primary, secondary, and final oxidation products and toxic protein covalently modified complexes (Frankel 1980). In addition, the uninterrupted work of the brain also requires a large amount of oxygen supply, which consumes about 20% of the oxygen in the breath, while at the same time, the ratio of membrane surface area to cytoplasmic volume is relatively higher, not to mention abundant redox transition metals (Halliwell 1992), and the antioxidant system is relatively weaker (Evans 1993). Therefore, oxidative damage and neuroinflammation caused by phospholipid peroxidation are intrinsic molecular mechanisms that cannot be underestimated in the occurrence and development of neurodegenerative diseases.

19.6.1.1 Alzheimer's Disease (AD)

AD is a neurodegenerative disease with a relatively high incidence rate, with insidious onset and slow progression. The clinical manifestations are memory loss, and progressive cognitive decline, accompanied by various mental behavioral abnormalities and personality changes, which seriously affect the quality of life of patients (Scheltens et al. 2016). The main pathological and diagnostic feature of AD is the accumulation of two proteins: amyloid beta peptide ($A\beta$), which aggregates into extracellular plaques, and hyperphosphorylated tau, which forms intracellular neurofibrillary tangles. Amyloid precursor protein in the transmembrane region is cleaved to generate $A\beta$, which can form cytotoxic oligomers that assemble into amyloid fibrils (Mattson 2004), thereby assembling into amyloid fibrils, which can specifically bind to the cell membrane phospholipid layer with relatively high affinity. Phospholipids are amphipathic and consist of two hydrophobic fatty acids bonded to carbon atoms in glycerol. Thus, the phospholipid bilayer provides an

extensive surface for amyloid interactions, and the composition of membrane phospholipids, such as the head or fatty acid chains, as well as the redox state of the fatty acid chains, can alter membrane-amyloid interactions and toxicity (Williams and Serpell 2011).

At present, the pathogenesis of AD is not very clear, and there are no effective means to prevent the occurrence of the disease or delay its progress of the disease. Recently, increasing evidence has shown that lipid peroxidation is one of the important factors in the pathogenesis of AD. Postmortem studies of brain regions have shown marked glutathione depletion and accumulation of lipid peroxidation in the brains of AD patients (Selkoe 2001). In addition, the high iron and oxidative stress environment in the AD brain can also promote the occurrence of phospholipid peroxidation. High concentrations of free 4-HNE and its protein complexes can be detected in brain regions (such as the amygdala, hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus) and cerebrospinal fluid of AD patients (Sayre et al. 1997). Among them, many proteins related to energy metabolism and antioxidation can be targeted and interfered with by 4-HNE, causing the disorder of important cell functions, and then leading to the death of neuronal cells (Di Domenico et al. 2017). In addition, data have shown that MDA levels in the brains of AD patients are significantly higher than in healthy subjects (Dare et al. 2020). MDA that accumulates in the brain can covalently bind to a variety of proteins and promote the formation of abnormal protein adducts that severely disrupt the function of multiple brain regions, such as the frontal, temporal, occipital, and hippocampal structures as well as the nerve signals (Lopez-Riquelme et al. 2016).

NRF2 is a transcription factor and master regulator of the cellular antioxidant defense system. Increasing the expression of NRF2 in the pathological process of AD can reduce A β -related oxidative stress, thereby delaying the pathological process of AD (Kanninen et al. 2008), whereas loss or mutation of NRF2 leads to memory and impairment and worsening of A β pathology (Bahn and Jo 2019). In addition, the study found that *Gpx4*-specific knockout mice in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus exhibited cognitive decline and degeneration of hippocampal neurons in the water maze test. After being given a diet rich in vitamin E or a ferroptosis inhibitor such as liproxstatin-1, the degeneration of neurons in mice was significantly alleviated, suggesting that phospholipid peroxidation played an important role in the process of AD (Hambright et al. 2017). At present, increasing studies have proved the therapeutic effect of ferroptosis inhibitors such as iron chelators, dexmedetomidine, and antioxidants on AD (Jakaria et al. 2021).

19.6.1.2 Parkinson's Disease (PD)

PD is also a progressive neurodegenerative disease, clinically manifested as uncontrollable tremors, slow movements, muscle stiffness, and postural instability caused by dopamine (DA) deficiency, and pathologically manifested as loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra, DA content decreases and α -synuclein (α -Syn) accumulates to form Lewy bodies (Reich and Savitt 2019). Current studies suggest that apoptosis, necroptosis, and autophagic death are all involved in the degenerative loss of dopaminergic neurons (Moujalled et al. 2021). Studies have found that these forms of cell death share a common feature, that is, lipid peroxidation damage of dopaminergic neuron cells. The latest research proposes that ferroptosis is a neuron death mode closely related to lipid peroxidation in the development of PD (Sun et al. 2021). The main characteristics of ferroptosis are a load of iron and the accumulation of a large number of lipid peroxides, which are highly consistent with the molecular biological characteristics of brain changes in clinical Parkinson's patients. Previous studies have found that increased levels of lipid peroxidation products (Lim et al. 2019) and abnormally elevated iron concentrations (Dexter et al. 1987) were observed in the substantia nigra of PD patients. Although the pathological feature of lipid peroxidation has been widely recognized, the detailed molecular mechanism has not been well resolved, and the drugs that simply remove peroxides have not made optimistic progress in clinical trials.

Our research group also used multiple models to prove that phospholipid peroxidation increases the susceptibility to PD. First, we found the accumulation of 4-HNE, MDA, and phospholipid oxidation products in the classic PD model SNCA^{A53T} transgenic mice and 6-OHDA rat models (Sun et al. 2021). The burden of lipid peroxidation has been shown to significantly increase the susceptibility of animal models to PD, and the lipid peroxidation inhibitor trolox can significantly alleviate Parkinsonism behavioral disorders (Jiang et al. 2020). In addition, the analysis results of ox-PLs showed that the key proteins of phospholipid remodeling, such as GPX4 and iPLA₂ β , are closely related to the occurrence and development of PD. The deletion or mutation of these proteins can directly cause the accumulation of ox-PLs in the cell membrane, thereby triggering the development of dopaminergic neurons, leading to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Sun et al. 2021). Taken together, phospholipids and their oxidation products mediated-oxidative stress and inflammation play an important role in the pathogenesis of PD, and strategies targeting ferroptosis inhibition have also been reported as potential directions for the development of anti-PD drugs.

19.6.1.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)

ALS is the most common motor neuron disease characterized by the progressive degeneration of motor neurons in the brain and spinal cord, leading to muscle wasting, paralysis, and death (van Es et al. 2017). The pathogenesis of ALS is associated with excitotoxicity, mitochondrial dysfunction, endoplasmic reticulum stress, neuroinflammation, and oxidative stress (Pasinelli and Brown 2006; Paez-Colasante et al. 2015; Cook and Petrucelli 2019). Accumulating evidence has implicated phospholipid peroxidation and its derived ferroptosis in ALS. For example, GPX4, the known phospholipid hydroperoxides specifically catalyzing the reduction of phospholipid peroxides, was found to be an essential enzyme for the health and survival of motor neurons (Chen et al. 2015; Yant et al. 2003). Conditional ablation of Gpx4 in adult mouse neurons triggers rapid degeneration of spinal motor neurons and accelerates paralysis in ALS mice (Chen et al. 2015). Moreover, motor neuron degeneration induced by Gpx4 ablation was also characterized by iron enrichment (Chen et al. 2015). The rapid death of motor neurons induced by Gpx4

ablation suggests that spinal motor neurons are particularly susceptible to ferroptosis if the anti-ferroptotic defense system is compromised.

The study also found elevated lipid peroxidation in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma of ALS patients (Simpson et al. 2004). An in vitro experiment demonstrated that treatment of motor neuron cells with highly oxidized polyunsaturated fatty acids increased cellular lipid peroxidation and exacerbated motor neuron death due to mitochondrial dysfunction. Improving the antioxidant function of mitochondria can protect motor neurons, suggesting that blocking oxidative stress may be helpful for the clinical treatment of ALS (Liu et al. 2002). Southon et al. found that lipid peroxidation is involved in the pathogenesis of ALS, and reducing lipid peroxidation can improve neuronal degeneration in ALS model mice by inhibiting ferroptosis and delaying disease progression (Southon et al. 2020). Our research group found that the expression of phospholipid peroxide scavenging enzyme GPX4 decreased in the lumbar spinal cord of ALS model mice. Supplementing the expression of *Gpx4* by intrathecal injection of Gpx4-AAV can significantly alleviate the symptoms and disease progression of ALS (Tu et al. 2023). In addition, Wang et al. also found depletion of GPX4 in the spinal cord of both sporadic and familial ALS patients, which is commonly found in transgenic animal models of ALS (including superoxide dismutase 1 mutation (SOD1^{G93A}), TDP-43, and C9orf72 transgenic mice) early characterization of the spinal cord and brain. In conclusion, the current study reveals that ferroptosis mediates the death of motor neurons in ALS (Wang et al. 2022). All these findings highlight the anti-ferroptosis therapeutic strategies, such as targeting phospholipid peroxide clearance pathways such as GPX4 activation, may be the key to alleviating the loss of spinal cord motor neurons and a new direction in the treatment of ALS.

19.6.1.4 Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

MS is a neuroinflammatory disease characterized by central nervous system demyelination and focal lesions (Compston and Coles 2008). The diagnosis of MS depends on typical clinical symptoms and supportive laboratory and radiological examination, and the etiology is not clear. The etiology of MS is currently thought to be complex and diverse, possibly including immunodeficiency and lipotoxicity due to genetic and environmental causes (Compston and Coles 2008). Haider et al. found that oxidized lipids and DNA were highly enriched in sclerotic plaques of MS patients. MDA and oxidized phospholipid epitopes were observed in the cytoplasm of oligodendrocytes and astrocytes. Axon spheroids and neurons in gray matter lesions also have a large amount of oxidized phospholipid accumulation, with signs of degeneration, indicating that the production of ox-PLs is closely related to the damage of multiple sclerosis axons or neurons (Haider et al. 2011). Western blot analysis with EO6 mAb confirms the presence of ox-PC in the brains of MS patients, which is considered a marker of neuroinflammation in MS lesions (Oin et al. 2007). This evidence suggests that phospholipid peroxidation may be a key factor in increasing susceptibility to MS.

In addition, iron homeostasis is important to maintain phospholipid peroxidation levels. Excess iron will catalyze the Fenton reaction to generate ROS, which will mediate a chain reaction to generate PLOOH. At the same time, iron-dependent enzymes, such as LOXs that use iron as the basic catalytic center, also catalyze the production of PLOOH and trigger ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). Studies have shown that iron deposits were found in MS brains, and biochemical changes and pathological features of ferroptosis were found in MS animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) mice, suggesting that ferroptosis may be associated with MS (Hametner et al. 2013). Luogian et al. found that ACSL4mediated ferroptosis can activate T cells in the central nervous system in the EAE mouse model while inhibiting ACSL4 or ferroptosis can effectively reduce the neurological damage in mice (Luoqian et al. 2022). Histone methyltransferase G9a represses the expression of anti-ferroptosis genes and reduces intracellular glutathione levels, thereby exacerbating oxidative stress in neurons and inducing neuronal ferroptosis (Rothammer et al. 2022). Hu et al. found that in the spinal cord neurons of EAE model mice, both *Gpx4* mRNA and protein expression were reduced. Increased lipid peroxidation products and decreased levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids and markers of ferroptosis, such as characteristic damage to mitochondria, appeared in the spinal cord of EAE animal models (Hu et al. 2019). These findings provide the basis for the potential application of ferroptosis inhibitors or GPX4 inducers/ activators in the treatment of inflammatory demyelinating diseases such as MS.

19.6.2 Immune Function and Tumor

Phospholipid peroxidation also plays a crucial role in determining the survival and function of various cell types, including macrophages, neutrophils, T cells, and B cells, under different pathological conditions. Elevated levels of ROS are generated in response to physical, chemical, and pathogenic stimuli that activate inflammatory cells and induce oxidation (Coussens and Werb 2002; Hussain et al. 2003). ROS-mediated oxidation of phospholipids results in the formation of peroxidation products that can modulate immunity by modifying DNA bases and sustaining a lipid-dependent inflammatory cascade (Chung et al. 1996; Clemente et al. 2020). Ferroptotic cell death tumor cells release KRAS^{G12D} protein, leading to the transformation of macrophages into an M2-like tumor-promoting phenotype through STAT3-dependent fatty acid oxidation (Dai et al. 2020a). Meanwhile, the induction of phospholipid peroxidation by high-iron diets or *Gpx4* depletion in KRAS-driven pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma evokes the release of oxidized nucleobase 8-OHG and thus activates tumor-associated macrophages infiltration and M2 polarization, which results in promoting the pancreatic tumorigenesis (Dai et al. 2020b).

It is worth noted the accumulation of lipid hydroperoxides in the tumor microenvironment macrophages also can evoke tumor progression (Su et al. 2020; Luo et al. 2020). Interestingly, compared with M2 macrophages, M1 macrophages possess higher levels of iNOS, and the nitric oxide produced by iNOS can interact with lipid intermediates generated by 15-LOX to prevent the lipid peroxidation process, which makes them more resistant to phospholipid peroxidation (Kapralov et al. 2020). M1 macrophages with high iNOS expression readily spread and exert long-range protection against ferroptotic cell death. However, the high expression of iNOS will produce resistance to cisplatin-induced tumor cell apoptosis, and promote tumor proliferation and metastasis (Kielbik et al. 2019). Other studies have found that repressing the iPLA₂ β can promote the polarization of macrophage toward the M2 phenotype, leading to the accumulation of inflammation (Ashley et al. 2016). All these findings mentioned above indicated that phospholipid peroxidation accumulated in macrophage influences its polarization, contributing to tumorigenesis and progression.

An interesting finding revealed that cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells released IFN-y activates ACSL4 which converts AA to AA-CoA. The insertion of AA-CoA into the C16 and C18 acyl chain-containing phospholipids in the plasma membrane changed the phospholipids composition of tumor cells, thereby causing phospholipids peroxidation and leading to tumor cell death (Liao et al. 2022). Besides, the released IFN- γ from cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells repressed the activation of system x_c-, accumulated the phospholipid peroxidation, and resulted in sensitizing hepatocellular carcinoma cells to ferroptosis (Kong et al. 2021). Exhausted CD8⁺ T cells decrease cytotoxicity due to the accumulation of long-chain fatty acids or cholesterol. For example, the uptake of Ox-LDL by CD8⁺ T cells through CD36 will cause the loss of immune effector function due to lipid peroxidation (Xu et al. 2021). The overexpression of GPX4, a pivotal gene in the clearance of lipid peroxidation, can promote T cell function (Xu et al. 2021). Phospholipid peroxidation also affects the function of other immune cells. 4-HNE, as a main end product of phospholipids peroxidation, was found to inhibit the phagocytic function of neutrophils via the modification of specific proteins (Chacko et al. 2016). Phospholipid peroxidation can negatively feedback regulate the maturation of dendritic cells in the inflammatory response (Blüml et al. 2005), and affect the antigen crosspresentation of dendritic cells (Ramakrishnan et al. 2014).

19.7 Conclusion

Phospholipid peroxidation is a crucial process that induces ferroptosis. This process also plays important roles in cellular signal transduction and has been implicated in various diseases, including neurodegenerative diseases and cancer. Thus, targeting phospholipid peroxidation holds promise as a novel therapeutic strategy for these diseases. However, several critical questions remain unanswered. First, the specific cellular membranes that are relevant to phospholipid peroxidation-induced cell death have yet to be fully elucidated. Second, the precise mechanism by which phospholipid peroxidation-induced ferroptotic cell death is still unclear. Third, the threshold of cell death induced by lipid peroxidation remains to be determined, although the degree of phospholipid peroxidation accumulation is related to the occurrence of ferroptosis. Finally, a precise molecular understanding of the relationship between phospholipid peroxidation and various diseases requires further exploration. Addressing these questions will enhance our knowledge of phospholipid peroxidation and its impact on health. This understanding may provide the foundation for developing prevention and treatment strategies, as well as identifying and developing targeted drugs that modulate phospholipid peroxidation.

References

- Ai Y, Yan B, Wang X (2021) The oxidoreductases POR and CYB5R1 catalyze lipid peroxidation to execute ferroptosis. Mol Cell Oncol 8(2):1881393. https://doi.org/10.1080/23723556.2021. 1881393
- Aldini G, Dalle-Donne I, Colombo R, Maffei Facino R, Milzani A, Carini M (2006) Lipoxidationderived reactive carbonyl species as potential drug targets in preventing protein carbonylation and related cellular dysfunction. ChemMedChem 1(10):1045–1058. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cmdc.200600075
- Anthonymuthu TS, Kenny EM, Shrivastava I, Tyurina YY, Hier ZE, Ting HC, Dar HH, Tyurin VA, Nesterova A, Amoscato AA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Rosenbaum JC, Mao G, Zhao J, Conrad M, Kellum JA, Wenzel SE, VanDemark AP, Bahar I, Kagan VE, Bayır H (2018) Empowerment of 15-lipoxygenase catalytic competence in selective oxidation of membrane ETE-PE to ferroptotic death signals, HpETE-PE. J Am Chem Soc 140(51):17835–17839. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b09913
- Ashley JW, Hancock WD, Nelson AJ, Bone RN, Tse HM, Wohltmann M, Turk J, Ramanadham S (2016) Polarization of macrophages toward M2 phenotype is Favored by reduction in iPLA2β (group VIA phospholipase A2). J Biol Chem 291(44):23268–23281. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M116.754945
- Ashraf MZ, Srivastava S (2012) Oxidized phospholipids: introduction and biological significance. In: Lipoproteins-role in health and diseases. IntechOpen
- Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S (2014) Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2014:360438. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/360438
- Bahn G, Jo DG (2019) Therapeutic approaches to Alzheimer's disease through modulation of NRF2. NeuroMolecular Med 21(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-018-08523-5
- Bayır H, Anthonymuthu TS, Tyurina YY, Patel SJ, Amoscato AA, Lamade AM, Yang Q, Vladimirov GK, Philpott CC, Kagan VE (2020) Achieving life through death: redox biology of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Cell Chem Biol 27(4):387–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2020.03.014
- Blüml S, Kirchberger S, Bochkov VN, Krönke G, Stuhlmeier K, Majdic O, Zlabinger GJ, Knapp W, Binder BR, Stöckl J, Leitinger N (2005) Oxidized phospholipids negatively regulate dendritic cell maturation induced by TLRs and CD40. J Immunol 175(1):501–508. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.501
- Bochkov VN, Oskolkova OV, Birukov KG, Levonen AL, Binder CJ, Stöckl J (2010) Generation and biological activities of oxidized phospholipids. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(8):1009–1059. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2009.2597
- Bohdanowicz M, Grinstein S (2013) Role of phospholipids in endocytosis, phagocytosis, and macropinocytosis. Physiol Rev 93(1):69–106. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00002.2012
- Castro JP, Jung T, Grune T, Siems W (2017) 4-Hydroxynonenal (HNE) modified proteins in metabolic diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 111:309–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2016.10.497
- Catalá A (2009) Lipid peroxidation of membrane phospholipids generates hydroxy-alkenals and oxidized phospholipids active in physiological and/or pathological conditions. Chem Phys Lipids 157(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2008.09.004
- Chacko BK, Wall SB, Kramer PA, Ravi S, Mitchell T, Johnson MS, Wilson L, Barnes S, Landar A, Darley-Usmar VM (2016) Pleiotropic effects of 4-hydroxynonenal on oxidative burst and phagocytosis in neutrophils. Redox Biol 9:57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2016.06.003

- Chen L, Hambright WS, Na R, Ran Q (2015) Ablation of the ferroptosis inhibitor glutathione peroxidase 4 in neurons results in rapid motor neuron degeneration and paralysis. J Biol Chem 290(47):28097–28106. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.680090
- Chen Y, Liu Y, Lan T, Qin W, Zhu Y, Qin K, Gao J, Wang H, Hou X, Chen N, Friedmann Angeli JP, Conrad M, Wang C (2018) Quantitative profiling of protein carbonylations in ferroptosis by an aniline-derived probe. J Am Chem Soc 140(13):4712–4720. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs. 8b01462
- Chung FL, Chen HJ, Nath RG (1996) Lipid peroxidation as a potential endogenous source for the formation of exocyclic DNA adducts. Carcinogenesis 17(10):2105–2111. https://doi.org/10. 1093/carcin/17.10.2105
- Clemente SM, Martínez-Costa OH, Monsalve M, Samhan-Arias AK (2020) Targeting lipid peroxidation for cancer treatment. Molecules 25(21):5144. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules25215144
- Compston A, Coles A (2008) Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 372(9648):1502–1517. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Cook C, Petrucelli L (2019) Genetic convergence brings clarity to the enigmatic red line in ALS. Neuron 101(6):1057–1069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.032
- Coussens LM, Werb Z (2002) Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420(6917):860–867. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature01322
- Dai E, Han L, Liu J, Xie Y, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ et al (2020a) Autophagy-dependent ferroptosis drives tumorassociated macrophage polarization via release and uptake of oncogenic kras protein. Autophagy 16(11):2069–2083
- Dai E, Han L, Liu J, Xie Y, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Bai L, Tang D (2020b) Ferroptotic damage promotes pancreatic tumorigenesis through a TMEM173/STING-dependent DNA sensor pathway. Nat Commun 11(1):6339. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20154-8
- Dare LR, Garcia A, Soares CB, Lopes L, Neves BS, Dias DV, Mello-Carpes PB (2020) The reversal of memory deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model using physical and cognitive exercise. Front Behav Neurosci 14:152. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2020.00152
- Dexter DT, Wells FR, Agid F, Agid Y, Lees AJ, Jenner P, Marsden CD (1987) Increased nigral iron content in postmortem parkinsonian brain. Lancet 2(8569):1219–1220. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0140-6736(87)91361-4
- Di Domenico F, Tramutola A, Butterfield DA (2017) Role of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer disease and other selected age-related neurodegenerative disorders. Free Radic Biol Med 111:253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.10.490
- Dierge E, Debock E, Guilbaud C, Corbet C, Mignolet E, Mignard L, Bastien E, Dessy C, Larondelle Y, Feron O (2021) Peroxidation of n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the acidic tumor environment leads to ferroptosis-mediated anticancer effects. Cell Metab 33(8): 1701–1715.e1705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2021.05.016
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trümbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Füllekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourão A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0

- Dowhan W (2017) Understanding phospholipid function: why are there so many lipids? J Biol Chem 292(26):10755–10766. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.X117.794891
- Drummen GP, van Liebergen LC, Op den Kamp JA, Post JA (2002) C11-BODIPY(581/591), an oxidation-sensitive fluorescent lipid peroxidation probe: (micro)spectroscopic characterization and validation of methodology. Free Radic Biol Med 33(4):473–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0891-5849(02)00848-1
- Evans PH (1993) Free radicals in brain metabolism and pathology. Br Med Bull 49(3):577–587. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a072632
- Fadok VA, Voelker DR, Campbell PA, Cohen JJ, Bratton DL, Henson PM (1992) Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. J Immunol 148(7):2207–2216
- Feng H, Schorpp K, Jin J, Yozwiak CE, Hoffstrom BG, Decker AM, Rajbhandari P, Stokes ME, Bender HG, Csuka JM, Upadhyayula PS, Canoll P, Uchida K, Soni RK, Hadian K, Stockwell BR (2020) Transferrin receptor is a specific ferroptosis marker. Cell Rep 30(10):3411–3423. e3417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.049
- Frankel EN (1980) Lipid oxidation. Prog Lipid Res 19(1–2):1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-7827(80)90006-5
- Frasch SC, Bratton DL (2012) Emerging roles for lysophosphatidylserine in resolution of inflammation. Prog Lipid Res 51(3):199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2012.03.001
- Haider L, Fischer MT, Frischer JM, Bauer J, Hoftberger R, Botond G, Esterbauer H, Binder CJ, Witztum JL, Lassmann H (2011) Oxidative damage in multiple sclerosis lesions. Brain 134 (Pt 7):1914–1924. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr128
- Halliwell B (1992) Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. J Neurochem 59(5): 1609–1623. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1992.tb10990.x
- Hambright WS, Fonseca RS, Chen L, Na R, Ran Q (2017) Ablation of ferroptosis regulator glutathione peroxidase 4 in forebrain neurons promotes cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration. Redox Biol 12:8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.01.021
- Hametner S, Wimmer I, Haider L, Pfeifenbring S, Brück W, Lassmann H (2013) Iron and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. Ann Neurol 74(6):848–861. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ana.23974
- Hanayama R, Tanaka M, Miwa K, Shinohara A, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S (2002) Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. Nature 417(6885):182–187
- Hao L, Mi J, Song L, Guo Y, Li Y, Yin Y, Zhang C (2021) SLC40A1 mediates ferroptosis and cognitive dysfunction in type 1 diabetes. Neuroscience 463:216–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2021.03.009
- Harayama T, Riezman H (2018) Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(5):281–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.138
- Hauck AK, Zhou T, Upadhyay A, Sun Y, O'Connor MB, Chen Y, Bernlohr DA (2020) Histone carbonylation is a redox-regulated epigenomic mark that accumulates with obesity and aging. Antioxidants (Basel) 9(12):1210. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9121210
- Hu CL, Nydes M, Shanley KL, Morales Pantoja IE, Howard TA, Bizzozero OA (2019) Reduced expression of the ferroptosis inhibitor glutathione peroxidase-4 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurochem 148(3):426–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jnc.14604
- Hussain SP, Hofseth LJ, Harris CC (2003) Radical causes of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 3(4):276–285. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1046
- Jakaria M, Belaidi AA, Bush AI, Ayton S (2021) Ferroptosis as a mechanism of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 159(5):804–825. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.15519
- Jia M, Qin D, Zhao C, Chai L, Yu Z, Wang W, Tong L, Lv L, Wang Y, Rehwinkel J, Yu J, Zhao W (2020) Redox homeostasis maintained by GPX4 facilitates STING activation. Nat Immunol 21(7):727–735. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0699-0
- Jiang YN, Guo YZ, Lu DH, Pan MH, Liu HZ, Jiao GL, Bi W, Kurihara H, Li YF, Duan WJ, He RR, Yao XS (2020) Tianma Gouteng granules decreases the susceptibility of Parkinson's disease by

inhibiting ALOX15-mediated lipid peroxidation. J Ethnopharmacol 256:112824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2020.112824

- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8
- Kagan VE, Gleiss B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Elenström-Magnusson C, Liu SX, Serinkan FB, Arroyo A, Chandra J, Orrenius S, Fadeel B (2002) A role for oxidative stress in apoptosis: oxidation and externalization of phosphatidylserine is required for macrophage clearance of cells undergoing Fas-mediated apoptosis. J Immunol 169(1):487–499. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.169.1.487
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayır H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kanninen K, Malm TM, Jyrkkanen HK, Goldsteins G, Keksa-Goldsteine V, Tanila H, Yamamoto M, Yla-Herttuala S, Levonen AL, Koistinaho J (2008) Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 protects against beta amyloid. Mol Cell Neurosci 39(3):302–313. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mcn.2008.07.010
- Kapralov AA, Yang Q, Dar HH, Tyurina YY, Anthonymuthu TS, Kim R, St Croix CM, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Liu B, Shrivastava IH, Tyurin VA, Ting HC, Wu YL, Gao Y, Shurin GV, Artyukhova MA, Ponomareva LA, Timashev PS, Domingues RM, Stoyanovsky DA, Greenberger JS, Mallampalli RK, Bahar I, Gabrilovich DI, Bayır H, Kagan VE (2020) Redox lipid reprogramming commands susceptibility of macrophages and microglia to ferroptotic death. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):278–290. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0462-8
- Kielbik M, Szulc-Kielbik I, Klink M (2019) The potential role of iNOS in ovarian cancer progression and chemoresistance. Int J Mol Sci 20(7):1751. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20071751
- Kong R, Wang N, Han W, Bao W, Lu J (2021) IFNγ-mediated repression of system xc(-) drives vulnerability to induced ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Leukoc Biol 110(2): 301–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.3ma1220-815rrr
- Kraft VAN, Bezjian CT, Pfeiffer S, Ringelstetter L, Müller C, Zandkarimi F, Merl-Pham J, Bao X, Anastasov N, Kössl J, Brandner S, Daniels JD, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Hauck SM, Stockwell BR, Hadian K, Schick JA (2020) GTP Cyclohydrolase 1/tetrahydrobiopterin counteract ferroptosis through lipid Remodeling. ACS Cent Sci 6(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 9b01063
- Kühn H, Belkner J, Zaiss S, Fährenklemper T, Wohlfeil S (1994) Involvement of 15-lipoxygenase in early stages of atherogenesis. J Exp Med 179(6):1903–1911. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem. 179.6.1903
- Lai CS, Piette LH (1978) Spin-trapping studies of hydroxyl radical production involved in lipid peroxidation. Arch Biochem Biophys 190(1):27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(78) 90250-3
- Lemke G (2019) How macrophages deal with death. Nat Rev Immunol 19(9):539–549. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41577-019-0167-y
- Li W, Luo LX, Zhou QQ, Gong HB, Fu YY, Yan CY, Li E, Sun J, Luo Z, Ding ZJ, Zhang QY, Mu HL, Cao YF, Ouyang SH, Kurihara H, Li YF, Sun WY, Li M, He RR (2022a) Phospholipid peroxidation inhibits autophagy via stimulating the delipidation of oxidized LC3-PE. Redox Biol 55:102421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102421
- Li Y, Zhao T, Li J, Xia M, Li Y, Wang X, Liu C, Zheng T, Chen R, Kan D, Xie Y, Song J, Feng Y, Yu T, Sun P (2022b) Oxidative stress and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4-HNE): implications in the pathogenesis and treatment of aging-related diseases. J Immunol Res 2022:2233906. https://doi. org/10.1155/2022/2233906
- Liao P, Wang W, Wang W, Kryczek I, Li X, Bian Y, Sell A, Wei S, Grove S, Johnson JK, Kennedy PD, Gijón M, Shah YM, Zou W (2022) CD8(+) T cells and fatty acids orchestrate tumor

ferroptosis and immunity via ACSL4. Cancer Cell 40(4):365–378.e366. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ccell.2022.02.003

- Lim HS, Kim JS, Moon BC, Ryu SM, Lee J, Park G (2019) Batryticatus bombyx protects dopaminergic neurons against MPTP-induced neurotoxicity by inhibiting oxidative damage. Antioxidants (Basel) 8(12):574. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8120574
- Liu R, Li B, Flanagan SW, Oberley LW, Gozal D, Qiu M (2002) Increased mitochondrial antioxidative activity or decreased oxygen free radical propagation prevent mutant SOD1mediated motor neuron cell death and increase amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-like transgenic mouse survival. J Neurochem 80(3):488–500. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0022-3042.2001. 00720.x
- Lopez-Riquelme N, Alom-Poveda J, Viciano-Morote N, Llinares-Ibor I, Tormo-Diaz C (2016) Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele and malondialdehyde level are independent risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. SAGE Open Med 4:2050312115626731. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2050312115626731
- Luo Q, Zheng N, Jiang L, Wang T, Zhang P, Liu Y, Zheng P, Wang W, Xie G, Chen L, Li D, Dong P, Yuan X, Shen L (2020) Lipid accumulation in macrophages confers protumorigenic polarization and immunity in gastric cancer. Cancer Sci 111(11):4000–4011. https://doi.org/10. 1111/cas.14616
- Luo X, Gong HB, Gao HY, Wu YP, Sun WY, Li ZQ, Wang G, Liu B, Liang L, Kurihara H, Duan WJ, Li YF, He RR (2021) Oxygenated phosphatidylethanolamine navigates phagocytosis of ferroptotic cells by interacting with TLR2. Cell Death Differ 28(6):1971–1989. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41418-020-00719-2
- Luoqian J, Yang W, Ding X, Tuo QZ, Xiang Z, Zheng Z, Guo YJ, Li L, Guan P, Ayton S, Dong B, Zhang H, Hu H, Lei P (2022) Ferroptosis promotes T-cell activation-induced neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. Cell Mol Immunol 19(8):913–924. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-022-00883-0
- Magtanong L, Ko PJ, Dixon SJ (2016) Emerging roles for lipids in non-apoptotic cell death. Cell Death Differ 23(7):1099–1109. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2016.25
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Masaldan S, Bush AI, Devos D, Rolland AS, Moreau C (2019) Striking while the iron is hot: iron metabolism and ferroptosis in neurodegeneration. Free Radic Biol Med 133:221–233. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.09.033
- Matsura T, Togawa A, Kai M, Nishida T, Nakada J, Ishibe Y, Kojo S, Yamamoto Y, Yamada K (2005) The presence of oxidized phosphatidylserine on Fas-mediated apoptotic cell surface. Biochim Biophys Acta 1736(3):181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2005.08.011
- Mattson MP (2004) Pathways towards and away from Alzheimer's disease. Nature 430(7000): 631–639. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02621
- Mihalas BP, Bromfield EG, Sutherland JM, De Iuliis GN, McLaughlin EA, Aitken RJ, Nixon B (2018) Oxidative damage in naturally aged mouse oocytes is exacerbated by dysregulation of proteasomal activity. J Biol Chem 293(49):18944–18964. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118. 005751
- Moujalled D, Strasser A, Liddell JR (2021) Molecular mechanisms of cell death in neurological diseases. Cell Death Differ 28(7):2029–2044. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00814-y
- Murphy RC, Folco G (2019) Lysophospholipid acyltransferases and leukotriene biosynthesis: intersection of the lands cycle and the arachidonate PI cycle. J Lipid Res 60(2):219–226. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.S091371
- Niu J, Wan X, Yu GY, Jiang S, Yi RN, Wu YP, Ouyang SH, Liang L, Kurihara H, Sun WY, Zhu XF, Zhang RH, Cao YF, He JB, Duan WJ, Li YF, He RR (2022) Phospholipid peroxidationdriven modification of chondrogenic transcription factor mediates alkoxyl radicals-induced impairment of embryonic bone development. Redox Biol 56:102437. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.redox.2022.102437

- O'Donnell VB, Aldrovandi M, Murphy RC, Krönke G (2019) Enzymatically oxidized phospholipids assume center stage as essential regulators of innate immunity and cell death. Sci Signal 12(574):eaau2293. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aau2293
- Paez-Colasante X, Figueroa-Romero C, Sakowski SA, Goutman SA, Feldman EL (2015) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: mechanisms and therapeutics in the epigenomic era. Nat Rev Neurol 11(5):266–279. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.57
- Pap EH, Drummen GP, Winter VJ, Kooij TW, Rijken P, Wirtz KW, Op den Kamp JA, Hage WJ, Post JA (1999) Ratio-fluorescence microscopy of lipid oxidation in living cells using C11-BODIPY(581/591). FEBS Lett 453(3):278–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0014-5793(99) 00696-1
- Pasinelli P, Brown RH (2006) Molecular biology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: insights from genetics. Nat Rev Neurosci 7(9):710–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1971
- Qin J, Goswami R, Balabanov R, Dawson G (2007) Oxidized phosphatidylcholine is a marker for neuroinflammation in multiple sclerosis brain. J Neurosci Res 85(5):977–984. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jnr.21206
- Ramakrishnan R, Tyurin VA, Veglia F, Condamine T, Amoscato A, Mohammadyani D, Johnson JJ, Zhang LM, Klein-Seetharaman J, Celis E, Kagan VE, Gabrilovich DI (2014) Oxidized lipids block antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells in cancer. J Immunol 192(6):2920–2931. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1302801
- Reed A, Ichu TA, Milosevich N, Melillo B, Schafroth MA, Otsuka Y, Scampavia L, Spicer TP, Cravatt BF (2022) LPCAT3 inhibitors remodel the polyunsaturated phospholipid content of human cells and protect from ferroptosis. ACS Chem Biol 17(6):1607–1618. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acschembio.2c00317
- Reich SG, Savitt JM (2019) Parkinson's disease. Med Clin North Am 103(2):337–350. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mcna.2018.10.014
- Reis A, Spickett CM (2012) Chemistry of phospholipid oxidation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1818(10):2374–2387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.02.002
- Riegman M, Sagie L, Galed C, Levin T, Steinberg N, Dixon SJ, Wiesner U, Bradbury MS, Niethammer P, Zaritsky A, Overholtzer M (2020) Ferroptosis occurs through an osmotic mechanism and propagates independently of cell rupture. Nat Cell Biol 22(9):1042–1048. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0565-1
- Rothammer N, Woo MS, Bauer S, Binkle-Ladisch L, Di Liberto G, Egervari K, Wagner I, Haferkamp U, Pless O, Merkler D, Engler JB, Friese MA (2022) G9a dictates neuronal vulnerability to inflammatory stress via transcriptional control of ferroptosis. Sci Adv 8(31): eabm5500. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm5500
- Sayre LM, Zelasko DA, Harris PL, Perry G, Salomon RG, Smith MA (1997) 4-Hydroxynonenalderived advanced lipid peroxidation end products are increased in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 68(5):2092–2097. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.1997.68052092.x
- Scheltens P, Blennow K, Breteler MM, de Strooper B, Frisoni GB, Salloway S, Van der Flier WM (2016) Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 388(10043):505–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736 (15)01124-1
- Segawa K, Nagata S (2015) An apoptotic 'Eat Me' signal: phosphatidylserine exposure. Trends Cell Biol 25(11):639–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.08.003
- Seibt TM, Proneth B, Conrad M (2019) Role of GPX4 in ferroptosis and its pharmacological implication. Free Radic Biol Med 133:144–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018. 09.014
- Selkoe DJ (2001) Alzheimer's disease results from the cerebral accumulation and cytotoxicity of amyloid beta-protein. J Alzheimers Dis 3(1):75–80. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2001-3111
- Simpson EP, Henry YK, Henkel JS, Smith RG, Appel SH (2004) Increased lipid peroxidation in sera of ALS patients: a potential biomarker of disease burden. Neurology 62(10):1758–1765. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.62.10.1758
- Singh NK, Rao GN (2019) Emerging role of 12/15-lipoxygenase (ALOX15) in human pathologies. Prog Lipid Res 73:28–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2018.11.001

- Southon A, Szostak K, Acevedo KM, Dent KA, Volitakis I, Belaidi AA, Barnham KJ, Crouch PJ, Ayton S, Donnelly PS, Bush AI (2020) Cu(II) (atsm) inhibits ferroptosis: implications for treatment of neurodegenerative disease. Br J Pharmacol 177(3):656–667. https://doi.org/10. 1111/bph.14881
- Spickett CM, Pitt AR (2015) Oxidative lipidomics coming of age: advances in analysis of oxidized phospholipids in physiology and pathology. Antioxid Redox Signal 22(18):1646–1666. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.6098
- Stamenkovic A, O'Hara KA, Nelson DC, Maddaford TG, Edel AL, Maddaford G, Dibrov E, Aghanoori M, Kirshenbaum LA, Fernyhough P, Aliani M, Pierce GN, Ravandi A (2021) Oxidized phosphatidylcholines trigger ferroptosis in cardiomyocytes during ischemiareperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 320(3):H1170–h1184. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpheart.00237.2020
- Stillwell W, Wassall SR (2003) Docosahexaenoic acid: membrane properties of a unique fatty acid. Chem Phys Lipids 126(1):1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0009-3084(03)00101-4
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.06.003
- Stockwell BR, Jiang X (2020) The chemistry and biology of ferroptosis. Cell Chem Biol 27(4): 365–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.013
- Stockwell BR, Jiang X, Gu W (2020) Emerging mechanisms and disease relevance of ferroptosis. Trends Cell Biol 30(6):478–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2020.02.009
- Su P, Wang Q, Bi E, Ma X, Liu L, Yang M, Qian J, Yi Q (2020) Enhanced lipid accumulation and metabolism are required for the differentiation and activation of tumor-associated macrophages. Cancer Res 80(7):1438–1450. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-19-2994
- Sun WY, Tyurin VA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Anthonymuthu TS, Zhai YJ, Pan MH, Gong HB, Lu DH, Sun J, Duan WJ, Korolev S, Abramov AY, Angelova PR, Miller I, Beharier O, Mao GW, Dar HH, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Hastings TG, Greenamyre TJ, Chu CT, Sadovsky Y, Bahar I, Bayır H, Tyurina YY, He RR, Kagan VE (2021) Phospholipase iPLA(2)β averts ferroptosis by eliminating a redox lipid death signal. Nat Chem Biol 17(4): 465–476. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-00734-x
- Tait JF, Smith C (1999) Phosphatidylserine receptors: Role of cd36 in binding of anionic phospholipid vesicles to monocytic cells. J Biol Chem 274(5):3048–3054
- Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E (2008) LC3 and autophagy. Methods Mol Biol 445:77–88. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-157-4_4
- Tsikas D (2017) Assessment of lipid peroxidation by measuring malondialdehyde (MDA) and relatives in biological samples: analytical and biological challenges. Anal Biochem 524:13–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2016.10.021
- Tu LF, Zhang TZ, Zhou YF, Zhou QQ, Gong HB, Liang L, Hai LN, You NX, Su Y, Chen YJ, Mo XK, Shi CZ, Luo LP, Sun WY, Duan WJ, Kurihara H, Li YF, He RR (2023) GPX4 deficiency-dependent phospholipid peroxidation drives motor deficits of ALS. J Adv Res 43:205–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2022.02.016
- Tyurin VA, Balasubramanian K, Winnica D, Tyurina YY, Vikulina AS, He RR, Kapralov AA, Macphee CH, Kagan VE (2014) Oxidatively modified phosphatidylserines on the surface of apoptotic cells are essential phagocytic 'eat-me' signals: cleavage and inhibition of phagocytosis by Lp-PLA2. Cell Death Differ 21(5):825–835. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.1
- van Es MA, Hardiman O, Chio A, Al-Chalabi A, Pasterkamp RJ, Veldink JH, van den Berg LH (2017) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet 390(10107):2084–2098. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(17)31287-4
- Wang B, Tontonoz P (2019) Phospholipid remodeling in physiology and disease. Annu Rev Physiol 81:165–188. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-020518-114444
- Wang T, Tomas D, Perera ND, Cuic B, Luikinga S, Viden A, Barton SK, McLean CA, Samson AL, Southon A, Bush AI, Murphy JM, Turner BJ (2022) Ferroptosis mediates selective motor neuron death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell Death Differ 29(6):1187–1198. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41418-021-00910-z

- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, Mao G, Tyurin VA, Anthonymuthu TS, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Kenny EM, Yang Q, Rosenbaum JC, Sparvero LJ, Emlet DR, Wen X, Minami Y, Qu F, Watkins SC, Holman TR, VanDemark AP, Kellum JA, Bahar I, Bayir H, Kagan VE (2017) PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. Cell 171(3):628–641 e626. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.044
- Wiernicki B, Dubois H, Tyurina YY, Hassannia B, Bayir H, Kagan VE, Vandenabeele P, Wullaert A, Vanden Berghe T (2020) Excessive phospholipid peroxidation distinguishes ferroptosis from other cell death modes including pyroptosis. Cell Death Dis 11(10):922. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03118-0
- Williams TL, Serpell LC (2011) Membrane and surface interactions of Alzheimer's Aβ peptide-insights into the mechanism of cytotoxicity. FEBS J 278(20):3905–3917. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08228.x
- Wong-Ekkabut J, Xu Z, Triampo W, Tang IM, Tieleman DP, Monticelli L (2007) Effect of lipid peroxidation on the properties of lipid bilayers: a molecular dynamics study. Biophys J 93(12): 4225–4236. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.107.112565
- Xu S, Chaudhary O, Rodríguez-Morales P, Sun X, Chen D, Zappasodi R, Xu Z, Pinto AFM, Williams A, Schulze I, Farsakoglu Y, Varanasi SK, Low JS, Tang W, Wang H, McDonald B, Tripple V, Downes M, Evans RM, Abumrad NA, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Shokhirev MN, Ho PC, Witztum JL, Emu B, Cui G, Kaech SM (2021) Uptake of oxidized lipids by the scavenger receptor CD36 promotes lipid peroxidation and dysfunction in CD8(+) T cells in tumors. Immunity 54(7):1561–1577.e1567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2021.05.003
- Yamanaka K, Saito Y, Sakiyama J, Ohuchi Y, Oseto F, Noguchi N (2012) A novel fluorescent probe with high sensitivity and selective detection of lipid hydroperoxides in cells. RSC Adv 2(20):7894–7900
- Yan HF, Zou T, Tuo QZ, Xu S, Li H, Belaidi AA, Lei P (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms and links with diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6(1):49. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00428-9
- Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, Cheah JH, Clemons PA, Shamji AF, Clish CB, Brown LM, Girotti AW, Cornish VW, Schreiber SL, Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. Cell 156(1–2): 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, Belter JG, Motta L, Richardson A, Prolla TA (2003) The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. Free Radic Biol Med 34(4):496–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0891-5849(02)01360-6
- Yin H, Xu L, Porter NA (2011) Free radical lipid peroxidation: mechanisms and analysis. Chem Rev 111(10):5944–5972. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200084z
- Yoon JH, Seo Y, Jo YS, Lee S, Cho E, Cazenave-Gassiot A, Shin YS, Moon MH, An HJ, Wenk MR, Suh PG (2022) Brain lipidomics: from functional landscape to clinical significance. Sci Adv 8(37):eadc9317. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adc9317
- Zhang S, Fang C, Yuan W, Zhang Y, Yan G, Zhang L, Di Y, Cai Y, Lu H (2019) Selective identification and site-specific quantification of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal-modified proteins. Anal Chem 91(8):5235–5243. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.8b05970
- Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ (2014) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ROS-induced ROS release. Physiol Rev 94(3):909–950. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev. 00026.2013
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6



20

431

PKCβII–ACSL4 Axis Triggers Ferroptosis and Its Potential Implication in Ferroptosis-Related Diseases

Yi-Qing Guo, Hai-Liang Zhang, Rong Deng, and Xiao-Feng Zhu

Abstract

Ferroptosis is a regulated cell death process independent of apoptosis, triggered by excessive peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in the presence of iron. This mode of cell death is closely linked to various pathological conditions, such as cancers, neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and ischemia/reperfusion injury. The enzymes ACSL4 and LPCAT3 play crucial roles in incorporating free PUFAs into cellular membranes. ACSL4 facilitates the conversion of long-chain fatty acids to their active form called acyl-CoA, enabling lipid synthesis, while LPCAT3 promotes the subsequent integration of these fatty acids into phosphatidylethanolamine, a vital component of cell membranes. We recently uncovered a lipid peroxidation-PKCBII-ACSL4 positive-feedback loop that drives ferroptosis, particularly in the context of cancer immunotherapy. We observed that increased phosphorylation of ACSL4 at Thr328 during ferroptosis may serve as a potential biomarker for identifying ferroptosis in different physiological and pathological contexts. In this chapter, we delve into the significance of the PKCBII-ACSL4 axis in ferroptosis and its relevance to related diseases.

Distinct from apoptosis, ferroptosis is a recently identified form of cell death that is primarily driven by excessive peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in an iron-catalyzed manner (Dixon et al. 2012). Ferroptosis is characterized by the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and can potentially be prevented

Y.-Q. Guo · H.-L. Zhang · R. Deng · X.-F. Zhu (⊠)

State Key Laboratory of Oncology in South China, Collaborative Innovation Center for Cancer Medicine, Guangdong Key Laboratory of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma Diagnosis and Therapy, Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center, Guangzhou, China e-mail: zhuxfeng@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_20

through the use of iron chelators, antioxidants, or genetic ablation of iron uptake (Yang and Stockwell 2008; Yagoda et al. 2007). As a regulatory cell death mechanism, ferroptosis is classified separately from other known forms of regulatory cell death based on genetic, biochemical, and morphological distinctions, according to the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death (NCCD) (Tang et al. 2019). Distinct morphological characteristics of ferroptosis can be observed using transmission electron microscopy, including shrunken mitochondria with decreased crista, increased membrane density, and membrane rupture (Dixon et al. 2012; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014). Biochemical features such as iron and ROS accumulation, decreased cystine uptake, glutathione (GSH) exhaustion, and excessive lipid peroxidation have been identified in ferroptosis (Zheng and Conrad 2020; Xie et al. 2016). Unlike inhibitors that effectively prevent apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagic cell death, traditional inhibitors have shown limited success in impeding ferroptosis, indicating that ferroptosis follows a distinct pathway (Dixon et al. 2012). However, it should be noted that recent studies suggest a potential link between autophagy and ferroptosis, indicating that autophagy can promote ferroptosis in certain circumstances (Chen et al. 2023a). Ferroptosis is regulated by complex intracellular metabolic events and multiple signaling pathways (Chen et al. 2021c). It has been demonstrated to play a significant role in various pathological contexts, including cancers, neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) (Pefanis et al. 2019; Reichert et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021b; Jiang et al. 2021). Consequently, targeting ferroptosis holds promise as a strategy for managing these life-threatening diseases.

The term "ferroptosis" was coined in 2012 by the research group led by Brent R. Stockwell. They observed a distinct form of cell death when treating cells with erastin, a selective lethal compound that targets RAS-mutant tumors. Since many tumors rely heavily on iron for their progression (Torti et al. 2018), accumulating evidence suggests that ferroptosis plays a crucial role in suppressing tumor growth. Therefore, ferroptosis is considered a potential vulnerability, or Achilles' heel, in cancer. Numerous ferroptosis inducers (FINs), including experimental compounds and clinical drugs, have been shown to combat cancer by suppressing tumorigenesis and metastasis through the induction of ferroptosis. Excessive lipid peroxidation, a hallmark of ferroptosis, results in the breakdown of membrane integrity and subsequent cell death. Among various fatty acids (FAs), polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) have been identified as the most susceptible lipid species to peroxidation and are crucial for the execution of ferroptosis when incorporated into membrane phospholipids (Stockwell 2022).

Fatty acids (FAs) can be acquired either directly from the surrounding environment or through de novo synthesis. Exogenous FAs are obtained by a group of transporters, including the fatty acid transport protein family (FATPs, also known as solute carrier protein family 27 or SLC27), CD36 (also referred to as fatty acid translocase or FAT), and plasma membrane fatty acid-binding proteins (FABP) (Su and Abumrad 2009). In terms of de novo lipogenesis, cells utilize carbon sources such as glucose, glutamine, and acetate to synthesize citrate. ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) then converts citrate into acetyl-CoA. Acetyl-CoA carboxylases (ACCs)
irreversibly carboxylate acetyl-CoA into malonyl-CoA, which serves as the substrate for fatty acid synthesis. Fatty acid synthase catalyzes the condensation of seven malonyl-CoA molecules and one acetyl-CoA molecule, ultimately generating palmitate, a saturated 16-carbon FA. Palmitate serves as the building block for various FAs as it can undergo desaturation and elongation through the enzymatic activities of stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD1), fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2), and elongation of very long-chain fatty acid protein (ELOVLs) (Kuhajda et al. 1994; Currie et al. 2013). Alternatively, excess FAs are stored in cytoplasmic organelles called lipid droplets (LDs) in the form of triacylglycerides (TAGs) and sterol esters (Olzmann and Carvalho 2019). LDs help maintain lipid homeostasis and provide acetyl-CoA and NADPH through β -oxidation when cells experience metabolic stress.

FAs are a rich source of energy and can generate ATP through fatty acid oxidation (FAO), also known as β -oxidation (Lehner and Quiroga 2016; Bian et al. 2021). Firstly, FAs are activated in the cytosol by fatty acyl-CoA synthetases (ACSs) to form fatty acyl-CoA. To support FAO in the mitochondria, fatty acyl-CoA needs to be transported into the mitochondrial matrix. In the outer mitochondrial membrane, fatty acyl-CoA is converted to fatty acylcarnitine by carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1) and then transferred to the inner mitochondrial membrane by carnitine/acylcarnitine translocase (CACT). On the matrix side of the inner membrane, acyl-CoA is converted back from acylcarnitine and subsequently undergoes a series of four sequential enzymatic steps for breakdown. The enzymes involved in β-oxidation include acyl-CoA dehydrogenase, enoyl-CoA hydratase, L-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase, and β -ketothiolase. This fourstep cycle is repeated until all the carbon atoms of the fatty acyl-CoA molecule are converted into acetyl-CoA. Energy is generated from the breakdown products of FAO. Acetyl-CoA enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, and the other products, NADH and FADH2, serve as coenzymes in the electron transport chain to generate ATP. In addition to generating ATP, FAs are also involved in the synthesis of more complex lipids (Koundouros and Poulogiannis 2020).

In the context of ferroptosis, phosphatidylethanolamine (PE)-containing arachidonic acids (AA) and adrenic acids (AdA) act as preferred substrates for oxidation, fueling the execution of ferroptosis (Kagan et al. 2017). Mechanistically, the carbon–hydrogen (C–H) bonds of the bis-allylic methylene groups, found between conjugated dienes, are known to be the weakest among all C–H bonds. Due to the vulnerability of these specific C–H bonds, the bis-allylic hydrogen atom in polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), such as AA and AdA, is susceptible to abstraction. This leads to the formation of a peroxyl radical when in the presence of oxygen, particularly under conditions rich in iron and ROS (Lin et al. 2021). This process can occur through the Fenton reaction or enzymatic activities, such as lipoxygenases (LOXs), ultimately contributing to ferroptosis (Conrad and Pratt 2019; Yang et al. 2016). Enzymes involved in fatty acid metabolism have been shown to play a role in ferroptosis. For example, knockdown of stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) inhibits lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Vriens et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2023). Inhibiting acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) also confers resistance to

ferroptosis (Lee et al. 2020). Impairment of fatty acid oxidation (FAO) results in the accumulation of PUFAs, thereby promoting ferroptosis (Venkatesh et al. 2020; Nassar et al. 2020).

LOXs are non-heme iron-dependent enzymes that directly oxygenate PUFAs in cell membranes (Kuhn et al. 2015). Among PUFAs, AA and linoleic acid (LA) are the most common substrates for LOXs (Gaschler and Stockwell 2017). Inhibition or deletion of ALOX12 or ALOX15 impedes ferroptosis in various pathological contexts, including neurodegenerative diseases and cancers (van Leyen et al. 2006; Shah et al. 2018). It is worth noting that LOXs may play a more prominent role in specific circumstances (Kuang et al. 2021). ALOX12 is essential in p53-mediated that occurs independently of ACSL4 ferroptosis (Chu et al. 2019). Phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1 (PEBP1), a scaffold protein and inhibitor of protein kinase cascades, complexes with LOXs and enables ferroptosis (Wenzel et al. 2017). Additionally, cytochrome p450 oxidoreductase (POR) has been reported to induce ferroptosis by promoting lipid peroxidation as an electron donor (Ghosh et al. 1997; Zou et al. 2020).

Although lipid peroxidation is a well-established hallmark of ferroptosis, the precise mechanisms by which lipid peroxidation is sensed and triggers ferroptosis are not fully understood. In our study, we have elucidated a positive-feedback loop known as the lipid peroxidation-PKCβII-ACSL4 loop, which plays a critical role in driving ferroptosis. Mechanistically, PKCβII serves as a sensor of lipid peroxidation and becomes activated in response to elevated levels of lipid peroxides. Subsequently, PKCβII phosphorylates ACSL4 at Thr328, leading to the activation of ACSL4 through dimerization. This activation of ACSL4 further amplifies the lipid peroxidation process, thereby promoting ferroptosis. In our research, we aim to provide a comprehensive understanding of the contribution and underlying mechanisms of lipid metabolism in the regulation of ferroptosis across various contexts. Additionally, we propose that targeting the lipid peroxidation-PKCβII-ACSL4 amplification loop could be a potential therapeutic strategy for diseases associated with ferroptosis.

ACSL4, encoded by the ACSL4 gene, is located on human chromosome Xq23. It was initially reported and named in 1997 and found to be expressed in various tissues including the adrenal gland (where it is most abundant), brain, liver, and other tissues with low tissue specificity (Kang et al. 1997). ACSL4 is a single-pass type III membrane protein and is found in different subcellular locations, including the outer membrane of mitochondria, peroxisome membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, and cell membrane (Ohkuni et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2021). Structurally, ACSL4 consists of an AMP-dependent synthesis/ligase domain, and the absence of 50 amino acids in its N-terminus may contribute to its distinct preference for fatty acids compared to other members of its family (Fig. 20.1) (Kang et al. 1997). As an isozyme of the long-chain fatty acid-CoA ligase family, ACSL4 converts and activates free PUFAs, particularly arachidonic acid (AA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), by attaching CoA to them, forming acyl-CoA esters. These active acyl-CoA esters further contribute to membrane alterations and fatty acid metabolism, including lipid synthesis and degradation through β -oxidation (Ohkuni et al. 2013; Nakahara et al. 2012;



TM: Transmembrane Domain

Fig. 20.1 Phosphorylation sites of ACSL4. Previous studies utilizing phosphoproteomics have identified several phosphorylation sites of ACSL4 (Smith et al. 2013; Yángüez et al. 2018; Osinalde et al. 2016; Beltrao et al. 2012; Olsen et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2017). However, the precise function and the kinases responsible for regulating these sites remain poorly understood. In our study, we aimed to address this knowledge gap. By mutating potential phosphorylation sites predicted by GPS and SCANSITE programs to non-phosphorylatable alanine (Ala), we successfully confirmed that PKC β II directly phosphorylates ACSL4 at Thr328. This phosphorylation event subsequently activates ACSL4 and plays a crucial role in fueling ferroptosis (Zhang et al. 2022)

Grevengoed et al. 2014). The absence of ACSL4 has been speculated to contribute to conditions such as Alport syndrome or mental retardation (Meloni et al. 2002). Furthermore, several lines of evidence indicate that ACSL4 expression is associated with carcinogenesis and aggressive phenotypes in colon adenocarcinoma, hormone-resistant prostate cancer, and breast cancer (Cao et al. 2001; Wu et al. 2015; Orlando et al. 2015).

Extensive research has clearly established the crucial role of ACSL4 in ferroptosis. Mechanistically, ACSL4 converts PUFA into PUFA-CoA, which is then incorporated into membrane phospholipids by LPCAT3, thereby fueling the execution of ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017; Yuan et al. 2016; Lin et al. 2022). Additionally, ferroptosis is involved in cancer immunotherapy in an SLC7A11- or ACSL4-dependent manner. They also demonstrated that interferon (IFN) γ induces ACSL4 expression through the JAK/STAT1 signaling pathway, leading to increased incorporation of PUFA-CoA into membrane phospholipids and promoting ferroptosis (Liao et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2019).

In our study (Zhang et al. 2022), we employed two independent approaches: (1) a genome-wide CRISPR Cas9 screening, and (2) a screening of kinase inhibitors in combination with the ferroptosis inducer erastin. Interestingly, both approaches identified PKC β as a potential uncharacterized pro-ferroptotic gene. The protein kinase C (PKC) family comprises a group of phospholipid-dependent Ser/Thr kinases, consisting of eight isoenzymes (PKC α , PKC β I, PKC β II, PKC γ , PKC δ , PKC ε , PKC θ , and PKC η). These kinases have been implicated in a wide range of signal transduction pathways activated by hormones and growth factors, exerting their effects by phosphorylating target proteins (Kang et al. 2012; Mochly-Rosen et al. 2012). Evidence from several studies reveals an intimate correlation between PKCs and oxidative stress (Nakajima 2008; Gopalakrishna and Jaken 2000; Steinberg 2015).

We conducted experiments to demonstrate the impact of PKC inhibitors on lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis induced by ferroptosis inducers (FINs). Specifically, the PKC inhibitors Go6983 and enzastaurin significantly inhibited lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis, indicating their role in inhibiting PKC rather than functioning as radical-trapping antioxidants. As Go6983 and enzastaurin are pan-PKC inhibitors, we further investigated the specificity of PKC isoforms in relation to ferroptosis vulnerability. To accomplish this, we generated models with genetic knockout of each PKC isoform and observed that deletion of PKC isoforms other than PKC^β had minimal effect on ferroptosis susceptibility. Through in-depth analysis, we discovered that only PKCBII, and not PKCBI, modulated ferroptosis. By examining the correlation between basal PKCBII expression and susceptibility to ferroptosis in a panel of cancer cell lines, we confirmed that PKCBII universally contributes to the susceptibility of cancer cells to ferroptosis. Notably, cells with high levels of PKCBII expression were found to be more susceptible to ferroptosis compared to cells with low PKCBII expression, suggesting that PKCBII may serve as a potential contributor and biomarker of ferroptosis.

Furthermore, we made an intriguing discovery that PKC β II might function as a sensor of lipid peroxidation during ferroptosis. The activation of PKC β II was induced by FINs, promoting its phosphorylation and membrane localization. In contrast, lipid peroxidation scavengers such as ferrostatin-1 and liprostatin-1 completely inhibited PKC β II activation. To further investigate the role of PKC β II, we transfected PKC β II kinase-dead mutants into PKC β -knockout cells, which did not increase lipid peroxidation or ferroptosis. This suggests that the function of PKC β II in ferroptosis is dependent on its kinase activity.

Based on our findings, we put forth a hypothesis that PKCBII modulates ferroptosis by influencing the generation or scavenging of lipid peroxidation products. Since PKCBII did not have an impact on the expression of GPX4 (glutathione peroxidase 4) or cellular divalent iron levels, we further investigated the relationship between PKCBII and ACSL4. Through immunoprecipitation experiments, we observed an enhanced interaction between ACSL4 and PKCBII during ferroptosis, which was abolished upon treatment with PKCBII inhibitors. To support our hypothesis that PKCBII promotes ferroptosis by phosphorylating and activating ACSL4, we finally confirmed that PKCBII directly phosphorylates ACSL4 at Thr328. Moreover, we provided compelling evidence that PKCBIImediated ACSL4 phosphorylation at Thr328 is a prerequisite for ACSL4 activation, lipid peroxide accumulation, and the execution of ferroptosis. In this process, we uncovered an unrecognized positive-feedback loop, namely the lipid peroxidation-PKCβII-ACSL4 loop, which plays a significant role in ferroptosis (Fig. 20.2). It is important to note that ferroptosis is involved in various pathological contexts, including cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, and ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) (Pefanis et al. 2019; Reichert et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021b; Jiang et al. 2021). In our study, we also observed an increase in ACSL4 Thr328 phosphorylation during IRI, suggesting that the phosphorylation level of ACSL4 at Thr328 could serve as a potential biomarker for identifying ferroptosis in different physiological or pathological contexts.



Fig. 20.2 Lipid peroxidation–PKCβII–ACSL4 positive feedback loop

Our study provides valuable insights into the execution process of ferroptosis by uncovering a self-enabling loop. Previous studies have predominantly considered ACSL4 as a passive participant in ferroptosis. However, our research demonstrates that ACSL4 plays a proactive role in driving ferroptosis through the lipid peroxidation-PKCBII-ACSL4 positive amplification loop. Nevertheless, our study raises several unanswered questions that require further investigation (Lei et al. 2022; Rodencal and Dixon 2022). Firstly, it remains unknown how PKCBII senses lipid peroxides and becomes activated. Additionally, it is unclear whether PKCBII can also sense other peroxides, such as PUFA-containing ether phospholipids. Importantly, we need to understand why the lipid peroxidation-PKCBII-ACSL4 positivefeedback cascade is necessary for ferroptosis. On one hand, we hypothesize that the inherent PUFA-containing phospholipids on the cell membrane may not be sufficient to generate lipid peroxidation to a lethal level. Therefore, we speculate that the lipid peroxidation-PKCBII-ACSL4 positive-feedback loop provides additional PUFA-containing phospholipid substrates, facilitating the propagation of lipid peroxidation throughout the cellular membranes and accelerating ferroptosis. Moreover, our study suggests that the lipid peroxidation-PKCBII-ACSL4 feedforward signal amplification loop may account for the "all-or-nothing" manner of ACSL4 in ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2017). In other words, even a limited amount of ACSL4 is sufficient to trigger ferroptosis in the presence of the lipid peroxidation-PKCβII-ACSL4 feedforward signal amplification loop. On the other hand, there is a competition at the membrane between processes that promote or counteract lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. For instance, phospholipases prevent lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis by cleaving oxidized phospholipid acyl chains from the membrane (Beharier et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021a; Sun et al. 2021), and ACSL3, another isozyme in the ACSL family, retards ferroptosis by activating monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) that can substitute PUFAs in membrane phospholipids (Magtanong et al. 2019; Ubellacker et al. 2020). Furthermore, membrane repair mediated by the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) hinders the execution of ferroptosis by removing oxidatively damaged membrane components (Dai et al. 2020). The lipid peroxidation-PKCβII-ACSL4 feedforward signal amplification loop may serve to counteract these protective mechanisms mentioned above, highlighting its significance in the regulation of ferroptosis.

Ferroptosis has been shown to play a significant role in CD8+ T cell-mediated cancer immunotherapy. IFN γ derived from CD8+ T cells induces ferroptosis in cancer cells by downregulating SLC7A11, leading to glutathione depletion (Wang et al. 2019). Additionally, they demonstrated that IFN γ stimulates ACSL4 expression, further enhancing ferroptosis. They proposed a novel approach for natural ferroptosis induction using a combination of PUFAs and CD8+ T cell-derived IFN γ (Liao et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2019). Furthermore, ACSL4-deficient cancer cells exhibited impaired T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity, highlighting the crucial role of ACSL4 in the effectiveness of cancer immunotherapy by regulating ferroptosis in cancer cells. In our study, we confirmed that the PKC β II-ACSL4 axis functions as a crucial regulator of ferroptosis in the context of cancer immunotherapy, acting as a steering mechanism. Consequently, the PKC β II-ACSL4 axis may serve as an indicator of tumor response to immunotherapy in clinical applications. Modulating the PKC β II-ACSL4 axis could be a promising strategy to enhance ferroptosis, ultimately eradicating cancers.

In addition to cancers, there is substantial evidence indicating that ferroptosis contributes to cell death associated with IRI and neurodegenerative diseases (Smith et al. 2013; Cui et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2022; Tang et al. 2021). Studies have demonstrated that inhibiting ferroptosis using iron chelators significantly blocks cardiomyocyte cell death (Fang et al. 2019). ACSL4-mediated ferroptosis exacerbates neuroinflammation and stroke caused by IRI (Cui et al. 2021). Notably, inhibiting ferroptosis remarkably mitigates acute kidney injury (Wang et al. 2022). Similarly, our study revealed an increase in ACSL4 Thr328 phosphorylation during IRI, suggesting that interfering with the PKCβII-ACSL4 axis is a promising strategy to alleviate ferroptosis-associated diseases, such as IRI and neurodegenerative diseases. Furthermore, Zhao et al. demonstrated that human hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are vulnerable to ferroptosis, contributing to bone marrow failure (Zhao et al. 2023). A recent study also revealed that Mycobacterium tuberculosis exploits ferroptosis in host cells to promote its spread and pathogenicity (Qiang et al. 2023). Based on these findings, we hypothesize that blocking ferroptosis by interfering with the PKCβII-ACSL4 axis may be a promising therapeutic approach for bone marrow failure and tuberculosis. However, further exploration is needed to determine appropriate therapeutic windows for PKCBII activators to ensure better clinical application and minimize potential side effects. Furthermore, the identification of specific substrates within the PKC family is crucial for comprehending the phosphorylation modifications involved in ferroptosis (Sun et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2023b).

References

- Beharier O, Tyurin VA, Goff JP, Guerrero-Santoro J, Kajiwara K, Chu T, Tyurina YY, St Croix CM, Wallace CT, Parry S, Parks WT, Kagan VE, Sadovsky Y (2020) PLA2G6 guards placental trophoblasts against ferroptotic injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci 117(44):27319–27328. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.2009201117
- Beltrao P, Albanèse V, Kenner LR, Swaney DL, Burlingame A, Villén J, Lim WA, Fraser JS, Frydman J, Krogan NJ (2012) Systematic functional prioritization of protein posttranslational modifications. Cell 150(2):413–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.036
- Bian X, Liu R, Meng Y, Xing D, Xu D, Lu Z (2021) Lipid metabolism and cancer. J Exp Med 218(1):e20201606. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20201606
- Cao Y, Dave KB, Doan TP, Prescott SM (2001) Fatty acid CoA ligase 4 is up-regulated in colon adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 61(23):8429–8434
- Chen D, Chu B, Yang X, Liu Z, Jin Y, Kon N, Rabadan R, Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Gu W (2021a) iPLA2β-mediated lipid detoxification controls p53-driven ferroptosis independent of GPX4. Nat Commun 12(1):3644. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23902-6
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021b) Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 18(5):280–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021c) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen F, Cai X, Kang R, Liu J, Tang D (2023a) Autophagy-dependent ferroptosis in cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2022.0202
- Chen X, Song X, Li J, Zhang R, Yu C, Zhou Z, Liu J, Liao S, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Liu J, Tang D, Kang R (2023b) Identification of HPCAL1 as a specific autophagy receptor involved in ferroptosis. Autophagy 19(1):54–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2059170
- Chu B, Kon N, Chen D, Li T, Liu T, Jiang L, Song S, Tavana O, Gu W (2019) ALOX12 is required for p53-mediated tumour suppression through a distinct ferroptosis pathway. Nat Cell Biol 21(5):579–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-019-0305-6
- Conrad M, Pratt DA (2019) The chemical basis of ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 15(12):1137–1147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-019-0408-1
- Cui Y, Zhang Y, Zhao X, Shao L, Liu G, Sun C, Xu R, Zhang Z (2021) ACSL4 exacerbates ischemic stroke by promoting ferroptosis-induced brain injury and neuroinflammation. Brain Behav Immun 93:312–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2021.01.003
- Currie E, Schulze A, Zechner R, Walther Tobias C, Farese Robert V (2013) Cellular fatty acid metabolism and cancer. Cell Metab 18(2):153–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.05.017
- Dai E, Meng L, Kang R, Wang X, Tang D (2020) ESCRT-III-dependent membrane repair blocks ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 522(2):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc. 2019.11.110
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trumbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Fullekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, Gu S, Gao F, Zhu N, Yin X, Cheng Q, Zhang P, Dai W, Chen J, Yang F, Yang HT, Linkermann A, Gu W, Min J, Wang F (2019) Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(7):2672–2680. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Rådmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T,

Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Förster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064

- Gaschler MM, Stockwell BR (2017) Lipid peroxidation in cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482(3):419–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.086
- Ghosh MK, Mukhopadhyay M, Chatterjee IB (1997) NADPH-initiated cytochrome P450dependent free iron-independent microsomal lipid peroxidation: specific prevention by ascorbic acid. Mol Cell Biochem 166(1-2):35–44. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006841228483
- Gopalakrishna R, Jaken S (2000) Protein kinase C signaling and oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 28(9):1349–1361. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0891-5849(00)00221-5
- Grevengoed TJ, Klett EL, Coleman RA (2014) Acyl-CoA metabolism and partitioning. Annu Rev Nutr 34:1–30. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105541
- Huang FK, Zhang G, Lawlor K, Nazarian A, Philip J, Tempst P, Dephoure N, Neubert TA (2017) Deep coverage of global protein expression and phosphorylation in breast tumor cell lines using TMT 10-plex isobaric labeling. J Proteome Res 16(3):1121–1132. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. jproteome.6b00374
- Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M (2021) Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 22(4):266–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8
- Kagan VE, Mao G, Qu F, Angeli JP, Doll S, Croix CS, Dar HH, Liu B, Tyurin VA, Ritov VB, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Jiang J, Anthonymuthu T, Mohammadyani D, Yang Q, Proneth B, Klein-Seetharaman J, Watkins S, Bahar I, Greenberger J, Mallampalli RK, Stockwell BR, Tyurina YY, Conrad M, Bayır H (2017) Oxidized arachidonic and adrenic PEs navigate cells to ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):81–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2238
- Kang M-J, Fujino T, Sasano H, Minekura H, Yabuki N, Nagura H, Iijima H, Yamamoto TT (1997) A novel arachidonate-preferring acyl-CoA synthetase is present in steroidogenic cells of the rat adrenal, ovary, and testis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(7):2880–2884. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.94.7.2880
- Kang JH, Toita R, Kim CW, Katayama Y (2012) Protein kinase C (PKC) isozyme-specific substrates and their design. Biotechnol Adv 30(6):1662–1672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2012.07.004
- Koundouros N, Poulogiannis G (2020) Reprogramming of fatty acid metabolism in cancer. Br J Cancer 122(1):4–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0650-z
- Kuang F, Liu J, Xie Y, Tang D, Kang R (2021) MGST1 is a redox-sensitive repressor of ferroptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Cell Chem Biol 28(6):765–775 e765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2021.01.006
- Kuhajda FP, Jenner K, Wood FD, Hennigar RA, Jacobs LB, Dick JD, Pasternack GR (1994) Fatty acid synthesis: a potential selective target for antineoplastic therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 91(14): 6379–6383. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.14.6379
- Kuhn H, Banthiya S, van Leyen K (2015) Mammalian lipoxygenases and their biological relevance. Biochim Biophys Acta 1851(4):308–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.10.002
- Lee H, Zandkarimi F, Zhang Y, Meena JK, Kim J, Zhuang L, Tyagi S, Ma L, Westbrook TF, Steinberg GR, Nakada D, Stockwell BR, Gan B (2020) Energy-stress-mediated AMPK activation inhibits ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 22(2):225–234. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0461-8
- Lehner R, Quiroga AD (2016) Chapter 5 Fatty acid handling in mammalian cells. In: Ridgway ND, McLeod RS (eds) Biochemistry of lipids, lipoproteins and membranes, 6th edn. Elsevier, Boston, pp 149–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63438-2.00005-5
- Lei G, Horbath A, Li Z, Gan B (2022) PKCβII–ACSL4 pathway mediating ferroptosis execution and antitumor immunity. Cancer Commun 42(7):583–586. 10.1002/cac2.v42.7. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cac2.12319
- Liao P, Wang W, Wang W, Kryczek I, Li X, Bian Y, Sell A, Wei S, Grove S, Johnson JK, Kennedy PD, Gijon M, Shah YM, Zou W (2022) CD8(+) T cells and fatty acids orchestrate tumor

ferroptosis and immunity via ACSL4. Cancer Cell 40(4):365-378 e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ccell.2022.02.003

- Lin Z, Liu J, Kang R, Yang M, Tang D (2021) Lipid metabolism in ferroptosis. Adv Biol (Weinh) 5(8):e2100396. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.202100396
- Lin Z, Liu J, Long F, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D, Yang M (2022) The lipid flippase SLC47A1 blocks metabolic vulnerability to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 13(1):7965. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-022-35707-2
- Liu Y, Wang Y, Lin Z, Kang R, Tang D, Liu J (2023) SLC25A22 as a key mitochondrial transporter against ferroptosis by producing GSH and MUFAs. Antioxid Redox Signal. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ars.2022.0203
- Magtanong L, Ko P-J, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, Ward CC, Cho K, Patti GJ, Nomura DK, Olzmann JA, Dixon SJ (2019) Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. Cell Chem Biol 26(3):420–432.e429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2018.11.016
- Meloni I, Muscettola M, Raynaud M, Longo I, Bruttini M, Moizard MP, Gomot M, Chelly J, des Portes V, Fryns JP, Ropers HH, Magi B, Bellan C, Volpi N, Yntema HG, Lewis SE, Schaffer JE, Renieri A (2002) FACL4, encoding fatty acid-CoA ligase 4, is mutated in nonspecific X-linked mental retardation. Nat Genet 30(4):436–440. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng857
- Mochly-Rosen D, Das K, Grimes KV (2012) Protein kinase C, an elusive therapeutic target? Nat Rev Drug Discov 11(12):937–957. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3871
- Nakahara K, Ohkuni A, Kitamura T, Abe K, Naganuma T, Ohno Y, Zoeller RA, Kihara A (2012) The Sjögren-Larsson syndrome gene encodes a hexadecenal dehydrogenase of the sphingosine 1-phosphate degradation pathway. Mol Cell 46(4):461–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel. 2012.04.033
- Nakajima T (2008) Positive and negative regulation of radiation-induced apoptosis by protein kinase C. J Radiat Res 49(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.07053
- Nassar ZD, Mah CY, Dehairs J, Burvenich IJ, Irani S, Centenera MM, Helm M, Shrestha RK, Moldovan M, Don AS, Holst J, Scott AM, Horvath LG, Lynn DJ, Selth LA, Hoy AJ, Swinnen JV, Butler LM (2020) Human DECR1 is an androgen-repressed survival factor that regulates PUFA oxidation to protect prostate tumor cells from ferroptosis. elife 9:e54166. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.54166
- Ohkuni A, Ohno Y, Kihara A (2013) Identification of acyl-CoA synthetases involved in the mammalian sphingosine 1-phosphate metabolic pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 442(3-4):195–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.11.036
- Olsen JV, Vermeulen M, Santamaria A, Kumar C, Miller ML, Jensen LJ, Gnad F, Cox J, Jensen TS, Nigg EA, Brunak S, Mann M (2010) Quantitative phosphoproteomics reveals widespread full phosphorylation site occupancy during mitosis. Sci Signal 3(104):ra3. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scisignal.2000475
- Olzmann JA, Carvalho P (2019) Dynamics and functions of lipid droplets. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(3):137–155. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0085-z
- Orlando UD, Castillo AF, Dattilo MA, Solano AR, Maloberti PM, Podesta EJ (2015) Acyl-CoA synthetase-4, a new regulator of mTOR and a potential therapeutic target for enhanced estrogen receptor function in receptor-positive and -negative breast cancer. Oncotarget 6(40): 42632–42650. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5822
- Osinalde N, Mitxelena J, Sánchez-Quiles V, Akimov V, Aloria K, Arizmendi JM, Zubiaga AM, Blagoev B, Kratchmarova I (2016) Nuclear phosphoproteomic screen uncovers ACLY as mediator of IL-2-induced proliferation of CD4+ T lymphocytes. Mol Cell Proteomics 15(6): 2076–2092. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M115.057158
- Pefanis A, Ierino FL, Murphy JM, Cowan PJ (2019) Regulated necrosis in kidney ischemiareperfusion injury. Kidney Int 96(2):291–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kint.2019.02.009
- Qiang L, Zhang Y, Lei Z, Lu Z, Tan S, Ge P, Chai Q, Zhao M, Zhang X, Li B, Pang Y, Zhang L, Liu CH, Wang J (2023) A mycobacterial effector promotes ferroptosis-dependent pathogenicity and dissemination. Nat Commun 14(1):1430. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-37148-x

- Reichert CO, de Freitas FA, Sampaio-Silva J, Rokita-Rosa L, Barros PL, Levy D, Bydlowski SP (2020) Ferroptosis mechanisms involved in neurodegenerative diseases. Int J Mol Sci 21(22): 8765. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21228765
- Rodencal J, Dixon SJ (2022) Positive feedback amplifies ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):4–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-021-00824-5
- Shah R, Shchepinov MS, Pratt DA (2018) Resolving the role of lipoxygenases in the initiation and execution of ferroptosis. ACS Cent Sci 4(3):387–396. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 7b00589
- Smith ME, Saraceno GE, Capani F, Castilla R (2013) Long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase 4 is regulated by phosphorylation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 430(1):272–277. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.10.138
- Steinberg SF (2015) Mechanisms for redox-regulation of protein kinase C. Front Pharmacol 6:128. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00128
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.06.003
- Su X, Abumrad NA (2009) Cellular fatty acid uptake: a pathway under construction. Trends Endocrinol Metab 20(2):72–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2008.11.001
- Sun X, Ou Z, Xie M, Kang R, Fan Y, Niu X, Wang H, Cao L, Tang D (2015) HSPB1 as a novel regulator of ferroptotic cancer cell death. Oncogene 34(45):5617–5625. https://doi.org/10.1038/ onc.2015.32
- Sun WY, Tyurin VA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Anthonymuthu TS, Zhai YJ, Pan MH, Gong HB, Lu DH, Sun J, Duan WJ, Korolev S, Abramov AY, Angelova PR, Miller I, Beharier O, Mao GW, Dar HH, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Hastings TG, Greenamyre TJ, Chu CT, Sadovsky Y, Bahar I, Bayır H, Tyurina YY, He RR, Kagan VE (2021) Phospholipase iPLA(2)β averts ferroptosis by eliminating a redox lipid death signal. Nat Chem Biol 17(4): 465–476. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-00734-x
- Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G (2019) The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res 29(5):347–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-019-0164-5
- Tang D, Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G (2021) Ferroptosis: molecular mechanisms and health implications. Cell Res 31(2):107–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00441-1
- Torti SV, Manz DH, Paul BT, Blanchette-Farra N, Torti FM (2018) Iron and cancer. Annu Rev Nutr 38:97–125. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-082117-051732
- Ubellacker JM, Tasdogan A, Ramesh V, Shen B, Mitchell EC, Martin-Sandoval MS, Gu Z, McCormick ML, Durham AB, Spitz DR, Zhao Z, Mathews TP, Morrison SJ (2020) Lymph protects metastasizing melanoma cells from ferroptosis. Nature 585(7823):113–118. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2623-z
- van Leyen K, Kim HY, Lee SR, Jin G, Arai K, Lo EH (2006) Baicalein and 12/15-lipoxygenase in the ischemic brain. Stroke 37(12):3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000249004. 25444.a5
- Venkatesh D, O'Brien NA, Zandkarimi F, Tong DR, Stokes ME, Dunn DE, Kengmana ES, Aron AT, Klein AM, Csuka JM, Moon SH, Conrad M, Chang CJ, Lo DC, D'Alessandro A, Prives C, Stockwell BR (2020) MDM2 and MDMX promote ferroptosis by PPARα-mediated lipid remodeling. Genes Dev 34(7-8):526–543. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.334219.119
- Vriens K, Christen S, Parik S, Broekaert D, Yoshinaga K, Talebi A, Dehairs J, Escalona-Noguero C, Schmieder R, Cornfield T, Charlton C, Romero-Pérez L, Rossi M, Rinaldi G, Orth MF, Boon R, Kerstens A, Kwan SY, Faubert B, Méndez-Lucas A, Kopitz CC, Chen T, Fernandez-Garcia J, Duarte JAG, Schmitz AA, Steigemann P, Najimi M, Hägebarth A, Van Ginderachter JA, Sokal E, Gotoh N, Wong KK, Verfaillie C, Derua R, Munck S, Yuneva M, Beretta L, DeBerardinis RJ, Swinnen JV, Hodson L, Cassiman D, Verslype C, Christian S, Grünewald S, Grünewald TGP, Fendt SM (2019) Evidence for an alternative fatty acid desaturation pathway increasing cancer plasticity. Nature 566(7744):403–406. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-019-0904-1

- Wang W, Green M, Choi JE, Gijon M, Kennedy PD, Johnson JK, Liao P, Lang X, Kryczek I, Sell A, Xia H, Zhou J, Li G, Li J, Li W, Wei S, Vatan L, Zhang H, Szeliga W, Gu W, Liu R, Lawrence TS, Lamb C, Tanno Y, Cieslik M, Stone E, Georgiou G, Chan TA, Chinnaiyan A, Zou W (2019) CD8(+) T cells regulate tumour ferroptosis during cancer immunotherapy. Nature 569(7755):270–274. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1170-y
- Wang Y, Zhang M, Bi R, Su Y, Quan F, Lin Y, Yue C, Cui X, Zhao Q, Liu S, Yang Y, Zhang D, Cao Q, Gao X (2022) ACSL4 deficiency confers protection against ferroptosis-mediated acute kidney injury. Redox Biol 51:102262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2022.102262
- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, Mao G, Tyurin VA, Anthonymuthu TS, Kapralov AA, Amoscato AA, Mikulska-Ruminska K, Shrivastava IH, Kenny EM, Yang Q, Rosenbaum JC, Sparvero LJ, Emlet DR, Wen X, Minami Y, Qu F, Watkins SC, Holman TR, VanDemark AP, Kellum JA, Bahar I, Bayır H, Kagan VE (2017) PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. Cell 171(3):628–641.e626. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.044
- Wu X, Deng F, Li Y, Daniels G, Du X, Ren Q, Wang J, Wang LH, Yang Y, Zhang V, Zhang D, Ye F, Melamed J, Monaco ME, Lee P (2015) ACSL4 promotes prostate cancer growth, invasion and hormonal resistance. Oncotarget 6(42):44849–44863. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget. 6438
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23(3):369–379. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Xu Z, Jiang S, Ma J, Tang D, Yan C, Fang K (2021) Comprehensive analysis of ferroptosis-related LncRNAs in breast cancer patients reveals prognostic value and relationship with tumor immune microenvironment. Front Surg 8:742360. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsurg.2021.742360
- Yagoda N, von Rechenberg M, Zaganjor E, Bauer AJ, Yang WS, Fridman DJ, Wolpaw AJ, Smukste I, Peltier JM, Boniface JJ, Smith R, Lessnick SL, Sahasrabudhe S, Stockwell BR (2007) RAS-RAF-MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels. Nature 447(7146):864–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05859
- Yang WS, Stockwell BR (2008) Synthetic lethal screening identifies compounds activating irondependent, nonapoptotic cell death in oncogenic-RAS-harboring cancer cells. Chem Biol 15(3): 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.02.010
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113
- Yángüez E, Hunziker A, Dobay MP, Yildiz S, Schading S, Elshina E, Karakus U, Gehrig P, Grossmann J, Dijkman R, Schmolke M, Stertz S (2018) Phosphoproteomic-based kinase profiling early in influenza virus infection identifies GRK2 as antiviral drug target. Nat Commun 9(1):3679. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06119-y
- Yuan H, Li X, Zhang X, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Identification of ACSL4 as a biomarker and contributor of ferroptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1338–1343. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.124
- Zhang H-L, Bing-Xin H, Li Z-L, Tian D, Shan J-L, Ye Z-P, Peng X-D, Li X, Huang Y, Zhu X-Y, Chen Y-H, Feng G-K, Yang D, Deng R, Zhu X-F (2022) PKCβII phosphorylates ACSL4 to amplify lipid peroxidation to induce ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 24(1):88–98. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41556-021-00818-3
- Zhao J, Jia Y, Mahmut D, Deik AA, Jeanfavre S, Clish CB, Sankaran VG (2023) Human hematopoietic stem cell vulnerability to ferroptosis. Cell 186(4):732–747.e716. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2023.01.020
- Zheng J, Conrad M (2020) The metabolic underpinnings of ferroptosis. Cell Metab 32(6):920–937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.10.011
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6



21

Cancer Treatment with Ferroptosis by a Combination of Iron Nanoparticles and Gene Therapy

Tao Luo and Jinke Wang

Abstract

Despite advancements in cancer treatment, the efficacy of current clinical therapies is still limited. Ferroptosis, an iron-dependent form of regulated cell death induced by excessive lipid peroxidation, has emerged as a potential avenue for the treatment of drug-resistant cancer cells. However, the resistance to ferroptosis still poses a challenge to the effectiveness of current ferroptosis-based cancer therapies. This chapter reviews the strategies and challenges associated with the use of iron oxide nanoparticles and gene therapy for cancer ferroptosis treatment. Based on this review, a novel safety combination therapy of iron oxide nanoparticles and gene therapy is proposed as a potential solution for overcoming ferroptosis resistance. Finally, the superiority and future research trends of combinatorial ferroptosis therapy are highlighted.

21.1 Introduction

Cancer is a major public health challenge and the second leading cause of death worldwide. Despite the considerable advances in cancer therapies such as surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy, tumor resistance remains a significant limitation to their effectiveness. This is reflected by the high number of cancer deaths worldwide, which reached almost ten million in 2020 (Sung et al. 2021). The macroeconomic cost of cancer also remains substantial for the future (Chen et al. 2023).

Ferroptosis is a type of programmed cell death driven by excessive lipid peroxidation, which is controlled by integrated oxidation and antioxidant systems that are

T. Luo · J. Wang (⊠)

State Key Laboratory of Bioelectronics, Southeast University, Nanjing, China e-mail: wangjinke@seu.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_21

catalyzed by iron (Dixon et al. 2012). Interestingly, ferroptosis has been linked to resistance to cancer therapies, and inducing ferroptosis has been shown to reverse drug resistance (Tong et al. 2022; Chen et al. 2021a). Glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) is a key regulator of ferroptosis. Viswanathan et al. found that vulnerability to ferroptosis induced by inhibition of the GPX4-regulated lipid peroxidase pathway was a common feature of therapy-resistant cancer cells across diverse mesenchymal cell-state contexts (Viswanathan et al. 2017). Additionally, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), solute carrier family 7 member 11 (SLC7A11), and ferroptosis (Doll et al. 2019; Koppula et al. 2021; Dodson et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2016; Song et al. 2018). Iron dysregulation is another important factor that can trigger lipid peroxidation, as Fe²⁺ can cause cellular oxidative stress through the Fenton reaction. Genes involved in iron metabolism include ferroportin (FPN), lipocalin 2 (LCN2), ferritin heavy chain 1 (FTH1), and transferrin receptor (TFR1) (Basuli et al. 2017; Yao et al. 2021; Kong et al. 2021; Liu et al. 2021).

Recently, anticancer drugs based on ferroptosis induction have received significant attention, and various ferroptosis-inducing agents have been identified or developed, including small molecules and iron oxide nanoparticles (IONs)-based nanomaterials (Liang et al. 2019). Gene therapy targeting ferroptosis pathways also provides new possibilities for cancer treatment. However, cancer ferroptosis therapy still faces challenges, including side effects and ferroptosis resistance (Zhou et al. 2022; Yang et al. 2022). This chapter summarizes the efficacy and limitations of current IONs-based nanomedicine and gene therapy for cancer ferroptosis treatment. Furthermore, a safety combination therapy of IONs and gene therapy is proposed for overcoming ferroptosis resistance. Two generations of combination therapy using IONs and gene interference technology have been developed, namely GIFT (Gene Interfered-Ferroptosis Therapy) and FAST (Ferroptosis Assassinates Tumor), respectively (Gao et al. 2021b; Luo et al. 2022). FAST therapy exhibits efficient tumor eradication capacity and in vivo biosafety. Lastly, the advantages and future research trends of ferroptosis-based combination therapy are highlighted.

21.2 IONs-Induced Ferroptosis for Cancer

21.2.1 IONs Therapy

IONs, or iron oxide nanoparticles, are widely recognized as biocompatible and safe structures with unique physical properties. Over the years, significant advancements have been made in the development and adoption of IONs for various biomedical applications. These applications include tumor imaging using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), hyperthermia, drug delivery, gene therapy, and biomolecule separation (Nowak-Jary and Machnicka 2022). Moreover, IONs, which are rich in trace element iron, have emerged as potent ferroptosis inducers (Wang et al. 2018b). Excessive accumulation of IONs within cells results in the release of iron ions, which subsequently trigger the Fenton reaction, leading to the production of reactive

oxygen species (ROS) and lipid peroxidation (Zheng et al. 2021). With a better understanding of the ferroptosis mechanism (Dixon et al. 2012), IONs have taken on a new role in anticancer strategies as non-canonical ferroptosis inducers (Hassannia et al. 2019). Gao et al. have synthesized ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USPIO) capable of generating abundant toxic ROS intracellularly. These nanoparticles deplete glutathione (GSH) through lipid peroxidation, demonstrating their ability to induce ferroptosis in a time-dependent manner. It is worth noting that different-sized IONs exhibit varying antitumor effects (Gao et al. 2021a; Tian et al. 2022; Nowak-Jary and Machnicka 2022). Ultrasmall IONs (<5 nm) are particularly efficient in enhancing the toxicity of H₂O₂ due to their rapid release of Fe²⁺ (Tian et al. 2022). On the other hand, 10 nm IONs have been identified as the optimal size for tumor eradication, given their balanced abilities in tumor accumulation, intratumoral penetration, and cellular internalization (Tian et al. 2022). Consequently, the size of IONs is a crucial factor to consider in the development of IONs-based nanomedicine.

Pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, and in vivo biosafety are critical considerations in IONs-based ferroptosis therapy. The efficacy of IONs as a cancer therapeutic relies on their ability to specifically target tumors while minimizing toxicity to surrounding tissues and vital organs. The pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, and in vivo biosafety of IONs are influenced by their physicochemical properties, including size, shape, coating molecules, and surface charge. Therefore, it is important to conduct dedicated research on each designed nanostructure (Nowak-Jary and Machnicka 2022). The duration of IONs' circulation in the bloodstream serves as a crucial indicator of their pharmacokinetics, directly affecting the extent of nanomedicine accumulation in tumors. For instance, Lin et al. developed IONs with an extended blood circulation time, facilitating the accumulation of Fe^{2+} in tumors. This approach demonstrated an excellent therapeutic effect against tumors (Lin et al. 2022).

21.2.2 Challenges of IONs Therapy

While the intrinsic therapeutic potential of bare IONs has garnered significant interest, the issue of resistance to IONs remains a critical challenge in this field. For instance, Huang et al. developed zero-valent iron nanoparticles (ZVI NPs) that induced mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and reduced glutathione peroxidase levels within subcellular organelles (Huang et al. 2019). However, they observed that resistant cancer cells were capable of attenuating the oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and subsequent ferroptosis induced by ZVI NPs. A recent report compared the bioeffects of IONs coated with different types of molecules, including bare IONs, humic acids (HA)-IONs, and 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES)-IONs (Kicheeva et al. 2023). The study revealed that HA-IONs released the least amount of Fe²⁺ ions, whereas APTES-IONs released the most. Thus, chemical modification of the IONs' surface plays a crucial role in ferroptosis. Various coating molecules can be employed for the functionalization of IONs, including inorganic

compounds (such as silica, metals, and metal oxides), natural polymers, macromolecules, monolayers, and small molecules (Nowak-Jary and Machnicka 2022). The appropriate selection of chemical moieties on the surface of IONs can contribute to inducing ferroptosis in cancer cells. For example, researchers investigated the anticancer activity of IONs functionalized with gallic acid (GA) and polyacrylic acid (PAA) (Fernandez-Acosta et al. 2022). Their findings demonstrated that IONs-GA/PAA treatment efficiently induced ferroptosis in glioblastoma, neuroblastoma, and fibrosarcoma cells. In another study, Yu et al. synthesized polypyrrole (PPy)@IONs using a portable method and observed that PPy@IONs significantly promoted ferroptosis while inhibiting the growth and invasion of colorectal cancer cells (Yu et al. 2022).

However, surface chemical modification of IONs alone is insufficient to overcome nanomedicine resistance, particularly in refractory cancer cells. IONs-resistant cancer cells exhibit heightened mitochondrial respiration function and enhanced ROS detoxification, allowing them to evade ferroptosis (Huang et al. 2019). To address this limitation, the combination of IONs with existing therapies has been explored as a potential treatment modality for cancer, including chemotherapy (Liu et al. 2023; Zhu et al. 2022), radiotherapy (Zhang et al. 2022), photothermal therapy (PTT) (Yu et al. 2023; Luo et al. 2023), and gene therapy (Gao et al. 2021b). For instance, doxorubicin (Dox), a conventional chemotherapy drug, has been utilized in combination with IONs. Zhu et al. developed a novel nanoplatform, ipGdIO-Dox, for MRI-guided chemo- and ferroptosis synergistic cancer therapies through the incorporation of gadolinium-engineered magnetic iron oxide loaded with Dox (Zhu et al. 2022). Upon cellular internalization, ipGdIO-Dox released Dox and abundant Fe^{2+} following degradation of the nanoplatform. The released Fe^{2+} generated highly toxic ROS, resulting in a more potent anticancer effect through the synergistic theranostic system.

Another chemotherapy drug, sorafenib, which possesses ferroptosis-inducing properties, has also been investigated. Liu et al. reported Sorafenib@Fe^{III}TA nanoparticles that respond to the acidic environment of lysosomes, facilitating Sorafenib release to inhibit the GPX4 enzyme and initiate ferroptosis (Liu et al. 2018). The Sorafenib@Fe^{III}TA-mediated cell death significantly inhibited tumor proliferation in vivo.

Despite these advancements, it is important to recognize that the use of IONs alone may still face challenges in overcoming ultimate drug resistance due to the robust systems maintaining iron and redox homeostasis within cells. Therefore, the combination of IONs with other therapeutic modalities offers a promising approach to enhance the efficacy of cancer treatment and overcome resistance mechanisms.

21.3 Gene Therapy-Induced Ferroptosis for Cancer

21.3.1 Gene Therapy

In recent years, gene therapy has emerged as a promising approach for the treatment of various diseases by modifying and regulating gene expression. This field offers an alternative to conventional therapies that often face limitations such as chemotherapy resistance and the inability to address genetic defects. Globally, there have been at least 943 clinical trials conducted to explore the potential of gene therapy (Duan et al. 2021). Gene therapy encompasses three main aspects: RNA interference (RNAi) technology, gene replacement therapy, and gene editing-based therapy.

RNAi technology utilizes molecules such as antisense oligonucleotides (ASO), microRNAs (miRNA), small interfering RNAs (siRNA), and short hairpin RNAs (shRNA) to mediate gene silencing at the mRNA level (Xu et al. 2019). This approach holds the potential to selectively inhibit the expression of specific genes implicated in disease processes.

Gene replacement therapy involves delivering plasmid DNA or viral vectors into cells to achieve target gene overexpression (Sayed et al. 2022). By introducing these genetic constructs, transient or persistent production of proteins that are abnormal or deficient in diseased bodies can be promoted, thereby restoring proper cellular function.

Gene editing-based therapy employs engineered or bacterial nucleases to facilitate targeted modification of genomic sequences in eukaryotic organisms. Programmable nucleases, including zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and cluster regulatory interval short tandem repeat (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated protein (Cas)-associated nucleases, enable precise genomic alterations (Lehmann et al. 2017).

Efficient gene delivery to target tissues is a crucial step in gene therapy, and it is accomplished through the use of gene delivery carriers. These carriers can be categorized into two types: non-viral and viral carriers. While significant efforts and research have been dedicated to non-viral vectors, they have not yet reached the pinnacle of success. Over the past decade, the utilization of non-viral vectors for gene therapy has gained momentum, with peptides, liposomes, polymers, inorganic nanoparticles, and hybrid systems (combinations of different types) being popular in this field (Zu and Gao 2021). Among non-viral strategies, lipofection remains dominant in clinical trials (Sayed et al. 2022). In contrast, viral vectors have made notable strides in the gene therapy field, with several drugs based on viral vectors receiving regulatory approval in the past 5 years. Viral vectors are currently at the forefront of clinical trials, with adeno-associated virus (AAV) being the preferred choice (Au et al. 2021). AAVs are small, non-enveloped viruses that package a linear single-stranded DNA (ssDNA). The AAV genome, which has a size of 4.7 kb, consists of a central region containing the replicase (Rep) and capsid (Cap) genes, flanked by inverted terminal repeats (ITR) of 145 bases (Colella et al. 2018). Recombinant AAV (rAAV) has been engineered by deleting all viral protein genes and retaining only the terminal ITR sequences associated with viral replication and

packaging (Duan et al. 2021). This modification maximizes the transgene capacity of AAV while reducing immunogenicity and cytotoxicity. AAV has emerged as the primary vector in gene therapy due to its low immunogenicity, non-pathogenic nature, diverse capsid proteins, and ease of stable production.

21.3.2 Gene Therapy-Induced Ferroptosis for Cancer

Several gene therapy-based strategies have been developed to induce ferroptosis and eliminate cancer cells. These strategies can be categorized into four types: (1) SiRNA: SiRNA-mediated gene silencing is a promising therapeutic approach. For example, Zhou et al. utilized a cationic covalent framework to deliver SLC7A11 siRNA, leading to effective fibrosarcoma treatment (Zhou et al. 2022). Li et al. employed exosome-mediated delivery of multi-siRNAs to silence two ferroptosis suppressor genes (GPX4 and DHODH) and overcome drug resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma (Chen et al. 2022). (2) MiRNA: Systemic delivery of miRNAs in vivo has demonstrated significant therapeutic effects on cancer by promoting ferroptosis. Examples include miR-21-3p and miR-101-3p (Guo et al. 2022; Luo et al. 2021). (3) LncRNA: LncRNA-mediated ferroptosis therapies are currently limited but hold promise. Gai et al. reported a folate-modified liposome-mediated delivery of lncRNA therapy for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Their study demonstrated that lncRNA MT1DP (metallothionein 1D pseudogene) attenuated NRF2 expression, thereby aggravating oxidative stress (Gai et al. 2020). (4) ShRNA: Researchers have proposed a multi-shRNAs-based gene cocktail al. co-delivered shRNAs targeting therapy. Yang et GPX4 and methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 2 (MTHFD2) to enhance the combined anticancer efficacy of ferroptosis and apoptosis. Downregulation of GPX4 mediated by shGPX4 and GSH depletion induced by apoptosis-inducing plasmid shMTHFD2 synergistically amplified the ferroptosis effect (Yang et al. 2022). These strategies highlight the potential of ferroptosis-based gene cocktail therapies and combination therapies involving multiple forms of cell death to achieve enhanced anticancer effects. However, it is important to note that gene therapy alone may not be sufficient to overcome drug resistance due to the lack of effective ferroptosis inducers and the presence of multiple antioxidation pathways in cells (Tang and Kroemer 2020). Further research and the development of novel ferroptosis inducers are necessary to address these challenges and improve the efficacy of ferroptosis-based gene therapies.

21.4 IONs and Gene Therapy Co-Induced Ferroptosis for Cancer

Current cancer therapies still face several key limitations, including drug resistance, side effects, low response rates, and the possibility of cancer recurrence. In light of these challenges, ferroptosis has emerged as a promising approach due to its potential to induce cell death in drug-resistant cancer cells (Liu et al. 2022c). As a

result, there is increasing interest in developing ferroptosis-driven nanotherapeutics and gene therapies for cancer treatment. However, it is important to recognize that neither IONs nor gene therapy alone can completely eradicate tumors. Cancer cells have various mechanisms of resistance to ferroptosis that are not fully addressed by IONs or gene therapy alone (Liu et al. 2022a).

Cells exhibit sensitivity to iron concentration, and even small fluctuations in concentration can trigger significant cellular responses (Mleczko-Sanecka and Silvestri 2021). Given the vital role of iron in cellular processes, cells have evolved mechanisms to maintain intracellular iron homeostasis (Trujillo-Alonso et al. 2019; Anderson and Frazer 2017; Katsarou and Pantopoulos 2020). Intracellular iron levels are intricately regulated to ensure iron homeostasis (Luo et al. 2020). Cells possess effective mechanisms to store and export excess intracellular iron ions released from internalized IONs. Consequently, the induction of ferroptosis by a single IONs treatment is insufficient for effective cancer treatment in clinical settings.

Furthermore, ferroptosis is a complex and tightly regulated process involving iron accumulation, lipid peroxidation, and mitochondrial membrane disruption. Lipid peroxidation mediated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a crucial step in ferroptosis. Cells possess six known antioxidant systems, including the System XC-glutathione (GSH)-GPX4 pathway, transsulfuration pathway, mevalonate pathway, FSP1-Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) pathway, dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH)-dihydroubiquinone (CoQH2) pathway, and GTP cyclohydrolase-1 (GCH1)-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) pathway (Liu et al. 2022b). Additionally, the level of the labile iron pool (LIP) or oxidized iron also influences lipid peroxidation through the Fenton reaction (Lv et al. 2022). Previous gene therapies have not comprehensively targeted all the key genes involved in these ferroptosis resistance pathways. Cancer cells can resist ROS-mediated lipid peroxidation through their own regulatory mechanisms, leading to the persistence of ferroptosis-resistant cells. To overcome this limitation, our research group has developed two generations of combination therapies utilizing IONs and gene interference technology. The first generation, known as GIFT (gene interfered-ferroptosis therapy) was reported by Gao et al. (Gao et al. 2021b), while the second generation, with improved antitumor efficacy, is called FAST (Ferroptosis Assassinates Tumor) (Luo et al. 2022). These combination therapies aim to address the complex network of ferroptosis resistance pathways by utilizing both IONs and gene interference technology. By targeting multiple key genes involved in ferroptosis resistance, these approaches seek to enhance the efficacy of ferroptosis-based cancer treatments.

21.4.1 GIFT Strategy

The principle of GIFT is depicted in Fig. 21.1. GIFT involves the utilization of a gene-interfering vector (GIV) and DMSA-coated Fe3O4 nanoparticles (FeNPs). The GIV comprises a promoter known as DMP (NF- κ B-specific promoter) and a down-stream effector gene. DMP consists of a NF- κ B decoy sequence and a minimal



Fig. 21.1 GIFT strategy. Schematic show of CRISPR/Cas13a- and miRNA-based GIFT. DCUg DMP-Cas13a-U6-gRNA, DM DMP-miRNA, U6p U6 promoter, gRNA guide RNA, DMP NF-κB decoy-minimal promoter

promoter. NF- κ B is a transcription factor that is commonly overactivated in cancer cells (Ben-Neriah and Karin 2011), enabling the activation of the effector gene specifically in cancer cells through NF- κ B binding to DMP (Wang et al. 2018a). Conversely, in normal cells lacking NF- κ B activity, the effector gene remains unexpressed (Dai et al. 2020; Gao et al. 2020). Hence, DMP acts as a cancer cell-specific promoter.

In GIFT, when the GIV containing DMP-controlled CRISPR/Cas13a or miRNA is transfected into cancer cells, the expressed Cas13a protein or miRNAs are produced. Cas13a can bind with guide RNA (gRNA) transcribed from a U6 promoter to form the Cas13a-gRNA complex. Alternatively, the expressed miRNAs can associate with the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). Both the Cas13a-gRNA and miRNA-RISC complexes have the ability to target the mRNA of interest, resulting in the suppression of the target gene expression specifically in cancer cells.

In this study, we selected two iron metabolic genes, FPN and LCN2, as the target genes. Both FPN and LCN2 play roles in the efflux of iron ions within cells (Yao et al. 2021; Sabelli et al. 2017). Our previous research revealed that the expression of these two genes was significantly upregulated in cells treated with FeNPs (Liu and Wang 2013). Based on this finding, we hypothesized that knocking down the expression of FPN and LCN2 in cancer cells using transfected GIVs of DMP-controlled CRISPR/Cas13a or miRNA would hinder the export of intracellular iron ions generated by internalized FeNPs. This would result in the accumulation of iron ions within the cells, leading to a substantial increase in intracellular ROS levels and triggering significant ferroptosis in cancer cells.

In normal cells, Cas13a or miRNA production is absent, thereby allowing the unaffected expression of FPN and LCN2 genes. Consequently, normal cells can actively export intracellular iron ions produced by FeNPs, thereby maintaining iron

homeostasis and minimizing the impact of FeNPs treatment. As a result, significant ferroptosis is induced in a wide range of cancer cells, while normal cells remain minimally affected. By delivering the therapeutic genes using AAV vectors, we achieved significant inhibition of tumor growth and long-lasting cures in mice. In mouse models of leukemia, colon cancer, and lung metastatic melanoma, the GIFT therapy successfully eradicated tumors in 40%, 30%, and 10% of mice, respectively, with no recurrence observed for up to 250 days post-treatment. Furthermore, in vivo safety experiments demonstrated that the GIFT reagents did not cause significant toxicity to the body. It is worth noting that both IONs and AAV are approved materials for clinical use (Soetaert et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2019), which brings GIFT cancer therapy closer to clinical application. The successful outcomes obtained from this study, along with the safety profiles of IONs and AAV, emphasize the potential of GIFT therapy as a promising approach for cancer treatment, with the possibility of transitioning from the laboratory to bedside.

21.4.2 FAST Strategy

GIFT therapy has demonstrated broad antitumor activity, high cancer specificity, potential for tumor eradication, and biosafety in treating various cancer cells and tumors in mice. However, it should be noted that GIFT achieved tumor eradication only in a limited proportion of mice. We observed significant upregulation of antioxidant genes (such as SLC7A11, GCLM, NQO1) in cells treated with FeNPs, indicating the important regulatory role of the six antioxidant systems mentioned earlier in FeNPs-induced ferroptosis (Luo et al. 2020). Therefore, further knockdown of key antioxidant genes could enhance the antitumor efficacy of GIFT therapy.

Furthermore, RNA-seq data revealed a significant increase in the expression of FTL and FTH1 genes in cells treated with FeNPs (Luo et al. 2020). These genes encode subunits of ferritin, which stores Fe^{3+} in cells and contributes to ferroptosis resistance (Chen et al. 2020). Moreover, FTH1 possesses ferroxidase activity, enabling the conversion of Fe^{2+} to Fe^{3+} and facilitating subsequent iron entry into the ferritin mineral core, with assistance from FTL. Therefore, it is conceivable that knocking down FTH1 in combination with GIFT therapy would further increase the cellular labile iron pool, potentially enhancing the efficacy of ferroptosis.

To address the ferroptosis resistance observed in residual cancer cells after GIFT treatment, we have developed FAST therapy. FAST therapy involves the knockdown of five additional genes that are distributed in the glutathione-dependent pathway (GPX4, SLC7A11, NRF2), COQ-dependent pathway (FSP1), and iron storage (FTH1). The principle of cancer specificity in FAST therapy is similar to GIFT therapy, as both are based on the overactivation of NF- κ B in cancer cells (Fig. 21.2). Seven miRNA expression cassettes, each targeting different genes, are co-delivered into the body using a single AAV vector. These miRNAs work synergistically with FeNPs to promote potent ferroptosis. As a result, FAST therapy is significantly greater antitumor activity compared to GIFT therapy. In



Fig. 21.2 FAST strategy. Schematic diagram of FAST eradicating tumor

particular, FAST therapy achieved tumor eradication in over 50% of mice with three different types of tumors (leukemia, colon cancer, and lung metastatic melanoma), resulting in long-term survival without tumor relapse for up to 250 days. FAST therapy demonstrates broad antitumor activity, high cancer specificity, and in vivo biosafety.

The underlying mechanism of FAST therapy involves the induction of catastrophic ferroptosis through intense lipid peroxidation triggered by the Fe^{2+} ions released from FeNPs. FAST therapy represents a new paradigm in advanced materials, combining IONs and AAV to create an unprecedented cancer assassin. This advanced combinatorial material transforms conventional IONs into a powerful weapon against cancer.

21.4.3 Advantages of FAST

Ferroptosis can be triggered by four classes of ferroptosis-inducing compounds (FINs) (Hassannia et al. 2019; Feng and Stockwell 2018). Class I FINs reduce the levels of glutathione (GSH) (e.g., erastin). Class II FINs directly interact with GPX4 (e.g., RSL3). Class III FINs target the mevalonate pathway (e.g., FIN56). Class IV FINs elevate the levels of the labile iron pool (LIP) (e.g., Fe²⁺). FAST therapy encompasses all the ferroptosis-inducing functions of these four classes of FINs. Specifically, miSLC7A11 and miNRF2 belong to class I, miGPX4 belongs to class II, miFSP1 belongs to class III, and miFTH1, miFPN, and miLCN2 belong to class IV. Additionally, FeNPs serve as a favorable source of Fe²⁺ to augment the LIP levels. Through the combined effects of these four classes of FINs, the major antioxidant pathways in tumor cells are disrupted, while the FeNPs-induced accumulation of Fe²⁺ and excessive lipid peroxidation synergistically eliminate ferroptosis-resistant cancer cells. To achieve optimal antitumor effects, 10 nm FeNPs were chosen for this synergistic treatment, as it represents the optimal size

for high tumor accumulation of FeNPs (Tian et al. 2022). Consequently, FAST therapy exhibits highly efficient tumor elimination capabilities.

Another major advantage of FAST therapy is its excellent in vivo therapeutic safety. AAV vectors, used in FAST therapy, have the highest safety level (RG1) for gene therapy. FAST therapy combines the expression cassettes of seven miRNAs into a single AAV particle, enabling synergistic systemic treatment. Importantly, each miRNA expression is individually controlled by a cancer-specific promoter (DMP). DMP ensures cancer cell-specific gene expression by relying on the over-activity of NF- κ B in cancer cells. This design feature ensures that AAV-based DMP-controlled miRNA therapy is not toxic to normal tissues. Furthermore, IONs, the metallic nanoparticles used in FAST therapy, have already been approved for clinical use and have demonstrated safety. The combination of AAV-based gene therapy and FeNPs in FAST therapy provides a high level of biosafety.

Additionally, the administration of FAST therapy is straightforward, as FeNPs and AAV vectors can be mixed together for intravenous injection. The FAST reagents effectively induce significant ferroptosis in a wide variety of tumors due to the constitutive over-activity of NF- κ B in cancer cells. In summary, FAST therapy exhibits pan-cancer antitumor activity, high tumor selectivity, a high rate of tumor eradication, and remarkable in vivo biosafety. As a result, FAST therapy represents a promising alternative to current cancer treatments, holding significant potential for improving patient outcomes.

21.5 Conclusions and Perspectives

The ferroptosis pathway is closely linked to drug resistance and metastasis in cancer (Ubellacker et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021a). Inducing ferroptosis can restore the sensitivity of drug-resistant cancer cells to standard treatments. However, the signaling pathways involved in ferroptosis are highly complex and encompass six antioxidant systems (Chen et al. 2021b; Liu et al. 2022a). The presence of these multiple antioxidant systems allows some residual ferroptosis-resistant cancer cells to evade ferroptosis induction through IONs-based or gene therapy approaches. Ferroptosis resistance contributes to the challenges associated with tumor eradication and recurrence. Combinatorial therapy involving IONs and gene therapy presents a potential solution to overcome ferroptosis resistance. An example of such therapy is FAST therapy, which combines nanomedicine and gene interference technology. In FAST therapy, IONs serve as Fe²⁺ donors, while AAV vectors target multiple antioxidant systems to trigger intense ferroptosis and eradicate tumors. FAST therapy also offers excellent in vivo safety, ease of drug administration, and the potential to treat various types of cancer.

However, one significant barrier to AAV-based gene therapy is the rapid clearance of AAV vectors by anti-AAV neutralizing antibodies in the body. Additionally, challenges such as the affordability of the drug product, package size limitations, and off-tumor infection need to be addressed in AAV-based gene therapy. To address these challenges, the use of biocompatible IONs-based vectors loaded with nucleic acids to induce ferroptosis can be an effective alternative to AAV-based gene therapy. For instance, GIFT therapy utilized a non-viral vector called PEI-modified IONs (FeNC) to transfer miRNA-expressing plasmids (Gao et al. 2021b). However, the treatment efficacy of this approach still falls behind that of viral vector-based AAV therapy. Therefore, it is crucial to explore more effective non-viral DNA vectors based on iron nanoparticles in the future. The development of such a dual-role nanoparticle would represent an ideal ferroptosis inducer for combinatorial therapy, addressing the limitations of current approaches and offering enhanced treatment outcomes.

References

- Anderson GJ, Frazer DM (2017) Current understanding of iron homeostasis. Am J Clin Nutr 106 (Suppl 6):1559S–1566S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.117.155804
- Au HKE, Isalan M, Mielcarek M (2021) Gene therapy advances: a meta-analysis of AAV usage in clinical settings. Front Med (Lausanne) 8:809118. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.809118
- Basuli D, Tesfay L, Deng Z, Paul B, Yamamoto Y, Ning G, Xian W, McKeon F, Lynch M, Crum CP, Hegde P, Brewer M, Wang X, Miller LD, Dyment N, Torti FM, Torti SV (2017) Iron addiction: a novel therapeutic target in ovarian cancer. Oncogene 36(29):4089–4099. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.11
- Ben-Neriah Y, Karin M (2011) Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-κB as the matchmaker. Nat Immunol 12(8):715–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2060
- Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D (2020) Iron metabolism in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8: 590226. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.590226
- Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021a) Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 18(5):280–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0
- Chen X, Li J, Kang R, Klionsky DJ, Tang D (2021b) Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. Autophagy 17(9):2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- Chen F, Kang R, Liu J, Tang D (2022) The V-ATPases in cancer and cell death. Cancer Gene Ther 29(11):1529–1541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41417-022-00477-y
- Chen S, Cao Z, Prettner K, Kuhn M, Yang J, Jiao L, Wang Z, Li W, Geldsetzer P, Barnighausen T, Bloom DE, Wang C (2023) Estimates and projections of the global economic cost of 29 cancers in 204 countries and territories from 2020 to 2050. JAMA Oncol 9(4):465–472. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamaoncol.2022.7826
- Colella P, Ronzitti G, Mingozzi F (2018) Emerging issues in AAV-mediated in vivo gene therapy. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 8:87–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtm.2017.11.007
- Dai W, Wu J, Wang D, Wang J (2020) Cancer gene therapy by NF-κB-activated cancer cell-specific expression of CRISPR/Cas9 targeting telomeres. Gene Ther 27(6):266–280. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41434-020-0128-x
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg Kathryn M, Lamprecht Michael R, Skouta R, Zaitsev Eleina M, Gleason Caroline E, Patel Darpan N, Bauer Andras J, Cantley Alexandra M, Yang Wan S, Morrison B, Stockwell Brent R (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042
- Dodson M, Castro-Portuguez R, Zhang DD (2019) NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. Redox Biol 23:101107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019. 101107
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Grocin AG, da Silva TNX, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourao A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W,

Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698

- Duan L, Xu L, Xu X, Qin Z, Zhou X, Xiao Y, Liang Y, Xia J (2021) Exosome-mediated delivery of gene vectors for gene therapy. Nanoscale 13(3):1387–1397. https://doi.org/10.1039/ d0nr07622h
- Feng H, Stockwell BR (2018) Unsolved mysteries: how does lipid peroxidation cause ferroptosis? PLoS Biol 16(5):e2006203. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2006203
- Fernandez-Acosta R, Iriarte-Mesa C, Alvarez-Alminaque D, Hassannia B, Wiernicki B, Diaz-Garcia AM, Vandenabeele P, Vanden Berghe T, Pardo Andreu GL (2022) Novel iron oxide nanoparticles induce ferroptosis in a panel of cancer cell lines. Molecules 27(13):3970. https:// doi.org/10.3390/molecules27133970
- Gai C, Liu C, Wu X, Yu M, Zheng J, Zhang W, Lv S, Li W (2020) MT1DP loaded by folatemodified liposomes sensitizes erastin-induced ferroptosis via regulating miR-365a-3p/NRF2 axis in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 11(9):751. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-020-02939-3
- Gao J, Luo T, Lin N, Zhang S, Wang J (2020) A new tool for CRISPR-Cas13a-based cancer gene therapy. Mol Ther Oncolytics 19:79–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omto.2020.09.004
- Gao J, Zhou H, Zhao Y, Lu L, Zhang J, Cheng W, Song X, Zheng Y, Chen C, Tang J (2021a) Timecourse effect of ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles on intracellular iron metabolism and ferroptosis activation. Nanotoxicology 15(3):366–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17435390.2021.1872112
- Gao J, Luo T, Wang J (2021b) Gene interfered-ferroptosis therapy for cancers. Nat Commun 12 (1):5311. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25632-1
- Guo W, Wu Z, Chen J, Guo S, You W, Wang S, Ma J, Wang H, Wang X, Wang H, Ma J, Yang Y, Tian Y, Shi Q, Gao T, Yi X, Li C (2022) Nanoparticle delivery of miR-21-3p sensitizes melanoma to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy by promoting ferroptosis. J Immunother Cancer 10(6):e004381. https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2021-004381
- Hassannia B, Vandenabeele P, Vanden Berghe T (2019) Targeting ferroptosis to iron out cancer. Cancer Cell 35(6):830–849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.04.002
- Huang KJ, Wei YH, Chiu YC, Wu SR, Shieh DB (2019) Assessment of zero-valent iron-based nanotherapeutics for ferroptosis induction and resensitization strategy in cancer cells. Biomater Sci 7(4):1311–1322. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8bm01525b
- Katsarou A, Pantopoulos K (2020) Basics and principles of cellular and systemic iron homeostasis. Mol Asp Med 75:100866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2020.100866
- Kicheeva AG, Sushko ES, Bondarenko LS, Kydralieva KA, Pankratov DA, Tropskaya NS, Dzeranov AA, Dzhardimalieva GI, Zarrelli M, Kudryasheva NS (2023) Functionalized magnetite nanoparticles: characterization, bioeffects, and role of reactive oxygen species in unicellular and enzymatic systems. Int J Mol Sci 24(2):1133. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24021133
- Kong N, Chen X, Feng J, Duan T, Liu S, Sun X, Chen P, Pan T, Yan L, Jin T, Xiang Y, Gao Q, Wen C, Ma W, Liu W, Zhang M, Yang Z, Wang W, Zhang R, Chen B, Xie T, Sui X, Tao W (2021) Baicalin induces ferroptosis in bladder cancer cells by downregulating FTH1. Acta Pharm Sin B 11(12):4045–4054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2021.03.036
- Koppula P, Zhuang L, Gan B (2021) Cystine transporter SLC7A11/xCT in cancer: ferroptosis, nutrient dependency, and cancer therapy. Protein Cell 12(8):599–620. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13238-020-00789-5
- Lehmann J, Seebode C, Emmert S (2017) Research on genodermatoses using novel genome-editing tools. JDDG. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 15(8):783–789. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddg.13270
- Liang C, Zhang XL, Yang MS, Dong XC (2019) Recent progress in ferroptosis inducers for cancer therapy. Adv Mater 31(51):e1904197. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201904197
- Lin J, Zhang J, Wang K, Guo S, Yang W (2022) Zwitterionic polymer coated sorafenib-loaded Fe₃O₄ composite nanoparticles induced ferroptosis for cancer therapy. J Mater Chem B 10 (30):5784–5795. https://doi.org/10.1039/d2tb01242a

- Liu Y, Wang J (2013) Effects of DMSA-coated Fe3O4 nanoparticles on the transcription of genes related to iron and osmosis homeostasis. Toxicol Sci 131(2):521–536. https://doi.org/10.1093/ toxsci/kfs300
- Liu T, Liu W, Zhang M, Yu W, Gao F, Li C, Wang SB, Feng J, Zhang XZ (2018) Ferrous-supplyregeneration nanoengineering for cancer-cell-specific ferroptosis in combination with imagingguided photodynamic therapy. ACS Nano 12(12):12181–12192. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.8b05860
- Liu J, Song X, Kuang F, Zhang Q, Xie Y, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D (2021) NUPR1 is a critical repressor of ferroptosis. Nat Commun 12(1):647. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-20904-2
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D (2022a) Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 289(22):7038–7050. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.16059
- Liu M, Kong XY, Yao Y, Wang XA, Yang W, Wu H, Li S, Ding JW, Yang J (2022b) The critical role and molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis in antioxidant systems: a narrative review. Ann Transl Med 10(6):368. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm-21-6942
- Liu X, Zhang Y, Wu X, Xu F, Ma H, Wu M, Xia Y (2022c) Targeting ferroptosis pathway to combat therapy resistance and metastasis of cancer. Front Pharmacol 13:909821. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphar.2022.909821
- Liu Y, Quan X, Li J, Huo J, Li X, Zhao Z, Li S, Wan J, Li J, Liu S, Wang T, Zhang X, Guan B, Wen R, Zhao Z, Wang C, Bai C (2023) Liposomes embedded with PEGylated iron oxide nanoparticles enable ferroptosis and combination therapy in cancer. Natl Sci Rev 10(1): nwac167. https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nwac167
- Luo T, Gao J, Lin N, Wang J (2020) Effects of two kinds of iron nanoparticles as reactive oxygen species inducer and scavenger on the transcriptomic profiles of two human Leukemia cells with different stemness. Nanomaterials 10(10):1951. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano10101951
- Luo Y, Niu G, Yi H, Li Q, Wu Z, Wang J, Yang J, Li B, Peng Y, Liang Y, Wang W, Peng Z, Shuai X, Guo Y (2021) Nanomedicine promotes ferroptosis to inhibit tumour proliferation in vivo. Redox Biol 42:101908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2021.101908
- Luo T, Wang Y, Wang J (2022) Ferroptosis assassinates tumor. J Nanobiotechnol 20(1):467. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-022-01663-8
- Luo M, Zhang Z, Lu Y, Feng W, Wu H, Fan L, Guan B, Dai Y, Tang D, Dong X, Yun C, Hocher B, Liu H, Li Q, Yin L (2023) Urine metabolomics reveals biomarkers and the underlying pathogenesis of diabetic kidney disease. Int Urol Nephrol 55(4):1001–1013. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11255-022-03326-x
- Lv Y, Wu M, Wang Z, Wang J (2022) Ferroptosis: from regulation of lipid peroxidation to the treatment of diseases. Cell Biol Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-022-09778-2
- Mleczko-Sanecka K, Silvestri L (2021) Cell-type-specific insights into iron regulatory processes. Am J Hematol 96(1):110–127. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.26001
- Nowak-Jary J, Machnicka B (2022) Pharmacokinetics of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for medical applications. J Nanobiotechnol 20(1):305. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-022-01510-w
- Sabelli M, Montosi G, Garuti C, Caleffi A, Oliveto S, Biffo S, Pietrangelo A (2017) Human macrophage ferroportin biology and the basis for the ferroportin disease. Hepatology 65(5): 1512–1525. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.29007
- Sayed N, Allawadhi P, Khurana A, Singh V, Navik U, Pasumarthi SK, Khurana I, Banothu AK, Weiskirchen R, Bharani KK (2022) Gene therapy: comprehensive overview and therapeutic applications. Life Sci 294:120375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2022.120375
- Soetaert F, Korangath P, Serantes D, Fiering S, Ivkov R (2020) Cancer therapy with iron oxide nanoparticles: agents of thermal and immune therapies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 163-164:65–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2020.06.025
- Song X, Zhu S, Chen P, Hou W, Wen Q, Liu J, Xie Y, Liu J, Klionsky DJ, Kroemer G, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Kang R, Tang D (2018) AMPK-mediated BECN1 phosphorylation promotes ferroptosis by directly blocking system X(c)(-) activity. Curr Biol 28(15):2388–2399. e2385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.094

- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology 63(1): 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28251
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F (2021) Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 71(3):209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac. 21660
- Tang D, Kroemer G (2020) Ferroptosis. Curr Biol 30(21):R1292–R1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2020.09.068
- Tian X, Ruan L, Zhou S, Wu L, Cao J, Qi X, Zhang X, Shen S (2022) Appropriate size of Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles for cancer therapy by ferroptosis. ACS Appl Bio Mater 5(4):1692–1699. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acsabm.2c00068
- Tong J, Li D, Meng H, Sun D, Lan X, Ni M, Ma J, Zeng F, Sun S, Fu J, Li G, Ji Q, Zhang G, Shen Q, Wang Y, Zhu J, Zhao Y, Wang X, Liu Y, Ouyang S, Sheng C, Shen F, Wang P (2022) Targeting a novel inducible GPX4 alternative isoform to alleviate ferroptosis and treat metabolic-associated fatty liver disease. Acta Pharm Sin B 12(9):3650–3666. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.apsb.2022.02.003
- Trujillo-Alonso V, Pratt EC, Zong H, Lara-Martinez A, Kaittanis C, Rabie MO, Longo V, Becker MW, Roboz GJ, Grimm J, Guzman ML (2019) FDA-approved ferumoxytol displays antileukaemia efficacy against cells with low ferroportin levels. Nat Nanotechnol 14(6):616–622. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0406-1
- Ubellacker JM, Tasdogan A, Ramesh V, Shen B, Mitchell EC, Martin-Sandoval MS, Gu Z, McCormick ML, Durham AB, Spitz DR, Zhao Z, Mathews TP, Morrison SJ (2020) Lymph protects metastasizing melanoma cells from ferroptosis. Nature 585(7823):113–118. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2623-z
- Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Dhruv HD, Gill S, Eichhoff OM, Seashore-Ludlow B, Kaffenberger SD, Eaton JK, Shimada K, Aguirre AJ, Viswanathan SR, Chattopadhyay S, Tamayo P, Yang WS, Rees MG, Chen S, Boskovic ZV, Javaid S, Huang C, Wu X, Tseng YY, Roider EM, Gao D, Cleary JM, Wolpin BM, Mesirov JP, Haber DA, Engelman JA, Boehm JS, Kotz JD, Hon CS, Chen Y, Hahn WC, Levesque MP, Doench JG, Berens ME, Shamji AF, Clemons PA, Stockwell BR, Schreiber SL (2017) Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway. Nature 547(7664):453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23007
- Wang D, Tang H, Xu X, Dai W, Wu J, Wang J (2018a) Control the intracellular NF-κB activity by a sensor consisting of miRNA and decoy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 95:43–52. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biocel.2017.12.009
- Wang S, Luo J, Zhang Z, Dong D, Shen Y, Fang Y, Hu L, Liu M, Dai C, Peng S, Fang Z, Shang P (2018b) Iron and magnetic: new research direction of the ferroptosis-based cancer therapy. Am J Cancer Res 8(10):1933–1946
- Wang D, Tai PWL, Gao G (2019) Adeno-associated virus vector as a platform for gene therapy delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 18(5):358–378. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-019-0012-9
- Xu W, Jiang X, Huang L (2019) RNA interference technology. In: Comprehensive biotechnology, pp 560–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64046-8.00282-2
- Yang S, Wong KH, Hua P, He C, Yu H, Shao D, Shi Z, Chen M (2022) ROS-responsive fluorinated polyethyleneimine vector to co-deliver shMTHFD2 and shGPX4 plasmids induces ferroptosis and apoptosis for cancer therapy. Acta Biomater 140:492–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio. 2021.11.042
- Yao F, Deng Y, Zhao Y, Mei Y, Zhang Y, Liu X, Martinez C, Su X, Rosato RR, Teng H, Hang Q, Yap S, Chen D, Wang Y, Chen MM, Zhang M, Liang H, Xie D, Chen X, Zhu H, Chang JC, You MJ, Sun Y, Gan B, Ma L (2021) A targetable LIFR-NF-κB-LCN2 axis controls liver tumorigenesis and vulnerability to ferroptosis. Nat Commun 12(1):7333. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41467-021-27452-9
- Yu Z, Tong S, Wang C, Wu Z, Ye Y, Wang S, Jiang K (2022) PPy@Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles inhibit the proliferation and metastasis of CRC via suppressing the NF-κB signaling pathway and

promoting ferroptosis. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 10:1001994. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe. 2022.1001994

- Yu H, Yan J, Li Z, Song T, Ning F, Tan J, Sun Y (2023) Enhanced photothermal-ferroptosis effects based on RBCm-coated PDA nanoparticles for effective cancer therapy. J Mater Chem B 11(2): 415–429. https://doi.org/10.1039/d2tb02329f
- Zhang S, Zhang J, Fan X, Liu H, Zhu M, Yang M, Zhang X, Zhang H, Yu F (2022) Ionizing radiation-induced ferroptosis based on nanomaterials. Int J Nanomedicine 17:3497–3507. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S372947
- Zheng H, Jiang J, Xu S, Liu W, Xie Q, Cai X, Zhang J, Liu S, Li R (2021) Nanoparticle-induced ferroptosis: detection methods, mechanisms and applications. Nanoscale 13(4):2266–2285. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0nr08478f
- Zhou LL, Guan Q, Zhou W, Kan JL, Dong YB (2022) Ambient synthesis of an iminium-linked covalent organic framework for synergetic RNA interference and metabolic therapy of fibrosarcoma. Chem Sci 13(26):7846–7854. https://doi.org/10.1039/d2sc02297d
- Zhu L, Wang J, Tang X, Zhang C, Wang P, Wu L, Gao W, Ding W, Zhang G, Tao X (2022) An efficient magnetic nanocatalystinduced chemo- and ferroptosis synergistic cancer therapy in combination with T₁-T₂ dual-mode magnetic resonance imaging through doxorubicin delivery. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 14(3):3621–3632. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.1c17507
- Zu H, Gao DC (2021) Non-viral vectors in gene therapy: recent development challenges and prospects. AAPS J 23(4):78. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-021-00608-7



Inhibitors of Oxytosis/Ferroptosis: A New Class of Therapeutics for Alzheimer's Disease

Pamela Maher

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease is a progressive neurological disorder that affects the brain, causing problems with memory, thinking, and behavior. It is the most common cause of dementia, a group of brain disorders that affect a person's ability to function independently. Oxytosis is a form of non-apoptotic regulated cell death characterized by glutathione depletion and dysregulated production of free radicals from mitochondria, resulting in lethal lipid peroxidation. The major steps that define oxytosis were first detailed in 2001, and since then, other laboratories have provided additional key insights into the pathway. In 2012, the pathway was redescribed in fibroblasts as an iron-dependent, non-apoptotic form of cell death named ferroptosis. This chapter discusses oxytosis/ferroptosis as a potential therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease.

22.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is one of the most devastating brain disorders. It slowly erodes memory and thinking skills over the course of many years as it causes neuronal dysfunction and eventually death. An estimated 6.5 million Americans are currently living with AD and nearly 13 million are projected to have the disease by 2050 as the population ages (Association A 2022). In 2022, AD and other dementias cost the USA more than \$320 billion and this cost is projected to reach \$1 trillion by 2050 (Association A 2022).

AD was first described over 100 years ago by Alois Alzheimer who identified the histological alterations that today are known as amyloid-beta $(A\beta)$ plaques and

P. Maher (🖂)

Cellular Neurobiology Laboratory, Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, CA, USA e-mail: pmaher@salk.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 D. Tang (ed.), *Ferroptosis in Health and Disease*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-39171-2_22

neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) of the microtubule-associated protein tau (MAPT). Most of the research in AD has been carried out around these two pathological hallmarks, namely targeting the hypothesis that the plaques are the culprit causing the disease. But in the last decade, as we have further understood the molecular drivers of AD, a need for therapeutics that target pathways alternative to the amyloid hypothesis has been mounting. The probability of developing AD grows disproportionally with age and even though aging is the biggest risk factor for the disease, there is still a lack of understanding of how aging contributes to AD. This is because aging is not regarded as a disease and historically there has been a disconnection between the two fields. This limitation is increasingly being acknowledged and the science is now moving toward addressing the role of aging in AD. Therefore, these are exciting times, as this research is also uncovering knowledge about basic biological mechanisms, such as those related to metabolism, inflammation, and regeneration.

In 2021, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first ever disease-modifying therapy (DMT) for AD—Aducanumab. Aducanumab is an antiamyloid monoclonal antibody and while its efficacy has generated controversy and is still being fully evaluated, Aducanumab set a pace to develop DMTs for AD that is only expected to intensify. It should be noted that even though a therapy that mildly improves AD will likely benefit the patients, it is very unlikely that it will avoid the financial strain of the disease on the healthcare systems. This is because the patients will still require expensive, specialized care. The only way to really beat AD is to develop a therapy, or a combination of therapies, with a truly meaningful impact on the disease from multiple angles. In fact, these therapies, depending on how they work, could have their use extended to other forms of age-related dementia, because they would not be focused on the amyloid pathway which is specific to AD.

Other major obstacles to drug development for AD include the cost and duration of the clinical trials as well as patient enrolment in the trials. If societies are truly invested in treating or curing AD, there must be a collective effort to overcome these barriers. The successful development of drugs and vaccines for COVID-19 in the last 2 years has proven that such an endeavor is possible. In this chapter, we will discuss the current therapeutic landscape in the AD field. We will focus on a mechanism of neurodegeneration called oxytosis/ferroptosis whose relevance for aging and AD is starting to be understood. The drug discovery, preclinical studies, and clinical development of therapeutics that target oxytosis/ferroptosis in the AD brain will be described in detail with the example of two inhibitors of this pathway developed in our laboratory that are currently in Phase I clinical trials for AD.

22.2 The Dire Situation with the AD Therapeutics Available

For the last 30 years, AD patients have been treated with a combination of two types of therapeutics, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors [tacrine (discontinued), donepezil, rivastigmine, and galantamine], and the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor



Fig. 22.1 Timeline of current therapeutics approved by the FDA for AD

antagonist memantine (Fig. 22.1) (Masters et al. 2015; Jeremic et al. 2021). Both cholinergic and glutamatergic signaling are involved in learning and memory processes and are impaired in AD (Parsons et al. 2013). Acetylcholine is reduced in forebrain neurons at early stages of the disease (Mufson et al. 2008) and acetylcholine thereby increasing its availability for neurotransmission and enhancing postsynaptic stimulation (Masters et al. 2015). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors are used to treat symptoms of mild-to-moderate AD. Memantine prevents glutamate excitotoxicity and is used to treat symptoms of moderate to severe AD. NMDA receptors are over-activated in AD, leading to sustained Ca²⁺ influx and gradual neurodegeneration (Parsons et al. 2013). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and memantine are often combined, as they can have additive effects (Masters et al. 2015).

However, all of these approved drugs are only cognition-enhancing agents. This means that, although they can temporarily alleviate memory symptoms and other cognitive changes for varying lengths of time, they do not alter the main pathological processes of AD (Association A 2022). Moreover, for nearly 20 years since the approval of memantine by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2003, there was no other drug introduced onto the market for treating AD. Only in 2021 was aducanumab (developed by Biogen and Eisai) conditionally approved by the FDA, also becoming the first ever drug to address the underlying biology of AD rather than the symptoms (Sevigny et al. 2016). Aducanumab is an anti-amyloid monoclonal antibody that targets the aggregated forms of A β thereby reducing A β plaque buildup in the brain through the activation of microglial phagocytosis (Sevigny et al. 2016). The drug was studied in people with early AD [mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and mild AD] and it was shown to reduce visible A β plaques in the brain as determined by amyloid PET imaging but not to noticeably improve cognitive function or quality of life. Aducanumab received the greenlight from the FDA through the accelerated approval pathway, which provides individuals with a serious disease earlier access to drugs when there is an expectation that the drug will have a clinical benefit (Association A 2022). The company is still required to verify clinical

benefit in a post-approval trial which is now ongoing. The drug is expensive (\$28,200, down from its initial list price of \$56,000), is associated with potentially dangerous cases of brain swelling and bleeding [called Amyloid Related Imaging Abnormalities (ARIA)], and has to be administered via an infusion directly into the vein once a month.

The current AD drug development pipeline was recently reviewed [January 2022 (Cummings et al. 2022b)]. Of a total of 143 agents in trials for AD, the vast majority are DMTs (119 agents). The rest are symptomatic agents, including 14 targeting cognitive enhancement and 10 to treat neuropsychiatric and behavioral symptoms. Of the 119 DMTs, 40 are biologics and 79 are small molecules. Twenty DMTs have amyloid, 13 have tau, 23 have inflammation, and 19 have synaptic plasticity/ neuroprotection as their primary mechanistic targets. Of all the agents being tested, 31 are in Phase 3 trials. In addition to aducanumab, four other monoclonal antibodies (donanemab, gantenerumab, lecanemab, and solanezumab) are being tested. Results for donanemab (developed by Eli Lilly), which recognizes Aß aggregated in plaques, are expected sometime in 2023. In September 2022, Biogen and Eisai reported positive findings for lecanemab (Biogen 2022). Lecanemab reduced cognitive decline by 27% in people with early-stage AD at 18 months in a Phase 2 trial, which would make it the first of its kind to show a significant cognitive benefit in a robust trial. Although to a lesser degree than aducanumab, lecanemab also had ARIA side effects. The FDA has recently finished reviewing lecanemab and approved it under the accelerated approval pathway. Unlike aducanumab that primarily binds to amyloid protein after it has aggregated, lecanemab acts at an earlier stage targeting amyloid protofibrils. Gantenerumab (developed by Roche) was designed to bind A β fibrils and readouts were announced in November 2022 with failure in two large, late-stage clinical trials with MCI or mild AD (Roche 2022). Solanezumab (developed by Eli Lilly), which recognizes soluble monomeric but not fibrillar A β , failed multiple times when tested in patients with mild-to-moderate AD and it is now being tested to determine whether it can slow cognitive decline in cognitively unimpaired older adults with already elevated levels of A β . Overall, some of these trials are looking promising but more information on how patients perform in the long-term, especially with respect to maintenance of cognitive function and quality of life, with amyloid immunotherapy is required.

The other DMTs in Phase 3 trials are all small molecules (Cummings et al. 2022b): AGB101 (AgeneBio), a SV2A modulator that reduces A β -induced neuronal hyperactivity; atuzaginstat (Cortexyme), an inhibitor of bacterial proteases of P. gingivalis that cause neuroinflammation; blarcamesine (from Anavex), a sigma-1 receptor agonist that targets oxidative stress, protein misfolding, mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation; GV-971 (Shanghai Greenvalley), an algae-derived agent that alters the microbiome to reduce peripheral and central inflammation; hydralazine, a free-radical scavenger; two forms of omega-3 fatty acids being tested as prevention in older cognitively healthy adults; effects of aerobic exercise training and intensive pharmacological reduction of vascular risk factors (losartan+amlodipine+atorvastatin) on cognitive performance in older adults who have a high risk for AD; metformin, which is being tested in individuals with MCI hoping

that it will increase insulin sensitivity and improve glucose metabolism in the brain; NE3107 (Neurmedix), a small molecule that binds to the extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) and selectively inhibits inflammation-driven ERK- and NF- κ B-induced inflammatory mediators that is being tested in mild-to-moderate probable AD; Nilotinib (KeifeRx), a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that induces autophagy and promotes the clearance of A β and tau; semaglutide (Novo Nordisk), a glucagonlike peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonist that reduces inflammation and improves insulin signaling in the brain; simufilam (Cassava Sciences), a filamin A protein inhibitor that prevents the interaction of soluble A β and the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, which has been reported to trigger tau phosphorylation and synaptic dysfunction; tricaprilin (Cerecin), a formulation of caprylic triglyceride, which induces ketosis to improve mitochondrial metabolism and neuronal function; TRx0237 (TauRx Therapeutics), a tau protein aggregation inhibitor; and valiltramiprosate (Alzheon), a prodrug of tramiprosate that inhibits A β peptide aggregation into toxic oligomers (Cummings et al. 2022b).

In drug development for AD a distinction can be made between Aβ-targeting approaches and non-A β approaches that target alternative pathways. While amyloidtargeting therapies still predominate, there is increasing recognition that to effectively treat the disease, it may be necessary to look at other mechanisms. With the advances in biomarker research, the diagnosis of AD in a patient can now be made based on the presence of A β and phosphorylated tau [positron emission tomography (PET) and body fluids] and not just clinical measurements (Scheltens et al. 2021; Masters et al. 2015). This is important, because the clinical stages in AD can range from cognitively normal to MCI and dementia, underscoring a continuum which spans a period of years (Scheltens et al. 2021). However, it must be stressed that the pathological hallmarks of AD are associated with other key pathological changes in the brain, which, as discussed above, are becoming the focus of new therapeutic approaches under development. During the preclinical phase of AD, alterations in neurons, microglia, and astroglia drive the progression of the disease before cognitive impairment is observed. Neuroinflammation, alterations in the vessels, and dysfunction of the glymphatic system act upstream or in parallel to accumulating A β (Scheltens et al. 2021). Non-amyloid therapies, whether acting upstream or downstream of A β toxicity, can be combined with anti-amyloid-targeting therapies. Because these events can be autocatalytic, a combination of therapies with multiple targets could offer a more efficient way of halting pathology.

The greatest known risk factor for AD is increasing age (Scheltens et al. 2021; Association A 2022). About 1 in 9 people age 65 and older has AD, and the prevalence is 1 in 3 people over the age of 85 (Association A 2022). It would be expected that old age offers the best targets for treating AD. However, the degenerative processes associated with aging are still poorly understood as are their roles in AD. Aging is a complex process characterized by damage to a number of different molecular systems, including DNA, RNA, epigenome, protein, lipids, and metabolites. Moreover, it is the accumulation of damage in the form of various molecular species that may define aging through their combinatorial effect (Gladyshev et al. 2021). At a functional level, this damage can lead to altered

intercellular communication (inflammation), genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, deregulated nutrient-sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, and stem cell exhaustion (Lopez-Otin et al. 2013). The idea is that some of these changes might translate into a failure of specific processes in the brain thus contributing to AD. Next, we will describe how a unique mechanism of neurodegeneration called oxytosis/ferroptosis is associated with the aging process and offers the potential for developing an entirely new class of therapeutics for AD.

22.3 Oxytosis/Ferroptosis in AD, a Therapeutic Target Worth Pursuing

Oxytosis is a form of non-apoptotic regulated cell death characterized by glutathione (GSH) depletion and dysregulated production of free radicals from mitochondria that results in lethal lipid peroxidation (Tan et al. 1998; Tan et al. 2001; Lewerenz et al. 2018; Maher et al. 2020). The major steps that define oxytosis were first detailed in 2001 by Tan et al. (Tan et al. 2001). Since then, other laboratories have provided additional key insights into the pathway (Albrecht et al. 2010; Seiler et al. 2008; Dolga et al. 2018; Ratan 2020), which was later redescribed in fibroblasts in 2012 as an iron-dependent, non-apoptotic form of cell death named ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012). But because the mechanistic steps are essentially the same, we will be calling it oxytosis/ferroptosis (Lewerenz et al. 2018; Maher et al. 2020; Soriano-Castell et al. 2021c).

Oxytosis/ferroptosis can be triggered by inhibiting cystine uptake via system x_c⁻ with either glutamate or erastin, which subsequently depletes intracellular GSH (Tan et al. 1998; Tan et al. 2001; Lewerenz et al. 2018; Maher et al. 2020). GSH depletion leads to inhibition of the GSH-dependent enzyme GSH peroxidase 4 (GPX4), activation of lipoxygenases (LOXs), and dysfunctional mitochondria. GPX4 can also be directly inhibited by the chemical RSL3. ROS and lipid peroxides are generated, which potentiate intracellular calcium (Ca2+) influx through storeoperated Ca²⁺ channels and cell death. Iron plays an important role in oxytosis/ ferroptosis as iron chelators prevent oxytosis/ferroptosis-mediated cell death (Dixon et al. 2012; Maher et al. 2020). Iron can generate ROS via the Fenton reaction and also promote the activation of the non-heme iron-containing LOX enzymes (Eaton et al. 2020; Seiler et al. 2008; Bayir et al. 2020). Free polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) as well as lipids containing esterified PUFAs are particularly susceptible to peroxidation and are required for the execution of oxytosis/ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2016; Conrad et al. 2018; Maher et al. 2020). Oxidized PUFAs are not intrinsically toxic to cells, but the excessive accumulation of oxidized PUFA-containing lipids within cell membranes appears to drive oxytosis/ferroptosis (Stockwell 2022). As a result, the integrity, fluidity, permeability, and function of the biomembranes become compromised (El-Beltagi and Mohamed 2013; Alche 2019; Farmer and Mueller 2013). In addition, lipid peroxides can generate a variety of short-chain reactive carbonyl species (RCS) that can further damage biomolecules such as proteins and DNA (Farmer and Mueller 2013; Alche 2019).

Importantly, all these processes are also observed in the central nervous system (CNS) with aging and are exacerbated in AD (Majernikova et al. 2021; Conrad et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021; Maher et al. 2020; Ashraf et al. 2020) (Fig. 22.2). The levels of GSH in the brain decrease with age in humans and are further reduced in AD (Ballatori et al. 2009; Ansari and Scheff 2010; Emir et al. 2011; Currais and Maher 2013; Mandal et al. 2015). The loss of GSH is associated with impairments in cognitive function, microglial activation, and endothelial dysfunction (Tan et al. 2001; Currais and Maher 2013). Decreases in blood GSH levels with age have also been observed (Maher 2005; Giustarini et al. 2006; Droge et al. 2006; Sekhar et al. 2011) and are exacerbated in MCI and AD (Bermejo et al. 2008; Rae and Williams 2017). Furthermore, genetic ablation of Gpx4 specifically in neurons causes neurodegeneration in mice associated with neuroinflammation (Seiler et al. 2008; Hambright et al. 2017). Interestingly, microglia appear to be more responsive to the induction of oxytosis/ferroptosis in co-cultures with neurons and astrocytes in a process that is mediated by the vesicle trafficking regulator SEC24B and leads to an environment that causes neurotoxicity (Ryan et al. 2023).

In addition, post-mortem brain samples from subjects with MCI already show increased levels of lipid peroxidation, and by-products of lipid peroxidation in plasma, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) are elevated throughout the progression of the disease (Ashraf et al. 2020; Bradley et al. 2010; Sultana et al. 2013; Bradley-Whitman and Lovell 2015; Gaschler and Stockwell 2017). Consequently, RCS such as malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) have been implicated in the disease (Maher et al. 2020). Several LOXs have also been implicated in AD (Joshi and Pratico 2014; Joshi et al. 2015; Kuhn et al. 2015; Singh and Rao 2019). 12/15-LOX is upregulated in the brain regions that are most vulnerable to AD early in the disease (Joshi et al. 2015), and 5-LOX expression increases with age in the brain and is exacerbated in AD (Joshi and Pratico 2014).

A decline in cerebral energy metabolism is observed with aging and is one of the earliest events in AD (Currais 2015; Costantini et al. 2008; Cunnane et al. 2011; Yin et al. 2014). Abnormalities in mitochondria include reductions in electron transport chain (ETC) activity and respiration, increases in mitochondrial-derived oxidative stress, significant changes in the mitochondrial metabolite landscape, oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), RNA, lipid and protein species, and an accumulation of mtDNA mutations (Swerdlow and Khan 2004; Currais 2015; Lin and Beal 2006; Onyango et al. 2016; Yin et al. 2016).

Moreover, aging is associated with imbalances in iron metabolism and disruption in metal homeostasis is an important feature in AD (Gleason and Bush 2021; Ashraf et al. 2020; Hagemeier et al. 2012; Hare et al. 2013). Although iron plays a role in neurotransmitter synthesis, myelination, and mitochondrial function (Hare et al. 2013), its accumulation may contribute to AD pathology in a process similar to that found during oxytosis/ferroptosis. Selective accumulation of iron has been detected in neurofibrillary tangles (Good et al. 1992) as well as specific brain regions

Oxytosis/Ferroptosis and AD

	Oxytosis/ Ferroptosis	Alzheimer's Disease
GSH	Decreased GSH levels induced by X _c inhibition initiate oxytosis/ferroptosis	Decreased GSH levels in the brain and blood of patients
LOXs	Activated	Increased expression and activation in the brain
Iron	Required for the pathway	Accumulated in specific brain regions
GPX4	Inhibited by lack of GSH or directly with RSL3	Neuronal KO of Gpx4 in mice causes neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation
ROS	Increased	Oxidative modifications increased in the brain
Lipid peroxidation	Increased	Increased in brain, plasma and CSF
Mitochondria	Dysfunctional	Dysfunctional and deficits in energy metabolism
Ca ²⁺	Intracellular influx	Intracellular influx
Inflammation	Microglia are particularly responsive to oxytosis/ferrooptosis	Pro-inflammatory microglia and astrocytes
Aβ pathology	Intracellular aggregation of Aβ induces oxytosis/ferroptosis	Vascular, intracellular and plaques
🥪 Tau pathology	?	Tau hyperphosphorylation and NFTs
Synaptic loss	?	Degeneration and loss as the disease progresses
Cell death	Endpoint of the pathway	Progressive neuronal cell death

Fig. 22.2 The key pathological events in oxytosis/ferroptosis and AD $% \left({{{\bf{F}}_{\rm{AD}}}} \right)$

(Tao et al. 2014) and is associated with hippocampal damage (Raven et al. 2013) and the rate of cognitive decline in AD patients (Ayton et al. 2020a).

Although one of the hallmarks of AD is the accumulation of A β in extracellular plaques, A β also accumulates inside neurons in AD brain (Gouras et al. 2005; LaFerla et al. 2007; Wirths et al. 2004). It has been shown that intraneuronal accumulation of A β can induce oxytosis/ferroptosis associated with the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators and metabolic alterations characterized by deficits in glucose metabolism and mitochondrial bioenergetics (Huang et al. 2020).

Despite all of this evidence, the therapeutic value of oxytosis/ferroptosis for treating AD remains largely unexplored. Importantly, while cultured cells die rapidly following the induction of oxytosis/ferroptosis, it is likely that with aging and in AD patients oxytosis/ferroptosis takes place over an extended time period thereby leading to a slow degeneration of basic neuronal functions prior to cell death (Maher et al. 2020). This large window of opportunity would have huge implications for the development of therapies.

To date, a number of studies have been carried out that have tested the efficacy of anti-oxytotic/ferroptotic agents in animal models of AD as well as AD patients. Although these compounds were not initially developed with the specific purpose of inhibiting oxytosis/ferroptosis in AD (they target aspects of AD pathology that have come to be recognized as relevant to oxytosis/ferroptosis), studying them may provide clues on the role of oxytosis/ferroptosis in AD.

For instance, deferoxamine (DFO), an iron chelator that efficiently inhibits oxytosis/ferroptosis in cell culture and that is used to alleviate iron burden in thalassemia major and sickle cell patients, has been shown to decrease AD-related pathology, including cognitive loss and A β deposition in animals (Fine et al. 2012; Guo et al. 2013; Sripetchwandee et al. 2016; Farr and Xiong 2021). In clinical trials, DFO reduced the rate of decline of daily living skills in AD patients (Crapper McLachlan et al. 1991; McLachlan et al. 1993). However, DFO treatment is associated with systemic toxicities at high doses, a short half-life that leads to low patient compliance and possibly problems with crossing the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Farr and Xiong 2021). Deferiprone (DFP) is another iron chelator that inhibits oxytosis/ferroptosis. DFP is capable of penetrating the BBB and removing iron from the brain. It is currently being evaluated in a phase 2 randomized placebocontrolled clinical trial with prodromal and mild AD patients (NCT03234686) (Ayton et al. 2020b). α -Lipoic acid (LA), a naturally occurring enzyme cofactor with iron chelator properties, rescued tauopathy and cognitive impairment in P301S Tau transgenic mice (Zhang et al. 2018a). Interestingly, LA blocked the iron overload, lipid peroxidation, and inflammation seen in these mice, while reducing the ROS content and increasing the expression of GPX4. In a limited study with AD patients (not double-blinded, placebo-controlled or randomized), LA appeared to delay the development of cognitive decline in moderate AD patients (Hager et al. 2007).

Ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 were identified as two potent inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis that prevent the accumulation of lipid hydroperoxides due to their reactivity as radical-trapping antioxidants (RTAs) (Zilka et al. 2017). They both
reduced neuronal death and memory loss induced by $A\beta$ in a mouse model of stereotaxic infusion of oligomeric $A\beta$ 1-42 into the hippocampus (Bao et al. 2021). Ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 also protected primary neurons exposed to $A\beta$ 1-42 (Bao et al. 2021). There are no data on the effects of these agents in humans with AD and they appear to have poor BBB penetration (Keuters et al. 2021).

Other studies have been conducted that provide evidence that targeting additional aspects of oxytosis/ferroptosis may be beneficial. *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC), an antioxidant and a glutathione precursor, prevented A β toxicity in primary neurons (Paula-Lima et al. 2011) and attenuated memory deficits, synaptic plasticity loss, and lipid peroxidation in animals exposed to A β oligomers (Fu et al. 2006; More et al. 2018). Although the effects of administering NAC to a small group of probable AD patients for a short period of time (6 months) were not clear (Adair et al. 2001), a comprehensive clinical trial is still missing.

Selenium is an essential micronutrient that functions as a cofactor for the reduction of antioxidant enzymes, such as GPX4. Although the studies reporting on the concentrations of selenium in the brains of AD patients are inconsistent (Loef et al. 2011), supplementation with selenium reduced cognitive decline and decreased Aβ and tau pathologies in a transgenic mouse model of AD (Zhang et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2018b). Several studies have assessed the effects of selenium in human AD subjects and reported positive outcomes (Pereira et al. 2022). However, these studies were only conducted for up to 6 months and with very small groups of participants. Therefore, additional studies are required.

Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) is a vitamin-like substance synthesized in the human body. In addition to its support role in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, CoQ10 is a lipid-soluble antioxidant that protects the cell membranes from oxidative damage (Mantle et al. 2021). The inhibition of oxytosis/ferroptosis by CoQ10 is modulated by ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019). A water-soluble formulation of coenzyme Q10 (Ubisol-Q10) inhibited A β plaque formation and improved long-term memory in a transgenic mouse model of AD (Muthukumaran et al. 2018). In a small clinical trial with mild-to-moderate AD patients treated with CoQ10 for 4 months, no clinical benefit was reported (Galasko et al. 2012). Idebenone is a short-chain synthetic analog of CoQ10 which also protects cells against oxytosis/ferroptosis and can be regulated by FSP1 (Soriano-Castell et al. 2021b). Clinical studies with idebenone were mixed, reporting both modest cognitive improvements (Gutzmann and Hadler 1998; Gutzmann et al. 2002) as well as a failure to slow cognitive decline in patients (Thal et al. 2003).

Another low-potency inhibitor of oxytosis/ferroptosis that has been reasonably well-studied is vitamin E, which acts as a radical scavenger and whose circulating levels are decreased in AD patients. Multiple randomized trials for AD have been conducted but the data are inconsistent and inconclusive (Browne et al. 2019).

Overall, it is clear that many of the clinical trials performed with oxytosis/ ferroptosis relevant compounds had profound limitations regarding the number of subjects and the length of treatment time. For instance, the current trials with monoclonal antibodies for $A\beta$ are performed with thousands of patients and for durations of up to 18 months. So, much of the data on the efficacy of these inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis in AD patients lack robustness. In addition, there are more potent inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis that target different aspects of the pathway that have not yet been tested in AD patients. Oxytosis/ferroptosis is becoming recognized as a new promising target for neurodegenerative diseases and multiple laboratories are now developing therapeutic strategies (Majernikova et al. 2021; Conrad et al. 2021; Zhang et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021; Maher et al. 2020). Next, we will detail an approach to identify and develop novel inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis.

22.4 Drug Discovery to Develop Inhibitors of Oxytosis/Ferroptosis

There are two main screening approaches to drug discovery that can be pursued; a target-based approach, which is focused on specific molecular targets, and a phenotypic-based approach, that aims to identify interventions that protect against a disease phenotype. Some well-known inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis are RTAs and iron-chelating molecules. These were discussed above and they act upon general mechanisms of oxytosis/ferroptosis (Hadian and Stockwell 2021). A few specific molecular targets that can be modulated to inhibit oxytosis/ferroptosis in cells have been identified that should expand the possibilities for modulating oxytosis/ferroptosis in the future (Fig. 22.3).

Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) is an enzyme that converts free long-chain fatty acids into fatty acyl-CoA esters so that they can be inserted into membrane phospholipids, a step catalyzed by lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3). The activation of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and consequent incorporation into cellular membranes increases the risk of oxytosis/ferroptosis and inhibition of either ACSL4 or LPCAT3 can prevent that (albeit to different extents) (Doll et al. 2017; Conrad et al. 2021; Dixon et al. 2015).

The lipid biosynthetic pathway has provided additional targets for inhibiting oxytosis/ferroptosis. It has been shown that inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1 (ACC1), the rate-limiting enzyme that catalyzes the carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA, protected cells against oxytosis/ferroptosis associated with a decrease in the levels of free PUFAs (Currais et al. 2019). The inhibition of ACC1 can be mediated by the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) as a consequence of modulating the mitochondrial ATP synthase (Goldberg et al. 2018; Currais et al. 2019; Lee et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020a). More recently, it was demonstrated that inhibition of the downstream enzyme fatty acid synthase (FAS), which is required for the synthesis of fatty acids from malonyl-CoA, also prevents cell death induced by oxytosis/ferroptosis (Ates et al. 2020).

With regard to lipid peroxidation, as mentioned above, LOXs offer excellent therapeutic targets against oxytosis/ferroptosis. Although it has been shown that several of the commercially available inhibitors of LOXs are in fact good RTAs, both chemical and genetic manipulation of LOX activity in nerve cells has been



Fig. 22.3 Molecular targets for potential therapeutic intervention in oxytosis/ferroptosis. ACC1 acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1, ACSL4 acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4, AMPK AMP-activated protein kinase, ATF4 activating transcription factor 4, Ca²⁺ calcium, CoQ10 coenzyme Q10, Cys cysteine, DHODH dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, FAS fatty acid synthase, Fe²⁺ iron, FSP1 ferroptosis suppressor protein 1, Glu glutamate, GPX4 GSH peroxidase 4, GSH glutathione, LOXs lipoxygenases, LPCAT3 lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3, mtATP synthase mitochondrial ATP synthase, NRF2 nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2, PHB2 prohibitin 2, POR cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase, PUFA polyunsaturated fatty acid, PUFA-CoA polyunsaturated fatty acid coenzyme A, PUFA-PL polyunsaturated fatty acid phospholipid

shown to interfere with oxytosis/ferroptosis (Shah et al. 2018; Maher et al. 2020). There are a number of LOX inhibitors in development or clinical use for other indications such as inflammation and some of these might be repurposed for AD (Hu and Ma 2018). Another enzyme that potentiates lipid peroxidation is cyto-chrome P450 oxidoreductase (POR) (Zou et al. 2020). POR mediates the transfer of electrons from NADPH to cytochrome P450 which is required in cellular redox homeostasis and detoxification. POR also donates electrons to other redox partners and it has been shown to up-regulate the peroxidation of membrane polyunsaturated phospholipids perhaps by accelerating the cycling between Fe(ii) and Fe(iii) in the heme component of cytochrome P450 (Zou et al. 2020).

The tumor suppressor p53 has also been linked to oxytosis/ferroptosis. p53 inhibits cystine uptake by repressing expression of SLC7A11 thereby sensitizing cells to ferroptosis (Jiang et al. 2015). However, the activation of p53 alone is not sufficient to induce ferroptosis by itself.

Accumulating studies indicate a crosstalk between autophagy and oxytosis/ ferroptosis. Autophagic degradation of the cellular iron storage protein ferritin in lysosomes (ferritinophagy) results in the release of iron and increased sensitivity to ferroptosis (Hou et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2016) and inhibition of ferritinophagy by blockage of autophagy prevented oxytosis/ferroptosis. However, the use of autophagy inhibitors in AD would be unwise given that autophagy has been associated with interventions that prevent age-related pathology. Furthermore, the role of this pathway in oxytosis/ferroptosis appears to be cell type dependent (Soriano-Castell et al. 2021a).

More recently, inhibition of prohibitin 2 (PHB2) was shown to promote the expression of the iron storage protein ferritin, reducing the iron content and decreasing the susceptibility to oxytosis/ferroptosis in multiple cell lines exposed to erastin (Yang et al. 2022).

Just as steps that potentiate oxytosis/ferroptosis can be negatively regulated to confer cytoprotection, there are molecular pathways that can be enhanced to reduce the progression of oxytosis/ferroptosis. A good example is the activation of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), a master transcription factor for regulating cellular antioxidation responses that often culminate in the mitigation of lipid peroxidation (Song and Long 2020; Dodson et al. 2019). Some of its downstream genes also encode proteins involved in the synthesis and metabolism of GSH, the regulation of iron metabolism, and the detoxification of reactive intermediates. Numerous activators of Nrf2 have been described and several of these are in clinical trials for neurological and other diseases (Robledinos-Anton et al. 2019).

Another important transcription factor is activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), which promotes the expression of a variety of genes involved in amino acid import, GSH biosynthesis, and resistance to oxytosis/ferroptosis (Harding et al. 2003; Lewerenz et al. 2012; Lewerenz et al. 2014). Data indicate that ATF4 plays a key role in regulating basal GSH levels in neuronal and non-neuronal cells, whereas NRF2 appears to function as a multiplier of ATF4 activity under conditions of oxidative stress (Lewerenz and Maher 2009).

There are other molecular pathways that negatively regulate oxytosis/ferroptosis but that have yet to be properly tested in models of neurodegeneration. One of these is FSP1 which can act on both CoQ10 (discussed above) (Doll et al. 2019; Bersuker et al. 2019) and vitamin K (Mishima et al. 2022; Soriano-Castell et al. 2021b) to generate their reduced hydroquinone forms which are potent RTAs and inhibit oxytosis/ferroptosis. The cytosolic lipid transfer protein STARD7 might play a role in this pathway as well by ensuring the synthesis of CoQ10 in mitochondria and its transport to the plasma membrane to be used by FSP1 (Deshwal et al. 2023). Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) is another enzyme that works in parallel with GPX4 to inhibit oxytosis/ferroptosis by reducing CoQ10 to ubiquinol (Mao et al. 2021).

Although all these molecular regulators of oxytosis/ferroptosis may have the potential to be therapeutically targeted, whether they offer effective treatment avenues for AD without negatively affecting vital cellular processes will require rigorous testing using inhibitors or activators of these regulators in animal models, as discussed below.

As an alternative to target-based approaches, phenotypic screening can be used to identify therapeutics without the requirement of a known molecular target. Pheno-typic screening uses biological models of a disease to identify agents that modify the phenotype to generate a positive outcome (Prior et al. 2014). Because of that, it often leads to the discovery of new targets when the protective action of a therapeutic is later investigated.

Phenotypic screening assays can be used that expose cultured nerve cells to inducers of oxytosis/ferroptosis, such as cystine deprivation, glutamate, erastin, and RSL3 (Maher et al. 2020). This approach has identified inhibitors of oxytosis/ ferroptosis from a variety of sources, including libraries of natural compounds and natural extracts (Fischer et al. 2019; Soriano-Castell et al. 2021b). Once protective compounds are singled out, they may be further improved via medicinal chemistry in order to generate compounds with lower EC50s against oxytosis/ferroptosis (more potent) that are safe (mutagenicity, chromosomal stability, and cardiac safety), present optimal metabolism and pharmacokinetics (DMPK), and have good brain penetrance. As a guideline, successful CNS drugs should have MW \leq 400, CLogP \leq 5, tPSA \leq 90, HBD \leq 3, and HBA \leq 7 for best penetration of the BBB (Hitchcock and Pennington 2006) (Pajouhesh and Lenz 2005; Prior et al. 2014). The goal is to improve the drug-like properties of a compound prior to testing it in animal models of AD.

The selection of animal models to study age-associated dementia has been a challenge (Gotz et al. 2018). The majority of the models for AD have been developed to mimic the aggregation of $A\beta$ and rely on the expression of mutations that are found in human familial AD (FAD), including the amyloid precursor protein (APP) and presenilins (PSEN1 and PSEN2). However, as mentioned above, AD patients develop additional pathological features associated with old age which are thought to play a major role in the disease. As such, a combination of models to investigate various molecular pathological mechanisms and to test therapeutic candidates may be required. Since aging is the greatest risk factor for sporadic AD, models that reflect the impact of aging in dementia should be incorporated into preclinical testing. An example is the SAMP8 non-transgenic mouse model of accelerated aging which exhibits an age-related deterioration in learning and memory and develops a number of brain alterations similar to those found in AD, including increased oxidative stress, inflammation, vascular impairment, gliosis, Aβ deposition, and tau hyperphosphorylation (Currais et al. 2015; Pallàs 2012; Pallas et al. 2008; Takeda 2009). Preclinical studies with AD models can be complemented with the Gpx4BIKO mouse model of neuronal oxytosis/ferroptosis which utilizes an inducible Gpx4 inducible knockout in forebrain neurons (Hambright et al. 2017). When treated with tamoxifen, these mice exhibit significant deficits in spatial learning and memory function associated with hippocampal neurodegeneration, markers of oxytosis/ferroptosis (lipid peroxidation), and neuroinflammation (astrocytosis and microgliosis) when compared to control mice (Hambright et al. 2017). A candidate oxytosis/ferroptosis inhibitor can be tested in these models for its effects on cognition as well pathological, biochemical, and histological changes associated with both AD and oxytosis/ferroptosis. These data can be complemented by omic analyses (transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics) that will provide a more integrative understanding of how the compounds are working (Ates et al. 2020; Currais et al. 2015; Currais et al. 2019).

phenotypic screening-based This approach has generated two verv neuroprotective AD drug candidates developed in our laboratory, CMS121 and J147, that are the result of chemical optimization of the natural compounds fisetin and curcumin, respectively (Chen et al. 2011; Chiruta et al. 2012). Both CMS121 and J147 are very potent inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis in nerve cell culture and reduce the brain pathology when administered to transgenic AD and SAMP8 mice (Ates et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2011; Currais et al. 2019). They appear to be doing so by maintaining mitochondrial function with aging through activation of the AMPK/ ACC1 pathway (Currais et al. 2019). Their molecular targets were only later identified and are two proteins new to the process of cell death in oxytosis/ ferroptosis, the mitochondrial ATP synthase for J147 (Goldberg et al. 2018) and FAS for CMS121 (Ates et al. 2020). Both of the compounds have gone through Investigational New Drug (IND) approval and are in Phase I clinical trials for AD (NCT03838185 and NCT05318040). These steps are discussed next.

It is worth mentioning that it is important to have multiple candidates that inhibit oxytosis/ferroptosis in the pipeline in order to increase the chances of one succeeding in clinical trials. This is particularly relevant when they target different proteins in the pathway. Given that oxytosis/ferroptosis still remains relatively unexplored from a therapeutic perspective, the development of additional inhibitors should be highly encouraged.

22.5 Preclinical Studies

In the USA, one of the biggest hurdles that needs to be surmounted in order to test a new drug candidate, such as a novel inhibitor of oxytosis/ferroptosis, in human patients is obtaining IND approval from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The specific requirements for this process can be obtained from multiple documents available on the FDA website (https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/fdarules-and-regulations). The overall goal of the studies required for IND approval is to establish that the drug candidate will not expose human subjects to unreasonable risks when used in short-term, early-stage clinical trials. The IND application requires information in three areas: animal pharmacology and toxicology studies, manufacturing information and clinical protocols and investigator information. The animal pharmacology and toxicology studies comprise a variety of different types of information on the drug candidates including (1) studies on the pharmacological effects and mechanism(s) of action of the drug candidate in animals including safety pharmacology (effects on respiratory, cardiac, and brain function) as well as any information on the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) of the drug candidate in animals and (2) studies on the toxicological effects of the drug candidate in animals (e.g., effects on cardiac function, respiration, kidney function) and in vitro (e.g., genotoxicity, mutagenic potential) as appropriate. For age-associated diseases, the latter studies would likely not include assessment of the drug candidate's reproductive and fetal effects. However, it would include information on the drug candidate's potential genotoxicity.

A critical goal of the animal toxicity studies is to establish both the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) which is the highest dose that does not cause unacceptable side effects and the No Observed Adverse Effects Limit (NOAEL) dose which is the highest dose that does not cause any side effects for the drug candidate. This information will be used to determine the starting dose and the dose escalations for the first-in-human (FIH) study (Phase 1 clinical trial) and is determined from repeated-dose toxicity studies which need to be done in two species, one rodent (usually rats) and one non-rodent (often dog), for a minimum of 2 weeks. These studies must use the same route and schedule of administration as is planned for the clinical use of the drug candidate in humans. The duration of these studies depends on the length of the planned clinical trial. For a clinical trial longer than 6 months, the recommended minimum duration for repeated-dose toxicity studies is 6 months in rodents and 9 months in non-rodents.

The manufacturing information includes information on the composition, manufacture, and stability of the drug candidate as well as the controls used for manufacturing both the drug candidate itself and the drug product which would include any additional ingredients that are used to formulate the product that will be tested in humans.

The clinical protocols and investigator information consist primarily of a detailed protocol for the FIH study proposed for the drug candidate as well as information on the qualifications of the clinical investigators who will oversee the Phase 1 clinical trial. The IND application should also include detailed information on previous human experience with the drug candidate if it has been investigated or marketed previously either in the USA or other countries.

All drug candidates that are new chemical entities require IND approval. Furthermore, any drug candidate, regardless of its source (e.g., natural products), requires IND approval for human studies if the intention of the clinical trial(s) is to test its ability to cure, mitigate, treat, or prevent a disease. However, if the intention of the clinical trial is to test the ability of the drug candidate to affect the structure or function of the body but not to be used for a therapeutic purpose and the drug candidate is already used as a dietary supplement or food, then the clinical trial does not require IND approval. Once an IND application is submitted, the FDA has 30 days to review it for safety concerns. If no concerns are noted, then the investigator can proceed with the clinical trial.

22.6 The Clinical Testing Path, Challenges, and Hope

Clinical trials proceed in phases (Fig. 22.4). For excellent descriptions of all phases of clinical trials for AD see Alzheimer's Disease Drug Development (Cummings et al. 2022a).



Phase 1 trials are used to assess the safety and tolerability of a drug candidate in humans as well as to determine human pharmacokinetics. Young healthy male and female volunteers are usually used for these studies. There are generally two parts to these studies: a single ascending dose (SAD) study where single doses are given to small cohorts of participants and there is a series of increases in dose until the prespecified maximal dose is reached or safety and tolerability concerns require an early termination, and a multiple ascending dose (MAD) study where multiple doses are given to trial participants over a fixed period of time (usually 7 days) and there is a series of increases in dose until the prespecified maximal dose in reached or safety and tolerability concerns require an early termination. In both cases, a variety of physiological parameters are monitored to ensure that the drug candidate is not adversely affecting key organs. In addition, blood and sometimes urine samples are taken to determine pharmacokinetic parameters. Escalation to the next higher dose only occurs following evaluation of the physiological results from the previous dose to ensure the safety of the participants. The most critical aspect in initiating these studies is deciding on the starting dose which is based on the NOAEL level determined in the animal toxicology studies as discussed earlier.

If the drug candidate appears safe and is well tolerated by the participants in the Phase 1 trial, then a Phase 2 trial can be initiated. This is often the first time that the drug candidate is tested in the target population which in the case of AD can be people at risk of developing AD, people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or people at various stages of AD depending on how the drug candidate is expected to work. Phase 2 trials for AD frequently include multiple studies and can have several goals including determining the safety and tolerability of one or more doses as determined by the Phase 1 studies in the target population, establishing target engagement by using appropriate biomarkers and assessing early signals of drug efficacy which can be based either on biomarkers or on measures of relevant outcomes such as improvements in cognitive function and/or reductions in functional impairments. For AD drug candidates and particularly for those thought to be most effective at early stages of the disease, these latter two outcomes can take a relatively long period of time to be manifest so Phase 2 trials that last 12 months or longer are often needed. Phase 2 trials have a much better chance of success if the study population is relatively homogeneous based on strict inclusion and exclusion criteria since the numbers of subjects are typically small (100–300). Unlike the Phase 1 trials, the design of Phase 2 trials is not fixed and should be configured to fit both the drug candidate and the target population to be treated. Furthermore, Phase 2 trials provide room for experimentation, especially with respect to biomarker and clinical outcome readouts.

The goal of Phase 3 trials is to provide definitive evidence for drug efficacy at a predetermined dose. These trials include large numbers of subjects generally recruited over multiple sites and, for AD, usually last several years to ensure that there is a clear, drug-related effect on the disease. Previously, approval of a drug candidate for AD required clear indications of efficacy against the clinical hallmarks of the disease including decreases in cognitive function and/or increases in functional impairments. However, the two recent AD drug approvals by the FDA (see above) were based solely on the effects of the drugs on brain A β levels. Whether this will translate into real clinical benefits for AD patients remains to be determined.

22.7 Biomarkers

As noted above, biomarkers are becoming an increasingly important part of clinical trials. They are used both to select subjects for clinical trials as well as to determine the effects of potential disease-modifying therapies. For excellent overviews of several aspects of biomarkers for AD drug trials, see Alzheimer's Disease Drug Development (Cummings et al. 2022a). Biomarkers encompass both brain imaging biomarkers and fluid biomarkers in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and/or blood (plasma and/or serum). These can be used to monitor both specific aspects of AD pathology and markers of drug candidate target engagement which may not necessarily be the same if the immediate drug candidate target is not directly connected to AD pathology. For example, if it modulates oxytosis/ferroptosis.

The two main approaches to imaging for AD are magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and positron emission tomography (PET). MRI provides high-resolution imaging of the brain and so can be used to determine the volume and integrity of different brain regions. In contrast to PET, it does not require radiation. Hippocampal atrophy, as measured by a decrease in volume using MRI, is seen early in AD and continues throughout the progression of the disease. Although it is not specific to AD, it can still provide important information regarding neuronal degeneration. MRI can also be used to measure brain GSH and iron levels. Although these two changes are not exclusive to oxytosis/ferroptosis, changes in their levels are characteristic of the activation of this pathway and so their measurement could provide some indication of whether a drug candidate was acting on this pathway.

PET imaging can detect the levels and brain location of a specific molecular target by using an injected target probe that is labeled with a positron-emitting isotope with a relatively short half-life (a few hours). PET can be used to detect a number of targets related to AD including amyloid and tau as well as alterations in glucose metabolism or inflammation. The levels of binding of PET probes for amyloid begin to increase early in disease development and then plateau in early AD while the levels of binding of PET probes for tau increase more continuously throughout the course of the disease. Interestingly, early increases in tau and amyloid deposition are seen in distinct parts of the brain and only begin to overlap later in disease development. Regional glucose metabolism is measured using FDG PET and is thought to be tightly coupled to synaptic function. It begins to decrease prior to clinical diagnosis of AD and continues to decline thereafter. The tracers that have been used to monitor inflammation by PET imaging bind to the translocator protein (TSPO) which is an outer mitochondrial membrane protein that is upregulated in neuroinflammation and was thought to be specific for microglial activation although more recent evidence suggests upregulation in astrocytes and endothelial cells as well. These inflammation tracers are still in the experimental stage due to problems with affinity, signal-to-noise ratio, and blood–brain barrier permeability.

The core CSF AD biomarker profile includes A β 42 and/or the A β 42/A β 40 ratio along with phospho tau (usually p-tau₁₈₁) and total tau. Decreases in A β 42 and the A β 42/A β 40 ratio are seen in both prodromal AD and AD as are increases in both phospho and total tau. Markers of neurodegeneration such as neurogranin and neurofilament light chain (NfL) can also be measured in CSF and can provide additional information about disease progression although they are not specific to AD.

While both imaging and CSF biomarkers are very good at identifying AD pathology, they have some drawbacks including the need for special facilities, expense, limited availability, and, in the case of CSF, invasiveness. Thus, there has been an increasing emphasis on developing blood-based biomarkers [for review, see (Klyucherev et al. 2022)]. However, the levels of A β 42, A β 40 as well as phospho tau/tau in the blood are much lower than in CSF so measurement requires very sensitive techniques (e.g., SIMOA). Both neurogranin and NfL, the markers of neurodegeneration, can also be measured in blood and increases in plasma NfL levels are seen early in disease development and increase with disease progression. Blood markers of inflammation have the potential to provide additional information about disease status and progression but whether distinct patterns are specific for AD is still being investigated. Although there are no blood biomarkers specific to oxytosis/ferroptosis yet, changes in GSH, lipid peroxides, and by-products of lipid peroxidation are characteristic of pathway activation and could be used to determine if a specific drug candidate might be acting on this pathway.

In summary, while a number of biomarkers are available for use in clinical trials, what to use depends on the nature of the participants in the trials, the type of drug candidate and the goals for its use as well as cost and the level of invasiveness participants are willing to tolerate.

22.8 Discussion and Conclusion

Since it was first described, oxytosis/ferroptosis has emerged as an important toxicity pathway in a number of different human diseases. Importantly, the observation that it has well-defined molecular steps makes therapeutic interventions possible. In addition to AD, features of oxytosis/ferroptosis have been observed in heart, liver, vascular, and kidney diseases (Han et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020b; Fang et al. 2019; Gao et al. 2015; Friedmann Angeli et al. 2014; Martin-Sanchez et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019; NaveenKumar et al. 2018). Therefore, the work outlined in this review is relevant to all human pathology in which oxytosis/ferroptosis is a driving force.

Ferroptosis was named in 2012 as an iron-dependent, non-apoptotic form of cell death in cancer cells (Dixon et al. 2012). While inducing oxytosis/ferroptosis or increasing susceptibility to it may treat certain cancer cells, unless highly specific to those cells, these approaches have the potential to accelerate age-related diseases that may be driven by oxytosis/ferroptosis, such as AD. Although the reverse situation also raises caution, i.e., using inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis to treat AD that may accelerate cancer growth, the fact is that surprisingly some of these inhibitors actually possess anti-tumorigenic activity. This could be because some compounds are good inhibitors of lipid peroxidation while simultaneously increasing ROS production (Soriano-Castell et al. 2021b), which is lethal to cancer cells. Another possibility could be that the inhibition of metabolic reactions that lead to the protection against oxytosis/ferroptosis also limits cancer growth, such as the fatty acid biosynthetic pathway (ACC1 and FASN), as mentioned above. What perhaps should not be done is to use inducers of oxytosis/ferroptosis non-specifically as co-adjuvants in cancer treatments without understanding fully the implications to the rest of the body.

It is worth noting that an inverse relationship between the incidence of cancer and the incidence of AD has been detected by several cross-sectional studies (Demetrius and Simon 2012; Driver et al. 2012; Bowles et al. 2017). Not only is AD associated with a reduced risk of cancer, the incidence of cancer is associated with a reduced risk of AD (Demetrius and Simon 2012; Driver et al. 2012; Musicco et al. 2013; Plun-Favreau et al. 2010). This could be explained by metabolic pathways that are relevant to both cancer and neuroprotection. For instance, the hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF1 α) and glycolysis pathways are pro-tumorigenic and have also been shown to be neuroprotective (Soucek et al. 2003; Majmundar et al. 2010). Clearly, the metabolic similarities and disparities between cancer and AD warrant further investigation.

A key idea taken from the studies discussed here is that a combination of therapies that target different aspects of oxytosis/ferroptosis might be the most effective method of treating the pathway in AD. This is because not only would it allow for synergy between drugs but also might make it feasible to use lower amounts of those drugs and thereby reduce any potential side effects. Another advantage is the possibility of the drugs targeting oxytosis/ferroptosis in different cell types, tissues, etc. This is of particular relevance in age-associated diseases such as AD, where the progressive dysfunction of peripheral organs with aging can contribute to the exacerbation of the disease in the CNS (Aczel et al. 2022). Although clinical trials with multiple drug candidates pose an additional layer of challenges, we think that this could be very much worthwhile.

In summary, considering the failure rate of AD drug candidates in clinical trials, there is clearly a need to identify additional compounds with therapeutic potential based on less explored target pathways. The knowledge regarding the molecular processes governing oxytosis/ferroptosis has come a long away in recent years and the evidence is strong in support of the hypothesis that the pathway may play a key pathological role in AD. We have discussed how potent inhibitors of oxytosis/ ferroptosis can be developed to hasten the fight against this devastating disease.

Furthermore, since AD is highly heterogeneous and many drug candidates fail at the IND or clinical trial steps, multiple drug candidate inhibitors of oxytosis/ferroptosis that target the pathway at different regulatory steps will likely be required. Therefore, there are many opportunities for future studies.

References

- Aczel D, Gyorgy B, Bakonyi P, BukhAri R, Pinho R, Boldogh I, Yaodong G, Radak Z (2022) The systemic effects of exercise on the systemic effects of Alzheimer's disease. Antioxidants (Basel) 11(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11051028
- Adair JC, Knoefel JE, Morgan N (2001) Controlled trial of N-acetylcysteine for patients with probable Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 57(8):1515–1517. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.57.8. 1515
- Albrecht P, Lewerenz J, Dittmer S, Noack R, Maher P, Methner A (2010) Mechanisms of oxidative glutamate toxicity: the glutamate/cystine antiporter system xc- as a neuroprotective drug target. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 9(3):373–382. https://doi.org/10.2174/187152710791292567
- Alche JD (2019) A concise appraisal of lipid oxidation and lipoxidation in higher plants. Redox Biol 23:101136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019.101136
- Ansari MA, Scheff SW (2010) Oxidative stress in the progression of Alzheimer disease in the frontal cortex. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 69(2):155–167. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN. 0b013e3181cb5af4
- Ashraf A, Jeandriens J, Parkes HG, So PW (2020) Iron dyshomeostasis, lipid peroxidation and perturbed expression of cystine/glutamate antiporter in Alzheimer's disease: evidence of ferroptosis. Redox Biol 32:101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101494
- Association A (2022) 2022 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 18(4):700– 789. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12638
- Ates G, Goldberg J, Currais A, Maher P (2020) CMS121, a fatty acid synthase inhibitor, protects against excess lipid peroxidation and inflammation and alleviates cognitive loss in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Redox Biol 36:101648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox. 2020.101648
- Ayton S, Wang Y, Diouf I, Schneider JA, Brockman J, Morris MC, Bush AI (2020a) Brain iron is associated with accelerated cognitive decline in people with Alzheimer pathology. Mol Psychiatry 25(11):2932–2941. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0375-7
- Ayton S, Woodward M, Ellis KA, Lim YY, Maruff PT, Desmond PM, Salvado O, Fazlollahi A, Rowe CC, Churilov L, Bush AI, Investigators DT (2020b) Deferiprone to delay dementia (the 3D trial). Alzheimers Dement 16(S9):e044107. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.044107
- Ballatori N, Krance SM, Notenboom S, Shi S, Tieu K, Hammond CL (2009) Glutathione dysregulation and the etiology and progression of human diseases. Biol Chem 390(3): 191–214. https://doi.org/10.1515/BC.2009.033
- Bao WD, Pang P, Zhou XT, Hu F, Xiong W, Chen K, Wang J, Wang F, Xie D, Hu YZ, Han ZT, Zhang HH, Wang WX, Nelson PT, Chen JG, Lu Y, Man HY, Liu D, Zhu LQ (2021) Loss of ferroportin induces memory impairment by promoting ferroptosis in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Death Differ 28(5):1548–1562. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00685-9
- Bayir H, Anthonymuthu TS, Tyurina YY, Patel SJ, Amoscato AA, Lamade AM, Yang Q, Vladimirov GK, Philpott CC, Kagan VE (2020) Achieving life through death: redox biology of lipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Cell Chem Biol 27(4):387–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2020.03.014
- Bermejo P, Martin-Aragon S, Benedi J, Susin C, Felici E, Gil P, Ribera JM, Villar AM (2008) Peripheral levels of glutathione and protein oxidation as markers in the development of Alzheimer's disease from mild cognitive impairment. Free Radic Res 42(2):162–170. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10715760701861373

- Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, Roberts MA, Tong B, Maimone TJ, Zoncu R, Bassik MC, Nomura DK, Dixon SJ, Olzmann JA (2019) The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. Nature 575(7784):688–692. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1705-2
- Biogen (2022). https://investors.biogen.com/news-releases/news-release-details/lecanemab-confir matory-phase-3-clarity-ad-study-met-primary
- Bowles EJA, Walker RL, Anderson ML, Dublin S, Crane PK, Larson EB (2017) Risk of Alzheimer's disease or dementia following a cancer diagnosis. PLoS One 12(6):e0179857. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179857
- Bradley MA, Markesbery WR, Lovell MA (2010) Increased levels of 4-hydroxynonenal and acrolein in the brain in preclinical Alzheimer disease. Free Radic Biol Med 48(12): 1570–1576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.02.016
- Bradley-Whitman MA, Lovell MA (2015) Biomarkers of lipid peroxidation in Alzheimer disease (AD): an update. Arch Toxicol 89(7):1035–1044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-015-1517-6
- Browne D, McGuinness B, Woodside JV, McKay GJ (2019) Vitamin E and Alzheimer's disease: what do we know so far? Clin Interv Aging 14:1303–1317. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA. \$186760
- Chen Q, Prior M, Dargusch R, Roberts A, Riek R, Eichmann C, Chiruta C, Akaishi T, Abe K, Maher P, Schubert D (2011) A novel neurotrophic drug for cognitive enhancement and Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 6(12):e27865. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027865
- Chen K, Jiang X, Wu M, Cao X, Bao W, Zhu LQ (2021) Ferroptosis, a potential therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:704298. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021. 704298
- Chiruta C, Schubert D, Dargusch R, Maher P (2012) Chemical modification of the multitarget neuroprotective compound fisetin. J Med Chem 55(1):378–389. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jm2012563
- Conrad M, Kagan VE, Bayir H, Pagnussat GC, Head B, Traber MG, Stockwell BR (2018) Regulation of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis in diverse species. Genes Dev 32(9-10): 602–619. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.314674.118
- Conrad M, Lorenz SM, Proneth B (2021) Targeting ferroptosis: new Hope for as-yet-incurable diseases. Trends Mol Med 27(2):113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.08.010
- Costantini LC, Barr LJ, Vogel JL, Henderson ST (2008) Hypometabolism as a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease. BMC Neurosci 9(Suppl 2):S16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-9-S2-S16
- Crapper McLachlan DR, Dalton AJ, Kruck TP, Bell MY, Smith WL, Kalow W, Andrews DF (1991) Intramuscular desferrioxamine in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 337(8753): 1304–1308. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(91)92978-b
- Cummings J, Kinney J, Fillit H (2022a) Alzheimer's disease drug development: research and development ecosystem. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. https://doi.org/10.1017/ 9781108975759
- Cummings J, Lee G, Nahed P, Kambar M, Zhong K, Fonseca J, Taghva K (2022b) Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2022. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 8(1):e12295. https://doi. org/10.1002/trc2.12295
- Cunnane S, Nugent S, Roy M, Courchesne-Loyer A, Croteau E, Tremblay S, Castellano A, Pifferi F, Bocti C, Paquet N, Begdouri H, Bentourkia M, Turcotte E, Allard M, Barberger-Gateau P, Fulop T, Rapoport SI (2011) Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition 27(1):3–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2010.07.021
- Currais A (2015) Ageing and inflammation a central role for mitochondria in brain health and disease. Ageing Res Rev 21:30–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2015.02.001
- Currais A, Maher P (2013) Functional consequences of age-dependent changes in glutathione status in the brain. Antioxid Redox Signal 19(8):813–822. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4996
- Currais A, Goldberg J, Farrokhi C, Chang M, Prior M, Dargusch R, Daugherty D, Armando A, Quehenberger O, Maher P, Schubert D (2015) A comprehensive multiomics approach toward

understanding the relationship between aging and dementia. Aging (Albany NY) 7(11): 937–955. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.100838

- Currais A, Huang L, Goldberg J, Petrascheck M, Ates G, Pinto-Duarte A, Shokhirev MN, Schubert D, Maher P (2019) Elevating acetyl-CoA levels reduces aspects of brain aging. elife 8:e47866. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.47866
- Demetrius LA, Simon DK (2012) An inverse-Warburg effect and the origin of Alzheimer's disease. Biogerontology 13(6):583–594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-012-9403-6
- Deshwal S, Onishi M, Tatsuta T, Bartsch T, Cors E, Ried K, Lemke K, Nolte H, Giavalisco P, Langer T (2023) Mitochondria regulate intracellular coenzyme Q transport and ferroptotic resistance via STARD7. Nat Cell Biol 25(2):246–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-022-01071-y
- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, Patel DN, Bauer AJ, Cantley AM, Yang WS, Morrison B 3rd, Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149(5):1060–1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012. 03.042
- Dixon SJ, Winter GE, Musavi LS, Lee ED, Snijder B, Rebsamen M, Superti-Furga G, Stockwell BR (2015) Human haploid cell genetics reveals roles for lipid metabolism genes in nonapoptotic cell death. ACS Chem Biol 10(7):1604–1609. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00245
- Dodson M, Castro-Portuguez R, Zhang DD (2019) NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. Redox Biol 23:101107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2019. 101107
- Dolga AM, Oppermann S, Richter M, Honrath B, Neitemeier S, Jelinek A, Ganjam G, Culmsee C (2018) Molecular mechanisms underlying oxytosis. In: Apoptosis and beyond. pp 289–316. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119432463.ch14
- Doll S, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Panzilius E, Kobayashi S, Ingold I, Irmler M, Beckers J, Aichler M, Walch A, Prokisch H, Trumbach D, Mao G, Qu F, Bayir H, Fullekrug J, Scheel CH, Wurst W, Schick JA, Kagan VE, Angeli JP, Conrad M (2017) ACSL4 dictates ferroptosis sensitivity by shaping cellular lipid composition. Nat Chem Biol 13(1):91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.2239
- Doll S, Freitas FP, Shah R, Aldrovandi M, da Silva MC, Ingold I, Goya Grocin A, Xavier da Silva TN, Panzilius E, Scheel CH, Mourao A, Buday K, Sato M, Wanninger J, Vignane T, Mohana V, Rehberg M, Flatley A, Schepers A, Kurz A, White D, Sauer M, Sattler M, Tate EW, Schmitz W, Schulze A, O'Donnell V, Proneth B, Popowicz GM, Pratt DA, Angeli JPF, Conrad M (2019) FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 575(7784):693–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1707-0
- Driver JA, Beiser A, Au R, Kreger BE, Splansky GL, Kurth T, Kiel DP, Lu KP, Seshadri S, Wolf PA (2012) Inverse association between cancer and Alzheimer's disease: results from the Framingham Heart Study. BMJ 344:e1442. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e1442
- Droge W, Kinscherf R, Hildebrandt W, Schmitt T (2006) The deficit in low molecular weight thiols as a target for antiageing therapy. Curr Drug Targets 7(11):1505–1512. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1389450110607011505
- Eaton JK, Furst L, Ruberto RA, Moosmayer D, Hilpmann A, Ryan MJ, Zimmermann K, Cai LL, Niehues M, Badock V, Kramm A, Chen S, Hillig RC, Clemons PA, Gradl S, Montagnon C, Lazarski KE, Christian S, Bajrami B, Neuhaus R, Eheim AL, Viswanathan VS, Schreiber SL (2020) Selective covalent targeting of GPX4 using masked nitrile-oxide electrophiles. Nat Chem Biol 16(5):497–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0501-5
- El-Beltagi HS, Mohamed HI (2013) Reactive oxygen species, lipid peroxidation and antioxidative defense mechanism. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 41(1):44–57
- Emir UE, Raatz S, McPherson S, Hodges JS, Torkelson C, Tawfik P, White T, Terpstra M (2011) Noninvasive quantification of ascorbate and glutathione concentration in the elderly human brain. NMR Biomed 24(7):888–894. https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1646
- Fang X, Wang H, Han D, Xie E, Yang X, Wei J, Gu S, Gao F, Zhu N, Yin X, Cheng Q, Zhang P, Dai W, Chen J, Yang F, Yang HT, Linkermann A, Gu W, Min J, Wang F (2019) Ferroptosis as a

target for protection against cardiomyopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(7):2672–2680. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116

- Farmer EE, Mueller MJ (2013) ROS-mediated lipid peroxidation and RES-activated signaling. Annu Rev Plant Biol 64:429–450. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120132
- Farr AC, Xiong MP (2021) Challenges and opportunities of deferoxamine delivery for treatment of Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and intracerebral hemorrhage. Mol Pharm 18(2): 593–609. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.0c00474
- Fine JM, Baillargeon AM, Renner DB, Hoerster NS, Tokarev J, Colton S, Pelleg A, Andrews A, Sparley KA, Krogh KM, Frey WH, Hanson LR (2012) Intranasal deferoxamine improves performance in radial arm water maze, stabilizes HIF-1alpha, and phosphorylates GSK3beta in P301L tau transgenic mice. Exp Brain Res 219(3):381–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-012-3101-0
- Fischer W, Currais A, Liang Z, Pinto A, Maher P (2019) Old age-associated phenotypic screening for Alzheimer's disease drug candidates identifies sterubin as a potent neuroprotective compound from Yerba santa. Redox Biol 21:101089. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2018.101089
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, Herbach N, Aichler M, Walch A, Eggenhofer E, Basavarajappa D, Radmark O, Kobayashi S, Seibt T, Beck H, Neff F, Esposito I, Wanke R, Forster H, Yefremova O, Heinrichmeyer M, Bornkamm GW, Geissler EK, Thomas SB, Stockwell BR, O'Donnell VB, Kagan VE, Schick JA, Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. Nat Cell Biol 16(12):1180–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3064
- Fu AL, Dong ZH, Sun MJ (2006) Protective effect of N-acetyl-L-cysteine on amyloid beta-peptideinduced learning and memory deficits in mice. Brain Res 1109(1):201–206. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.brainres.2006.06.042
- Galasko DR, Peskind E, Clark CM, Quinn JF, Ringman JM, Jicha GA, Cotman C, Cottrell B, Montine TJ, Thomas RG, Aisen P, Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study (2012) Antioxidants for Alzheimer disease: a randomized clinical trial with cerebrospinal fluid biomarker measures. Arch Neurol 69(7):836–841. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2012.85
- Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X (2015) Glutaminolysis and transferrin regulate ferroptosis. Mol Cell 59(2):298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.011
- Gao M, Monian P, Pan Q, Zhang W, Xiang J, Jiang X (2016) Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process. Cell Res 26(9):1021–1032. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.95
- Gaschler MM, Stockwell BR (2017) Lipid peroxidation in cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482(3):419–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.086
- Giustarini D, Dalle-Donne I, Lorenzini S, Milzani A, Rossi R (2006) Age-related influence on thiol, disulfide, and protein-mixed disulfide levels in human plasma. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 61(10):1030–1038. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/61.10.1030
- Gladyshev VN, Kritchevsky SB, Clarke SG, Cuervo AM, Fiehn O, de Magalhães JP, Mau T, Maes M, Moritz RL, Niedernhofer LJ, Van Schaftingen E, Tranah GJ, Walsh K, Yura Y, Zhang B, Cummings SR (2021) Molecular damage in aging. Nat Aging 1(12):1096–1106. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43587-021-00150-3
- Gleason A, Bush AI (2021) Iron and ferroptosis as therapeutic targets in Alzheimer's disease. Neurotherapeutics 18(1):252–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-020-00954-y
- Goldberg J, Currais A, Prior M, Fischer W, Chiruta C, Ratliff E, Daugherty D, Dargusch R, Finley K, Esparza-Molto PB, Cuezva JM, Maher P, Petrascheck M, Schubert D (2018) The mitochondrial ATP synthase is a shared drug target for aging and dementia. Aging Cell 17(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12715
- Good PF, Perl DP, Bierer LM, Schmeidler J (1992) Selective accumulation of aluminum and iron in the neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease: a laser microprobe (LAMMA) study. Ann Neurol 31(3):286–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410310310
- Gotz J, Bodea LG, Goedert M (2018) Rodent models for Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 19(10):583–598. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0054-8

- Gouras GK, Almeida CG, Takahashi RH (2005) Intraneuronal Abeta accumulation and origin of plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 26(9):1235–1244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2005.05.022
- Guo C, Wang P, Zhong ML, Wang T, Huang XS, Li JY, Wang ZY (2013) Deferoxamine inhibits iron induced hippocampal tau phosphorylation in the Alzheimer transgenic mouse brain. Neurochem Int 62(2):165–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2012.12.005
- Gutzmann H, Hadler D (1998) Sustained efficacy and safety of idebenone in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: update on a 2-year double-blind multicentre study. J Neural Transm Suppl 54:301–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-7508-8_30
- Gutzmann H, Kuhl KP, Hadler D, Rapp MA (2002) Safety and efficacy of idebenone versus tacrine in patients with Alzheimer's disease: results of a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group multicenter study. Pharmacopsychiatry 35(1):12–18. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-19833
- Hadian K, Stockwell BR (2021) A roadmap to creating ferroptosis-based medicines. Nat Chem Biol 17(11):1113–1116. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00853-z
- Hagemeier J, Geurts JJ, Zivadinov R (2012) Brain iron accumulation in aging and neurodegenerative disorders. Expert Rev Neurother 12(12):1467–1480. https://doi.org/10.1586/ern.12.128
- Hager K, Kenklies M, McAfoose J, Engel J, Munch G (2007) Alpha-lipoic acid as a new treatment option for Alzheimer's disease--a 48 months follow-up analysis. J Neural Transm Suppl 72: 189–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-73574-9_24
- Hambright WS, Fonseca RS, Chen L, Na R, Ran Q (2017) Ablation of ferroptosis regulator glutathione peroxidase 4 in forebrain neurons promotes cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration. Redox Biol 12:8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.01.021
- Han C, Liu Y, Dai R, Ismail N, Su W, Li B (2020) Ferroptosis and its potential role in human diseases. Front Pharmacol 11:239. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00239
- Harding HP, Zhang Y, Zeng H, Novoa I, Lu PD, Calfon M, Sadri N, Yun C, Popko B, Paules R, Stojdl DF, Bell JC, Hettmann T, Leiden JM, Ron D (2003) An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol Cell 11(3):619–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1097-2765(03)00105-9
- Hare D, Ayton S, Bush A, Lei P (2013) A delicate balance: iron metabolism and diseases of the brain. Front Aging Neurosci 5:34. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00034
- Hitchcock SA, Pennington LD (2006) Structure-brain exposure relationships. J Med Chem 49(26): 7559–7583. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm060642i
- Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kang R, Tang D (2016) Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. Autophagy 12(8):1425–1428. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15548627.2016.1187366
- Hu C, Ma S (2018) Recent development of lipoxygenase inhibitors as anti-inflammatory agents. Medchemcomm 9(2):212–225. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7md00390k
- Huang L, McClatchy DB, Maher P, Liang Z, Diedrich JK, Soriano-Castell D, Goldberg J, Shokhirev M, Yates JR 3rd, Schubert D, Currais A (2020) Intracellular amyloid toxicity induces oxytosis/ferroptosis regulated cell death. Cell Death Dis 11(10):828. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-020-03020-9
- Jeremic D, Jimenez-Diaz L, Navarro-Lopez JD (2021) Past, present and future of therapeutic strategies against amyloid-beta peptides in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Ageing Res Rev 72:101496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2021.101496
- Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, Wang SJ, Su T, Hibshoosh H, Baer R, Gu W (2015) Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. Nature 520(7545):57–62. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature14344
- Joshi YB, Pratico D (2014) The 5-lipoxygenase pathway: oxidative and inflammatory contributions to the Alzheimer's disease phenotype. Front Cell Neurosci 8:436. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel. 2014.00436
- Joshi YB, Giannopoulos PF, Pratico D (2015) The 12/15-lipoxygenase as an emerging therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 36(3):181–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tips.2015.01.005

- Keuters MH, Keksa-Goldsteine V, Dhungana H, Huuskonen MT, Pomeshchik Y, Savchenko E, Korhonen PK, Singh Y, Wojciechowski S, Lehtonen S, Kanninen KM, Malm T, Sirvio J, Muona A, Koistinaho M, Goldsteins G, Koistinaho J (2021) An arylthiazyne derivative is a potent inhibitor of lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis providing neuroprotection in vitro and in vivo. Sci Rep 11(1):3518. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81741-3
- Klyucherev TO, Olszewski P, Shalimova AA, Chubarev VN, Tarasov VV, Attwood MM, Syvanen S, Schioth HB (2022) Advances in the development of new biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. Transl Neurodegener 11(1):25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40035-022-00296-z
- Kuhn H, Banthiya S, van Leyen K (2015) Mammalian lipoxygenases and their biological relevance. Biochim Biophys Acta 1851(4):308–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.10.002
- LaFerla FM, Green KN, Oddo S (2007) Intracellular amyloid-beta in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(7):499–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2168
- Lee H, Zandkarimi F, Zhang Y, Meena JK, Kim J, Zhuang L, Tyagi S, Ma L, Westbrook TF, Steinberg GR, Nakada D, Stockwell BR, Gan B (2020) Energy-stress-mediated AMPK activation inhibits ferroptosis. Nat Cell Biol 22(2):225–234. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0461-8
- Lewerenz J, Maher P (2009) Basal levels of eIF2alpha phosphorylation determine cellular antioxidant status by regulating ATF4 and xCT expression. J Biol Chem 284(2):1106–1115. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M807325200
- Lewerenz J, Sato H, Albrecht P, Henke N, Noack R, Methner A, Maher P (2012) Mutation of ATF4 mediates resistance of neuronal cell lines against oxidative stress by inducing xCT expression. Cell Death Differ 19(5):847–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2011.165
- Lewerenz J, Baxter P, Kassubek R, Albrecht P, Van Liefferinge J, Westhoff MA, Halatsch ME, Karpel-Massler G, Meakin PJ, Hayes JD, Aronica E, Smolders I, Ludolph AC, Methner A, Conrad M, Massie A, Hardingham GE, Maher P (2014) Phosphoinositide 3-kinases upregulate system xc(-) via eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha and activating transcription factor 4 - a pathway active in glioblastomas and epilepsy. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(18):2907–2922. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2013.5455
- Lewerenz J, Ates G, Methner A, Conrad M, Maher P (2018) Oxytosis/ferroptosis-(re-) emerging roles for oxidative stress-dependent non-apoptotic cell death in diseases of the central nervous system. Front Neurosci 12:214. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00214
- Li C, Dong X, Du W, Shi X, Chen K, Zhang W, Gao M (2020a) LKB1-AMPK axis negatively regulates ferroptosis by inhibiting fatty acid synthesis. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5(1):187. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00297-2
- Li J, Cao F, Yin HL, Huang ZJ, Lin ZT, Mao N, Sun B, Wang G (2020b) Ferroptosis: past, present and future. Cell Death Dis 11(2):88. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2298-2
- Lin MT, Beal MF (2006) Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Nature 443(7113):787–795. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05292
- Loef M, Schrauzer GN, Walach H (2011) Selenium and Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis 26(1):81–104. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2011-110414
- Lopez-Otin C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G (2013) The hallmarks of aging. Cell 153(6):1194–1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- Maher P (2005) The effects of stress and aging on glutathione metabolism. Ageing Res Rev 4(2): 288–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2005.02.005
- Maher P, Currais A, Schubert D (2020) Using the oxytosis/ferroptosis pathway to understand and treat age-associated neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Chem Biol 27(12):1456–1471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.10.010
- Majernikova N, den Dunnen WFA, Dolga AM (2021) The potential of ferroptosis-targeting therapies for Alzheimer's disease: from mechanism to transcriptomic analysis. Front Aging Neurosci 13:745046. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2021.745046
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC (2010) Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. Mol Cell 40(2):294–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.022

- Mandal PK, Saharan S, Tripathi M, Murari G (2015) Brain glutathione levels--a novel biomarker for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Biol Psychiatry 78(10):702–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.04.005
- Mantle D, Heaton RA, Hargreaves IP (2021) Coenzyme Q10, ageing and the nervous system: an overview. Antioxidants (Basel) 11(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11010002
- Mao C, Liu X, Zhang Y, Lei G, Yan Y, Lee H, Koppula P, Wu S, Zhuang L, Fang B, Poyurovsky MV, Olszewski K, Gan B (2021) DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. Nature 593(7860):586–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03539-7
- Martin-Sanchez D, Ruiz-Andres O, Poveda J, Carrasco S, Cannata-Ortiz P, Sanchez-Nino MD, Ruiz Ortega M, Egido J, Linkermann A, Ortiz A, Sanz AB (2017) Ferroptosis, but not necroptosis, is important in nephrotoxic folic acid-induced AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol 28(1): 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2015121376
- Masters CL, Bateman R, Blennow K, Rowe CC, Sperling RA, Cummings JL (2015) Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15056. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.56
- McLachlan DR, Smith WL, Kruck TP (1993) Desferrioxamine and Alzheimer's disease: video home behavior assessment of clinical course and measures of brain aluminum. Ther Drug Monit 15(6):602–607
- Mishima E, Ito J, Wu Z, Nakamura T, Wahida A, Doll S, Tonnus W, Nepachalovich P, Eggenhofer E, Aldrovandi M, Henkelmann B, Yamada KI, Wanninger J, Zilka O, Sato E, Feederle R, Hass D, Maida A, Mourao ASD, Linkermann A, Geissler EK, Nakagawa K, Abe T, Fedorova M, Proneth B, Pratt DA, Conrad M (2022) A non-canonical vitamin K cycle is a potent ferroptosis suppressor. Nature 608(7924):778–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05022-3
- More J, Galusso N, Veloso P, Montecinos L, Finkelstein JP, Sanchez G, Bull R, Valdes JL, Hidalgo C, Paula-Lima A (2018) N-acetylcysteine prevents the spatial memory deficits and the redox-dependent RyR2 decrease displayed by an Alzheimer's disease rat model. Front Aging Neurosci 10:399. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00399
- Mufson EJ, Counts SE, Perez SE, Ginsberg SD (2008) Cholinergic system during the progression of Alzheimer's disease: therapeutic implications. Expert Rev Neurother 8(11):1703–1718. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.8.11.1703
- Musicco M, Adorni F, Di Santo S, Prinelli F, Pettenati C, Caltagirone C, Palmer K, Russo A (2013) Inverse occurrence of cancer and Alzheimer disease: a population-based incidence study. Neurology 81(4):322–328. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829c5ec1
- Muthukumaran K, Kanwar A, Vegh C, Marginean A, Elliott A, Guilbeault N, Badour A, Sikorska M, Cohen J, Pandey S (2018) Ubisol-Q10 (a nanomicellar water-soluble formulation of CoQ10) treatment inhibits Alzheimer-type behavioral and pathological symptoms in a double transgenic mouse (TgAPEswe, PSEN1dE9) model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 61(1):221–236. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170275
- NaveenKumar SK, SharathBabu BN, Hemshekhar M, Kemparaju K, Girish KS, Mugesh G (2018) The role of reactive oxygen species and ferroptosis in Heme-mediated activation of human platelets. ACS Chem Biol 13(8):1996–2002. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00458
- Onyango IG, Dennis J, Khan SM (2016) Mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease and the rationale for bioenergetics based therapies. Aging Dis 7(2):201–214. https://doi.org/10.14336/ AD.2015.1007
- Pajouhesh H, Lenz GR (2005) Medicinal chemical properties of successful central nervous system drugs. NeuroRx 2(4):541–553. https://doi.org/10.1602/neurorx.2.4.541
- Pallàs M (2012) Senescence-accelerated mice P8: a tool to study brain aging and Alzheimer's disease in a mouse model. ISRN Cell Biol 2012:917167. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/917167
- Pallas M, Camins A, Smith MA, Perry G, Lee HG, Casadesus G (2008) From aging to Alzheimer's disease: unveiling "the switch" with the senescence-accelerated mouse model (SAMP8). J Alzheimers Dis 15(4):615–624. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2008-15408

- Parsons CG, Danysz W, Dekundy A, Pulte I (2013) Memantine and cholinesterase inhibitors: complementary mechanisms in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Neurotox Res 24(3): 358–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-013-9398-z
- Paula-Lima AC, Adasme T, SanMartin C, Sebollela A, Hetz C, Carrasco MA, Ferreira ST, Hidalgo C (2011) Amyloid beta-peptide oligomers stimulate RyR-mediated Ca2+ release inducing mitochondrial fragmentation in hippocampal neurons and prevent RyR-mediated dendritic spine remodeling produced by BDNF. Antioxid Redox Signal 14(7):1209–1223. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2010.3287
- Pereira ME, Souza JV, Galiciolli MEA, Sare F, Vieira GS, Kruk IL, Oliveira CS (2022) Effects of selenium supplementation in patients with mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients 14(15). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14153205
- Plun-Favreau H, Lewis PA, Hardy J, Martins LM, Wood NW (2010) Cancer and neurodegeneration: between the devil and the deep blue sea. PLoS Genet 6(12):e1001257. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1001257
- Prior M, Chiruta C, Currais A, Goldberg J, Ramsey J, Dargusch R, Maher PA, Schubert D (2014) Back to the future with phenotypic screening. ACS Chem Neurosci 5(7):503–513. https://doi. org/10.1021/cn500051h
- Rae CD, Williams SR (2017) Glutathione in the human brain: review of its roles and measurement by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Anal Biochem 529:127–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab. 2016.12.022
- Ratan RR (2020) The chemical biology of ferroptosis in the central nervous system. Cell Chem Biol 27(5):479–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.007
- Raven EP, Lu PH, Tishler TA, Heydari P, Bartzokis G (2013) Increased iron levels and decreased tissue integrity in hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease detected in vivo with magnetic resonance imaging. J Alzheimers Dis 37(1):127–136. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-130209
- Robledinos-Anton N, Fernandez-Gines R, Manda G, Cuadrado A (2019) Activators and inhibitors of NRF2: a review of their potential for clinical development. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019: 9372182. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9372182
- Roche (2022). https://www.roche.com/media/releases/med-cor-2022-11-14
- Ryan SK, Zelic M, Han Y, Teeple E, Chen L, Sadeghi M, Shankara S, Guo L, Li C, Pontarelli F, Jensen EH, Comer AL, Kumar D, Zhang M, Gans J, Zhang B, Proto JD, Saleh J, Dodge JC, Savova V, Rajpal D, Ofengeim D, Hammond TR (2023) Microglia ferroptosis is regulated by SEC24B and contributes to neurodegeneration. Nat Neurosci 26(1):12–26. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41593-022-01221-3
- Scheltens P, De Strooper B, Kivipelto M, Holstege H, Chetelat G, Teunissen CE, Cummings J, van der Flier WM (2021) Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 397(10284):1577–1590. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0140-6736(20)32205-4
- Seiler A, Schneider M, Forster H, Roth S, Wirth EK, Culmsee C, Plesnila N, Kremmer E, Radmark O, Wurst W, Bornkamm GW, Schweizer U, Conrad M (2008) Glutathione peroxidase 4 senses and translates oxidative stress into 12/15-lipoxygenase dependent- and AIF-mediated cell death. Cell Metab 8(3):237–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.005
- Sekhar RV, Patel SG, Guthikonda AP, Reid M, Balasubramanyam A, Taffet GE, Jahoor F (2011) Deficient synthesis of glutathione underlies oxidative stress in aging and can be corrected by dietary cysteine and glycine supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr 94(3):847–853. https://doi.org/ 10.3945/ajcn.110.003483
- Sevigny J, Chiao P, Bussiere T, Weinreb PH, Williams L, Maier M, Dunstan R, Salloway S, Chen T, Ling Y, O'Gorman J, Qian F, Arastu M, Li M, Chollate S, Brennan MS, Quintero-Monzon O, Scannevin RH, Arnold HM, Engber T, Rhodes K, Ferrero J, Hang Y, Mikulskis A, Grimm J, Hock C, Nitsch RM, Sandrock A (2016) The antibody aducanumab reduces Abeta plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Nature 537(7618):50–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19323
- Shah R, Shchepinov MS, Pratt DA (2018) Resolving the role of lipoxygenases in the initiation and execution of ferroptosis. ACS Cent Sci 4(3):387–396. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 7b00589

- Singh NK, Rao GN (2019) Emerging role of 12/15-lipoxygenase (ALOX15) in human pathologies. Prog Lipid Res 73:28–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2018.11.001
- Song X, Long D (2020) Nrf2 and ferroptosis: a new research direction for neurodegenerative diseases. Front Neurosci 14:267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00267
- Soriano-Castell D, Currais A, Maher P (2021a) Defining a pharmacological inhibitor fingerprint for oxytosis/ferroptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 171:219–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2021.05.023
- Soriano-Castell D, Liang Z, Maher P, Currais A (2021b) Profiling the chemical nature of antioxytotic/ferroptotic compounds with phenotypic screening. Free Radic Biol Med 177:313–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.11.003
- Soriano-Castell D, Liang Z, Maher P, Currais A (2021c) The search for anti-oxytotic/ferroptotic compounds in the plant world. Br J Pharmacol 178(18):3611–3626. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bph.15517
- Soucek T, Cumming R, Dargusch R, Maher P, Schubert D (2003) The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron 39(1):43–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00367-2
- Sripetchwandee J, Wongjaikam S, Krintratun W, Chattipakorn N, Chattipakorn SC (2016) A combination of an iron chelator with an antioxidant effectively diminishes the dendritic loss, tau-hyperphosphorylation, amyloids-beta accumulation and brain mitochondrial dynamic disruption in rats with chronic iron-overload. Neuroscience 332:191–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2016.07.003
- Stockwell BR (2022) Ferroptosis turns 10: emerging mechanisms, physiological functions, and therapeutic applications. Cell 185(14):2401–2421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.06.003
- Sultana R, Perluigi M, Butterfield DA (2013) Lipid peroxidation triggers neurodegeneration: a redox proteomics view into the Alzheimer disease brain. Free Radic Biol Med 62:157–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.09.027
- Swerdlow RH, Khan SM (2004) A "mitochondrial cascade hypothesis" for sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Med Hypotheses 63(1):8–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2003.12.045
- Takeda T (2009) Senescence-accelerated mouse (SAM) with special references to neurodegeneration models, SAMP8 and SAMP10 mice. Neurochem Res 34(4):639–659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-009-9922-y
- Tan S, Sagara Y, Liu Y, Maher P, Schubert D (1998) The regulation of reactive oxygen species production during programmed cell death. J Cell Biol 141(6):1423–1432. https://doi.org/10. 1083/jcb.141.6.1423
- Tan S, Schubert D, Maher P (2001) Oxytosis: a novel form of programmed cell death. Curr Top Med Chem 1(6):497–506. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026013394741
- Tao Y, Wang Y, Rogers JT, Wang F (2014) Perturbed iron distribution in Alzheimer's disease serum, cerebrospinal fluid, and selected brain regions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Alzheimers Dis 42(2):679–690. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-140396
- Thal LJ, Grundman M, Berg J, Ernstrom K, Margolin R, Pfeiffer E, Weiner MF, Zamrini E, Thomas RG (2003) Idebenone treatment fails to slow cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 61(11):1498–1502. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000096376.03678.c1
- Wang L, Zhang Z, Li M, Wang F, Jia Y, Zhang F, Shao J, Chen A, Zheng S (2019) P53-dependent induction of ferroptosis is required for artemether to alleviate carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis and hepatic stellate cell activation. IUBMB Life 71(1):45–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/ iub.1895
- Wirths O, Multhaup G, Bayer TA (2004) A modified beta-amyloid hypothesis: intraneuronal accumulation of the beta-amyloid peptide--the first step of a fatal cascade. J Neurochem 91(3):513–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02737.x
- Yang WS, Kim KJ, Gaschler MM, Patel M, Shchepinov MS, Stockwell BR (2016) Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(34):E4966–E4975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1603244113

- Yang W, Mu B, You J, Tian C, Bin H, Xu Z, Zhang L, Ma R, Wu M, Zhang G, Huang C, Li L, Shao Z, Dai L, Desaubry L, Yang S (2022) Non-classical ferroptosis inhibition by a small molecule targeting PHB2. Nat Commun 13(1):7473. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35294-2
- Yin F, Boveris A, Cadenas E (2014) Mitochondrial energy metabolism and redox signaling in brain aging and neurodegeneration. Antioxid Redox Signal 20(2):353–371. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ars.2012.4774
- Yin F, Sancheti H, Liu Z, Cadenas E (2016) Mitochondrial function in ageing: coordination with signalling and transcriptional pathways. J Physiol 594(8):2025–2042. https://doi.org/10.1113/ JP270541
- Zhang ZH, Wu QY, Zheng R, Chen C, Chen Y, Liu Q, Hoffmann PR, Ni JZ, Song GL (2017) Selenomethionine mitigates cognitive decline by targeting both tau hyperphosphorylation and autophagic clearance in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. J Neurosci 37(9):2449–2462. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3229-16.2017
- Zhang YH, Wang DW, Xu SF, Zhang S, Fan YG, Yang YY, Guo SQ, Wang S, Guo T, Wang ZY, Guo C (2018a) alpha-Lipoic acid improves abnormal behavior by mitigation of oxidative stress, inflammation, ferroptosis, and tauopathy in P301S Tau transgenic mice. Redox Biol 14:535– 548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.11.001
- Zhang ZH, Wu QY, Chen C, Zheng R, Chen Y, Ni JZ, Song GL (2018b) Comparison of the effects of selenomethionine and selenium-enriched yeast in the triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Food Funct 9(7):3965–3973. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo02063e
- Zhang G, Zhang Y, Shen Y, Wang Y, Zhao M, Sun L (2021) The potential role of ferroptosis in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 80(3):907–925. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-201369
- Zilka O, Shah R, Li B, Friedmann Angeli JP, Griesser M, Conrad M, Pratt DA (2017) On the mechanism of cytoprotection by ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1 and the role of lipid peroxidation in ferroptotic cell death. ACS Cent Sci 3(3):232–243. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci. 7b00028
- Zou Y, Li H, Graham ET, Deik AA, Eaton JK, Wang W, Sandoval-Gomez G, Clish CB, Doench JG, Schreiber SL (2020) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase contributes to phospholipid peroxidation in ferroptosis. Nat Chem Biol 16(3):302–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0472-6